
 
 

 

 

 
 

Local Government Act 1972 
 
I Hereby Give You Notice that an Ordinary Meeting of the Durham 
County Council will be held in the Main Hall, Spennymoor Leisure 
Centre on Wednesday 23 June 2021 at 10.00 a.m. to transact the 
following business:- 
 
 

1. To confirm the minutes of the meeting held on 26 May 2021  
(Pages 5 - 42) 

 

2. To receive any declarations of interest from Members   
 

3. Chair's Announcements   
 

4. Leader's Report   
 

5. Questions from the Public   
 

6. Petitions   
 

7. Report from the Cabinet  (Pages 43 - 72) 
 

8. Safe Durham Partnership Plan 2021-2025 - Report of 
Corporate Director of Neighbourhoods and Climate Change  
(Pages 73 - 170) 

 

9. Adoption of Durham City, Lanchester and Oakenshaw 
Neighbourhood Plans - Report of Corporate Director of 
Regeneration, Economy and Growth  (Pages 171 - 494) 

 

10. Motions on Notice   
 

 Motion by Councillor F Tinsley 
 
The Coronavirus (COVID-19): health, care and volunteer 
workers parking pass has been available to those at the 



 

 

forefront of our fight against the pandemic. This pass 
provides evidence of entitlement to free parking for those 
on duty as an NHS staff member, health or social care 
worker, or NHS Volunteer Responder. This is to enable 
them to access parking concessions in local authority-
owned off-street car parks and on-street bays. 
  
Following the publication of the government’s roadmap for 
lifting COVID-19 restrictions, a decision has been taken by 
government to withdraw the emergency parking pass 
guidance by 21 June 2021. 
  
This Council resolves to continue and fund the Coronavirus 
(COVID-19): health, care and volunteer workers parking 
pass in County Durham for period of 1 year from 23 June 
2021.  The fight against this terrible disease continues and 
those in our health and care sector deserve our continued 
support. Continuation of the pass will assist those who have 
worked so incredibly hard to save lives.  They do not 
deserve the financial burden of now having to pay for 
parking when their crucially important work continues 
against Coronavirus (COVID-19). 
 
Motion by Councillor K Earley 
 
This council undertakes to provide  (through the 
deployment of finance from reserves) support for an energy 
partnership to provide a clean and green energy solution, 
capable of servicing the new community hospital and other 
developments on the former Consett Steelworks; which 
following  consultation can demonstrate the support of the 
local community. 
 
Motion by Councillor O Gunn 
 
Durham County Council notes that: 
 
On 2nd June the Government published its plans for 
education recovery after the pandemic. Sir Kevan Collins, 
appointed by the Prime Minister as the Government’s 
Education Recovery Commissioner had judged that some 
£15bn was needed to repair the damage done to the 
nation’s pupils because of Covid. The Government’s offer 
of £1.4bn falls far short and is inadequate. In his resignation 
letter Sir Kevan Collins stated, ‘I do not believe it is credible 
that a successful recovery can be achieved with a 
programme of support of this size’. 
 



 

 

The Education Policy Institute have calculated that £1.4b 
amounts to £50 per pupil per year. This contrasts with 
£1,600 per pupil in the USA and £2,500 per pupil in the 
Netherlands. It means that the total funding committed to 
education recovery so far amounts to £310 per pupil over 3 
years. If Government is committed to a high standard of 
education for all children regardless of ability to pay then 
£50 per pupil is simply not enough. The promise of 
providing increased funds later is a promise too late.  
Parents and school staff deserve an immediate strong 
financial commitment that supports high standards and 
strong mental health for all children and young people.  
 
Furthermore, the Secretary of State for Education has 
allowed change to the census used to calculate Pupil 
Premium funding for the most disadvantaged pupils. This 
means that £150 million is being taken away from young 
people and schools most in need at a time when they most 
need it.  
 
Durham County Council resolves: 
 
To write to the Prime Minister and call on the Government 
to:  
 

1. demonstrate its ambition for our children and young 
people and give our education system the resources 
they need to ensure that no child is left behind; 

 
2. recognise that areas of the country with children who 

are most disadvantaged, like County Durham and the 
whole of the North East Region, should be given the 
highest priority and immediate increased financial 
investment. 

 
Motion by Councillor R Yorke 
 
This Council believes that the people of West Auckland, St 
Helen Auckland and Spring Gardens agree a new bypass 
would bring relief to the residents of Toft Hill, but will not 
accept the burden of a very significant increase in traffic 
through West Auckland and resolves that the A688 bypass 
must be completed from Oakley Service Station roundabout 
directly to beyond the Sportsmans Inn at Toft Hill. We call 
upon the County Council to ensure that a full and proper 
consultation is carried out and that our communities will not 
be adversely impacted. 
 



 

 

11. Questions from Members   
 

 
 
And pursuant to the provisions of the above-named act, I Hereby 
Summon You to attend the said meeting 
 
Dated this 15th day of June 2021 
 
 

 
Helen Lynch 

Head of Legal and Democratic Services 
 
 
To: All Members of the County Council 
 
 



 

DURHAM COUNTY COUNCIL 
 
 

At the Annual Meeting of the County Council held in the The Main Hall - 
Spennymoor Leisure Centre on Wednesday 26 May 2021 at 10.00 am 

 
 

Present: 
 

Councillor K Corrigan in the Chair 
 

Councillors M Abley, E Adam, R Adcock-Forster, V Andrews, J Atkinson, 
P Atkinson, B Avery, B Bainbridge, A Batey, K Batey, A Bell, C Bell, R Bell, 
G Binney, J Blakey, D Boyes, D Brown, L Brown, J Cairns, J Chaplow, R Charlton-
Lainé, J Charlton, I Cochrane, J Cosslett, B Coult, R Crute, M Currah, S Deinali, 
T Duffy, K Earley, J Elmer, K Fantarrow, L Fenwick, C Fletcher, D Freeman, 
J Griffiths, O Gunn, D Hall, C Hampson, D Haney, A Hanson, K Hawley, 
P Heaviside, T Henderson, S Henig, J Higgins, L Holmes, C Hood, A Hopgood, 
L Hovvels, D Howarth, J Howey, C Hunt, G Hutchinson, A Jackson, M Johnson, 
N Jones, P Jopling, C Kay, B Kellett, L Kennedy, C Lines, L Maddison, 
R Manchester, C Marshall, C Martin, E Mavin, L Mavin, B McAloon, S McDonnell, 
M McGaun, D McKenna, M McKeon, I McLean, S McMahon, J Miller, B Moist, 
P Molloy, D Mulholland, D Nicholls, J Nicholson, D Oliver, R Ormerod, E Peeke, 
R Potts, P Pringle, J Purvis, J Quinn, S Quinn, A Reed, G Richardson, I Roberts, 
M Roberts, S Robinson, K Robson, K Rooney, J Rowlandson, E Scott, P Sexton, 
K Shaw, A Shield, J Shuttleworth, M Simmons, A Simpson, T Smith, M Stead, 
W Stelling, A Sterling, D Stoker, T Stubbs, A Surtees, D Sutton-Lloyd, P Taylor, 
F Tinsley, S Townsend, C Varty, E Waldock, M Walton, A Watson, M Wilkes, 
M Wilson, S Wilson, D Wood, R Yorke and S Zair 
 
An apology for absence was received from Councillor A Savory 
 

 
Prior to the commencement of the meeting the Chair reported with regret the 
passing of former Durham County Councillor Stephen Hugill who 
represented the Evenwood Division from 2005 to 2013. Members gave a 
moments reflection out of respect to Stephen. 
 

1 Election of Chair 
 
Moved by Councillor Hovvels, Seconded by Councillor Gunn that Councillor 
Miller be elected Chair for the ensuing year. 
 
Moved by Councillor Shield, Seconded by Councillor McDonnell that 
Councillor Stelling be elected Chair for the ensuing year. 
 

Page 5

Agenda Item 1



A roll call of Members was then taken as follows: 
 
For Councillor Miller 
 
Councillors Adam, Adcock-Forster, Andrews, J Atkinson, P Atkinson, A 
Batey, K Batey, Binney, Boyes, Chaplow, Charlton-Lainé, Crute, Deinali, 
Earley, Fenwick, Fletcher, Griffiths, Gunn, Hall, Hampson, Hanson, Henig, 
Higgins, Hovvels, Johnson, Kay, Kellett, Kennedy, Manchester, Marshall, 
McKenna, McKeon, McLean, McMahon, Miller, Mulholland, Nicholls, Pringle, 
Purvis, S Quinn, I Roberts, Shaw, Smith, Surtees, Taylor, Tinsley, 
Townsend, Varty, Waldock, M Wilson, S Wilson, Wood and Yorke. 
 
For Councillor Stelling 
 
Councillors Abley, Avery, Bainbridge, A Bell, C Bell, R Bell, Blakey, D Brown, 
L Brown, Cairns, Charlton, Cochrane, Cosslett, Coult, Currah, Duffy, Elmer, 
Fantarrow-Darby, Freeman, Hawley, Henderson, Holmes, Hood, Hopgood, 
Howarth, Howey, Hunt, Hutchinson, Jackson, Jones, Jopling, Lines, 
Maddison, Martin, E Mavin, L Mavin, McAloon, McDonnell, McGaun, Moist, 
Molloy, Nicholson, Oliver, Ormerod, Peeke, Potts, J Quinn, Reed, 
Richardson, M-I Roberts, Robinson, Robson, Rooney, Rowlandson, Scott, 
Sexton, Shield, Shuttleworth, Simmons, Simpson, Stead, Stelling, Sterling, 
Stoker, Stubbs, Sutton-Lloyd, Walton, Watson, Wilkes and Zair. 
 
There were no abstentions. 
 
Resolved: 
That Councillor W Stelling be elected to the Office of Chairman of the Council 
for the ensuing year. 
 
Councillor W Stelling subscribed the Statutory Declaration accepting the 
Office. 
 
Councillor Corrigan vacated the Chair. 
 

Councillor W Stelling in the Chair 
 

In accepting the Office of Chair of the Council Councillor Stelling informed 
Council that it would be an honour and privilege to carry out such a role. 
 

2 Presentation to Retiring Chair 
 
The Chair paid tribute to the services of Councillor Corrigan during her term 
of office and presented a Past Chairman’s Medal to former Councillor 
Corrigan incorporating the Council’s Coat of Arms as a token of the Council’s 
appreciation of her services during her period of office. The Chair also paid 

Page 6



tribute to former Councillor Corrigan’s consort, Bill Moir, who had been a 
great support to former Councillor Corrigan during her period of office.  The 
Chair then paid tribute to former Councillor Johnson’s services to the Council 
during his period of Vice-Chair of the County Council. 
 
Further tributes to former Councillor Corrigan’s and former Councillor 
Johnson’s ambassadorial service, the diligent, exceptional, professional and 
dignified way they had conducted themselves during their term of office both 
locally, regionally, nationally and internationally were given by Councillor 
Marshall (Leader of the Labour Group), Councillor Bell (Leader of the 
Conservative Group), Councillor Hopgood (Leader of the Liberal Democrat 
Group), Councillor Shield (Leader of the Durham Group), Councillor 
Shuttleworth (Leader of the Durham County Council Independent Group) and 
Councillor Maddison (Leader of the Spennymoor and Tudhoe Independent 
Group).  In response, former Councillor Corrigan thanked both the incoming 
Chair and all Councillors for the presentation and expressed her appreciation 
to all who had supported and assisted her year and thanked former 
Councillor Johnson for his support as Vice-Chair. 
 

3 Election of Vice-Chair 
 
Moved by Councillor R Bell, Seconded by Councillor Rowlandson that 
Councillor Bainbridge be elected Vice-Chair for the ensuing year. 
 
Moved by Councillor Marshall, Seconded by Councillor Crute that Councillor 
S Quinn be elected Vice-Chair for the ensuing year. 
 
A roll call of Members was then taken as follows: 
 
For Councillor Bainbridge 
 
Councillors Abley, Avery, Bainbridge, A Bell, C Bell, R Bell, Blakey, D Brown, 
L Brown, Cairns, Charlton, Cochrane, Cosslett, Coult, Currah, Duffy, Elmer, 
Fantarrow-Darby, Freeman, Hawley, Henderson, Holmes, Hood, Hopgood, 
Howarth, Howey, Hunt, Hutchinson, Jackson, Jones, Jopling, Lines, 
Maddison, Martin, E Mavin, L Mavin, McAloon, McDonnell, McGaun, Moist, 
Molloy, Nicholson, Oliver, Ormerod, Peeke, Potts, J Quinn, Reed, 
Richardson, M-I Roberts, Robinson, Robson, Rooney, Rowlandson, Scott, 
Sexton, Shield, Shuttleworth, Simmons, Simpson, Stead, Stelling, Sterling, 
Stoker, Stubbs, Sutton-Lloyd, Walton, Watson, Wilkes and Zair. 
 
 
For Councillor S Quinn 
 
Councillors Adam, Adcock-Forster, Andrews, J Atkinson, P Atkinson, A 
Batey, K Batey, Binney, Boyes, Chaplow, Charlton-Lainé, Crute, Deinali, 

Page 7



Earley, Fenwick, Fletcher, Griffiths, Gunn, Hall, Hampson, Hanson, Henig, 
Higgins, Hovvels, Johnson, Kay, Kellett, Kennedy, Manchester, Marshall, 
McKenna, McKeon, McLean, McMahon, Miller, Mulholland, Nicholls, Pringle, 
Purvis, S Quinn, I Roberts, Shaw, Smith, Surtees, Taylor, Tinsley, 
Townsend, Varty, Waldock, M Wilson, S Wilson, Wood and Yorke. 
 
There were no abstentions. 
 
Resolved: 
That Councillor B Bainbridge be elected to the Office of Vice-Chair of the 
Council for the ensuing year. 
 
Councillor Bainbridge subscribed the Statutory Declaration accepting the 
Office. 
 
In accepting the Office of Vice-Chair of the Council Councillor Bainbridge 
informed Council that it would be an honour and privilege to carry out such a 
role. 
 

4 Minutes 
 
The minutes of the meeting held on 24 March 2021 were confirmed by the 
Council as a correct record and signed by the Chairman. 
 

5 Declarations of Interest 
 
There were no declarations of interest in relation to any items of business on 
the agenda. 
 

6 Statement from the Returning Officer 
 
The Council noted the Statement of the County Returning Officer which 
showed the names of the persons elected at the Elections on 6 May 2021 
(for copy see file of Minutes). 
 

7 Chair's Announcements  
 
Code of Conduct 
 
The Chair reminded all Members of their obligations under the Code of 
Conduct and asked that all Members address each other in the correct 
manner during meetings and show respect at all times. 
 
 
 
 

Page 8



Declaration of Interests Forms 
 
The Chair reminded all Members of the need to complete and return their 
Declaration of Interests form.  Members had 28 days from the date of 
election to complete and return this form. Members who had completed and 
returned their forms would need to check to make sure that there was 
nothing to add further since they had completed the form. 
 

8 Constitution 
 
The Council considered a report of the Head of Legal and Democratic 
Services which presented the Council’s Constitution for adoption by the 
Council (for copy see file of Minutes). 
 
Moved by Councillor Shuttleworth, Seconded by Councillor Shield and 
 
Resolved: 

(i) That the Constitution be adopted; 
(ii) That the Scheme of Delegations as set out in Part 3 of the Constitution 

be approved; 
(iii)That the Head of Legal and Democratic Services be authorised, in 

consultation with the Constitution Working Group, to make future 
changes to the Constitution to reflect decisions of the Council, other 
Council bodies, to reflect changes in legislation and to correct 
inaccuracies. 

 

9 Election of Leader of the Council  
 
Moved by Councillor Shuttleworth, Seconded by Councillor R Bell that 
Councillor A Hopgood be elected Leader of the Council. 
 
Moved by Councillor Crute, Seconded by Councillor S WIlson that 
Councillor C Marshall be elected Leader of the Council. 
 
A roll call of Members was then taken as follows: 
 
Councillor A Hopgood 
 
Councillors Abley, Avery, Bainbridge, A Bell, C Bell, R Bell, Blakey, D Brown, 
L Brown, Cairns, Charlton, Cochrane, Cosslett, Coult, Currah, Duffy, Elmer, 
Fantarrow-Darby, Freeman, Hawley, Henderson, Holmes, Hood, Hopgood, 
Howarth, Howey, Hunt, Hutchinson, Jackson, Jones, Jopling, Lines, 
Maddison, Martin, E Mavin, L Mavin, McAloon, McDonnell, McGaun, Moist, 
Molloy, Nicholson, Oliver, Ormerod, Peeke, Potts, J Quinn, Reed, 
Richardson, M-I Roberts, Robinson, Robson, Rooney, Rowlandson, Scott, 

Page 9



Sexton, Shield, Shuttleworth, Simmons, Simpson, Stead, Stelling, Sterling, 
Stoker, Stubbs, Sutton-Lloyd, Walton, Watson, Wilkes and Zair. 
 
For Councillor C Marshall 
 
Councillors Adam, Adcock-Forster, Andrews, J Atkinson, P Atkinson, A 
Batey, K Batey, Binney, Boyes, Chaplow, Charlton-Lainé, Crute, Deinali, 
Earley, Fenwick, Fletcher, Griffiths, Gunn, Hall, Hampson, Hanson, Henig, 
Higgins, Hovvels, Johnson, Kay, Kellett, Kennedy, Manchester, Marshall, 
McKenna, McKeon, McLean, McMahon, Miller, Mulholland, Nicholls, Pringle, 
Purvis, S Quinn, I Roberts, Shaw, Smith, Surtees, Taylor, Tinsley, 
Townsend, Varty, Waldock, M Wilson, S Wilson, Wood and Yorke. 
 
There were no abstentions. 
 
Resolved: 
That Councillor A Hopgood be elected Leader of the Council. 
 
Councillor Hopgood informed Council that the County Council was entering a 
new era, having elected a non-Labour Leader and its first female Leader. 
 
Councillor Marshall, on behalf of the Labour Group, congratulated Councillor 
Hopgood on her election and hoped all Members could work together in the 
best interests of County Durham. 
 

10 Leaders Announcement of Deputy Leader and Cabinet Members  
 
Councillor Hopgood informed Council of Cabinet Members and their headline 
Portfolios, adding that full details of Cabinet Members and Portfolios would 
be circulated following the meeting. 
 

Leader of the Council 
 
Cllr Amanda Hopgood 
 
 

● Overall co-ordination of policy 
● Council strategy 
● Performance framework and 
monitoring 
● County Durham Partnership 
● External Partnerships 
● Communications 
● Legal and Democratic Services+ 
 

Deputy Leader and Finance 
 
Cllr Richard Bell 
 
 

● Finance 
● Legal and Democratic Services+ 
● Risk Management 
● Human Resources 
● Transformation 
● Member Development 

Page 10



 

Adult and Health Services 
 
Cllr Paul Sexton 
 

● Adult Social Care Services 
● Adult Safeguarding 
● Adult Social Care 
Commissioning 
● Health and Wellbeing (Chair of 
HWB) 
● Public Health 
● Veterans champion 
● Mental Health champion 
 

Children and Young People’s 
Services 
 
Cllr Ted Henderson 

● Education 0-19 
● Specialist and Safeguarding 

Children’s Services 
● Youth Services, including 
● Youth Offending Services 
● Children’s Centres 
● Young carers 
● Adult learning 
● Health and wellbeing board 
member 
 

Digital and Customer Services 
 
Cllr Susan McDonnell  
 

● Customer Services  
● ICT and Digital connectivity 
● Procurement 
 

Economy and Partnerships 
 
Cllr Elizabeth Scott 
 

● Economic Development 
● Area Action Partnerships 
● Town Centres 
● Regeneration 
● Leisure services 
● Skills agenda 
● Spatial Planning / County 
Durham Plan 
● Strategic Transport / Local 
Transport Plan 
● Development Control and 
Planning 
● Tourism and Culture 
● Libraries 
● Archives 
 

Neighbourhoods and Climate 
Change 
 
Cllr Mark Wilkes 

● Relationships with Town and 
Parish Councils 
● Community Development 
● Community Facilities 

Page 11



  ● Neighbourhood Streetscene  
● Climate change 
● Climate change champion: tbc 
● Environment Policy, including 

sustainability 
● Environment, Health and 
Consumer Protection  
● Waste Management  
● Direct Services 
● Bereavement services 
 

Equality and Inclusion 
 
Cllr Alan Shield  
 

● Carers 
● Homelessness 
● Fuel poverty 
● Equality and Diversity 
● Humanitarian Support 
Partnership 
● Welfare reform and impact 
● Welfare rights 
● Gypsy, Roma, Traveller Service 
 

Resources, Investment and Assets 
 
Cllr James Rowlandson 
 
 

● Housing strategy  
● Private sector housing issues 
● Links with Housing providers 
● Assets (land and property) 
● Parks 
● Allotments 
● Sport and Leisure 
● Strategic Employment Sites 
● Funded projects / external 
investment 
 

Rural Communities and Highways 
 
Cllr John Shuttleworth 
 

● Rural communities 
● Highways 
● Emergency Planning  
● Community Safety 

 

11 Appointment of Council Bodies and allocation of seats to Political 
Groups under Section 15 of the Local Government and Housing 
Act 1989 
 
The Council considered a report of the Head of Legal and Democratic 
Services regarding the appointment of Council Bodies and Allocation of 
Seats to Political Groups under Sections 15 and 16 of the Local Government 
and Housing Act 1989 (for copy see file of Minutes). 
 

Page 12



Moved by Councillor L Brown, Seconded by Councillor J Nicholson and 
 
Resolved: 
That the recommendations contained in the report be agreed. 
 

12 Appointment of Chair’s and Vice-Chair’s 
 
Nominations for Chair and Vice-Chair of the following Committees were 
moved and seconded: 
 
Appeals and Complaints Committee 
Moved by Councillor L Brown, Seconded by Councillor J Nicholson, that 
Councillor T Duffy be appointed Chair of the Appeals and Complaints 
Committee. 
 
Moved by Councillor C Marshall, Seconded by Councillor R Crute, that 
Councillor D Wood be appointed Chair of the Appeals and Complaints 
Committee. 
 
For Councillor T Duffy 
Councillors Abley, Avery, Bainbridge, A Bell, C Bell, R Bell, Blakey, D Brown, 
L Brown, Cairns, Charlton, Cochrane, Cosslett, Coult, Currah, Duffy, Elmer, 
Fantarrow-Darby, Freeman, Haney, Hawley, Heaviside, Henderson, Holmes, 
Hood, Hopgood, Howarth, Howey, Hunt, Hutchinson, Jackson, Jones, 
Jopling, Lines, Maddison, Martin, E Mavin, L Mavin, McAloon, McDonnell, 
McGaun, Moist, Molloy, Nicholson, Oliver, Ormerod, Peeke, Potts, J Quinn, 
Reed, Richardson, M-I Roberts, Robinson, Robson, Rooney, Rowlandson, 
Scott, Sexton, Shield, Shuttleworth, Simmons, Simpson, Stead, Stelling, 
Sterling, Stoker, Stubbs, Sutton-Lloyd, Walton, Watson, Wilkes and Zair. 
 
For Councillor D Wood 
Councillors Adam, Adcock-Forster, Andrews, J Atkinson, P Atkinson, A 
Batey, K Batey, Binney, Boyes, Chaplow, Charlton-Lainé, Crute, Deinali, 
Earley, Fenwick, Fletcher, Griffiths, Gunn, Hall, Hampson, Hanson, Henig, 
Higgins, Hovvels, Johnson, Kay, Kellett, Kennedy, Manchester, Marshall, 
McKenna, McKeon, McLean, McMahon, Miller, Mulholland, Nicholls, Pringle, 
Purvis, S Quinn, I Roberts, Shaw, Smith, Surtees, Taylor, Tinsley, 
Townsend, Varty, Waldock, M Wilson, S Wilson, Wood and Yorke. 
 
Resolved: 
That Councillor T Duffy be appointed Chair of the Appeals and Complaints 
Committee. 
 
Moved by Councillor L Brown, Seconded by Councillor J Nicholson, that 
Councillor E Mavin be appointed Vice-Chair of the Appeals and Complaints 
Committee. 

Page 13



 
Moved by Councillor C Marshall, Seconded by Councillor R Crute, that 
Councillor K Shaw be appointed Vice-Chair of the Appeals and Complaints 
Committee. 
 
For Councillor E Mavin 
Councillors Abley, Avery, Bainbridge, A Bell, C Bell, R Bell, Blakey, D Brown, 
L Brown, Cairns, Charlton, Cochrane, Cosslett, Coult, Currah, Duffy, Elmer, 
Fantarrow-Darby, Freeman, Haney, Hawley, Heaviside, Henderson, Holmes, 
Hood, Hopgood, Howarth, Howey, Hunt, Hutchinson, Jackson, Jones, 
Jopling, Lines, Maddison, Martin, E Mavin, L Mavin, McAloon, McDonnell, 
McGaun, Moist, Molloy, Nicholson, Oliver, Ormerod, Peeke, Potts, J Quinn, 
Reed, Richardson, M-I Roberts, Robinson, Robson, Rooney, Rowlandson, 
Scott, Sexton, Shield, Shuttleworth, Simmons, Simpson, Stead, Stelling, 
Sterling, Stoker, Stubbs, Sutton-Lloyd, Walton, Watson, Wilkes and Zair. 
 
For Councillor K Shaw 
Councillors Adam, Adcock-Forster, Andrews, J Atkinson, P Atkinson, A 
Batey, K Batey, Binney, Boyes, Chaplow, Charlton-Lainé, Crute, Deinali, 
Earley, Fenwick, Fletcher, Griffiths, Gunn, Hall, Hampson, Hanson, Henig, 
Higgins, Hovvels, Johnson, Kay, Kellett, Kennedy, Manchester, Marshall, 
McKenna, McKeon, McLean, McMahon, Miller, Mulholland, Nicholls, Pringle, 
Purvis, S Quinn, I Roberts, Shaw, Smith, Surtees, Taylor, Tinsley, 
Townsend, Varty, Waldock, M Wilson, S Wilson, Wood and Yorke. 
 
Resolved: 
That Councillor E Mavin be appointed Vice-Chair of the Appeals and 
Complaints Committee. 
 
 
Audit Committee 
Moved by Councillor L Brown, Seconded by Councillor J Nicholson, that 
Councillor A Watson be appointed Chair of the Audit Committee. 
 
Moved by Councillor C Marshall, Seconded by Councillor R Crute, that 
Councillor C Fletcher be appointed Chair of the Audit Committee. 
 
For Councillor A Watson 
Councillors Abley, Avery, Bainbridge, A Bell, C Bell, R Bell, Blakey, D Brown, 
L Brown, Cairns, Charlton, Cochrane, Cosslett, Coult, Currah, Duffy, Elmer, 
Fantarrow-Darby, Freeman, Haney, Hawley, Heaviside, Henderson, Holmes, 
Hood, Hopgood, Howarth, Howey, Hunt, Hutchinson, Jackson, Jones, 
Jopling, Lines, Maddison, Martin, E Mavin, L Mavin, McAloon, McDonnell, 
McGaun, Moist, Molloy, Nicholson, Oliver, Ormerod, Peeke, Potts, J Quinn, 
Reed, Richardson, M-I Roberts, Robinson, Robson, Rooney, Rowlandson, 

Page 14



Scott, Sexton, Shield, Shuttleworth, Simmons, Simpson, Stead, Stelling, 
Sterling, Stoker, Stubbs, Sutton-Lloyd, Walton, Watson, Wilkes and Zair. 
 
 
For Councillor C Fletcher 
Councillors Adam, Adcock-Forster, Andrews, J Atkinson, P Atkinson, A 
Batey, K Batey, Binney, Boyes, Chaplow, Charlton-Lainé, Crute, Deinali, 
Earley, Fenwick, Fletcher, Griffiths, Gunn, Hall, Hampson, Hanson, Henig, 
Higgins, Hovvels, Johnson, Kay, Kellett, Kennedy, Manchester, Marshall, 
McKenna, McKeon, McLean, McMahon, Miller, Mulholland, Nicholls, Pringle, 
Purvis, S Quinn, I Roberts, Shaw, Smith, Surtees, Taylor, Tinsley, 
Townsend, Varty, Waldock, M Wilson, S Wilson, Wood and Yorke. 
 
Resolved: 
That Councillor A Watson be appointed Chair of the Audit Committee. 
 
Moved by Councillor C Marshall, Seconded by Councillor R Crute, that 
Councillor L Fenwick be appointed Vice-Chair of the Audit Committee. 
 
Resolved: 
That Councillor L Fenwick be appointed Vice-Chair of the Audit Committee. 
 
 
Chief Officer Appointments Committee 
Moved by Councillor L Brown, Seconded by Councillor J Nicholson, that 
Councillor A Hopgood be appointed Chair of the Chief Officer Appointments 
Committee. 
 
Resolved: 
That Councillor A Hopgood be appointed Chair of the Chief Officer 
Appointments Committee. 
 
Moved by Councillor L Brown, Seconded by Councillor J Nicholson, that 
Councillor R Bell be appointed Vice-Chair of the Chief Officer Appointments 
Committee. 
 
Resolved: 
That Councillor R Bell be appointed Vice-Chair of the Chief Officer 
Appointments Committee. 
 
 
Highways Committee 
Moved by Councillor L Brown, Seconded by Councillor J Nicholson, that 
Councillor R Ormerod be appointed Chair of the Highways Committee. 
 

Page 15



Moved by Councillor C Marshall, Seconded by Councillor R Crute, that 
Councillor C Kay be appointed Chair of the Highways Committee. 
 
For Councillor R Ormerod 
Councillors Abley, Avery, Bainbridge, A Bell, C Bell, R Bell, Blakey, D Brown, 
L Brown, Cairns, Charlton, Cochrane, Cosslett, Coult, Currah, Duffy, Elmer, 
Fantarrow-Darby, Freeman, Haney, Hawley, Heaviside, Henderson, Holmes, 
Hood, Hopgood, Howarth, Howey, Hunt, Hutchinson, Jackson, Jones, 
Jopling, Lines, Maddison, Martin, E Mavin, L Mavin, McAloon, McDonnell, 
McGaun, Moist, Molloy, Nicholson, Oliver, Ormerod, Peeke, Potts, J Quinn, 
Reed, Richardson, M-I Roberts, Robinson, Robson, Rooney, Rowlandson, 
Scott, Sexton, Shield, Shuttleworth, Simmons, Simpson, Stead, Stelling, 
Sterling, Stoker, Stubbs, Sutton-Lloyd, Walton, Watson, Wilkes and Zair. 
 
For Councillor C Kay 
Councillors Adam, Adcock-Forster, Andrews, J Atkinson, P Atkinson, A 
Batey, K Batey, Binney, Boyes, Chaplow, Charlton-Lainé, Crute, Deinali, 
Earley, Fenwick, Fletcher, Griffiths, Gunn, Hall, Hampson, Hanson, Henig, 
Higgins, Hovvels, Johnson, Kay, Kellett, Kennedy, Manchester, Marshall, 
McKenna, McKeon, McLean, McMahon, Miller, Mulholland, Nicholls, Pringle, 
Purvis, S Quinn, I Roberts, Shaw, Smith, Surtees, Taylor, Tinsley, 
Townsend, Varty, Waldock, M Wilson, S Wilson, Wood and Yorke. 
 
Resolved: 
That Councillor R Ormerod be appointed Chair of the Highways Committee. 
 
Moved by Councillor C Marshall, Seconded by Councillor R Crute, that 
Councillor D Boyes be appointed Vice-Chair of the Highways Committee. 
 
Resolved: 
That Councillor D Boyes be appointed Vice-Chair of the Highways 
Committee. 
 
 
Statutory Licensing Committee 
Moved by Councillor E Scott, Seconded by Councillor J Nicholson, that 
Councillor D Brown be appointed Chair of the Statutory Licensing 
Committee. 
 
Moved by Councillor C Marshall, Seconded by Councillor R Crute, that 
Councillor C Hampson be appointed Chair of the Statutory Licensing 
Committee. 
 
For Councillor D Brown 
Councillors Abley, Avery, Bainbridge, A Bell, C Bell, R Bell, Blakey, D Brown, 
L Brown, Cairns, Charlton, Cochrane, Cosslett, Coult, Currah, Duffy, Elmer, 

Page 16



Fantarrow-Darby, Freeman, Haney, Hawley, Heaviside, Henderson, Holmes, 
Hood, Hopgood, Howarth, Howey, Hunt, Hutchinson, Jackson, Jones, 
Jopling, Lines, Maddison, Martin, E Mavin, L Mavin, McAloon, McDonnell, 
McGaun, Moist, Molloy, Nicholson, Oliver, Ormerod, Peeke, Potts, J Quinn, 
Reed, Richardson, M-I Roberts, Robinson, Robson, Rooney, Rowlandson, 
Scott, Sexton, Shield, Shuttleworth, Simmons, Simpson, Stead, Stelling, 
Sterling, Stoker, Stubbs, Sutton-Lloyd, Walton, Watson, Wilkes and Zair. 
 
For Councillor C Hampson 
Councillors Adam, Adcock-Forster, Andrews, J Atkinson, P Atkinson, A 
Batey, K Batey, Binney, Boyes, Chaplow, Charlton-Lainé, Crute, Deinali, 
Earley, Fenwick, Fletcher, Griffiths, Gunn, Hall, Hampson, Hanson, Henig, 
Higgins, Hovvels, Johnson, Kay, Kellett, Kennedy, Manchester, Marshall, 
McKenna, McKeon, McLean, McMahon, Miller, Mulholland, Nicholls, Pringle, 
Purvis, S Quinn, I Roberts, Shaw, Smith, Surtees, Taylor, Tinsley, 
Townsend, Varty, Waldock, M Wilson, S Wilson, Wood and Yorke. 
 
Resolved: 
That Councillor D Brown be appointed Chair of the Statutory Licensing 
Committee. 
 
1st Vice-Chair Statutory Licensing Committee 
Moved by Councillor E Scott, Seconded by Councillor J Nicholson, that 
Councillor L Brown be appointed 1st Vice-Chair of the Statutory Licensing 
Committee. 
 
Moved by Councillor C Marshall, Seconded by Councillor R Crute, that 
Councillor M Wilson be appointed 1st Vice-Chair of the Statutory Licensing 
Committee. 
 
For Councillor L Brown 
Councillors Abley, Avery, Bainbridge, A Bell, C Bell, R Bell, Blakey, D Brown, 
L Brown, Cairns, Charlton, Cochrane, Cosslett, Coult, Currah, Duffy, Elmer, 
Fantarrow-Darby, Freeman, Haney, Hawley, Heaviside, Henderson, Holmes, 
Hood, Hopgood, Howarth, Howey, Hunt, Hutchinson, Jackson, Jones, 
Jopling, Lines, Maddison, Martin, E Mavin, L Mavin, McAloon, McDonnell, 
McGaun, Moist, Molloy, Nicholson, Oliver, Ormerod, Peeke, Potts, J Quinn, 
Reed, Richardson, M-I Roberts, Robinson, Robson, Rooney, Rowlandson, 
Scott, Sexton, Shield, Shuttleworth, Simmons, Simpson, Stead, Stelling, 
Sterling, Stoker, Stubbs, Sutton-Lloyd, Walton, Watson, Wilkes and Zair. 
 
For Councillor M Wilson 
Councillors Adam, Adcock-Forster, Andrews, J Atkinson, P Atkinson, A 
Batey, K Batey, Binney, Boyes, Chaplow, Charlton-Lainé, Crute, Deinali, 
Earley, Fenwick, Fletcher, Griffiths, Gunn, Hall, Hampson, Hanson, Henig, 
Higgins, Hovvels, Johnson, Kay, Kellett, Kennedy, Manchester, Marshall, 

Page 17



McKenna, McKeon, McLean, McMahon, Miller, Mulholland, Nicholls, Pringle, 
Purvis, S Quinn, I Roberts, Shaw, Smith, Surtees, Taylor, Tinsley, 
Townsend, Varty, Waldock, M Wilson, S Wilson, Wood and Yorke. 
 
Resolved: 
That Councillor L Brown be appointed 1st Vice-Chair of the Statutory 
Licensing Committee. 
 
 
2nd Vice-Chair Statutory Licensing Committee 
Moved by Councillor E Scott, Seconded by Councillor J Nicholson, that 
Councillor J Blakey be appointed 2nd Vice-Chair of the Statutory Licensing 
Committee. 
 
Moved by Councillor C Marshall, Seconded by Councillor R Crute, that 
Councillor S Quinn be appointed 2nd Vice-Chair of the Statutory Licensing 
Committee. 
 
For Councillor J Blakey 
Councillors Abley, Avery, Bainbridge, A Bell, C Bell, R Bell, Blakey, D Brown, 
L Brown, Cairns, Charlton, Cochrane, Cosslett, Coult, Currah, Duffy, Elmer, 
Fantarrow-Darby, Freeman, Haney, Hawley, Heaviside, Henderson, Holmes, 
Hood, Hopgood, Howarth, Howey, Hunt, Hutchinson, Jackson, Jones, 
Jopling, Lines, Maddison, Martin, E Mavin, L Mavin, McAloon, McDonnell, 
McGaun, Moist, Molloy, Nicholson, Oliver, Ormerod, Peeke, Potts, J Quinn, 
Reed, Richardson, M-I Roberts, Robinson, Robson, Rooney, Rowlandson, 
Scott, Sexton, Shield, Shuttleworth, Simmons, Simpson, Stead, Stelling, 
Sterling, Stoker, Stubbs, Sutton-Lloyd, Walton, Watson, Wilkes and Zair. 
 
For Councillor S Quinn 
Councillors Adam, Adcock-Forster, Andrews, J Atkinson, P Atkinson, A 
Batey, K Batey, Binney, Boyes, Chaplow, Charlton-Lainé, Crute, Deinali, 
Earley, Fenwick, Fletcher, Griffiths, Gunn, Hall, Hampson, Hanson, Henig, 
Higgins, Hovvels, Johnson, Kay, Kellett, Kennedy, Manchester, Marshall, 
McKenna, McKeon, McLean, McMahon, Miller, Mulholland, Nicholls, Pringle, 
Purvis, S Quinn, I Roberts, Shaw, Smith, Surtees, Taylor, Tinsley, 
Townsend, Varty, Waldock, M Wilson, S Wilson, Wood and Yorke. 
 
Resolved: 
That Councillor J Blakey be appointed 2nd Vice-Chair of the Statutory 
Licensing Committee. 
 
1st Chair – Statutory Licensing Sub-Committee 
Moved by Councillor E Scott, Seconded by Councillor J Nicholson, that 
Councillor D Brown be appointed 1st Chair of the Statutory Licensing Sub-
Committee. 

Page 18



 
Moved by Councillor C Marshall, Seconded by Councillor R Crute, that 
Councillor M Wilson be appointed 1st Chair of the Statutory Licensing Sub- 
Committee. 
 
For Councillor D Brown 
Councillors Abley, Avery, Bainbridge, A Bell, C Bell, R Bell, Blakey, D Brown, 
L Brown, Cairns, Charlton, Cochrane, Cosslett, Coult, Currah, Duffy, Elmer, 
Fantarrow-Darby, Freeman, Haney, Hawley, Heaviside, Henderson, Holmes, 
Hood, Hopgood, Howarth, Howey, Hunt, Hutchinson, Jackson, Jones, 
Jopling, Lines, Maddison, Martin, E Mavin, L Mavin, McAloon, McDonnell, 
McGaun, Moist, Molloy, Nicholson, Oliver, Ormerod, Peeke, Potts, J Quinn, 
Reed, Richardson, M-I Roberts, Robinson, Robson, Rooney, Rowlandson, 
Scott, Sexton, Shield, Shuttleworth, Simmons, Simpson, Stead, Stelling, 
Sterling, Stoker, Stubbs, Sutton-Lloyd, Walton, Watson, Wilkes and Zair. 
 
For Councillor M Wilson 
Councillors Adam, Adcock-Forster, Andrews, J Atkinson, P Atkinson, A 
Batey, K Batey, Binney, Boyes, Chaplow, Charlton-Lainé, Crute, Deinali, 
Earley, Fenwick, Fletcher, Griffiths, Gunn, Hall, Hampson, Hanson, Henig, 
Higgins, Hovvels, Johnson, Kay, Kellett, Kennedy, Manchester, Marshall, 
McKenna, McKeon, McLean, McMahon, Miller, Mulholland, Nicholls, Pringle, 
Purvis, S Quinn, I Roberts, Shaw, Smith, Surtees, Taylor, Tinsley, 
Townsend, Varty, Waldock, M Wilson, S Wilson, Wood and Yorke. 
 
Resolved: 
That Councillor D Brown be appointed 1st Chair of the Statutory Licensing 
Sub-Committee. 
 
 
2nd Chair – Statutory Licensing Sub-Committee 
Moved by Councillor E Scott, Seconded by Councillor J Nicholson, that 
Councillor L Brown be appointed 2nd Chair of the Statutory Licensing Sub-
Committee. 
 
Moved by Councillor C Marshall, Seconded by Councillor R Crute, that 
Councillor C Hampson be appointed 2nd Chair of the Statutory Licensing 
Sub-Committee. 
 
For Councillor L Brown 
Councillors Abley, Avery, Bainbridge, A Bell, C Bell, R Bell, Blakey, D Brown, 
L Brown, Cairns, Charlton, Cochrane, Cosslett, Coult, Currah, Duffy, Elmer, 
Fantarrow-Darby, Freeman, Haney, Hawley, Heaviside, Henderson, Holmes, 
Hood, Hopgood, Howarth, Howey, Hunt, Hutchinson, Jackson, Jones, 
Jopling, Lines, Maddison, Martin, E Mavin, L Mavin, McAloon, McDonnell, 
McGaun, Moist, Molloy, Nicholson, Oliver, Ormerod, Peeke, Potts, J Quinn, 

Page 19



Reed, Richardson, M-I Roberts, Robinson, Robson, Rooney, Rowlandson, 
Scott, Sexton, Shield, Shuttleworth, Simmons, Simpson, Stead, Stelling, 
Sterling, Stoker, Stubbs, Sutton-Lloyd, Walton, Watson, Wilkes and Zair. 
 
For Councillor C Hampson 
Councillors Adam, Adcock-Forster, Andrews, J Atkinson, P Atkinson, A 
Batey, K Batey, Binney, Boyes, Chaplow, Charlton-Lainé, Crute, Deinali, 
Earley, Fenwick, Fletcher, Griffiths, Gunn, Hall, Hampson, Hanson, Henig, 
Higgins, Hovvels, Johnson, Kay, Kellett, Kennedy, Manchester, Marshall, 
McKenna, McKeon, McLean, McMahon, Miller, Mulholland, Nicholls, Pringle, 
Purvis, S Quinn, I Roberts, Shaw, Smith, Surtees, Taylor, Tinsley, 
Townsend, Varty, Waldock, M Wilson, S Wilson, Wood and Yorke. 
 
Resolved: 
That Councillor L Brown be appointed 2nd Chair of the Statutory Licensing 
Sub-Committee. 
 
 
3rd Chair – Statutory Licensing Sub-Committee 
Moved by Councillor E Scott, Seconded by Councillor J Nicholson, that 
Councillor J Blakey be appointed 3rd Chair of the Statutory Licensing Sub-
Committee. 
 
Moved by Councillor C Marshall, Seconded by Councillor R Crute, that 
Councillor S Quinn be appointed 3rd Chair of the Statutory Licensing Sub-
Committee. 
 
For Councillor Blakey 
Councillors Abley, Avery, Bainbridge, A Bell, C Bell, R Bell, Blakey, D Brown, 
L Brown, Cairns, Charlton, Cochrane, Cosslett, Coult, Currah, Duffy, Elmer, 
Fantarrow-Darby, Freeman, Haney, Hawley, Heaviside, Henderson, Holmes, 
Hood, Hopgood, Howarth, Howey, Hunt, Hutchinson, Jackson, Jones, 
Jopling, Lines, Maddison, Martin, E Mavin, L Mavin, McAloon, McDonnell, 
McGaun, Moist, Molloy, Nicholson, Oliver, Ormerod, Peeke, Potts, J Quinn, 
Reed, Richardson, M-I Roberts, Robinson, Robson, Rooney, Rowlandson, 
Scott, Sexton, Shield, Shuttleworth, Simmons, Simpson, Stead, Stelling, 
Sterling, Stoker, Stubbs, Sutton-Lloyd, Walton, Watson, Wilkes and Zair. 
 
For Councillor S Quinn 
Councillors Adam, Adcock-Forster, Andrews, J Atkinson, P Atkinson, A 
Batey, K Batey, Binney, Boyes, Chaplow, Charlton-Lainé, Crute, Deinali, 
Earley, Fenwick, Fletcher, Griffiths, Gunn, Hall, Hampson, Hanson, Henig, 
Higgins, Hovvels, Johnson, Kay, Kellett, Kennedy, Manchester, Marshall, 
McKenna, McKeon, McLean, McMahon, Miller, Mulholland, Nicholls, Pringle, 
Purvis, S Quinn, I Roberts, Shaw, Smith, Surtees, Taylor, Tinsley, 
Townsend, Varty, Waldock, M Wilson, S Wilson, Wood and Yorke. 

Page 20



 
Resolved: 
That Councillor J Blakey be appointed 3rd Chair of the Statutory Licensing 
Sub-Committee. 
 
 
General Licensing and Registration Committee 
Moved by Councillor E Scott, Seconded by Councillor J Nicholson, that 
Councillor D Stoker be appointed Chair of the General Licensing and 
Registration Committee. 
 
Moved by Councillor C Marshall, Seconded by Councillor R Crute, that 
Councillor M Wilson be appointed Chair of the General Licensing and 
Registration Committee. 
 
For Councillor D Stoker 
Councillors Abley, Avery, Bainbridge, A Bell, C Bell, R Bell, Blakey, D Brown, 
L Brown, Cairns, Charlton, Cochrane, Cosslett, Coult, Currah, Duffy, Elmer, 
Fantarrow-Darby, Freeman, Haney, Hawley, Heaviside, Henderson, Holmes, 
Hood, Hopgood, Howarth, Howey, Hunt, Hutchinson, Jackson, Jones, 
Jopling, Lines, Maddison, Martin, E Mavin, L Mavin, McAloon, McDonnell, 
McGaun, Moist, Molloy, Nicholson, Oliver, Ormerod, Peeke, Potts, J Quinn, 
Reed, Richardson, M-I Roberts, Robinson, Robson, Rooney, Rowlandson, 
Scott, Sexton, Shield, Shuttleworth, Simmons, Simpson, Stead, Stelling, 
Sterling, Stoker, Stubbs, Sutton-Lloyd, Walton, Watson, Wilkes and Zair. 
 
For Councillor M Wilson 
Councillors Adam, Adcock-Forster, Andrews, J Atkinson, P Atkinson, A 
Batey, K Batey, Binney, Boyes, Chaplow, Charlton-Lainé, Crute, Deinali, 
Earley, Fenwick, Fletcher, Griffiths, Gunn, Hall, Hampson, Hanson, Henig, 
Higgins, Hovvels, Johnson, Kay, Kellett, Kennedy, Manchester, Marshall, 
McKenna, McKeon, McLean, McMahon, Miller, Mulholland, Nicholls, Pringle, 
Purvis, S Quinn, I Roberts, Shaw, Smith, Surtees, Taylor, Tinsley, 
Townsend, Varty, Waldock, M Wilson, S Wilson, Wood and Yorke. 
 
Resolved: 
That Councillor D Stoker be appointed Chair of the General Licensing and 
Registration Committee. 
 
Moved by Councillor E Scott, Seconded by Councillor J Nicholson, that 
Councillor C Hunt be appointed Vice-Chair of the General Licensing and 
Registration Committee. 
 
Moved by Councillor C Marshall, Seconded by Councillor R Crute, that 
Councillor C Hampson be appointed Vice-Chair of the General Licensing and 
Registration Committee. 

Page 21



 
For Councillor C Hunt 
Councillors Abley, Avery, Bainbridge, A Bell, C Bell, R Bell, Blakey, D Brown, 
L Brown, Cairns, Charlton, Cochrane, Cosslett, Coult, Currah, Duffy, Elmer, 
Fantarrow-Darby, Freeman, Haney, Hawley, Heaviside, Henderson, Holmes, 
Hood, Hopgood, Howarth, Howey, Hunt, Hutchinson, Jackson, Jones, 
Jopling, Lines, Maddison, Martin, E Mavin, L Mavin, McAloon, McDonnell, 
McGaun, Moist, Molloy, Nicholson, Oliver, Ormerod, Peeke, Potts, J Quinn, 
Reed, Richardson, M-I Roberts, Robinson, Robson, Rooney, Rowlandson, 
Scott, Sexton, Shield, Shuttleworth, Simmons, Simpson, Stead, Stelling, 
Sterling, Stoker, Stubbs, Sutton-Lloyd, Walton, Watson, Wilkes and Zair. 
 
For Councillor C Hampson 
Councillors Adam, Adcock-Forster, Andrews, J Atkinson, P Atkinson, A 
Batey, K Batey, Binney, Boyes, Chaplow, Charlton-Lainé, Crute, Deinali, 
Earley, Fenwick, Fletcher, Griffiths, Gunn, Hall, Hampson, Hanson, Henig, 
Higgins, Hovvels, Johnson, Kay, Kellett, Kennedy, Manchester, Marshall, 
McKenna, McKeon, McLean, McMahon, Miller, Mulholland, Nicholls, Pringle, 
Purvis, S Quinn, I Roberts, Shaw, Smith, Surtees, Taylor, Tinsley, 
Townsend, Varty, Waldock, M Wilson, S Wilson, Wood and Yorke. 
 
Resolved: 
That Councillor C Hunt be appointed Vice-Chair of the General Licensing and 
Registration Committee. 
 
 
1st Chair – General Licensing and Registration Sub-Committee 
Moved by Councillor E Scott, Seconded by Councillor J Nicholson, that 
Councillor D Brown be appointed 1st Chair of the General Licensing and 
Registration Sub-Committee. 
 
Moved by Councillor C Marshall, Seconded by Councillor R Crute, that 
Councillor M Wilson be appointed 1st Chair of the General Licensing and 
Registration Committee. 
 
For Councillor D Brown 
Councillors Abley, Avery, Bainbridge, A Bell, C Bell, R Bell, Blakey, D Brown, 
L Brown, Cairns, Charlton, Cochrane, Cosslett, Coult, Currah, Duffy, Elmer, 
Fantarrow-Darby, Freeman, Haney, Hawley, Heaviside, Henderson, Holmes, 
Hood, Hopgood, Howarth, Howey, Hunt, Hutchinson, Jackson, Jones, 
Jopling, Lines, Maddison, Martin, E Mavin, L Mavin, McAloon, McDonnell, 
McGaun, Moist, Molloy, Nicholson, Oliver, Ormerod, Peeke, Potts, J Quinn, 
Reed, Richardson, M-I Roberts, Robinson, Robson, Rooney, Rowlandson, 
Scott, Sexton, Shield, Shuttleworth, Simmons, Simpson, Stead, Stelling, 
Sterling, Stoker, Stubbs, Sutton-Lloyd, Watson, Wilkes and Zair. 
 

Page 22



For Councillor M Wilson 
Councillors Adam, Adcock-Forster, Andrews, J Atkinson, P Atkinson, A 
Batey, K Batey, Binney, Boyes, Chaplow, Charlton-Lainé, Crute, Deinali, 
Earley, Fenwick, Fletcher, Griffiths, Gunn, Hall, Hampson, Hanson, Henig, 
Higgins, Hovvels, Johnson, Kay, Kellett, Kennedy, Manchester, Marshall, 
McKenna, McKeon, McLean, McMahon, Miller, Mulholland, Nicholls, Pringle, 
Purvis, S Quinn, I Roberts, Shaw, Smith, Surtees, Taylor, Tinsley, 
Townsend, Varty, Waldock, M Wilson, S Wilson, Wood and Yorke. 
 
Resolved: 
That Councillor D Brown be appointed 1st Chair of the General Licensing and 
Registration Sub-Committee. 
 
 
2nd Chair – General Licensing and Registration Sub-Committee 
Moved by Councillor E Scott, Seconded by Councillor J Nicholson, that 
Councillor L Brown be appointed 2nd Chair of the General Licensing and 
Registration Sub-Committee. 
 
Moved by Councillor C Marshall, Seconded by Councillor R Crute, that 
Councillor C Hampson be appointed 2nd Chair of the General Licensing and 
Registration Sub-Committee. 
 
For Councillor L Brown 
Councillors Abley, Avery, Bainbridge, A Bell, C Bell, R Bell, Blakey, D Brown, 
L Brown, Cairns, Charlton, Cochrane, Cosslett, Coult, Currah, Duffy, Elmer, 
Fantarrow-Darby, Freeman, Haney, Hawley, Heaviside, Henderson, Holmes, 
Hood, Hopgood, Howarth, Howey, Hunt, Hutchinson, Jackson, Jones, 
Jopling, Lines, Martin, E Mavin, L Mavin, McAloon, McDonnell, McGaun, 
Moist, Molloy, Nicholson, Oliver, Ormerod, Peeke, Potts, J Quinn, Reed, 
Richardson, M-I Roberts, Robinson, Robson, Rooney, Rowlandson, Scott, 
Sexton, Shield, Shuttleworth, Simmons, Simpson, Stead, Stelling, Sterling, 
Stoker, Stubbs, Sutton-Lloyd, Walton, Watson, Wilkes and Zair. 
 
For Councillor C Hampson 
Councillors Adam, Adcock-Forster, Andrews, J Atkinson, P Atkinson, A 
Batey, K Batey, Binney, Boyes, Chaplow, Charlton-Lainé, Crute, Deinali, 
Earley, Fenwick, Fletcher, Griffiths, Gunn, Hall, Hampson, Hanson, Henig, 
Higgins, Hovvels, Johnson, Kay, Kellett, Kennedy, Maddison, Manchester, 
Marshall, McKenna, McKeon, McLean, McMahon, Miller, Mulholland, 
Nicholls, Pringle, Purvis, S Quinn, I Roberts, Shaw, Smith, Surtees, Taylor, 
Tinsley, Townsend, Varty, Waldock, M Wilson, S Wilson, Wood and Yorke. 
 
Resolved: 
That Councillor L Brown be appointed 2nd Chair of the General Licensing and 
Registration Sub-Committee. 

Page 23



 
 
3rd Chair – General Licensing and Registration Sub-Committee 
Moved by Councillor E Scott, Seconded by Councillor J Nicholson, that 
Councillor J Blakey be appointed 3rd Chair of the General Licensing and 
Registration Sub-Committee. 
 
Moved by Councillor C Marshall, Seconded by Councillor R Crute, that 
Councillor S Quinn be appointed 3rd Chair of the General Licensing and 
Registration Sub-Committee. 
 
For Councillor J Blakey 
Councillors Abley, Avery, Bainbridge, A Bell, C Bell, R Bell, Blakey, D Brown, 
L Brown, Cairns, Charlton, Cochrane, Cosslett, Coult, Currah, Duffy, Elmer, 
Fantarrow-Darby, Freeman, Haney, Hawley, Heaviside, Henderson, Holmes, 
Hood, Hopgood, Howarth, Howey, Hunt, Hutchinson, Jackson, Jones, 
Jopling, Lines, Maddison, Martin, E Mavin, L Mavin, McAloon, McDonnell, 
McGaun, Moist, Molloy, Nicholson, Oliver, Ormerod, Peeke, Potts, J Quinn, 
Reed, Richardson, M-I Roberts, Robinson, Robson, Rooney, Rowlandson, 
Scott, Sexton, Shield, Shuttleworth, Simmons, Simpson, Stead, Stelling, 
Sterling, Stoker, Stubbs, Sutton-Lloyd, Walton, Watson, Wilkes and Zair. 
 
For Councillor S Quinn 
Councillors Adam, Adcock-Forster, Andrews, J Atkinson, P Atkinson, A 
Batey, K Batey, Binney, Boyes, Chaplow, Charlton-Lainé, Crute, Deinali, 
Earley, Fenwick, Fletcher, Griffiths, Gunn, Hall, Hampson, Hanson, Henig, 
Higgins, Hovvels, Johnson, Kay, Kellett, Kennedy, Manchester, Marshall, 
McKenna, McKeon, McLean, McMahon, Miller, Mulholland, Nicholls, Pringle, 
Purvis, S Quinn, I Roberts, Shaw, Smith, Surtees, Taylor, Tinsley, 
Townsend, Varty, Waldock, M Wilson, S Wilson, Wood and Yorke. 
 
Resolved: 
That Councillor J Blakey be appointed 3rd Chair of the General Licensing and 
Registration Sub-Committee. 
 
Standards Committee 
Moved by Councillor L Brown, Seconded by Councillor E Scott, that 
Councillor J Nicholson be appointed Chair of the Standards Committee. 
 
Moved by Councillor C Marshall, Seconded by Councillor R Crute, that 
Councillor B Kellett be appointed Chair of the Standards Committee. 
 
For Councillor J Nicholson 
Councillors Abley, Avery, Bainbridge, A Bell, C Bell, R Bell, Blakey, D Brown, 
L Brown, Cairns, Charlton, Cochrane, Cosslett, Coult, Currah, Duffy, Elmer, 
Fantarrow-Darby, Freeman, Haney, Hawley, Heaviside, Henderson, Holmes, 

Page 24



Hood, Hopgood, Howarth, Howey, Hunt, Hutchinson, Jackson, Jones, 
Jopling, Lines, Maddison, Martin, E Mavin, L Mavin, McAloon, McDonnell, 
McGaun, Moist, Molloy, Nicholson, Oliver, Ormerod, Peeke, Potts, J Quinn, 
Reed, Richardson, M-I Roberts, Robinson, Robson, Rooney, Rowlandson, 
Scott, Sexton, Shield, Shuttleworth, Simmons, Simpson, Stead, Stelling, 
Sterling, Stoker, Stubbs, Sutton-Lloyd, Walton, Watson, Wilkes and Zair. 
 
For Councillor B Kellett 
Councillors Adam, Adcock-Forster, Andrews, J Atkinson, P Atkinson, A 
Batey, K Batey, Binney, Boyes, Chaplow, Charlton-Lainé, Crute, Deinali, 
Earley, Fenwick, Fletcher, Griffiths, Gunn, Hall, Hampson, Hanson, Henig, 
Higgins, Hovvels, Johnson, Kay, Kellett, Kennedy, Manchester, Marshall, 
McKenna, McKeon, McLean, McMahon, Miller, Mulholland, Nicholls, Pringle, 
Purvis, S Quinn, I Roberts, Shaw, Smith, Surtees, Taylor, Tinsley, 
Townsend, Varty, Waldock, M Wilson, S Wilson, Wood and Yorke. 
 
Resolved: 
That Councillor J Nicholson be appointed Chair of the Standards Committee. 
 
Moved by Councillor C Marshall, Seconded by Councillor R Crute, that 
Councillor F Tinsley be appointed Vice-Chair of the Standards Committee. 
 
Resolved: 
That Councillor F Tinsley be appointed Vice-Chair of the Standards 
Committee. 
 
 
County Planning Committee 
Moved by Councillor L Brown, Seconded by Councillor J Nicholson, that 
Councillor G Richardson be appointed Chair of the County Planning 
Committee. 
 
Moved by Councillor C Marshall, Seconded by Councillor R Crute, that 
Councillor S Wilson be appointed Chair of the County Planning Committee. 
 
For Councillor G Richardson 
Councillors Abley, Avery, Bainbridge, A Bell, C Bell, R Bell, Blakey, D Brown, 
L Brown, Cairns, Charlton, Cochrane, Cosslett, Coult, Currah, Duffy, Elmer, 
Fantarrow-Darby, Freeman, Haney, Hawley, Heaviside, Henderson, Holmes, 
Hood, Hopgood, Howarth, Howey, Hunt, Hutchinson, Jackson, Jones, 
Jopling, Lines, Maddison, Martin, E Mavin, L Mavin, McAloon, McDonnell, 
McGaun, Moist, Molloy, Nicholson, Oliver, Ormerod, Peeke, Potts, J Quinn, 
Reed, Richardson, M-I Roberts, Robson, Rooney, Rowlandson, Scott, 
Sexton, Shield, Simmons, Simpson, Stead, Stelling, Sterling, Stoker, Stubbs, 
Sutton-Lloyd, Walton, Watson, Wilkes and Zair. 
 

Page 25



For Councillor S Wilson 
Councillors Adam, Adcock-Forster, Andrews, J Atkinson, P Atkinson, A 
Batey, K Batey, Binney, Boyes, Chaplow, Charlton-Lainé, Crute, Deinali, 
Earley, Fenwick, Fletcher, Griffiths, Gunn, Hall, Hampson, Hanson, Henig, 
Higgins, Hovvels, Johnson, Kay, Kellett, Kennedy, Manchester, Marshall, 
McKenna, McKeon, McLean, McMahon, Miller, Mulholland, Nicholls, Pringle, 
Purvis, S Quinn, I Roberts, Shaw, Smith, Surtees, Taylor, Tinsley, 
Townsend, Varty, Waldock, M Wilson, S Wilson, Wood and Yorke. 
 
Resolved: 
That Councillor G Richardson be appointed Chair of the County Planning 
Committee. 
 
Moved by Councillor L Brown, Seconded by Councillor J Nicholson, that 
Councillor A Bell be appointed Vice-Chair of the County Planning Committee. 
 
Moved by Councillor C Marshall, Seconded by Councillor R Crute, that 
Councillor P Taylor be appointed Vice-Chair of the County Planning 
Committee. 
 
For Councillor A Bell 
Councillors Abley, Avery, Bainbridge, A Bell, C Bell, R Bell, Blakey, D Brown, 
L Brown, Cairns, Charlton, Cochrane, Cosslett, Coult, Currah, Duffy, Elmer, 
Fantarrow-Darby, Freeman, Haney, Hawley, Heaviside, Henderson, Holmes, 
Hood, Hopgood, Howarth, Howey, Hunt, Hutchinson, Jackson, Jones, 
Jopling, Lines, Maddison, Martin, E Mavin, L Mavin, McAloon, McDonnell, 
McGaun, Moist, Molloy, Nicholson, Oliver, Ormerod, Peeke, Potts, J Quinn, 
Reed, Richardson, M-I Roberts, Robson, Rooney, Rowlandson, Scott, 
Sexton, Shield, Shuttleworth, Simmons, Simpson, Stead, Stelling, Sterling, 
Stoker, Stubbs, Sutton-Lloyd, Taylor, Walton, Watson, Wilkes and Zair. 
 
For Councillor P Taylor 
Councillors Adam, Adcock-Forster, Andrews, J Atkinson, P Atkinson, A 
Batey, K Batey, Binney, Boyes, Chaplow, Charlton-Lainé, Crute, Deinali, 
Earley, Fenwick, Fletcher, Griffiths, Gunn, Hall, Hampson, Hanson, Henig, 
Higgins, Hovvels, Johnson, Kay, Kellett, Kennedy, Manchester, Marshall, 
McKenna, McKeon, McLean, McMahon, Miller, Mulholland, Nicholls, Pringle, 
Purvis, S Quinn, I Roberts, Shaw, Smith, Surtees, Tinsley, Townsend, Varty, 
Waldock, M Wilson, S Wilson, Wood and Yorke. 
 
Resolved: 
That Councillor A Bell be appointed Vice-Chair of the County Planning 
Committee. 
 
 

Page 26



Area Planning Committee (North) 
Moved by Councillor L Brown, Seconded by Councillor J Nicholson, that 
Councillor M McGaun be appointed Chair of the Area Planning Committee 
(North). 
 
Moved by Councillor R Crute, Seconded by Councillor J Miller that 
Councillor C Marshall be appointed Chair of the Area Planning Committee 
(North). 
 
For Councillor M McGaun 
Councillors Abley, Avery, Bainbridge, A Bell, C Bell, R Bell, Blakey, D Brown, 
L Brown, Cairns, Charlton, Cochrane, Cosslett, Coult, Currah, Duffy, Elmer, 
Fantarrow-Darby, Freeman, Haney, Hawley, Heaviside, Henderson, Holmes, 
Hood, Hopgood, Howarth, Howey, Hunt, Hutchinson, Jackson, Jones, 
Jopling, Lines, Maddison, Martin, E Mavin, L Mavin, McAloon, McDonnell, 
McGaun, Moist, Molloy, Nicholson, Oliver, Ormerod, Peeke, Potts, J Quinn, 
Reed, Richardson, M-I Roberts, Robinson, Robson, Rooney, Rowlandson, 
Scott, Sexton, Shield, Shuttleworth, Simmons, Simpson, Stead, Stelling, 
Sterling, Stoker, Stubbs, Sutton-Lloyd, Walton, Watson, Wilkes and Zair. 
 
For Councillor C Marshall 
Councillors Adam, Adcock-Forster, Andrews, J Atkinson, P Atkinson, A 
Batey, K Batey, Binney, Boyes, Chaplow, Charlton-Lainé, Crute, Deinali, 
Earley, Fenwick, Fletcher, Griffiths, Gunn, Hall, Hampson, Hanson, Henig, 
Higgins, Hovvels, Johnson, Kay, Kellett, Kennedy, Manchester, Marshall, 
McKenna, McKeon, McLean, McMahon, Miller, Mulholland, Nicholls, Pringle, 
Purvis, S Quinn, I Roberts, Shaw, Smith, Surtees, Taylor, Tinsley, 
Townsend, Varty, Waldock, M Wilson, S Wilson, Wood and Yorke. 
 
Resolved: 
That Councillor M McGaun be appointed Chair of the Area Planning 
Committee (North). 
 
Moved by Councillor L Brown, Seconded by Councillor J Nicholson, that 
Councillor A Watson be appointed Vice-Chair of the Area Planning 
Committee (North). 
 
Resolved: 
That Councillor A Watson be appointed Vice-Chair of the Area Planning 
Committee (North). 
 
 
Area Planning Committee (Central and East) 
Moved by Councillor L Brown, Seconded by Councillor J Nicholson, that 
Councillor D Freeman be appointed Chair of the Area Planning Committee 
(Central and East). 

Page 27



 
Moved by Councillor C Marshall, Seconded by Councillor R Crute, that 
Councillor P Taylor be appointed Chair of the Area Planning Committee 
(Central and East). 
 
For Councillor D Freeman 
Councillors Abley, Avery, Bainbridge, A Bell, C Bell, R Bell, Blakey, D Brown, 
L Brown, Cairns, Charlton, Cochrane, Cosslett, Coult, Currah, Duffy, Elmer, 
Fantarrow-Darby, Freeman, Haney, Hawley, Heaviside, Henderson, Holmes, 
Hood, Hopgood, Howarth, Howey, Hunt, Hutchinson, Jackson, Jones, 
Jopling, Lines, Maddison, Martin, E Mavin, L Mavin, McAloon, McDonnell, 
McGaun, Moist, Molloy, Nicholson, Oliver, Ormerod, Peeke, Potts, J Quinn, 
Reed, Richardson, M-I Roberts, Robinson, Robson, Rooney, Rowlandson, 
Scott, Sexton, Shield, Shuttleworth, Simmons, Simpson, Stead, Stelling, 
Sterling, Stoker, Stubbs, Sutton-Lloyd, Walton, Watson, Wilkes and Zair. 
 
For Councillor P Taylor 
Councillors Adam, Adcock-Forster, Andrews, J Atkinson, P Atkinson, A 
Batey, K Batey, Binney, Boyes, Chaplow, Charlton-Lainé, Crute, Deinali, 
Earley, Fenwick, Fletcher, Griffiths, Gunn, Hall, Hampson, Hanson, Henig, 
Higgins, Hovvels, Johnson, Kay, Kellett, Kennedy, Manchester, Marshall, 
McKenna, McKeon, McLean, McMahon, Miller, Mulholland, Nicholls, Pringle, 
Purvis, S Quinn, I Roberts, Shaw, Smith, Surtees, Taylor, Tinsley, 
Townsend, Varty, Waldock, M Wilson, S Wilson, Wood and Yorke. 
 
Resolved: 
That Councillor D Freeman be appointed Chair of the Area Planning 
Committee (Central and East). 
 
Moved by Councillor C Marshall, Seconded by Councillor R Crute, that 
Councillor S Deinali be appointed Vice-Chair of the Area Planning Committee 
(Central and East). 
 
Resolved: 
That Councillor S Deinali be appointed Vice-Chair of the Area Planning 
Committee (Central and East). 
 
 
Area Planning Committee (South and West) 
Moved by Councillor L Brown, Seconded by Councillor J Nicholson, that 
Councillor G Richardson be appointed Chair of the Area Planning Committee 
(South and West). 
 
Moved by Councillor C Marshall, Seconded by Councillor R Crute, that 
Councillor M Johnson be appointed Chair of the Area Planning Committee 
(South and West). 

Page 28



 
For Councillor G Richardson 
Councillors Abley, Avery, Bainbridge, A Bell, C Bell, R Bell, Blakey, D Brown, 
L Brown, Cairns, Charlton, Cochrane, Cosslett, Coult, Currah, Duffy, Elmer, 
Fantarrow-Darby, Freeman, Haney, Hawley, Heaviside, Henderson, Holmes, 
Hood, Hopgood, Howarth, Howey, Hunt, Hutchinson, Jackson, Jones, 
Jopling, Lines, Maddison, Martin, E Mavin, L Mavin, McAloon, McDonnell, 
McGaun, Moist, Molloy, Nicholson, Oliver, Ormerod, Peeke, Potts, J Quinn, 
Reed, Richardson, M-I Roberts, Robson, Rooney, Rowlandson, Scott, 
Sexton, Shield, Shuttleworth, Simmons, Simpson, Stead, Stelling, Sterling, 
Stoker, Stubbs, Sutton-Lloyd, Walton, Watson, Wilkes and Zair. 
 
For Councillor M Johnson 
Councillors Adam, Adcock-Forster, Andrews, J Atkinson, P Atkinson, A 
Batey, K Batey, Binney, Boyes, Chaplow, Charlton-Lainé, Crute, Deinali, 
Earley, Fenwick, Fletcher, Griffiths, Gunn, Hall, Hampson, Hanson, Henig, 
Higgins, Hovvels, Johnson, Kay, Kellett, Kennedy, Manchester, Marshall, 
McKenna, McKeon, McLean, McMahon, Miller, Mulholland, Nicholls, Pringle, 
Purvis, S Quinn, I Roberts, Shaw, Smith, Surtees, Taylor, Tinsley, 
Townsend, Varty, Waldock, M Wilson, S Wilson, Wood and Yorke. 
 
Resolved: 
That Councillor G Richardson be appointed Chair of the Area Planning 
Committee (South and West). 
 
Moved by Councillor L Brown, Seconded by Councillor J Nicholson, that 
Councillor A Savory be appointed Vice-Chair of the Area Planning 
Committee (South and West). 
 
Moved by Councillor C Marshall, Seconded by Councillor R Crute, that 
Councillor S Quinn be appointed Vice-Chair of the Area Planning Committee 
(South and West). 
 
For Councillor A Savory 
Councillors Abley, Avery, Bainbridge, A Bell, C Bell, R Bell, Blakey, D Brown, 
L Brown, Cairns, Charlton, Cochrane, Cosslett, Coult, Currah, Duffy, Elmer, 
Fantarrow-Darby, Freeman, Haney, Hawley, Heaviside, Henderson, Holmes, 
Hood, Hopgood, Howarth, Howey, Hunt, Hutchinson, Jackson, Jones, 
Jopling, Lines, Maddison, Martin, E Mavin, L Mavin, McAloon, McDonnell, 
McGaun, Moist, Molloy, Nicholson, Oliver, Ormerod, Peeke, Potts, J Quinn, 
Reed, Richardson, M-I Roberts, Robson, Rooney, Rowlandson, Scott, 
Sexton, Shield, Shuttleworth, Simmons, Simpson, Stead, Stelling, Sterling, 
Stoker, Stubbs, Sutton-Lloyd, Walton, Watson, Wilkes and Zair. 
 

Page 29



For Councillor S Quinn 
Councillors Adam, Adcock-Forster, Andrews, J Atkinson, P Atkinson, A 
Batey, K Batey, Binney, Boyes, Chaplow, Charlton-Lainé, Crute, Deinali, 
Earley, Fenwick, Fletcher, Griffiths, Gunn, Hall, Hampson, Hanson, Henig, 
Higgins, Hovvels, Johnson, Kay, Kellett, Kennedy, Manchester, Marshall, 
McKenna, McKeon, McLean, McMahon, Miller, Mulholland, Nicholls, Pringle, 
Purvis, S Quinn, I Roberts, Shaw, Smith, Surtees, Taylor, Tinsley, 
Townsend, Varty, Waldock, M Wilson, S Wilson, Wood and Yorke. 
 
Resolved: 
That Councillor A Savory be appointed Vice-Chair of the Area Planning 
Committee (South and West). 
 
 
Pension Fund Committee 
Moved by Councillor C Marshall, Seconded by Councillor R Crute, that 
Councillor B Kellett be appointed Chair of the Pension Fund Committee. 
 
Resolved: 
That Councillor B Kellett be appointed Chair of the Pension Fund Committee. 
 
Moved by Councillor L Brown, Seconded by Councillor J Nicholson, that 
Councillor M Abley be appointed Vice-Chair of the Pension Fund Committee. 
 
Moved by Councillor C Marshall, Seconded by Councillor R Crute, that 
Councillor J Atkinson be appointed Vice-Chair of the Pension Fund 
Committee. 
 
For Councillor Abley 
Councillors Abley, Avery, Bainbridge, A Bell, C Bell, R Bell, Blakey, D Brown, 
L Brown, Cairns, Charlton, Cochrane, Cosslett, Coult, Currah, Duffy, Elmer, 
Fantarrow-Darby, Freeman, Haney, Hawley, Heaviside, Henderson, Holmes, 
Hood, Hopgood, Howarth, Howey, Hunt, Hutchinson, Jackson, Jones, 
Jopling, Lines, Maddison, Martin, E Mavin, L Mavin, McAloon, McDonnell, 
McGaun, Moist, Molloy, Nicholson, Oliver, Ormerod, Peeke, Potts, J Quinn, 
Reed, Richardson, M-I Roberts, Robson, Rooney, Rowlandson, Scott, 
Sexton, Shield, Shuttleworth, Simmons, Simpson, Stead, Stelling, Sterling, 
Stoker, Stubbs, Sutton-Lloyd, Walton, Watson, Wilkes and Zair. 
 
For Councillor J Atkinson 
Councillors Adam, Adcock-Forster, Andrews, J Atkinson, P Atkinson, A 
Batey, K Batey, Binney, Boyes, Chaplow, Charlton-Lainé, Crute, Deinali, 
Earley, Fenwick, Fletcher, Griffiths, Gunn, Hall, Hampson, Hanson, Henig, 
Higgins, Hovvels, Johnson, Kay, Kellett, Kennedy, Manchester, Marshall, 
McKenna, McKeon, McLean, McMahon, Miller, Mulholland, Nicholls, Pringle, 

Page 30



Purvis, S Quinn, I Roberts, Shaw, Smith, Surtees, Taylor, Tinsley, 
Townsend, Varty, Waldock, M Wilson, S Wilson, Wood and Yorke. 
 
Resolved: 
That Councillor M Abley be appointed Vice-Chair of the Pension Fund 
Committee. 
 
 
Corporate Parenting Panel 
Moved by Councillor L Brown, Seconded by Councillor J Nicholson, that 
Councillor M Simmons be appointed Chair of the Corporate Parenting Panel. 
 
Moved by Councillor C Marshall, Seconded by Councillor R Crute, that 
Councillor C Varty be appointed Chair of the Corporate Parenting Panel. 
 
For Councillor M Simmons 
Councillors Abley, Avery, Bainbridge, A Bell, C Bell, R Bell, Blakey, D Brown, 
L Brown, Cairns, Charlton, Cochrane, Cosslett, Coult, Currah, Duffy, Elmer, 
Fantarrow-Darby, Freeman, Haney, Hawley, Heaviside, Henderson, Holmes, 
Hood, Hopgood, Howarth, Howey, Hunt, Hutchinson, Jackson, Jones, 
Jopling, Lines, Maddison, Martin, E Mavin, L Mavin, McAloon, McDonnell, 
McGaun, Moist, Molloy, Nicholson, Oliver, Ormerod, Peeke, Potts, J Quinn, 
Reed, Richardson, M-I Roberts, Robson, Rooney, Rowlandson, Scott, 
Sexton, Shield, Shuttleworth, Simmons, Simpson, Stead, Stelling, Sterling, 
Stoker, Stubbs, Sutton-Lloyd, Walton, Watson, Wilkes and Zair. 
 
For Councillor C Varty 
Councillors Adam, Adcock-Forster, Andrews, J Atkinson, P Atkinson, A 
Batey, K Batey, Binney, Boyes, Chaplow, Charlton-Lainé, Crute, Deinali, 
Earley, Fenwick, Fletcher, Griffiths, Gunn, Hall, Hampson, Hanson, Henig, 
Higgins, Hovvels, Johnson, Kay, Kellett, Kennedy, Manchester, Marshall, 
McKenna, McKeon, McLean, McMahon, Miller, Mulholland, Nicholls, Pringle, 
Purvis, S Quinn, I Roberts, Shaw, Smith, Surtees, Taylor, Tinsley, 
Townsend, Varty, Waldock, M Wilson, S Wilson, Wood and Yorke. 
 
Resolved: 
That Councillor M Simmons be appointed Chair of the Corporate Parenting 
Panel. 
 
Moved by Councillor L Brown, Seconded by Councillor J Nicholson, that 
Councillor M Walton be appointed Vice-Chair of the Corporate Parenting 
Panel. 
 
Moved by Councillor C Marshall, Seconded by Councillor R Crute, that 
Councillor R Adcock-Forster be appointed Vice-Chair of the Corporate 
Parenting Panel. 

Page 31



 
For Councillor M Walton 
Councillors Abley, Avery, Bainbridge, A Bell, C Bell, R Bell, Blakey, D Brown, 
L Brown, Cairns, Charlton, Cochrane, Cosslett, Coult, Currah, Duffy, Elmer, 
Fantarrow-Darby, Freeman, Haney, Hawley, Heaviside, Henderson, Holmes, 
Hood, Hopgood, Howarth, Howey, Hunt, Hutchinson, Jackson, Jones, 
Jopling, Lines, Maddison, Martin, E Mavin, L Mavin, McAloon, McDonnell, 
McGaun, Moist, Molloy, Nicholson, Oliver, Ormerod, Peeke, Potts, J Quinn, 
Reed, Richardson, M-I Roberts, Robson, Rooney, Rowlandson, Scott, 
Sexton, Shield, Shuttleworth, Simmons, Simpson, Stead, Stelling, Sterling, 
Stoker, Stubbs, Sutton-Lloyd, Walton, Watson, Wilkes and Zair. 
 
For Councillor R Adcock-Forster 
Councillors Adam, Adcock-Forster, Andrews, J Atkinson, P Atkinson, A 
Batey, K Batey, Binney, Boyes, Chaplow, Charlton-Lainé, Crute, Deinali, 
Earley, Fenwick, Fletcher, Griffiths, Gunn, Hall, Hampson, Hanson, Henig, 
Higgins, Hovvels, Johnson, Kay, Kellett, Kennedy, Manchester, Marshall, 
McKenna, McKeon, McLean, McMahon, Miller, Mulholland, Nicholls, Pringle, 
Purvis, S Quinn, I Roberts, Shaw, Smith, Surtees, Taylor, Tinsley, 
Townsend, Varty, Waldock, M Wilson, S Wilson, Wood and Yorke. 
 
Resolved: 
That Councillor M Walton be appointed Vice-Chair of the Corporate 
Parenting Panel. 
 
 
Corporate Overview and Scrutiny Management Board 
Moved by Councillor L Brown, Seconded by Councillor J Nicholson, that 
Councillor C Martin be appointed Chair of the Corporate Overview and 
Scrutiny Management Board. 
 
Moved by Councillor C Marshall, Seconded by Councillor J Miller that 
Councillor R Crute be appointed Chair of the Corporate Overview and 
Scrutiny Management Board. 
 
For Councillor C Martin 
Councillors Abley, Avery, Bainbridge, A Bell, C Bell, R Bell, Blakey, D Brown, 
L Brown, Cairns, Charlton, Cochrane, Cosslett, Coult, Currah, Duffy, Elmer, 
Fantarrow-Darby, Freeman, Haney, Hawley, Heaviside, Henderson, Holmes, 
Hood, Hopgood, Howarth, Howey, Hunt, Hutchinson, Jackson, Jones, 
Jopling, Lines, Maddison, Martin, E Mavin, L Mavin, McAloon, McDonnell, 
McGaun, Moist, Molloy, Nicholson, Oliver, Ormerod, Peeke, Potts, J Quinn, 
Reed, Richardson, M-I Roberts, Robson, Rooney, Rowlandson, Scott, 
Sexton, Shield, Shuttleworth, Simmons, Simpson, Stead, Stelling, Sterling, 
Stoker, Stubbs, Sutton-Lloyd, Walton, Watson, Wilkes and Zair. 
 

Page 32



For Councillor R Crute 
Councillors Adam, Adcock-Forster, Andrews, J Atkinson, P Atkinson, A 
Batey, K Batey, Binney, Boyes, Chaplow, Charlton-Lainé, Crute, Deinali, 
Earley, Fenwick, Fletcher, Griffiths, Gunn, Hall, Hampson, Hanson, Henig, 
Higgins, Hovvels, Johnson, Kay, Kellett, Kennedy, Manchester, Marshall, 
McKenna, McKeon, McLean, McMahon, Miller, Mulholland, Nicholls, Pringle, 
Purvis, S Quinn, I Roberts, Shaw, Smith, Surtees, Taylor, Tinsley, 
Townsend, Varty, Waldock, M Wilson, S Wilson, Wood and Yorke. 
 
Resolved: 
That Councillor C Martin be appointed Chair of the Corporate Overview and 
Scrutiny Management Board. 
 
Moved by Councillor L Brown, Seconded by Councillor J Nicholson, that 
Councillor C Lines be appointed Vice-Chair of the Corporate Overview and 
Scrutiny Management Board. 
 
Moved by Councillor C Marshall, Seconded by Councillor R Crute, that 
Councillor A Batey be appointed Vice-Chair of the Corporate Overview and 
Scrutiny Management Board. 
 
For Councillor C Lines 
Councillors Avery, Bainbridge, A Bell, C Bell, R Bell, Blakey, D Brown, L 
Brown, Cairns, Charlton, Cochrane, Cosslett, Coult, Currah, Duffy, Elmer, 
Fantarrow-Darby, Freeman, Haney, Hawley, Heaviside, Henderson, Holmes, 
Hood, Hopgood, Howarth, Howey, Hunt, Hutchinson, Jackson, Jones, 
Jopling, Lines, Maddison, Martin, E Mavin, L Mavin, McAloon, McDonnell, 
McGaun, Moist, Molloy, Nicholson, Oliver, Ormerod, Peeke, Potts, J Quinn, 
Reed, Richardson, M-I Roberts, Robson, Rooney, Rowlandson, Scott, 
Sexton, Shield, Shuttleworth, Simmons, Simpson, Stead, Stelling, Sterling, 
Stoker, Stubbs, Sutton-Lloyd, Walton, Watson, Wilkes and Zair. 
 
For Councillor A Batey 
Councillors Adam, Adcock-Forster, Andrews, J Atkinson, P Atkinson, A 
Batey, K Batey, Binney, Boyes, Chaplow, Charlton-Lainé, Crute, Deinali, 
Earley, Fenwick, Fletcher, Griffiths, Gunn, Hall, Hampson, Hanson, Henig, 
Higgins, Hovvels, Johnson, Kay, Kellett, Kennedy, Manchester, Marshall, 
McKenna, McKeon, McLean, McMahon, Miller, Mulholland, Nicholls, Pringle, 
Purvis, S Quinn, I Roberts, Shaw, Smith, Surtees, Taylor, Tinsley, 
Townsend, Varty, Waldock, M Wilson, S Wilson, Wood and Yorke. 
 
Resolved: 
That Councillor C Lines be appointed Vice-Chair of the Corporate Overview 
and Scrutiny Management Board. 
 
 

Page 33



Children and Young People’s Scrutiny Committee 
Moved by Councillor L Brown, Seconded by Councillor J Nicholson, that 
Councillor C Hood be appointed Chair of the Children and Young People’s 
Scrutiny Committee. 
 
Moved by Councillor C Marshall, Seconded by Councillor R Crute, that 
Councillor S Deinali be appointed Chair of the Children and Young People’s 
Scrutiny Committee. 
 
For Councillor C Hood 
Councillors Avery, Bainbridge, A Bell, C Bell, R Bell, Blakey, D Brown, L 
Brown, Cairns, Charlton, Cochrane, Cosslett, Coult, Currah, Duffy, Elmer, 
Fantarrow-Darby, Freeman, Haney, Hawley, Heaviside, Henderson, Holmes, 
Hood, Hopgood, Howarth, Howey, Hunt, Hutchinson, Jackson, Jones, 
Jopling, Lines, Maddison, Martin, E Mavin, L Mavin, McAloon, McDonnell, 
McGaun, Moist, Molloy, Nicholson, Oliver, Ormerod, Peeke, Potts, J Quinn, 
Reed, Richardson, M-I Roberts, Robson, Rooney, Rowlandson, Scott, 
Sexton, Shield, Shuttleworth, Simmons, Simpson, Stead, Stelling, Sterling, 
Stoker, Stubbs, Sutton-Lloyd, Walton, Watson, Wilkes and Zair. 
 
For Councillor S Deinali 
Councillors Adam, Adcock-Forster, Andrews, J Atkinson, P Atkinson, A 
Batey, K Batey, Binney, Boyes, Chaplow, Charlton-Lainé, Crute, Deinali, 
Earley, Fenwick, Fletcher, Griffiths, Gunn, Hall, Hampson, Hanson, Henig, 
Higgins, Hovvels, Johnson, Kay, Kellett, Kennedy, Manchester, Marshall, 
McKenna, McKeon, McLean, McMahon, Miller, Mulholland, Nicholls, Pringle, 
Purvis, S Quinn, I Roberts, Shaw, Smith, Surtees, Taylor, Tinsley, 
Townsend, Varty, Waldock, M Wilson, S Wilson, Wood and Yorke. 
 
Resolved: 
That Councillor C Hood be appointed Chair of the Children and Young 
People’s Scrutiny Committee. 
 
Moved by Councillor L Brown, Seconded by Councillor J Nicholson, that 
Councillor J Cosslett be appointed Vice-Chair of the Children and Young 
People’s Scrutiny Committee. 
 
Moved by Councillor C Marshall, Seconded by Councillor R Crute, that 
Councillor C Varty be appointed Vice-Chair of the Children and Young 
People’s Scrutiny Committee. 
 
For Councillor J Cosslett 
Councillors Avery, Bainbridge, A Bell, C Bell, R Bell, Blakey, D Brown, L 
Brown, Cairns, Charlton, Cochrane, Cosslett, Coult, Currah, Duffy, Elmer, 
Fantarrow-Darby, Freeman, Haney, Hawley, Heaviside, Henderson, Holmes, 
Hood, Hopgood, Howarth, Howey, Hunt, Hutchinson, Jackson, Jones, 

Page 34



Jopling, Lines, Maddison, Martin, E Mavin, L Mavin, McAloon, McDonnell, 
McGaun, Moist, Molloy, Nicholson, Oliver, Ormerod, Peeke, Potts, J Quinn, 
Reed, Richardson, M-I Roberts, Robson, Rooney, Rowlandson, Scott, 
Sexton, Shield, Shuttleworth, Simmons, Simpson, Stead, Stelling, Sterling, 
Stoker, Stubbs, Sutton-Lloyd, Walton, Watson, Wilkes and Zair. 
 
For Councillor C Varty 
Councillors Adam, Adcock-Forster, Andrews, J Atkinson, P Atkinson, A 
Batey, K Batey, Binney, Boyes, Chaplow, Charlton-Lainé, Crute, Deinali, 
Earley, Fenwick, Fletcher, Griffiths, Gunn, Hall, Hampson, Hanson, Henig, 
Higgins, Hovvels, Johnson, Kay, Kellett, Kennedy, Manchester, Marshall, 
McKenna, McKeon, McLean, McMahon, Miller, Mulholland, Nicholls, Pringle, 
Purvis, S Quinn, I Roberts, Shaw, Smith, Surtees, Taylor, Tinsley, 
Townsend, Varty, Waldock, M Wilson, S Wilson, Wood and Yorke. 
 
Resolved: 
That Councillor J Cosslett be appointed Vice-Chair of the Children and 
Young People’s Scrutiny Committee. 
 
 
Safer and Stronger Communities Scrutiny Committee 
Moved by Councillor L Brown, Seconded by Councillor J Nicholson, that 
Councillor J Charlton be appointed Chair of the Safer and Stronger 
Communities Scrutiny Committee. 
 
Moved by Councillor C Marshall, Seconded by Councillor R Crute, that 
Councillor D Boyes be appointed Chair of the Safer and Stronger 
Communities Scrutiny Committee. 
 
For Councillor J Charlton 
Councillors Avery, Bainbridge, A Bell, C Bell, R Bell, Blakey, D Brown, L 
Brown, Cairns, Charlton, Cochrane, Cosslett, Coult, Currah, Duffy, Elmer, 
Fantarrow-Darby, Freeman, Haney, Hawley, Heaviside, Henderson, Holmes, 
Hood, Hopgood, Howarth, Howey, Hunt, Hutchinson, Jackson, Jones, 
Jopling, Lines, Maddison, Martin, E Mavin, L Mavin, McAloon, McDonnell, 
McGaun, Moist, Molloy, Nicholson, Oliver, Ormerod, Peeke, Potts, J Quinn, 
Reed, Richardson, M-I Roberts, Robson, Rooney, Rowlandson, Scott, 
Sexton, Shield, Shuttleworth, Simmons, Simpson, Stead, Stelling, Sterling, 
Stoker, Stubbs, Sutton-Lloyd, Walton, Watson, Wilkes and Zair. 
 
For Councillor D Boyes 
Councillors Adam, Adcock-Forster, Andrews, J Atkinson, P Atkinson, A 
Batey, K Batey, Binney, Boyes, Chaplow, Charlton-Lainé, Crute, Deinali, 
Earley, Fenwick, Fletcher, Griffiths, Gunn, Hall, Hampson, Hanson, Henig, 
Higgins, Hovvels, Johnson, Kay, Kellett, Kennedy, Manchester, Marshall, 
McKenna, McKeon, McLean, McMahon, Miller, Mulholland, Nicholls, Pringle, 

Page 35



Purvis, S Quinn, I Roberts, Shaw, Smith, Surtees, Taylor, Tinsley, 
Townsend, Varty, Waldock, M Wilson, S Wilson, Wood and Yorke. 
 
Resolved: 
That Councillor J Charlton be appointed Chair of the Safer and Stronger 
Communities Scrutiny Committee. 
 
Moved by Councillor L Brown, Seconded by Councillor J Nicholson, that 
Councillor B Avery be appointed Vice-Chair of the Safer and Stronger 
Communities Scrutiny Committee. 
 
Moved by Councillor C Marshall, Seconded by Councillor R Crute, that 
Councillor P Atkinson be appointed Vice-Chair of the Safer and Stronger 
Communities Scrutiny Committee. 
 
For Councillor B Avery 
Councillors Avery, Bainbridge, A Bell, C Bell, R Bell, Blakey, D Brown, L 
Brown, Cairns, Charlton, Cochrane, Cosslett, Coult, Currah, Duffy, Elmer, 
Fantarrow-Darby, Freeman, Haney, Hawley, Heaviside, Henderson, Holmes, 
Hood, Hopgood, Howarth, Howey, Hunt, Hutchinson, Jackson, Jones, 
Jopling, Lines, Maddison, Martin, E Mavin, L Mavin, McAloon, McDonnell, 
McGaun, Moist, Molloy, Nicholson, Oliver, Ormerod, Peeke, Potts, J Quinn, 
Reed, Richardson, M-I Roberts, Robson, Rooney, Rowlandson, Scott, 
Sexton, Shield, Shuttleworth, Simmons, Simpson, Stead, Stelling, Sterling, 
Stoker, Stubbs, Sutton-Lloyd, Walton, Watson, Wilkes and Zair. 
 
For Councillor P Atkinson 
Councillors Adam, Adcock-Forster, Andrews, J Atkinson, P Atkinson, A 
Batey, K Batey, Binney, Boyes, Chaplow, Charlton-Lainé, Crute, Deinali, 
Earley, Fenwick, Fletcher, Griffiths, Gunn, Hall, Hampson, Hanson, Henig, 
Higgins, Hovvels, Johnson, Kay, Kellett, Kennedy, Manchester, Marshall, 
McKenna, McKeon, McLean, McMahon, Miller, Mulholland, Nicholls, Pringle, 
Purvis, S Quinn, I Roberts, Shaw, Smith, Surtees, Taylor, Tinsley, 
Townsend, Varty, Waldock, M Wilson, S Wilson, Wood and Yorke. 
 
Resolved: 
That Councillor B Avery be appointed Vice-Chair of the Safer and Stronger 
Communities Scrutiny Committee. 
 
Environment and Sustainable Communities Scrutiny Committee 
Moved by Councillor L Brown, Seconded by Councillor J Nicholson, that 
Councillor B Coult be appointed Chair of the Environment and Sustainable 
Communities Scrutiny Committee. 
 

Page 36



Moved by Councillor C Marshall, Seconded by Councillor R Crute, that 
Councillor E Adam be appointed Chair of the Environment and Sustainable 
Communities Scrutiny Committee. 
 
For Councillor B Coult 
Councillors Avery, Bainbridge, A Bell, C Bell, R Bell, Blakey, D Brown, L 
Brown, Cairns, Charlton, Cochrane, Cosslett, Coult, Currah, Duffy, Elmer, 
Fantarrow-Darby, Freeman, Haney, Hawley, Heaviside, Henderson, Holmes, 
Hood, Hopgood, Howarth, Howey, Hunt, Hutchinson, Jackson, Jones, 
Jopling, Lines, Maddison, Martin, E Mavin, L Mavin, McAloon, McDonnell, 
McGaun, Moist, Molloy, Nicholson, Oliver, Ormerod, Peeke, Potts, J Quinn, 
Reed, Richardson, M-I Roberts, Robson, Rooney, Rowlandson, Scott, 
Sexton, Shield, Shuttleworth, Simmons, Simpson, Stead, Stelling, Sterling, 
Stoker, Stubbs, Sutton-Lloyd, Walton, Watson, Wilkes and Zair. 
 
For Councillor E Adam 
Councillors Adam, Adcock-Forster, Andrews, J Atkinson, P Atkinson, A 
Batey, K Batey, Binney, Boyes, Chaplow, Charlton-Lainé, Crute, Deinali, 
Earley, Fenwick, Fletcher, Griffiths, Gunn, Hall, Hampson, Hanson, Henig, 
Higgins, Hovvels, Johnson, Kay, Kellett, Kennedy, Manchester, Marshall, 
McKenna, McKeon, McLean, McMahon, Miller, Mulholland, Nicholls, Pringle, 
Purvis, S Quinn, I Roberts, Shaw, Smith, Surtees, Taylor, Tinsley, 
Townsend, Varty, Waldock, M Wilson, S Wilson, Wood and Yorke. 
 
Resolved: 
That Councillor B Coult be appointed Chair of the Environment and 
Sustainable Communities Scrutiny Committee. 
 
Moved by Councillor L Brown, Seconded by Councillor J Nicholson, that 
Councillor J Elmer be appointed Vice-Chair of the Environment and 
Sustainable Communities Scrutiny Committee. 
 
Moved by Councillor C Marshall, Seconded by Councillor R Crute, that 
Councillor S Townsend be appointed Vice-Chair of the Environment and 
Sustainable Communities Scrutiny Committee. 
 
For Councillor J Elmer 
Councillors Avery, Bainbridge, A Bell, C Bell, R Bell, Blakey, D Brown, L 
Brown, Cairns, Charlton, Cochrane, Cosslett, Coult, Currah, Duffy, Elmer, 
Fantarrow-Darby, Freeman, Haney, Hawley, Heaviside, Henderson, Holmes, 
Hood, Hopgood, Howarth, Howey, Hunt, Hutchinson, Jackson, Jones, 
Jopling, Maddison, Martin, E Mavin, L Mavin, McAloon, McDonnell, McGaun, 
Moist, Molloy, Nicholson, Oliver, Ormerod, Peeke, Potts, J Quinn, Reed, 
Richardson, M-I Roberts, Robson, Rooney, Rowlandson, Scott, Sexton, 
Shield, Shuttleworth, Simmons, Simpson, Stead, Stelling, Sterling, Stoker, 
Stubbs, Sutton-Lloyd, Walton, Watson, Wilkes and Zair. 

Page 37



 
For Councillor S Townsend 
Councillors Adam, Adcock-Forster, Andrews, J Atkinson, P Atkinson, A 
Batey, K Batey, Binney, Boyes, Chaplow, Charlton-Lainé, Crute, Deinali, 
Earley, Fenwick, Fletcher, Griffiths, Gunn, Hall, Hampson, Hanson, Henig, 
Higgins, Hovvels, Johnson, Kay, Kellett, Kennedy, Manchester, Marshall, 
McKenna, McKeon, McLean, McMahon, Miller, Mulholland, Nicholls, Pringle, 
Purvis, S Quinn, I Roberts, Shaw, Smith, Surtees, Taylor, Tinsley, 
Townsend, Varty, Waldock, M Wilson, S Wilson, Wood and Yorke. 
 
Resolved: 
That Councillor J Elmer be appointed Vice-Chair of the Environment and 
Sustainable Communities Scrutiny Committee. 
 
 
Economy and Enterprise Scrutiny Committee 
Moved by Councillor L Brown, Seconded by Councillor J Nicholson, that 
Councillor B Moist be appointed Chair of the Economy and Enterprise 
Scrutiny Committee. 
 
Moved by Councillor C Marshall, Seconded by Councillor R Crute, that 
Councillor R Manchester be appointed Chair of the Economy and Enterprise 
Scrutiny Committee. 
 
For Councillor B Moist 
Councillors Avery, Bainbridge, A Bell, C Bell, R Bell, Blakey, D Brown, L 
Brown, Cairns, Charlton, Cochrane, Cosslett, Coult, Currah, Duffy, Elmer, 
Fantarrow-Darby, Freeman, Haney, Hawley, Heaviside, Henderson, Holmes, 
Hood, Hopgood, Howarth, Howey, Hunt, Hutchinson, Jackson, Jones, 
Jopling, Maddison, Martin, E Mavin, L Mavin, McAloon, McDonnell, McGaun, 
Moist, Molloy, Nicholson, Oliver, Ormerod, Peeke, Potts, J Quinn, Reed, 
Richardson, M-I Roberts, Robson, Rooney, Rowlandson, Scott, Sexton, 
Shield, Shuttleworth, Simmons, Simpson, Stead, Stelling, Sterling, Stoker, 
Stubbs, Sutton-Lloyd, Walton, Watson, Wilkes and Zair. 
 
For Councillor R Manchester 
Councillors Adam, Adcock-Forster, Andrews, J Atkinson, P Atkinson, A 
Batey, K Batey, Binney, Boyes, Chaplow, Charlton-Lainé, Crute, Deinali, 
Earley, Fenwick, Fletcher, Griffiths, Gunn, Hall, Hampson, Hanson, Henig, 
Higgins, Hovvels, Johnson, Kay, Kellett, Kennedy, Manchester, Marshall, 
McKenna, McKeon, McLean, McMahon, Miller, Mulholland, Nicholls, Pringle, 
Purvis, S Quinn, I Roberts, Shaw, Smith, Surtees, Taylor, Tinsley, 
Townsend, Varty, Waldock, M Wilson, S Wilson, Wood and Yorke. 
 

Page 38



Resolved: 
That Councillor B Moist be appointed Chair of the Economy and Enterprise 
Scrutiny Committee. 
 
Moved by Councillor L Brown, Seconded by Councillor J Nicholson, that 
Councillor A Jackson be appointed Vice-Chair of the Economy and 
Enterprise Scrutiny Committee. 
 
Moved by Councillor C Marshall, Seconded by Councillor R Crute, that 
Councillor K Earley be appointed Vice-Chair of the Economy and Enterprise 
Scrutiny Committee. 
 
For Councillor A Jackson 
Councillors Avery, Bainbridge, A Bell, C Bell, R Bell, Blakey, D Brown, L 
Brown, Cairns, Charlton, Cochrane, Cosslett, Coult, Currah, Duffy, Elmer, 
Fantarrow-Darby, Freeman, Haney, Hawley, Heaviside, Henderson, Holmes, 
Hood, Hopgood, Howarth, Howey, Hunt, Hutchinson, Jackson, Jones, 
Jopling, Maddison, Martin, E Mavin, L Mavin, McAloon, McDonnell, McGaun, 
Moist, Molloy, Nicholson, Oliver, Ormerod, Peeke, Potts, J Quinn, Reed, 
Richardson, M-I Roberts, Robson, Rooney, Rowlandson, Scott, Sexton, 
Shield, Shuttleworth, Simmons, Simpson, Stead, Stelling, Sterling, Stoker, 
Stubbs, Sutton-Lloyd, Walton, Watson, Wilkes and Zair. 
 
For Councillor K Earley 
Councillors Adam, Adcock-Forster, Andrews, J Atkinson, P Atkinson, A 
Batey, K Batey, Binney, Boyes, Chaplow, Charlton-Lainé, Crute, Deinali, 
Earley, Fenwick, Fletcher, Griffiths, Gunn, Hall, Hampson, Hanson, Henig, 
Higgins, Hovvels, Johnson, Kay, Kellett, Kennedy, Manchester, Marshall, 
McKenna, McKeon, McLean, McMahon, Miller, Mulholland, Nicholls, Pringle, 
Purvis, S Quinn, I Roberts, Shaw, Smith, Surtees, Taylor, Tinsley, 
Townsend, Varty, Waldock, M Wilson, S Wilson, Wood and Yorke. 
 
Resolved: 
That Councillor A Jackson be appointed Vice-Chair of the Economy and 
Enterprise Scrutiny Committee. 
 
 
Adults, Wellbeing and Health Scrutiny Committee 
Moved by Councillor L Brown, Seconded by Councillor J Nicholson, that 
Councillor P Jopling be appointed Chair of the Adults, Wellbeing and Health 
Scrutiny Committee. 
 
Moved by Councillor C Marshall, Seconded by Councillor R Crute, that 
Councillor S Quinn be appointed Chair of the Adults, Wellbeing and Health 
Scrutiny Committee. 
 

Page 39



For Councillor P Jopling 
Councillors Avery, Bainbridge, A Bell, C Bell, R Bell, Blakey, D Brown, L 
Brown, Cairns, Charlton, Cochrane, Cosslett, Coult, Currah, Duffy, Elmer, 
Fantarrow-Darby, Freeman, Haney, Hawley, Heaviside, Henderson, Holmes, 
Hood, Hopgood, Howarth, Howey, Hunt, Hutchinson, Jackson, Jones, 
Jopling, Maddison, Martin, E Mavin, L Mavin, McAloon, McDonnell, McGaun, 
Moist, Molloy, Nicholson, Oliver, Ormerod, Peeke, Potts, J Quinn, Reed, 
Richardson, M-I Roberts, Robson, Rooney, Rowlandson, Scott, Sexton, 
Shield, Shuttleworth, Simmons, Simpson, Stead, Stelling, Sterling, Stoker, 
Stubbs, Sutton-Lloyd, Walton, Watson, Wilkes and Zair. 
 
For Councillor S Quinn 
Councillors Adam, Adcock-Forster, Andrews, J Atkinson, P Atkinson, A 
Batey, K Batey, Binney, Boyes, Chaplow, Charlton-Lainé, Crute, Deinali, 
Earley, Fenwick, Fletcher, Griffiths, Gunn, Hall, Hampson, Hanson, Henig, 
Higgins, Hovvels, Johnson, Kay, Kellett, Kennedy, Manchester, Marshall, 
McKenna, McKeon, McLean, McMahon, Miller, Mulholland, Nicholls, Pringle, 
Purvis, S Quinn, I Roberts, Shaw, Smith, Surtees, Taylor, Tinsley, 
Townsend, Varty, Waldock, M Wilson, S Wilson, Wood and Yorke. 
 
Resolved: 
That Councillor P Jopling be appointed Chair of the Adults, Wellbeing and 
Health Scrutiny Committee. 
 
Moved by Councillor C Marshall, Seconded by Councillor R Crute, that 
Councillor R Charlton-Lainé be appointed Vice-Chair of the Adults, Wellbeing 
and Health Scrutiny Committee. 
 
Resolved: 
That Councillor R Charlton-Lainé be appointed Vice-Chair of the Adults, 
Wellbeing and Health Scrutiny Committee. 
 

13 Appointments to Joint and Other Bodies 2021/22 
 
The Council considered a report of the Head of Legal and Democratic 
Services which sought to agree the appointments process of Members to 
Joint and Other Bodies (for copy see file of Minutes). 
 
The Leader of the Council referred to Recommendation (c) and informed 
Council it was not proposed to appoint any additional Trustees to the Charter 
Trust as referred to in Paragraph 4 of Appendix4.  Referring to 
recommendation (e) the Leader Moved and the Deputy Leader Seconded 
that Councillor A Watson be nominated to serve on the Joint Audit 
Committee, and at recommendation (g) the Leader Moved and the Deputy 
Leader Seconded that Councillor S Zair be nominated to the believe 
Housing Group Board. 

Page 40



 
Resolved: 
That 

(a) the allocation of seats on the County Durham Fire and Rescue 
Authority as detailed in Appendix 2 be agreed; 

 
(b) the previous allocation of seats on Business Durham Advisory 

Board as set out in Appendix 3 and the intention of the Head of 
Legal and Democratic Services to bring a report, following 
consultation with Group Leaders, to a future meeting of the 
County Council regarding allocation of seats in the future be 
noted; 

 
(c) the allocation of seats on the Charter Trust as detailed in 

Appendix 4 be agreed and it was agreed not to appoint the 3 
additional Trustees as set out in Paragraph 4 of Appendix 4. 

 
(d) the allocation of seats on the Police and Crime Panel as detailed 

in Appendix 5 be agreed. 
 

(e) Councillor A Watson be appointed for the ensuing year to serve 
on the Joint Audit Committee to assist the Police, Crime and 
Victims Commissioner, and Chief Constable, noting the 
nomination would be subject to approval of the Police, Crime 
and Victims Commissioner. 

 
(f) the positions on the North East Combined Authority, and the 

North East Combined Authority and North of Tyne Combined 
Authority Joint Transport Committee, and authorise the Head of 
Legal and Democratic Services, in consultation with the 
appropriate Group Leader(s) to make appointments once the 
specifics of the determination of allocation to political groupings 
are advised to the council by the NECA secretariat be noted. 

 
(g) Councillor S Zair be nominated to the Believe Housing Group 

Board (formerly County Durham Housing Group Board). 
 
(h) the Head of Legal and Democratic Services be authorised, in 

consultation with the appropriate Group Leader(s), to make 
appointments to the other outside bodies to which the Council 
are invited to nominate, in accordance with the following criteria:- 

 
(i) identify those organisations whose purpose is aligned to a 

specific Cabinet Portfolio, and nominate Members 
accordingly. 

 

Page 41



(ii) identify local outside bodies from each electoral division 
and allocate those to local members. If there are more 
seats on an outside body than local members then the 
political balance would be applied. For those local bodies 
which are strategic in nature representation by a specific 
Cabinet Portfolio would be appropriate. 

 
If a consensus on the allocation of seats to Members 
within the electoral division could not be reached, should 
the division be represented by Members from different 
parties and agreement could not be reached, the party 
with the largest proportion of seats on the Council would 
be allocated the seat. 

 
(iii) the bodies which are not local to a particular electoral 

division, for example, those with a County or Regional 
remit, appointments be made in accordance with the 
overall political proportionality of the Council, except in the 
case of Housing Associations and bodies providing 
services in one particular locality, in such circumstances 
the membership would be from that locality.   

 
(i) the Head of Legal and Democratic Services be authorised, in 

consultation with the appropriate Group Leader(s), to make any 
changes to memberships of the main outside bodies/ joint bodies 
approved by Council, which may become necessary during the 
course of 2021/22. 

 

14 Dates of Meetings for 2021/22  
 
Resolved: 
That the dates of meetings of the County Council for 2021/22 be as follows: 
 
Wednesday 23 June 2021 
Wednesday 14 July 2021 
Wednesday 22 September 2021 
Wednesday 20 October 2021 
Wednesday 08 December 2021 
Wednesday 26 January 2022 
Wednesday 23 February 2022 (Budget and Council Tax Setting) 
Wednesday 23 March 2022 
Wednesday 25 May 2022 (Annual Meeting) 
 

Page 42



 
23 June 2021 
 

Report from the Cabinet 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

Purpose of the Report 
 
To provide information to the Council on issues considered by the Cabinet at 
the meeting held on 17 March and 21 April 2021 to enable Members to ask 
related questions. 

 
Contents 
 
17 March 2021 
 
Item 1 Leisure Transformation & New Build Site Selection Update 
 
Item 2 Forecast of Revenue and Capital Outturn 2020/21 – Period to 31 

December 2020 and Update on Progress towards achieving 
MTFP(10) savings 

 
Item 3 Annual Review of the Constitution 
 
Item 4 County Durham Health and Social Care Integration Update 
 
Item 5 Climate Change Emergency Response Plan – Year 1 Update 
 
Item 6 Woodland Management Overview and Tree Planting Opportunities 

with Young People 
 
Item 7 Durham County Council Chargepoint Delivery Plan 
 
Item 8 County Durham Housing Strategy Targeted Delivery Plans 
 
Item 9 Agnes Street, Stanley – Proposed Compulsory Purchase Order 
 
Item 10 Towns and Villages Place Shaping - Approach to  

Regeneration of Buildings and Land 
 
Item 11 Council Homes Delivery – Purchase of Affordable Housing Units at 

Gilesgate 
 

Page 43

Agenda Item 7



Item 12 Covid Recovery and Town Centre Parking Charges 
 
Item 13 Economic Recovery and Prosperity: Levelling up and 

Investment for County Durham 
 

21 April 2021 
 
Item 14 Proposal to amalgamate Ox Close Primary and Oxclose Nursery 

Schools into one primary school in a replacement new build on the 
Durham Road site of the former Tudhoe Grange Comprehensive 
School from 1 September 2024 

 
Item 15 High Needs Block Funding for SEND and Inclusion Support 
 
Item 16 Health Protection Assurance Annual Report 
 
Item 17  Workforce Strategy 2021 – 2023 
 
 

1. Leisure Transformation & New Build Site Selection Update 
 Key Decision REG/02/21 

Cabinet Portfolio Holder – Cllr Carl Marshall 
 Contacts – Alison Clark 03000 264550 and Susan Robinson 

03000 267332 

 
We considered a report of the Corporate Director of Regeneration and 
Economic Growth which provided an update on the leisure transformation 
programme approved by Cabinet in January 2020.  The report set out the 
progress to date and next steps and timescales for the full development of the 
programme and sought approval of the three preferred sites for the new build 
leisure centres for Seaham, Chester-le-Street and Bishop Auckland. 
 
Considerable progress with the leisure transformation programme have been 
made, despite the impact of COVID-19.  he assessment process has involved 
five inter-related elements, a technical assessment, views from the public 
engagement exercise, a health impact assessment, an equality impact 
assessment and a strategic place-based review.  The strategic place-based 
review has influenced the Council’s willingness to consider innovative or 
bespoke approaches in each location.  As a result, the proposals in each 
location build on the local context of the place and will achieve greater impact 
than a new leisure centre alone would be expected to deliver.  
 
The assessments have been completed across a shortlist of nine potential sites 
for the proposed three new build leisure centres.  The following preferred 
options are proposed for each of the three new locations: 

Page 44



 
(a) New Build Site for Seaham - the analysis carried out illustrates that 

a hybrid approach in Seaham at the St John’s Square and existing 
site will produce significant regeneration benefits, as well as 
additional health outcomes from the proximity of aligned services 
and improved outdoor spaces; 

 
(b) New Build for Chester Le Street – the selection of the former Civic 

Centre site ensures that there will be ample space for the 
development and associated parking, while further sport and 
leisure opportunities are developed at the Riverside; 

 
(c) New Build Site for Bishop Auckland - the recommendation for 

Tindale Crescent will support regeneration in that locality while the 
proposed Woodhouse Close community hub plan will develop new 
facilities co-designed with local people on the existing site. 

 
All three preferred sites allow the current sites to continue to operate during the 
new build construction period ensuring no disruption for leisure users during the 
construction phase.  Robust financial appraisal is an important aspect of this 
programme.  The original budget estimates were developed in 2018/19, in 
advance of detailed site surveys and design work that enables an updated 
forecast of construction cost to be provided.  In addition, some costs have risen 
as a result of the outcome of site surveys, initial design work and the impact of 
inflation over the relevant period.  The capital forecast identified in the January 
2020 Cabinet report indicated an investment requirement of £62.8 million, with 
£38 million being funded on a self-financing basis from the forecast additional 
net income generated from the improved facilities with the remainder being 
funded from prudential borrowing.  The current capital forecast for the 
programme has risen to £77 million and will require an additional £14.2 million 
of prudential borrowing to fund the programme. 
 
Although COVID-19 has impacted leisure centre income in the short term, 
analysis by sector bodies such as UK Active for the longer term future of leisure 
provision provides confidence that the additional net income forecast from the 
improved facilities in the January 2020 Cabinet report will still be achieved. 
 
Capital and revenue forecasts will continue to be updated with a final budget 
position to be reported to Cabinet in Autumn 2021.  The capital forecasts at that 
point will be influenced by detailed design work and will be subject to a final 
review of physical and financial viability.  Taken collectively the proposed site 
options, wider programme progress, economic recovery, regeneration benefits 
and affordability assessments set out a strong programme that will realise 
significantly improved outcomes across the county. 
 
 

Page 45



Decision 
 
We  
 

(a) noted the updates on the programme and indicative financial 
position, with a further report to be presented to Cabinet in Autumn 
2021, to finalise the revenue and capital forecasts; 

(b) agreed to support the three preferred sites for the new build leisure 
centres, subject to further due diligence and feasibility work as 
follows: 
(a) Seaham: St Johns Square with community and outdoor 

facilities on the existing site; 
(b) Chester-le-Street: Former Civic Centre Site; 
(c) Bishop Auckland: Land adjacent to Bishop Auckland Football 

Club (Tindale Crescent); 
(c) approved the production of a feasibility study for the redevelopment 

of the Woodhouse Close site as a community hub scheme, to 
include potential for new or relocated facilities for the area and a 
targeted programme for skills and education.  Any revenue or 
capital costs arising from this feasibility study to be considered as 
part of the development of MTFP(12) and subject to a separate 
report; 

(d) noted the need to review the impact of the revised programme 
upon the Council’s VAT partial exemption position with this being 
considered fully in the autumn 2021 report to Cabinet; 

(e) noted the wider programme updates in the report and the 
commitment to producing a broader leisure strategy in 2021 that 
delivers an integrated approach to the range of programmes 
facilities, assets and amenities that provide a leisure offer. 

 

2. Forecast of Revenue and Capital Outturn 2020/21 – Period to 31 
December 2020 and Update on Progress towards achieving 
MTFP(10) savings 
Cabinet Portfolio Holder – Cllr Alan Napier 
Contact - Jeff Garfoot - 03000 261946 

 
We considered a report of the Interim Corporate Director of Resources which 
provided information on the:  
 

(a) updated forecast revenue and capital outturn for 2020/21, based on 
the position to 31 December 2020; 

(b) updated forecast for the council tax and business rates collection fund 
position at 31 March 2021, based on the position to 31 December 
2020; 

Page 46



(c) updated forecast use of and contributions to earmarked, cash limit and 
general reserves in 2020/21 and the estimated balances to be held at 
31 March 2021. 

 
The report sought approval of the revised capital programme, other budget 
adjustments, proposed sums treated as outside of the cash limit in year and 
write off deficit schools balances as a result of academy conversion. The report 
also provided Cabinet with an update on progress towards achieving MTFP(10) 
savings in 2020/21. 
 
The financial impact of COVID-19 in 2020/21 is significant and complex, which 
makes forecasting the council’s outturn position even more challenging than 
usual.  What is even more uncertain is the long term impacts of the pandemic 
on the councils finances beyond 2020/21, particularly in the context of the 
longer term financial outlook for the council, as set out in the MTFP(11) and 
2021/22 to 2024/25 Budget Report to County Council on 24 February 2021. 
 
In the last year the council has had to implement national support schemes at 
short notice such as the Business Rates Grants Support Scheme(s); the 
Council Tax Hardship Support Schemes; Test and Trace Payments; the Winter 
Support Payments Scheme; Infection Control Schemes; and Contain Outbreak 
Management schemes as well as dealing with and implementing a range of 
supplier relief schemes and addressing increased demand for support to 
vulnerable households whilst trying to accommodate new ways of working itself 
in response to the pandemic. Since the previous forecast of outturn report to 
Cabinet in November 2020 there have been two further national lockdown 
periods, with the current national lockdown extending across the whole of 
quarter 4. The national lockdowns periods have impacted significantly on the 
forecasts previously prepared. 
 
It has been forecasted that service grouping budgets would overspend by 
£43.973 million. The overspend position arises from additional expenditure and 
loss of income associated with the COVID-19 outbreak of £64.597 million, offset 
by COVID-19 related underspends of £16.066 million.  In addition, in year 
collection of Council Tax and Business Rates is significantly below budgeted 
levels – through a combination of increased incidence of Council Tax Reduction 
and reduced payments as residents and businesses themselves cope with the 
economic shocks the pandemic has had. Council Tax and Busines Rates 
collection at the end of quarter three are forecast to be £10 million less than at 
the same stage in 2019/20.  Although some of these outstanding sums are 
expected to be collected over time it is forecast at this stage that there will be 
an in-year deficit on the collection fund of £5.2 million after provision for bad 
and doubtful debts.  
 
The government has provided four non ringfenced tranches of funding for local 
authorities for the additional costs incurred as a result of COVID-19. This 

Page 47



funding is allocated based upon formulae determined by the government and to 
date the council has received £45.6 million. Of this, £1.1 million was utilised to 
cover costs incurred in 2019/20, which has left £44.5 million of funding available 
to be applied in 2020/21.  The council has submitted the first two returns for 
support under the government’s Income Guarantee Scheme, which requires 
councils to bear the first 5% of any qualifying income loss after which the 
government will provide a grant for 75% of subsequent losses. The first claim, 
totalling £3.7 million, has been paid and the council now awaits confirmation of 
the second claim, totalling £2.7 million.  It is estimated that the council will be 
able to claim circa £8 million from the scheme across the whole of 2020/21 
given the subsequent reintroduction and extension of the national lockdowns 
since the quarter two report was developed. 
 
The government has indicated that the financial impact of any 2020/21 in year 
Collection Fund deficit for council tax and business rates must be spread over 
three years. Across the three years 2021/22 to 2023/24, the government will 
provide 75% grant support for the 2020/21 in year deficit position, although the 
assessment of loss for council tax does not provide coverage for non-collection 
below the council 99% forecast collection rate.  
 
After taking into account additional Section 31 grant received for extended 
business rate reliefs, the council is forecasting its share of the in year 2020/21 
Business Rates Collection Fund deficit to be £4.5 million.  After taking into 
account the impact of the second and third national lockdowns, updated 
estimates of cost, lost income and additional government funding subsequently 
received, it is forecast that the council 2020/21 budget will be underspent by 
£9.228 million, representing 2.11% of the net expenditure budget of £437.355 
million.  The impact of the second and third lockdowns and the subsequent 
additional funding from government were not factored into the previous 
forecasts. In addition, COVID-19 has impacted on normal business as usual 
expenditure. There has been delayed recruitment, savings against mileage and 
other costs as a result of large proportions of staff working from home and 
savings in operational building costs amongst other areas. In addition, care 
costs linked to hospital discharges during the period March 2020 to August 
2020 are being met by the Durham Clinical Commissioning Group under 
temporary national funding arrangements via NHS England. These cases are 
being treated as Continuing Health Care under the Discharge to Assess regime 
until such time as they are properly assessed so costs that would otherwise be 
normally met by the Council are being recovered from the CCG. This 
arrangement is temporary and will not be a recurrent base budget impact and 
helps offset the significant supplier relief and support being provided to care 
providers.  
 
The forecasts included in the report are still subject to some uncertainty. There 
are a wide range of assumptions that have been made in relation to 
expenditure and income over the remainder of the financial year and the 

Page 48



uncertainty that exists with regards to the impact of COVID-19 restrictions that 
will apply across the  quarter four.  This uncertainty extends into 2021/22, 
where the council will face further challenges and budget pressures in relation 
to the continuing response to the pandemic and the restoration of services and 
supporting the post-pandemic recovery.  There is some funding that has been 
made available next year to help with these challenges, but it is far from certain 
whether this will be sufficient at this stage. There will potentially be a range of 
interventions required by the council and ongoing impacts post pandemic that 
will have as yet unquantified financial pressures. The Cash Limit and General 
Reserves will potentially be required to meet shortfalls in the funding that will be 
available. 
 
In terms of service grouping cash limits, the projected revenue outturn is a 
forecast cash limit underspend of £5.613 million (1.28%). The cash limit position 
excludes COVID-19 related issues which are considered to be outside of the 
control of service groupings and have been managed corporately. The costs 
associated with COVID-19 have been offset against government grant support 
provided.  In terms of sums outside the cash limit there is a forecast 
underspend of £3.615 million which is forecast to result in an increase in the 
General Reserve from £23.9 million to £27.6 million. This position will be kept 
under careful review, especially in relation to the possibility of additional costs 
and loss of income linked to the ongoing impact of COVID-19.  Total earmarked 
and cash limit reserves (excluding school reserves) are forecast to reduce by 
£14.195 million in 2020/21, from £204.697 million to £190.502 million. The end 
of year reserves forecast is partially inflated due to the carry forward into 
2021/22 of specific COVID-19 grant support received in 2020/21 such as the 
Contain Outbreak Management funding where planned expenditure will be 
incurred in 2021/22. 
 
A review of all reserves has enabled the realignment of £10 million of cash limit 
and earmarked reserves enabling the investment of earmarked reserves in 
council priorities. This includes £5 million transfer into the Towns and Villages 
Reserve supporting additional investment factored into MTFP(11) and the 
2021/22 budget agreed by Council on 24 February 2021. 
 
The forecast cash limit and general reserves position is a prudent one given the 
significant financial uncertainties facing local government beyond 2021/22. The 
MTFP(11) report to County Council on 24 February 2021 highlighted ongoing 
budget concerns for the council with a forecast savings shortfall of £36 million 
over the 2022/23 to 2024/25 period, with the delivery of further savings 
becoming ever more challenging to achieve.  The updated projected capital 
outturn is £139.511 million. 
 
For MTFP(10), to the end of quarter three, the council has delivered savings 
totalling £7.403 million which is 92% of the £8.010 million target for the year.  

Page 49



By 31 March 2021, since 2011, the council will have delivered over £241 million 
in savings. 
 
Decision 
 
We: 
 

(a) noted the council’s overall financial position for 2020/21 and the 
uncertainty associated with the outturn forecast resulting from the 
continuing impact of COVID-19 as set out in the report; 

(b) agreed the proposed ‘sums outside the cash limit’ for approval as 
set out in the report; 

(c) agreed the revenue and capital budget adjustments outlined in the 
report; 

(d) noted the forecast use of earmarked reserves in year; 
(e) noted the forecast end of year position for the cash limit and 

general reserves; 
(f) noted the additional costs and income loss faced as a result of 

COVID-19 which is offset by additional grant funding provided by 
government; 

(g) approved the write off of deficit schools balances as a result of 
academy conversions; 

(h) noted the position on the capital programme and the Collection 
Funds in respect of Council Tax and Business Rates and the 
treatment of the in year deficit across the next three years; 

(i) noted the amount of savings delivered during quarter three of the 
MTFP(10) period. 

 

3. Annual Review of the Constitution 
Cabinet Portfolio Holder – Cllr Simon Henig 
Contacts - Helen Lynch 03000 269732 and Ros Layfield 03000 
269708 

We considered a report of the Head of Legal and Democratic Services and 
Monitoring Officer which presented proposals for the revision of the Council’s 
Constitution.  The Council's Constitution describes the four methods by which 
the Council operates: The Council, the Executive, Overview and Scrutiny, and 
the Committees.  It also provides the framework within which each must 
operate by.  A fundamental review of the Constitution was undertaken and 
approved at the annual Council meeting in May 2018 followed by a routine 
review in May 2019. The review due in May 2020 was deferred due to 
restrictions on public meetings in place at the time as a result of the Covid-19 
pandemic.  
 
The report presented proposed updates to the Constitution incorporating the 
changes which were scheduled to be considered by Council in May 2020, 

Page 50



together with a small number of changes which have been identified during this 
municipal year.  
 
Decision 
 
We approved the delegation of executive powers as set out in the proposed 
amendments to the officer scheme of delegation; and recommended that 
Council agree to the proposed revisions to the Constitution at its meeting on 24 
March 2021. 
 

4. County Durham Health and Social Care Integration Update 
Cabinet Portfolio Holder – Cllr Lucy Hovvels 
Contact – Michael Laing - 07917513348  

 
We considered a report of the Corporate Director of Adult and Health Services 
on the integration of health and social care in County Durham.  The report 
sought support for the proposed next steps to further embed integrated 
arrangements within the County. 
 
Cabinet and North Durham and Durham Dales, Easington and Sedgefield 
Clinical Commissioning Groups (CCG) Governing Bodies received and agreed 
reports in April 2018; March 2019 and October 2019 which set out a pathway 
for further and closer integration of health and social care in County Durham 
including: 
 

(a) an Integrated Governance Framework which was implemented 
in 2018; 

(b) an Integrated delivery model for community services which went 
live on 1 October 2018 and; 

(c) an Integrated Strategic Commissioning Function which went live 
on the 1 April 2020. 

 
The integrated governance arrangements agreed in 2018, embodied by the 
Integrated Care Board, have served the purpose of implementing the integrated 
community and commissioning arrangements. These arrangements will 
continue to evolve to reflect the integration that takes place within the County 
and need to be able to support ongoing changes to the provision of integrated 
services in the future. Whilst significant progress has been made with 
integrating health and social care services across the County, the Chief Officers 
representing the County Durham Care Partnership recognise that further 
integration will provide more opportunities to improve outcomes at a local level.  
The response to COVID-19 has emphasised the importance of services being 
joined up across the County. To ensure County Durham is in as strong a 
position as possible to maximise the opportunities that will arise from the 
proposed NHS Bill and major changes to the CCG from April 2022, and as the 
recovery from COVID-19 continues, the next phase of integration needs to 

Page 51



focus on further embedding the arrangements that have been established, 
strengthening decision making and accountability and enabling further 
opportunities to integrate services to be identified and developed. To facilitate 
the next steps of integration, it is proposed to focus on the following key areas:  
 

(a) enhance the governance arrangements that are in place and 
establish the ‘County Durham Care Partnership Executive’ to 
support the delivery of shared aspects of the statutory functions 
of the Council and CCG; 

(b) create opportunities within the refreshed governance 
arrangements to bring together Elected Members; CCG 
Governing Body Members and Trust Non-Executive Directors 
with a focus on population health and inequalities, linking closely 
to and strengthening the Health and Well-Being Board. 

 
Decision 
 
We: 
 

(a) noted the progress made in integrating Health and Social Care; 
(b) noted that this report is also being presented to the NHS County 

Durham CCG Governing Body;  
(c) supported the implementation of the governance arrangements 

outlined at Appendix 3 of the report including the creation of both 
the Forum and the County Durham Care Partnership Executive 
for health and social care organisations in County Durham;  

(d) approved the Memorandum of Understanding; 
(e) agreed to receive further reports if there are any proposals to 

change the current formal decision-making structures, 
delegations, and protocols. 

 

5. Climate Change Emergency Response Plan – Year 1 Update 
Cabinet Portfolio Holder – Cllr Carl Marshall 
Contacts - Oliver Sherratt 03000 269259, Steve Bhowmick 03000 
267122 and Stephen McDonald 03000 265537 

 
We Cabinet considered a report of the Corporate Director of Neighbourhoods 
and Climate Change which provided an annual update on progress of the 
Climate Emergency Response Plan (CERP), including an assessment of the 
impact COVID-19 has had on Council and countywide carbon emissions. 
 
The report requested that Cabinet consider future challenges for new iterations 
of this plan beyond its initial two-year scope so that the plan can adapt, and 
progress to meet the long term carbon reduction targets. 
 

Page 52



The Climate Emergency Response Plan adopted by Cabinet in February 2020 
is a costed two year plan detailing over 100 projects that the Council with 
partners need to take towards achieving ambitious targets of reducing Council 
CO2 reductions of 80% by 2030 (2008/9 baseline) and countywide of being 
totally carbon neutral by 2050.  It was developed from extensive consultation 
across Council staff, community groups, residents, and schools. 
 
Provisional estimates for the Council’s carbon emissions during 2020/21  are 
approximately 43,297 tonnes of carbon dioxide equivalent (tCO2e), a reduction 
of 16% compared with last year’s 51,787tCO2e, this is a significant drop with 
the year average since 2009/10 being 6%.  It achieves a reduction against 
baseline of 59.1% Council activities.  For all the devastating impact COVID-19 
has brought, it has undoubtedly had a positive impact on these Council 
emission figures, and its influence felt within weeks of the CERP being agreed.  
The “stay at home” lockdowns for many office based staff meant reduced usage 
of buildings, as well as reduced business travel and fleet.  The temporary 
closure of some services such as leisure centres, also has meant that building 
energy has reduced, but as these building still need to be maintained, not 
eliminated entirely. 
 
Provisional estimates across the Council estate reveal a 20% reduction in 
electricity from buildings, a 14% reduction in gas for heating and a 6% reduction 
in fleet and transportation (which may have been more if not for the cold winter).  
Whilst these reductions are of course very welcome, it is unlikely that these full 
benefits will remain, as they are associated with low occupancy buildings.  
Going forward however there is opportunity to build on this, for example 
increased levels of working from home, even when normal conditions arise. 
Continued implementation of the project’s Climate Emergency Response Plan 
will be crucial if the momentum gained from these short-term benefits are to be 
sustained.  The report confirmed that the vast majority of actions against 
Council targets have been able to be implemented.  The Council has also, 
during the year, moved its electricity tariff to that based on 100% renewables, 
and, the Council has been successful during the year with a number of key 
funding bids to support its reductions.  For example, success in a £5 million 
European Regional Development Fund bid towards a solar farm adjacent to 
Morrison Busty Depot which, alongside building energy efficiency measures 
such as insulation, will transform an aged facility to one which will be energy 
self-sufficient, including eventually powering a fleet of front-line vehicles. 
 
The Council has an Invest to Save programme for carbon reductions where the 
capital costs of energy efficiency measures are recouped over time by annual 
savings in utilities and other costs. 
 
The latest £5.5 million programme, over 8 projects has already paid back £2.9 
million, saved 5,378t C O2 and is on course for net financial gain by 2025.  A 
further £2 million funding will also be available for the next phase of projects. 

Page 53



COVID-19 has undoubtedly impacted on the countywide emissions too, but the 
nationally published figures have a two-year time lag, so that the broad impact 
can only be speculated.  Increased home working, coupled with a cold winter, 
will have increased carbon emissions for heating.  Emissions relating to 
transport and industry will however have reduced, the International Energy 
Agency estimate that overall a decrease of 5.5% in global energy demand with 
6.5% reduction in CO2 emissions.  It is not certain if this will be reflected in 
County Durham figures. Work has been undertaken on a number of countywide 
initiatives, and, during the last year the Council has received several accolades 
for its work in combatting climate change.  It is recognised that future iterations 
of this plan need to consider the opportunities for development of a green 
economy, to consider how already disadvantaged groups are not 
disproportionately impacted, and what the Council and partners can do more in 
adapting to some of the inevitable consequences of climate change.  As the 
current costed Emergency Response Plan covers the period to April 2023, it is 
suggested that during the course of this year a further report is presented, 
detailing the ambitions and measures that would take the Council to 2025. 
 
Decision 
 
We: 

(a) noted the progress made against delivering the first year of the 
Climate Change Emergency Response Plan, as well as the 
forecast drop in Council emissions, magnified by the influence of 
COVID -19 across the estate; 
 

(b) approved the development of a new action plan to take the Council 
and countywide partners beyond the initial two years of the CERP, 
maximising opportunities for a green economy, and a just transition 
for residents adapting to climate change. 

 

6. Woodland Management Overview and Tree Planting Opportunities 
with Young People 
Cabinet Portfolio Holders – Cllr Brian Stephens and Cllr Olwyn 
Gunn 
Contacts Sue Mullinger 03000 267033 and Rich Hurst 03000 
265089  

We considered a joint report of the Corporate Director Corporate Director 
of Neighbourhoods and Climate and Corporate Director of Children and 
Young People’s Services which outlined the range of measures underway 
in managing the County Council’s woodlands and expanding tree cover 
across the County and sought approval to a scheme designed to 
maximise young people’s involvement with tree planting activities. 
 

Page 54



The Council owns approximately 1800ha of woodland across 170 sites 
throughout the county, which is 10% of the County’s total woodland resource.  
Over 300ha of this woodland is ancient.  These woodlands have generally 
existed since 1600 and have considerable wildlife and historical value, which if 
lost is irreplaceable.  Appropriate management of these sites offers a major 
opportunity for improving the carbon performance of woodlands and their role in 
tackling climate change.  It will also increase amenity value, benefit wildlife 
conservation and enhance the quality and range of timber products and other 
ecosystem services that woodlands can provide.  Since 2000, the Council, with 
partners, has planted nearly a million trees on over 500ha of land as well as 
planting or restoring nearly 200 miles of hedgerow.  Over 500 ha of woodland 
have been in UKWAS (UK Woodland Assurance Scheme, standard for verifying 
sustainable woodland management) since 2007. There are also several more 
recent improvements and initiatives now in place that are continuing to build on 
this work.  This includes Durham Woodland Revival, the Urban Tree Challenge 
Fund, the Durham Woodland Creation Programme, the North Pennines A68 
Corridor Project and the proposed North East Community Forest. 
 
The Council approved a Climate Change Emergency Response Action Plan 
which identified woodland creation and tree planting as being a priority area of 
activity.  In response, the Durham Woodland Creation Programme was 
established last August to establish new woods whilst maximising opportunities 
for community engagement in tree planting.  The programme has ambitious 
aims to plant 10,000 trees in each of the 14 Area Action Partnerships. 
There is now opportunity within this programme to plant, over the next three 
years, a tree for every school child across the county, equivalent to 69,000 
trees, working in partnership with the charity OASES, County Durham’s 
Outdoor And Sustainability Education Specialists.   
 
Experience from schools, including the Children and Young People’s Forum, 
reveals a strong interest in climate change, and this initiative affords an 
opportunity from an early age, to make a contribution, as well as learn more 
about the valuable role of trees in the environment of the County. 
 
Decision 
 
We noted the range of measures underway in managing the County Council’s 
woodlands and expanding its tree cover and supported the commitment to plant 
the equivalent of a tree for every school child, to be achieved through a 
combination of the Council’s Woodland Creation Programme in collaboration with 
OASES. 
  

Page 55



7. Durham County Council Chargepoint Delivery Plan 
Cabinet Portfolio Holder – Cllr Carl Marshall 
Contacts – Peter Ollivere 03000 261915 and Rebecca Winlo 03000 
263402 

 
We considered a joint report of the Corporate Director of Regeneration, 
Economy and Growth and Corporate Director of Neighbourhoods and Local 
Services which sought the adoption of the Durham County Council Chargepoint 
Delivery Plan (CPDP) as an internal delivery plan.  It set out 5 Key Actions to 
facilitate the uptake of Electric Vehicles (EVs) across County Durham for 
residents, business and the Council’s own fleet and complement the Council’s 
Climate Emergency Response Plan. 
 
The Government has made a commitment through legislation that the country 
will reach net zero carbon emissions by 2050.  A series of policy documents 
repeatedly highlights transport as the most carbon intensive sector of the UK 
economy, and proposes that electric vehicles (EVs) are the greatest opportunity 
to significantly reduce road transport emissions.  Ahead of the UK hosting the 
Conference of the Parties (COP) in 2021, the Government has announced that 
new petrol, diesel and some hybrid cars and vans will be phased out by 2030, 
confirming the role of EVs in decarbonising road transport. 
 
Durham County Council declared a climate emergency in February 2019.  The 
national award winning Climate Emergency Response Plan (CERP) was 
agreed by the Council, and the accompanying Climate Emergency Action Plan 
(CEAP) outlined specific areas that the Council will focus on to reduce its 
carbon emissions in the short term, which includes the decarbonisation of 
transport.  The Durham County Council Chargepoint Delivery Plan (CPDP) 
follows on from the CERP and sets out 5 key actions the Council will undertake 
to facilitate EV take up.  Working to improve chargepoint access at this 
relatively early stage in the switch to EVs will ensure that County Durham has 
the infrastructure in place to support increasing demand for chargepoints as 
more and more people switch to EVs, thereby making the transition as smooth 
as possible.  The actions in this plan form one part of a much broader national 
and global shift towards decarbonising vehicles.  In addition to work being done 
locally, this shift will require the Government to invest in the rapid charging 
network along our strategic roads, implement a range of promotional campaigns 
and fiscal stimulants to lower the price of EVs, and reinforce the national grid so 
it provides sufficient capacity to supply chargepoints in an integrated and 
flexible manner.  
 
Decision 
 
We agreed the adoption of the Durham County Council Chargepoint Delivery 
Plan as an internal delivery plan.   

Page 56



8. County Durham Housing Strategy Targeted Delivery Plans  
Cabinet Portfolio Holder – Cllr Kevin Shaw 
Contacts - Graeme Smith 03000 263610 and Alan Hunter 03000 
262024 

We considered a report of the Corporate Director of Regeneration, Economy 
and Growth on the County Durham Housing Strategy Targeted Delivery Plans 
which are an integral part of the County Durham Housing Strategy and relate to 
maintaining and improving the existing housing stock and the wider housing 
environment.   
 
Targeted Delivery Plans have been developed as an approach to deliver an 
intensive, focused and coordinated programme of activities by the Council and 
its partners in areas most in need across the county.  This report sought 
Cabinet approval for the content of the first phase of the Housing Strategy 
Targeted Delivery Plans including the programme to deliver future phases. 
Targeted Delivery Plans (TDPs) are a mechanism to direct and coordinate 
housing regeneration activities in those communities most in need.  The Council 
has developed an evidence base to understand which locations would benefit 
from an intensive and targeted intervention.  The TDPs serve to bring together 
complementary actions from the Council and its partners to address the 
identified issues in a locality.  They will focus existing activities in areas of need, 
as well as identifying new actions and putting the Council in a stronger position 
to capitalise on any future funding opportunities to support estate regeneration 
objectives.  The TDPs have their origin in the County Durham Housing Strategy 
and relate to the objective of maintaining and improving the existing housing 
stock and the wider housing environment.   
 
They also support the delivery of other housing priorities in the county, including 
delivering homes to meet the needs of older people.  The actions in the TDPs 
reflect and recognise other housing activities, such as selective licencing and 
Council house building, and, they are focussed on the most disadvantaged 
communities in line with Towns and Villages and form part of the Towns and 
Villages Investment Plan.  The Council has developed an evidence base to 
understand which communities are most in need of intervention.  This evidence 
base has informed the locations that are subject to a TDP and the focus of the 
interventions in the individual TDP documents.  
 
The evidence base has been gathered at a localised scale and considers the 
types of issues that communities face and that the TDPs will look to address.   
In line with this approach, data was gathered at Lower Super Output Area 
(LSOA) level for the 324 LSOAs across County Durham.  These individual 
rankings were then brought together to create a cumulative ranking list, which 
provides an understanding of those areas across the county which rank 
relatively poorly across multiple issues and are most in need of intervention. 

Page 57



This cumulative rank has assisted the prioritisation of the following LSOA areas 
to be subject to a TDP: 
 

(f) New Kyo;  
(g) Coundon Grange; 
(h) Blackhall Colliery South; 
(i) Thickley; 
(j) Deneside East; and 
(k) Stanley Hall West. 

 
The TDPs have been developed to support delivery.  Therefore, each 
document provides a summary of the issues in the area, as determined by the 
localised evidence base.  It is these issues that the identified actions seek to 
address.  Registered Providers of Social Housing operating in the TDP areas 
have also contributed and shaped the actions in the respective delivery plan.  
The TDPs will be taken to the relevant Area Action Partnership meeting for 
discussion.  Consultation will be undertaken, as appropriate, at project delivery 
stage when actions in the TDP are implemented.  Once approved, the TDPs will 
be subject to an annual review.  It is proposed that these reviews will include 
highlighting further areas to be subject to future TDPs.  It is also recognised that 
there is an opportunity for the location of future TDPs to be informed by 
Registered Providers on the Council’s Housing Forum, by identifying areas 
where there are particular issues or opportunities that would benefit from being 
addressed by a coordinated approach, through the use of TDPs.  As part of 
bringing together the evidence themes for the TDPs, the Council has developed 
a Housing Strategy ‘look up’ tool.  A ‘look up’ is an interactive evidence base, 
which serves to ensure evidence and information is more accessible.  The look 
up tool is also a way to make evidence and policy designations more accessible 
to a wider range of users, supporting discussion and aiding understanding of 
issues across the county. 
 
Decision 
 
We: 
 

(a) endorsed the evidence based approach to identifying areas to be 
subject to a Targeted Delivery Plan; 

(b) approved the content of the Targeted Delivery Plans; 
(c) agreed that the Targeted Delivery Plans are taken to the relevant 

Area Action Partnership meetings for discussion; 
(d) approved the proposed approach to the future monitoring and 

review of the Targeted Delivery Plans and agree that as part of 
future monitoring and review, the Targeted Delivery Plans can be 
updated under delegated powers by the Corporate Director of 
Regeneration, Economy and Growth in consultation with the 
Cabinet Portfolio Holder for Strategic Housing and Assets; 

Page 58



(e) approved the approach to the identification of locations to be 
subject to future Targeted Delivery Plans and the extension of the 
Targeted Delivery Plan programme and agree that as part of the 
future programme, Targeted Delivery Plans can be approved under 
delegated powers by the Corporate Director of Regeneration, 
Economy and Growth in consultation with the Cabinet Portfolio 
Holder for Strategic Housing and Assets or by Cabinet, where 
appropriate; and 

(f) noted the scope and content of the County Durham Housing 
Strategy look up tool. 

 

9. Agnes Street, Stanley – Proposed Compulsory Purchase Order  
Cabinet Portfolio Holder – Cllr Kevin Shaw 
Contacts Susan Robinson 03000 267332, Helen Lynch 03000 
269732 and Stuart Timmiss Tel: 03000 267334 

 
We considered a report of the Corporate Director of Regeneration, Economy 
and Growth which sought authority from Cabinet to make a Compulsory 
Purchase Order (CPO) pursuant to section 226(1)(a) of the Town and Country 
Planning Act 1990 (“the Order”) in relation to a site known as Agnes Street in 
Stanley. The report also sought agreement:- 
 

 to take all ancillary steps necessary in order to secure the confirmation of 
the Order and purchase of the land;  

 

 to the principle of the acquisition of land required for the CPO by 
agreement in advance of CPO should this be possible; 

 to the Council paying required compensation as appropriate. 
 
Development on the site known as Agnes Street had been a long-term 
aspiration for Durham County Council (“the Council”) and was identified in the 
Stanley Masterplan as a site that requires improvement. This regeneration 
focuses on an undeveloped site is consistent with the recently approved Towns 
and Villages strategy with one of its key priorities around addressing vacant 
buildings and derelict or underused land. The full site being considered for 
development was shown edged red on the plan attached to the report at 
Appendix 2 (“the Development Site”). Almscliffe Properties (Agnes St) Ltd (APL) 
has secured options over the majority of the development Site, including 
Council owned land, and pre-lets from occupiers in a process commenced in 
2019.  Planning permission was granted in respect of the development site on 1 
July 2020.  The development approved is for the erection of three retail units, 
including one drive-thru (Class A1, A3 and A5 use) with associated 
landscaping, parking and access. 
 

Page 59



The Council owns four parcels of land within the site.  The hatched areas 
shown on the plan attached to the report at Appendix 3 are not registered at 
Land Registry, and it has not been possible to trace the owners or any person 
with an interest in these hatched parcels of land.  These areas of land are 
required in order to provide the necessary car parking and utility areas for the 
proposed development.  The report proposed to make a compulsory purchase 
order in respect of this unregistered land (“the CPO Land”).  
 
The Council has searched paper records and Land Registry data to try to 
establish any person with an interest in the CPO Land.  Direct approaches have 
also been made to previous landowners to ascertain any knowledge of potential 
ownerships but with no success.  In addition, site and press notices were issued 
by APL as part of the planning application process with no person coming 
forward to claim a legal interest in the CPO Land. The Council and APL have 
considered options in how to bring the development forward without recourse to 
acquiring the CPO Land, but none are acceptable for securing development 
finance, nor unconditional pre-lets.  Officers are satisfied that no option other 
than the freehold purchase of the whole of the Development Site is likely to 
result in the delivery of the scheme.  Given that significant efforts have been 
made unsuccessfully to trace any person with a legal interest in the CPO Land 
and no person has been identified, the Council considers that the only realistic 
option available to ensure delivery of the scheme is to make a Compulsory 
Purchase Order (“CPO”) in respect of the CPO Land. Powers exist under 
section 226(1)(a) of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 to compulsorily 
purchase land if the acquiring authority is satisfied that it is necessary in order 
to deliver the development redevelopment or improvement on or in relation to 
land and that it is likely to contribute to the promotion or improvement of the 
economic, social or environmental well-being of their area.  Subject to legal and 
other issues being resolved, the Council is satisfied, as acquiring authority, that 
there is a compelling case in the public interest in favour of making a CPO 
pursuant to section 226(1)(a) of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 to 
acquire the CPO Land. 
 
Decision 
 
We  

(a) resolved that the use of Compulsory Purchase powers under 
section 226(1)(a) of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 and 
any necessary powers in relation to new rights under Section 13 of 
the Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1976 are 
justified in order to facilitate the carrying out of development, 
redevelopment or improvement on or in relation to the 
Development Site by the compulsory acquisition of the CPO Land; 

Page 60



 
(b) approved the draft County Council of Durham (Agnes Street) 

Compulsory Purchase Order 2021 as attached to the report at 
Appendix 5, the Order Map comprising the CPO Land as attached 
at Appendix 4 and the draft Statement of Reasons made in support 
of the Order and attached at Appendix 6 (‘the Statement of 
Reasons”); 

(c) resolved to authorise the making of the County Council of Durham 
(Agnes Street) Compulsory Purchase Order 2021 under section 
226(1)(a) of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990; 

(d) authorised the Head of Legal and Democratic Services to make 
such changes to the draft Order, the Order Map (within the red line 
boundary as shown on the Order Map) and Statements of Reasons 
as considered necessary; 

(e) authorised the Head of Legal and Democratic Services to take all 
necessary steps to secure confirmation of the Order, to confirm the 
Order as an unopposed order if authorised to do so and to secure 
the acquisition of all third party interests in the CPO Land and any 
new rights and the removal of any occupants from the Land (noting 
that there are none identified); 

(f) authorised the Head of Legal and Democratic Services, following 
confirmation of the Order, to publish and serve all appropriate 
notices of confirmation of the Order and to make one or more 
general vesting declarations or serve notices to treat and notices of 
entry (as appropriate) in respect of the CPO Land; 

(g) authorised the Head of Legal and Democratic Services to initiate or 
take part in any arbitration or proceedings before the Upper 
Tribunal (Lands Chamber) or the Courts in order to resolve any 
disputes as to compensation or other payments payable for any 
interests in the CPO Land or arising from the making or 
confirmation of the Order or securing possession of any part of the 
CPO Land or title to any part of the CPO Land or the removal of 
any occupants or apparatus of statutory undertakers or 
communication code operators; 

(h) authorised the Head of Corporate Property and Land to acquire 
any of the land, currently in unknown ownership should the 
ownership become established before any CPO is confirmed.  
Such acquisitions will be on effective CPO terms. 

  

Page 61



10. Towns and Villages Place Shaping - Approach to Regeneration 
of Buildings and Land 
Cabinet Portfolio Holder – Cllr Kevin Shaw 
Contact –Susan Robinson 03000 267332 
 

 
We considered a report of the Corporate Director of Regeneration, Economy 
and Growth which provided details of the approach to town and villages place 
shaping and the regeneration of buildings and land.  As an integrated approach 
to place-based regeneration, Towns and Villages has identified a conservative 
estimated investment programme of more than £750 million.  As part of Towns 
and Villages Investment Plan, agreed by Cabinet in February 2021, there is a 
commitment to address vacant buildings and, where possible, bring them back 
into a viable use. 
 
In line with established priorities, the Council is committed to driving forward a 
consistent approach to dealing with empty properties and derelict land to 
ensure that their economic and social potential can be unlocked as a driver for 
regeneration ensuring a sustainable, long term future for these buildings and 
land.  Following the agreement of the Towns and Villages Strategy in October 
2020, engagement with communities took place through a series of AAP 
events.  Feedback from all 14 AAPs identified the need to tackle vulnerable and 
often vacant buildings.  Utilising the economic potential of vulnerable buildings 
and enabling opportunities for redevelopment and investment can increase 
community and social value by addressing issues of anti-social behaviour and 
by creating an attractive appearance and safe local environment. 
 
A series of pilot projects have already taken place and has resulted in the 
successful demolition or repurposing of a range of properties.  Such pilots have 
included in buildings in Seaham and Sacriston which have resulted in 
significant improvements in the built environment.  In addition, recent work 
undertaken across the County has identified the scale of the empty home 
challenge and the demands for smaller scale local residential development 
opportunities.  Addressing long term empty properties in communities most 
effected by them is a key outcome identified by the Housing Strategy and sets 
out the Council’s involvement in a range of activities to bring empty properties 
back into use. 
 
Decision 
 
We: 
 

(a) noted the contents of this report and acknowledge the success of 
the pilot initiatives undertaken to date; 

Page 62



(b) endorsed the approaches set out in the report to bring empty 
properties back into use, which support the priorities within the 
Council’s Town and Villages Strategy; 

(c) agreed a commitment to disadvantaged areas that require 
enhanced intervention through the Empty Property Protocol in line 
with the Housing Strategy and Towns and Villages. 

 

11. Council Homes Delivery – Purchase of Affordable Housing 
Units at Gilesgate 
Cabinet Portfolio Holder – Cllr Kevin Shaw 
Contact – Laura Martin 03000 261260 

 
We considered a report of the Corporate Director of Regeneration and 
Economic Growth which sought authorisation from Cabinet for the purchase of 
six bungalows for rent at Gilesgate, Durham from Chapter Homes for the 
purpose of providing Council homes.  This purchase will complement the 
construction of new Council housing as previously agreed by Cabinet. 
 
These affordable properties are being constructed by Chapter Homes as 
required within the Gilesgate scheme’s Section 106 agreement and are offered 
for sale to a Registered Provider. 
 
There is a gap in the number of affordable homes for rent being built in Durham 
and the numbers that are required to meet need.  As a result, the Council has 
agreed to become directly involved in provision of homes for rent.  In March and 
October 2020 Cabinet approved a development programme to build 500 new 
Council homes for affordable rent over the next five years.  In February 2021 
Cabinet approved Phase 1 of the five-year programme.  The report highlights 
an opportunity to add to the emerging property portfolio by purchasing a 
number of bungalows that are being built by Chapter Homes at Gilesgate 
Durham under the Section 106 agreement for the site.  An approach has been 
made to Chapter Homes expressing an interest in the Council purchasing the 
bungalows.  Any offer for the bungalows would be in line with valuations and at 
a level that ensured financial viability for the Council, bearing in mind the 
requirement for the future Housing Revenue Account to not be in deficit.  
Cabinet has previously agreed to a £12.5 million investment in the coming 
years to finance the development of 500 new Council houses at an average 
contribution of £25,000 per property.  The initial capital budget of £4.516 million 
was approved by Council on 24 February 2021.  The forecast purchase price 
net of the £25,000 capital contribution per property results in a self-financing 
position over a thirty year period.   
 
Decision 
 
We delegated authority to the Corporate Director of Regeneration and 
Economic Growth and the Interim Corporate Director of Resources, in 

Page 63



consultation with the Cabinet Portfolio Holders of Strategic Housing and Assets 
and Finance to enter into negotiations and agree terms relating to the 
acquisition of six homes at Gilesgate, Durham on the basis of a self-financing 
position over a thirty year timeframe. 
 

12. Covid Recovery and Town Centre Parking Charges 
Cabinet Portfolio Holder – Cllr Carl Marshall 
Contact – Dave Wafer – 03000 263577 

 
We considered a report of the Corporate Director of Regeneration,  Economy 
and Growth which reviewed the provision of subsidised or free parking for 
centres across County Durham for both on street and off street parking as a 
stimulus to support the economic recovery from the global pandemic. 
 
The national and local lockdown restrictions required in response to the 
coronavirus pandemic, have impacted on trade and footfall across town 
centres.  All of the usual functions within town centres have been affected and 
this has created a cumulative impact, having a major effect on footfall and the 
city, town and village high street economies in County Durham.  The recent 
announcements from Government on 22 February included a broad roadmap 
for the country’s route out of lockdown including guidance on the tests that 
would need to be met for town centres uses to open gradually and with phased 
conditions in terms of social distancing requirements. During 2020/21 there 
have been a range of financial support measures put in place, however, it will 
be essential in the coming months, in line with national guidance, that all efforts 
are taken to ensure town centres can become sustainable and accessible 
locations for both shopping and leisure use and that the county receive 
appropriate national funding to address these many needs. 
 
One issue often raised in terms of town centre access and footfall is the role 
played by parking charges.  Such charges have been used for many years to 
address issues of demand and ensure that parking spaces are available for 
those wishing to visit.  Measures for parking charges need to be applied with 
careful consideration in order to balance a number of objectives including 
inclusivity, economy, availability of spaces and environment. The current 
demand for parking in town centres is low due to the impact of the Covid 19 
pandemic and it is unclear how this will change and how quickly demand will 
return to pre-pandemic levels once lockdown measures are eased.  
 
In balancing the different objectives, this report puts forward proposals for a 
time limited period of free parking as a short-term measure to encourage people 
to return to retail and leisure destinations in a time frame in line with 
government health advice. 
  

Page 64



Decision 
 
We agreed that parking charges are suspended from 2 pm each day in both on 
and off-street town centre carparks until end December 2021 to support the 
initial recovery from the global pandemic and noted that the policy would be 
reviewed regularly every 3 months to ensure its effectiveness and make any 
amendments where required. 
 

13. Economic Recovery and Prosperity: Levelling up and 
Investment for County Durham  
Cabinet Portfolio Holder – Cllr Carl Marshall 
Contact - Amy Harhoff 03000 267330 

 
We considered a report of the Corporate Director of Regeneration, Economy 
and Growth which provided an overview of the County Durham economy, 
considering the baseline conditions prior to March 2020 and additional 
challenges faced by the Covid pandemic and Brexit.  This includes 
consideration to subsequent impacts on business and communities.  The report 
detailed initial strategic priorities and objectives to support the levelling up for 
the economy and communities and provides a starting point with a view to 
further work across the council, businesses and communities. Further 
proposals, including an economic statement to support our ambition to deliver 
30,000 jobs by 2035, will come forward to Cabinet as part of a wider economic 
and recovery plan in 2021. 
 
Prior to the pandemic County Durham faced challenges across the economy, 
with a high proportion of residents in lower skilled and lower paid occupations, a 
small proportion of residents with degree level qualifications and with areas in 
the east, north and south Durham with high levels of deprivation.  The lower 
land and property values also reflect lower wages and areas of market failure 
evident in many parts of the county.  The county also has high levels of 
unemployment, high proportions of people with work-limiting health conditions 
and low levels of productivity.  Had the UK stayed in the EU, the county’s EU 
structural funding would have more than doubled to at least 300 million euros in 
investment up to 2027 to fund major programmes, for skills, the environment 
and business support.   
 
This compares to more than 150 million euros under the previous programme, 
which included the £33 million Durham Works Programme, investment in 
business support of £42 million, £18.5 million for innovation projects, and £5 
million for digital engagement amongst a range of other activities.   
 
Despite the challenges faced, County Durham has seen significant investment 
over the last decade and the Council has provided a proactive approach to 
development including enabling direct investment in infrastructure and 
development partnerships as well as wider support to enable business with 

Page 65



investments. As a result, hundreds of millions of pounds of private investment 
have been secured in key sites.  The Council is also continuing to attract public 
sector investments across the county to support strategic transport 
improvements and open up new business parks.  Challenges for areas which 
faced a pre-existing low baseline for the economy across the north of England 
and including County Durham have been widely reported.  County Durham’s 
recovery from the impact of Covid-19 and delivering long-term sustainable 
growth is therefore a central key priority objective for the Council. 
 
To support growth and recovery, significant further investment is planned.  The 
Council has established and funded an innovative £5 million Business 
Recovery Grant scheme, £70 million has been earmarked for a new Council 
Homes Programme, £25 million additional investment has been agreed for 
Towns and Villages and plans are being progressed for £75 million of 
regeneration and health focused Leisure Investment across the County. 
It is important that the County realises significant benefit and direct investment 
from any nationally available schemes and the report set out a number of 
priorities for national schemes and funding.  An external independent economic 
analysis has been commissioned to make recommendations on key priorities 
for future investment areas.  The main body of the report identified a selection 
of projects that are being developed.   
 
Decision  
 
We: 
 

(a) noted the work in progress to produce a County Durham 
Economic Statement and the emerging projections of the impact 
of Covid19 and Brexit, with a report to follow in Spring 2021; 

(b) noted the external opportunities for strategic funding and the 
importance of County Durham receiving significant government 
investment to ensure levelling up is delivered; and 

(c) supported the development of an ambitious and innovative 
thematic pipeline of projects and interventions and agree to 
further work to further develop proposals across the county. 

 

14. Proposal to amalgamate Ox Close Primary and Oxclose 
Nursery Schools into one primary school in a replacement 
new build on the Durham Road site of the former Tudhoe 
Grange Comprehensive School from 1 September 2024 [Key 
Decision: CYPS/03/2021] 
Cabinet Portfolio Holder – Cllr Olwyn Gunn 
Contact - Graeme Plews 03000 265777 

 
We considered a report of the Corporate Director of Children and Young 
People’s Services which sought approval to amalgamate Ox Close Primary and 

Page 66



Oxclose Nursery Schools into one primary school in a replacement new build 
on the Durham Road site of the former Tudhoe Grange Comprehensive School 
from 1 September 2024, taking account of the Local Authority’s duties as 
prescribed in the Education and Inspections Act 2006 to secure sufficient 
places and to ensure good outcomes for all children and young people in the 
local area. 
 
Ox Close Primary and Oxclose Nursery Schools formed the Ox Close 
Federation in November 2018.  Amalgamating the two schools into a single 
primary school is a logical progression from the federation arrangement.  
Funding for a new build primary school to replace the current schools was 
agreed by Council in the Medium-Term Financial Plan at its meeting on 26 
February 2021.  As well as amalgamating the schools on a single site, the 
proposal also provides the opportunity to expand the number of places to meet 
the growth in demand for primary places in the Spennymoor area.  
 
Following an options appraisal into a number of potential sites for the new build, 
the site of the former Tudhoe Grange Comprehensive School on Durham Road, 
Spennymoor, was identified as the proposed option. 
 
An initial consultation was carried out on the proposals between 2 November 
and 13 December 2020 with Governors, staff, parents, and the wider 
community.  118 responses were received to that consultation, 49 in support of 
the proposal and 69 not in support of it. Information on the consultation process 
was included within the report. 
 
Following completion of the initial consultation process, the Corporate Director 
of Children and Young People’s Services approved the issuing of a statutory 
notice proposing to amalgamate Ox Close Primary and Oxclose Nursery 
Schools into one primary school in a replacement new build on the Durham 
Road site of the former Tudhoe Grange Comprehensive School from 1 
September 2024.  During the 4 week statutory representation period, 32 
responses were received, 21 in support of the proposal, 10 not in support of the 
proposal, and 1 who supported the amalgamation but not the proposed location 
and size of the new build if the amalgamation was agreed.  The report outlined 
the factors that must be considered by Cabinet, as the decision maker, as part 
of the statutory process. 
 
Decision 
 
We agreed to amalgamate Ox Close Primary and Oxclose Nursery Schools into 
one primary school in a replacement new build on the Durham Road site of the 
former Tudhoe Grange Comprehensive School from 1 September 2024. 
  

Page 67



15. High Needs Block Funding for SEND and Inclusion Support 
Cabinet Portfolio Holder – Cllrs Olwyn Gunn and Alan Napier 
Contacts Karin Laybourne 03000 268042, Andrew Baldwin 
03000 263490 and Martyn Stenton 03000 268067 

 
We considered a joint report of the Corporate Director of Children and Young 
People’s Services and the Interim Corporate Director of Resources which 
provided an update on spend and pressures on the High Needs Block (HNB) of 
the Dedicated Schools Grant (DSG), which supports Special Educational Needs 
and Disability (SEND) and inclusion support services for children and young 
people.  The report outlined the  2020/21 forecast financial outturn position, 
along with the latest five-year financial plan and project updates, which 
collectively aim to ensure HNB spending is maintained within budget and the 
accumulated deficit in the HNB is recovered between 2020/21-2024/25. 
 
There are enduring pressures on the High Needs Block (HNB) of the Dedicated 
Schools Grant (DSG) which provides funding for SEND and inclusion support 
services for children and young people in County Durham. 
 
There have been insufficient resources to support children and young people 
with SEND and inclusion needs in recent years.  This position is continuing and 
is replicated in other local authorities. This is linked to a combination of factors 
to include rising demand for service provision that meets the increasingly 
complex needs of children and young people, and the SEND Reforms (2014) 
that increased support to include individuals from birth up to 25 years of age. 
 
Despite some previous support from the Council’s own resources, spending 
pressures have resulted in a growing deficit in County Durham’s DSG account 
and the cumulative deficit for Durham’s HNB stood at £5.7 million at the end of 
2019/20.  Whilst there was an increase in the HNB allocation in 2019/20 and 
continued work on the HNB sustainability programme, the latest forecast 
indicates that expenditure will exceed HNB grant by £1.8 million in 2020-21.  
This is a slight reduction on the previous forecast and will increase the 
cumulative deficit position on the HNB reserve from £5.7 million to  
£7.5 million at the end of 2020/21. 
 
Through successful delivery of the HNB Sustainability Plan it is aimed to ensure 
that services are delivered within budget in accordance with the HNB five-year 
financial plan, and this is supported through the SEND transformation work that 
is either planned or underway.  Key elements of this work relate to areas which 
were subject to consultation and reported previously to Cabinet.  The report 
provided an update on each of the areas of work, highlighting where progress 
has been made, planned next steps and identifying where some areas of work 
continue to be disrupted as a result of the ongoing coronavirus pandemic.  The 
report proposed that the SEND and Inclusion Resources Board continues to 

Page 68



oversee the implementation of the work programme to deliver the proposed 
changes, the five-year plan and any impact from the coronavirus outbreak. 
 
Decision 
 
We: 
 

a) noted the updated assumptions and forecast position for HNB 
spend in 2020/21; 

b) agreed to the updated five-year financial plan for 2020/21- 2024/25 
which includes a deficit recovery plan for previous HNB overspend; 

c) agreed to the five-year plan being regularly reviewed and updated, 
including allowing for any impacts from the coronavirus outbreak 
and subsequent recovery period which may be protracted in 
relation to SEND support needs; and 

d) noted the update on the Investment Support Fund and progress on 
the transformation projects outlined in the report and proposed next 
steps. 

 
16. Health Protection Assurance Annual Report 

Contact - Chris Allan 03000 266426 
 
We considered a report of the Director of Public Health which provided an 
update on health protection assurance arrangements in County Durham. 
 
The implementation of the health protection action plan is overseen by the 
Health Protection Assurance and Development Group (HPADG). The direct 
response to the COVID-19 pandemic is covered in reports from the Health 
Protection Assurance Board (HPAB). The report picked up on the indirect 
effects of COVID-19 as to the impact on relevant work programmes.  HPADG 
meets quarterly and seeks assurance on five main strands of health protection 
activity: 
 

(a) Screening programmes 
(b) Immunisation programmes 
(c) Outbreaks and communicable diseases 
(d) Strategic regulation interventions 
(e) Preparedness and response to incidents and emergencies 

 
Key achievements overseen by HPADG to date include: 
 

(a) Improvement in flu vaccination uptake amongst eligible groups 
(b) Extension of Durham County Council flu vaccination to all staff, 

with much improved uptake on the previous year 
(c) Sustained delivery of national immunisations programmes 

Page 69



(d) Sustained delivery of the Antenatal and Newborn Screening 
programme. 

 
All but the Antenatal and Newborn screening programmes have been impacted 
by the pandemic. The restoration of affected screening programmes was 
started prior to the second wave and will have been affected by successive 
waves. 
 
Decision  
 
We noted: 
 

(a) the content of the report; 
(b) that performance in County Durham for all childhood immunisation 

programmes exceeds both standards and national averages; and 
(c) that the report provided broad assurance that effective processes 

are in place for each of the key strands of health protection activity. 
 
We supported: 
 

(d) the need for further assurance in relation to flu and COVID-19 
vaccination; 

(e) the need for assurance on the transfer of Clinical Commissioning 
Group and Public Health England functions including health 
protection and screening and immunisation programmes and 
emergency response; 

(f) further identification and response to emerging health protection 
priorities and be updated accordingly. 

 
17. Workforce Strategy 2021 – 2023 

Cabinet Portfolio Holder – Cllr Andrea Patterson 
Contact - Alison Lazazzera 03000 264473 

 
We Cabinet considered a report of the Interim Corporate Director of Resources 
which sought approval to adopt the Council’s Workforce Strategy for the period 
2021-2023. 
 
The COVID-19 pandemic has undoubtedly had a major impact on how public 
services are delivered and this will have a major influence on the future 
operating model as a Council. The Council will continue to embrace new 
technology, as well as respond to national shortages in particular professions, 
whilst planning to address the impact of an ageing workforce. With the 
development of the Council’s new vision and priorities 2035 and the approach 
to transformation and improvements, there is a need to have a Workforce 
Strategy which aligns the management and deployment of the workforce for the 
future. The development of the Workforce Strategy and associated delivery plan 

Page 70



will provide a focus on what the Council needs to do to build the workforce for 
the future, providing  a “home” for all strategic workforce initiatives, all of which 
will enable the council to drive cultural change across the workforce. 
 
Decision  
 
We approved the adoption of the new Workforce Strategy. 

Page 71



This page is intentionally left blank



 

County Council 

 

23 June 2021 

Safe Durham Partnership Plan 2021-25 

 

Report of Corporate Management Team 

Alan Patrickson, Corporate Director of Neighbourhoods and 

Climate Change 

Councillor John Shuttleworth, Cabinet Portfolio for Rural 

Communities and Highways 

Electoral divisions affected: 

Countywide  

Purpose of the Report 

1 The purpose of this report is to present to County Council the Safe 
Durham Partnership Plan (SDPP) 2021-25 for agreement.  The plan is 
attached as Appendix 2. 

Executive summary 

2 Section 6 of the Crime and Disorder Act 1998 requires the responsible 
authorities (commonly referred to collectively as a Community Safety 
Partnership (CSP)) in a local government area to work together in 
formulating and implementing strategies to tackle local crime and 
disorder in the area.  In County Durham this is the Safe Durham 
Partnership. 
 

3 The 2007 Regulations set out the way in which the responsible 
authorities should carry out their functions as a CSP under Section 6 of 
the Act, and require the preparation of: 

 
(a) a partnership plan for the local government area, setting out the 

CSP’s priorities; 

(b) a county level community safety agreement, setting out the ways 
the responsible authorities in the county might work more 
effectively to implement the identified priorities by joint working. 

4 The SDPP 2021-25 has been aligned to the Durham Police, Crime and 
Victims Plan and the Cleveland and Durham Local Criminal Justice 
Partnership Plan. 
 

Page 73

Agenda Item 8



5 Covid-19 has had a huge impact on how Durham County Council and 
its partners deliver services, especially health and social care services 
to ensure those who need to access vital services still receive them, 
whilst also supporting providers who run essential services.  Many of 
the actions in the current strategy have supported our approach in these 
unprecedented times. 

 
6 This SDPP 2021-25 also considers the impact Covid-19 has on our 

partners, communities and services and any Covid-19 related actions 
are included. 

 
7 A range of consultation has been undertaken on the plan, details of 

which are provided in Appendix 3.  The consultation feedback has been 
used to inform the SDPP 2021-25. 

 
8 An Equality Impact Assessment (EIA) has been undertaken as part of 

the process for developing the SDPP, which is attached as Appendix 4. 
 

9 The SDPP 2021-25 was agreed by the Safe Durham Partnership at its 
meeting on 12 March 2021. 

Recommendation 

10 The County Council is recommended to: 
 
(a) note the contents of this report and approve the Safe Durham 

Partnership Plan 2021-25. 

 

Page 74



Background 

11 The Safe Durham Partnership agreed the SDPP 2020-25 in March 
2020, to provide a holding position for a year whilst further work was 
undertaken to ensure the Strategy takes account of the County Durham 
Vision 2035 and Covid-19. 
 

12 The SDPP 2021-25 has been further aligned to the County Durham 
Vision 2035, which was written together with partner organisations and 
the public and sets out what we would want the county to look like in 15 
years’ time.  This vision is structured around three ambitions which are: 

 
(a) more and better jobs; 

 
(b) people live long and independent lives; 
 
(c) connected communities. 

 
13 The SDPP 2021-25 will take forward aspects of the vision that are 

focussed on community safety in County Durham and will contribute to 
other areas, working in partnership with other strategic partnership 
boards.  For example: 
 
(a) future free from harm due to drug and alcohol misuse; 
 
(b) tackle crime and anti-social behaviour; 
 
(c) address the underlying causes of crime and community tensions. 

 
14 In response to the coronavirus pandemic, a County Durham Covid-19 

Health Impact Assessment was undertaken which took account of the 
impact of the first lockdown, which was supported by detailed 
forecasting and modelling work.  This has given a helpful, system-wide 
picture of the potential impact of the pandemic on County Durham 
residents over the next four years and has been considered in the 
development of the SDPP 2021-25. 

SDPP Consultation 

15 Consultation took place between 22 January 2021 and 21 February 
2021 on the SDPP, which included public consultation via the Durham 
County Council website.  Details of this consultation can be found in 
Appendix 3. 
 

16 Partners were invited to take part in the consultation, including Safe 
Durham Partnership Partners, Area Action Partnerships, Town and 
Parish Councils, Durham Community Action, Better Together Forum, 

Page 75



VCS organisations, Armed Forces & Veterans Forum, Age UK, Young 
and Adult Carers, Patient Reference Groups, Poverty Action Steering 
Group, The People’s Parliament, Disability Partnership, and County 
Durham Youth Council. 
 

17 The Safer and Stronger Communities Overview and Scrutiny Committee 
noted the content of the plan at their meeting on 1 March 2021.  Details 
of their comments can be found in Appendix 3. 

Safe Durham Partnership Plan vision and strategic priorities 

18 The vision for the Safe Durham Partnership is agreed as ‘A county 
where every adult and child will feel and be safe’  
 

19 The strategic priorities for the SDPP 2021-25 are:  
 

(a) Strategic priority 1: Promote being safe and feeling safe in 
your community by focusing on the following priorities: 

 Anti-social Behaviour 

 Arson and Deliberate Fires 

 Safer Homes 

 Road Safety 

 Hate Crime and Community Tensions 

96% of respondents to the public consultation strongly 

agreed/agreed this should be a priority. 

(b) Strategic priority 2: Support victims and protect vulnerable 
people from harm by focusing on the following priorities: 

 Domestic Abuse and Sexual Violence 

 Organised Crime; County Lines 

 Victims 

100% of respondents to the public consultation agreed this 

should be a priority. 

(c) Strategic priority 3: Prevent Strategy: Countering Terrorism, 
Radicalisation and Violent Extremism by focusing on the 
following priorities: 

 Prevent people being drawn into terrorism 

 Support the work to strengthen our protection against terrorist 
attacks and mitigate the impact of such an attack 

93% of respondents to the public consultation strongly 

agreed/agreed this should be a priority. 

Page 76



(d) Strategic priority 4: Reduce Reoffending by focusing on the 
following priorities: 

 Prevent offending and inter-generational offending 

 Prevent re-offending 

81% of respondents to the public consultation strongly 

agreed/agreed this should be a priority. 

(e) Strategic priority 5: Alcohol and Substance misuse reduction 
by focusing on the following priorities: 

 Prevention and early intervention 

 Providing specialist interventions to promote recovery 

 Protecting children and vulnerable adults at risk 

 Strengthening leadership, management and governance 

85% of respondents to the public consultation strongly 

agreed/agreed this should be a priority. 

(f) Strategic priority 6: Tackle and prevent cyber enabled crime 
by focusing on the following priorities: 

 Raise awareness of the general population about staying safe 
online 

 Reduce risk to the most vulnerable groups 

 Build resilience of local businesses of the threat of cyber crime 

83% of respondents to the public consultation strongly 

agreed/agreed this should be a priority. 

Core Deliverables 

20 The SDPP includes a number of core deliverables that identify the key 
areas of work which the Safe Durham Partnership will focus on, linked 
to the priorities. 

 

Equality Impact Assessment 
 
21 An Equality Impact Assessment (EIA) has been undertaken alongside 

the development of the strategy which is attached at Appendix 4. 
 

Accessibility 

22 New legislation dictates how we can present information, to ensure it is 
accessible to all.  As a consequence, the new version of the SDPP is in 
plain text format and does not contain infographics, tables and 
diagrams. 

Page 77



Conclusion 

23 The development of the Safe Durham Partnership Plan has been led by 
the Safe Durham Partnership, supported by a multi-agency working 
group.  The plan has been informed by the Strategic Needs Assessment 
which provides the evidence base on which the priorities have been 
developed. 

 
24 Consultation feedback has been used to inform the SDPP 2021-25. 
 
25 The SDPP is aligned to the Durham Police, Crime and Victims Plan and 

the Cleveland and Durham Local Criminal Justice Partnership Plan. 
 
26 The SDPP is also aligned to the County Durham Vision 2035 and will be 

the delivery mechanism for some of the objectives which support the 
overall ambitions. 

Background papers 

 None 

 

Author 

Gordon Elliott Tel: 03000 263605 
 

 

Page 78



Appendix 1:  Implications 

Legal Implications 

The Crime and Disorder Act 1998 requires Community Safety Partnerships 

(CSPs) to prepare a partnership plan, setting out the CSP’s priorities. 

Finance 

Ongoing pressure on the public services will challenge all agencies to consider 

how best to ensure effective services are delivered in the most efficient way. 

Action plans will be developed to support the delivery of the Partnership Plan. 

Consultation 

Details of consultation are provided in the report. 

Equality and Diversity / Public Sector Equality Duty 

A full Equality Impact Assessment has been carried out alongside the SDPP. 

Climate Change 

There are no climate change implications. 

Human Rights 

There are no adverse implications. 

Crime and Disorder 

Crime and disorder is the main focus of the report under the Safe Durham 

Partnership. 

Staffing 

There are no staffing implications. 

Accommodation 

There are no accommodation implications. 

Risk 

There are no risk implications. 

 

Page 79



Procurement 

Commissioners will take account of the SDPP when procuring services aligned 

to community safety. 

Page 80



 
 

Safe Durham 
Partnership Plan     

2021 - 2025 
  
 

 
 

Page 81



1 
  

Contents 
Foreword ................................................................................................................................................ 3 

What is the Safe Durham Partnership? ............................................................................................ 5 

Covid-19 and our Response ............................................................................................................... 6 

County Durham Vision 2035 ............................................................................................................... 7 

Approach to Wellbeing .................................................................................................................... 8 

The Safe Durham Partnership Strategic Assessment and Durham Insight ................................ 9 

Policy drivers ..................................................................................................................................... 9 

Consultation ........................................................................................................................................ 11 

Our Vision ............................................................................................................................................ 13 

Our Strategic Priorities ...................................................................................................................... 13 

Alignment with other key strategic plans .................................................................................... 14 

Strategic priority 1: Promote being safe and feeling safe in your community ........................... 15 

Evidence base ................................................................................................................................ 15 

Why is it important? ....................................................................................................................... 16 

Case Study – GRT (Gypsy, Roma, Traveller) Communities ................................................... 18 

Promote being safe and feeling safe in your community ......................................................... 19 

Strategic Priority 2: Support victims and protect vulnerable people from harm........................ 20 

Evidence base ................................................................................................................................ 20 

Why is it important? ....................................................................................................................... 20 

Case Study 1 – Victims Care and Advice Service .................................................................... 23 

Case Study 2 – Community Peer Mentors ................................................................................. 23 

Support victims and protect vulnerable people from harm ...................................................... 24 

Strategic Priority 3: Prevent Strategy: Countering terrorism, radicalisation and violent 

extremism ............................................................................................................................................ 25 

Evidence base ................................................................................................................................ 25 

Why is it important? ....................................................................................................................... 25 

Case Study – Channel ................................................................................................................... 27 

Prevent Strategy: Countering terrorism, radicalisation and violent extremism ..................... 28 

Strategic Priority 4: Reduce Reoffending ....................................................................................... 29 

Evidence base ................................................................................................................................ 29 

Why is it important? ....................................................................................................................... 29 

Case Study - Restorative Justice ................................................................................................. 31 

Reduce Reoffending ...................................................................................................................... 33 

Strategic Priority 5: Alcohol and substance misuse reduction .................................................... 34 

Evidence base ................................................................................................................................ 34 

Page 82



2 
  

Why is it important? ....................................................................................................................... 34 

Case Study – Drugs and alcohol ................................................................................................. 36 

Alcohol and Substance Misuse Reduction ................................................................................. 37 

Strategic Priority 6: Tackle and prevent cyber enabled crime ..................................................... 38 

Evidence base ................................................................................................................................ 38 

Why is it important? ....................................................................................................................... 38 

Case Study 1 – Cyber Crime ........................................................................................................ 40 

Case Study 2 – Cyber Crime ........................................................................................................ 40 

Tackle and prevent cyber enabled crime.................................................................................... 41 

Enabling factors .................................................................................................................................. 42 

Performance Management Framework .......................................................................................... 43 

Appendix 1: Priorities and links to other partnership strategic plans. ........................................ 44 

Safe Durham Partnership priorities and alignment to other Strategic Partnership Plans ....... 45 

 

  

Page 83



3 
  

Foreword  
Welcome to the Safe Durham Partnership Plan (SDPP) 2021-2025. We must 
acknowledge the global coronavirus pandemic, Covid-19 has impacted on all 
services across the County from early 2020. As promised, this year on refresh will 
take this into account to ensure we continue to deliver services and utilise resources 
effectively to make Durham a safer place to live, work and visit. 
 
The Safe Durham Partnership was formed in 2009 and over the last twelve years we 
have had significant success in tackling crime and disorder through the underlying 
principles of working together. 
 
The partnership has shared challenges and best practice regarding the issues faced 
with working in a Covid-19 environment. From this there are a number of cross 
cutting themes which supported the work of the Safe Durham Partnership: 

 The importance of good communication and how this helps identify need, 
allocate resources, re-assure the public and improve the morale of staff. 

 New ways of working have been developed that have not only helped deliver 
services in a different way during the pandemic but have shown better and 
more efficient and better ways of working that can be carried forward as best 
practice for the future. 

 There have been some great examples of partnerships coming together to 
deliver the support needed in the community. It’s essential we continue to do 
this to ensure we are ready to respond effectively in these uncertain times. 

 We all have a responsibility to make sure that we continue to identify and 
support those who need extra help, support and advice over this period. 

 
Over the last year we have had numerous successes, including: 

 The Safer Streets Initiative, which supports victims of domestic burglary in 
one of our worst hit areas. Offering crime prevention advice and target 
hardening for them and the surrounding properties in order to prevent further 
incidents in the area. 

 Moving training and awareness sessions for Prevent: Counter Terrorism onto 
an online platform in order to ensure staff are aware of how to protect and 
safeguard our children and most vulnerable from the risks of extremism and 
radicalisation. 

 Using new technologies to ensure victims can still ensure their voice is heard 
by the courts whilst protecting them from the risks of Covid-19. 

 During the Covid-19 pandemic, a Domestic Abuse Communications Plan has 
been developed working collectively with specialist provider, Harbour Support 
Services, in a multi-agency approach to supporting vulnerable families during 
lockdown. 

 Pharmacies that are commissioned by the council to deliver pharmaceutical 
services for opioid drug users are to begin supplying naloxone from 
September 2020 to individuals currently, or with a history of, using opioids or 
carers, family members, or friends liable to be on hand in case of overdose. 

 A partnership approach has been used to manage COVID positive unplanned 
prison releases. A new process for housing the COVID positive individuals 
has been instigated by the prisons, Housing Solutions, police, Public Health 
and Humankind. This process ensures ex-prisoners are given overnight 

Page 84



4 
  

support until they can be transported in a COVID secure environment back to 
their area of residence. This helps to reduce community transmission in 
County Durham. 

 The Drug and Alcohol Recovery Service have maintained full service delivery 
during COVID using a blended approach of on-line support and COVID 
secure interventions for those with complex needs. There was no significant 
drop in service user retention for opiate clients and an increase in those 
accessing support for alcohol issues. Service users themselves reported 
feeling very supported and stable during the lock down periods. 

 A Budget Prioritisation Process for Domestic Abuse was instigated by 
DASVEG in 2020 to review contacts commissioned across the DA system. 
The significant partnership working during the process has resulted in 
progressing pooled budget arrangements for the Domestic Abuse Awareness 
contract for perpetrators. This system wide approach will continue to ensure 
sustainability for all contracts as part of a Joint Commissioning Strategy for 
Domestic Abuse and reflect the pending outcomes of the Domestic Abuse Bill. 

We will continue to work in partnership to address the issues that are most effecting 
those either working or living within County Durham. Those crimes that effect our 
most vulnerable will continue to be the focus of our partnership response such as 
Domestic Abuse, Hate Crime and the emerging issues around County Lines, where 
vulnerable individuals are preyed upon and groomed by organised criminal gangs in 
order to expand their reach and influence. 
 
We need to react to the increasing use of technology to perpetrate crime by ensuring 
a better understanding of cybercrime. Raising awareness of how we can protect 
ourselves from the numerous ways that perpetrators can steal our identities, access 
our finances and disrupt our businesses is a continued area of work. 
 
We are also strongly committed to supporting victims to cope and recover from their 
experience through a range of services customised to the specific needs of 
individuals. 
 
We want to work jointly together, using the best skills and expertise in our different 
organisations to meet our shared priorities. We can only do this by working together 
and supporting our communities and voluntary sector organisations, charities and 
social enterprises to make County Durham a safer place. 
 
We would like to thank everyone for their continued commitment to achieving our 

vision during these challenging times.  

 

Keith Wanley 

Chair of the Safe Durham Partnership  
Area Manager, County Durham and Darlington Fire and Rescue  
 
 

 

Cllr Lucy Hovvels MBE 

Vice Chair of the Safe Durham Partnership 
Portfolio Holder for Adult & Health Services, Durham County Council  

Page 85



5 
  

What is the Safe Durham Partnership? 
The Crime and Disorder Act 1998 placed a statutory duty on local authorities to form 
a Community Safety Partnership (CSP) to tackle crime, disorder, anti-social 
behaviour, substance misuse, other behaviour adversely affecting the local 
environment and to reduce re-offending.  In County Durham, the CSP is the Safe 
Durham Partnership. 
 
The Safe Durham Partnership is required by statute to develop an annual strategic 
assessment. Its purpose is to enable the Safe Durham Partnership Board to: 

 Identify its strategic priorities for the forthcoming year 

 Identify key crime and disorder risks and threats to the community. 
 
The Strategic Assessment includes restricted data and as such is only for use by 
members of the Safe Durham Partnership and its partner agencies, however, the 
contents of this strategic assessment has been used to refresh this Safe Durham 
Partnership Plan. 
 
There are currently six ‘responsible authorities’ on the Safe Durham Partnership, 
who have a legal duty to work in partnership to tackle crime, disorder, substance 
misuse, anti-social behaviour and other behaviour adversely affecting the 
environment, and to reduce re-offending. 
 
Membership of the Safe Durham Partnership is made up of the following partners: 
 
Responsible authorities: 

 Durham County Council 

 Durham Constabulary 

 County Durham and Darlington Fire and Rescue Service 

 National Probation Service * 

 Durham Tees Valley Community Rehabilitation Company * 

 County Durham Clinical Commissioning Group 
 
Additional members: 

 Office of the Police, Crime & Victims’ Commissioner 

 Tees, Esk and Wear Valleys NHS Foundation Trust 

 County Durham & Darlington NHS Foundation Trust 

 HMP Durham 

 Voluntary and Community Sector 
 
*The National Probation Service and Durham and Tees Valley Community 
Rehabilitation Company. 
 
By June 2021 the National Probation Service (NPS) will have responsibility for 
managing all offenders on a community sentence or licence following release from 
prison in England and Wales and will continue to deliver those services reserved to 
the public sector such as advice to court. There will be 11 probation areas across 
England and Wales. This will include the introduction of 10 new probation areas in 
England with existing arrangements remaining unchanged in Wales. 

  

Page 86



6 
  

Covid-19 and our Response 
On a national basis, the Covid-19 pandemic has impacted crime and illicit economies 
such as organised crime, terrorism, street crime, online crime, illegal markets and 
smuggling, human and wildlife trafficking, slavery, robberies and burglaries. 
 
The Global Initiative Against Transnational Organised Crime has stated that whilst 
the impact of pandemic in the short term indicates a decrease in some organized-
criminal activities, especially during lockdown, it has provided new opportunities for 
crime in other areas, causing a change in the "organised-criminal economy" that may 
be more long term (GIATOC, 2020). During lockdown restrictions within the UK, 
there are fewer people on the streets, causing a decrease in street crime. With a 
larger population staying indoors at home, thefts and residential burglaries were 
reported to have decreased. 
 
However, there have been increases in counterfeiting and fraud directly related to 
the Covid-19 pandemic and more reports of cybercrime, domestic abuse, and hate 
crimes. All aspects of crime increase the fear of crime within local communities, 
especially during times of crisis. National reports suggest increases in fraud 
especially targeting elderly vulnerable people (Action Fraud, 2020). 
 
Lockdown restrictions can especially impact on women with existing vulnerabilities 
such as poverty, homelessness, poor mental health and past experiences of trauma, 
and who are victims of sexual abuse and sexual violence (Changing Lives, 2020). 
 
This issue can be related to, but is often distinct from, domestic abuse – also a 
significant and pressing concern – affecting women including those who are being 
systematically targeted for sexual exploitation. 
 
Work is currently being undertaken to address significant court backlogs, some 
through online means, and how local agencies can start to address the issues 
relating to social distancing to enable cases to continue through the courts. Prison 
releases have been delayed ensuring all individuals are suitably housed on returning 
to their local area. This action has helped reduce the numbers who are homeless 
and living on the streets. 
 
Digital mechanisms are currently being utilised to engage those engaged by the 
National Probation Service. This may cause inequalities in some clients being able to 
access health and social care support due to a lack of access to suitable equipment. 
 
In Durham, a rapid Health Impact Assessment (HIA) was an initiative to provide a 
‘snapshot’ insight into the direct and indirect impact of Covid-19 lockdown on 
inequalities. The key priorities identified by the HIA also reflect Marmot’s national 
review on inequalities, which suggest by reducing the impact of crime and anti-social 
behaviour within communities can increase levels of health and wellbeing.  

 
The Safe Durham Partnership will also work closely with the Durham Safeguarding 

Children Partnership, in particular through the work of the Domestic Abuse and 

Sexual Violence Executive Group and the Alcohol and Drugs Harm Reduction Group 

to look at the importance of addressing Adverse Childhood Experiences. 

Page 87



7 
  

County Durham Vision 2035  
The County Durham Vision 2035 is a document developed with partners to provide a 
shared understanding of what everyone wants our county to look like in 15 years’ 
time. 
 
The County Durham Vision 2035 was written together with partner organisations and 
the public and sets out what we would want to county to look like in 15 years’ time. It 
provides strategic direction and enables us to work together more closely, removing 
organisational boundaries and co-delivering services for the benefit of our residents. 
This vision is structured around three ambitions which are:  

 More and better jobs 

 People live long and independent lives 

 Connected communities 
 
A new partnership structure framework was agreed by the County Durham 
Partnership (the overarching partnership in County Durham) in September 2020 
which ensures the County Durham partnership structure aids delivery of the County 
Durham Vision 2035. 
 
The new partnership structure underneath the County Durham Partnership is: 

 Safe Durham Partnership – Statutory 

 Health and Wellbeing Board (and Outbreak Engagement Board) – Statutory 

 Economic Partnership 

 Environment and Climate Change Partnership 
 
In addition, the County Durham Together Partnership which will be responsible for 
countywide approaches.    
 
The SDPP will form part of the delivery mechanism for the Vision, with a remit to 
deliver the following vision objectives and also work with other partnerships on 
shared priorities and cross-cutting issues. The Safe Durham Partnership along with 
its subgroups, will take the lead on delivering the following objectives contained 
within the vision: 

 Future free from harm due to drug and alcohol misuse 

 Support for victims to cope, recover and engage in the justice system 

 Work with communities most affected by long term empty properties 

 Tackle crime and anti-social behaviour 

 Address the underlying causes of crime and community tensions 

 Actively take steps to encourage community cohesion 

 Provide a range of activities and opportunities to divert people away from 
crime and anti-social behaviour 

 Approach to selective licensing of private landlords 
 
In addition, they will work closely with the Durham Safeguarding Children 
Partnership who will deliver on the objective to make sure children and young people 
are safe. 
 

Page 88



8 
  

As mentioned above, the Safe Durham Partnership will not just fulfil the objectives in 
the Vision but also has a duty to meet our statutory obligations under the Crime and 
Disorder Act 1998. 
 

Approach to Wellbeing  

The County Durham Approach to Wellbeing has been adopted by the Safe Durham 
Partnership as a means of ensuring all organisations and services within the county 
consider wellbeing as a common currency; it includes everything that is important to 
people and their lives.  It is designed to promote whole system change and to invoke 
a culture where the wellbeing of the County’s residents is considered in every 
decision that is made whether this be regarding decisions about people or places or 
the systems designed to support them.  
 
Our approach has six guiding principles which are all underpinned by a strong 
evidence base.  These principles affirm the key role that communities can play in 
supporting their own residents and the significant improvements in health and 
wellbeing outcomes that can result from involving communities more in decisions 
that affect them.  A community can be defined as a geographical community or a 
community of interest such as people living with dementia or asylum seekers.   
 
Our approach has people and places at its heart. Working with communities, building 
on the assets of those communities, supporting the positive development of the 
neighbourhoods that people live in and fostering the resilience and empowerment of 
these communities through the support offered to everyone, and importantly to those 
who are most vulnerable. 
 
Our approach highlights the importance of supporting systems – encouraging 
alignment of activities across agencies and sectors and ensuring that services are 
commissioned and delivered in a way that is collaborative and supportive.  For those 
who require more formal interventions or treatment, our approach supports person-
centred interventions that are empowering rather than stigmatising.  Through 
commissioners and providers of services across the sectors the model helps to 
provide a framework against which we can address the needs of people, 
communities and neighbourhoods whilst working towards a cultural change.  This 
means ensuring all services self-assess against the model using the structured 
framework that helps to reflect on current practice and will inform future decisions 
about how local work and activities can support the wellbeing of people living in 
communities.  
 
Over time it is aimed that the model will be integrated into commissioning decisions, 
supporting providers to deliver services that place improving wellbeing at the centre 
of service delivery.   
 
Finally, and most importantly, all our actions need to be informed by local 
conversations with people and communities – using and building on their knowledge 
and learning from their own experiences of knowing what they need, what is right 
and what works for them.  In doing this we will also ensure that the model is 
dynamic, adapting, changing and that it is shaped and developed over time by 
County Durham residents. 
 

Page 89



9 
  

The Safe Durham Partnership Strategic Assessment and Durham 

Insight 
The Safe Durham Partnership is required by statute to develop an annual strategic 
assessment. To provide current data and information for stakeholders which is easy 
to access, a series of web-based factsheets has been developed which is part of 
Durham Insight which is a shared intelligence, research and knowledge base for 
County Durham, informing strategic planning across Durham County Council and its 
partners. This site includes in depth Insight factsheets and lots of topic-based 
intelligence including infographics, maps and story maps. New intelligence content is 
regularly added, and the site is continuously being developed and improved. 
www.durhaminsight.info. Key messages from the Integrated Needs Assessment 
have been identified for each priority below. 
 

Policy drivers 
Key factors which impact on community safety have been drawn out from the 
strategic assessment and Durham Insight and utilised to inform the priorities for the 
Safe Durham Partnership Plan: 

 Crime and Disorder Act 1998 (amended) 

 The Police and Justice Act 2006 

 The Crime and Disorder (Prescribed Information) (Amendment) Regulations 
2010 

 The Crime and Disorder (Formulation and Implementation of Strategy) 
(Amendment) Regulations 2010 

 The Crime and Disorder (Formulation and Implementation of Strategy) 
(Amendment) Regulations 2011 

 Police Reform and Social Responsibility Act 2011 

 Health and Social Care Act 2012 

 Care Act 2014 

 Anti-Social Behaviour, Crime and Policing Act 2014 

 Counter Terrorism and Security Act 2015 

 Multi-agency Statutory Guidance for the Conduct of Domestic Homicide 
Reviews 2016 

 Policing and Crime Act 2017 

 Children Act 2004/Children and Social Work Act 2017 
 
Most recent policy drivers include: 

 Coronavirus Act 2020 

 Channel guidance 

 Cyber crime 

 Domestic Abuse Bill 2020 

 BLM (Black Lives Matter) 

 Backlogs in the Criminal Justice system 

 Serious Violence Duty 
 
Coronavirus Act 2020 provides a set of measures giving public bodies and the 
Government the tools and powers they needed to carry out an effective response to 
this public health emergency. The implementation of measures within the act could 

Page 90

http://www.durhaminsight.info/


10 
  

have a direct impact on services and resources provided by partners and therefore 
the delivery of actions with the Safe Durham Partnership Plan. 
 
Channel is part of the Prevent strategy. The process is a multi-agency approach to 

identify and provide support to individuals who are at risk of being drawn into 

terrorism. The refreshed Channel duty guidance, which has implications for how 

Channel panels are delivered across England and Wales was launched during 

November 2020. This will enable us all to manage the vulnerability of individuals at 

risk of being drawn into terrorism more effectively. 

 
There have been increases in cybercrime and fraud due to the Covid-19 pandemic 
as many people are now working from home and using the internet more than ever. 
 
The Domestic Abuse Bill 2020 aims to create a statutory definition of domestic 
abuse, emphasising that domestic abuse is not just physical violence, but can also 
be emotional, coercive or controlling, and economic abuse. The Bill is due to receive 
royal ascent imminently and will also update legislation accordingly. 
 
Black Lives Matter (BLM) is a political and social movement advocating for non-
violent civil disobedience in protest against incidents of police brutality and all racially 
motivated violence against black people. Although there was an increase in 
community tensions within regions of higher ethnic minority populations, County 
Durham did not see the scale of demonstrations and targeting of national 
monuments related to the slave trade that were seen in other parts of the country. 
However, tensions are monitored, and any potential areas of concern highlighted by 
partners so that suitable actions can be taken to address any issues. Gypsies, Roma 
and Travellers are the largest BAME (Black and Minority Ethnic) population in 
County Durham. They have a long-established history as part of our community in 
County Durham. We have a duty to encourage race equality, eliminate discrimination 
and foster good relations. 
 
A local and national issue exists in respect of delays within the criminal justice 
system, and within courts. The impact of Covid on the courts has resulted in a 
significant backlog in the listing of trials and sentencing within courts, and this brings 
pressure to all component parties, including police, CPS, court staff, and cause 
particular strain upon victims. The Durham & Cleveland Local Criminal Justice 
Partnership (LCJP), who provide oversight of criminal justice in the Durham area, are 
pleased to note that Durham are faring well in comparison to other LCJP areas. 
However, in recognition of the impact that this has on community safety and justice 
perceptions and confidence, they remain cautious and vigilant and thus continue to 
work proactive locally as well as linking in with the National Criminal Justice Board. 
 
The Serious Violence Duty will require local authorities, the police, fire and rescue 

authorities, specified criminal justice agencies and health authorities to work together 

to formulate an evidence based analysis of the problems associated with serious 

violence in a local area, and then produce and implement a strategy detailing how 

they will respond to those particular issues. 

 

Page 91



11 
  

It is set to be introduced as part of a new Bill early in 2021 and that the Duty will 
come into force no sooner than 2022. Once the Bill is published online there will be 
wider communication, including to colleagues across Government.  
 
Alongside the Bill, statutory guidance is being developed, in collaboration with 
representatives of the sectors which will be subject to the Duty. Draft guidance will 
be published before Committee stage of the Bill to ensure further understanding of 
how the Duty will work in practice. There will also be a Government consultation on 
the draft guidance which will be published before the Duty is commenced in 2022 
which will enable stakeholders to feed into the guidance and share good practice. 

Consultation  
Extensive public consultation on the Vision identified housing as a key consideration 

for local people. The selective licensing initiative, as part of a wider strategic 

approach outlined in the County Durham Housing Strategy, supports the aims of the 

Safe Durham Partnership Plan 2020-2025 and the Safe Durham Partnership’s vision 

that Durham is a county where every adult and child will feel and be safe. 

 

Placing Selective Licensing within the remit of the Safe Durham Partnership 

recognises the potential positive impacts for both tenants and landlords in 

problematic areas, including better quality and safer property standards, fewer empty 

properties, reduced levels of homelessness and safer, more pleasant areas to live 

due to lower levels of crime, littering and other anti-social activity. 

 

Other areas included the need to 'accept' and to value diversity and the Safe 

Durham Partnership will take the lead on actively taking steps to encourage 

community cohesion to support more resilient and cohesive communities. The 

consultation also supported a greater emphasis on road safety which is included in 

this plan. 

 

Tackling alcohol and substance misuse reduction has been identified as one of the 

priorities of this plan which support vision consultation feedback in relation to tackling 

alcohol misuse. 

 

Following consultation in 2020 for the Safe Durham Partnership Plan 2020-25 there 

was strong support for the priorities within the Plan. There were 72 responses to the 

consultation and over four in five people agreed with the Safe Durham Partnership 

Plan. Comments included:   

 

“We strongly agree with the Safe Durham Partnership Plan and it 

complements many other Strategic Partnership Plans as well as the County 

Durham Vision.” 

 

“Feeling safe is what binds communities and makes it a good place to live” 

 

Page 92



12 
  

The draft Safe Durham Partnership Plan 2021-25 was again subject to public 

consultation via the Durham County Council website and included the Area Action 

Partnerships, voluntary and community service and the Youth Council.  

Page 93



13 
  

Our Vision  
The Safe Durham Partnership’s vision is underpinned by the strategic assessment 
and is: 
 

‘Durham is a county where every adult and child will feel and be safe’ 

Our Strategic Priorities  
The Safe Durham Partnership has six strategic priorities which set out what we will 
focus on to make Durham a county where every adult and child will feel and be safe. 
These priorities are: 
 

 Promote being safe and feeling safe in your community  

Being and feeling safe both in our homes and within the wider community impacts on 
both our emotional and physical wellbeing. It also directly impacts on our personal 
resilience as well as impacting overall on a community’s resilience, confidence and 
cohesion. 
 

 Support victims and protect vulnerable people from harm 

For the vast majority of victims, the experience is new and completely unexpected. 

Many of them are vulnerable and some have mental health problems. It’s essential 

that appropriate support is available to help them cope and recover from their ordeal. 

 

People can be vulnerable for all sorts of reasons including learning or physical 
disabilities, mental health, alcohol and substance misuse, age or discrimination. 
Vulnerable people are of increased risk of being targeted by predatorial perpetrators 
of crime and being groomed in order to be exploited sexually, criminally or 
financially. 
 

 Prevent Strategy: Countering Terrorism, Radicalisation and Violent 

Extremism 

Becoming radicalised can happen to anyone anywhere for numerous reasons, such 

as a traumatic event, prejudice or a skewed ideology. No matter the reason there 

may be warning signs that can help identify those people that may be at risk. If we 

can refer these individuals early enough into suitable interventions and support, we 

may be able to prevent devastating life changing incidents from occurring. 

 

 Reduce reoffending 

Prevention and early intervention initiatives can have an impact on diverting 

individuals away from offending in the first place. Targeted and desistance-based 

interventions are also required to rehabilitate individuals effectively and reduce 

reoffending. The Criminal Justice System needs to be effective in turning lives 

around and stopping people reoffending through support rather than punishment.  

 

This will help reduce crime, reduce the number of victims and make our communities 

safer. Where those people who are harmed by crime or conflict choose to, then a 

restorative approach can bring the harmed and the harmer together in a number of 

Page 94



14 
  

ways, enabling everyone affected by the incident to play a part in repairing the 

damage and finding a positive way forward. 

 

 Alcohol and substance misuse reduction 

Alcohol and substance misuse have strong links to both offending and vulnerability in 
acquisitive crimes to further fund the addiction such as shop lifting and burglary to 
the impacts on reducing inhibitions and changing the behaviours of individuals which 
may lead to domestic and sexual abuse and night time economy violence. 
 

 Tackle and prevent cyber enabled crime  

Cybercrime continues to rise in scale and complexity, impacting on a greater number 

of victims, affecting essential services, businesses and private individuals alike. 

However less complex means are also very successful such as phishing for personal 

information using bogus information. 

 

It is costing the UK billions of pounds, causes untold damage, and threatens national 

security. According to the National Crime Agency home-grown cyber criminals are 

becoming more sophisticated and therefore a rising threat. Although young criminals 

are often driven by peer kudos rather than financial reward, organised UK 

cybercrime groups are motivated by profit. 

 
For each strategic priority we will firstly explain why it is a priority by interpreting the 
appropriate data sets and trends. We will then look at why this is important by 
understanding the impact it has on the area and the lives of those affected. A case 
study is also provided to give an example of how working together effectively we can 
make a real difference for people living within County Durham. 
  

Alignment with other key strategic plans  

Protecting vulnerable children and adults is a key priority for the Safe Durham 
Partnership; and it is important that there are close links with the Safe Durham 
Partnership and the statutory Durham Safeguarding Children Partnership and the 
Safeguarding Adults Board. 
 
The Safe Durham Partnership Plan has been developed in close collaboration with 
the Police, Crime and Victims’ Commissioner’s office, drawing on a clear body of 
evidence and understanding of the needs of communities in County Durham. The 
priorities which each plan sets are therefore aligned, and the partners work closely to 
ensure they are delivered to meet the needs of our local communities. Please refer 
to Appendix 1 to see how the Safe Durham Partnership Plan aligns to other plans. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 95



15 
  

Strategic priority 1: Promote being safe and feeling safe in your 

community 
Areas of work included under this priority are: 

 Antisocial behaviour 

 Arson and Deliberate Fires 

 Safer Homes 

 Road Safety 

 Hate crime and community tension 
 

Evidence base  

 On average there are around 51,000 crimes per year reported in County 

Durham. 

 The monthly crime rate averages at 8 crimes per 1,000, this dropped to 

between 6 and 7 crimes per 1,000 during April and June 2020. 

 The crime rate historically is 97 crimes per 1,000 (2018/19 & 2019/20, 

excludes ASB), in the 12 months to September 2020 this dropped to 93 per 

1,000.  

 There are on average 7,000 ASB incidents per quarter in County Durham 

(Council and Police ASB data). During the first 6 months of 2020/21 this 

increased to an average of 8,700. 

 ASB (2018/19 & 2019/20) rates in County Durham historically is 53 per 1,000 

(Council and Police ASB data). In the 12 months to September 2020 this 

increased to 58 per 1,000. 

 During 2019/20 the fire service attended 243 house fires and delivered 16,360 

home safety visits. In the first six months of 2020/21, 119 house fire were 

attended, and 1,742 home safety visits carried out. 

 In 2019/20, across CDDFRS area, 50% of all primary fires were deliberate 

and 89% of all secondary fires were deliberate. 

 In the East coast area that the Arson Suppression Group are focusing on 

(Wheatley Hill, Peterlee, Easington, Horden etc), over the last 5 years in this 

area, car fires alone account for 47% of deliberate primary fires and loose 

refuse alone accounts for 53% of deliberate secondary fires. 

 In 2019/20, County Durham Fire and Rescue Service had the third highest 

rate of deliberate secondary fires per 100,000 population, the two highest 

rates are in our neighbouring Services in Tyne and Wear and Cleveland 

showing this is a regional issue and not just County Durham. 

 In 2019/20 County Durham Fire and Rescue Service had the highest rate of 

deliberate primary fires per 100,000 population, with Tyne and Wear and 

Cleveland in second and third place respectively, again demonstrating this is 

a regional issue. 

 Public confidence is in line with the Most Similar Groups (MSG) average. 

 54% of respondents to the National Crime Survey think Council & Police are 

dealing with crime issues that matter to the local area. 

 Hate crime incidents increased locally by almost 27% between 2016-17 and 

2019-20.  259 incidents were recorded in the first six months of 2020-21, the 

highest number of incidents in the first six months of any year since 2016/17.    

Page 96



16 
  

 Hate crimes have been increasing locally over the past few years, in 2019-20 

there had been a 127% increase compared to 2016-17.  437 crimes were 

recorded in the first six months of 2020-21, a 27% increase compared to the 

first six months of 2019-20 and a 144% increase compared to the first six 

months of 2016-17. 

 

Why is it important? 

County Durham remains one of the safest places to live, work and visit in the 
country, and partners are committed to ensuring that local people feel safe and are 
safe in communities with low crime rates which are more cohesive and resilient. With 
regards to Covid-19, partners are aware of these issues and to understanding the 
complexities of the societal changes that have accompanied the national emergency. 
This is an ongoing and evolving picture with agencies also adapting their service 
delivery to meet demand and public expectation. 
 
Whilst incidents of anti-social behaviour continue to be managed this is an area 
which can have a significant impact on our communities and individuals and County 
Durham remains higher than the national average. Problem solving approaches and 
partnership working remains key to addressing anti-social behaviour and a more 
place-based approach linking in with other areas of partnership work is being 
considered moving forward. 
 
Hate Crime is an area subject to under reporting where the key challenge is to 
ensure that victims are confident to report, and that once reported, the hate element 
is recognised so that support and safeguarding can be provided. The number of both 
Hate incidents and Hate crimes have increased steadily over the last few years. It is 
difficult to attribute the increase to any one single factor and is more likely to be a 
result of a combination of increased confidence in reporting, an increase in the actual 
number of incidents, and changes to crime recording standards relating to certain 
harassment incidents now being classed as crimes. 
 
Resilient and cohesive communities are more likely to engage with services and 
report crime and anti-social behaviour. In order to achieve this there are range of 
tools and powers available to partner organisations to tackle anti-social behaviour.   
However our real strength in communities lies in the recognition of place based 
community assets and seeking to mobilise these in order to support each other, 
listening to the individuals within those communities in order to improve a sense of 
belonging and purpose so that people are safe and free from the fear of crime. 
 
Identifying vulnerable people within our communities and ensuring they receive the 
support needed to prevent them becoming either victims of crime or becoming 
exploited can only be done by working together through schemes such as Safer 
Homes or the Rough Sleepers and the Night Shelter winter nights work. 
 
The Safer Homes scheme run in partnership with County Durham and Darlington 
Fire and Rescue Service and Durham Constabulary offers free fire safety advice and 
free smoke alarms where required.  Referrals can also be made under the scheme 
for free crime prevention advice via the police.  Referrals to health specialists are 
also available for a range of health and wellbeing issues if required. 

Page 97



17 
  

During the Covid-19 pandemic Community Risk Officers have continued to visit the 
very high-risk clients to ensure that the most vulnerable people in our communities 
get the support they need. 
 
A safe, strong and prosperous community is also a cohesive one.  It is important that 
people have a sense of belonging and feel proud about where they live. It is also 
important to understand the impact which tensions and conflict may have on our 
local communities. The implementation of the Community Cohesion Toolkit will 
ensure that issues around community tensions are identified sooner to ensure a 
partnership response and avoid escalation. The Area Action Partnerships (AAPs) will 
have a key role to play, feeding in issues around community tensions and 
implementing schemes that will help form a more cohesive community. 
 
Road safety is an issue that cuts across local councils, emergency services and 
health. Incidents can have a devastating far reaching and long-term impact on those 
involved and their families. Having a road network that encourages sustainable travel 
and road users that are safe is a priority of the council and its strategic partners. This 
is achieved through a targeted partnership approach to address those key road user 
groups over-represented in casualty statistics and those individuals or groups who 
engage in risk taking behaviours. 
 

As a result of the Covid-19 pandemic, our ability to meet residents face-to-face has 

been diminished, we have developed a number of education tools to assist in road 

safety delivery. This is supported by publicity campaigns aimed at encouraging safe 

and sustainable road use, particularly on the school journey.  

Page 98



18 
  

Case Study – GRT (Gypsy, Roma, Traveller) Communities 

 
Gypsies, Roma and Travellers have a long-established history as part of our 

community in County Durham. We have a duty to encourage race equality, eliminate 

discrimination and foster good relations. 

 

A large unauthorised encampment arrived in the county during the early summer. A 

resident in the locality reported this to the local authority. During the conversation the 

complainant become very angry and made a threat to damage the caravans 

belonging to the families and threatened to set fire to them.  

 

The Gypsy Roma Traveller Services (GRTS) team was informed immediately about 

the comment made who then contacted Durham Constabulary to follow up the 

report. 

 

Key partners and Durham County Council Health and Safety were contacted to 

make them aware of the incident and advised they should assess potential risk in 

respect of any contact/visits to the area and the DCC Equality and Diversity team to 

make them aware of the incident. 

 

Durham Constabulary visited the complainant and issued a verbal warning about his 

conduct. It was explained that his behaviour was totally unacceptable and further 

incidents could lead to him being convicted of a racially aggravated offence. 

 

A tension monitoring form was completed and then discussed at the local multi-

agency problem solving meeting to make partners aware of the situation. 

 

In order to help reduce further tensions in the community further interventions were 

arranged to help educate and inform residents about Gypsy, Roma, Traveller 

communities such as the Holocaust Memorial Day event and Community Safety 

Roadshows as well as plans to set up a community forum. This forum brings 

together members of the GRT communities with key members of the community and 

officials to ensure that these issues are less likely to happen in the future.

Page 99



 

19 
  

Strategic 
Priority 1 

Promote being safe and feeling safe in your community  

Work 
areas 

Anti-Social behaviour (ASB) Arson and Deliberate Fires Safer Homes 
 

Road Safety Hate Crime and 
Community Tension 

Core 
Deliverables  

 Work with partners in order to be more efficient 
and effective in combatting the following: 

o Fly tipping 
o Derelict/ abandoned properties 
o Horses 
o Noise 
o Nuisance Motorcycles/Quads 
o Other statutory nuisances  

 Improve public confidence in the Police and 
Council for tackling crime and ASB 

 Communicate successes in order to build 
confident communities 

 Clear use of a partner problem solving approach 
to improve the delivery of agile interventions 
utilising the Local Multi-agency Problem Solving 
(LMAPS) process 

 Collaboration with Area Action Partnerships and 
the Voluntary and Community Sector in tackling 
long term anti-social behaviour in high impact 
areas 

 Consideration of a place-based approach for 
ASB and potentially other areas of partnership 
work 

 Develop a partnership action plan to tackling 
nuisance motorcycles and quads 

 Continue to work with Believe Housing to 
prevent eviction and explore opportunities to 
work with other housing providers in same way 

 Work with Jigsaw to provide supported housing 
for rough sleepers with complex needs 

 Implement the Safe to Stay initiative where 
rough sleepers can access accommodation 
immediately and a housing pathway is 
developed for them 

 A rough sleeper team will provide support for all 
rough sleepers from immediate emergency 
accommodation through to more longer-term 
accommodation 

 Improve public confidence in the Police, Fire and 
Council for tackling Arson and deliberate fires by 
working with partners to adopt a ‘Public Health 
Approach’ which advocates a ‘Whole System Multi-
Agency Approach’ to Arson and deliberate fires. 

 Prevent Arson and deliberate fires by addressing the 
underlying issues using the ‘Public Health Approach’. 
This will identify the common risk factors driving Arson 
and deliberate fires, and the protective factors 
preventing them. It will facilitate identification of these 
factors and implementation of interventions across all 
levels of the ecological framework; Children & Early 
Years, Family, Young People, Education & School 
Based, Community, Offender Specific. 

 Implement and deliver the response to Arson and 
deliberate fires within each thematic against the four 
components of the Government’s Serious Organised 
Crime Strategy Prevent, Protect, Prepare, Pursue. 

 Address community issues relating to Arson and 
deliberate fires to build a place based approach that 
seeks to create networks to support people to improve 
their lives and community based projects to change 
the status quo around Arsons and deliberate fires 
being acceptable or the norm.  

 Improve the response to Arson and deliberate fires 
under the offender specific theme by focusing on 
those most at risk of offending and those identified as 
being involved in Arson and deliberate fires, including 
use of powers under the Anti-Social Behaviour Crime 
Policing Act 2014. 

 Co-ordinate processes and procedures to identify and 
support Children, Early Years & Families to achieve 
their full potential including diversion, activities and 
education, improving outcomes for young people and 
families. 

 Creation of the ‘Arson Suppression Group’ who will 
adopt a ‘Whole System Multi Agency Approach’ that 
will generate an overall action plan with short and 
long-term outcomes. 

 Deliver a range of 
interventions to improve 
private sector housing 
and living standards 

 Introduce wide-scale 
licensing of private 
landlords 

 Work with identified 
residential licensed 
premises to support 
them to review their 
annual risk assessment 
to ensure that safety 
control measures are 
maintained in good 
condition 

 Provide annual 
assurance to SDP 
around fire safety 
issues including safe 
and wellbeing visits 

 Ensure referrals for 
target hardening 
properties for a specific 
need i.e. domestic 
violence, harassment, 
self-neglect, hoarding 
for those most 
vulnerable 

 Fire safety awareness 
training delivered to 
partners 

 

 Focus on delivering 
schemes to address 
those road user 
groups that are 
overrepresented in 
casualty statistics 

 Undertake an 
annual review of all 
reported injury 
collisions to 
establish those road 
user groups or risk-
taking behaviours 
that contribute to 
casualties in the 
county 

 Task the County 
Durham and 
Darlington Casualty 
Reduction Forum 
with producing and 
publishing an 
annual delivery plan 
to support the road 
safety strategy 

 Provide annual 
assurance to SDP 
around road safety 
issues including 
reporting of 
performance, 
delivery of 
campaigns and 
local safety 
schemes 

 Understand and reduce the 
true level of hate crimes and 
incidents 

 Increase reporting of hate 
incidents through the Hate 
Hurts Campaign 

 Develop a multi-agency 
communications strategy, 
demonstrating a cross-
organisation and cross-
sector approach, including a 
message that there should 
be zero-tolerance of hate 
crime. This to be aimed at 
all sections of society 

 Review of reporting 
mechanisms and pathways 

 Review how organisations 
share intelligence 

 Review of the use of 
evidence to ensure effective 
prosecutions 

 Map the support for victims 
and identify gaps in 
effective support 

 Understand the issue of 
incitement in relation to 
‘disability hate crime’, and 
the common connections 
between ‘disability hate 
crime’ and ‘crimes against 
disabled people’ through 
joint working with the Joint 
Hate Crime Action Group 
and the Law Commission 

 

Delivery plan 
mechanism 

Anti-Social Behaviour Strategy (in 
development) 
 

Multi-Agency Arson Reduction Strategy 2021-2024 
Arson Suppression Group 4P Action plan 

County Durham and Darlington 
Fire and rescue Service 
Community Risk Management 
Plan and Community Safety 
Strategy 

County Durham and 
Darlington Road 
Safety Strategy 2020 

Joint Hate Crime Action 
Plan 

P
age 100



    

20 
  

Strategic Priority 2: Support victims and protect vulnerable people 

from harm 
Areas of work included under this priority are: 

 Domestic Abuse and Sexual Violence 

 Organised Crime and County Lines 

 Victims 
 

Evidence base  

 Violence and sexual offences are the most reported crimes locally, at a rate of             

40.7 per 1,000 (July 2018 – Jun 2019) which is similar to the North East but 

higher than England.  

 There were almost 1,500 rape and sexual offences in County Durham in 

2019/20, at a rate of 2.7 per 1,000.  During the first three months of 2020/21 

rape and sexual offences decreased but have since returned to average 

levels. However, between July and September 2020 rape increased to above 

average levels particularly in August. 

 There were over 11,000 domestic abuse related crimes recorded in County 

Durham (2019/20) which is equivalent to 21 crimes for every 1,000 people.  

For the first two quarters of 2020/21, 7,900 domestic abuse related crimes 

have been recorded. 

 There were 6,982 referrals to Harbour in 2019/20, compared to 5,140 in 

2018/19 a rise of 38%. Referrals continue to rise with the six refuges across 

the North East constantly at full capacity. 

 3,213 victims of crime took up the offer of help from (Victims Care and Advice 

Service 2019/20).  During the first six months of 2020/21, 217 victims have 

taken up the offer of support. 

 The National Crime Agency states nationally that 69% of County Lines Drugs 

supply related to Crack and Heroin. (December 2018). 

 The National Crime Agency reports that there were 2000 individual drug deal 

line numbers in the UK and half of these can be branded as County Lines. 

(December 2018). 

 The National Crime Agency concluded that 91% of individuals recorded 

nationally associated with County Lines offending were male, however they 

believe that the number of females as both offenders and victims of 

exploitation were underrepresented. (December 2018). 

 

Why is it important? 

Being a victim of crime can have devastating consequences for both the individual 
and those closest to them.  This can include entry into a criminal justice process 
which can be confusing and frightening as well as intrusive.  It is important that we 
ensure appropriate and timely support is available to all victims at each stage of the 
process to ensure they are able to cope and recover from the experience.  During 
the recent Covid-19 pandemic this support has been essential and commissioned 
services have continued to offer support either in line with restrictions regarding face 

Page 101



    

21 
  

to face meetings or extending remote provision through video enabled technology or 
telephone contact. 
 
Domestic abuse and sexual violence are hidden crimes that are significantly 
unreported. This violence and abuse have a major and long-lasting impact on 
victims, witnesses, children and young people, whole families and the wider 
community. Most victims of domestic abuse and sexual violence are women and 
girls, but men and boys can also be victims. 
 
Durham Constabulary expects to see an increase in demand from domestic abuse 
incidents as improvements are made in identifying victims and increasing confidence 
amongst victims to report abuse. The harm of domestic abuse to the victim is 
substantial and is often linked to complicating factors such as alcohol, drugs and 
mental health.  
 
Children are affected by Domestic Abuse in their households. Actions focus on the 
long-term impact and risks associated with children and young people who are 
affected by domestic abuse and information sharing across agencies. Sexual 
offences against children remains an area of concern, specifically in relation to 
contact offences which are largely committed by persons known to the child and 
often within the family unit. 
 
We aim to significantly reduce the number of repeat victims and serial perpetrators of 
domestic abuse through early intervention and ensuring that more hidden victims are 
identified and offered support. 
 
County lines facilitates the purchase of illicit drugs by drug users in smaller towns 
and rural areas and requires exploitation of the vulnerable, including children and 
those with mental health or addiction problems, at all points of their drug supply 
routes. Albeit relatively rarely, UK investigations have encountered children from 
what people might perceive to be more stable or more affluent backgrounds who 
have been groomed for county lines dealing. 
 
A small number of County Lines have been identified in the Durham Constabulary 
area. There has been an effective (pursue) response using proactive measures to 
gather evidence and prosecute those involved, closing down the lines involved.  
  
However, it is recognised that there is an emerging crack cocaine market developing 
in the force area and effective partnership working (prepare and protect) is required 
to prevent further county lines activity being imported into the area and to ensure an 
effective safeguarding response if further lines take hold. This is being developed by 
the Constabulary working with all relevant agencies through the Child Exploitation 
Group. 
 
We are working with Durham Safeguarding Children Partnership to raise awareness 
with staff and partners of what criminal exploitation and county lines is, what to look 
for and where to report concerns and intelligence.  
 
 

Page 102



    

22 
  

We are also working with the Safeguarding Adults Board to raise awareness of 
modern slavery.  Durham County Council has developed a Modern Slavery Charter 
which focusses upon three key aims; prevention, protection and partnership working. 
Making sure the appropriate agencies disrupt the organised criminal gangs involved 
in this activity effectively and ensuring partners understand the nature of this harm to 
enable practitioners to recognise its signs and respond appropriately so that potential 
victims get the support and help that they need.

Page 103



    

23 
  

Case Study 1 – Victims Care and Advice Service  

Mrs D was a victim of robbery at knifepoint and at her place of work. Following the 
crime, she was terrified at even the thought of returning to work, she also felt scared, 
anxious and nervous when at home and during times when she needed to leave her 
home to carry out simple tasks like shopping. This was all in addition to the anxiety 
and isolation already being experienced due to Covid-19 restrictions. 
 
Following a referral to the Victim Care and Advice Service and in step with Covid-19 

regulations a Victim Care Officer was able to conduct safe garden visits with Mrs D 

at her home and was also able to go on socially distanced walks with her in order to 

carry out a needs assessment, develop a recovery plan and put the required support 

in place. This included support to Mrs D regarding the subsequent Criminal Justice 

proceedings as the offender had been identified. 

 

Despite the Covid-19 restrictions Mrs D was able to access the support she required 

to help her cope and recover;  she was able to return to work, she felt safer both 

inside and when leaving her home, and was also  fully supported and well informed 

throughout the criminal justice process linked with the  prosecution of the individual 

who had offended against her. 

 

Case Study 2 – Community Peer Mentors 

M, a 25 years old woman called County Durham Together Community Hub. She was 

feeling very low and upset, had ongoing legal issues after suffering from harassment 

for a number of years from her ex-partner. She needed help as she didn’t 

understand the letters or information she was being given and didn’t feel supported 

by the legal profession. She was taking anti-depressants to cope. The police and 

solicitors were involved in dealing with the case however she was very confused and 

didn’t understand correspondence she was receiving from police. Her medication 

was making her feel unwell and she felt unsupported. 

 

M agreed to allow these issues to be discussed with her GP and was happy to be 

referred to other organisations for further support. It was identified that M required 

further support with regards to her mental wellbeing and medication and referrals to 

Wellbeing for Life, Citizens Advice Bureau (CAB) and to Community Peer support 

mentor programme were made. 

 

M was grateful for support from the hub and recognised that she had other issues 

and that they were happy for future support. Community Peer Support mentor made 

contact with M and immediately built up a rapport and provided support and practical 

advice. A Social prescribing link worker also contacted M and made an appointment 

to review her mediation. She was also contacted by CAB to discuss legal support. 

 

M was thrilled by all the support she received, she stated that this has really helped 

her feelings of isolation and feeling that no one cares. Her mental wellbeing has 

improved greatly and having support from Community Peer Support mentors 

ensured that she didn’t feel socially isolated. 

Page 104



    

24 
  

Strategic 
Priority 2 

Support victims and protect vulnerable people from harm  

Work Areas Domestic Abuse and Sexual Violence 
 

Organised Crime; County lines 
 

Victims 

Core 
Deliverables  

 Ensure that all agencies have a good understanding of the 
impact of domestic abuse with a specific focus on coercive and 
controlling behaviour  

 To continue to further develop a suite of sustainable 
intervention providers to ensure a consistent approach to work 
with perpetrators 

 Continue to monitor and meet standards in respect of risk and 
needs assessment to ensure the needs of people affected by 
domestic abuse and sexual violence are met 

 To educate children and young people on the importance of 
respectful and healthy relationships in order to prevent future 
offending or victimisation 

 Ensure that all Operation Encompass notifications are 
processed within timescales and appropriately responded to by 
education settings 

 To continue to support and promote appropriate campaigns in 
relation to domestic abuse and sexual violence 

 Maintain strong links between Domestic Abuse Sexual 
Violence Executive Group and the Durham Safeguarding 
Children partnership to ensure issues requiring multi-agency 
and individual partner response are identified and addressed 

 Review commissioned contracts across the whole domestic 
abuse system including progressive pooled budget 
arrangements if appropriate 

 Review and implement all aspects of the Domestic Abuse Bill 
2021 with a specific focus on the new statutory duty relating to 
Safe Accommodation 

 Work with the Durham 
Safeguarding Children 
Partnership to raise 
awareness with staff and 
partners of what is county 
lines, what to look for and 
where to report concerns and 
intelligence 

 Work with Durham 
Safeguarding to raise 
awareness and explain the 
nature of this harm, enable 
practitioners to recognise its 
signs and respond 
appropriately so that potential 
victims get the support and 
help they need 

 Appropriate agencies to work 
together to disrupt the 
organised criminal gangs 
involved in this activity 
effectively 
 

 Provide co-ordinated end to end 
care and support for victims and 
ensure effective pathways and 
timely support are in place   

 Deliver positive outcomes for 
victims and witnesses 

 Enable the victim’s voice to be 
heard throughout the criminal 
justice system processes 

 All young people who become a 
victim or witness are offered 
appropriate support 

 Ensure relevant information is 
available to all victims and 
witnesses in relation to all 
aspects of their experience  

 Ensure group discussion and 
action planning is focused, 
targeted and results in tangible 
outcomes for victims and 
witnesses 

Delivery 
plan 
mechanism 
 

Domestic Violence and Sexual Abuse Group (DASVEG) 
Action Plan  

Operation Sentinel Action Plan 
Durham Safeguarding Children 
Partnership Strategy 
Child Exploitation Group 
Action Plan 

County Durham and Darlington 
Victims and Witnesses Group 
Delivery Plan 
Reducing Re-offending Strategy 

P
age 105



    

25 
  

Strategic Priority 3: Prevent Strategy: Countering terrorism, 

radicalisation and violent extremism  
Areas of work included under this priority are: 

 Preventing people being drawn into terrorism 

 Support the work to strengthen our protection against terrorist attacks and 
mitigate the impact of such an attack 

 

Evidence base  

 The UK threat level for International Terrorism changed to Substantial which 

means an Attack is Likely in February 2021 from Severe, which means an 

attack is Highly Likely. 

 The threat level reached Critical – the highest level, where an Attack is 

Expected Imminently on two occasions during 2017, a year during which there 

were five terrorist attacks resulting in 36 deaths and hundreds of injuries.  

 

National statistics 

 There were 215 arrests for terrorism-related activity in the 12 months to 
September 2020, 48 fewer than the number in the previous 12-month period 
(a fall of 18%). Of the 215 arrests: 

o 62 (29%) resulted in a charge, of which 55 were for terrorism-related 
offences. 

o 84 (39%) persons were released pending further investigation  
o 41 people (19%) were released without charge. 
o 20 (9%) faced alternative action, for example receiving a caution or 

recalled to prison.  
o 8 (4%) cases were awaiting an outcome to be assigned at the time of 

data provision. 
 

Why is it important? 

The Counter Terrorism and Security Act 2015 placed Prevent on a statutory footing 

and requires all specified authorities to have “due regard to the need to prevent 

people from being drawn into terrorism”. Local Authorities and their partners 

therefore have a core role to play in countering terrorism at a local level and helping 

to safeguard individuals at risk of radicalisation.  The Counter Terrorism Strategy 

(CONTEST) 2018 confirms that the threat to the UK comes from Islamist terrorists 

while extreme right-wing terrorism is described as a growing threat.  

 

Counter Terrorism Strategy 2018 has the following objectives: 

 Pursue - To stop terrorist attacks (the remit of the police and security 

services) 

 Prevent - To stop people becoming or supporting violent extremists 

 Prepare - Where we cannot stop an attack, to mitigate its impact 

 Protect - To strengthen our overall protection against terrorist attacks 

 

 

Page 106



    

26 
  

It has been recognised that people are spending more and more time online due to 

the restrictions caused by Covid-19. This has increased the access by extremist and 

radical groups to our most vulnerable in society and provided a new narrative that 

can be exploited to further their ideals and agenda. 

 

It is recognised that mental health plays a key part in exploitation, taking advantage 

when people are at their most vulnerable. Loneliness, community cohesion and 

poverty have a significant effect on mental health, therefore working closely with 

support services and care workers, ensuring they have the necessary training and 

access to resources is key to identifying any concerns at an early stage, thus 

preventing further harm. 

 

Prevent awareness is a key strategic objective of the local contest delivery plan. 

Through the Safe Durham Partnership and Safer Darlington Partnership, the Silver 

Contest Group’s plan has now been updated to incorporate activities across partners 

to ensure training is aligned to the Counter Terrorism Local Profile but also to ensure 

we understand strategic delivery. 

 

The Channel Programme is a key part of the Prevent strategy. There is a 

requirement for local authorities and others to provide support for people who are 

vulnerable to being drawn into terrorism, before they commit an offence. This 

process aims to provide support to individuals at an early stage and help protect 

them from radicalisation. 

  

Page 107



    

27 
  

Case Study – Channel  
 

D was a 16-year-old boy referred to Prevent.  

 

He suffered from severe childhood trauma, living in Local Authority care, had used 

drugs, was regularly missing from home and excluded from College. 

 

D had repeatedly expressed a hatred towards Muslims and racially abused Asian 

people which had resulted in him being dismissed from the Army Cadets.  

  

After referral to Prevent his case was accepted onto the Channel multi-agency 

(safeguarding) panel and a bespoke multi-agency support package was provided 

including a Home Office Intervention Provider and Counselling Services. It was 

established that D had aspirations to join the Armed Forces and had been due to 

enrol at Military College. As a result of D’s willingness to engage, the Armed Forces 

Prevent Lead was invited to take part in Channel.  

  

The positive engagement resulted in D being supported to attain GCSE level 

qualifications and to follow the employment path D chose. There has been 

continuing support for his family with his Mother giving credit to Prevent for ‘changing 

her son’s life’ and offering to speak with other parents in a similar position. Both D 

and his family have also agreed to promote their positive experience with Prevent 

and Channel which will be used as a best practise case study for training and future 

engagement purposes.  

  

D’s Social Worker commented that ‘…The multi-agency working and information 

sharing was outstanding … This good practice example demonstrates how 

education and intervention can really have a longstanding, positive impact and 

change someone’s life for the better’. 

 

Page 108



    

28 
  

Strategic Priority 3 Prevent Strategy: Countering terrorism, radicalisation and violent extremism  
 

Work Areas Prevent people being drawn into terrorism 
 

Support the work to strengthen our protection 
against terrorist attacks and mitigate the impact 
of such an attack 
 

Core Deliverables   Utilise the Prevent Duty Toolkit to assess Prevent 
against statutory requirements and best practice 
delivery 

 Deliver a wide range of PREVENT awareness 
raising to staff of specified authorities and the 
childcare sector to ensure they know how to 
recognise when someone is vulnerable to being 
drawn into terrorism and understand how to refer 
them for support and intervention 

 Work in partnership to understand and respond to 
levels of intolerance and extremism that can raise 
community tensions  

 Promote the use of the adult/child referral 
pathways and ensure all staff know how to make a 
Prevent referral 

 Transition the Channel intervention and support 
programme to Durham County Council and put in 
place protocols for implementation as required by 
operation Dovetail 

 Implement the Channel Duty guidance 
 

 Identify the threat and vulnerability from 
terrorism and extremism relating to terrorism in 
County Durham 

 Raise awareness of the importance of reporting 
suspicious incidents among professionals and 
the community 

 Collaborate with the Local Resilience Forum 
and County Durham Safety Advisory Group on 
issues of Prevent, Protect and Prepare  

 Raise awareness of how to protect crowded 
places from, and respond to, a terrorist attack  

 

Delivery plan 
mechanism 

County Durham and Darlington Silver Contest Delivery Action Plan 

P
age 109



    

29 
  

Strategic Priority 4: Reduce Reoffending 

Areas of work included under this priority are: 

 Prevent offending and inter-generational offending 

 Prevent reoffending 
 

Evidence base  

 The rate of first-time entrants into the Youth Justice System has been 
decreasing and shows a downward trend in County Durham, with 213 
entrants into the Youth Justice System per 100,000 10-17 population (Oct 18 
– Sept 19) 

 In County Durham 3 in 10 adult offenders re-offend. This rises to almost half 
for children and young people.  

 The reoffending rate in County Durham is 30% (Jan 18 – Dec 18), higher than 
the national average (28%).  

 In County Durham there are an average of 4.7 offences per offender, above 
the national average of 4.01. 

 The reoffending rate for children and young people in County Durham is 39%, 
higher than the national average of 38%. 

 The level of detected crime for offenders in the Integrated Offender 
Management cohort has fallen over the last 12 months to 44%, this is lowest 
rate seen since June 2018/19.  

 The rate of successful completions as a proportion of all Criminal Justice 
clients in drug and alcohol treatment has been increasing in County Durham 
since Q4 2018-19. During Q1 2020-21 County Durham had a success rate of 
12.5%, although this figure seems small, this is the highest rate seen in 
County Durham. 

 Nearly 1,000 referrals were made into Checkpoint in 2019/20. Between April 
and June 2020, the number of referrals fell but have since returned to average 
levels. 

 In the 12 months to June 2020 the compliance rate for Checkpoint has 
remained above 70%. 

 Between April 2015 to September 2020, the Stronger Families Programme 
worked with 2,355 families who were identified as being involved in ASB or 
Crime. 49.1% of families achieved a successful intervention. 

 Between 2015/16 and 2018/19 pre-caution disposals fell by 41%. 
 

Why is it important?  

In order to prevent crime and stop people who have offended from committing further 
crimes, partners need to work together to implement effective measures to ensure 
adults and young people who offend are challenged and supported to desist from 
crime. Durham and Darlington’s reducing reoffending group focuses its work on 
youth offending, early intervention, volume offender management and enabling 
desistance pathway support (the reasons why people offend). 
 
Prevention and early intervention initiatives can have an impact on diverting 
individuals away from the criminal justice system.   Our youth justice service has 
reduced the number of first-time entrants to the system significantly by offering 
rehabilitative support and restorative interventions to prevent further offending and 

Page 110



    

30 
  

support victims of the crimes committed.  This allows for a greater focus on those 
young people causing the most harm in our communities and those repeat young 
people who offend.  
 
Desistance-based interventions are also required to rehabilitate individuals 
effectively and reduce reoffending. The Criminal Justice System needs to be 
effective both in terms of punishing those people who offend and stopping people 
reoffending through rehabilitation rather than punishment if appropriate. Evidence-
based diversionary schemes like Checkpoint are known to be effective in improving 
reoffending by addressing the underlying causes of offending (such as employment, 
drugs, alcohol, mental health, accommodation) and diverting them away from the 
Criminal Justice System. 
 
Challenges remain in relation to a coordinated approach to securing desistance 
pathway support, but we have been successful in securing a joint approach to 
housing needs and support as well as commissioning a specific pathway through 
substance misuse provision for those who offend. Effective offender management 
relies heavily upon all partner resources to provide critical pathways to steer people 
away from future offending. Targeted interventions are required for specific cohorts 
such as offender management, domestic abuse perpetrators, prison-based 
interventions. 
 
The Local Criminal Justice Partnership (LCJP)) is aligned to the Safe Durham 
Partnership and is committed to delivering an end-to-end system for rehabilitating 
offenders and reducing reoffending. This ensures the police, youth offending 
services, Crown Prosecution Service, Courts, Community Rehabilitation Company, 
National Probation Service and Prisons, work together with those partners 
responsible for providing the services which help to prevent people offending, 
including Public Health, Housing, Employment and Mental Health services work 
together so that people can get access to the support that they need. The 
Effectiveness and Efficiency group now has an additional responsibility of providing 
oversight of the LCJP recovery work in order to manage criminal justice demand 
system in light of Covid-19 and improve outcomes for victims and offenders. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 111



    

31 
  

Case Study 1 - Restorative Justice  
 

An incident of criminal damage occurred, where H kicked open a front door of a 
family’s home. This led to the children fearing being in the home and unable to sleep 
properly – the whole family needed to know why it had happened in order to move 
forward. 
 
The police were called and following an investigation H was identified. 

 

The case was referred to the Restorative Hub by the police officer with the 

agreement of all concerned. In a safe and structured face to face meeting H 

explained his actions to the parents who in turn were able to let him know of the 

impact of those actions on them and their children. H was shocked that his behaviour 

had caused such significant harm upon as many people, and especially children.  

 

The parents were better able to understand H and thanked him for his honesty and 

were pleased that he was not being further criminalised. They could then tell the 

children that they had met ‘the man that did it’ and that he was “really sorry”, which 

helped greatly in their recovery. 

 

All agreed that they were pleased to have taken part and that a weight had been 

lifted from their shoulders. The family asked for an update in three months’ time on 

H's behaviour, as only a period of not getting into trouble would be full proof that he 

had learned from this experience. This was agreed and the police confirmed that H 

had been in no further trouble, was doing well in school and was not associating with 

the same peer group. 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 112



    

32 
  

Case Study 2 – Project Beta 

 

C was released from prison in 2019 after serving a period of 5 years in custody. He 

had been institutionalised for most of his adult life within prison and approved 

premises leading to him not having the skills to manage independently in the 

community and in his own tenancy. 

 

At the age of 16 C became reliant on drugs and alcohol which played a part in his 

offending behaviour. C’s family relations broke down due to his offending behaviour, 

reliance on substances and recalls back to custody. On release from custody he was 

completely isolated from any family members or support network. 

 

C was diagnosed with ADHD (attention deficit hyperactivity disorder) as a child, 

which had not been addressed. During his time in custody he was diagnosed with 

personality disorder, memory loss, paranoia but did not have the opportunities to 

access support. 

 

On C’s release, he was directed to Approved Premises where he received weekly 

visits to establish support needs and put a support plan in place. Through these 

visits it was established that he was institutionalised and would not be able to sustain 

a tenancy independently. Supported accommodation referrals were submitted but 

were rejected due to the risk being deemed too high. 

 

A housing provider agreed to meet with C and it was apparent to their staff that C 

has the motivation to make positive changes to his life, but this had to be considered 

alongside the risk he posed to other residents. C was offered a space in semi-

detached, self-contained property where he would be sharing with another resident. 

 

It was identified that support was needed for his drug and alcohol addiction, mental 

health and social isolation which was progressed through regular multi agency 

meetings. C has now been in the community since October 2019 and sustained his 

tenancy with supported accommodation. C has committed no further offences and is 

ready to move into independent accommodation. 

 

C has become a mentor and role model for the other residents and C is now being 

supported to apply for social housing as a move on plan. 

 

 

Page 113



    

33 
  

Strategic 
Priority 4 

Reduce Reoffending 
 

Work Areas Prevent offending and inter-generational offending Prevent reoffending 
 

Core 
Deliverables  

Objectives 

 Identify those at risk of offending and ensure appropriate support is in place to break the cycle of intergenerational offending 

 Implement early intervention strategies with the aim to divert individuals from the Criminal Justice system 

 Implement targeted interventions for those who are repeat offenders 

 Ensure critical pathway evidence informs needs-based solutions using integrated offender management principles 
 
Prevention 

 Building our “Think Family” approach for offenders and their families 

 Aligning criminal justice interventions with children and family support initiatives to maintain links with children and families of offenders 
 
Early Intervention 

 Supporting young people to intervene as early as possible to educate and divert young people from crime 

 Encouraging appropriate use of diversion for adults such as first-time offenders 
 
Targeted Intervention 

 Ensuring those offenders posing highest risk to the community are within scope of Integrated Offender Management (IOM) arrangements 

 Increasing effective community orders and alternatives to short term custodial sentences 

 Promote the safe transition and effective integration into communities from prison 

 Ensure restorative approaches are used when working with people who offend 

 Develop a whole system approach for females who offend 
 

Effective Pathways  

 Working in partnership to improve referrals and services which address the pathways to enable effective intervention throughout the 
criminal justice process (priorities in accommodation, drugs, alcohol, mental health) 

 Understand where gaps in service provision are, across the whole system, and working in partnership to fill them 

Delivery 
plan 
mechanism 

Reducing Reoffending Strategy 

P
age 114



    

34 
  

Strategic Priority 5: Alcohol and substance misuse reduction 
Areas of work included under this priority are: 

 Prevention and early intervention 

 Providing specialist interventions to promote recovery  

 Protecting children and vulnerable adults at risk 

 Strengthening leadership, management and governance 
 

Evidence base  

 There are around 2,800 opiate and crack users (OCUs) in County Durham. 

The rate is statistically significantly lower than the North East but not 

significantly different to England. 

 Unmet need for OCUs (estimate of the proportion OCUs not currently in 

treatment) for OCUs is lower in County Durham than England, but for crack 

users alone, it is higher.  

 Drug related incidents increased by 32% between 2015/16 and 2019/20. In 

the first quarter of 2020/21 incidents have continued to increase and stand at 

3.4% down slightly from Q1 2020/21 (4.1%). 

 Between 2016/17 and 2019/20 the number of alcohol related ASB reduced by 

3.5% but have increased to over 18% in the first six months of 2020/21. 

 Between 2018/19 and 2019/20 Alcohol related violent crime increased almost 

4% and violence against the person offences which are alcohol related have 

also increased to 5.5%. 

 Historically, around 27% of all violent crime in County Durham is alcohol 

related.  However, over 2019/20 and the first six months of 2020/21 we have 

seen alcohol related violent crime increase to over 30%. 

 Drug poisoning related death rates fell by 12.7% compared to 2018, they are 

still statistically significantly higher in County Durham (10.6 per 100,000) than 

England (7.1), but lower than the North East (13.1). 

 Drug misuse related death rates fell by 32.5% compared to 2018, they are still 

statistically significantly higher in County Durham (7.4 per 100,000) than 

England (4.7), but lower than the North East (9.1). 

 

Why is it important? 

Although alcohol consumption per adult (aged over 15 years) has been declining 
since 2004, those that do drink are drinking at an increasing risk. Consumption 
habits have changed throughout the last two decades with twice as much alcohol 
now being sold from off-sales compared to the on-trade. Reasons for risks 
associated with alcohol include pre-loading and cheap alcohol sales, density of 
drinking establishments, high risk licensed premises and vertical drinking premises 
as well as changes in consumption habits. 
 
Although alcohol related incidents such as public order, criminal damage or violence 
have been fluctuating since they peaked in July 2018, they still present a significant 
demand on resources. 
 

Page 115



    

35 
  

Alcohol is noted as a factor in many incidents of domestic abuse, sexual violence 
and child exploitation. The use of alcohol is also a significant factor in why children 
suffer from neglect or harm. Alcohol misuse causes harm to people’s health 
including their mental health and can impact on the ability of individuals to access or 
sustain employment. 
 
Drug dependency continues to be a significant driver of acquisitive crime, causing a 
high demand on resources. There has also been an increase in vulnerable child and 
vulnerable adult incidents which are drug related. Drug related violence against the 
person accounted for a significant portion of all drug related crime and drug offences 
have increased when compared with 2017/18. Crime and drug trafficking offences 
have increased significantly for the same period.  
 
Drug misuse is a serious issue not only to the health and wellbeing of the individual 
that is affected by it, but that of their families and the wider community. The levels of 
substance misuse related deaths continue to rise on a national basis, with a 
significant number being attributed to prescription medication, cocaine and alcohol 
use. Death rates in County Durham have reduced during 2019/20 (ONS, 2020) to 
the lowest in the NE region. 
 
Tackling drug misuse requires a co-ordinated approach involving a whole range of 
partners. It is not just the responsibility of organisations, however; individuals and the 
wider community all have a role to play in reducing and preventing drug misuse. 
 
Partners will work together to reduce alcohol and drug misuse, campaigning in 
partnership for changes in the law around minimum unit pricing and tackling the 
organised crime groups who supply illegal drugs. Preventing further misuse of drugs 
and alcohol is also an area of focus for the Health and Well Being Board. 
 
Research undertaken during the Covid-19 pandemic has found that consumption of 
alcohol increased across the country during the lockdown restrictions. The Global 
Drug Survey found UK drinkers started drinking earlier in the day, having more 
drinking days and found more evidence of binge drinking. 
 
It is difficult to comment on drug use during Covid-19 , but the heroin market is 
reported to be reasonably stable nationally; although some areas are reporting long 
waiting times and reduced quality. Whilst crack and cocaine purity appear stable in 
the majority of regions. 
 
The rise in mental ill health during the Covid-19 response linked to socio-economic 
factors, job insecurity, debt, bereavement, social isolation and moral injury may also 
have implications for any future rise in levels of substance misuse. 

  

Page 116



    

36 
  

Case Study – Drugs and alcohol 
 

J was referred to the Humankind Drug/Alcohol Service via their Community 
Rehabilitation Company (CRC) Officer, for a court-imposed Alcohol Treatment 
Requirement (ATR) for domestic violence. J had previously worked with the service 
on a number of occasions; however, he always dropped out. He had previously 
spent time in custody for a number of violence-related offences. 
 
J was claiming job seekers allowance and when he got paid, he would binge drink on 
a bottle of vodka daily for 4 - 5 days. Then as his money is depleting, they would buy 
strong cider following that. The only time he didn’t drink was because he had run out 
of money. He also bought cannabis weekly and used street diazepam when he had 
no alcohol as he had difficulty sleeping.  J experienced some withdrawals. During his 
abstinent days, he complained of anxiety, stomach cramps, restlessness and sweats 
and had blacked out whilst drinking. 
  
J had excellent attendance with the service and had commenced on an alcohol 
reduction plan using a drink diary and utilising the resources of an alcohol workbook, 
which offers both visual and textualised content related to the issues that surround 
alcohol abuse. The workbook was sent to J via post, as face to face contact had 
been suspended due to the Covid-19 pandemic.  
 
J was still in a relationship, that at times, can cause him stress and he had previously 
used alcohol as a coping mechanism, however due to the work completed with 
Humankind and his alcohol consumption had reduced dramatically.  
 
J attended two pre-recovery group meetings online via zoom every week for four 
weeks until he had reduced his alcohol and drug consumption to zero. He then 
embarked on a Reducing Alcohol and Drugs (RAD) programme, which, comprised of 
a 12-week community recovery programme for individuals who are no longer 
drinking, or taking substances and worked on gaining skills and knowledge to 
maintain his recovery in the community. 
 

Page 117



    

37 
  

Strategic 
Priority 5 

Alcohol and Substance Misuse Reduction  
 

Work Areas Prevention and early 
intervention 

Providing specialist 
interventions to promote 
recovery 

Protecting children and 
vulnerable adults at risk 
 

Strengthening leadership, 
management and 
governance 

Core 
Deliverables  

 Contribute to the reduction 
of the availability and supply 
of illicit drugs and counterfeit 
alcohol addressing 
community perceptions 

 Increase early identification 
and support for those 
affected by alcohol and 
drugs across the life course 
within a range of settings 
(Making Every Contact 
Count) 

 Improve the quality and 
consistency of information 
and education about alcohol 
and drugs in a variety of 
settings including schools, 
colleges, University, wider 
community and the 
workplace 

 Promote responsible 
management of licensed 
premises through effective 
implementation of the 
Licensing Act 2003 and best 
practice interventions 

 Promote harm reduction 
messages for the 
reduction of alcohol 
intake, promote needle 
exchange activities and 
overdose prevention 
(including naloxone 
provision) within a range 
of settings 

 Ensure that individuals, 
families and wider 
partners have access to 
high quality information 
on support options 
available, with specific 
targeting for marginalised 
groups 

 Provide drug and alcohol 
specialist services to 
provide holistic package 
of care within a range of 
settings 

 Monitor outcomes for 
service delivery via the 
National Drug Treatment 
Monitoring System 
(NDTMS) 
 

 Contribute to the 
effectiveness of safeguarding 
and risk management 
arrangements for children, 
young people and adults 
where substance misuse is a 
factor, including overdose and 
substance misuse related 
death, those at risk of 
domestic abuse and sexual 
exploitation 

 Provide effective interagency 
responses for those 
experiencing severe and 
multiple disadvantage 
substance misuse, offending, 
homelessness, mental health, 
long-term chronic conditions 

 Strengthen an integrated 
approach to providing support 
for children and families 
affected by parental 
substance misuse (cross 
reference with prevention and 
early intervention) utilising a 
Think Family approach 

 Review the Alcohol 
Declaration for Safe 
Durham Partnership 

 Promote information 
sharing across all 
partnership agencies 

 Ensure there are links to 
other strategic plans e.g. 
Tobacco Plan 

 Prioritise the voice of the 
service user to ensure 
the service is effective 

Delivery 
plan 
mechanism 

Alcohol and Drugs Harm Reduction Strategy 

P
age 118



    

38 
  

Strategic Priority 6: Tackle and prevent cyber enabled crime  
Areas of work included under this priority are: 

 Raise awareness of the general population about staying safe online 

 Reduce risk to the most vulnerable groups 

 Build resilience of local businesses to the threat of cyber crime 
 

Evidence base  

 The Cyber Security Breaches Survey 2020 indicates that almost half of 

businesses (46%) and a quarter of charities (26%) report having cyber 

security breaches or attacks in the last 12 months, at an average cost of 

around £3,230.  

 For the year ending June 2020 the Telephone-operated Crime Survey for 

England and Wales (TCSEW) estimated that there were 5.9 million 

cybercrimes, 73% were fraud offences and 27% were related to computer 

misuse.   

 Estimates showed that there were 733,967 fraud offences and 29,138 

computer misuse offences referred to National Fraud Intelligence Bureau in 

the year ending June 2020.   

 Within plastic card frauds, there was a 58% increase in “remote banking” 

fraud which reflects the greater number of people now regularly using internet, 

telephone and mobile banking, and the attempts by fraudsters to take 

advantage of this.  The two highest-volume computer misuse types were 

“Hacking – social media and email” and “computer viruses and malware”. 

 The coronavirus (COVID-19) pandemic is likely to have had differential effects 

on trends in fraud and computer misuse offence, for example Action Fraud 

reported the increase in “online shopping and auctions” fraud could be 

accounted for by the increase in online shopping whilst the decrease in “other 

advance fee” fraud could be attributed to reduction in holiday fraud figures as 

fewer holidays were booked. However, it is too early to say whether this is 

evidence of a change to longer-term patterns. 

 

https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/crimeandjustice/bulletins/cri

meinenglandandwales/yearendingjune2020#computer-misuse 

 

Why is it important? 

Advances in technology and cyber related crime, impacts across virtually all areas of 
policing. It is an enabler of crime, such as fraud, harassment, child sexual abuse and 
exploitation or pure cyber-dependent crime and is also a source of significant 
amounts of data, in both an online and offline context.  
 
There have been increases in cybercrime and fraud due to the Covid-19 pandemic 
as many people are now working from home and using the internet more than ever. 
National reports suggest increases in fraud especially targeting elderly vulnerable 
people (Action Fraud, 2020). There have also been a number of scams directly 
relating to Covid-19 as criminals exploit the vulnerabilities of people living in the 
pandemic. 

Page 119

https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/crimeandjustice/bulletins/crimeinenglandandwales/yearendingjune2020#computer-misuse
https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/crimeandjustice/bulletins/crimeinenglandandwales/yearendingjune2020#computer-misuse


    

39 
  

 
The impact on policing is significant, particularly in terms of maximising capability to 
exploit investigatory opportunities and capture evidence as part of investigations that 
are proving more complex. In relation to fraud offences key concerns are around 
under reporting, particularly in relation to the business sector where there may be a 
reluctance to report crimes due to reputational damage.   
Targeting of individual victims is increasing and particularly among vulnerable 
groups. This has increased dramatically during the Covid-19 pandemic. It is 
important to protect individuals and organisations from becoming victims through 
ensuring our communities have the knowledge and ability to protect themselves 
against cyber-enabled fraud and crime.  Every victim coming to the attention of the 
victim and advice service is offered information with regard to prevention of 
cybercrime and targeted preventative work that is being carried out by both the force 
and the local authority. 
 
The huge growth in technology and digital communications has enhanced society 
and quality of life for everyone. However, it comes with clear risks to homes and 
businesses, as cyber-fraud increases and there are new patterns of criminal activity 
all the time. 
 
The significant risks associated with cybercrime alongside the widely estimated 
understanding that the majority of cyber-attacks are preventable, make good practice 
critically important. 
 
Through the Safer Cyber Working Group, the Safe Durham Partnership will look to 
support and deliver this strategic priority across the partnerships structures and 
community sectors. 
 
Collaboration and partnership working is needed across the county to enhance our 
capability to tackle cybercrime and cyber-enabled crime, which is thought to be 
largely under-reported. This will include programmes to raise awareness and 
educate communities, including the business sector, to protect themselves against 
cyber-enabled crime. 
  

Page 120



    

40 
  

Case Study 1 – Cyber Crime 

 

Thirteen-year-old J was referred to the intervention workshop after hacking into a 

bank account and receiving a caution by the police. 

 

J said: “I like making and breaking stuff and messing around online. “I hacked a bank 

account and the police came to my school. My parents were shocked I suppose.” 

 

Discussions led to J taking part in the pilot North East cyber workshop where he 

worked with other young people in similar situations and was made aware of the 

serious implications of this activity. He was shown how he can enjoy a lucrative and 

legitimate career out of his interest whilst sticking to the right side of cyber law. 

 

J has not been in trouble since this intervention took place. 

 

Case Study 2 – Cyber Crime  
 

A is a 70-year-old man who lives alone. A was contacted by an unknown person who 
said he was from his local bank. A was informed that his bank account had been 
‘hacked’ and he was at risk of losing all his money. He was asked to open his online 
bank account in order that a new and safe account could be opened to transfer his 
funds to. A followed the instructions he was given believing he was keeping his 
money safe. 
 
Later it transpired that A had via his online bank account transferred all his money 
into an account controlled by the fraudulent bank staff member. A considerable 
amount of money had been stolen and the bank were unable to recover that money 
or make a refund. 
 
A was referred to the Victim Care and Advice Service (VCAS), who gave him 
immediate emotional support, and the opportunity to talk about the issues affecting 
him. He felt embarrassed that he been ‘caught out’ so easily, and felt uneasy with 
regard to the fraudster knowing who he was and where he lived as he felt that he 
may be targeted in his own home. Advice and support was given with regard to his 
future online safety and reassurance with regard to his safety at home.  
 
Arrangements were made to carry out a ‘Friends Against Scams’ presentation to A 
and a number of his friends at a local community group. As a consequence of the 
support provided A (and his friends) felt they would be more confident in identifying 
fraudsters both online and through other methods such as the telephone, he felt 
safer at home and less concerned about the embarrassment that he had suffered. 

Page 121



    

41 
  

Strategic Priority 6 Tackle and prevent cyber enabled crime  
 

Work Areas Raise awareness of the general 
population about staying safe 
online 
 

Reduce risk to the most 
vulnerable groups 
 

Build resilience of local 
businesses to the threat of 
cyber crime 
 

Core Deliverables   Deliver awareness raising 
sessions of the risks and 
threats of cybercrime 

 Deliver a general 
understanding about digital 
hygiene through events, 
seminars, marketing and 
communications  

 Increase awareness of those in 
the public, voluntary and 
community sectors about 
protecting clients from 
becoming a victim 

 Increase confidence to report 
incidents of cyber-crime  

 

 Collaborate with other 
partnerships to widely embed 
cyber-crime and exploit 
opportunities for joint working   

 Work with the voluntary and 
community sector to identify 
means of communicating 
cyber safety to those who 
have vulnerabilities (e.g. older 
people) i.e. 

o More secure 
passwords 

o Up to date anti-virus 
software 

 Work with education, youth 
support and other networks 
working with children and 
young people to identify those 
vulnerable to entering or 
remaining in cyber-crime 
activity 

 

 Work with the business 
sector to promote Cyber 
Essentials and programmes 
of support as a means of 
protecting businesses from 
cyber crime 

 Work with the education 
sector to develop 
opportunities for raising 
awareness of cybercrime 
with students 

 Work with the business and 
education sector to provide 
advice on recovery after a 
cyber-attack and encourage 
businesses to develop 
business continuity plans 

 

Delivery plan 
mechanism 

Safer Cyber Working Group Action Plan 

P
age 122



    

42 
  

Enabling factors 
There are a number of enabling factors that are relevant to all actions in this strategy to 
ensure that it is delivered. 
 
Strategic focus 

 Engage in cross cutting activity that enables access to external funding 

 Aligned community priorities to strategic needs 

 Develop innovative and effective interventions 
 

Communication 

 Marketing and Communications takes place in collaboration across all organisations 

 Effective information sharing protocols 

 Promoting success 
 

Performance Management 

 Strong analysis available to inform the local approach  

 Performance framework to enable monitoring against outcomes, targets and delivery 
plan 

 Comprehensive data sharing among partners  

 Robust evaluation/assessment of utilised interventions 
 

Knowledge and skills 

 Upskilling through shared knowledge and expertise 

 Understanding partners roles and priorities 

 Making use of all available tools and powers within the Home Office guidance and 
partner agencies 
 

Partnership working 

 Shared resources 

 Learning from best practice and commitment to replicate across the County and the 
community to be able to respond appropriately 

 Working towards co-commissioning of services where appropriate 

 Collaboration takes place within the public, private and voluntary sector 

 Joint commissioning and pooling budgets where appropriate 
 

Community Engagement 

 Engagement with communities  

 A cohesive and integrated society where there is confidence to report issues 

 Well established community groups willing to work with partners 

 Building resilience and around empowering and enabling communities to feel safer 

 Empowering communities to take actions to help make their own communities safer 

 One of the biggest assets we have are communities and the non-statutory activity 
that already go on within them  

Page 123



    

43 
  

Performance Management Framework 
While this Plan is ultimately owned by the Safe Durham Partnership, it is the subgroups 
which have a role in managing the associated actions, ensuring that they are delivered, as 
well as responding to any emerging trends or changes in crime and disorder patterns. 
 
The Safe Durham Partnership has in place a Performance Management Framework 
structured around the strategic priorities.  In addition to performance measures linked to the 
strategic priorities, the framework includes key indicators of crime for the Safe Durham 
Partnership to monitor activity trends in this area.   
  
Performance management arrangements of the Safe Durham Partnership Plan are 
refreshed on an annual basis and incorporated into the Safe Durham Partnership 
Performance Management Framework.  This ensures responsibility and accountability of 
the strategic actions within the Plan. 
  
In addition, each group which supports the work of the Safe Durham Partnership has a 
specific action plan and performance management framework that directly supports the 
delivery of the Safe Durham Partnership Plan. 
 
Each priority within the strategic plan has a separate S.M.A.R.T. (Specific, measurable, 
achievable, realistic and timed) delivery plan that is owned by a thematic subgroup and 
monitored regularly by the Safe Durham Partnership through the chairs of each subgroup. 
  

Page 124



    

44 
  

Appendix 1: Priorities and links to other partnership strategic plans. 

Safe Durham Partnership priorities and alignment to other Strategic Partnership Plans 
 

Safe Durham 
Partnership  

Children and Young 
People’s Strategy 
2019-22 

Safeguarding 
Adults Board 
Strategic Plan 
2018-21 

Durham 
Safeguarding 
Children Partnership 
Business Plan 2019-
20 

County Durham 
Housing Strategy 
July 2019 

Durham County Council 
Homelessness Strategy 
2019-22 

Promote being safe 
and feeling safe in 
your community 
  

 Prevention and 
early intervention 

 Maintain and 
improve 
standards across 
County Durham’s 
housing stock and 
wider housing 
environment 

 

Support victims and 
protect vulnerable 
people from harm 
 

Protect and support 
those children and young 
people in need of help 
and protection. 

Prevention and 
early intervention 

Reducing Child Sexual 
Exploitation/ Criminal 
Exploitation and  
Neglect 

To provide 
housing advice, 
assistance & 
support for older 
& Vulnerable 
People 

Provide a range of 
support services to 
reduce the risk of 
households becoming 
homeless 

Prevent Strategy: 
Countering Terrorism, 
Radicalisation and 
Violent Extremism 

 Prevention and 
early intervention 

Prevent children and 
young people from 
being drawn into 
terrorism.  

  

Reduce Reoffending 
 

Provide support for 
young people who have 
offended or been victims 
of crime 

    

Alcohol and 
Substance Misuse 
Reduction 
 

Improve health and 
wellbeing outcomes for 
children with a specific 
focus on vulnerable 
children and young 
people (5-24) 

    

Tackle and prevent 
cyber enabled crime 

     

P
age 125



    

45 
  

Safe Durham Partnership priorities and alignment to other Strategic Partnership Plans 

 

Safe Durham Partnership  Durham Police, Crime and 
Victims Plan 2018-21 
 

Cleveland and Durham 
Local Criminal Justice 
Partnership Plan 2018-
21 

Youth Justice Plan 
2019-21 

Joint Health and 
Wellbeing Strategy 2021-
25 

Promote being safe and 
feeling safe in your 
community 
  

Tackle and prevent hate crime 
 
Prevent and tackle anti-social 
behaviour 
 
Improve community safety in rural 
areas 

High public confidence 
in the criminal justice 
system 

 Living Well and Ageing 
Well 

Support victims and 
protect vulnerable people 
from harm 
 

Tackle and prevent domestic 
abuse and sexual violence in all 
their forms  
 
Tackle and prevent fraud 
 
Tackle and prevent modern 
slavery  
 
Ensure that victims are supported 
at all stages of the criminal justice 
system 

Positive outcomes for 
victims and witnesses 

Putting victims, especially 
young victims, and 
Restorative Justice at the 
heart of everything we do 

Starting Well, Living Well 
and Ageing Well 

Prevent Strategy: 
Countering Terrorism, 
Radicalisation and 
Violent Extremism 

Safeguard vulnerable people   Living Well and Ageing 
Well 

Reduce Reoffending 
 

Address the root causes of 
offending and support the 
rehabilitation of people who have 
offended 

Reduce 
intergenerational and 
repeat offending 

Targeting our resources 
on those young people 
committing the most 
offences 

Living Well and Ageing 
Well 

Alcohol and Substance 
Misuse Reduction 
 

Reduce the harm caused by 
alcohol and drugs 
 

  Living Well and Ageing 
Well 

Tackle and prevent cyber 
enabled crime 

Tackle and prevent cyber-enabled 
crime 

  Living Well and Ageing 
Well 

P
age 126



    

46 
  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 127



This page is intentionally left blank



Appendix 3:  Safe Durham Partnership Plan Consultation 
Overview 

 

Safer and Stronger Communities Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee: 
 
The Safer and Stronger Communities Overview and Scrutiny Committee 
noted the content of the SDPP at their meeting on 1 March 2021. The 

Committee supported the plan’s vision and priorities. The following comments 

were made by the committee that led to amendments within the document: 

 Priority 1: 

o Off road motorcycle and quads were a particular issue in relation 

to anti-social behaviour and nuisance throughout the County and 

there was a request that these be mentioned within the plan. 

Action – added a core deliverable to develop a partnership 

action plan to tackling nuisance motorcycles and quads. 

o The committee also proposed that the issue around secondary 

fires should be a separate stand-alone priority and not 

encompassed within anti-social behaviour.  

Action - Following discussion at the SDP Board this 

recommendation was agreed, and a separate work area was 

given to this issue titled Arson and Deliberate Fires with 

underlying actions developed by the Arson Suppression 

Group. 

 

 Priority 3: 

o The wording of the priority was confusing, Prevent: Counter 

terrorism and extremism as it sounded like the aim was to stop 

people countering this issue. 

Action – Changed the wording to Prevent Strategy: 

Countering terrorism and extremism. 

 

 Priority 6: 

o The terminology used within the plan on a page mentioning digital 

hygiene was felt to be unclear and some people may not 

understand its meaning. 

Action: Wording changed to cyber safety and some 

examples added. 

 

Page 129



Public Consultation 
 
There were 55 responses to the public consultation and 76% of respondents 
agreed with the plan overall and 23% neither agreed nor disagreed with the 
plan. Between 81% and 100% of respondents agreed with each of the 
separate six priorities. 
 
The Partnerships Team Leader and the Apprentice Young People’s 
Commissioner presented an animated video (designed by the Apprentice 
Young People’s Commissioner) to the County Durham Youth Council via 
Microsoft Teams plus a question and answer session. This included questions 
and comments relating to extremism, cyber security and reducing re-
offending. The Youth Council were encouraged to respond to the consultation. 
 
There was a marked difference in the age ranges who responded to the 
consultation, with approximately 30% of the respondents being between the 
ages of 11 and 15. This is primarily due to the Microsoft Teams based 
consultation and discussion that took place with the County Durham Youth 
Council who were fully engaged in the consultation process. 
 
General feedback from the consultation included the following: 
 

 The importance of involving residents and the community when making 
decisions. 
o This links in with the approach to wellbeing highlighted within the 

plan. 
 

 Fear of hate crime related abuse was another area of concerned raised 

by a resident. 

o Tackling hate crime and community tensions are work areas key 

areas identified within the plan. The following are examples of key 

deliverable within the plan that will help address this concern: 

 Develop a multi-agency communications strategy, 

demonstrating a cross-organisation and cross-sector 

approach, including a message that there should be zero-

tolerance of hate crime. This to be aimed at all sections of 

society. 

 Increase reporting of hate incidents through the Hate Hurts 

Campaign. 

 

 There were concerns raised about vulnerable people being isolated and 
unable to access services. 
o Supporting victims and protecting vulnerable people is a work 

area within the plan. The following are examples of key 

deliverable within the plan that will help address this concern: 

Page 130



 To provide co-ordinated end to end care and support for 

victims and ensure effective pathways and timely support 

are in place. 

 All young people who become a victim or witness are 

offered appropriate support. 

Page 131



This page is intentionally left blank



 1 

EIA Template October 2015 

 

Durham County Council Equality Impact Assessment 

NB: The Public Sector Equality Duty (Equality Act 2010) requires Durham County 

Council to have ‘due regard’ to the need to eliminate unlawful discrimination, 

harassment and victimisation, advance equality of opportunity and foster good 

relations between people from different groups. Assessing impact on equality and 

recording this is one of the key ways in which we can show due regard. 

Section One: Description and Screening 

Service/Team or Section 
 

Neighbourhoods and Climate Change 

Lead Officer 
 

Andrea Petty, Strategic Manager 

Title 
 

Safe Durham Partnership Plan 2021-25 

MTFP Reference (if 
relevant) 
 

N/A 

Cabinet Date (if relevant) 
 

 

Start Date 
 

11/12/20 

Review Date 
 

 

 

Subject of the Impact Assessment 

Please give a brief description of the policy, proposal or practice as appropriate (a 
copy of the subject can be attached or insert a web-link): 
 

The Safe Durham Partnership Plan 2021-2025 
 
 
The Crime and Disorder Act 1998 placed a statutory duty on local authorities to 
create Partnerships to tackle crime, disorder, anti-social behaviour, substance 
misuse, other behaviour adversely affecting the local environment and to reduce 
re-offending. This is a multi-agency action plan co-ordinated by the Safe Durham 
Partnership 
 
 
Protecting vulnerable children and adults is a key priority for the Safe Durham 
Partnership; and it is important that there are close links with the Safe Durham 
Partnership Board and the statutory Durham Safeguarding Children’s Partnership 
and the Safeguarding Adults Board. 
 
Supporting the County Durham vision, we will protect vulnerable people who are 
often victims of crime. All victims will be offered support to cope and recover from 

Page 133



 2 

EIA Template October 2015 

 

their ordeal at all stages and to engage in the justice system.  We will provide 
support to young offenders and young victims of crime. 
 
Together we want to build safer and stronger communities where people feel able 
to get involved, help themselves and support each other no matter what their 
background. We will work together to tackle crime and anti-social behaviour 
adversely affecting our communities and to address the underlying causes of 
crime and community tensions. We will actively take steps to encourage 
community cohesion and mark specific events which encourage greater 
understanding of each other to promote good relationships. We want to work with 
communities to solve problems together and develop local solutions that will work.  
 
County Durham’s Police, Crime and Victims’ Commissioner is elected by local 
people to represent their views, to set objectives for the Chief Constable in a 
Police and Crime Plan, and to hold them to account for their delivery. The Safe 
Durham Partnership Plan has been developed in close collaboration with the 
Police, Crime and Victims’ office, drawing on a clear body of evidence and 
understanding of the needs of communities in County Durham. The priorities which 
each plan sets are therefore aligned, and the partners work closely to ensure they 
are delivered to meet the needs of our local communities.  
 
The Plan also identifies how the partnership will respond to the impact of national 
policy changes and new and emerging risks, such as the rise in cyber enabled 
crime, countering terrorism at a local level and helping to safeguard individuals at 
risk of radicalisation. 
 
Having a clear plan focuses efforts on the most important issues for our area and 
means that there is a greater opportunity to succeed and make a tangible 
difference to the quality of life of the communities within County Durham. 
 
For those responsible for delivering services, any future work programmes should 
contribute to achieving the objectives set out in this strategy.  The Plan is therefore 
a living document that is designed to be used regularly. 
 
The 6 Strategic Objectives and underlying priorities are as below:- 
 
 

1. Promote being safe and feeling safe in your community 
 
• Anti-Social Behaviour 
 
• Safer Homes 
 
• Road Safety 
 
• Hate Crime and Community Tension 
 
  

2. Support victims and protect vulnerable people from harm 
 

Page 134



 3 

EIA Template October 2015 

 

• Domestic Abuse and Sexual Violence 
 
• Organised Crime; County lines 
 
• Victims 
 
 

3. Prevent Strategy; Countering Terrorism, Radicalisation and Violent 
Extremism 

 
• Prevent people being drawn into terrorism 
 
• Support the work to strengthen our protection against terrorist attacks and 
mitigate the impact of such an attack 
 
 

4. Reduce Re-offending 
 
• Prevent offending and inter-generational offending 
 
• Prevent reoffending 
 
 

5. Alcohol and Substance Misuse Reduction 
 
• Prevention and early intervention 
 
• Providing specialist interventions to promote recovery  
 
• Protecting children and vulnerable adults at risk 
 
• Strengthening leadership, management and governance 
 
 

6. Tackle and prevent cyber enabled crime 
 
• Raise awareness of the general population about staying safe online 
 
• Reduce risk to the most vulnerable groups 
 
• Build resilience of local businesses of the threat of cyber crime 
 

 

Who are the main stakeholders? (e.g. general public, staff, members, specific 
clients/service users): 
 

General public / Elected Members / Partners 
Community individuals and groups (including voluntary organisations) – community 
safety can affect everybody including local residents, those working, educated in or 

Page 135



 4 

EIA Template October 2015 

 

visiting the borough, and businesses. The risk and potential risk for victimisation, or 
becoming involved in offending, can vary by crime problem (i.e. burglary, violent 
crime), location, socio-economic status, age, gender, ethnicity, sexual orientation and 
disability for example.  

 
 
 
 

Screening 

Is there any actual or potential negative or positive impact on the following 
protected characteristics? 
 

Protected Characteristic Negative Impact 
Indicate: Y = Yes, 
N = No, ? = unsure 
 

Positive Impact 
Indicate: Y = Yes, 
N = No, ? = unsure 
 

Age 
 

N Y 

Disability 
 

N Y 

Marriage and civil partnership  
(workplace only) 

N N 

Pregnancy and maternity 
 

N N 

Race (ethnicity) 
 

N Y 

Religion or Belief 
 

N Y 

Sex (gender) 
 

N Y 

Sexual orientation 
 

N Y 

Transgender 
 

N Y 

 

Please provide brief details of any potential to cause adverse impact. Record full 
details and analysis in the following section of this assessment. 
 

The Partnership Plan is the statutory strategy for reducing crime and disorder, 
reducing the harm caused by substance misuse, reducing anti-social behaviour 
and other behaviour adversely affecting the environment and reduce re-offending.  
It therefore does not have any potential to cause negative impact. 
 

 

How will this policy/proposal/practice promote our commitment to our legal 
responsibilities under the public sector equality duty to: 

 eliminate discrimination, harassment and victimisation,  

Page 136



 5 

EIA Template October 2015 

 

 advance equality of opportunity, and  

 foster good relations between people from different groups? 
 

The Partnership Plan is a statutory requirement under the Crime and Disorder 
(Formulation and Implementation of Strategy) Regulations (amended) 2011.  The 
Safe Durham Partnership is required to make arrangements for obtaining the 
views of persons and bodies who live or work in the area about the levels and 
patterns of crime and disorder and substance misuse in the area; and the matters 
which should be prioritised for the area.  So far as is reasonable, the Safe Durham 
Partnership must consult with persons who appear to represent the interests of as 
many different groups or persons within the area as is reasonable; and persons 
who appear to the strategy group to represent the interests of 
those groups or persons within the area likely to be particularly affected by the 
implementation of the partnership plan. 
 
 
 

 

Evidence 

What evidence do you have to support your findings?  
Please outline your data sets and/or proposed evidence sources, highlight any 
gaps and say whether or not you propose to carry out consultation. Record greater 
detail and analysis in the following section of this assessment. 
 

 
•   National statistics, research and best practice 
•   Joint strategic needs assessment (JSNA) 
•   Durham Insight 2019 
•   Consultation undertaken with Area Action Partnerships (AAPs) during 2019 
•   Consultation with Safer, Stronger Communities Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee in 2019 
•   The Police, Crime and Victims' Plan 2018-2021 
•   Durham Constabulary Strategic Assessment 2019  
•   Youth Justice Plan 2017/19 
•   https://www.durham-pcc.gov.uk/Document-Library/Performance-reports/2018-
19-Quarter-1.pdf  
•   CTLP (Counter Terrorism Local Profile) 2019/20 
•   Alcohol Harm Reduction Strategy 2015-2020  

•   County Durham Drug Strategy 2014 - 2017 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 137

https://www.durham-pcc.gov.uk/Document-Library/Performance-reports/2018-19-Quarter-1.pdf
https://www.durham-pcc.gov.uk/Document-Library/Performance-reports/2018-19-Quarter-1.pdf


 6 

EIA Template October 2015 

 

Screening Summary 

On the basis of this screening is there: 
 

Confirm which 
refers (Y/N) 

Evidence of actual or potential impact on some/all of the protected 
characteristics which will proceed to full assessment? 
 

Y 

No evidence of actual or potential impact on some/all of the 
protected characteristics? 
 

N 

 

Sign Off 

Lead officer sign off: Andrea Petty, Strategic Manager 
Partnerships 

February 2021 

Service equality representative sign off: Mary Gallagher, 
Equality and Diversity Team Leader 

 
February 2021 

 

If carrying out a full assessment please proceed to section two. 

If not proceeding to full assessment please return completed screenings to your 

service equality representative and forward a copy to equalities@durham.gov.uk 

If you are unsure of potential impact please contact the corporate research and 

equalities team for further advice at equalities@durham.gov.uk 

 

Page 138

mailto:equalities@durham.gov.uk
mailto:equalities@durham.gov.uk


 7 

EIA Template October 2015 

 

Section Two: Data analysis and assessment of impact 

Please provide details on impacts for people with different protected characteristics 

relevant to your screening findings. You need to decide if there is or likely to be a 

differential impact for some. Highlight the positives e.g. benefits for certain groups, 

advancing equality, as well as the negatives e.g. barriers for and/or exclusion of 

particular groups. Record the evidence you have used to support or explain your 

conclusions. Devise and record mitigating actions where necessary. 

Protected Characteristic: Age 

What is the actual or 
potential impact on 
stakeholders? 

Record of evidence to support 
or explain your conclusions 
on impact. 

What further action 
or mitigation is 
required? 

This plan will have a positive 
impact for young people.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

CD YOS Youth Justice Plan 
2017/19  
 
Since 2007/08, the number of 
young people entering the 
criminal justice system has 
reduced by 89.4%. 
 
Since 2010/11 the number of 
young people committing 
offences has reduced by 
69.2%, and the number of 
offences has reduced by 
56.6%. The number of young 
people re-offending and the 
number of offences they 
commit have also reduced. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Communicate 
successes in order 
to build confident 
communities 
 
Clear use of a 
partner problem 
solving approach to 
improve the 
delivery of agile 
interventions 
utilising the Local 
Multi-agency 
Problem Solving 
(LMAPS) process. 
 
Collaboration with 
Area Action 
Partnerships and 
the Voluntary and 
Community Sector 
in tackling long 
term anti-social 
behaviour 
 
Identify those at 
risk of offending 
and ensure 
appropriate support 
is in place to break 
the cycle of 
intergenerational 
offending 
 
Implement early 
intervention 

Page 139



 8 

EIA Template October 2015 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

strategies with the 
aim to divert 
individuals from the 
Criminal Justice 
system and 
promote positive 
outcomes for 
victims 
 
Ensure critical 
pathway evidence 
informs needs-
based solutions 
using integrated 
offender 
management 
principles 
Effective Pathways 
 
Building our “Think 
Family” approach 
for offenders and 
their families 
 
Using and 
improving 
pathways to enable 
effective 
intervention 
throughout the 
criminal justice 
process including 
integrated offender 
management 
  
Understanding 
where gaps in 
service provision 
are, across the 
whole system, and 
working in 
partnership to fill 
them 
 
Develop an 
improved 
understanding of 
the needs profile of 
females who offend 
 

Page 140



 9 

EIA Template October 2015 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
Supporting the 
development and 
use of the 
Restorative Justice 
Hub 
 
Ensuring 
restorative 
approaches are 
used when working 
with people who 
offend 
 
Embedding the 
work of the RJ Hub 
among partner 
agencies 
 
Engaging with 
volunteers where 
appropriate and 
developing their 
skills  
 
Developing and 
promoting victim 
involvement within 
restorative practice
  
Use and 
completion of 
sentences / orders 
 
Using full range of 
diversion and 
sentencing powers 
/ orders by courts 
 
Rehabilitative and 
safe use of custody 
/ prison 
 
Raising awareness 
of the links 
between re-
offending and 
sentencing 
 

Page 141



 10 

EIA Template October 2015 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Prevent young people being 
drawn into County Lines 
exploitation. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Durham Constabulary 
Strategic Assessment 2019 
 
County Lines 
MoRiLE score is 42, ranked 
25th. 
Key Threats and Information 
Gaps: County Lines footprint 
is not fully understood, known 
criminality includes use of 
violence to intimidate drug 
users. Potential violence 
involving existing 
dealers/OCGs. Knowledge of 
vulnerable persons linked to 
County Lines not fully 
understood. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Ensuring those 
offenders posing 
highest risk to the 
community are 
within scope of 
IOM arrangements 
 
Working in 
partnership to 
deliver range of 
desistance 
provision for 
offenders and 
families 
 
Work with the 
Durham 
Safeguarding 
Children 
Partnership to raise 
awareness with 
staff and partners 
of what is county 
lines, what to look 
for and where to 
report concerns 
and intelligence 
 
 
Appropriate 
agencies to disrupt 
the organised 
criminal gangs 
involved in this 
activity effectively 
 
To raise 
awareness and 
explain the nature 
of this harm to 
enable 
practitioners to 
recognise its signs 
and respond 
appropriately so 
that potential 
victims get the 
support and help 
they need 
 

Page 142



 11 

EIA Template October 2015 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Prevent young people being 
drawn into radical 
extremism and committing 
acts of terrorism. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
CTLP (Counter terrorism 
Local Profile). Restricted 
document there only a 
general statement used 
below. 
 
A majority of the people 
referred to the Prevent Team 
were males under the age of 
18. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Shared resources 
across all specified 
authorities 
 
Upskilling through 
shared knowledge 
and expertise 
 
Making use of all 
available resources 
within the Home 
Office and partner 
agencies (i.e. 
Criminal 
Exploitation of 
children and 
vulnerable adults: 
County Lines 
guidance 2018, 
Serious Violence 
Strategy April 
2018) 
 
Identify the threat 
and vulnerability 
from terrorism and 
extremism relating 
to terrorism in 
County Durham 
 
Raise awareness 
of the importance 
of reporting 
suspicious 
incidents among 
professionals and 
the community 
 
Collaborate with 
the Local 
Resilience Forum 
and County 
Durham Safety 
Advisory Group on 
issues of Prevent, 
Protect and 
Prepare  
 
Raise awareness 
of how to protect 

Page 143



 12 

EIA Template October 2015 

 

 
 
 
 
Prevent young people being 
drawn into committing acts 
of cyber enabled crime and 
being exploited both 
criminally and sexually. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
Durham Constabulary 
Strategic Assessment 2019 
 
Child Sexual Abuse and 
Exploitation (CSAE) 
MoRiLE scores and ranks: 
CSAE Online model 75, 
ranked 15th; CSAE Lone 
offenders 72, ranked 16th; 
CSAE Group offenders 72, 
ranked 17th. 
Key Threats: Online offences 
against children remain a 
threat in force area – also 
raised in Cybercrime section. 
Concern that risk may be 
downplayed if online offences 
are viewed as less harmful. 
Contact CSAE offences 
largely committed by persons 
known to the child, particularly 
within the family unit, continue 
to pose high risk. Peer 
exploitation continues to be 
area of concern, young 
offenders of CSAE continue 
to pose a risk. Capacity often 
results in prioritisation of high 
risk cases being addressed 
by police and partners. 
Key Trends: an emergence 
over time in male victims of 
CSAE has been seen through 
crime recording and Health 
partners. Online model 
offences are a growth area, 
with many contact offences 
also containing an online 
element. 
Key Risks: Increased 
forecasted demand in relation 
to sexual offences against 
children. Group offending – 
potential for multiple victims 
and offenders to be 
uncovered. Online Child 

crowded places 
from, and respond 
to, a terrorist attack 
 
Deliver awareness 
raising sessions of 
the risks and 
threats of 
cybercrime 
 
Deliver a general 
understanding 
about digital 
hygiene through 
events, seminars, 
marketing and 
communications  
 
Increase 
awareness of those 
in the public, 
voluntary and 
community sectors 
about protecting 
clients from 
becoming a victim 
 
Increase 
confidence to 
report incidents of 
cyber-crime 
 
Collaborate with 
other partnerships 
to widely embed 
cyber-crime and 
exploit 
opportunities for 
joint working   
 
Work with the 
voluntary and 
community sector 
to identify means of 
communicating 
digital hygiene to 
those who have 
particular 
vulnerabilities (e.g. 
older people) 

Page 144



 13 

EIA Template October 2015 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Abuse Activist Groups activity 
considered to be low in force 
area but this is not tested. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
Work with 
education, youth 
support and other 
networks working 
with children and 
young people to 
identify those 
vulnerable to 
entering or 
remaining in cyber-
crime activity 
 
Work with the 
education sector to 
develop 
opportunities for 
raising awareness 
of cybercrime with 
students 
 
Contribute to the 
effectiveness of 
safeguarding and 
risk management 
arrangements for 
children, young 
people and adults 
where substance 
misuse is a factor, 
including overdose 
and substance 
misuse related 
death, those at risk 
of domestic abuse 
and sexual 
exploitation. 
 
Provide effective 
interagency 
responses for 
those experiencing 
severe and multiple 
disadvantage 
substance misuse, 
offending, 
homelessness, 
mental health, 
long-term chronic 
conditions 

Page 145



 14 

EIA Template October 2015 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Safeguard young people 
from the direct and indirect 
effects of drugs and alcohol. 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Alcohol Harm Reduction 
Strategy 2015-2020 
 
The rate of alcohol specific 
hospital admissions for under-
18s has reduced over time 
by 45.9% from 129.0 per 
100,000 population in 
2006/07-2008/09 to 69.9 per 
100,000 population in 
2010/11-2012/13. This 
equates to 185 less young 
people admitted to hospital in 
the most recent three year 
period. Although the rate for 
under-18 hospital admissions 
in County Durham remains 
significantly higher than the 
rest of England (40.1 per 
100,000) the gap has 
narrowed. Out of the 12 local 
authorities in the North 
East County Durham has the 
6th highest rate of under-18 
hospital admissions. 
 
An estimated 19,000 alcohol-
related sexual assaults occur 
each year in England and 
Wales. Many of those 
committing sexual assaults 
have consumed alcohol prior 
to the incident and in some 
cases are alcohol dependent. 
Furthermore, many victims of 

 
Strengthen an 
integrated 
approach to 
providing support 
for children and 
families affected by 
parental substance 
misuse (cross 
reference with 
prevention and 
early intervention) 
utilising a Think 
Family approach 
 
Contribute to the 
effectiveness of 
safeguarding and 
risk management 
arrangements for 
children, young 
people and adults 
where substance 
misuse is a factor, 
including overdose 
and substance 
misuse related 
death, those at risk 
of domestic abuse 
and sexual 
exploitation. 
 
Provide effective 
interagency 
responses for 
those experiencing 
severe and multiple 
disadvantage 
substance misuse, 
offending, 
homelessness, 
mental health, 
long-term chronic 
conditions 
 
Strengthen an 
integrated 
approach to 
providing support 
for children and 

Page 146



 15 

EIA Template October 2015 

 

sexual assault have been 
drinking prior to the event. 
Research suggests that, in 
night-life settings, rapists 
specifically target intoxicated 
young women due to their 
vulnerable state. (Faculty of 
Public Health, 2005). 
 
Men and young people (18-34 
years) are more likely to be 
profiled as increasing/high 
risk drinkers (Balance, 2013). 
Consultation undertaken 
locally with men 25-44 
concluded that this population 
are not concerned about their 
level of drinking 
(Explain, 2014). 
 
Young people are more likely 
to experience poor outcomes 
due to their own alcohol 
consumption than any other 
age group. Under-18 alcohol 
specific admission rates are 
significantly higher in County 
Durham than England. The 
rates are the 18th worst in the 
Country (LAPE, 2014). Rates 
have been falling over time in 
County Durham, the North 
East and England. 
Proportionally this decrease 
has been greater in County 
Durham (37%) than the North 
East (35%) and England 
(34%). 
 
County Durham Drug 
Strategy 2014 - 2017 
 
During 2012/13, 151 referrals 
were made to Young People 
Substance Misuse service 
for an intervention relating to 
their primary substance 
misuse. This equated to 57% 
of all referrals received by the 
service during 2012/13, 

families affected by 
parental substance 
misuse (cross 
reference with 
prevention and 
early intervention) 
utilising a Think 
Family approach 

Page 147



 16 

EIA Template October 2015 

 

compared with 43% for 
primary problematic alcohol 
use. 
 
Durham Insight Substance 
misuse fact sheet. 
 
In 2015/16, around 1 in 12 
(8.4 per cent) adults aged 16 
to 59 had taken an illicit drug 
in the last year. This equates 
to around 2.7 million people. 
This level of drug use was 
similar to the 2014/15 survey 
(8.6 per cent), but is 
significantly lower than a 
decade ago (10.5 per cent in 
the 2005/06 survey). In 2014, 
15 per cent of pupils had ever 
taken drugs, 10 per cent had 
taken drugs in the last year 
and 6 per cent had taken 
drugs in the last month. The 
prevalence of drug use 
increased with age. 6 per cent 
of 11 year olds said they had 
tried drugs at least once, 
compared with 24 per cent of 
15 year olds. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 

Page 148



 17 

EIA Template October 2015 

 

Protected Characteristic: Disability 

What is the actual or 
potential impact on 
stakeholders? 

Explain your conclusion considering 
relevant evidence and consultation 

What further 
action or 
mitigation is 
required? 

This plan will have a 
positive impact in 
relation to disabled 
people, particularly 
tackling hate crime. 
 
The plan will ensure 
that victims are 
confident to report, 
and that once 
reported, the hate 
element is recognised 
so that support and 
safeguarding can be 
provided. 
 
 
 

Hate Crime is an area of focus within 
the Police Crime and Victims’ Plan 
and a Joint Hate Crime Action Group, 
chaired by the PCVCs office, is a 
multi-agency group that drives 
improvements in engagement, 
enforcement and partnership working 
to reduce the impact of hate crime in 
our area. 
 
Figures provided by the Durham 
Constabulary Community Cohesion 
Unit. 
Over the last 3 years hate crime has 
risen from 452 incidents and 456 
crime to 520 incidents and 854 
crimes. 
 
As can be seen in the figures below 
there (Latest information available). 
There is a significant difference within 
Durham proportionately compared to 
the over national picture for the 
number of Hate Crimes relating to 
disability. 
 

 
 

Understand and 
reduce the true 
level of hate 
crimes and 
incidents in 
relation to 
disability. 
 
Increase reporting 
of hate incidents 
 
Develop a multi-
agency 
communications 
strategy, 
demonstrating a 
cross-
organisation and 
cross-sector 
approach, 
including a 
message that 
there should be 
zero-tolerance of 
hate crime. This 
to be aimed at all 
sections of 
society. 
 
Review of 
reporting 
mechanisms and 
pathways 
 
Review how 
organisations 
shared 
intelligence 
 
Review of the use 
of evidence to 
ensure effective 
prosecutions 
 

Page 149



 18 

EIA Template October 2015 

 

 

Map the support 
for victims and 
identify gaps in 
effective support 

 

Protected Characteristic: Marriage and civil partnership  (workplace only) 

What is the actual or 
potential impact on 
stakeholders? 

Explain your conclusion 
considering relevant evidence 
and consultation 

What further action 
or mitigation is 
required? 

N/A   

 

Protected Characteristic: Pregnancy and maternity 

What is the actual or 
potential impact on 
stakeholders? 

Explain your conclusion 
considering relevant evidence 
and consultation 

What further action 
or mitigation is 
required? 

 
None 
 
 

  

 

Protected Characteristic: Race (ethnicity) 

What is the actual or 
potential impact on 
stakeholders? 

Explain your conclusion 
considering relevant evidence and 
consultation 

What further 
action or 
mitigation is 
required? 

This plan will have a 
positive impact in 
relation to ethnicity, 
especially in relation to 
reporting and recording 
of Hate Crime.  
To ensure that victims 
are confident to report, 
and that once reported, 
the hate element is 
recognised so that 
support and 
safeguarding can be 
provided. 

Hate Crime is an area of focus 
within the Police Crime and Victims’ 
Plan and a Joint Hate Crime Action 
Group, chaired by the PCVCs 
office, is a multi-agency group that 
drives improvements in 
engagement, enforcement and 
partnership working to reduce the 
impact of hate crime in our area. 
 
Figures provided by the Durham 
Constabulary Community Cohesion 
Unit. 

Understand and 
reduce the true 
level of hate 
crimes and 
incidents in 
relation to race. 
 
Increase reporting 
of hate incidents 
 
Develop a multi-
agency 
communications 
strategy, 

Page 150



 19 

EIA Template October 2015 

 

Over the last 3 years hate crime 
has risen from 452 incidents and 
456 crime to 520 incidents and 854 
crimes. 
 

 

demonstrating a 
cross-organisation 
and cross-sector 
approach, 
including a 
message that 
there should be 
zero-tolerance of 
hate crime. This 
to be aimed at all 
sections of 
society. 
 
Review of 
reporting 
mechanisms and 
pathways 
 
Review how 
organisations 
shared 
intelligence 
 
Review of the use 
of evidence to 
ensure effective 
prosecutions 
 
Map the support 
for victims and 
identify gaps in 
effective support 

 

Protected Characteristic: Religion or belief 

What is the actual or 
potential impact on 
stakeholders? 

Explain your conclusion 
considering relevant evidence and 
consultation 

What further 
action or 
mitigation is 
required? 

The plan will have a 
positive impact, 
especially in relation to 
victims of Religious 
Hate Crime. 
To ensure that victims 
are confident to report, 
and that once reported, 
the hate element is 
recognised so that 
support and 

Hate Crime is an area of focus 
within the Police Crime and Victims’ 
Plan and a Joint Hate Crime Action 
Group, chaired by the PCVCs 
office, is a multi-agency group that 
drives improvements in 
engagement, enforcement and 
partnership working to reduce the 
impact of hate crime in our area. 
 

Understand and 
reduce the true 
level of hate 
crimes and 
incidents in 
relation to religion. 
 
Increase reporting 
of hate incidents 
 

Page 151



 20 

EIA Template October 2015 

 

safeguarding can be 
provided. 

Figures provided by the Durham 
Constabulary Community Cohesion 
Unit. 
Over the last 3 years hate crime 
has risen from 452 incidents and 
456 crime to 520 incidents and 854 
crimes. 
 

 

Develop a multi-
agency 
communications 
strategy, 
demonstrating a 
cross-organisation 
and cross-sector 
approach, 
including a 
message that 
there should be 
zero-tolerance of 
hate crime. This to 
be aimed at all 
sections of 
society. 
 
Review of 
reporting 
mechanisms and 
pathways 
 
Review how 
organisations 
shared 
intelligence 
 
Review of the use 
of evidence to 
ensure effective 
prosecutions 
 
Map the support 
for victims and 
identify gaps in 
effective support 

 

Protected Characteristic: Sex (gender) 

What is the actual or 
potential impact on 
stakeholders? 

Explain your conclusion 
considering relevant evidence 
and consultation 

What further action 
or mitigation is 
required? 

This will have a positive 
impact for both men and 
women who are victims of 
domestic abuse. 
 
To significantly reduce the 
number of repeat victims 

Durham Constabulary 
Strategic Assessment 2019 
 
MoRiLE score 119, ranked 
4th. 
In the year ending March 
2018, police forces nationally 
recorded a 23% increase in 

Referrals for target 
hardening 
properties for a 
specific need i.e. 
domestic violence, 
harassment, self-
neglect, hoarding. 
 

Page 152



 21 

EIA Template October 2015 

 

and serial perpetrators of 
domestic abuse. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

domestic abuse crimes than 
the previous year, and 76% of 
prosecutions resulted in 
conviction. Between 
November 2017 and 
December 2018 reported 
domestic abuse incidents in 
Durham have increased by 
5.5%, representing just under 
10% of all incidents and 19% 
of overall crime. Referrals are 
on an upward trend, rising by 
9.3%. The domestic abuse - 
crime ratio reached 74% 
October 2018. Analysis 
indicates that the proportion of 
crimes linked to DA referrals, 
increases in line with risk 
assessment, with 75% high 
risk, 66% medium and 35% 
standard. Domestic abuse 
referrals have increased by 
9% on the previous 12 
months. Violence against the 
person offences are the 
majority of repeat DA crimes, 
mainly with violence being 
committed by male 
perpetrators against a regular 
female partner. DA incidents 
involving alcohol and mental 
health continues to increase 
year on year. Alcohol has 
increased to 35%, mental 
health 21% and drugs 
remains static at 3%. The 
impact of cyber within DA 
cases is not yet fully 
understood, but is a 
significant enabling factor 
within DA harassment and 
stalking cases. Victim 
satisfaction in relation to DA is 
included within the 
Satisfaction section. 
Partnerships: The ‘toxic trio’ 
has the potential to increase 
associated risks. DA incidents 
are forecast to increase by 
6% and will continue to do so 

We aim to 
significantly reduce 
the number of 
repeat victims and 
serial perpetrators 
of domestic abuse 
through early 
intervention and 
ensuring that more 
invisible victims are 
identified and 
offered support. 
 
 
Explore the reason 
for repeats 
 
Develop innovative 
and effective 
perpetrator 
interventions 
 
Support the 
specialist service 
with the delivery of 
the ‘follow-up’ 
service for abused 
women 
 
Develop peer to 
peer relationship 
programme in 
conjunction with 
DCC Children’s 
Services. 
 
Monitor and 
evaluate peer to 
peer programme 
on an ongoing 
basis 
 
Implement peer to 
peer relationship 
programme in 
conjunction with 
DCC Children’s 
Services. 
 

Page 153



 22 

EIA Template October 2015 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

until 2023, impacting on 
caseloads within 
Safeguarding, Multi Agency 
Safeguarding Hub and 
Central Referral Unit as 
medium and high risk 
referrals. Multi Agency 
Tasking and Co-ordinating 
(MATAC) will continue to 
December 2020. The Edge of 
Care initiative is used within 
Force to consider the impact 
of multiple exposure to DA 
incidents on children and 
officers are requested to 
consider ‘Through the eyes of 
a child’ within DA incidents. 
636 Encompass alerts (notice 
to schools regarding children 
within households with DA 
incidents) have been issued 
between November 17 and 
October 18. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Work with the 
CCG’s to engage 
with GP’s across 
County Durham 
and Darlington 
Work with Public 
Health to engage 
with Healthy 
Pharmacy 
schemes across 
County Durham 
and Darlington 
 
 
 

 

Page 154



 23 

EIA Template October 2015 

 

Protected Characteristic: Sexual orientation 

What is the actual or 
potential impact on 
stakeholders? 

Explain your conclusion considering 
relevant evidence and consultation 

What further 
action or 
mitigation is 
required? 

This will have a 
positive impact in 
relation to domestic 
abuse and hate crime 
victims. 
 
To significantly reduce 
the number of repeat 
victims and serial 
perpetrators of 
domestic abuse. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Durham Constabulary Strategic 
Assessment 2019 
 
MoRiLE score 119, ranked 4th. 
In the year ending March 2018, police 
forces nationally recorded a 23% 
increase in domestic abuse crimes 
than the previous year, and 76% of 
prosecutions resulted in conviction. 
Between November 2017 and 
December 2018 reported domestic 
abuse incidents in Durham have 
increased by 5.5%, representing just 
under 10% of all incidents and 19% 
of overall crime. Referrals are on an 
upward trend, rising by 9.3%. The 
domestic abuse - crime ratio reached 
74% October 2018. Analysis 
indicates that the proportion of crimes 
linked to DA referrals, increases in 
line with risk assessment, with 75% 
high risk, 66% medium and 35% 
standard. Domestic abuse referrals 
have increased by 9% on the 
previous 12 months. Violence against 
the person offences are the majority 
of repeat DA crimes, mainly with 
violence being committed by male 
perpetrators against a regular female 
partner. DA incidents involving 
alcohol and mental health continues 
to increase year on year. Alcohol has 
increased to 35%, mental health 21% 
and drugs remains static at 3%. The 
impact of cyber within DA cases is 
not yet fully understood, but is a 
significant enabling factor within DA 
harassment and stalking cases. 
Victim satisfaction in relation to DA is 
included within the Satisfaction 
section. 
Partnerships: The ‘toxic trio’ has the 
potential to increase associated risks. 
DA incidents are forecast to increase 
by 6% and will continue to do so until 

Referrals for 
target hardening 
properties for a 
specific need i.e. 
domestic 
violence, 
harassment, self-
neglect, hoarding. 
 
We aim to 
significantly 
reduce the 
number of repeat 
victims and serial 
perpetrators of 
domestic abuse 
through early 
intervention and 
ensuring that 
more invisible 
victims are 
identified and 
offered support. 
 
 
Explore the 
reason for 
repeats 
 
Develop 
innovative and 
effective 
perpetrator 
interventions 
 
Support the 
specialist service 
with the delivery 
of the ‘follow-up’ 
service for 
abused women 
 
Develop peer to 
peer relationship 
programme in 

Page 155



 24 

EIA Template October 2015 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

2023, impacting on caseloads within 
Safeguarding, Multi Agency 
Safeguarding Hub and Central 
Referral Unit as medium and high risk 
referrals. Multi Agency Tasking and 
Co-ordinating (MATAC) will continue 
to December 2020.  
 
 
 
In the financial year 2017/18, there 
were 797 recorded hate crimes which 
represented 1.2% of all recorded 
crime. In the financial year 2018/19, 
there were 822 recorded hate crimes 
which represented 1.26% of all 
recorded crime. This continues the 
trend of increased reporting that has 
been seen over the last four years.  
 
 
Hate Crime is an area of focus within 
the Police Crime and Victims’ Plan 
and a Joint Hate Crime Action Group, 
chaired by the PCVCs office, is a 
multi-agency group that drives 
improvements in engagement, 
enforcement and partnership working 
to reduce the impact of hate crime in 
our area. 
 
Figures provided by the Durham 
Constabulary Community Cohesion 
Unit. 
Over the last 3 years hate crime has 
risen from 452 incidents and 456 
crime to 520 incidents and 854 
crimes. 
 
As can be seen in the figures below 
there (Latest information available). 
There is a significant difference within 
Durham proportionately compared to 
the over national picture for the 
number of Hate Crimes relating to 
sexual orientation. 

conjunction with 
DCC Children’s 
Services. 
 
Monitor and 
evaluate peer to 
peer programme 
on an ongoing 
basis 
 
Understand and 
reduce the true 
level of hate 
crimes and 
incidents in 
relation to sexual 
orientation. 
 
Increase 
reporting of hate 
incidents 
 
Develop a multi-
agency 
communications 
strategy, 
demonstrating a 
cross-
organisation and 
cross-sector 
approach, 
including a 
message that 
there should be 
zero-tolerance of 
hate crime. This 
to be aimed at all 
sections of 
society. 
 
Review of 
reporting 
mechanisms and 
pathways 
 
Review how 
organisations 
shared 
intelligence 
 

Page 156



 25 

EIA Template October 2015 

 

 
 
 
 

 

 

Review of the use 
of evidence to 
ensure effective 
prosecutions 
 
Map the support 
for victims and 
identify gaps in 
effective support 

 

Protected Characteristic: Transgender 

What is the actual or 
potential impact on 
stakeholders? 

Explain your conclusion 
considering relevant evidence and 
consultation 

What further 
action or 
mitigation is 
required? 

This will have a positive 
impact in relation to 
transgender victims of 
hate crime and 
domestic abuse. 
  
To significantly reduce 
the number of repeat 
victims and serial 
perpetrators of domestic 
abuse. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Durham Constabulary Strategic 
Assessment 2019 
 
MoRiLE score 119, ranked 4th. 
In the year ending March 2018, 
police forces nationally recorded a 
23% increase in domestic abuse 
crimes than the previous year, and 
76% of prosecutions resulted in 
conviction. Between November 
2017 and December 2018 reported 
domestic abuse incidents in 
Durham have increased by 5.5%, 
representing just under 10% of all 
incidents and 19% of overall crime. 
Referrals are on an upward trend, 
rising by 9.3%. The domestic abuse 
- crime ratio reached 74% October 
2018. Analysis indicates that the 

Referrals for 
target hardening 
properties for a 
specific need i.e. 
domestic 
violence, 
harassment, self-
neglect, hoarding. 
 
We aim to 
significantly 
reduce the 
number of repeat 
victims and serial 
perpetrators of 
domestic abuse 
through early 
intervention and 
ensuring that 

Page 157



 26 

EIA Template October 2015 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
To ensure that victims 
are confident to report, 

proportion of crimes linked to DA 
referrals, increases in line with risk 
assessment, with 75% high risk, 
66% medium and 35% standard. 
Domestic abuse referrals have 
increased by 9% on the previous 
12 months. Violence against the 
person offences are the majority of 
repeat DA crimes, mainly with 
violence being committed by male 
perpetrators against a regular 
female partner. DA incidents 
involving alcohol and mental health 
continues to increase year on year. 
Alcohol has increased to 35%, 
mental health 21% and drugs 
remains static at 3%. The impact of 
cyber within DA cases is not yet 
fully understood, but is a significant 
enabling factor within DA 
harassment and stalking cases. 
Victim satisfaction in relation to DA 
is included within the Satisfaction 
section. 
Partnerships: The ‘toxic trio’ has 
the potential to increase associated 
risks. DA incidents are forecast to 
increase by 6% and will continue to 
do so until 2023, impacting on 
caseloads within Safeguarding, 
Multi Agency Safeguarding Hub 
and Central Referral Unit as 
medium and high risk referrals. 
Multi Agency Tasking and Co-
ordinating (MATAC) will continue to 
December 2020.  
 
In the financial year 2017/18, there 
were 797 recorded hate crimes 
which represented 1.2% of all 
recorded crime. In the financial 
year 2018/19, there were 822 
recorded hate crimes which 
represented 1.26% of all recorded 
crime. This continues the trend of 
increased reporting that has been 
seen over the last four years.  
 
Hate Crime is an area of focus 
within the Police Crime and Victims’ 

more invisible 
victims are 
identified and 
offered support. 
 
Explore the 
reason for repeats 
 
Develop 
innovative and 
effective 
perpetrator 
interventions 
 
Support the 
specialist service 
with the delivery 
of the ‘follow-up’ 
service for 
abused women 
 
Develop peer to 
peer relationship 
programme in 
conjunction with 
DCC Children’s 
Services. 
 
Monitor and 
evaluate peer to 
peer programme 
on an ongoing 
basis 
 
Implement peer to 
peer relationship 
programme in 
conjunction with 
DCC Children’s 
Services. 
 
Understand and 
reduce the true 
level of hate 
crimes and 
incidents in 
relation to 
transgender. 
 

Page 158



 27 

EIA Template October 2015 

 

and that once reported, 
the hate element is 
recognised so that 
support and 
safeguarding can be 
provided. 

Plan and a Joint Hate Crime Action 
Group, chaired by the PCVCs 
office, is a multi-agency group that 
drives improvements in 
engagement, enforcement and 
partnership working to reduce the 
impact of hate crime in our area. 
 
Figures provided by the Durham 
Constabulary Community Cohesion 
Unit. 
Over the last 3 years hate crime 
has risen from 452 incidents and 
456 crime to 520 incidents and 854 
crimes. 
 

 

Increase reporting 
of hate incidents 
 
Develop a multi-
agency 
communications 
strategy, 
demonstrating a 
cross-
organisation and 
cross-sector 
approach, 
including a 
message that 
there should be 
zero-tolerance of 
hate crime. This 
to be aimed at all 
sections of 
society. 
 
Review of 
reporting 
mechanisms and 
pathways 
 
Review how 
organisations 
shared 
intelligence 
 
Review of the use 
of evidence to 
ensure effective 
prosecutions 
 
Map the support 
for victims and 
identify gaps in 
effective support 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 159



 28 

EIA Template October 2015 

 

Section Three: Conclusion and Review 

Summary 

Please provide a brief summary of your findings stating the main impacts, both 
positive and negative, across the protected characteristics. 
 

Community safety can affect everybody including local residents, those working, 
educated in or visiting the borough, and businesses. The risk and potential risk for 
victimisation, or becoming involved in offending, can vary by crime problem (i.e. 
burglary, violent crime), location, socio-economic status, age, gender, ethnicity, 
sexual orientation and disability for example. 
 
Equality and Diversity / Public Sector Equality Duty - Equity and the engagement 
of vulnerable and marginalised communities are highlighted within key findings 
and the recommendations of the HIA report, which is considered within the new 
SDP Plan 21-25. The effectiveness of the system to identify the needs of these 
communities during the pandemic will be monitored and part of the implementation 
of the HIA Action Plan (September 2020). 
 
Strategic Objective 1: Promote being safe and feeling safe in your 
community 
 
Resilient and cohesive communities are more likely to engage with services and 
report crime and anti-social behaviour.  In order to achieve this there are range of 
tools and powers available to partner organisations to tackle anti-social behaviour. 
Home safety referrals will ensure that vulnerable victims feel safer in their homes. 
 
Strategic Objective 2: Support Victims and Protect vulnerable people from 
harm 
 
We aim to significantly reduce the number of repeat victims and serial perpetrators 
of domestic abuse through early intervention and ensuring that more invisible 
victims are identified and offered support. 
 
We expect to see an increase in demand from Domestic Abuse (DA) incidents as 
improvements are made in identifying victims and increasing confidence amongst 
victims to report abuse. In Durham Constabulary’s policing area, DA incidents 
represent around 10% (18,420) of all incidents illustrating that DA continues to be 
a key area of demand. The harm of DA to the victim is substantial and often has 
aggravating factors such as alcohol, drugs and mental health. 
 
There is also an increase in the proportion of reported sexual violence incidents 
which are inter-familial or domestic abuse related. Increased levels of domestic 
abuse not only places demand on policing services but also across a range of 
partner agencies where there is a requirement for multi-agency interventions in 
both the medium and long term. 
 
Organised crime places a significant demand upon police and relevant partner 
agencies and will continue to require substantial resources to effectively deal with 

Page 160



 29 

EIA Template October 2015 

 

the most prominent aspects of serious crime. The impact of organised crime upon 
victims and communities can be substantial therefore the need to continue to raise 
public awareness, particularly in relation to the development of County Lines and 
Modern Slavery is critical to ensure the true picture of criminality is known and 
understood, so that victims are protected and offenders brought to justice. 
 
Strategic Objective 3: Prevent Strategy; Countering Terrorism, 
Radicalisation and Violent Extremism  
 
Prevent awareness is a key strategic objective of the local contest delivery plan. 
Through the Safe Durham Partnership Silver Contest Group its plan has now been 
updated to incorporate activities across partners to ensure training is aligned to the 
Counter Terrorism Local Profile but also to ensure we understand strategic 
delivery. 
 
The Channel Programme is a key part of the Prevent strategy. Section 36 of the 
Act requires local authorities and others to provide support for people who are 
vulnerable to being drawn into terrorism, before they commit an offence. This 
process, known as Channel, aims to provide support to individuals at an early 
stage and help protect them from radicalisation. 
 
Strategic Objective 4: Reduce Re-offending 
 
Prevention and early intervention initiatives can have an impact on diverting 
individuals away from offending in the first place. Targeted and desistance-based 
interventions are also required to rehabilitate individuals effectively and reduce 
reoffending. The Criminal Justice System needs to be effective in turning lives 
around and stopping people reoffending through support rather than punishment. 
This will help reduce crime, reduce the number of victims and make our 
communities safer. 
 
Strategic Objective 5: Alcohol and Drugs Harm Reduction 
 
Alcohol is a contributory factor in many incidents of domestic abuse and sexual 
violence and has strong links to child sexual exploitation in the county. It is also a 
significant factor in child neglect and child protection. Alcohol consumption plays a 
substantial part in homicides and domestic homicides in County Durham. Alcohol 
misuse causes harm to people’s health including their mental health and can 
impact on the ability of individuals to access or sustain employment, 
 
Drug misuse is a serious issue not only to the health and wellbeing of the 
individual that is affected by it, but that of their families and the wider community. 
Tackling drug misuse requires a co-ordinated approach involving a whole range of 
partners. It is not just the responsibility of organisations however; individuals and 
the wider community all have a role to play in reducing and preventing drug 
misuse. 
 
Partners will work together to reduce alcohol and drug misuse, campaigning in 
partnership for changes in the law and tackling the organised crime groups who 
supply illegal drugs. 

Page 161



 30 

EIA Template October 2015 

 

 
It is important to protect individuals and organisations from becoming victims 
through ensuring our communities have the knowledge and ability to protect 
themselves against cyber-enabled fraud and crime. 
 
Strategic Objective 6: Tackle and prevent cyber enabled crime  
 
Collaboration and partnership working is needed across the country to enhance 
our capability to tackle cybercrime and cyber-enabled crime, which is thought to be 
largely under-reported. This will include programmes to raise awareness and 
educate communities, including the business sector, to protect themselves against 
cyber-enabled crime. 

 

Will this promote positive relationships between different communities? If so how? 

 

 

Action Plan 

Action Responsibility Timescales for 
implementation 

In which plan will 
the action appear? 

Communicate successes 
in order to build confident 
communities 
 
Clear use of a partner 
problem solving approach 
to improve the delivery of 
agile interventions utilising 
the Local Multi-agency 
Problem Solving (LMAPS) 
process. 
 
Collaboration with Area 
Action Partnerships and 
the Voluntary and 
Community Sector in 
tackling long term anti-
social behaviour 
 
Referrals for target 
hardening properties for a 
specific need i.e. domestic 
violence, harassment, self-
neglect, hoarding. 

SDP Throughout the 
lifetime of the 
plan. 

Safe Durham 
Partnership Plan 
2021-2025 
 
 
Promote being 
safe and feeling 
safe in your 
community 
 
Anti-social 
Behaviour 
 
Safer Homes 

Understand and reduce 
the true level of hate 
crimes and incidents 
 

SDP Throughout the 
lifetime of the 
plan. 

Safe Durham 
Partnership Plan 
2021-2025 
 

Page 162



 31 

EIA Template October 2015 

 

Increase reporting of hate 
incidents 
 
Develop a multi-agency 
communications strategy, 
demonstrating a cross-
organisation and cross-
sector approach, including 
a message that there 
should be zero-tolerance 
of hate crime. This to be 
aimed at all sections of 
society. 
 
Review of reporting 
mechanisms and 
pathways 
 
Review how organisations 
shared intelligence 
 
Review of the use of 
evidence to ensure 
effective prosecutions 
 
Map the support for 
victims and identify gaps 
in effective support 

Promote being 
safe and feeling 
safe in your 
community 
 
Hate Crime and 
Community 
Tension 

We aim to significantly 
reduce the number of 
repeat victims and serial 
perpetrators of domestic 
abuse through early 
intervention and ensuring 
that more invisible victims 
are identified and offered 
support. 
 
Explore the reason for 
repeats 
 
Develop innovative and 
effective perpetrator 
interventions 
 
Support the specialist 
service with the delivery of 
the ‘follow-up’ service for 
abused women 
 

SDP Throughout the 
lifetime of the 
plan. 

Safe Durham 
Partnership Plan 
2021-2025 
 
Support Victims 
and Protect 
Vulnerable 
people from harm 
 
Domestic Abuse 
and Sexual 
Violence 

Page 163



 32 

EIA Template October 2015 

 

Develop peer to peer 
relationship programme in 
conjunction with DCC 
Children’s Services. 
 
Monitor and evaluate peer 
to peer programme on an 
ongoing basis 
 
Implement peer to peer 
relationship programme in 
conjunction with DCC 
Children’s Services. 
 
Work with the CCG’s to 
engage with GP’s across 
County Durham and 
Darlington 
Work with Public Health to 
engage with Healthy 
Pharmacy schemes 
across County Durham 
and Darlington 
 
Establish IRIS programme 
within County Durham and 
Darlington 
Voices of Victims, 
Perpetrators and Children 
| Collaboration between 
Agencies | Assessment of 
Interventions 

Work with the Durham 
Safeguarding Children 
Partnership to raise 
awareness with staff and 
partners of what is county 
lines, what to look for and 
where to report concerns 
and intelligence 
 
Appropriate agencies to 
disrupt the organised 
criminal gangs involved in 
this activity effectively 
 
To raise awareness and 
explain the nature of this 
harm to enable 
practitioners to recognise 

SDP Throughout the 
lifetime of the 
plan. 

Safe Durham 
Partnership Plan 
2021-2025 
 
Support Victims 
and Protect 
Vulnerable 
people from harm 
 
Organised Crime; 
County lines 

Page 164



 33 

EIA Template October 2015 

 

its signs and respond 
appropriately so that 
potential victims get the 
support and help they 
need 
 
Shared resources across 
all specified authorities 
 
Upskilling through shared 
knowledge and expertise 
 
Making use of all available 
resources within the Home 
Office and partner 
agencies (i.e. Criminal 
Exploitation of children 
and vulnerable adults: 
County Lines guidance 
2018, Serious Violence 
Strategy April 2018) 

Deliver a wide range of 
PREVENT awareness 
raising to staff of specified 
authorities and the child 
care sector to ensure they 
know how to recognise 
when someone is 
vulnerable to being drawn 
into terrorism and 
understand how to refer 
them for support and 
intervention 
 
Work in partnership to 
understand and respond 
to levels of intolerance and 
extremism that can raise 
community tensions  
 
Develop robust adult/child 
referral pathways and 
ensure all staff know how 
to make a Prevent referral 
 
Transition the Channel 
intervention and support 
programme to Durham 
County Council and put in 
place protocols for 

SDP Throughout the 
lifetime of the 
plan. 

Safe Durham 
Partnership Plan 
2021-2025 
 
Prevent Strategy; 
Countering 
Terrorism, 
Radicalisation 
and Violent 
Extremism 
 
Prevent people 
being drawn into 
terrorism 

Page 165



 34 

EIA Template October 2015 

 

implementation as 
required by operation 
Dovetail 

Identify those at risk of 
offending and ensure 
appropriate support is in 
place to break the cycle of 
intergenerational offending 
 
Implement early 
intervention strategies with 
the aim to divert 
individuals from the 
Criminal Justice system 
and promote positive 
outcomes for victims 
 
Ensure critical pathway 
evidence informs needs-
based solutions using 
integrated offender 
management principles 
Effective Pathways 
 
Building our “Think Family” 
approach for offenders 
and their families 
 
Using and improving 
pathways to enable 
effective intervention 
throughout the criminal 
justice process including 
integrated offender 
management 
  
Understanding where 
gaps in service provision 
are, across the whole 
system, and working in 
partnership to fill them 
 
Develop an improved 
understanding of the 
needs profile of females 
who offend 
 
 
Supporting the 
development and use of 

SDP Throughout the 
lifetime of the 
plan. 

Safe Durham 
Partnership Plan 
2021-2025 
 
Reduce Re-
offending 
 
Prevent inter-
generational 
offending 
 
Prevent repeat 
offending 

Page 166



 35 

EIA Template October 2015 

 

the Restorative Justice 
Hub 
 
Ensuring restorative 
approaches are used 
when working with people 
who offend 
 
Embedding the work of the 
RJ Hub among partner 
agencies 
 
Engaging with volunteers 
where appropriate and 
developing their skills  
 
Developing and promoting 
victim involvement within 
restorative practice  
Use and completion of 
sentences / orders 
 
Using full range of 
diversion and sentencing 
powers / orders by courts 
 
Rehabilitative and safe 
use of custody / prison 
 
Raising awareness of the 
links between re-offending 
and sentencing 
 
Ensuring those offenders 
posing highest risk to the 
community are within 
scope of IOM 
arrangements 

Contribute to the 
effectiveness of 
safeguarding and risk 
management 
arrangements for children, 
young people and adults 
where substance misuse 
is a factor, including 
overdose and substance 
misuse related death, 
those at risk of domestic 

SDP Throughout the 
lifetime of the 
plan. 

Safe Durham 
Partnership Plan 
2021-2025 
 
Alcohol and 
Substance 
Misuse 
Reduction 
 
Protecting children 
and vulnerable 
adults at risk 

Page 167



 36 

EIA Template October 2015 

 

abuse and sexual 
exploitation. 
 
Provide effective 
interagency responses for 
those experiencing severe 
and multiple disadvantage 
substance misuse, 
offending, homelessness, 
mental health, long-term 
chronic conditions 
 
Strengthen an integrated 
approach to providing 
support for children and 
families affected by 
parental substance misuse 
(cross reference with 
prevention and early 
intervention) utilising a 
Think Family approach 

Deliver awareness raising 
sessions of the risks and 
threats of cybercrime 
 
Deliver a general 
understanding about 
digital hygiene through 
events, seminars, 
marketing and 
communications  
 
Increase awareness of 
those in the public, 
voluntary and community 
sectors about protecting 
clients from becoming a 
victim 
 
Increase confidence to 
report incidents of cyber-
crime 
 
Collaborate with other 
partnerships to widely 
embed cyber-crime and 
exploit opportunities for 
joint working   
 

SDP Throughout the 
lifetime of the 
plan. 

Safe Durham 
Partnership Plan 
2021-2025 
 
Tackle and 
prevent cyber 
enabled crime 
 
Raise awareness 
of the general 
population about 
staying safe online 
 
Build resilience of 
local businesses of 
the threat of cyber 
crime 

Page 168



 37 

EIA Template October 2015 

 

Work with the voluntary 
and community sector to 
identify means of 
communicating digital 
hygiene to those who have 
particular vulnerabilities 
(e.g. older people) 
 
Work with education, 
youth support and other 
networks working with 
children and young people 
to identify those vulnerable 
to entering or remaining in 
cyber-crime activity 
 
Work with the education 
sector to develop 
opportunities for raising 
awareness of cybercrime 
with students 

 

Review 

Are there any additional assessments that need to be 
undertaken? (Y/N) 

 

When will this assessment be reviewed? 
Please also insert this date at the front of the template 

 

 

Sign Off 

Lead officer sign off: 
Andrea Petty, Strategic Manager, Transformation & 
Partnerships 

February 2021 

Service equality representative sign off: Mary Gallagher, 
Equality and Diversity Team Leader 

February 2021 

 

Please return the completed form to your service equality representative and forward 

a copy to equalities@durham.gov.uk 

Page 169

mailto:equalities@durham.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



 

  

County Council 

23 June 2021 

Adoption of Durham City, Lanchester 
and Oakenshaw Neighbourhood Plans 
 

Report of Corporate Management Team 

Amy Harhoff, Corporate Director of Regeneration, Economy and 
Growth 
 
Councillor Elizabeth Scott, Cabinet Portfolio Holder for Economy 
and Partnerships 

Electoral division(s) affected: 

Durham South, Nevilles Cross, Elvet and Gilesgate, Belmont, Lanchester, 

Willington and Hunwick 

Purpose of the Report 

1 To formally ‘make’ (adopt) Durham City, Lanchester and Oakenshaw 
Neighbourhood Plans. 

Executive summary 

2 The parish councils for Durham City, Lanchester and Greater Willington 
and the Oakenshaw Community Association, have produced 
neighbourhood plans which have all passed independent examination in 
2020. 

3 On Thursday 6 May 2021 a referendum was held for each of these 
neighbourhood plans.  All three plans were overwhelmingly approved by 
voters and the Council must now make them so that they formally 
become part of the statutory development plan for those areas. 

Recommendation 

4 Council is recommended to agree: 

(a) that the Durham City Neighbourhood Plan (Appendix 2) is 
formally made (adopted) by the Council to become part of the 
statutory development plan; 

(b) that the Lanchester Village Neighbourhood Plan (Appendix 3) is 
formally made (adopted) by the Council to become part of the 
statutory development plan; 

Page 171

Agenda Item 9



(c) that the Oakenshaw Neighbourhood Plan (Appendix 4) is formally 
made (adopted) by the Council to become part of the statutory 
development plan; and 

(d) that the Head of Legal and Demographic Services be authorised 
to satisfy the necessary publicity requirements of the 
Neighbourhood Planning (General) Regulations 2012 in respect 
of Durham City, Lanchester and Oakenshaw Neighbourhood 
Plans. 

  

Page 172



Background 

5 The 2011 Localism Act introduced measures for local communities to 
prepare neighbourhood development plans.  A detailed legislative 
framework for undertaking neighbourhood planning was set out in the 
Neighbourhood Planning Regulations 2012.  To date the Council have 
made four Neighbourhood Plans: Whorlton and Westwick, Great 
Aycliffe, Sedgefield, and Witton Gilbert.  A number of further plans 
remain under preparation. 

6 To meet the requirements of the Localism Act 2011, a referendum was 
held in each of the three neighbourhood areas on the 6 May 2021.  
Referendums would have taken place earlier for each of the plans, 
however regulatory changes linked to the Coronavirus Act (2020) meant 
that no elections or referendums could take place before this date. 

7 A neighbourhood plan, once made, becomes part of the statutory 
development plan which includes the County Durham Plan and is used 
for determining planning applications. 

8 Neighbourhood Plans must be prepared in accordance with legislation, 
which sets down a number of key stages including statutory 
consultations and examination by an independent examiner.  Subject to 
a positive examination outcome, the plan proceeds to a referendum.  
Where a neighbourhood plan is successful at referendum it is a legal 
requirement to bring the plan into force within eight weeks of the day 
after the referendum. 

Durham City Neighbourhood Plan 

9 The Durham City Neighbourhood Plan (Appendix 2) relates to the whole 
of the Durham City parish area.  The neighbourhood planning process 
was begun prior to the creation of City of Durham Parish Council and 
was initiated by Durham City Neighbourhood Forum, which was 
designated in January 2014.  Work commenced on a formal draft of the 
Plan, however, the creation of City of Durham Parish Council in May 
2018 meant it became the Qualifying Body for undertaking 
neighbourhood planning.  The new parish area did not exactly match 
that of the previously agreed neighbourhood area, however a public 
consultation on aligning the neighbourhood area to the new parish area 
concluded in January 2019 and supported the approach. 

10 The group has progressed the Plan through the statutory consultation 
stages and the examination ran from March to July 2020. This was 
undertaken using written representations.  The final report was formally 
submitted to the County Council on 14 July 2020. 

Page 173



11 The Examiner concluded that the Neighbourhood Plan met all of the 
statutory requirements however a number (57) of recommended 
modifications (along with 14 optional modifications) were needed to 
enable the Plan to satisfy the ‘Basic Conditions’ and proceed to 
referendum.  These were carried out and the Plan was sent to 
referendum.  It was declared that 85.6% of votes (from a turnout of 
5,030 people, or 38.46% of the electorate) were in favour of the Durham 
City Neighbourhood Plan. 

Lanchester Neighbourhood Plan  

12 The Lanchester Neighbourhood Plan (Appendix 3) relates to the whole 
of Lanchester parish area.  The area was designated in May 2014.  The 
group has progressed the Plan through the statutory consultation 
stages and the examination ran from February to April 2020.  This was 
undertaken using written representations.  The final report was formally 
submitted to the County Council on 14 April 2020. 

13 The Examiner concluded that the Neighbourhood Plan met all of the 
statutory requirements however a number (13) of recommended 
modifications were needed to enable the Plan to satisfy the ‘Basic 
Conditions’ and proceed to referendum.  These were carried out and 
the Plan was sent to referendum.  It was declared that 89.28% of votes 
(from a turnout of 1,660 people, or 50.08% of the electorate) were in 
favour of the Lanchester Neighbourhood Plan. 

Oakenshaw Neighbourhood Plan 

14 The Oakenshaw Neighbourhood Plan (Appendix 4) covers the village of 
Oakenshaw and surrounding farmsteads.  It falls within Greater 
Willington parish area.  The area was designated in November 2015.  
The group has progressed the Plan through the statutory consultation 
stages and the examination ran from May to August 2020.  This was 
undertaken using written representations.  The final report was formally 
submitted to the County Council on 3 August 2020. 

15 The Examiner concluded that the Neighbourhood Plan met all of the 
statutory requirements however a number (70) of recommended 
modifications were needed to enable the Plan to satisfy the ‘Basic 
Conditions’ and proceed to referendum.  These were carried out and 
the Plan was sent to referendum.  It was declared that 73.1% of votes 
(from a turnout of 197 people, or 53.38% of the electorate) were in 
favour of the Oakenshaw Neighbourhood Plan. 

Next Steps 

16 Formal Decision Statements are issued in accordance with Regulation 
19 of the Neighbourhood Planning (General) Regulations 2012.  These 

Page 174



are published on the Council’s website and, subject to venues 
reopening as planned, installed in appropriate locations such as County 
Hall and Parish Council Offices in the neighbourhood plan areas.  
Copies will also be sent to those who have commented on the plans. 

Conclusion 

17 These Neighbourhood Plans set out new policy requirements for 
Durham City, Lanchester and Oakenshaw neighbourhood areas.  When 
made, they will form part of the development plan and have weight in 
determining planning applications.  The Council has previously 
accepted the Examiner’s recommendations and the modified plans 
have received the support of local communities at referendum.  It is 
therefore the case that the Durham City, Lanchester and Oakenshaw 
Neighbourhood Plans must be ‘made’ (adopted) by the County Council 
to become part of the statutory development plan. 

Background papers 

Declaration of referendum result for each neighbourhood plan: 

http://www.durham.gov.uk/article/25482/Neighbourhood-planning-referendum-
results-6-May-2021 

Examiners Reports for each neighbourhood plan: 

http://www.durham.gov.uk/article/18184/Neighbourhood-planning-what-s-
happening- 

Author 

Mike Allum Tel: 03000 261906 

 

 

  

Page 175

http://www.durham.gov.uk/article/25482/Neighbourhood-planning-referendum-results-6-May-2021
http://www.durham.gov.uk/article/25482/Neighbourhood-planning-referendum-results-6-May-2021
http://www.durham.gov.uk/article/18184/Neighbourhood-planning-what-s-happening-
http://www.durham.gov.uk/article/18184/Neighbourhood-planning-what-s-happening-


Appendix 1:  Implications 

Legal Implications 

The Neighbourhood Planning Regulations 2012 and the Planning and 

Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 require local planning authorities to make a 

plan that has been supported at referendum within eight weeks of the day 

after the referendum. 

Finance 

There will be no financial implications from making the neighbourhood plans. 

Consultation 

The Neighbourhood Plans have been subject to statutory consultation 

requirements of the Town and Country Planning England – the 

Neighbourhood Planning (General) Regulations 2012. 

Equality and Diversity / Public Sector Equality Duty 

The Examiner’s reports confirmed that the Plans all meet the Basic Conditions 

and would appear to have neutral or positive impacts on groups with protected 

characteristics. 

Climate Change 

All three documents have also been subject to Strategic Environmental Impact 

Assessment (SEA) which considers the plans’ impacts on climate change.  In 

addition, the Durham City neighbourhood plan includes objectives and policies 

which have reference to climate change both in terms of mitigation and 

adaptation.  Oakenshaw neighbourhood plan also includes an environment 

objective which also includes reference to mitigation and adaptation to climate 

change.  The SEA for the Lanchester neighbourhood plans also concluded 

that as it seeks to provide better protection and enhancement of local 

character, locally valued heritage, landscapes and biodiversity it is not 

considered likely to have a significant adverse effect on the environment. 

Human Rights 

None identified. 

Crime and Disorder 

None identified. 

  

Page 176



Staffing 

None identified. 

Accommodation 

None identified. 

Risk 

The Council has a legal duty to make each neighbourhood plan and if the 

recommendations are not implemented the Council will be in breach of this. 

Procurement 

None identified. 

Page 177



This page is intentionally left blank



CITY OF DURHAM PARISH COUNCIL

DURHAM CITY NEIGHBOURHOOD PLAN 

2020 TO 2035

Page 179



ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

The Neighbourhood Plan has been produced by volunteers from the Neighbourhood Plan 
Working Party. The Working Party reports to the Planning Committee of the City of 
Durham Parish Council.

• John Ashby
• Pippa Bell
• Sue Childs
• Roger Cornwell
• Ann Evans
• Peter Jackson
• John Lowe
• David Miller
• John Pacey
• Matthew Phillips
• Angela Tracy

Page 180



CITY OF DURHAM PARISH COUNCIL

DURHAM CITY

NEIGHBOURHOOD PLAN

2020 to 2035

Page 181



The Neighbourhood Plan is available at:

http://npf.durhamcity.org.uk/the-plan/ 

Contact Details

Parish Clerk
City of Durham Parish Council
Office 3 D4.01d
Clayport Library 
8 Millennium Place
Durham
DH1 1WA

Email: parishclerk@cityofdurham-pc.gov.uk

Website: http://npf.durhamcity.org.uk/

Page 182



This explanatory note was added, post examination, in March 2021

The Draft Durham City Neighbourhood Plan was submitted to Durham County Council by 
the City of Durham Parish Council in November 2019. An Independent Inspector 
examined the Submitted Draft Neighbourhood Plan and put forward Modifications 
necessary to make the Plan accord with the Basic Conditions. All of his modifications 
have been implemented here in this document now being put forward for referendum in 
May 2021.  

At the time of submission, the County Durham Plan was also in preparation. It was 
formally Adopted in October 2020 and, accordingly, all references in the following text to 
the stage of preparation of the County Durham Plan are superseded; it is now the 
principal statutory development plan for all parts of County Durham. Similarly, all 
references to the City of Durham Local Plan 2004 are now redundant as it has ceased to 
have any status.

Once the Durham City Neighbourhood Plan has passed a referendum, the Parish Council 
will prepare up-to-date reports to take account of new information. This will form part of 
the evidence base for a future revision of the Plan. This will be linked to further studies 
and progress with initiatives set out in the associated ‘Looking Forwards’ document that 
the Parish Council adopted alongside the Submission Draft Neighbourhood Plan.

Page 183



CONTENTS

Page No:

FOREWORDS 1

Chapter 1: INTRODUCTION 3

Chapter 2: BACKGROUND 5

Chapter 3: VISION AND OBJECTIVES 15

Chapter 4: PLANNING POLICIES AND PROPOSALS FOR LAND USE 19

Theme 1: A City with a Sustainable Future 21

 Policy S1: Sustainable Development Requirements of all 
Development and Re-development Sites Including all New 
Building, Renovations and Extensions

23

 Policy S2: The Requirement for Masterplans or Other Design 
and Development Frameworks

28

Theme 2a: A Beautiful and Historic City - Heritage 31

 Policy H1: Protection and Enhancement of the World Heritage 
Site

35

 Policy H2: The Conservation Areas 39

 Policy H3: Our Neighbourhood Outside the Conservation Areas 44

Theme 2b: A Beautiful and Historic City - Green Infrastructure 47

 Policy G1: Protecting and Enhancing Green and Blue 
Infrastructure

54

 Policy G2: Designation of Local Green Spaces 57

 Policy G3: Creation of the Emerald Network 65

 Policy G4: Enhancing the Beneficial Use of the Green Belt 68

Theme 3: A City with a Diverse and Resilient Economy 73

 Policy E1: The Aykley Heads Business Park 79

 Policy E2: Other Employment Sites 80

 Policy E3: Retail Development 83

 Policy E4: Evening Economy 83

 Policy E5: Visitor Attractions 88

 Policy E6: Visitor Accommodation 89

Page 184



Theme 4: A City with Attractive and Affordable Places to Live 91

 Policy D1: Land for Residential Development 96

 Policy D2: Housing for Older People and People with Disabilities 100

 Policy D3: Affordable Housing 102

 Policy D4: Building Housing to the Highest Standards 104

Theme 5: A City with a Modern and Sustainable Transport 
Infrastructure

107

 Policy T1: Sustainable Transport Accessibility and Design 112

 Policy T2: Residential Car Parking 115

 Policy T3: Residential Storage for Cycles and Mobility Aids 118

Theme 6: A City with an Enriched Community Life 121

 Policy C1: Provision for Arts and Culture 126

 Policy C2: Provision of New Community Facilities 129

 Policy C3: Protection of an Existing Community Facility 129

 Policy C4: Health Care and Social Care Facilities 132

Chapter 5: MONITORING THE PLAN 135

PROPOSALS MAPS

Proposals Map 1: Our Neighbourhood 7

Proposals Map 2: Local Green Spaces 63

Proposals Map 3: Emerald Network 67

Proposals Map 4: Green Belt - areas for improvement 69

Proposals Map 5: Economic Designated Sites 82

Proposals Map 6: City Centre Boundary and Frontages 85

Proposals Map 7: Housing Sites 97

MAPS FOR INFORMATION OR ILLUSTRATION

Map 1: World Heritage Site Boundaries 37

Map 2: World Heritage Site Inner Setting 38

Map 3: The Conservation Areas 41

Map 4: Durham City Conservation Area with Character Areas Shown 42

Map 5: Green Belt in Our Neighbourhood 71

Map 6: Studentification 93

Map 7: Durham in the late medieval period: its boroughs, churches and 140

Page 185



important buildings

Map 8: Pedestrian issues 173

Map 9: Cycling issues 174

APPENDICES

Appendix A: Description of the character areas in the Durham City 
Conservation Area

137

Appendix B: Heritage assets. List of notable unlisted buildings, and of 
heritage assets at risk (both designated and non-designated)

141

Appendix C: Population, households, housing and sites 149

Appendix D: Assets in Our Neighbourhood 161

REFERENCES TO EVIDENCE BASE 177

Page 186



Durham City Neighbourhood Plan

FOREWORDS

Introduction from the Member of Parliament for the City of Durham 2005 to 
2019

I am delighted that after many years of hard work from the Durham City Neighbourhood 
Planning Forum, and latterly the City of Durham Parish Council, we now have a 
Neighbourhood Plan for Durham City.

Durham represents a unique set of challenges for a
Neighbourhood Plan, as it encompasses housing and
commercial areas, as well as a UNESCO World Heritage Site.
To now be at the point of having a plan for the City is testament
to the time and effort of everyone involved in the process of
gathering evidence, speaking to the public, businesses and
other stakeholders, and putting together policies for the future
for the City.

This plan seeks to provide local, detailed planning policies to
enable the right development in the right places; to protect the City’s wonderful heritage, 
as well as protecting vital green spaces, and making sure that the City is accessible and 
welcoming to residents, visitors and businesses.

There has been a significant level of support from residents and groups in the City 
towards this Plan, and I hope that everyone who lives, works and spends their leisure time
in the City will see the benefits of having a robust Neighbourhood Plan for the whole 
Parish.

Roberta Blackman-Woods
Member of Parliament for the City of Durham 2005 to 2019

Introduction from the Chair of the Parish Council

Durham is a unique, beautiful, historic City and the challenges involved in devising a 
Neighbourhood Plan to preserve and enhance those qualities for future generations have 
been considerable, but I am now pleased to be able to commend and present the Durham
City Neighbourhood Plan.

The idea that Durham City should have a Neighbourhood Plan
was first floated more than nine years ago, even before the
Localism Act which made it possible was passed. It has been a
long journey, one with two essential aims.

The first of these is that this is a Plan shaped by the residents of
what is now the City of Durham Parish, meeting your hopes and
aspirations for the next fifteen years. This has involved extensive
consultations, ranging from primary school children to older
members of the community, using face-to-face meetings,
exhibitions, and an extensive web site. There have now been two formal consultation 
exercises and the comments made in both have been carefully considered and the Plan is
much improved because of them.

© City of Durham Parish Council, 2021 1

Page 187



Durham City Neighbourhood Plan

The second is the theme of sustainability that runs like a golden thread through the Plan, 
to be read alongside every other policy. All new development will contribute to a long-term
sustainable future for Durham City by ensuring a balanced relationship among 
environmental, social and economic outcomes.

When the Parish assumed responsibility for the Neighbourhood Plan in April 2018 it was 
able to build on the work of a team of dedicated volunteers who had formed the 
Neighbourhood Planning Forum. Most of these were pleased to join the Parish Working 
Party set up to complete their work. Their names are listed inside the front cover, and we 
owe them a debt of gratitude.

Councillor Elizabeth Scott
Chair of the City of Durham Parish Council

© City of Durham Parish Council, 2021 2

Page 188



Durham City Neighbourhood Plan

CHAPTER 1: INTRODUCTION

1.1 The most important feature of a neighbourhood plan is that it is prepared and agreed 
by local people. The work is normally carried out by a parish or town council on behalf of 
its local community. However, until April 2018 Durham City was ‘non-parished’. In order 
for the local community’s wish in 2012 for a neighbourhood plan to be prepared, the 
County Council enabled the setting up of the Durham City Neighbourhood Planning 
Forum.

1.2 The Forum adopted the name ‘Our Neighbourhood’ for the area covered by the Plan, 
which is shown on Proposals Map 1. Work on the Plan began in 2014 and provided the 
opportunity for continuous consultation throughout. These consultations enabled the 
Forum to find out what people who live and work in the area, and those who visit, think of 
the policies and proposals as the Plan developed (see para. 2.17 to 2.19). The City of 
Durham Parish Council now (since May 2018) has responsibility for the Plan. 

1.3 This explanatory note was added, post examination, in March 2021. The Draft Durham
City Neighbourhood Plan was submitted to Durham County Council by the City of Durham
Parish Council in November 2019. An Independent Inspector examined the Submitted 
Draft Neighbourhood Plan and put forward Modifications necessary to make the Plan 
accord with the Basic Conditions. All of his modifications have been implemented here in 
this document now being put forward for referendum in May 2021. At the time of 
submission, the County Durham Plan was also in preparation. It was formally Adopted in 
October 2020 and, accordingly, all references in the following text to the stage of 
preparation of the County Durham Plan are superseded; it is now the principal statutory 
development plan for all parts of County Durham. Similarly, all references to the City of 
Durham Local Plan 2004 are now redundant as it has ceased to have any status. Once 
the Durham City Neighbourhood Plan has passed a referendum, the Parish Council will 
prepare up-to-date reports to take account of new information. This will form part of the 
evidence base for a future revision of the Plan. This will be linked to further studies and 
progress with initiatives set out in the associated ‘Looking Forwards’ document that the 
Parish Council adopted alongside the Submission Draft Neighbourhood Plan. 

1.4 There are four matters to be borne in mind when reading and using this Plan:
 Its policies, when adopted, will have statutory force, i.e. they will be relevant in the 

consideration of planning applications by the County Council, and they will need to 
be in general conformity with the strategic policies of the current adopted 
development plan, which at at the time of writing (September 2019) is the set of 
'Saved Policies' of the City of Durham Local Plan 2004 as assessed by the County 
Council in 2015 for consistency with the National Planning Policy Framework 
(NPPF);

 Quite early in the lifetime of the Durham City Neighbourhood Plan a new Statutory 
Local Plan - the County Durham Plan - will be adopted. The Neighbourhood Plan 
policies will then need to be reviewed, and if necessary changed, to bring them 
into general conformity with the strategic policies of this new County Durham Plan. 

© City of Durham Parish Council, 2021 3

Page 189

http://npf.durhamcity.org.uk/the-plan/maps/)


Durham City Neighbourhood Plan

It has been possible to seek to future-proof the Neighbourhood Plan by having 
regard to the emerging County Durham Local Plan. At the time of writing 
(September 2019) the new County Local Plan has been submitted and the 
Examination in Public is due to start in October 2019;

 The Neighbourhood Plan should be read as a whole - the planning policies all 
relate to one another even though they appear under different themes, so common
aspects only appear in one policy to avoid repetition;

 As well as this document containing the Neighbourhood Plan for Durham City, a 
companion document has been prepared – 'Looking Forwards: Durham as a 
Creative and Sustainable City' (Durham City Neighbourhood Plan Working Party, 
2019a) – which presents an opportunity to go beyond the planning policies in 
identifying the actions and initiatives for statutory, community and other bodies in 
furtherance of the vision and objectives of the Neighbourhood Plan.

1.5 It is hoped that the Durham City Neighbourhood Plan will prove to be effective and 
truly representative of the wishes of local people for a sustainable future for this beautiful 
and historic City.

© City of Durham Parish Council, 2021 4

Page 190



Durham City Neighbourhood Plan

CHAPTER 2: BACKGROUND

HISTORY AND CONTEXT

2.1 Durham City has been a highly significant place in County Durham, the North East 
region and the country for over 900 years as the home of Durham Cathedral, and for over 
180 years of Durham University. Under the 1974 reorganisation of local government in 
England Durham City became the county town of a County Durham much reduced in 
population although increased in area. This new County was administered by a County 
Council and eight (later seven) District Councils. This system was replaced in 2009 when 
the County and District Councils including the City of Durham Council were abolished to 
be replaced by a single ‘county unitary authority’.

2.2 The Durham City Neighbourhood Planning Forum started as a group of volunteers, 
people who lived, worked or had businesses in the City. They were concerned about the 
future of the City and saw the potential in the Localism Act 2011 which introduced new 
rights and powers which local communities can use to shape and permit additional new 
development. In areas with a Town or Parish Council, this work is done by those bodies. 
Elsewhere a Neighbourhood Planning Forum can be set up. Most of Durham City was at 
that time un-parished and therefore there was no local council to undertake the work of 
preparing a neighbourhood plan. Since the election held in May 2018 a new City of 
Durham Parish Council has been in place and has assumed the responsibility for 
completing the Neighbourhood Plan. 

2.3 In July 2013 the group of volunteers applied to Durham County Council to set up a 
Neighbourhood Planning Forum and this was approved by the Council on 16 January 
2014. The volunteers then became part of the membership of the Forum. In the Forum's 
priority consultation (Durham City Neighbourhood Planning Forum, 2015) very strong 
views were received from the public about planning and planning decisions. The Forum 
took this as a clear message to deliver a plan which has the vision and the policies to 
ensure the protection of the fabric of the City and the well-being of the people who live in, 
work in and visit it.

2.4 The area covered by the Neighbourhood Plan is not the whole urban area of Durham 
City. It is for parish and town councils to prepare neighbourhood plans if desired, and 
there are parish councils for the Belmont and Framwellgate Moor parts of the City. 
Although neither was preparing a neighbourhood plan at that time, it was felt that the 
issues that might be most important in those areas are different from the issues facing the 
historic core of the City. Similarly, the un-parished Gilesgate and Newton Hall areas have 
their own distinct histories and issues meriting particular attention through a local 
neighbourhood plan if that is the wish of the Gilesgate or Newton Hall residents and 
businesses. Accordingly, the area covered by the Neighbourhood Planning Forum – 'Our 
Neighbourhood' – comprised the electoral divisions of Neville's Cross, Elvet & Gilesgate, 
and the part of Durham South on the City side of the River Wear. When the City of Durham
Parish Council took responsibility for the Neighbourhood Plan there was a small difference in

© City of Durham Parish Council, 2021 5

Page 191



Durham City Neighbourhood Plan

the geographical coverage of Our Neighbourhood compared to that of the Parish Council. It 
was therefore decided to amend the coverage of Our Neighbourhood to match that of the 
Parish Council (i.e. to lose a small area north of Aykley Heads, and to include the Gilesgate 
Bank area). A public consultation was held in December 2018 to January 2019 which gave a 
positive response to this change and the new coverage of Our Neighbourhood was officially 
approved in February 2019. Our Neighbourhood is shown on Proposals Map 1. 

2.5 Although Our Neighbourhood is only part of the built-up area of the City, it does 
contain the World Heritage Site, the City, the University, the hospital, the two 
Conservation Areas and the main bus and rail stations. It is therefore an important part of 
the City and needs a progressive and imaginative neighbourhood plan.

© City of Durham Parish Council, 2021 6

Page 192



Durham City Neighbourhood Plan

Proposals Map 1: Our Neighbourhood

An interactive version of this map is available at 
http://maps.durhamcity.org.uk/npf/Proposals_Map_1.php

© City of Durham Parish Council, 2021 7

Page 193



Durham City Neighbourhood Plan

CHALLENGES

2.6 In the 1960s major developments such as the new County Hall, Police Headquarters, 
Passport Office and National Savings Office brought very welcome extra employment 
opportunities to the City, especially in the context of the subsequent loss of nearly all of 
County Durham's traditional coal, steel, railway, and heavy engineering industries. 
Concomitant pressures on the special qualities of the City's built environment and arising 
from increased vehicular traffic are key issues for Our Neighbourhood.

2.7 Durham University's expansion from about 3,000 students in the early 1960s to over 
16,000 within Our Neighbourhood out of a total of over 18,000 registered by the University
in 2018/19 (see Appendix C) has added much economic benefit as well as prestige to the 
City. However, a commensurate increase in University accommodation has not been 
provided and many family homes have been converted into student accommodation, to 
the extent that in several areas permanent residents are a minority and in some a rarity.

2.8 This change in property use means that large areas of the City are predominantly 
populated by young adults for half of the year and virtually empty the other half, with 
consequent effects on local shops, facilities and community cohesion. The local retail offer
has suffered from a loss of independent family-friendly shops and department stores. 
Leisure facilities are geared to the evening economy. The City has lost its internationally 
renowned ice rink, its multi-screen cinema (though this has now been replaced), much 
green space and sporting facilities, youth clubs and scout and guides groups. Schools, 
doctors, libraries and other public services are affected by the distorted population 
structure of the City. The University has published a Strategy and Estates Masterplan 
(Durham University, 2016, 2017a) setting out its intention to grow in student numbers to a 
total of 21,500 in Durham City by the year 2026/27. This raises major issues around the 
capability of the City – socially, economically and environmentally – to accommodate 
significant additional pressures on the housing stock, local services, the retail offer, 
pedestrian congestion, and community balance.

2.9 The green landscape setting of the World Heritage Site is of paramount significance in
planning the future development of Durham City. A designated green belt surrounds the 
built-up area of the City. Its purpose is to check sprawl; prevent Durham City from merging
into neighbouring towns and villages; safeguard the surrounding countryside from 
encroachment; preserve the setting and special character of Durham City; and assist 
regeneration by encouraging the recycling of derelict and other urban land.

2.10 The River Wear cuts through Our Neighbourhood so areas within the river's 
floodplain and associated flood zones are at risk of flooding (NPPF para. 155 to 165, PPG
'Flood risk and coastal change'). Therefore, in Our Neighbourhood all designated housing 
and economic sites lie in Zone 1 (low probability of flooding). Because of Durham City's 
location within a bowl of surrounding hills, Our Neighbourhood is also vulnerable in certain
areas to flooding caused by surface water runoff. 

© City of Durham Parish Council, 2021 8

Page 194



Durham City Neighbourhood Plan

2.11 County Durham has a higher level of obesity (27.4%) and excess weight (72.5%) 
than the England average (23% and 65% respectively) and a lower level of physical 
exercise (52.2% compared to 56%) (Durham County Council, 2015c, p.10). Overweight or
obese individuals have increased risks for health problems such as heart disease, Type II 
diabetes, some types of cancer, and psychological and social damage. Planning can help 
to address this issue by supporting and encouraging an environment that enables physical
activity such as walking, cycling and sports.

2.12 The above special aspects of planning Durham City are the key challenges facing 
Our Neighbourhood. Whilst there are many other issues and challenges which are 
addressed in the following sections of our Neighbourhood Plan, what stands out as the 
principal task is fulfilling Durham City's potential for providing an exceptional living, 
working and visiting environment.

RELATIONSHIP TO THE COUNTY DURHAM LOCAL PLAN

2.13 The County Durham Local Plan seeks to address these challenges at a strategic 
level leaving the Neighbourhood Plan to develop appropriate more detailed, finer-grained 
local policies. A new County Local Plan is being prepared, and at the time of writing 
(September 2019) has reached the stage of a Submitted Plan. Pending the adoption of 
the County Durham Local Plan, this Neighbourhood Plan is intended to be in general 
conformity with the strategic policies of the emerging County Durham Local Plan, the 
saved policies of the City of Durham Local Plan 2004 as assessed by the County Council 
in 2015 for consistency with the NPPF edition at that time; and the provisions of the NPPF
of February 2019 and of national Planning Practice Guidance (PPG) current at the time of 
writing (September 2019).

SCOPE OF THE DURHAM CITY NEIGHBOURHOOD PLAN

2.14 A ‘neighbourhood plan’ is a statutory planning document: it sets out policies in 
relation to the development and use of land in the whole or a particular part of the plan 
area. In our Neighbourhood Plan these are identified as 'Planning Policies and Proposals 
for Land Use' in Chapter 4 of this document. Development and conservation proposals in 
Our Neighbourhood will be determined in accordance with the planning policy framework 
of the Durham City Neighbourhood Plan, county and national planning policies and any 
other material considerations. The proposed planning policies set out here are intended to
meet Plan objectives and help realise the vision for Our Neighbourhood and its 
communities over the period to 2035.

2.15 The Neighbourhood Plan public consultations raised wider issues than those directly 
relating to the development and use of land. These issues cover a number of the 
community's key concerns and priorities for Our Neighbourhood. These are identified as 
initiatives in a separate document 'Looking Forwards: Durham as a Creative and 
Sustainable City'. These initiatives are intended to encourage action and influence 

© City of Durham Parish Council, 2021 9

Page 195



Durham City Neighbourhood Plan

decisions taken by relevant bodies. Whilst these wider issues are important, in legal terms
only the planning policies and proposals in the Neighbourhood Plan itself have ‘statutory 
weight’. Durham County Council as the Local Planning Authority will only have regard to 
the adopted planning policies and proposals of the Durham City Neighbourhood Plan 
when determining planning applications. It will be the responsibility of the Durham City 
Parish Council, together with many partnerships, community groups and other appropriate
bodies, to take forward the initiatives to address the community's wider issues. 

HOW WE HAVE ARRIVED AT THE PLAN POLICIES

2.16 There are four parts to the process we have followed in arriving at the Plan's policies:
community consultations; existing planning policies; sustainability testing; and 
independent examination.

Community Consultations

2.17 Community consultation and involvement have been sought from the outset of this 
Plan for Our Neighbourhood, through public meetings, leaflets, surveys, community 
events, activities with schools and a stall in the Market Place.

2.18 The planning policies and proposals in this Neighbourhood Plan and the initiatives in 
the companion document 'Looking Forwards: Durham as a Creative and Sustainable City' 
have all been drawn directly from what people, including children, have said, initially in 
response to the open questions:

• What is good about Durham City?
• What is bad about Durham City?
• What needs to change?

and later in a wide range of engagement activities and stakeholder discussions.

2.19 The published engagement activities comprise:

 a survey of the community's priorities ( Durham City Neighbourhood Planning 
Forum, 2015)

 a study of children's views via a series of meetings (Durham City Neighbourhood 
Planning Forum, 2016a)

 an e-questionnaire study of the views of businesses in Durham City (Durham City 
Neighbourhood Planning Forum, 2016b)

 a consultation event on improvements to the walking environment (Durham City 
Neighbourhood Planning Forum, 2016c)

 a questionnaire study of views on arts and culture (Durham City Neighbourhood 
Planning Forum, 2017b)

 a pre-submission draft consultation in 2017 (Durham City Neighbourhood Planning
Forum, 2017c)

 a walking and cycling evidence paper (Durham City Neighbourhood Plan Working 
Party, 2019b)

© City of Durham Parish Council, 2021 10

Page 196



Durham City Neighbourhood Plan

 a second pre-submission draft consultation in 2019 (City of Durham Parish 
Council, 2019c)

2.20 Responses from the priority survey have been grouped into the most recurring 
concerns and suggestions. Many relate to what might be called 'governance' (that is, who 
makes the decisions, and how) and this is acknowledged to be at the heart of issues 
nationally. The powers embodied in neighbourhood planning do address this issue so far 
as local plan-making is concerned. Beyond 'governance', the responses were grouped 
into topics - for example housing, economy, traffic - exactly as written or noted. These 
topics emerged as key themes for the Plan. This has ensured that the voices of the 
people participating in all of the consultation opportunities have been the determinants of 
emerging policy ideas and initiatives.

2.21 Each of the key themes for the Plan has its 'champions' within the team of volunteers
working on the Neighbourhood Plan now under the auspices of the Parish Council. Ideas 
for possible policies under each theme have been debated and revised, and always tested
against the results of public consultations. There are constraints around what planning 
policies can address, notably that they have to be about the use and development of land,
but the wishes expressed through public consultations and engagement have been 
incorporated as far as is possible either in 'Planning Policies and Proposals for Land Use' 
or in the initiatives in the companion document 'Looking Forwards: Durham as a Creative 
and Sustainable City'.

{Drawing by Year 6 pupils from St. Margaret's C of E Aided Primary School, Durham City, 
during the public consultation with children and young people, 2015}

© City of Durham Parish Council, 2021 11

Page 197



Durham City Neighbourhood Plan

Existing Planning Policies

2.22 In the absence of an up-to-date County Local Plan covering Our Neighbourhood, the 
prevailing planning policies for deciding applications for development are the 'saved' 
policies of the City of Durham Local Plan 2004 (City of Durham Council, 2004). The saved
policies are those which were assessed in 2007 as being compliant with the NPPF at that 
time, and in 2015 by the County Council in the light of updates to the NPPF through 
national Planning Practice Guidance (Durham County Council, 2015a; Durham County 
Council, Planning Services Regeneration and Economic Development, 2016). Many of the
saved policies relate to Durham City and the Forum considered them very carefully. It was
concluded that they provide a very useful starting point and the Plan policies need to 
demonstrate general conformity with the saved strategic policies in the City of Durham 
Local Plan. However, it is essential to develop neighbourhood plan policies that reflect up-
to-date information and analysis, current planning legislation and thinking, the issues and 
hopes arising from public consultations, and the pointers to be obtained from the 
emerging County Durham Local Plan.

Sustainability Appraisal

2.23 In brief, Sustainability Appraisal is a process for assessing the social, economic and 
environmental impacts of a plan or programme and aims to ensure that sustainable 
development is at the heart of the plan-making process. Strategic Environmental 
Assessment is also a systematic process to predict and assess potential impacts but 
focuses on specific environmental issues to ensure they are considered and integrated at 
the earliest opportunity.

2.24 Unlike a local plan, there is no legal requirement for a neighbourhood plan to have an
Sustainability Appraisal as set out in Section 19 of the Planning and Compulsory 
Purchase Act 2004 (UK Parliament, 2004). However, a ‘qualifying body’ such as the 
Durham City Neighbourhood Planning Forum and now the Parish Council must 
demonstrate how its plan will contribute to achieving sustainable development. This is a 
‘basic condition’ (condition d) of the neighbourhood planning process (UK Parliament, 
2011). As such, undertaking a Sustainability Appraisal is a robust approach to 
demonstrably meet this condition. Another basic condition (condition f) the Durham City 
Neighbourhood Planning Forum has to meet is not to ‘breach, and to be otherwise 
compatible with, EU obligations’ (UK Parliament, 2011), in this case the EU directive on 
the assessment of the effects of certain plans and programmes on the environment 
(European Union, 2001).

2.25 Hence, Strategic Environmental Assessment Screening to determine if the Plan was 
likely to have significant environmental effects was undertaken as a minimum 
requirement. A Screening Opinion was drafted by the Durham City Neighbourhood 
Planning Forum and the conclusion was that the sites were unlikely to give rise to 
significant individual or cumulative adverse environmental effects. This conclusion was 
endorsed by Durham County Council. The Screening Opinion was sent to the three 
statutory consultees (the Environment Agency, Historic England and Natural England) in 

© City of Durham Parish Council, 2021 12

Page 198



Durham City Neighbourhood Plan

December 2016. The Environment Agency responded that the need for a Strategic 
Environmental Assessment would not be triggered if we avoided Flood Zones. Natural 
England confirmed that the proposals would not have significant effects on sensitive sites 
that Natural England has a statutory duty to protect. However, Historic England concluded
that the Neighbourhood Plan should be the subject of a Strategic Environmental 
Assessment in accordance with the Strategic Environmental Assessment Directive. The 
reasons for their decision were essentially that the Durham City Neighbourhood Plan 
would come into effect before the County Durham Local Plan and therefore will form the 
most up to date development plan document for the area; and that the potential impacts of
its policies need to be assessed and evidenced for this area which has such a high 
number of designated heritage assets including sites of national and international 
significance. In the light of this the screening report was amended ('Strategic 
Environmental Assessment and Habitat Regulations Assessment Screening Report' 
Durham City Neighbourhood Planning Forum, 2017d).

2.26 The Forum accordingly determined that a Sustainability Appraisal (a more robust 
assessment) should be carried out. This was undertaken by the independent consultants 
AECOM through the funding of ‘Locality’ which is the Government’s agency for assisting with 
the preparation of neighbourhood plans. This proved to be a rigorous technical exercise 
which is documented in the accompanying 'Sustainability Report' and associated 
documents ('Strategic Environmental Assessment and Habitat Regulations Assessment 
Screening Report', Durham City Neighbourhood Planning Forum, 2017d; 'Scoping Report 
for the Sustainability Appraisal/Strategic Environmental Assessment', Durham City 
Neighbourhood Planning Forum, 2017a; 'Sustainability Appraisal (SA) for the Durham City
Neighbourhood Plan', AECOM, 2019, available at 
http://npf.durhamcity.org.uk/the-plan/sustainability-appraisal/) and the 'Basic Conditions 
Statement' (City of Durham Parish Council, 2019a) which accompany the Neighbourhood 
Plan.

2.27 The planning policies put forward in this Durham City Neighbourhood Plan are thus 
the outcome of community consultations; the assessment of the relevance of 'saved' 
policies' and available pointers from the emerging County Durham Local Plan; and a full 
appraisal to ensure that the 'golden thread' of sustainability is achieved.

Independent Examination

2.28 The Durham City Neighbourhood Plan was submitted to Durham County Council on 
the 29 October 2019. The Plan was then subjected to a further Regulation 16 Consultation
before being forwarded in February 2020 for independent examination by an appointed 
Examiner. This entailed the Examiner reviewing the Plan documents and written 
representations, and making an unaccompanied visit to the Neighbourhood Plan Area. 
This took place in June 2020.

2.29 The Examiner concluded that, with the modifications given in his report (Burton, 
2020), the Plan meets all the necessary legal requirements, including satisfying the Basic 
Conditions. He recommended that the modified Plan should proceed to Referendum and 

© City of Durham Parish Council, 2021 13

Page 199



Durham City Neighbourhood Plan

that this should be held within the Neighbourhood Area. Durham County Council has 
accepted the Examiner's recommendations and issued two decision notices to this effect. 
The Examiner's required modifications were made in August 2020 and, following a series 
of discussions, confirmed by Durham County Council in March 2021. These comprised: 
changes in the wording of Policies S1, S2, H1 to H3, G1 to G4, E1 to E6, D1 to D4, T1 to 
T3 and C1 to C3; the deletion of a policy in the Heritage theme dealing with heritage 
assets; deletion of two policies in the Housing theme dealing with student 
accommodation; and consequential changes to the text accompanying these policies. A 
tracked changes version of the Plan document is available 
http://npf.durhamcity.org.uk/your-views/submitted-plan/tracked-changes/. The rest of the 
Plan document is that submitted to Durham County Council in October 2019 (and written 
in September 2019). 

© City of Durham Parish Council, 2021 14

Page 200



Durham City Neighbourhood Plan

CHAPTER 3: VISION AND OBJECTIVES

OVERALL VISION

3.1 Durham City’s potential as a beautiful historic City will be realised through policy and 
action to improve and protect its qualities and by creating a diverse and resilient economy 
with attractive, healthy and affordable places to live. It will be supported by modern 
infrastructure, protected by adaptation to climate change and enriched by community 
engagement in its future.

THEMES AND OBJECTIVES

3.2 The Plan comprises six themes: 

Theme 1: A City with a sustainable future 
Theme 2: A beautiful and historic City

(a) Heritage
(b) Green infrastructure

Theme 3: A City with a diverse and resilient economy 
Theme 4: A City with attractive and affordable places to live
Theme 5: A City with a modern and sustainable transport infrastructure 
Theme 6: A City with an enriched community life

© City of Durham Parish Council, 2021 15

Page 201



Durham City Neighbourhood Plan

3.3 Each individual theme has its own vision (expanding on part of the overall vision) and 
its own set of objectives. Together these objectives form the objectives of the Plan.

3.4 These themes and objectives were developed from the Forum's priority survey 
responses (Durham City Neighbourhood Planning Forum, 2015).

Summary of Answers to ‘What Is Good About Durham City Centre’

3.5 The comments are listed in descending order of frequency, i.e. the most frequent are 
at the top – the ones starred are particularly recurrent.

 ****World Heritage Site, Cathedral, Castle, Palace Green
 ***Riverbank setting and riverside walks
 **University and students (adds to City vibrancy and economy), attractive 

environment of colleges, and public facilities (e.g. Botanical Garden, Library, 
Oriental Museum), lectures and exhibitions

 **Public transport and road transport links
 **Woodland ‘wedges’ which bring green space into City
 **Historic City (e.g. its Mayor and Bodyguard, Crook Hall, churches, mining 

heritage)
 *Shops, coffee shops, pubs and restaurants
 *Lively, vibrant, multi-cultural, with friendly people and strong community feeling
 *Compact size
 Market place and indoor market
 Variety of historic and period properties (not just on peninsula)
 Attractive streetscapes / beautiful architecture
 Leisure and cultural facilities (e.g. Gala Theatre and cinema, Freeman’s Quay, 

public library, DLI Museum and Art Gallery (now DLI Regiment Collection))
 Large number of pedestrianised areas in City
 Council flower displays and tree plantings
 Park & ride, and car parking
 Close to beautiful countryside, and nearby towns
 Parks and nature areas (e.g. Flass Vale, Wharton Park, Aykley Heads, Browney 

Valley, Baxter Wood)
 High profile festivals (e.g. Lumiere, Book Festival, Brass, Miners' Gala, sporting 

events)
 Schools

Summary of Answers to ‘What Is Bad About Durham City Centre’

3.6 The comments are listed in descending order of frequency, i.e. the most frequent are 
at the top – the ones starred are particularly recurrent.

 ***Excessive student housing (much poorly maintained and unsympathetically 
altered)

© City of Durham Parish Council, 2021 16

Page 202



Durham City Neighbourhood Plan

 **North Road (tawdry and dirty, run down, ASB focus, charity shops, poor 
introduction to City for visitors)

 **Poor retail offer (of both small, independent traders and big names), empty 
shops

 **Pedestrian experience (e.g. poor maintenance of pavements, dirty, lack of kerbs,
lack of street lighting, holes, traffic and pollution, overhanging vegetation, cluttering
with rubbish bins, bill boards, tables and chairs, not suitable for people with 
disabilities or people with pushchairs, material (cobbles), more bridges and 
crossing points of river and A690)

 **Planning decisions (inappropriate, unsuitable for a World Heritage Site, ignoring 
residents’ views, poor implementation of control, lack of cohesion / gulf between 
University and Council, vested interests)

 **Traffic congestion
 **Night-time economy (too geared to drinking, encouraging anti-social behaviour)
 *Littering (including riverbanks)
 Market Place (poor redevelopment)
 Parking (lack of spaces, location, cost, park & ride needs improvement)
 Poor design of new, modern build developments (e.g. Prince Bishops, Gates, 60s 

and 70s developments)
 Millennium Place (bleak, unwelcoming, underutilised, lack of greenery)
 Loss of / lack of open and green spaces and threat to green belt
 Student behaviour
 Lack of tourist information centre
 Lack of housing for local residents/unbalanced community
 Road system and traffic management
 Poor appearance/maintenance of premises and streetscape
 Lack of City Council

Summary of Answers to ‘What Needs to Change’

3.7 The comments are listed in descending order of frequency, i.e. the most frequent are 
at the top – the ones starred are particularly recurrent.

 ***Redress the huge imbalance towards student accommodation, and the various 
problems this causes

 **Change the County Council’s approach to making planning decisions: take on 
board the views of local residents

 **Increase the diversity of retail outlets (both big names and small 
independent/speciality shops); reduce business rates/rents

 *Provide more housing (e.g. affordable housing; housing for families, older people 
and young professionals)

 *Preserve and protect the City’s heritage
 *Protect green spaces/green belt and the environment
 *Improve traffic management and provide a better road system
 *Upgrade North Road

© City of Durham Parish Council, 2021 17

Page 203



Durham City Neighbourhood Plan

 *Improve the provision for pedestrians
 Promote and support tourism (e.g. reopen the Tourist Information Office)
 Deal with littering and clean the streets
 Tackle the drinking culture leading to anti-social behaviour
 Provide more entertainment facilities (e.g. a multiplex cinema)
 Set up a Durham City Council
 Provide more community, leisure, and cultural facilities
 Improve the Riverside
 Develop balanced communities
 Tackle parking issues (e.g. extend the Park & Ride facilities)
 Improve public transport
 Improve the Market Place
 Improve infrastructural facilities, such as street lighting, public toilets, sewage 

works, cable TV and Internet provision
 Improve the Bus Station
 Improve cycling facilities

© City of Durham Parish Council, 2021 18

Page 204



Durham City Neighbourhood Plan

CHAPTER 4: PLANNING POLICIES AND PROPOSALS FOR LAND 
USE 

4.1 The 'Planning Policies and Proposals for Land Use' are given in this chapter, 
organised under the six themes:

Theme 1: A City with a sustainable future

Theme 2: A beautiful and historic City
(a) Heritage
(b) Green infrastructure

Theme 3: A City with a diverse and resilient economy

Theme 4: A City with attractive and affordable places to live

Theme 5: A City with a modern and sustainable transport infrastructure

Theme 6: A City with an enriched community life

Map and Images Copyright and Acknowledgements

4.2 The Neighbourhood Plan contains two numbered map sequences. The Proposals 
Maps relate to designations within policies and have planning weight. The other maps are 
for information or illustration.

4.3 All of the Proposals Maps and many of the other maps have the same base map 
supplied by Ordnance Survey under the terms of a Public Sector Geospatial Agreement. 
They are copyright and one of the following copyright notices applies:

 If you are viewing this document as a PDF, on screen:
 © Crown copyright and database rights 2020 OS 0100060997. You are granted a 

non-exclusive, royalty free, revocable licence solely to view the Licensed Data for 
non-commercial purposes for the period during which the City of Durham Parish 
Council makes it available. You are not permitted to copy, sub-license, distribute, 
sell or otherwise make available the Licensed Data to third parties in any form. 
Third party rights to enforce the terms of this licence shall be reserved to OS.

 If you are viewing a paper copy of this document:
© Crown copyright and database rights 2020 OS 0100060997.  You are permitted 
to use this data solely to enable you to respond to, or interact with, the 
organisation that provided you with the data. You are not permitted to copy, sub-
licence, distribute or sell any of this data to third parties in any form.

4.4 The other base maps are provided by OpenStreetMap® and its © OpenStreetMap 
contributors. The data is available under the Open Database Licence, and the cartography

© City of Durham Parish Council, 2021 19

Page 205



Durham City Neighbourhood Plan

is licensed as CC BY-SA. Further details are on the OpenStreetMap copyright page at 
https://www.openstreetmap.org/copyright

4.5 These base maps have information overlaid on them, some generated by the 
Neighbourhood Plan Working Party, some provided by Durham County Council. 
Zoomable versions of these maps (with details of maps with Durham County Council 
information) are available at http://npf.durhamcity.org.uk/the-plan/maps

4.6 Map 7 of Durham in the late medieval period in Appendix A is from the book 'Durham: 
1000 Years of History' by Martin Roberts (ISBN 978-0-7524-2537-5) and we are grateful 
to Martin for freely giving us permission to use it.

4.7 All images are provided by volunteers on the Working Party except for the image at 
the top of the transport theme (provided by Douglas Pocock), the aerial photo of the City 
on the front cover (provided by Andrew and Clare Edge), the photo of the former MP 
provided by her office and the photo of the Chair of the City of Durham Parish Council 
provided by the Parish Clerk. We have their permission to include these but they still 
retain their own copyright.

© City of Durham Parish Council, 2021 20

Page 206



Durham City Neighbourhood Plan

4.1 THEME 1: A CITY WITH A SUSTAINABLE FUTURE

Vision

4.8 Durham City will have developments that meet and balance current needs without 
limiting or compromising the ability of future generations to meet their needs. All new 
development will contribute to a long-term sustainable future for Durham City by ensuring 
a balanced relationship among environmental, social and economic outcomes.

Objective

4.9 To ensure that sites and buildings approved for new development and/or 
redevelopment, renovation, conversion, extension will be sustainable.

Context

4.10 Sustainable development is the golden thread that runs throughout the National 
Planning Policy Framework (NPPF Chapter 2) and through our Neighbourhood Plan. A 
key purpose of planning is to promote sustainable development that seeks the 
achievement of a successful balance among the following three NPPF objectives (para. 
8). 

4.11 The economic objective is to contribute to building a strong, responsive and 
competitive economy by ensuring that sufficient land of the right type is available in the 
right places and at the right time to support growth and innovation that is needed to create
the range of jobs needed in future. The best use of the few available sites must be made 
and in particular counteract the domination in provision of accommodation for students 
over other established needs. It is also necessary to coordinate development 
requirements, including the provision of a modern transport and communications 
infrastructure. 

© City of Durham Parish Council, 2021 21

Page 207



Durham City Neighbourhood Plan

4.12 The social objective is to support strong, vibrant, balanced and healthy 
communities by meeting the housing needs of present and future generations and by 
creating a high quality built environment with accessible local services that meet the 
community's varied needs to support its health, educational, social and cultural well-being.
Given that Durham is a city with a growing student population, we must balance the needs
of all residents. The key social sustainability test of any new development in the City is the
contribution it makes to general well-being and equity for all. 

4.13 The environmental objective is to contribute to protecting and enhancing our 
natural, built and historic environment, all of which are particularly rich in Durham City. 
This objective will include helping to increase biodiversity, using natural resources 
prudently as we move to a low carbon economy to respond to the climate change 
emergency, minimising waste and pollution, and mitigating and adapting to climate 
change. In Durham City this requires particular attention to building resilience to flooding 
and safeguarding the high quality of the built and natural environment.

Justification 

4.14 This justification refers to the Sustainability theme as a whole. Additional, specific 
justification for an individual policy is given with the policy itself.

4.15 Delivery of this Plan's sustainability objective requires the application of the highest 
standards of current best practice to respond to the climate emergency. It is important that
developers are aware that sustainable development covers the whole process including 
the justification for the selection of the site, and the design process including the 
preparation of a masterplan for major development sites. Good practice also includes 
responsible use of resources in construction and operation and procedures for 
maintenance, refurbishment and ultimately demolition. There are further requirements for 
best practice in minimising waste and avoiding air, land and water pollution. Good practice
in terms of ensuring accessibility for all includes the use of qualified access consultants. In
order to meet the special requirements of development in Our Neighbourhood, there is an 
absolute need for the Planning Authority to make clear that a high level of achievement of 
each aspect of the development process is required.

Planning Policies and Proposals for Land Use

4.16 The policies related to this theme are:

 Policy S1: Sustainable Development Requirements of all Development and Re-
development Sites Including all New Building, Renovations and Extensions 

 Policy S2: The Requirement for Masterplans or Other Design and Development 
Frameworks

© City of Durham Parish Council, 2021 22

Page 208



Durham City Neighbourhood Plan

Policy S1: Sustainable Development Requirements of all Development and Re-
development Sites Including all New Building, Renovations and Extensions 

All development proposals should, where relevant and appropriate, demonstrate the 
following principles.

Promotion of economic well-being by: 

a) Contributing to a mix of uses which meet Our Neighbourhood’s employment and 
other development needs identified in the Local Plan and in the Durham City 
Neighbourhood Plan;

b) Supporting the sustainability of existing businesses  and promoting the vitality and
viability of Our Neighbourhood;

Conservation, preservation and enhancement of Our Neighbourhood by:

c) Harmonising with its context in terms of scale, layout, density, massing, height, 
materials, colour, and hard and soft landscaping;

d) Conserving the significance of the setting, character, local distinctiveness, 
important views, tranquillity and the contribution made to the sense of place by 
Our Neighbourhood’s designated and non-designated heritage assets; 

e) Protecting and enhancing the diversity of Our Neighbourhood’s natural 
environment in terms of biodiversity / geodiversity, designated wildlife sites and 
protected species, seeking biodiversity net gain wherever possible;

The responsible use of resources and increase in resilience to climate change by:

f) Maximising opportunities for the redevelopment of  brownfield sites and vacant or 
under-used buildings;

g) Efficiently utilising land, energy, and water and incorporating use of local and 
renewable building materials through sensitive design, layout, density and 
orientation;

h) Securing, wherever possible, on-site renewable energy generation, minimising 
energy consumption and carbon emissions, and securing the local sharing of 
technologies such as district heating schemes;

i) Avoiding of air, land and water pollution and maximisation of waste avoidance, 
reuse and recycling in both construction and the lifetime of the operation;

j) Applying the Sequential Test and if necessary the Exceptions Test (as required by
the NPPF) with the aim of directing development away from the Flood Zones 2 
and 3 where possible and necessary, or otherwise manage flood risk, taking into 
account the level of flood risk vulnerability for the relevant land uses; and

k) Incorporating the sustainable urban drainage system (SUDS) to achieve 
improvements in water quality, aquatic ecosystems, and habitats in order to 
increase resilience to climate change;

© City of Durham Parish Council, 2021 23

Page 209



Durham City Neighbourhood Plan

Securing equity and benefit to the local community by:

l) Improving inclusivity by demonstrating a good level of public accessibility and 
where relevant incorporating seating and public toilets; 

m) Securing a design and layout which is capable of reducing crime and/ or the fear 
of crime, as well as respecting  privacy of, and visual impact on, occupiers of 
neighbouring properties; and

n) Ensuring the location and layout of the development maximise public transport, 
walking and cycling opportunities, and provide paving, lighting and signs which 
meet all needs, including those of people with disabilities, older people, and 
children.

Justification

4.17 Sustainable development Policy S1 sets out the economic, social and environmental 
criteria that development proposals will be required to meet. S1 is the first policy of the 
Plan for the following reasons:

1. emphatic championing of the vision of a sustainable future for the City
2. support for developments that achieve high levels of sustainability 
3. consistency provided for the other Themes 2 to 6 and the avoidance of duplication

4.18 The 14 elements included in Policy S1 have been placed in four groups to reflect the 
strong views received during the development of the plan. They are: 

 Promotion of economic well-being
 Conservation, preservation and enhancement of Our Neighbourhood
 The responsible use of resources and increasing resilience to climate change
 Securing equity and benefit to the local community

4.19 Within the scope of each of these groups there are strategies, plans, policies, and 
advice already in place which emanate from national, regional and local bodies which are 
given local application throughout this Neighbourhood Plan.

Promotion of economic well-being

4.20 These matters are covered in detail in Theme 3: A City with a Diverse and Resilient 
Economy. Aspects that relate specifically to the responsible use of resources are included 
here.

Conservation and enhancement of Our Neighbourhood

4.21 These matters are covered in detail in Theme 2a: A Beautiful and Historic City – 
Heritage and in Theme 2b: A Beautiful and Historic City – Green Infrastructure. Aspects 
that relate specifically to the responsible use of resources are included here. Both the 

© City of Durham Parish Council, 2021 24

Page 210



Durham City Neighbourhood Plan

NPPF and Historic England have advised that conservation and enhancement go hand in 
hand.

The responsible use of resources and increasing resilience to climate change 

4.22 In addition to the protection and enhancement of green assets (covered in Theme 
2b: A Beautiful and Historic City –  Green Infrastructure), there are four key environmental 
sustainability issues relevant to Our Neighbourhood: resilience to climate change, air 
quality, water quality and flood risk, as fully set out in Figure 1.

Securing equity and benefit to the local community

4.23 These matters are covered in detail in Theme 6: A City with an Enriched Community 
Life and Theme 4: A City with Attractive and Affordable Places to Live.  Aspects that relate 
specifically to the responsible use of resources are included here.

Figure 1: The Climate Crisis and the Neighbourhood Plan

Resilience to climate change

1. The NPPF (Chapter 14) covers 'Meeting the challenge of climate change, flooding and coastal
change'. It notes that

The planning system should support the transition to a low carbon future in a changing 
climate, taking full account of flood risk and coastal change. It should help to: shape 
places in ways that contribute to radical reductions in greenhouse gas emissions, 
minimise vulnerability and improve resilience; encourage the reuse of existing resources,
including the conversion of existing buildings; and support renewable and low carbon 
energy and associated infrastructure. (para. 148)

Proactive strategies are needed to mitigate and adapt to climate change, taking full account of 
flood risk, coastal change and water supply and demand considerations. 

2. Durham County Council has addressed sustainability in its 'Climate Change Strategy and 
Delivery Plan' (County Durham Environment Partnership, 2015a,b). This key document provides 
a context for consideration of sustainable development in the Durham City Neighbourhood Plan 
and the two documents are complementary when taken together. The strategy has seven key 
themes; the relevant ones to this issue are: 

• A low carbon economy including: encouraging green jobs, technology innovation (e.g. 
micro/community energy generation) and green tourism

• The built environment including: the challenge to ensure current buildings and businesses 

are energy efficient and to encourage uptake of Sustainable Urban Drainage
• The natural environment including: protecting and enhancing the network of green spaces 

and corridors, enhancing biodiversity and ensuring more resilience to climate change, 
encouraging water management

• Transport and infrastructure including: promoting travel choices and alternatives to private 

motor travel, and to diesel and petrol cars (e.g. providing electric vehicle charging points)
• Community engagement: commitment of local people to successful delivery of a low carbon 

future.

© City of Durham Parish Council, 2021 25

Page 211



Durham City Neighbourhood Plan

The Delivery Plan states that the Council wants to engage with residents, groups and businesses
so as to successfully deliver the Strategy. 

3. The Council further supports sustainability in the ' Sustainable Communities Strategy for 
County Durham 2014-2030' (County Durham Partnership, 2014). Relevant aspects include: 
‘Altogether greener’ - deliver a cleaner and more attractive sustainable environment; reduce 
carbon emissions and adapt to the impact of climate change. The 'Durham Strategic Green 
Infrastructure Framework' (Durham County Council, 2018b) supports green infrastructure which 
is important to manage flooding and to help to mitigate the effects of climate change. Again, the 
two strategies form an essential context for the consideration and promotion of sustainable 
development in this Plan.

Air quality

4. The government has produced a 'Draft UK Air Quality Plan for tackling nitrogen dioxide' and 
outlined a Clean Air Zone Framework (Department for Environment, Food and Rural Affairs and 
Department for Transport, 2017a,b). The aim of the draft Air Quality Plan is to reduce 
concentrations of Nitrogen Dioxide around roads and to achieve the statutory limit values for the 
whole of the UK within the shortest possible time. Local authorities are required to take the lead 
in tackling this by establishing Air Quality Management Areas, where applicable, and drawing up 
an action plan detailing remedial measures. A Clean Air Zone is

an area where targeted action is taken to improve air quality [from all sources of 
pollution] ... in order to shape the urban environment in a way that delivers improved 
health benefits and supports economic growth. '... [with] measures to accelerate the 
transition to a low emission economy ... and restrictions to encourage only the cleanest 
vehicles to operate in the city. (Department for Environment, Food and Rural Affairs and 
Department for Transport, 2017a, p.1,2)   

 
5. Durham County Council declared an Air Quality Monitoring Area in May 2011, extended in July
2014, for those parts of the City where air quality is a risk to human health (i.e. the A690 from 
Gilesgate roundabout to Stonebridge; Gilesgate Bank (leading to Sunderland Road and Marshall
Terrace); New Elvet; Claypath; Framwellgate Peth). In order to address the issues an Air Quality 
Action Plan was approved in June 2016 (AECOM, 2016). In support of the policy, Theme 5: A 
City with a Modern and Sustainable Transport Infrastructure promotes and supports alternatives 
to private motor vehicles, i.e. walking, cycling and use of public transport.

Water quality

6. The River Wear lies in the Northumbria River Basin District. A management plan for this river 
basin has been produced (Environment Agency, 2016). The purpose of a river basin 
management plan is to provide a framework for protecting and enhancing the water environment 
through land-use planning. Neighbourhood plans need to ensure that developments do not 
negatively affect, either directly or indirectly, the quality of the water environment, and where 
possible reduce the impact on the water environment.

Flood risk

7. The River Wear flows through Our Neighbourhood and there are Zone 3 Flood Risk areas on 
both banks: historically there have been serious floods every few years. A map of the flood risk at
a specified postcode can be seen at https://flood-warning-information.service.gov.uk/long-term-
flood-risk/map The NPPF (para. 155 to 165) and Planning Practice Guidance on 'Flood risk and 

© City of Durham Parish Council, 2021 26

Page 212



Durham City Neighbourhood Plan

coastal change' cover the approach to development and flood risk and the Environment Agency 
has produced a flood map for planning (currently in beta version). The NPPF (para. 157 to 164) 
advocates a sequential approach to the allocation of sites for future development and/or 
regeneration, in which areas of very low, or no, flood risk are sought as a priority. The Flood 
Zones comprise:

 Zone 3b - functional floodplain
 Zone 3a - high probability of flooding
 Zone 2 - medium probability of flooding
 Zone 1 - low probability of flooding

The sequential test requires that:

1. The overall aim of decision-makers should be to steer new development to Flood Zone 1.
2. Where there are no reasonable available sites in Flood Zone 1, decision-makers should take 

into account the flood risk vulnerability of land uses and consider reasonable available sites 
in Flood Zone 2.

3. Only where there are no reasonably available sites in Flood Zones 1 and 2 should decision-
makers consider the suitability of sites in Flood Zone 3, taking into account the flood risk 
vulnerability of land uses. 

Typically, residential development is considered ‘more vulnerable’ for planning purposes, 
whereas commercial development will fall into ‘less vulnerable’. Where a risk of flooding has 
been identified within a site, it will be necessary to incorporate design measures to ensure that 
this is mitigated safely, and does not result in increase in flood risk elsewhere. In our 
Neighbourhood Plan all designated housing and economic sites lie in Zone 1 (low probability of 
flooding).

8. Durham County Council has a statutory requirement to consider the risk of flooding when 
determining where, and what type of development should be allowed within the County. The 
Council's strategic flood risk assessment (AECOM, 2018; Durham County Council, 2016e; 
Durham County Council, Regeneration and Local Services, Technical Services, 2016) has the 
primary purpose of providing an overview of areas in County Durham that will be susceptible to 
flooding in a range of predictable flood events. As well as river flooding, parts of Our 
Neighbourhood are at risk of surface water flooding when heavy rainfall causes flooding from 
sewers, drains, groundwater, and runoff from land, small watercourses and ditches. It is 
important to follow the principles of sustainable drainage and water management in order to 
meet these challenges.

9. The Durham City Regeneration Masterplan (Durham County Council, 2014) outlines a number
of implementation projects and actions for Our Neighbourhood (a subset of the Durham City area
covered by the Masterplan). Ones relevant to flooding are: Modern infrastructure - flood 
mitigation measures with the Environment Agency. The saved policy U9 from the City of Durham 
Local Plan states that developments affecting watercourses are only permissible if they do not 
result in flooding or increased flood risk elsewhere, do not result in pollution of the watercourse, 
do not adversely affect nature conservation interests and the appearance of the landscape, and 
the environmental impact is properly assessed. This has informed policies in our Neighbourhood 
Plan.

© City of Durham Parish Council, 2021 27

Page 213



Durham City Neighbourhood Plan

Policy S2: The Requirement for Masterplans or Other Design and Development 
Frameworks

The preparation of a masterplan or other appropriate design and development framework
for all major development sites is supported prior to consideration of a planning 
application for the site.

Masterplans should address the following issues in so far as they are relevant to the 
particular development site:

a) to respect the scarcity and quality of land by ensuring that individual development
proposals contribute satisfactorily to the total jobs intended to be created on 
employment sites; and

b) to demonstrate that development proposals add distinction to the City’s 
landscape and townscape within the site through adherence to the masterplan’s 
physical design guidelines; and

c) to minimise any impact on views and setting of the World Heritage site and to 
avoid harm to the amenities of neighbouring areas, particularly in Conservation 
Areas; and

d) to reduce the impact of travel by residents, employees and visitors by improving 
the provision for walking, cycling and public transport and by limited provision of 
car parking carried out in accordance with an agreed travel plan; and

e)  to provide high levels of permeability within, to and from the site through safe and
attractive pedestrian and cycle routes: and

f) to contribute to well-being both within and adjacent to the site by the provision 
and maintenance of green infrastructure for the enjoyment of residents, 
employees and the public, ensuring access for all.

Justification 

4.24 The importance of the preparation of a masterplan for major development sites and 
that any such masterplan should demonstrate the highest standards of sustainability was 
emphasised in views received during the 2017 pre-submission public consultation. Further
comments were received during the 2019 consultation and these have been taken into 
account in presenting this revised version of Policy S2. What is proposed is a nuanced 
approach that takes account of the particular characteristics of each site and its impact on 
Our Neighbourhood. 

4.25 The NPPF clearly envisages a role for masterplans in its glossary definition of a 
design code: “A set of illustrated design requirements that provide specific, detailed 
parameters for the physical development of a site or area. The graphic and written 
components of the code should build upon a design vision, such as a masterplan or other 
design and development framework for a site or area.”

© City of Durham Parish Council, 2021 28

Page 214



Durham City Neighbourhood Plan

4.26 Major development sites are defined in the glossary of the NPPF. This 
Neighbourhood Plan adopts a slightly amended version of that so that it does not apply to 
small housing developments: “For housing, it means development where 30 or more 
homes will be provided. For mixed and non-residential development it means additional 
floorspace of 1,000m2 or more, or a site of 1 hectare or more, or as otherwise provided in 
the Town and Country Planning (Development Management Procedure) (England) Order 
2015.” (UK Government, 2015).

4.27 Bearing in mind the historic character of Our Neighbourhood, it is appropriate that a 
separate policy on masterplans (S2) should be included. These need to take account of 
the World Heritage Site Management Plan and the Conservation Area Appraisals. Major 
development sites require masterplans that will ensure avoidance of standard solutions, 
respect local surroundings, and create the highest quality of design. Masterplans will 
ensure that buildings and spaces are of the right type and in the right place. They will 
reduce the risk of inappropriate or piecemeal development and protect views to and from 
the World Heritage Site and its setting. Access and traffic considerations are important in 
major developments because of the imperative to create a low carbon economy and to 
provide access for all, especially for those with special needs such as mobility difficulties 
and dementia.

4.28 The masterplan or other appropriate design and development framework should be 
prepared by the local planning authority and/or applicant. This should be submitted to 
public scrutiny and take full account of representations made. This can be done through 
the normal planning application process, perhaps as part of an outline planning 
application, within which the masterplan will be a material planning consideration. 
According to Durham County Council’s website 
(https://www.durham.gov.uk/article/11465/What-are-Masterplans-, accessed September 
2019), masterplans do the following:

 Help to guide investment and improvements to towns across the county.
 Help set down how our towns can develop in the future, ensuring that buildings 

and spaces are of the right type and are in the right place, and complement our 
existing guidance and documents, including the emerging County Durham Plan.

 Can be taken into account as material planning considerations when applications 
are being considered.

4.29 Durham County Council’s (2016c) 'Durham City Masterplan Update' refers to the 
Milburngate House site and states that the Council “will work through the planning process
to ensure a high quality and sensitive scheme is developed on this exceptional site within 
view of the World Heritage Site” (p.8). This is precisely the sort of site to which this policy 
on masterplans would apply. Other such sites in Our Neighbourhood are Aykley Heads, 
Mount Oswald, Mountjoy, Hild/Bede and Elvet Riverside; others might become available in
the future.

© City of Durham Parish Council, 2021 29

Page 215



Durham City Neighbourhood Plan

THE REST OF THIS PAGE IS DELIBERATELY LEFT BLANK

© City of Durham Parish Council, 2021 30

Page 216



Durham City Neighbourhood Plan

THEME 2a: A BEAUTIFUL AND HISTORIC CITY – HERITAGE

Vision

4.30 Durham City’s local heritage will be conserved and enhanced for the cultural benefit 
and health and well-being of present and future generations.

Objectives

4.31 The objectives of this theme are:

1. To sustain and conserve, and wherever possible enhance, the site and setting of 
the Durham Cathedral and Castle World Heritage Site;

2. To conserve and enhance the Conservation Areas and their setting by sensitive 
and well-designed development that:
(a) balances conflicting needs with emphasis on avoiding diluting the distinctive 
character of the locality;
(b) sustains and increases their social, economic and environmental vitality;
(c) avoids the cumulative impact of schemes which dominate either by their size, 
massing or uniformity; 

3. To uphold high standards of sympathetic, distinctive, and innovative design; 
4. To conserve heritage assets;

© City of Durham Parish Council, 2021 31

Page 217



Durham City Neighbourhood Plan

5. To protect and enhance public spaces within the City as settings for Heritage 
assets.

Context

4.32 The historic City and its setting is the quality for which Durham is universally known 
and loved and is the key stewardship issue for its local authorities and its residents. The 
importance of the heritage aspect has been recognised by the designation of the 
Cathedral and Castle as a World Heritage Site and the designation of the Durham City 
Conservation Area and the Burn Hall Conservation Area. They form the focus of the 
heritage aspect of this theme. The green setting of the World Heritage Site and the 
Conservation Areas are part of their charm and this is covered in the Green Infrastructure 
Theme 2b.

4.33 Protection is also afforded by the designation of World Heritage Site, the Green Belt, 
the Conservation Areas and designated heritage assets including listed buildings and 
scheduled monuments. There are also non-designated sites (notable unlisted assets) of 
historic, architectural, aesthetic and social interests in which the City is hugely endowed, 
and which are identified in Durham County Council's character appraisal of the City 
(Durham County Council, 2016b) as notable unlisted buildings. 

4.34 Historic England's National Heritage List for England gives details of the designated 
heritage assets in Our Neighbourhood and a summary is available in Table D2 in 
Appendix D. Appendix B gives a list of non-designated heritage assets in Our 
Neighbourhood which is derived from Durham City Conservation Area Character Area 
documents (Durham County Council, 2016b), and the monitoring and updating of this list 
is included as an initiative in the companion document 'Looking Forwards: Durham as a 
Creative and Sustainable City'.

Justification

4.35 This justification refers to the Heritage theme as a whole. Additional, specific 
justification for each heritage policy is given with the policy itself.

4.36 The remarkable heritage values of Durham City belong to everyone and justify 
conservation now and in the future. To conserve the City’s outstanding heritage and to 
promote good design of new development is strongly supported by local people in 
response to the Forum's public consultation and the study of young people’s views 
(Durham City Neighbourhood Planning Forum, 2015, 2016a).

4.37 The Government promotes the conservation of the historic environment and heritage 
in the NPPF (para. 8, 20(d), and Chapter 16, and associated PPG 'Historic environment') 
and in the white papers ‘Heritage Protection for the 21st Century’ (Department for Culture,
Media and Sport, 2007) and 'The Culture White Paper (Department for Culture, Media and
Sport, 2016). The NPPF (para. 184) recognises that heritage assets are an irreplaceable 

© City of Durham Parish Council, 2021 32

Page 218



Durham City Neighbourhood Plan

resource that should be conserved "in a manner appropriate to their significance, so that 
they can be enjoyed for their contribution to the quality of life of this and future 
generations”. The Culture White Paper states that "Our historic built environment is a 
unique asset and local communities will be supported to make the most of the buildings 
they cherish." (p.36). Historic England, the public body looking after England's historic 
environment, provides much guidance with the aim of championing and protecting historic 
places. It notes in its planning guidance that "Heritage can play a part in delivering all 
three elements of sustainable development." (Historic England, Conservation principles, 
policies and guidance).

4.38 As well as the national and international designation of the Cathedral and Castle as a
World Heritage Site (Durham World Heritage Site, 2017), the value of Durham's heritage 
is acknowledged by the designation of the Durham City Conservation Area (Durham 
County Council, 2016b) and the Burn Hall Conservation Area within Our Neighbourhood, 
and the adjacent Shincliffe and Sunderland Bridge Conservations Areas. The Sustainable 
Communities Strategy for County Durham 2014-2030 (County Durham Partnership, 2014)
includes the objectives to promote sustainable design and protect Durham’s heritage. 
Numerous saved policies from the City of Durham Local Plan are relevant, designating 
assets, determining what type of development is permissible and promoting good design 
(E3,4,5,5A,6,21,22,23,24,25; H13; Q4,8,9,10,11,12; U2). The Durham City Regeneration 
Masterplan (Durham County Council, 2014) and its update (Durham County Council, 
2016c) have a number of implementation projects and actions relevant to the heritage of 
Our Neighbourhood (a subset of the Durham City area covered by the Masterplan), i.e. 
making the most of the historic core - in partnership with Durham University, the Durham 
Business Improvement District, event planners, hotels, to increase visitor numbers and 
ensure care of historic buildings. Completed projects include the renovation of Wharton 
Park.

4.39 Historic England's high level principles emphasise the importance of place: 
"Understanding the significance of places is vital. Significant places should be managed to
sustain their values." (Historic England, Conservation principles, policies and guidance). 
The Culture White Paper (Department for Culture, Media and Sport, 2016) calls for 
partnerships "to develop the role of culture in place-making." (p.34) Locally, the North East
Culture Partnership has set up the 'Case for Culture' Project for cultural development 
focusing on the arts and heritage. The requirement to seek a balance between innovative 
new development which enhances the historic environment and the conservation of 
medieval routes and landmarks is of great importance for ensuring that Durham City 
retains its sense of place and authenticity.

Planning Policies and Proposals for Land Use

4.40 The policies related to this theme are:

 Policy H1: Protection and Enhancement of the World Heritage Site
 Policy H2: The Conservation Areas

© City of Durham Parish Council, 2021 33

Page 219



Durham City Neighbourhood Plan

 Policy H3: Our Neighbourhood Outside the Conservation Areas

4.41 These policies relate to the heritage assets in Our Neighbourhood, covering the 
World Heritage Site, the Conservation Areas and designated and non-designated assets. 
The NPPF (currently the February 2019 version) details how to determine development 
proposals that affect heritage assets, e.g. in para. 193 to 197: 

When considering the impact of a proposed development on the significance of a 
designated heritage asset, great weight should be given to the asset’s 
conservation (and the more important the asset, the greater the weight should be). 
This is irrespective of whether any potential harm amounts to substantial harm, 
total loss or less than substantial harm to its significance.

Any harm to, or loss of, the significance of a designated heritage asset (from its 
alteration or destruction, or from development within its setting), should require 
clear and convincing justification. Substantial harm to or loss of:
a) grade II listed buildings, or grade II registered parks or gardens, should be 
exceptional;
b) assets of the highest significance, notably scheduled monuments, protected 
wreck sites, registered battlefields, grade I and II* listed buildings, grade I and II* 
registered parks and gardens, and World Heritage Sites, should be wholly
exceptional.

Where a proposed development will lead to substantial harm to (or total loss of 
significance of) a designated heritage asset, local planning authorities should 
refuse consent, unless it can be demonstrated that the substantial harm or total 
loss is necessary to achieve substantial public benefits that outweigh that harm or 
loss, or all of the following apply:
a) the nature of the heritage asset prevents all reasonable uses of the site; and
b) no viable use of the heritage asset itself can be found in the medium term 
through appropriate marketing that will enable its conservation; and
c) conservation by grant-funding or some form of not for profit, charitable or public 
ownership is demonstrably not possible; and
d) the harm or loss is outweighed by the benefit of bringing the site back into use.

Where a development proposal will lead to less than substantial harm to the 
significance of a designated heritage asset, this harm should be weighed against 
the public benefits of the proposal including, where appropriate, securing its 
optimum viable use.

The effect of an application on the significance of a non-designated heritage asset 
should be taken into account in determining the application. In weighing 
applications that directly or indirectly affect non-designated heritage assets, a 
balanced judgement will be required having regard to the scale of any harm or loss
and the significance of the heritage asset.

© City of Durham Parish Council, 2021 34

Page 220



Durham City Neighbourhood Plan

Policy H1: Protection and Enhancement of the World Heritage Site

Development proposals within the Durham Cathedral and Castle World Heritage Site 
should sustain, conserve, and enhance its Outstanding Universal Value and support the 
current adopted management plan.

Development proposals within the World Heritage Site should sustain, conserve and 
enhance the World Heritage Site by:

a) demonstrating account has been taken of both the historical and present uses of 
the World Heritage Site; and

b) proposing high quality design which contributes to the quality and significance of 
the World Heritage Site; and

c) using materials and finishes appropriate to the vernacular, context and setting; 
and

d) seeking balance in terms of scale, density, massing, form, layout, landscaping 
and open spaces.

Development proposals throughout Our Neighbourhood should be shown to sustain, 
conserve and enhance the setting of the World Heritage Site where appropriate by:

e) carrying out an assessment of how the development will affect the setting of the 
World Heritage Site, including views to and from the World Heritage Site; and

f) protecting important views; and
g) taking opportunities to open up lost views and create new views and vistas.

4.42 The new management plan of the Durham World Heritage Site (2017) is now 
operational and runs from 2017 to 2023. It can be treated as a material document for 
planning purposes (particularly the Action Plan p.36 to 46). Its aims (p.4) are to:

 Protect the Site’s Outstanding Universal Value and setting;
 Conserve and enhance the Site and its setting;
 Support understanding and awareness of the Site and its Outstanding Universal 

Value and of World Heritage;
 Support communities in realising the economic, social and cultural opportunities 

and benefits World Heritage status can bring;
 Support visitor and communities’ access, their enjoyment of the Site and its 

benefits;
 Provide WHS management to deliver all aims.

4.43 The identification of an inner and outer setting of the World Heritage Site is to protect
the site and sustain the Outstanding Universal Value. Outstanding Universal Value is 
"cultural and/or natural significance which is so exceptional as to transcend national 
boundaries and to be of common importance for present and future generations of all 
humanity” (UNESCO, 2008, para. 49). Durham's World Heritage Site's Outstanding 
Universal Value includes the Cathedral and Castle and associated historic buildings, their 
landscape setting (comprising the historic City, its buildings and streets, the river and the 

© City of Durham Parish Council, 2021 35

Page 221



Durham City Neighbourhood Plan

riverbank, the green assets, and local and long distance views to and from the site), its 
cultural and religious traditions (historically and currently) and its meaning for people.

4.44 The management plan has a number of issues in its Action Plan (p.36-45) that have 
been relevant to the development of policies in the Neighbourhood Plan, as listed below:

1 Objective 1.1 Ensure the protection of the OUV through planning policy and 
processes (Action 1.1.1 Liaise with County Durham/ Neighbourhood Plan teams 
to ensure they accurately reflect the OUV and attributes of the Site in Local 
Plans)

2 Objective 2.2 Conserve the setting of the WHS and encourage appropriate and 
sensitive development and support the ongoing regeneration of Durham and its 
environs. (Action 2.2.1 Build and confirm support for an inner setting area around
an expanded WHS core area in lieu of a Buffer Zone; Action 2.2.2 Increase 
understanding of the inner setting through views and general analysis; Action 
2.2.3 Promote the use of ICOMOS Heritage Impact Assessments for new 
developments in and around the WHS; Action 2.2.4 Make available to 
prospective developers, descriptions of significance and key factors forming the 
character of the townscape that support the OUV of the Site; Action 2.2.6 
Develop and deliver a programme of more proactive tree management along the
riverbanks and upon the Peninsula and continue the conservation of the WHS 
riverbanks, woodlands and associated structures; Action 2.2.7 Ensure that all 
maintenance and development plans on the WHS pay due attention to the 
preservation and support of fauna and flora.

3 Objective 2.3 Pursue expansion of the WHS boundary (Action 2.3.1 Review 
inner and outer riverbanks for potential to become new boundary of the WHS2; 
Action 2.3.2 Build documentary evidence in support of the conservation and 
restoration of these historic Green Landscapes)

4 Objective 4.1 Maximise the benefits brought to the region by sustainable and 
appropriate use of the WHS as a visitor attraction and maximise the benefit to 

© City of Durham Parish Council, 2021 36

Page 222



Durham City Neighbourhood Plan

the WHS of the local and regional development of Durham’s tourist offer (Action 
4.1.2 Integrate the WHS within local and regional tourism strategies)

5 Objective 5.3 Increase visitor/user engagement with the WHS (Action 5.3.4 
Develop guided walks, controlled public access and new signage and 
interpretation boards along the riverbanks)

6 Objective 5.4 Improve physical access to and across the WHS (Action 5.4.1 
Improve physical access to and around the WHS for users with disabilities and 
their carers. Ensure all development projects include consideration of 
improvements to access; Action 5.4.2 Work in partnership to support the 
continuation/expansion of the Cathedral Bus service; Action 5.4.3 Work in 
partnership to address traffic congestion on the peninsula) 

4.45 The implementation plan will be undertaken by the World Heritage Site Coordinating 
Committee whose local representatives include Durham Cathedral, Durham University, St 
John’s College and University College (as landowners), Durham County Council (as a 
statutory consultee) and the City of Durham Trust. It is essential that the needs of all 
people including those with disabilities, the very old and young, are addressed when 
considering every aspect of the implementation plan.

Map 1: World Heritage Site Boundaries

© City of Durham Parish Council, 2021 37

Page 223



Durham City Neighbourhood Plan

Map 2: World Heritage Site Inner Setting 

Justification

4.46 The Forum’s priority survey (Durham City Neighbourhood Planning Forum, 2015) 
identified that local people valued highly the World Heritage Site, the Cathedral, the Castle
and Palace Green. For them a high priority is to conserve the City’s heritage. In the 
Forum's study of the views of young people (Durham City Neighbourhood Planning 
Forum, 2016a), their priorities included heritage. The young people all had a strong 
appreciation of the heritage and architecture of the City and a discernible pride in the 
historic centre, particularly the Cathedral and Castle.

4.47 Durham Cathedral and Castle were inscribed by UNESCO as a World Heritage Site 
in 1986 in recognition of its Outstanding Universal Value. The Government is a signatory 
to the UNESCO (1972) World Heritage Convention and has a statutory duty to conserve 
World Heritage Sites so that they can be enjoyed by present and future generations (PPG 
'Historic environment' para. 026 to 038). Durham County Council is a member of the 
World Heritage Site Coordinating Committee which manages the site. Saved policies of 
the City of Durham Local Plan cover protection of the World Heritage Site (E3) and 
extension of its area (E4).

4.48 The Site is set in an intimate landscape bowl forming the inner setting with the higher
land forming the backdrop to the World Heritage Site. (See Map 2, the inner settings). The
surrounding green wooded hills, ridge lines and green fingers of land which penetrate into 

© City of Durham Parish Council, 2021 38

Page 224



Durham City Neighbourhood Plan

the City create a magnificent setting for the Cathedral and Castle and include Flass Vale, 
Whinney Hill, Observatory Hill, Maiden Castle and Mountjoy, together with the River Wear
that meanders through the City. Most of Our Neighbourhood is contained within the inner 
setting of the World Heritage Site. These important viewpoints contributing to the setting 
are identified within the County Council’s Durham City Conservation Area Character 
Appraisal (Durham County Council, 2016b), and must therefore be protected from 
inappropriate development. 

4.49 Views of the Cathedral from within Our Neighbourhood are many and various: they 
include the well-known view from a train on the Viaduct and also the view from the railway
station, Wharton Park, Observatory Hill, the University of Durham Hill Colleges, Farnley 
Rise, the approach to the peninsula from Kingsgate Bridge and the slip road from the 
Motorway to Gilesgate roundabout. Plan 2 from the Durham World Heritage Site (2017, 
p.19) Management Plan shows notable viewpoints (see Map 2 in the Neighbourhood 
Plan). This list is indicative and not exhaustive. It is essential that views of the World 
Heritage Site are not obstructed by new developments. The Parish Council will be 
preparing an updated evidence base of Our Neighbourhood, linked to further studies and 
progress with initiatives set out in the associated ‘Looking Forwards’ document that the 
Parish Council adopted alongside the Submission Draft Neighbourhood Plan. This will 
form part of the evidence base for a future revision of the Plan. In particular, this will 
include coverage of important views, lost views and new views and vistas.

4.50 The outer setting comprises the surrounding hills and ridges and wider visual context
of the City. To the south the outer bowl is essentially rural with the City confined to the 
foreground and distant settlements situated below the horizon. To the north the character 
is more developed but with larger areas of open countryside. There are many vantage 
points from which the World Heritage Site (and its associated urban and green setting) 
can be viewed with varying degrees of visibility. The outer edges of Our Neighbourhood 
lie in the outer setting of the World Heritage Site. 

Policy H2: The Conservation Areas

Durham City Conservation Area

Development proposals within or affecting the setting of the Durham City Conservation 
Area should sustain and enhance its significance as identified within the Conservation 
Area Appraisals. 

Development proposals within and affecting the Durham City Conservation Area should 
take into account, and meet where relevant, the following requirements, by:

a) sustaining and enhancing the historic and architectural qualities of buildings, and 
b) sustaining and enhancing continuous frontages, street patterns, boundary 

treatments, floorscapes and roofscapes; and
c) respecting historic boundaries and curtilages; and 

© City of Durham Parish Council, 2021 39

Page 225



Durham City Neighbourhood Plan

d) avoiding demolition of assets of historic and/or architectural interest which 
contribute to the character and appearance of the area; and

e) avoiding loss of, or harm to, an element of an asset which makes a positive 
contribution to its individual significance and that of the surrounding area; and

f) avoiding loss of open space that contributes to the character and appearance of 
the surrounding area; and

g) protecting important views of the Durham City Conservation Area from viewpoints
within and outside the Conservation Area; and

h) taking opportunities to open up lost views and create new views and vistas; and
i) having appropriate scale, density, massing, form, layout, landscaping, and open 

spaces; and
j) having materials, detailing and lighting appropriate to the vernacular, context and 

setting; and
k) using high quality design sympathetic to the character and context of the local 

area and its significance and distinctiveness, and to the immediate landscape; 
and

l) avoiding adding to the cumulative impact of development schemes which 
dominate either by their scale, massing or uniform design.

Burn Hall Conservation Area

Development proposals within and affecting the setting of the Burn Hall Conservation 
Area which fall within planning control should sustain and enhance the significance of the
Conservation Area.

© City of Durham Parish Council, 2021 40

Page 226



Durham City Neighbourhood Plan

Map 3: The Conservation Areas

© City of Durham Parish Council, 2021 41

Page 227



Durham City Neighbourhood Plan

Map 4: Durham City Conservation Area with Character Areas shown

4.51 The Durham City Conservation Area (see Maps 3 and 4) includes the Peninsula with 
the Cathedral and Castle as its centrepiece, the Market Place and medieval streets 
leading from Silver Street to the west, Claypath to the north-east, Elvet to the east and the
slightly more distant medieval suburb of Gilesgate. The natural ‘bowl’ in which the City is 
located, topography, the importance of green wedges of countryside and other significant 
green areas contribute significantly to, and enhance, the setting of the historic townscape 
of the City as a whole. The Conservation Area is divided into five Character Areas, based 
on the Peninsula and the four adjacent historical Boroughs which have changed little: 
Framwellgate, Crossgate, Elvet and Gilesgate. A more detailed description of these 
character areas is given in Appendix A. 

4.52 Durham City was designated as a Conservation Area in August 1968 focusing on the
peninsula, and the area covered was significantly enlarged in 1980 to incorporate a much 
larger section of the City. The Durham City Conservation Area was reviewed in 2015, with
some boundary changes, and a character appraisal document produced and formally 
approved on 29th July 2016. A management proposals section is included in the individual
Character Area documents (Durham County Council, 2016b) and development must be in
compliance with these. In addition there are appendices naming and describing listed 
buildings and notable unlisted buildings (i.e. non designated heritage assets).

© City of Durham Parish Council, 2021 42

Page 228



Durham City Neighbourhood Plan

4.53 The Burn Hall Conservation Area (see Map 3) includes the country estate of Burn 
Hall (listed Grade II*) with a complex of late eighteenth and early nineteenth century 
buildings, which stand in a site of 72 hectares. The estate is situated three miles south of 
Durham City in a rural area, adjacent to the west side of the A167 road, and is enclosed to
the north, west and south by the River Browney. The Hall faces south with land falling 
away and offering views of the river. The principal building is a two storey sandstone Hall 
designed by Ignatius Bonomi (with an impressive porte-cochere entrance). In the grounds 
are a nineteenth century wooden conservatory (listed Grade II) and a stone ice house 
(listed Grade II). In the park the Home Farm complex includes a stone Cow House and 
brick Bull House (late eighteenth century listed Grade II*). Nearer the Hall, the walled 
kitchen garden and estate cottages, now converted into offices, date from the late 
eighteenth century (listed Grade II). The grounds are a Grade II registered park and 
garden.

4.54 This Plan recommends that a management plan for the Burn Hall Conservation area 
is developed and made publicly available with the aim of further protecting this 
Conservation Area.

Justification

4.55 Conservation Areas are places where buildings and spaces around them interact to 
form distinctive visible areas of quality and "special architectural or historic interest, the 
character or appearance of which it is desirable to preserve or enhance" (PPG 'Historic 
environment' para. 023). 

4.56 The City of Durham is one of the most important historic cities in Britain. The quality 
and architectural coherence of the buildings, combining medieval elements with Georgian 
and Victorian later interventions, contribute to the historic environment. A medieval 
network of streets and alleyways (vennels), centred on the Peninsula and radiating 
outwards, with dramatic topography and extensive green spaces, make the Durham City 
Conservation Area exceptional. The City’s unique townscape forms the immediate setting 
of the World Heritage Site, its streets and domestic scale emphasising the World Heritage 
Site's dominance.

4.57 The significance of Durham’s historic environment is recognised and cherished by 
experts and local people, who responded to the Durham City Conservation Area appraisal
consultation and appreciate that national heritage is a significant economic and social 
resource. These responses are summarised in the individual Character Area appraisal 
documents (Durham County Council, 2016b). The importance of participation and 
enjoyment of the historic environment for present and future generations must be 
supported by development that is of high quality in both design and execution and has a 
durable quality: aspiration for imaginative and well designed buildings is strongly 
recommended by Historic England (2008, para. 138).

© City of Durham Parish Council, 2021 43

Page 229



Durham City Neighbourhood Plan

Policy H3: Our Neighbourhood Outside the Conservation Areas

Development proposals within Our Neighbourhood outside the Conservation Areas 
should, where appropriate, demonstrate an understanding of the area of the proposed 
development and its relationship to Our Neighbourhood as a whole.

Development proposals outside the Conservation Areas should take into account, and 
meet where appropriate and relevant to the area to which the proposal relates, the 
following requirements, by:

a) sustaining and making a positive contribution to the character and distinctiveness 
of the area; and

b) avoiding the loss of open space and public realm that contributes to the character
and appearance of the surrounding area; and

c) using high quality design which contributes to the quality and character of the 
area; and

d) having scale, density, massing, form, layout, landscaping and open spaces 
appropriate to the context and setting of the area; and

e) using materials and finishes appropriate to the context and setting of the area.

Justification

4.58 Our Neighbourhood extends beyond the Durham City Conservation Area to the north
of the City  as far as the suburb of North End, including County Hall and Aykley Heads; to 
the north-west is the residential area of Whitesmocks and west of the A167 is Toll House 
Road, Quarry House Lane and Neville's Cross Bank leading to Stonebridge; to the south 
is a Durham University site, and the Burn Hall Conservation Area. These areas are of 
significance to residents, and the characteristics of these buildings and their setting will 
become the heritage assets of the future and need to be protected today.

© City of Durham Parish Council, 2021 44

Page 230



Durham City Neighbourhood Plan

4.59 The characterful residential area at North End, including North and South Crescent, 
Fieldhouse Lane and adjoining streets, comprises a number of dwellings built in the 
interwar period. Architectural features such as doors, porches and windows are of local 
interest. Extensions are popular additions and should be well designed in keeping with the
properties' character and appearance. Adjacent to this suburb is Flass Vale, a hidden rural
wilderness which adds charm to the area. Residential properties lining Neville's Cross 
Bank cover a range of periods from late 19th century terraces to modern houses. To the 
west of the City and on either side of Toll House Road lies the site of the Battle of Neville's
Cross, 1346. The remaining stump of the original medieval cross, marking an approach to 
the City at Neville's Cross, is worthy of restoration and subsequent maintenance. In the 
south of Our Neighbourhood are Durham University's Lower and Upper Mountjoy site, the 
University Hill Colleges and Botanic Gardens. Beyond is natural landscape right down to 
the River Wear and offering space for recreation. The local character of parts of the City 
which lie outside the Durham City Conservation Area are predominantly residential with 
some green areas of scenic amenity and value. Here live many local families and older 
people, who cherish their neighbourhoods and care about the quality of development.

Heritage assets

4.60 "Listing is the term given to the practice of listing buildings, scheduling monuments, 
registering parks, gardens and battlefields, and protecting wreck sites" (Historic England). 
A listed building is a building of special architectural or historic interest, as specified by the
Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990 (UK Parliament, 1990). 
Listing is made at three levels of importance: Grade I, Grade II* and Grade II. The 
protection applies to the whole of the listed building and any structure attached to it and 
the land within its curtilage that pre-dates June 1948. A scheduled monument is an 
historic building or site that is included in the list of Scheduled Monuments kept by the 
Secretary of State for Culture Media and Sport. The regime is set out in the Ancient 
Monuments and Archaeological Areas Act 1979 (UK Parliament, 1979).

4.61 Historic England provides the official database of all listed buildings, scheduled 
monuments, protected wrecks and registered parks, gardens and battlefields. Information 
about sites in Durham City is available in Durham County Council's Historic Environment 
Record. 'Keys to the Past' and Durham County Council's 'The Durham Record' provides 
publicly available information.

4.62 At the time of compiling the data (September 2019) Our Neighbourhood had: 1 World
Heritage Site, 1 Registered battlefield, 1 Registered park and garden, 9 Scheduled 
monuments, 458 Listed buildings/structures (47 Grade I; 28 Grade II*, 383 Grade II), 2 
Conservation areas. (See Appendix D, Table D2.)

4.63 Protection of the World Heritage Site is covered in Policy H1 and of the Conservation
Areas in Our Neighbourhood in Policy H2. Neville's Cross Battlefield site is additionally 
covered in Policy G2.

© City of Durham Parish Council, 2021 45

Page 231



Durham City Neighbourhood Plan

4.64 There is a statutory duty to
protect listed buildings and
buildings in a conservation area
under Sections 66 and 72 of the
Planning (Listed Buildings and
Conservation Areas) Act 1990. 
For a listed building, consent is
required for any demolition,
extension or alteration which
may affect its character,
appearance or significance
(PPG 'Historic environment'
para. 044). For a scheduled
monument, any work on the site, or nearby operations that might affect it, require consent 
from the Secretary of State. (Historic England, Identification and Designation of Heritage 
Assets). Designated heritage sites are dealt with under the NPPF (Chapter 16; PPG 
'Historic environment' para. 021 to 038). Applications for planning permissions and listed 
building consent require consultation/notification to a range of national bodies such as 
Historic England (PPG 'Historic environment' para. 042 to 057).

4.65 However, despite this legal protection, and to the concern of local people, recently 
development proposals have been approved that have resulted in the loss of heritage 
assets (see Appendix B).

4.66 Non-designated heritage assets are "buildings, monuments, sites, places, areas or 
landscapes identified by plan-making bodies as having a degree of heritage significance 
meriting consideration in planning decisions but which do not meet the criteria for 
designated heritage assets" (PPG 'Historic environment' para. 039). 308 notable unlisted 
buildings (i.e. non-designated heritage assets) in Our Neighbourhood have been identified
through the Durham County Council (2016b) character appraisal of the Durham City 
Conservation Area. They are listed in Appendix B. These sites therefore have heritage 
significance which needs to be considered in planning decisions. This list in Appendix B is
not exhaustive, is the situation at the time of compiling the data (September 2019), and 
other non-designated heritage assets might be identified in the future.

4.67 Designated and non-designated heritage assets make an invaluable contribution to 
the character and significance of Our Neighbourhood. Not only is the visual impact 
important, but the buildings and assets of heritage interest provide a sense of place, 
identity and community.

4.68 "It is important that all non-designated heritage assets are clearly identified as such. 
In this context, it can be helpful if local planning authorities keep a local list of non-
designated heritage assets, incorporating any such assets which are identified by 
neighbourhood planning bodies." (PPG 'Historic environment' para. 040) This Plan urges 
Durham County Council to make such a list publicly available as well as a set of criteria 
for assessing non-designated heritage assets.

© City of Durham Parish Council, 2021 46

Page 232



Durham City Neighbourhood Plan

THEME 2b: A BEAUTIFUL AND HISTORIC CITY – GREEN INFRASTRUCTURE

Vision

4.69 Durham City's natural green spaces and networks of greenery will be protected and 
enhanced for the leisure, health, economic and environmental benefits they provide for 
residents, visitors and people working in the City. 

Objectives

4.70 The objectives of this theme are:

1. To protect and enhance the green infrastructure in Our Neighbourhood;
2. To protect and enhance the green assets of the World Heritage Site, and its inner 

setting, and of the character areas of the Durham City Conservation Area;
3. To address deficiencies of green infrastructure within Our Neighbourhood.

© City of Durham Parish Council, 2021 47

Page 233



Durham City Neighbourhood Plan

Context

Definition of green assets

4.71 Green infrastructure is the network of green assets (multi-functional green spaces 
and natural resources) within the City (PPG 'Natural environment' Glossary). Green 
assets cover a range of spatial scales and types of use. They include:

 the River and riverbanks, streams, ponds (i.e. blue infrastructure);
 open spaces (see Table 1 below);
 wildlife sites and wildlife habitats;
 woodland;
 parks and botanic gardens;
 public, community and private gardens;
 green landscaped areas;
 the grounds of the University, colleges, schools, hospitals, businesses and 

business parks;
 highway verges and railway embankments;
 footpaths and cycle paths;
 green corridors (a narrow strip of land containing enough habitat to support wildlife

and connecting wildlife populations and habitats separated by human activities or 
structures (such as buildings or roads). They include riverbanks, cycle paths and 
footpaths, road verges);

 dark corridors (unlit strips of land (e.g. footpaths, verges and riverbanks) that 
provide wildlife with protection from artificial lighting and routeways between larger,
unlit areas of habitat);

 cemeteries and churchyards;
 allotments and community gardens;
 sports and playing fields;
 amenity green spaces;
 designated Local Green Spaces;
 the Green Belt;
 trees, hedgerows, grass, vegetation;
 built structures such as green roofs, green walls, natural or artificial water features,

bird and bat boxes and roosting sites.

4.72 The above list includes open spaces. An open space is defined as any open piece of 
land that is undeveloped (i.e. has no buildings or other built structures on it): it can be both
public or private (with or without public access allowed). Open spaces can be green or 
hard, or a bit of both. A typology of open spaces (Department for Communities and Local 
Government, no date, Annexe) is given in Table 1 below:

© City of Durham Parish Council, 2021 48

Page 234



Durham City Neighbourhood Plan

Table 1: Topology of open spaces

Green Open Spaces Mixed Spaces (including
both green and hard

areas)

Hard Open Spaces

Natural / semi- natural 
spaces (such as wildlife 
sites, woodland)

Civic spaces with soft 
landscaping (e.g. grass, 
trees, flowerbeds, water 
features)

Civic spaces (hard) (such as 
town squares, public seating 
areas)

Green corridors (including 
riverbanks, cycle paths and
footpaths, road verges)

Play spaces (for children and 
young people

Waterways (including 
rivers, streams)

Outdoor sports facilities 
(with grass surfaces)

Outdoor sports facilities 
(including playing fields,  open 
air courts) (with hard surfaces)

Parks and gardens Roundabouts (with soft 
landscaping)

Roundabouts (with hard 
surfaces)

Churchyards, cemeteries 
and burial grounds (open or
closed to burials)

Amenity green spaces 
(most commonly, but not 
exclusively in housing 
areas - including informal 
recreation spaces, green 
spaces in and around 
housing, domestic gardens 
and village greens)

Allotments and community 
gardens

Road verges

Vacant lot (with vegetation) Vacant lot (with hard surfaces)

4.73 The City’s attractiveness and character is enhanced by the natural open spaces and 
networks of greenery which are valued throughout the year by residents, visitors and 
those working in the City. This green infrastructure serves a variety of purposes: the 
character setting of the World Heritage Site and Conservation Areas, attractive open 
spaces and footpaths for recreation and connections between communities, beneficial 
effects on people’s health, an attractive setting which encourages new businesses and 
new residents to move to the City, visitor and tourist attractions, beneficial habitats for 
biodiversity, and mitigating the effects of climate change, e.g. green assets providing 
carbon storage. (PPG 'Natural environment' para. 006)

4.74 Table D1 in Appendix D lists landscape and natural environment assets and open 
spaces in Our Neighbourhood, describing the context as known at the time of compiling 
the data (September 2019). This identifies many resources, however it cannot be used as 
a comprehensive list. 

© City of Durham Parish Council, 2021 49

Page 235



Durham City Neighbourhood Plan

Justification

4.75 This justification refers to the Green Infrastructure theme as a whole. Additional, 
specific justification for an individual policy is given with the policy itself.

4.76 The Forum’s priority survey (Durham City Neighbourhood Planning Forum, 2015) 
identified that local people valued highly the green infrastructure of the City. One of the 
highest rated aspects was the riverbank setting and riverside walks. In addition they rated 
the woodland ‘wedges’ which bring green space into City, pedestrianised areas, Council 
flower displays and tree plantings, parks and nature areas. One of their priorities is to 
protect green spaces/green belt and the environment. In the Forum's study of the views of
young people (Durham City Neighbourhood Planning Forum, 2016a), one of their priorities
included the River Wear. The young people all enjoyed the river and the river walks, and 
felt that even more could be made of the riverbanks to improve access and leisure 
opportunities.

4.77 An environmental objective is one of the three objectives in achieving sustainable 
development (NPPF para. 8). The NPPF covers green infrastructure in a number of 
chapters:

 Chapter 15. Conserving and enhancing the natural environment. "Planning policies
and decisions should contribute to and enhance the natural and local environment 
by: a) protecting and enhancing valued landscapes, sites of biodiversity or 
geological value and soils (in a manner commensurate with their statutory status 
or identified quality in the development plan); ... d) minimising impacts on and 
providing net gains for biodiversity, including by establishing coherent ecological 
networks that are more resilient to current and future pressures" (NPPF para. 170);

 Chapter 8. Promoting healthy and safe communities, e.g. "through the use of ... 
high quality public space ... [and] the provision of safe and accessible green 
infrastructure, sports facilities ...  allotments and layouts that encourage walking 
and cycling" (NPPF para. 91)

 Chapter 13. Protecting Green Belt land
 Chapter 14. Meeting the challenge of climate change, flooding and coastal 

change, e.g. managing risks "through suitable adaptation measures, including 
through the planning of green infrastructure" (NPPF para. 150)

4.78 'The Natural Choice' (the natural environment white paper: UK Government, 2011) 
emphasises that a healthy, properly functioning natural environment is the foundation of 
sustained economic growth, prospering communities and personal well-being. The 
biodiversity strategy (Department for Environment, Food and Rural Affairs, 2011) builds 
on the natural environment white paper. Its mission is to halt overall biodiversity loss, 
support healthy well-functioning ecosystems and establish coherent ecological networks, 
with more and better places for nature for the benefit of wildlife and people. 

4.79 The Natural Capital Committee (2018) was set up to provide the UK Government 
with independent advice on protecting and improving natural capital, i.e. green assets, 
land, minerals and water It is currently working on developing a 25 year Environment Plan

© City of Durham Parish Council, 2021 50

Page 236



Durham City Neighbourhood Plan

to implement the 'Natural choice' White Paper (UK Government, 2011). The goals they 
recommend include providing everyone with access to local green space, restoring and 
enhancing wild species populations and habitats, and managing developments so that 
there is an overall net increase in natural habitat. 

4.80 The 'Green Infrastructure Guidance' (Natural England, 2009) provides a 
comprehensive overview of the concept of green infrastructure, signposts to other relevant
information, and maps out wider policy priorities and drivers for green infrastructure. Its 
aim is to drive forward green infrastructure planning and delivery. 

4.81 More than 70 organisations from across multiple sectors have joined forces to create 
a 'Charter for Trees, Woods and People' with the aim of guiding UK policy and practice. It 
sets out ten principles "for a society in which people and trees can stand stronger 
together".

4.82 Durham County Council (2018b) has produced a 'Durham Strategic Green 
Infrastructure Framework'. One of their delivery priorities is: "Enabling local communities 
to engage in the enhancement and creation of GI in their area within their Neighbourhood 
Plans". The strategic principles include: 

 "Ensure that there is a functional and well-connected strategic green infrastructure 
across the County. Gaps or missing links should be addressed;

 Maximise opportunities to improve both strategic GI and more local GI whenever 
change is being considered ..."

© City of Durham Parish Council, 2021 51

Page 237



Durham City Neighbourhood Plan

4.83 The framework provides basic design principles to help achieve GI benefits, e.g.
 "Recognise, protect and manage Durham’s natural green (and blue) infrastructure 

assets ..."
 "Ensure decisions affecting land result in a net gain for biodiversity"
 "Expand, enhance and link Durham’s wildlife habitats where opportunities arise"
 "Enhance the structure of the landscape through protecting and regenerating 

primary hedgerow boundaries"
 "Support communities in the identification of locally valued green spaces in their 

area for potential designation as Local Green Space, and inclusion in 
Neighbourhood Plans where appropriate"

 "Ensure that adequate space is allocated for allotments (where there is a deficit) 
and protect existing allotment gardens/city farms"

 "Ensure that green links/corridors are maintained or created through housing 
developments, linking to the surrounding landscape"

 "Protect and create (where appropriate) public rights of way and other sustainable 
transport routes to encourage people to utilise more sustainable travel modes"

 "Incorporate green roofs and living walls into new developments"
 "Ensure that adequate GI, of a suitable quality, is incorporated into the 

‘Masterplanning’ of settlements/new housing estates/new industrial estates etc."

4.84 The Sustainable Communities Strategy for County Durham 2014-2030 (County 
Durham Partnership, 2014) has a section 'Altogether greener' with the aim of maximising 
the value and benefits of Durham’s natural environment. The Countryside and Rights of 
Way Act 2000 placed an obligation on local authorities to produce and maintain a Rights 
of Way Improvement Plan (ROWIP). In the Rights of Way Improvement Plan for County 
Durham 2015–2018 (Durham County Council, 2015d) the 'opportunities' (essentially the 
policies) identified in the plan include an aim that paths are provided and improved as part
of developments, and that gateway sites to public green spaces are improved. 

4.85 Durham City falls within The Wear Lowlands character area of the County Durham 
Landscape Character Assessment and Landscape Strategy (Durham County Council, 
2008a,b). The strategy for the Wear Lowlands is: “To conserve the character of  the valley
landscapes of the Wear while enhancing those areas which have been most affected by 
development” (Durham County Council, 2008b, p.104). These documents contain detailed
contextual information and numerous objectives. Baseline information on biodiversity and 
geodiversity is available in the Council's Technical Paper No. 12 (Durham County Council,
2009).

4.86 A number of the saved policies from the City of Durham Local Plan cover green 
assets (E1,2,2A,5,5a,10,14 to 20,25,26; R1 to 3,5,11 to 13; T21; Q5,6).

4.87 The Durham City Regeneration Masterplan (Durham County Council, 2014) and its 
update (Durham County Council, 2016c) has a number of implementation projects and 
actions relevant to the green infrastructure of Our Neighbourhood (a subset of the Durham
City area covered by the Masterplan), i.e. 'Keeping Durham Green' by e.g. care of the 
River Wear banks, adding to existing green spaces. 

© City of Durham Parish Council, 2021 52

Page 238



Durham City Neighbourhood Plan

4.88 Local strategies and initiatives emphasise the importance of the green infrastructure 
within the City, in particular the Durham City Conservation Area Appraisal (Durham 
County Council, 2016b) and the Durham Castle and Cathedral World Heritage Site 
Management Plan (Durham World Heritage Site, 2017). The Durham City Conservation 
Area comprises “the pre-1900 expansion of the city and the majority of the natural ‘bowl’ 
(the upper slopes of which present a largely rural backdrop to views of the Cathedral), the 
important green wedges of open countryside and other significant green areas which 
contribute to and enhance the setting of the historic buildings and the city as a whole” 
(Durham County Council, 2016b, Executive Summary, p.2). Management proposals for 
each character area are available, which include management, conservation and 
enhancement of green assets. Most of Our Neighbourhood falls within the area covered 
by the World Heritage Site and by its inner setting (see Maps 1 and 2). The immediate 
context of the river and the tree lined river banks is a key component of the World 
Heritage Site's Outstanding Universal Value. The inner setting of the World Heritage Site, 
and protection of views to and from the World Heritage Site, is another key component. 

4.89 Durham County Council (on behalf
of a Steering Group of the main
landowners of the Durham riverbanks)
commissioned Blue Sail Consulting Ltd
(2017) to produce a development and
management strategy for the Durham
riverbanks, focussing on the Peninsula
riverbanks. It recommends a number of
projects to revitalise this area. These
riverbanks projects intersect with the
Emerald Network Policy G3. (See also
relevant initiatives in the companion document 'Looking Forwards: Durham as a Creative 
and Sustainable City').

Planning Policies and Proposals for Land Use
4.90 The policies related to this theme are:

 Policy G1: Protecting and Enhancing Green and Blue Infrastructure
 Policy G2: Designation of Local Green Spaces
 Policy G3: Creation of the Emerald Network
 Policy G4: Enhancing the Beneficial Use of the Green Belt

© City of Durham Parish Council, 2021 53

Page 239



Durham City Neighbourhood Plan

Policy G1: Protecting and Enhancing Green and Blue Infrastructure

Protecting green and blue assets

Development proposals which avoid the loss of existing green or blue assets (as 
defined in paragraphs 4.71, 4.72 and Table 1) with significant recreational, heritage, 
cultural, ecological, landscape or townscape value will be supported.

Where the loss of green or blue assets of significant value is unavoidable then 
alternative equivalent provision should be provided on-site or off-site where this is not 
viable or practicable.

Enhancing green and blue assets

Development proposals which provide additional green or blue assets, particularly those
that address deficiencies within Our Neighbourhood, will be supported.

Any new or replacement green or blue assets should be appropriate to the context, 
having regard to the landscape, townscape and ecology of the locality and where 
appropriate the setting of heritage assets.

Protecting and enhancing public rights of way and other footpaths

Development proposals should have regard to the local distinctiveness, character, 
quality and biodiversity of public rights of way and other footpaths. Proposals which 
connect to, improve or extend the network of public rights of way and improve its 
accessibility will be supported.

Protecting and enhancing green corridors

Development proposals that impact on green corridors should maintain or enhance their
functionality and connectivity and avoid significant harm to ecological connectivity. 

Development proposals that improve existing green corridors or create green corridors 
on-site that connect to or improve existing green corridors shall be supported.

Enhancing biodiversity

Development proposals that provide net gains for biodiversity by restoring, recreating or
creating wildlife habitats, particularly for locally protected and priority species, will be 
encouraged and supported.

Protecting geological features

Development proposals should avoid significant harm to features of geological value.

© City of Durham Parish Council, 2021 54

Page 240



Durham City Neighbourhood Plan

Protecting and enhancing the banks of the River Wear

Development proposals that avoid loss of or restrictions to access to the banks of the 
River Wear and retain public rights of way, other footpaths, green corridors or dark 
corridors will be supported.

Development proposals which provide additional pedestrian access points to the banks 
of the River Wear that are desirable in relation to public safety, ecology and heritage will
be supported. Where appropriate, development proposals next to the banks of the River
Wear should incorporate a public route along the riverbank which creates a footpath, 
green corridor and cycle route in that order of priority and avoids any significant impact 
on existing heritage or green or blue assets.

Protecting dark corridors 

Development proposals incorporating new lighting should be designed to minimise any 
ecological impact and avoid significant harm to existing dark corridors.

4.91 Small sites (i.e. sites where 10 or more homes will be provided, or the site has an 
area of 0.5 hectares or more) face practical constraints on both the retention of green 
assets when designing the development and in the provision of compensatory (or 
additional) green assets. Trees or hedgerows around the perimeter of a site might be 
practicable to retain for example, whereas a tree or group of trees in the centre of a site 
could prevent the development unless they were removed. As well as compensatory (or 
additional) green assets in the form of small trees and small landscaped garden areas or 
flowerbeds, other alternatives could be used, e.g. green roofs, green walls, water features,
bat or bird boxes and roosting sites.

4.92 Information on public rights of way in Our Neighbourhood are available in Durham 
County Council's Definitive Public Rights of Way map 
https://www.durham.gov.uk/definitivemap. 'Other footpaths' are defined as the footpaths in
Our Neighbourhood which are used by the public but which are not public rights of way. 
These include both paths with permissive access negotiated with the landowner and paths
used less formally.

4.93 There are many green corridors and dark corridors in Our Neighbourhood as the 
definition used in para. 4.71 demonstrates, i.e. 

 green corridors (a narrow strip of land containing enough habitat to support wildlife
and connecting wildlife populations and habitats separated by human activities or 
structures (such as buildings or roads). They include riverbanks, cycle paths and 
footpaths, road verges);

© City of Durham Parish Council, 2021 55

Page 241



Durham City Neighbourhood Plan

 dark corridors (unlit strips of land (e.g. footpaths, verges and riverbanks) that 
provide wildlife with protection from artificial lighting and routeways between larger,
unlit areas of habitat).

4.94 An assessment of open spaces in Our Neighbourhood has been undertaken for this 
Neighbourhood Plan (Durham City Neighbourhood Planning Forum, 2018, 
http://npf.durhamcity.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2020/09/Open-Spaces-Assessment-
Final.pdf) which includes sites that form the larger green corridors. Smaller green 
corridors such as strips of trees and hedgerows alongside roads, cycle paths, pavements 
and footpaths have not been listed in this document. Major areas of darkness are also 
listed in this document. The location of street lights is given in Durham County Council's 
Street Lights map. 

4.95 One of the aims of Initiative 5 in the companion document 'Looking Forwards: 
Durham as a Creative and Sustainable City' is the mapping of green corridors and dark 
corridors. This will form part of the evidence base for a future revision of the Plan.

4.96 The 'banks of the River Wear' are defined as the area from the waterline up to and 
including the footpath / pavement running alongside the river (except for the Peninsular 
riverbanks). In the peninsular areas the riverbanks are well defined within the World 
Heritage Site (see Map 1) and go up to the first boundary wall.)

4.97 Darkness is important to wildlife and to the special setting of the World Heritage Site 
and the Durham City Conservation area, and provides health benefits to people of 
relaxation, tranquillity and appreciation of the night sky. Though an urban area, this 
Neighbourhood Plan considers that parts of Our Neighbourhood should be treated as 
Zone E1 or E2 for the provision of lighting (Durham County Council, Neighbourhood 
Services, 2014; Durham County Council, Regeneration and Local Services, 2016), e.g. 
the World Heritage Site, along the riverbanks and along the traditional footpaths criss-
crossing Our Neighbourhood. This would entail either restricting lighting, or providing 
minimal intensity lighting with a full horizontal cut off. Darkness contributes to the 
Outstanding Universal Value of the World Heritage Site (Durham World Heritage Site, 
2017, p.62)

Justification for Policy G1

4.98 Public authorities have a duty to have regard for conserving biodiversity and part of 
the way to achieve this is through the planning system (NPPF para. 8, PPG 'Natural 
environment' para. 009, 019, 023). The NPPF states the importance of access to high 
quality open spaces for the benefits to health and well-being (NPPF para. 96 to 98). 
Saved policies of the City of Durham Local Plan are also relevant (E5, Q8, R1). 

4.99 A key document is the Open Space Needs Assessment 2018 (Durham County 
Council, 2018c). This document assesses open space, sport and recreation facilities in 
County Durham by: identifying local needs; auditing local provision and assessing this 
against quality, quantity and access standards. It identified an under supply in all types of 

© City of Durham Parish Council, 2021 56

Page 242



Durham City Neighbourhood Plan

open space in the Durham City Assessment Area (which includes Our Neighbourhood but
covers a wider area).

4.100 The complementary 'Playing Pitch Strategy' (Durham County Council, 2011a, 
2012a) contains an audit of provision and aims to ensure that the quantity and quality of 
playing pitches and accessibility of playing pitches meets the needs of the local population
now and in the future. It includes policy recommendations for the Durham City Area Action
Partnership (which is wider than Our Neighbourhood) covering safeguarding and 
enhancing of provision.

4.101 Public open spaces are used by a range of
different people for different purposes. A well-
designed open space should be located near to
the community it serves, have connectivity, be
accessible, flexible in meeting different needs,
adaptable to meet future needs, welcoming, safe
and secure, clean and well maintained. (CABE
Space, 2007) CABE, The Commission for
Architecture and the Built Environment, was the
government's advisor on architecture, urban
design and public space from 1999 to 2011. 

Policy G2: Designation of Local Green Spaces

The following areas (shown on Proposals Map 2) are designated as Local Green Space
where inappropriate development should not be approved except in very special 
circumstances:

1. The River Wear corridor in the areas of the Peninsular Woodlands, the 
Racecourse and the Sands

2. Observatory Hill
3. Bow Cemetery
4. Clay Lane
5. Flass Vale and North End allotments
6. St Margaret’s Cemetery and allotments
7. Durham Light Infantry (DLI) grounds
8. Maiden Castle Wood, Great High Wood, Hollinside Wood, and Blaid's Wood
9. Neville's Cross Battlefield

4.102 An assessment of open spaces in Our Neighbourhood has been undertaken for this
Neighbourhood Plan (Durham City Neighbourhood Planning Forum, 2018) As a result of 

© City of Durham Parish Council, 2021 57

Page 243



Durham City Neighbourhood Plan

that assessment, the areas in the policy above (see Proposals Map 2) have been 
designated as Local Green Spaces for the following reasons:

• G2.1: The River Wear Corridor in the areas of the Peninsular Woodlands, the 
Racecourse and the Sands:
The river and river corridor of the River Wear as it meanders through the City’s 
floodplain and cuts through the rocky gorge of the peninsular is the most 
significant landscape feature of the City. Its important contribution to the setting of 
the World Heritage Site and the City cannot be overestimated. The river and 
riverbanks are an important component of the Durham City Conservation Area in 
all five character areas. Respondents to the Forum's priority survey listed the 
riverbank setting and riverside walks as the second highest attribute of what is 
good about Durham City. The river paths are well used for walking and leisure 
activities, and provide an important wildlife corridor linking the character areas of 
the City Conservation Area to each other and to the wider countryside within Our 
Neighbourhood. Protection of the river corridor was included in the City of Durham 
Local Plan saved policy E5 on protecting open spaces within Durham City, and a 
River Wear Walkway was proposed in policy R13. A draft development and 
management strategy for the riverbanks has been drawn up for Durham County 
Council with the aim of revitalising the riverbanks. The current report (Blue Sails 
Consulting Ltd, 2017) focuses on the Peninsular Riverbanks. Later work will look 
at the wider riverbanks. The particular sections of the riverbanks within the City 
centre comprising this Local Green Space are in the areas of: (i) the Peninsular 
riverbanks, (ii) the Racecourse, and (iii) the Sands. The Peninsular riverbanks are 
a key part of the green setting of the World Heritage Site, providing iconic views to 
and from the Cathedral and Castle. They are of historic value, with historic 
riverbank gardens and walks, forming part of an 18th century designed landscape. 
They have high community value as a walking area and a location for events, e.g. 
Lumiere. They are a key tourist attraction, accessible by public rights of way. The 
riverbanks in the Racecourse vicinity provide a popular walking route. They 
provide iconic views to World Heritage Site, as well as views of the river and 
surrounding areas of the City, and of events held on the Racecourse and the river. 
The Racecourse has high community value as a site for a range of sporting 
venues. It is a site for events, particularly the historic and iconic Durham Miners 
Gala and the Durham Regatta. The riverbanks also provide access beside, and 
into, Pelaw Woods. The riverbanks in the vicinity of the Sands provide a popular 
walking route, with views of the surrounding areas of the City and of the Green 
Belt in the Frankland Lane area. They provide access to the Sands. The Sands 
have historic value as one of the few areas of common land left in Our 
Neighbourhood. It is a grassed area with recreational value and providing a venue 
for events, e.g. the annual Easter Fair. The rest of the riverbanks in Our 
Neighbourhood are protected by Policy G1 which seeks to retain existing, and 
support new, footpaths, green corridors, dark corridors and cycle paths along the 
river where the physical space allows.

© City of Durham Parish Council, 2021 58

Page 244



Durham City Neighbourhood Plan

• G2.2: Observatory Hill
The Observatory Hill Local Green Space comprises Observatory Hill and two fields
on the other side of Potters Bank. Observatory Hill, adjoining Potters Bank and 
near to Durham School, is within both the inner bowl of the World Heritage Site 
and the Durham City Conservation Area. Its elevated site makes it very visible 
from the centre, and it contributes to the green and rural landscape setting for the 
World Heritage site and the City Centre. It is well used by local people, and has 
been for countless years, for access for walking, dog walking, exercise, sitting, 
picnics, sledging in winter, photography, etc - all the types of purposes for which 
open green space is used. There are footpaths criss-crossing the area (though not
all are PROW). Most of Observatory Hill is used for agricultural purposes, as rough
grassland. Land around the Observatory contained orchids and other rare plants. 
However, these have been lost since Durham University's tenant has ploughed the
land to claim the agricultural subsidy. However, it would be possible to recreate the
plant community if the land were managed with conservation in mind. At the east 
side of Observatory Hill the Cathedral has a playing field, with a small section of 
this at the entrance used for parking. This playing field is screened by mature trees
and hedgerows. Observatory Hill provides important views towards and from the 
World Heritage Site, and if developed would blight the views in that direction from 
the World Heritage Site as the Hill is so high, and mitigation by masking by trees 
would not be effective or feasible. Observatory Hill has City-wide esteem, with 
iconic status for a thousand years and more. It was included in the City of Durham 
Local Plan saved policy E5 on protecting open spaces within Durham City. 
Two adjacent fields (one at the bottom of Potters Bank North West of St Mary's 
College, which is partly within the Durham City Conservation Area, and one falling 
down from Elvet Hill / St Aidan's College South of Potters Bank) provide one of the
key 'green fingers/wedges' that are an important characteristic of Durham City, 
leading towards the World Heritage Site. In the Forum's priority survey 
respondents had high regard for the 'woodland' wedges bringing green space into 
the City. The two fields provide rough grassland and are used for agricultural 
purposes. The field falling down from St Aidan's College provides an iconic view of
the World Heritage Site, and development in its upper levels would damage views 
to and from the World Heritage Site. The two fields form part of the Mount Oswald-
Elvet Hill Parkland Landscape Area designated in saved policy E5.2 of the City of 
Durham Local Plan.

• G2.3: Bow Cemetery:
Bow Cemetery provides a beautiful wildlife feature adjacent to Bow Cottage, a 
Grade II listed building which was the old Cemetery lodge. Bow Cemetery is still 
occasionally used for burials. The remains of Scottish soldiers, who were 
imprisoned and died in Durham following the Battle of Dunbar in 1650, were laid to
rest here in 2018.

• G2.4: Clay Lane:
Clay Lane (a PROW - FP15) has been an important pedestrian route into Durham 
since the medieval period and continues to serve as a major pedestrian artery into 

© City of Durham Parish Council, 2021 59

Page 245



Durham City Neighbourhood Plan

the City Centre. It is an attractive green area of biodiversity, providing a significant 
habitat for wildlife that includes badgers, foxes, bats and the occasional weasel. It 
forms one of the green corridors linking the river banks with countryside outside 
the City. It is unlit and therefore provides an important dark corridor. 

• G2.5: Flass Vale and North End allotments:
Flass Vale is an historic area of woodland lying within the Green belt and the 
Crossgate Character Area of the Durham City Conservation Area. Its wildlife value 
has been recognised by designation as a Local Wildlife Site; part of the site is 
registered as Common Land and part is designated as a Local Nature Reserve. 
Maiden's Bower, a Bronze Age round cairn and scheduled ancient monument, is 
located in Flass Vale. Local legend says Maiden's Bower was the site of a vigil 
held during the Battle of Neville’s Cross. The North End allotments and leisure 
gardens that lie to the North East of the site are an integral part of this Local Green
space. Such a central site is always under threat of development, and new 
permitted developments have ‘nibbled away’ at the edges of this site. The local 
importance of this site is demonstrated by the active group the 'Friends of Flass 
Vale' who manage and care for the site. 

• G2.6 : St Margaret’s Cemetery and allotments:
These lie between Crossgate and South St and provide an important green space 
in the Centre of the City, and within the Crossgate Character Area of the Durham 
City Conservation Area. The Cemetery provides a wildlife refuge, a place for 
walking and quiet contemplation as well as being of historic value (St Margaret’s 
Church is one of the earliest churches in the City, dating from the 12 century). The 
Cemetery abuts onto the allotments. The allotments provide for gardening and 
leisure, as well as a wildlife resource, and are of historic value (the site has been 
cultivated since the middle ages, and was once the Cathedral’s vegetable garden 
and fish ponds; it is thought that the old quarry in the allotments was the source of 
the stone used to build the Cathedral). This area was included in the City of 
Durham Local Plan saved policy E5 on protecting open spaces within Durham 
City.

• G2.7: Durham Light Infantry (DLI) grounds:
The DLI grounds are within the Green Belt. They have wildlife and recreational 
value, with areas of the site providing views of the City Centre The significance of 
these grounds as a resting place for the ashes of members of the DLI Regiment 
makes this a site of huge importance and value to local people. Part of these 
grounds could be made into a Memorial Garden. The DLI grounds could function 
in association with the refurbished Wharton Park by providing a safe and secure 
picnic area, particularly for parents and children: the current DLI car park providing
necessary car parking for people using these grounds and facilities. 

• G2.8: Maiden Castle Wood, Great High Wood, Hollinside Wood and Blaid's 
Wood:
These woods have been in existence since at least the 19th Century, though 

© City of Durham Parish Council, 2021 60

Page 246



Durham City Neighbourhood Plan

replanting has occurred in the 20th Century. Parts of these woods show the 
remnants of old railway embankments, and interpretation boards in Great High 
Wood give visitors information about the railway and mining historical background. 
Maiden Castle is an Iron Age promontory fort and is listed as a Scheduled Ancient 
Monument. Hollinside Wood, Great High Wood and Blaid's Wood are designated 
as Areas of High Landscape Value, Ancient Semi-Natural Woodland, Sites of 
Nature Conservation Importance and Sites of Ecological Value. They lie within the 
Green Belt. All these woods provide a near continuous block of woodland with 
public access. They are used by the public for walking, cycling and leisure 
activities. The woods are renowned for their display of English bluebells in the 
Spring. As Durham University says: "The number of designations covering the 
woodlands reflect their importance in terms of landscape, amenity, and 
conservation." (Durham University. Biodiversity Policy)

• G2.9: Neville's Cross Battlefield
This Local Green Space comprises the undeveloped area of the registered 
battlefield site within Our Neighbourhood, including land lying on both sides of the 
registered public footpaths forming part of a boundary walk around the edge of the 
Battlefield site to the immediate west of Crossgate Moor. This area lies within the 
Green Belt. The battlefield is of national significance. The Battle of Neville’s Cross,
between Scottish and English forces, took place on 17th October 1346, on 
moorland just to the west of Durham. This was a significant battle as the Scots 
were comprehensively defeated, and this loss led to English occupation of parts of 
Scotland south of the Forth and Clyde rivers. It was over a century before the 
Scots could recover this land. The battlefield where the armies assembled before 
the battle is largely undeveloped. The remains of a Cross commemorating the 
battle is sited in the built-up area of Neville's Cross and is a scheduled ancient 
monument. The battlefield is registered in the Register of Historic Battlefields (UK 
Battlefields Resource Centre, no date). A copy of the map is available to view at 
http://www.battlefieldstrust.com/media/401%2Epdf (accessed September 2019).

4.103 It should be noted that the Neighbourhood Plan can only cover areas that are within
its boundary. One of the Local Green Spaces - Neville's Cross Battlefield - also crosses 
over into the neighbouring parish of Bearpark. Future co-operation with the 
neighbourhood plan in this parish could hopefully result in the whole of this important area
becoming a Local Green Space. 

4.104 The NPPF (para. 99 to 101) provides for neighbourhood plans to designate Local 
Green Spaces allowing "communities to identify and protect green areas of particular 
importance to them" (PPG para. 'Open space, sports and recreation facilities, public rights
of way and local green space' 005 to 021). "Whether to designate land is a matter for local
discretion. For example, green areas could include land where sports pavilions, boating 
lakes or structures such as war memorials are located, allotments, or urban spaces that 
provide a tranquil oasis." (para. 013) "However, other land could be considered for 
designation even if there is no public access (e.g. green areas which are valued because 
of their wildlife, historic significance and/or beauty). Designation does not in itself confer 

© City of Durham Parish Council, 2021 61

Page 247



Durham City Neighbourhood Plan

any rights of public access over what exists at present. Any additional access would be a 
matter for separate negotiation with land owners, whose legal rights must be respected." 
(para. 017) "Designating a green area as Local Green Space would give it protection 
consistent with that in respect of Green Belt, but otherwise there are no new restrictions or
obligations on landowners." (para.020). Therefore the existing public access status and 
operational use of the designated Local Green Spaces can continue as usual.

4.105 Policies for managing development in a Local Green Space should be consistent 
with those for Green Belts (NPPF para. 101) Therefore, inappropriate development, 
harmful to the characteristics that make the Local Green Space special, would not be 
approved except in very special circumstances (NPPF para. 143). However, there are 
exceptions for some types of new building (NPPF para. 145) e.g. "buildings for 
agriculture ... the provision of appropriate facilities ... for outdoor sport, outdoor recreation,
cemeteries ... and allotments, ; as long as the facilities preserve the openness of the 
Green Belt [Local Green Space] and do not conflict with the purposes of including land 
within it; the extension or alteration of a building provided that it does not result in 
disproportionate additions over and above the size of the original building; ... the 
replacement of a building, provided the new building is in the same use and not materially 
larger than the one it replaces". Additionally, some forms of development are also not 
inappropriate (NPPF para. 146) "provided they preserve its openness and do not conflict 
with the purposes of including land within it" e.g. "local transport infrastructure which can 
demonstrate a requirement for a Green Belt [Local Green Space] location; the re-use of 
buildings provided that the buildings are of permanent and substantial construction; e) 
material changes in the use of land (such as changes of use for outdoor sport or 
recreation, or for cemeteries and burial grounds)".

© City of Durham Parish Council, 2021 62

Page 248



Durham City Neighbourhood Plan

Proposals Map 2: Local Green Spaces

An interactive version of this map is available at 
http://maps.durhamcity.org.uk/npf/Proposals_Map_2.php

© City of Durham Parish Council, 2021 63

Page 249



Durham City Neighbourhood Plan

Justification

4.106 Durham County Council (2019b,c) has identified Areas of Higher Landscape Value. 
The Areas of Higher Landscape Value within our Neighbourhood comprise: Aykley Heads 
and Frankland; Durham Riverbanks; Observatory Hill and Elvet Hill; Hollinside, Mountjoy 
and Whinney Hill; Durham Racecourse and Pelaw; Houghall and Maiden Castle; Houghall
Farm; Burn Hall. 

4.107 Some of the areas designated here as Local Green Spaces also possess other 
types of designation, e.g. being within the Green Belt or a conservation area or being a 
wildlife site or heritage asset. National Planning Practice Guidance states that land that is 
already protected can be designated as a Local Green Space if there is additional local 
benefit (PPG 'Open space, sports and recreation facilities, public rights of way and local 
green space' para. 010 and 011). Different types of designation achieve different 
purposes. The areas listed here are of particular importance to the local community as the
reasons given above demonstrate. Additionally, these areas are not as secure as their 
existing protections would imply. The development pressure in a small constrained area 
such as Our Neighbourhood is high. There is recent history of planning approvals for large
scale developments in the Green Belt with predicted future plans for much more 
development in the Green Belt. In the Forum's priority survey (Durham City 
Neighbourhood Planning Forum, 2015) respondents had high regard for the 'woodland' 
wedges bringing green space into the City, were concerned about loss of / lack of open 
and green spaces and threat to green belt, and wanted to protect green spaces/green belt
and the environment. 

4.108 New sites might become available in Our Neighbourhood that might merit 
designation as Local Green Spaces. This would require amendment of the 
Neighbourhood Plan. One such site is Mount Oswald. This formed part of an area of open
space protected under saved Policy E5.2 of the City of Durham Local Plan. The Mount 
Oswald site, previously a golf course, was land that had not been built on since the Middle
Ages when it was agricultural land. It therefore contains assets of wildlife value including 
mature trees and a pond containing protected species. The current housing development 
on this site needs to be placed within the context of a long battle by local residents to 
retain this green space. The Mount Oswald site is currently being developed to a level 
greater than provided for in the City of Durham Local Plan. Open spaces retained within 
that development, including a complex of interconnected parks and open spaces (which 
retains and adds to the existing green assets) are therefore of particular importance to the
local community and likely to warrant designation as a Local Green Space. As areas of 
open space in this development are being defined through a series of reserved matters 
applications, it isn’t possible to finalise boundaries at this time. Inclusion, and 
enhancement, of existing green assets within new developments is the aim of Policy G1. 
New residential areas might include green areas that were planned as part of the 
development. Such green areas might be designated as Local Green Space if they are 
demonstrably special and hold particular local significance. (PPG 'Open space, sports and
recreation facilities, public rights of way and local green space' para. 012).

© City of Durham Parish Council, 2021 64

Page 250



Durham City Neighbourhood Plan

Policy G3: Creation of the Emerald Network 

An Emerald Network is identified, as shown on Proposals Map 3, which comprises sites
of wildlife interest within Our Neighbourhood linked by public rights of way or 
pavements. These sites are:

1. Observatory Hill; and
2. Flass Vale; and
3. Wharton Park; and
4. Aykley Heads; and
5. Hoppers Wood; and
6. The Sands riverbanks; and,
7. St Margaret's cemetery and allotments; and 
8. Peninsular Woodlands; and
9. The Racecourse riverbanks;  and
10. Pelaw Wood (the part that lies in Our Neighbourhood); and
11. Houghall; and
12. Maiden Castle; and
13. Hollinside Wood, Great High Wood, Little High Wood, Blaid’s Wood, dene 

connecting to Low Burnhall Wood; and
14. Durham University Botanic Gardens; and
15. Low Burnhall Wood; and
16. Farewellhall Wood (the part that lies in Our Neighbourhood); and
17. Baxter Wood (the part that lies in Our Neighbourhood).

Proposals for the purpose of improving the biodiversity of sites in the Emerald Network 
will be supported.

Proposals for the purpose of improving the amenity of sites in the Emerald Network, or 
for improving existing footpaths within or between these sites, or providing additional 
footpaths within or between these sites, particularly for improving accessibility for 
people with a disability, will be supported as long as they cause no significant harm to 
the biodiversity of these sites.

4.109 The Emerald Network comprises designated wildlife sites (such as Local Nature 
Reserves, Local Wildlife Sites, and Ancient Woodland Sites), key green sites (such as 
parks and gardens), and the River Wear and the riverbanks. The sites are connected by 
public rights of way or pavements. In some cases the existing PROW or pavement may 
skirt the site rather than provide access into the site. Other Local Wildlife sites in Our 
Neighbourhood have not been included in the Emerald Network as they are not 
accessible by public rights of way or pavements, e.g. Moorhouse Wood and Borehole 
Wood. The Emerald Network includes the only sites that meet the above criteria in Our 
Neighbourhood (see the assessment of open spaces in Our Neighbourhood undertaken 
for this Neighbourhood Plan - Durham City Neighbourhood Planning Forum, 2018). This 

© City of Durham Parish Council, 2021 65

Page 251



Durham City Neighbourhood Plan

policy does not provide public access to these sites if such access is currently restricted 
by the site owners. Any provision of public access to a site is at the discretion of the 
owner. The Emerald Network is only part of the green infrastructure within Our 
Neighbourhood. The Emerald Network also links to a number of sites of wildlife interest 
that lie immediately adjacent to Our Neighbourhood. These comprise: part of Baxter 
Wood, part of Farewellhall Wood, Old Durham Gardens, part of Pelaw Wood, Frankland 
Wood and Kepier Wood.

4.110 The purpose of the Emerald Network is to encourage people (residents, visitors and
tourists) to visit key wildlife sites in Our Neighbourhood for the leisure and health benefits 
they provide. The 'Looking Forwards' initiative 6 outlines how the Emerald Network could 
be set up

Justification

4.111 The idea for an Emerald Network developed from discussion between the Forum 
and the Friends of Flass Vale (comprising a membership of 250 people). It builds on 
policy R13 'River Wear Walkway' from the City of Durham Local Plan saved policies and 
incorporates policies E5, E26 and T21. Policy R13 was developed by the Council into the 
idea of a Necklace Park but this idea was never implemented.

4.112 The benefits of the Emerald Network include:
 improving the image of the City by proving an extra tourist attraction
 providing a leisure asset for local people, and thus improving their well being
 counteracting the fragmentation of wildlife habitat within the City: fragmentation 

has been shown to reduce plant and animal populations to levels where they risk 
becoming extinct

 promoting and improving access rights and the Public Rights of Way network 
through the City

 maintaining links with the wider countryside and seeking to improve wildlife 
corridors to designated sites such as the Deerness Valley, Bearpark and Croxdale 
Woods and Brasside/Low Newton wetlands.

4.113 The Emerald Network would complement other trails being set up by Durham 
County Council or other organisations.

© City of Durham Parish Council, 2021 66

Page 252



Durham City Neighbourhood Plan

Proposals Map 3: Emerald Network.

An interactive version of this map is available at 
http://maps.durhamcity.org.uk/npf/Proposals_Map_3.php

© City of Durham Parish Council, 2021 67

Page 253



Durham City Neighbourhood Plan

Policy G4: Enhancing the Beneficial Use of the Green Belt

Proposals within the Green Belt land in the Sidegate and Frankland Lane area of Our 
Neighbourhood as shown in Proposals Map 4 for the purpose of improving access 
(particularly for people with disabilities), green corridors, landscape, or biodiversity, or 
for enhancing visual amenity, will be encouraged and supported where such proposals:

a) sustain, conserve and enhance the inner bowl setting of the World Heritage Site,
and the Durham City Conservation Area, and:

b) do not cause significant harm to the overall quality of the Green Belt 
environment, particularly its openness.

Proposals within the Green Belt land in the area of Our Neighbourhood West of the 
A167 from Browney Bridge to Neville's Cross as shown in Proposals Map 4 for the 
purpose of improving access (particularly for people with disabilities), green corridors, 
landscape, or biodiversity, or for enhancing visual amenity,will be encouraged and 
supported, where such proposals:

c) sustain, conserve and enhance the outer bowl of the World Heritage Site, and:
d) do not cause significant harm to the overall quality of the Green Belt 

environment, particularly its openness.

© City of Durham Parish Council, 2021 68

Page 254



Durham City Neighbourhood Plan

Proposals Map 4: Green Belt - areas for improvement

An interactive version of this map is available at 
http://maps.durhamcity.org.uk/npf/Proposals_Map_4.php

© City of Durham Parish Council, 2021 69

Page 255



Durham City Neighbourhood Plan

Justification

4.114 The NPPF (Chapter 13) attaches great importance to the Green Belt and to its 
protection from development. Local people, as shown by responses to the Forum's priority
survey (Durham City Neighbourhood Planning Forum, 2015) and by the existence of 
community bodies such as 'The Friends of Durham Green Belt', place great value on the 
Green Belt within Our Neighbourhood. The Green Belt is particularly important to Our 
Neighbourhood because of one of its purposes "to preserve the setting and special 
character of historic towns" (NPPF para. 134). Saved policies of the City of Durham Local 
Plan are relevant to the Green Belt (E1). 

4.115 There is the opportunity to enhance the Green Belt. The NPPF (para. 141) states 
that: “Once Green Belts have been defined, local planning authorities should plan 
positively to enhance the beneficial use of the Green Belt, such as looking for 
opportunities to provide access; to provide opportunities for outdoor sport and recreation; 
to retain and enhance landscapes, visual amenity and biodiversity; or to improve 
damaged and derelict land.”

4.116 The areas of Green Belt within Our Neighbourhood are shown in Map 5. They 
comprise land at: Aykley Heads, Franklands, Sidegate, Kepier, The Sands, Pelaw Wood, 
Riverbanks, Racecourse, Whinney Hill, Maiden Castle, Mountjoy, Houghall, Great High 
Wood, Little High Wood, Hollinside Wood, Howlands, Blaid's Wood, Low Burnhall, West of
the A167 to the River Browney (covering Burnhall, Merryoaks, Lowesbarn), West of the 
Neville's Cross Bank and West of the A167 (covering Neville's Cross, Quarry House Farm
and Whitesmocks), Flass Vale.

4.117 Most of this land is covered by policies in this theme that aim to provide further 
protection and enhancement; generally by Policy G1, and specifically:

 As Local Green Spaces (Policy G2): the River Wear corridor comprising that in the
areas of The Sands and the Racecourse; the DLI grounds area at Aykley Heads; 
woodland on the south side of the City comprising Maiden Castle, Great High 
Wood, Hollinside Wood, Blaid's Wood; West of the Neville's Cross Bank and West 
of the A167 (covering Neville's Cross, Quarry House Farm, Crossgate and 
Whitesmocks, i.e. the Neville's Cross Battlefield site). 

 As sites within the Emerald Network (Policy G3): Flass Vale; Aykley Heads; 
Franklands, i.e. the accessible part of Hopper Wood; The Sands riverbanks; 
Racecourse riverbanks; Pelaw Wood; Maiden Castle; Houghall; Great High Wood,
Little High Wood, Hollinside Wood, Blaid's Wood; Low Burnhall, i.e. Low Burnhall 
Wood; West of the A167 to the River Browney, i.e. Farewellhall Wood; West of the
Neville's Cross Bank and West of the A167 (covering Neville's Cross, Quarry 
House Farm, Crossgate and Whitesmocks, i.e. Baxter Wood).

4.118 This leaves Green Belt land at Sidegate and Franklands Lane and West of the 
A167 from Browney Bridge to Neville's Cross not covered by additional policies in this 
Neighbourhood Plan.

© City of Durham Parish Council, 2021 70

Page 256



Durham City Neighbourhood Plan

Map 5: Green Belt in Our Neighbourhood

An interactive version of this map is available at 
http://maps.durhamcity.org.uk/npf/Map_5.php

© City of Durham Parish Council, 2021 71

Page 257



Durham City Neighbourhood Plan

4.119 Green Belt land at Sidegate and Franklands Lane lies in the Durham City 
Conservation Area and the inner bowl of the World Heritage Site. It is important that views
within the inner bowl to and from the World Heritage Site are protected (Durham World 
Heritage Site, 2017, p.74). This is covered by Policy H1 in this Plan. Additionally this land 
would benefit from improved access, particularly for people with disabilities, and 
improvement to the wildlife value and visual amenity of the land and the green assets 
upon it.

4.120 The Green Belt land West of the A167 from Browney Bridge to Neville's Cross is 
mostly agricultural land. It lies within the outer bowl of the World Heritage Site. It is 
important that any developments in the outer bowl within Our Neighbourhood do not have 
a negative impact on the setting of the World Heritage Site (Durham World Heritage Site, 
2017, p.19). This is covered by Policy H1 in this Plan. The wooded and wildlife value 
areas could have improved access as most are not accessible by public rights of way, as 
long as such improved access does not damage the biodiversity of the area.

© City of Durham Parish Council, 2021 72

Page 258



Durham City Neighbourhood Plan

THEME 3: A CITY WITH A DIVERSE AND RESILIENT ECONOMY

Vision

4.121 Durham City will have a sustainable and vibrant local economy supporting a wide 
range of employment in large and small businesses in all sectors including retail and 
tourism. 

Objectives

4.122 The objectives of this theme are:

1. To increase employment opportunities through the establishment and support of 
large and small enterprises;

2. To support the development of strategic and local sites ranging from prestige 
developments for businesses, university research-based and high technology 
industries to business incubators and local start-ups;

3. To secure the vitality and competitiveness of the City Centre through balanced 
retail development including responding to the development of e-commerce;

4. To build on and enhance the tourism and leisure experience in the City. 

© City of Durham Parish Council, 2021 73

Page 259



Durham City Neighbourhood Plan

Context

4.123 Durham City extends beyond Our Neighbourhood to include large residential, 
industrial and retail estates at Belmont, Framwellgate Moor, Meadowfield and Newton 
Hall. Taken together, the built-up area of Durham City has a residential population of 
about 46,000 and is the biggest town in County Durham. It is the ‘County town’ and 
provides the administrative headquarters of the County Council, the main hospital, the 
magnificent Norman cathedral and a fine University, as well as business services, 
retailing, culture, leisure and recreation - the majority of which are located within the City 
Centre, the heart of Our Neighbourhood. Durham City is also an important destination for 
tourists from home and abroad. 

4.124 The large and important employers in Our Neighbourhood are Durham University 
with over 4,000 jobs, Durham County Council with 2,000 jobs, the University Hospital of 
North Durham (where the major part of the jobs in the Foundation Trust's area are 
located) with 7,000 jobs, and Government offices which contribute over 700 jobs. A job 
market based on four major public sector employers is too narrow and needs to be 
widened. As the county town, the City is home to 80 offices comprising estate agents, 
solicitors, accountants and related professional services. Office space is limited in the City
Centre, and most of it is in Georgian and Victorian buildings. The retail sector amounts to 
some 1,000 full-time equivalent jobs and provides vibrancy and a relatively good retail 
offering, but with few independent retailers. The lunchtime economy (concentrated in the 
immediate City Centre, with more minimal provision in the outer areas of the City Centre) 
is supported by the presence of office workers and of students, and is more limited than 
the evening economy. The evening economy draws people into Durham City from other 
parts of County Durham and beyond. However, with the redevelopment of The Gates 
(now The Riverwalk) and the Milburngate sites there should be a greater variety of 
entertainment attractions for families and children.

4.125 The City’s economy is significantly influenced by the large student population and 
its part-time presence, and to a lesser extent by the high proportion of resident retired 
people. Education, health, social services, retail and wholesale sectors provide most of 
the employment for local residents. A large number of the employees working in Our 
Neighbourhood commute from the rest of Durham City and beyond. (see para. 4.141)

4.126 The three state primary schools, two state secondary schools, the special school, 
and Sixth Form Centre in Our Neighbourhood, have good or outstanding ratings by 
Ofsted. Lack of capacity affects several of the primary schools, and at least one of the 
secondary schools is over-subscribed. There are also four private schools, offering 
education from nursery to secondary level. 

4.127 The University, the third oldest university in England, is a member of the Russell 
Group and is recognised for world-class scholarship and research. High quality vocational 
skills are provided by New College Durham (just outside Our Neighbourhood) and East 
Durham College, Houghall Campus (offering agriculture, arboriculture and forestry, 
horticulture and animal care courses). The University’s contribution to the economy and 

© City of Durham Parish Council, 2021 74

Page 260



Durham City Neighbourhood Plan

cultural life of Durham City and County Durham is of great importance. It is essential, 
however, that the drive for growth (Durham University, 2016, 2016a) is associated with 
fairness and engagement with the local community, and is proportionate and 
demonstrates a clear understanding and respect for the capacity and infrastructure and 
special character of Our Neighbourhood to host such developments.  

4.128 Details of economic activity and educational attainment are given in the population 
section of Appendix C. In Appendix D, Table D3 lists public and community services and 
facilities in Our Neighbourhood and Table D4 lists employers and educational 
establishments.

Justification

4.129 This justification refers to the Economy theme as a whole. Additional, specific 
justification for an individual policy is given with the policy itself. 

4.130 The Forum’s priority survey (Durham City Neighbourhood Planning Forum, 2015) 
identified that local people valued the friendly, lively, vibrant, multi-cultural feel of the City 
and the shops (particularly the Market Place and indoor market), coffee shops, pubs and 
restaurants. However, problems were identified, e.g.: a poor retail offer; poor appearance /
maintenance of premises and streetscape; poor pedestrian experience; an evening 
economy too geared to drinking; poor parking provision; the lack of a Tourist Information 
Centre. What was needed included: an increased diversity of retail outlets; reduced 
business rates/rents; upgrading of areas in the City (particularly North Road, Bus Station, 
Lower Claypath, Market Place, Riverside); improved provision for pedestrians; improved 
parking provision; promotion of and support for tourism (e.g. a Tourist Information Centre);
more entertainment, community, leisure, and cultural facilities. 

4.131 In the Forum's study of the views of young people (Durham City Neighbourhood 
Planning Forum, 2016a), their suggestions for action included: improve the Bus Station; 
improve the streetscape of North Road, particularly shop fronts; more parking and 
increase the Park & Ride spaces and operating hours; more events, indoor activities and 
community facilities for young people; shops more attractive to young people. The older 
respondents who were school leavers were concerned by the lack of employment 
opportunities in Durham City. They also felt that the choice of jobs in the City is limited. 
They would like a wider choice of permanent jobs to choose from and more part-time jobs 
to be made available to young people, particularly in the proposed new entertainment 
venues in the City.

4.132 The questionnaire study of businesses (Durham City Neighbourhood Planning 
Forum, 2016b) identified the following that would improve the development of their 
business: improved parking (free or cheaper; extension of Park & Ride days and hours); 
better information and signposting; lower rents and rates; fast broadband fibre 
connectivity.

© City of Durham Parish Council, 2021 75

Page 261



Durham City Neighbourhood Plan

4.133 The NPPF supports economic growth through the planning system. Chapter 6, 
Building a strong, competitive economy, (para. 81) states that planning policies should: 

set out a clear economic vision and strategy which positively and proactively 
encourages sustainable economic growth ... set criteria, or identify strategic sites, 
for local and inward investment ... and to meet anticipated needs over the plan 
period ... seek to address potential barriers to investment, such as inadequate 
infrastructure, services or housing, or a poor environment ... be flexible enough to 
accommodate needs not anticipated in the plan, allow for new and flexible working 
practices

4.134 Our Neighbourhood is an important provider of jobs for the wider County and 
beyond, as well as for local residents. In a sensitive setting such as exists in Durham City,
it is vital that the level of economic growth aspiration is compatible with the needs and 
expectations of local people in providing jobs and protecting, enhancing and improving the
heritage for now and future generations.

4.135 Chapter 7 of the NPPF
'Ensuring the vitality of town
centres' states that planning
policies should support the
viability and vitality of town
centres which are the heart of
local communities. Policies
should allow the growth and
diversification of town centres
by allocating a range of
suitable sites to meet the scale
and type of economic
development needed now and
in the future: retail, leisure,
commercial, office, tourism,
cultural, community and
residential development.
Durham City Centre is a
significant retail and service
centre for a wide catchment
area and gives economic
support for the heritage assets
in Our Neighbourhood; its
future economic success is
vital. The emerging County
Durham Local Plan notes the
economic challenges facing
town centres, e.g. a change in
consumer behaviour and the

© City of Durham Parish Council, 2021 76

Page 262



Durham City Neighbourhood Plan

rise in e-commerce, mobile technology and Internet shopping; out of town retail centres 
(although more recently there has been a growth in smaller and more local convenience 
and discount stores). Town centres need to reflect the needs and opportunities of the 
communities that they serve.

4.136 The Green Paper 'Building our industrial strategy' (UK Government, 2017) proposes
a range of interventions which the evidence shows drive growth. Places with higher rates 
of investment in research and development, more highly skilled people, better 
infrastructure, more affordable energy and higher rates of capital investment are places 
which, the Green Paper asserts, grow faster and have higher levels of productivity. 
Policies on trade, procurement and sectors are tools to drive growth by increasing 
competition and encouraging innovation and investment. Through central government 
actions and by strengthening the local institutions that support a more productive 
economy it is hoped to ensure that growth is driven across the whole country. In Our 
Neighbourhood, provision for research and technology development by harnessing the 
strengths of Durham University and New College Durham is essential. It will also be 
important to cater for innovation through incubator facilities so that ideas can be 
transformed into advanced processes and products and the creation of businesses 
offering employment opportunities to graduates who might otherwise be lost to the region.

4.137 The North East Strategic Economic Plan (North East Local Enterprise Partnership, 
2014) builds on the strategic location of the North East, between Scotland and the wider 
north of England economy: it is well connected to the rest of the UK, Europe and the rest 
of the world by rail, sea, road and air. The strategic plan is to deliver 100,000 more and 
better jobs by 2024. The growth opportunities are: Tech North East - driving a digital 
surge; making the North East's future in advanced manufacturing in the automotive and 
medicines sectors; Health Quest North East - innovation in health and life sciences; and 
Energy North East- excellence in sub-sea, offshore and energy technology. The Strategy 
recognises the three areas of the service economy for growth are: financial, professional 
and business services; transport logistics; and education. This is a high level strategy 
which applies to the entire North East region. In Our Neighbourhood there are 
opportunities for these distinctive streams of new employment, ranging from confirmation 
of the prestige strategic employment site at Aykley Heads through various kinds of 
bespoke units to innovation spin-out incubators, and of the particular requirements of the 
health and academic sectors.

4.138 The Sustainable Communities Strategy for County Durham 2014-2030 (County 
Durham Partnership, 2014) has a theme 'Altogether wealthier', with the aims of a thriving 
Durham City, vibrant and successful towns, sustainable neighbourhoods and rural 
communities, competitive and successful people, and a top location for business. 

4.139 Green infrastructure can be beneficial for the economy of Our Neighbourhood, 
particularly as a tourist attraction related to the City's heritage.

4.140 The Durham City Regeneration Masterplan (Durham County Council, 2014) and its 
update (Durham County Council, 2016c) have a number of implementation projects and 

© City of Durham Parish Council, 2021 77

Page 263



Durham City Neighbourhood Plan

actions relevant to the economy of Our Neighbourhood. Business growth and greater 
employment opportunities will be driven by the regeneration of sites across the City at 
Aykley Heads, Freemans Reach, North Road including the upgrading of the bus station, 
The Gates, Milburngate and Lower Claypath. The updated Masterplan focuses on what 
has been delivered and outlines key future activities. It highlights completed projects 
including new developments in the City Centre and the successful organisation of major 
events and entertainments. For Our Neighbourhood it is important that sustainable 
economic growth utilises, supports and enhances the unique historic environment of 
Durham City.

4.141 Townsend (2017) provides a summary of employment data for Our Neighbourhood,
based on the 2011 Census and 2016 employment data. The main points are:

 an 'out-of-term-time' economically active population (aged 16 to 74) of 4,800 (50% 
of the total)
◦ 47% of these work in Our Neighbourhood, the rest commute outside

 21,000 employee jobs in our Neighbourhood
◦ 38% of these are part-time (less than 30 hours per week)
◦ 66% of these are in public services
◦ more 'white collar' jobs than the national average
◦ a loss of 12.5% of jobs between 2007 and 2016

4.142 Townsend (2017) concludes that: "the Constituency/former City as a whole is a 
natural 'growth point' of the County relative to the surrounding areas a whole, but this 
description does not apply to the NPA area [Our Neighbourhood]." 

4.143 The saved policies from the Durham City Local Plan include references to a 
Science Park at Mountjoy, a Business Park at Aykley Heads and office and retail 
development in the City Centre (EMP2, EMP4, EMP12, S2A). 

Planning Policies and Proposals for Land Use

4.144 The policies related to this theme are:

 Policy E1: The Aykley Heads Business Park
 Policy E2: Other Employment Sites
 Policy E3: Retail Development
 Policy E4: Evening Economy
 Policy E5: Visitor Attractions
 Policy E6: Visitor Accommodation

© City of Durham Parish Council, 2021 78

Page 264



Durham City Neighbourhood Plan

Policy E1: The Aykley Heads Business Park

Proposals for development of B1a and B1b uses will be supported at the Aykley Heads 
site shown in Proposals Map 5 where these are in accordance with a masterplan or 
other design and development framework prepared under Policy S2.

4.145 Aykley Heads is the largest and most important employment site and critical to the 
future attractiveness of the City for the location of future businesses. The land identified 
for it is on the non-Green Belt part of this area. It will be an exemplar of sustainable 
development, as set out in sustainability Policy S1, and for which a masterplan or other 
design and development framework will be prepared, see Policy S2. This land is scarce 
and valuable and can only be released for development that meets the highest standards 
which will be set out in the masterplan or other design and development framework with 
guidance set out in the NPPF Chapter 12: Achieving well-designed places (para. 124 and 
127). Ancillary uses such as a café, a crèche, a gym and business support serving the 
principal high quality occupiers of Aykley Heads can be considered, but must pass a strict 
test of meeting the needs of those working on the site and thereby avoid the unnecessary 
loss of valuable and scarce land for prestige uses. Design must be appropriate to the 
settings of the World Heritage Site and the Durham City Conservation Area (particularly 
heritage Polices H1 and H2). Development of Aykley Heads should encourage associated
improvement, management and recreational use of the Local Green Space within the site 
and other green spaces, including the retention of woodland and veteran trees and 
heritage assets. 

4.146 In the Pre-submission Draft of the Neighbourhood Plan 5.5 hectares of non-Green 
Belt land at the Durham Science Park at Mountjoy was identified as a site in Policy E1. 
Durham Science Park is owned by Durham University and is situated next to the Mountjoy
Research Centre. However, the new Mathematical Sciences and Computing Science 
building now largely occupies the site and an area has also been set aside for an 
approved car park. As very little land therefore remains undeveloped it has been removed 
as an identified site. However, the site is in close proximity to ancient woodland which is 
well-used by local residents and contains assets of wildlife value including a pond. It is 
therefore still important to protect this existing environmental setting, e.g. by providing a 
buffer of native tree planting or green open space against the woodland and wetland.

4.147 An Environmental Impact Assessment will need to be undertaken of any proposed 
development which is likely to have significant effects on the environment at Aykley Heads
and the present Durham County Council Headquarters area. This site provides an 
exceptional opportunity to attract and generate high quality jobs to Durham. This 
Environmental Assessment will include traffic generation, the penetration of public 
transport into the site, visual impact, and loss of open space and protection of nature 
conservation interests, as set out in the green infrastructure Policy G1. It will include an 
assessment of the mitigation measures appropriate to the development in a mature 

© City of Durham Parish Council, 2021 79

Page 265



Durham City Neighbourhood Plan

parkland landscape. Developments should favour sustainable transport to minimise any 
adverse effect created by the development on the environment (see transport Policy T1). 

4.148 The provision of safe and well-connected pedestrian and cycle paths from the 
Aykley Heads site will allow employees to easily travel to and from transport hubs, 
residences and the City Centre. This will have two specific benefits; by increasing footfall 
within the retail area and thereby boosting the economy; and helping to reduce a reliance 
on motor vehicles. The Durham Science Park would also benefit from such sustainable 
transport infrastructure.

4.149 New commercial development should incorporate a communal open area, outdoor 
where possible, to enhance the well-being of their employees and benefits to the public.

Policy E2: Other Employment Sites 

Support will be given to the development of Fowler’s Yard (Durham’s Arts Quarter) as 
shown in Proposals Map 5 including craft workshops, creative spaces and associated 
sales and services, to ensure the fullest utilisation of existing buildings and unused 
space and land.

Support will be given to the development of windfall brownfield sites in Our 
Neighbourhood for mixed use office and business enterprises and residential, including 
units for older people, people with disabilities, young professionals and families with 
children.

4.150 Fowler's Yard is an area already thriving as independent craft workshops, creative 
spaces and associated retail sales and services. It is greatly appreciated as such and 
worthy of safeguarding against uses that would reduce its unique appeal as a creative 
space for local artists and practitioners. 

4.151 Blagdon Depot is a site in the Green Belt and in Flood Risk Zone 2 and as such 
may not be available for development. However should the issues identified be resolved 
and an opportunity arise to improve the existing provision, or develop the site further, this 
would be welcomed subject to conformity with the relevant policies within the Plan.

4.152 Any brownfield windfall site that offers the opportunity for regeneration through 
redevelopment and refurbishment will be considered. Development of such sites will 
provide a wide range of mixed-use office space in terms of size, quality and cost and the 
prospect for affordable lower-cost business space. This will provide an entry level for start-
ups and small enterprises and more and equal employment opportunities for a broader 
range of employees and employers. The potential development site must be easily 
accessible to the City Centre and transport hubs for pedestrians and cyclists.

© City of Durham Parish Council, 2021 80

Page 266



Durham City Neighbourhood Plan

Justification for Policies E1 and E2

4.153 Businesses and residents have requested more land for commercial use; the sites 
identified in Policies E1 and E2 are the only suitable land available in Our Neighbourhood 
which could be used for this purpose. To improve the economy of Durham City it is 
important to encourage new employment opportunities and to safeguard and assist 
expansion of existing businesses within the area. A good variety of serviced employment 
sites will help to attract new businesses, and making available underused space as offices
for established businesses will increase the employment opportunities for local people, 
attract new employees from outside the area, and encourage the retention of graduates 
from Durham University. New employment opportunities within the City will increase the 
numbers of people who use the City, and will also strengthen the relationship between 
local business and Durham University. 

4.154 In accordance with
guidance in the NPPF Chapter
11: Making effective use of land
(para. 117) commercial
development will be directed to
brownfield sites. In satisfying the
sustainable design principles of
Our Neighbourhood Plan, new
development will avoid
unacceptable impacts on local,
national and international
designations and physical
constraints such as flood risk and
topography. These
considerations are also included within the emerging County Durham Local Plan. So far 
as flood risk is concerned, it would be highly desirable to have all brownfield employment 
sites located in Zone 1 (low probability of flooding). 

4.155 Windfall brownfield sites which become available should be used to improve the 
economy in Our Neighbourhood by providing office space for A2 Professional Services 
and B1 Business as there is a shortage of office space as evidenced by the business 
professionals who were interviewed during the initial consultation for Our Neighbourhood 
Plan. Accommodation on these sites will be considered in Our Neighbourhood for local 
housing needs where there is a shortage and particularly for those in need as defined by 
the NPPF Chapter 5: Delivering a sufficient supply of homes (para. 61); the elderly, those 
with disabilities, families and young professionals as there is evidence of a shortfall of this 
type of housing in Theme 4: A City with attractive and affordable places to live.

© City of Durham Parish Council, 2021 81

Page 267



Durham City Neighbourhood Plan

Proposals Map 5: Economic Designated Sites

An interactive version of this map is available at 
http://maps.durhamcity.org.uk/npf/Proposals_Map_5.php

© City of Durham Parish Council, 2021 82

Page 268



Durham City Neighbourhood Plan

Policy E3: Retail Development

Within the Durham City Centre, as defined in Proposals Map 6, support will be given to 
proposals that: 

Contribute to the creation of a lively and vibrant City Centre by development in the 
Primary Shopping Area for:

a) A1 (retail), A2 (financial and professional services ), A3 (restaurants and cafés), 
A4 (drinking establishments), A5 (hot food takeaways), and other appropriate 
town centre uses (defined as retail, leisure, entertainment, sport and recreation, 
offices, and arts, culture and tourism); or

b) change of use of ground floor premises to the following non-A1 uses as the 
predominant use:
1) entertainment
2) arts, culture and tourism 
3) leisure, sport and recreation;

And enhance the character and attractiveness of the City Centre by:

c) improving the public realm including streets, back lanes, vennels and urban 
open space for all users; and

d) improving the City Centre environment and access for pedestrians, cyclists and 
public transport users including more parking for people with a disability.

Development proposals that provide residential accommodation in upper floors of 
commercial properties will be supported, as long as they do not have a negative impact 
on retail, commercial and tourism activities and the general amenity of neighbouring 
properties and residential amenity including noise impact. 

Policy E4: Evening Economy

All development proposals, including those for a change of use, that would promote 
and/or support the early evening and night-time economy activity related to food and 
drink, arts and cultural uses, including later trading, will be supported provided that they 
contribute to the vitality and viability of the City Centre and add to, and improve, the 
cultural and diversity offer.

Proposals should include a strategy regarding public safety and appropriate evidence 
that the development will have no significant adverse effect upon local amenity, 
including the amenity of local residents. 

© City of Durham Parish Council, 2021 83

Page 269



Durham City Neighbourhood Plan

4.156 The extent of the shopping area, where new development may be approved, is 
expected to remain broadly as it is now. However the need to sustain and enhance 
Durham City Centre means that opportunities to improve its retail provision should be 
taken when they arise through redevelopment and changes of use. Development that 
increases the range and diversity of retail ownerships, and quality of shops and shopping 
experience for residents, visitors and those working in the City will be supported. The 
policies reflect the quickly changing retail environment and a need for flexible commercial 
space to maintain the vitality and viability of the City Centre as set out in NPPF Chapter 7:
Ensuring the vitality of town centres (para. 85). The Grimsey Review 2 (Grimsey et al, 
2018), a review of retail in Britain, states in the Foreword “The fundamental structure of 
Britain’s town centres has changed from goods transactions to one of consumption of food
and experiential services including health and beauty”.

© City of Durham Parish Council, 2021 84

Page 270



Durham City Neighbourhood Plan

Proposals Map 6: City Centre Boundary and Primary Shopping Area

An interactive version of this map is available at 
http://maps.durhamcity.org.uk/npf/Proposals_Map_6.php

© City of Durham Parish Council, 2021 85

Page 271



Durham City Neighbourhood Plan

4.157 There are a number of sites outside the City Centre as defined in Proposals Map 6 
where planned development will result in an increase of people living or working in the 
Centre. These new developments must ensure that the needs of those living, working or 
visiting the Centre are accommodated: this includes mitigation measures for the 
generation of additional traffic as stated in transport Policy T1.

4.158 New developments must be designed to the highest standards and respect and 
enhance the Durham City Conservation Area and the historic City Centre (see also Policy 
H2). The NPPF (para. 124, 125) states the importance of good design in planning. Careful
consideration should be given to the access requirements of pedestrians, cyclists, public 
transport, cars and emergency vehicles in the design and layout of new development. 
Advice should be available on the design of shop fronts including security blinds for doors 
and windows.

4.159 There is a deficit of suitable accommodation in the City for young professionals, 
young couples starting out, people leaving home for the first time and older people. These
categories of need are recognised in the NPPF (para. 61). Residential development in 
Durham City has in recent years been focused on the student market and so-called 
‘executive’ housing making it increasingly difficult for residents who fall into one of the 
categories of need to find suitable accommodation in Our Neighbourhood. The NPPF 
(para. 118d, 121a) underlines the need to re-purpose existing buildings for use as 
residential accommodation. Our Neighbourhood Plan seeks to help make Durham City a 
more balanced community and one in which all residents can benefit. One way in which to
do this is to allow the upper floors of the Primary Shopping Area as defined in Proposals 
Map 6 to be used for residential accommodation, as long as such development does not 
have a detrimental effect on local and residential amenity. Proposals must include 
mitigation for the impact of noise on residents. 

4.160 Support will be given
to any development that
positively contributes to the
evening economy,
particularly a more diverse
cultural offer to redress the
over-reliance on restaurants
and licensed establishments.
Proposals which broaden the
range of evening and night-
time activities should be
explored including the
extension of opening hours
for existing daytime facilities such as shops, cafés and Durham Clayport Library to create 
bridges between the day and night-time economy. In turn this would attract a wider range 
of visitors including families with children. Park and Ride opening hours should be 
extended to make the City more accessible in the evening. 

© City of Durham Parish Council, 2021 86

Page 272



Durham City Neighbourhood Plan

4.161 Proposals for development of the early evening and night-time economy will require
a supporting statement to be submitted with the planning application to address the issues
of public safety concerns and the negative impact on local and residential amenity 
including mitigation for noise. Development should be designed to be accessible for all 
users, including access to public toilets.

Justification for Policies E3 and E4

4.162 The NPPF (para. 85) and the emerging County Durham Local Plan recognise the 
importance of ensuring the viability and vitality of town centres. The threat to loss of trade 
in Durham City Centre to large retail proposals in nearby centres including out-of-town or 
edge-of-town centres cannot be resisted through policy in the Neighbourhood Plan as all 
these rivals are outside its influence. The Retail and Town Centre Study (CBRE, 2018; 
Durham County Council, 2017a) highlights the threat from out-of-town sites to the retail 
offer in the City Centre. Paragraph 10.3 states that the County Council has been obliged 
to issue “lawful development certificates” enabling change of use from traditional retail 
park businesses such as DIY companies to high street fashion chains. Paragraph 10.46 
states the negative impact of this course of action on the retail offer in the city; "this could 
have implications for the future retail strategy of the city as operator demand could be 
absorbed in out-of-centre locations”. In accordance with the NPPF (para. 86) it is essential
that Durham County Council apply a sequential test when considering out-of-town retail 
proposals across the County so that they do not have an adverse impact on the viability of
Durham City Centre. The emerging County Durham Plan includes sequential assessment 
for the protection of the vitality and viability of the City Centre and this coupled with 
policies and proposals in the Neighbourhood Plan will be crucial in determining such 
applications and maintaining the retail offer in the City. 

4.163 The Primary Shopping Area of the City Centre is where shoppers, visitors and 
tourists should experience the liveliest and most attractive environment, which will 
encourage return visits and maintain Durham City's role in the County's hierarchy of town 
centres. The retail sector in Durham City Centre is a key driver of the local economy, 
although it is subject to major seasonal fluctuations because of the impact of Durham 
University terms and vacations. Durham City has a good mix of shops, including 
independents and the well-loved market, but the closure of BHS and of Marks and 
Spencer, the anchor stores of the City Centre, and a number of other vacant shop units 
means that it is important that a range of both independent and national retailers are 
represented to include a balanced mix of consumer goods, food and services within the 
Primary Shopping Area. There is growing public concern at the rapid and continuing 
growth of food shops and in particular cafés, drinking establishments and takeaways 
which are considered to have a detrimental effect on the overall retail attractiveness of the
City. Nevertheless, the food and drink sector plays an important role in the viability and 
vitality of the City Centre which is increasingly apparent following the loss of major stores. 
There is now a gap in the retail provision in the City Centre, which will need an innovative 
solution to mitigate the challenges currently facing the high street. Enabling more ‘click 
and collect’, online shopping delivery facilities within City Centre shops will help to 
increase footfall through the City.

© City of Durham Parish Council, 2021 87

Page 273



Durham City Neighbourhood Plan

4.164 Consumers are now looking for a wider experience when visiting shopping centres. 
Retail development is now ‘leisure-led development’, that is development which includes 
cafés, restaurants, cinemas and entertainment facilities such as a bowling alley. A more 
diverse retail offering in Durham City and entertainment events throughout the year will 
encourage shoppers to visit and revisit the City Centre. Durham City Centre “is 
undergoing transition towards a more mixed retail and leisure development” (CBRE, 2017,
para. 10.9; Durham County Council, 2017a) with the transformation of The Gates 
shopping centre into The Riverwalk, which it is hoped will encourage visitors to stay longer
in the City. Good public transport links are needed between out-of-town shopping areas 
and the City Centre to enable shoppers to access the full range of services, facilities and 
attractions. The need to upgrade the existing bus station and bus stops serving the City 
Centre is a high priority in improving the attractiveness of the City to shoppers and other 
visitors. Extending the Park and Ride operating hours would also encourage visitors to 
stay longer in the City Centre. 

4.165 There is a lack of affordable retail space in Durham City Centre for small start-up 
businesses and creative businesses. One solution is to use the underused and empty 
buildings and shops in the City Centre. These can be used temporarily for new 
businesses as they become established.

4.166 The County Council is addressing the decline in North Road, which has recently 
suffered from a lack of investment and a deterioration of the retail offer, with 
improvements to roads and pavements. The Retail and Town Centre Study (CBRE, 2018, 
para. 10.48; Durham County Council, 2017a) identifies North Road as a regeneration site;
“which should be subject to a positive policy framework (not specific retail allocations but 
more supportive for town centre uses)” This also supports the need for a more flexible 
approach to town centre uses.

4.167 The retail offer outside the Primary Shopping Area comprises a greater mix of uses 
including non-retail such as letting agents, cafés and charity shops and these are 
necessary in order to provide a range of services expected in a town centre. In the case of
Durham City the area outside the Primary Shopping Area has suffered much change over 
the past 5 to 10 years; and the greater flexibility afforded to commercial premises outwith 
the Primary Shopping Area will allow opportunities for smaller retailers, including craft 
outlets, to add to the character and individuality of the City and contribute to a diverse 
retail offer.

Policy E5: Visitor Attractions

The special characteristics of the World Heritage Site and existing visitor attractions 
should be sustained and conserved, and where possible enhanced and promoted. 

Development proposals for existing and extended or refurbished visitor attractions will 
be supported where the visitor experience is enhanced: 

© City of Durham Parish Council, 2021 88

Page 274



Durham City Neighbourhood Plan

a) through the provision of improved facilities and interpretation at an existing 
attraction; and

b) through better access to a site for all visitors with good links to public transport; 
and

c) by location, use and design suited to the character of the area, and which does 
not have a negative impact on nearby properties and local residents' amenity 
with regard to noise and traffic.

Development proposals for new visitor attractions will be supported where:

d) a positive contribution to the quality of the City’s environment is made, in respect
of location, scale, design sympathetic to, and in harmony with, the Durham 
vernacular architecture, and potential for use of vacant buildings; and

e) the site is accessible to visitors and is well related and located to other 
attractions and facilities.

Policy E6: Visitor accommodation

Development proposals for new, extended or refurbished visitor accommodation will be 
supported where:

a) the accommodation to be provided would improve the range and quality 
available; and

b) the location, scale and character of the development will not have an 
unacceptable adverse impact on the natural or historic environment; and

c) such accommodation does not become a permanent residence. 

Justification for Policies E5 and E6

4.168 The NPPF (Chapters 6 and 7) emphasises building a strong and competitive eco-
nomy and ensuring the vitality of town centres. Planning policies should take "a positive 
approach to their [town centres] growth, management and adaptation" (NPPF para. 85) a 
particularly important requirement for town centres which are in decline, as in Durham City
in recent years. Tourism is a major source of income for Durham City, which has a World 
Heritage Site and other attractions. Through the policies the intention is to support 
Durham City as a centre for tourist development and as a year round tourist destination. 
Further there is potential to improve the quality of the visitor experience and to extend the 
time visitors stay in the City while strengthening the economy and creating jobs.

4.169 Visit County Durham (2016) Durham Tourism Management Plan 2016- 2020 identi-
fies the immediate action needed to deliver the tourism strategy for the County and City. 
Of particular importance to the economy is the need to improve facilities to lengthen the 
amount of time that visitors spend in the area. In terms of new development, the Manage-
ment Plan identifies the main gap in the tourism experience to be the lack of a cluster of 

© City of Durham Parish Council, 2021 89

Page 275



Durham City Neighbourhood Plan

attractions in Durham City that clearly benefit other historic cities. Other facilities needed 
within the County, and therefore possibly to be considered within Our Neighbourhood, are 
conference venues, art galleries and family attractions. A City with a World Heritage Site 
is expected by visitors to have a gallery of some sort, but Our Neighbourhood lacks a re-
gionally or nationally significant art space. Policy E5 seeks to achieve the balance 
between meeting acknowledged needs and protecting the environment of the City and its 
residents. Although the NPPF (para. 85) recommends the allocation of a range of sites, 
any such identification in the Neighbourhood Plan would risk the loss of a potential devel-
opment opportunity for another suitable use. 

4.170 Comments received during the consultations have been assessed for potential im-
provements of the policies. There is general support for the provision of new and better at-
tractions for the benefit of both residents and visitors.

4.171 There is a need for more and better visitor accommodation in the City, which is 
identified in the Durham Tourism Management Plan to be "boutique hotels – particularly in
Durham City, quality bed and breakfast accommodation, inns with rooms, good quality 3 
star properties" (Visit County Durham, 2016, p. 20). Policy E6 seeks to achieve a balance 
between meeting acknowledged needs and protecting the environment of the City and its 
residents.

4.172 Planning consent for all new visitor accommodation should include a condition of 
consent to ensure that the accommodation cannot be used as a permanent residence, in 
particular a House in Multiple Occupation. A recent planning application in Durham City 
attempted to get around the restrictions on HMOs by applying for planning permission as 
a Guest House. 

© City of Durham Parish Council, 2021 90

Page 276



Durham City Neighbourhood Plan

THEME 4: A CITY WITH ATTRACTIVE AND AFFORDABLE PLACES TO LIVE

Vision

4.173 Durham City will have a range of housing types to meet the needs of a sustainable 
mix of local residents and students living in harmony.

Objectives

4.174 The objectives of this theme are:

1. To change the imbalance towards student accommodation back to a sustainable, 
balanced community;

2. To promote housing designed for the needs of older people and for people with 
disabilities;

3. To promote affordable housing for all sectors of the community, but particularly for 
families with children and young people starting out.

Context

4.175 Durham City's setting in a surrounding green bowl is of paramount importance.  
Development of all kinds should be encouraged up to its physical limits. Major physical 
constraints within the City include the River Wear, its floodplain and its gorge. The scale 
and design of new buildings need to respect the City's heritage and topography, especially

© City of Durham Parish Council, 2021 91

Page 277



Durham City Neighbourhood Plan

regarding the World Heritage Site and the two Conservation Areas. These special Durham
factors require that the best use is made of every piece of land within the urban area and 
especially the development of 'brownfield' land and the protection of green and attractive 
open spaces. The over-riding consideration that applies to all development proposals in 
Our Neighbourhood, including all forms of residential development, is that there shall be 
no harm to the historic environment, most notably the setting of the World Heritage Site. 

4.176 When work started on the Neighbourhood Plan there were sites within the urban 
area capable of providing over 1,500 additional dwellings. However, many of these have 
subsequently been approved for the construction of Purpose Built Student 
Accommodation. PBSAs comprise a number of cluster flats and/or self-contained flats. 
Each flat in a PBSA is counted as a residential unit. University colleges are PBSAs. Since 
2012 a number of sites in Our Neighbourhood including several specifically identified at 
the time in the County Council’s SHLAA that could have been for year-long residents have
been developed as private PBSAs, i.e.: 

 Elvet Studios (Green Lane) 112 studio apartments
 City Block (formerly The Village @ The Viaduct) (Ainsley Street) 223 beds, in 

cluster and studio apartments
 Ward Court (formerly Neville’s Cross Club) 36 apartments
 Chapel Heights 198 beds
 St Giles Studios (110 Gilesgate) 109 studio flats
 New Kepier Court (Mayorswell Close) 214 rooms, a mixture of cluster apartments 

and studios
 Ustinov College at Sheraton Park (formerly Neville House and Sheraton House) 

418 beds, in cluster and studio apartments
 Duresme Court (formerly Berendsen Laundry) 277 studio flats
 Rushford Court (formerly County Hospital) 363 beds
 Houghall Court, East Durham College’s Houghall campus, 222 beds in cluster and 

studio apartments
 Dun Holm House, The Riverwalk 253 beds in cluster and studio apartments
 Student Castle, Lower Claypath 473 beds in cluster and studio apartments
 The Greenwell Building, Back Silver Street 56 beds
 The Three Tuns 168 beds, construction progressing

4.177 The few remaining areas of land potentially suitable for housing development are 
therefore extremely precious; it is imperative that the Neighbourhood Plan provides 
development policies that enable such areas of land within Our Neighbourhood to 
contribute as much as possible to the provision of appropriate new dwellings for Durham 
City as a whole. 

4.178 One of the strongest concerns expressed in consultations has been the 
'studentification' of former family housing areas of Durham; the NPPF (para. 62) expects 
planning policies to aim to create mixed and balanced communities and (para. 91) to 
achieve healthy, inclusive and safe places. The severe imbalance in parts of Durham City 
is damaging to community relations, to quality of life and to the future sustainability of 

© City of Durham Parish Council, 2021 92

Page 278



Durham City Neighbourhood Plan

schools, shops and other services and facilities. In 2015 the Durham City Neighbourhood 
Planning Forum collected data on residency in Our Neighbourhood 
(http://npf.durhamcity.org.uk/themes/housing/property-information/). Most of the 
information was gathered from public sources, primarily the Valuation Office Agency and 
Durham County Council, plus estate agents and landlord websites. The database had 
2,913 permanent residents' dwellings, 2,029 student houses and flats, and 1,644 other 
properties, making 6,586 properties in total. The 2,029 student houses and flats represent 
30% of all residential properties in Our Neighbourhood, above the 10% figure for a 
balanced community. It should also be noted that a number of streets in the Viaduct and 
Crossgate area have student residencies of approximately 90+%.

Map 6: Studentification

Note: Map supplied by Durham County Council

4.179 The C3 planning use class covers dwelling houses for up to six people living 
together as a single household. Houses in Multiple Occupation (HMO) are properties 
shared by between 3 and 6 unrelated individuals and are planning use class C4; an HMO 
where more than six unrelated individuals are sharing is known as “Sui Generis” (of its 
own class). Enabling changes of use from an HMO to C3 will be a challenge as there is 
some evidence that students prefer HMO accommodation to PBSAs or college 
accommodation (Durham University, Geography Department, 2015).

© City of Durham Parish Council, 2021 93

Page 279



Durham City Neighbourhood Plan

4.180 An Article 4 Direction, requiring planning permission to convert a family home into 
an HMO, was approved for a large part of the centre of the City and came into force on 
17th September 2016. A further Direction for much of Framwellgate and Newton Hall 
(outside Our Neighbourhood) came into force on 17th May 2017. In order to be able to 
resist the overspilling of HMO developments into the rest of Our Neighbourhood, a third 
Direction to cover the remaining part of the Neighbourhood Plan Area would be needed. 
This is an action which would be for the County Council to consider.

4.181 A further issue is that Durham University (2016) has adopted its Masterplan for the 
growth of Durham University over the next 10 years. This is helpful in displaying Durham 
University's aspirations for physical development. This growth will, however, further 
diminish the very limited availability of sites for various forms of residential development 
unless sufficient Purpose Built Student Accommodation, including new Colleges, is 
provided within the University estate. It is welcome therefore, that Durham University has 
identified land in its ownership for six new Colleges and PBSAs. However, as shown in 
Appendix C (para. C16 to C23), even if these are all built and are Colleges or University-
affiliated PBSAs, meeting the aspiration of between 50% and 55% of students ‘living-in’ 
would require that all existing and planned PBSAs are given the designation ‘University-
affiliated’. This is not expected to be the case, and in addition student preferences are to 
live in HMOs. It follows that there may well be a demand for additional HMOs in Durham 
City which, if met, would further reduce the number of year-long residents and worsen the 
community imbalance.  To avoid this retrograde scenario would require a reduction in the 
scale and pace of growth envisaged by Durham University, or for the University to require 
a higher percentage of students to live in College and University-affiliated 
accommodation.

4.182 The County Council has provided an estimate of the overall numbers of dwelling 
units required in Our Neighbourhood, but not for each kind of housing need. To be able to 
retain the long-term number of residents would need sites for at least 200 additional 
dwellings at the very minimum (from Appendix C para. C15). The County Council’s 
estimate at September 2019 (which will be revised in due course) is that a minimum of 
1,297 new dwellings are required, comprising 639 on sites now under construction, 120 
with planning permission but not yet under construction, 488 with planning permission and
included in the emerging County Durham Local Plan, and 50 on a proposed new site 
(details are in Appendix C para. C28). This requirement figure therefore will assist in re-
balancing the permanent resident population of Our Neighbourhood.

4.183 The County Council’s figure of the housing requirement for Our Neighbourhood 
is the current figure for how many new homes there is planning permission to build and 
is thereby automatically sufficient. Additional suitable sites would be useful in case of 
non-delivery of some of the approved sites and would provide flexibility and a contin-
gency provision. Accordingly, further sites, however small, have been sought and these
are included in Policy D1. 

4.184 The Neighbourhood Plan does set out qualitative needs: the County's population 
age structure is projected to shift dramatically (Office for National Statistics, 2016b), with 

© City of Durham Parish Council, 2021 94

Page 280



Durham City Neighbourhood Plan

the numbers aged 75 and over increasing by 67% from being 8.6% of the total population 
in 2014 to 13.3% in 2035 (in the 2016 household projections the figures are an increase of
58% from 8.7% of the total population in 2016 to 13% of the total population in 2035 
(Office for National Statistics, 2018b)). This makes the provision of suitable 
accommodation for older people a particular priority. Nevertheless, there are other 
categories of provision that will be needed, including students, families with children, 
professionals and people starting out in the housing market (NPPF, para. 61).

Justification

4.185 This justification refers to the Housing theme as a whole. Additional, specific 
justification for each housing policy is given with the policy itself.

4.186 The results of the Forum priority survey looking at the public’s views about what is 
good, bad and needs to change about the City (Durham City Neighbourhood Planning 
Forum, 2015) emphasised housing as a key issue. In particular, the responses indicate 
that there is an urgent need to redress the huge imbalance towards student 
accommodation, and the various problems this causes and to provide more housing (e.g. 
affordable housing; housing for families of various kinds including families with children; 
older people; and young professionals). The particular importance of ensuring provision 
for families with children is in order to restore and sustain community balance, 
inclusiveness and sustainability, notably with regard to school places and children's and 
parents' facilities.

4.187 The NPPF (para. 67) states the need for the Local Planning Authority to identify a 
sufficient supply and mix of specific, deliverable sites (the Strategic Housing Land 
Availability Assessment (SHLAA)). The NPPF's aims are to meet household and 
population projections, address the need for all types of housing including affordable 
housing, address the needs of different groups in the community (including families with 
children and older people), and contribute to the objective of creating mixed and balanced 
communities . However, the Local Planning Authority should also protect the Green Belt 
(NPPF para. 133 to 136) and encourage reuse of brownfield land (NPPF para. 117). 
These national planning policies apply not just to the Local Planning Authority but to all 
relevant plan-makers and decision-takers.

4.188 The White Paper 'Fixing our broken housing market' (Department for Communities 
and Local Government, 2017a) and the Government Response to consultation comments 
(Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local Government, 2018) aim to boost housing 
supply and, over the long term, create a more efficient housing market. The Government 
proposes to prioritise the use of brownfield land, incentivise housing for rent, encourage 
the smaller development firms, discourage 'land-banking' and promote good design.

4.189 The Sustainable Communities Strategy for County Durham 2014-2030 (County 
Durham Partnership, 2014) has a section 'Altogether greener' with the aim of promoting 
sustainable design and protecting Durham’s heritage. 

© City of Durham Parish Council, 2021 95

Page 281



Durham City Neighbourhood Plan

4.190 The Durham City Regeneration Masterplan (Durham County Council, 2014) and its 
update (Durham County Council, 2016c) have a number of implementation projects and 
actions relevant to housing in Our Neighbourhood (a subset of the Durham City area 
covered by the Masterplan), i.e. ensuring services are in place including schools, and 
planning for housing allocations. The Masterplan update notes what has been delivered 
and outlines key future activities. Completed projects include the introduction of an Article 
4 direction and a policy framework with which to determine student accommodation 
proposals. Housing allocations are set out in the prevailing Local Plan, and the 
Neighbourhood Plan seeks to supplement these to provide flexibility and contingency in 
case of non-delivery.

Planning Policies and Proposals for Land Use

4.191 The policies related to this theme are:

 Policy D1: Land for Residential Development
 Policy D2: Housing for Older People and People with Disabilities
 Policy D3: Affordable Housing
 Policy D4: Building Housing to the Highest Standards

Policy D1: Land for Residential Development

Proposals for housing development on the following sites, as shown on Proposals Map 
7, will be supported:

1. Main Street USA
2. The Avenue

The conversion of existing buildings for residential use will be supported.

© City of Durham Parish Council, 2021 96

Page 282



Durham City Neighbourhood Plan

Proposals Map 7: Housing Sites

An interactive version of this map is available at 
http://maps.durhamcity.org.uk/npf/Proposals_Map_7.php

© City of Durham Parish Council, 2021 97

Page 283



Durham City Neighbourhood Plan

4.192 Potential sites for residential development are listed in the SHLAA 2018 (Durham 
County Council, 2018d,e (See Appendix C, Table C8). The Neighbourhood Plan endorses
these and in Policy D1 identifies two other sites. An Evidence Base note on the process 
through which the Neighbourhood Plan’s housing sites were identified is available (City of 
Durham Parish Council, 2020, 
http://npf.durhamcity.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2020/09/Evidence-Base-Note-Housing-
Site-Selections.pdf). Sites that are now under development do not need to be identified.

4.193 The following notes provide additional information about the sites (shown on 
Proposals Map 7). The sites have been assessed through the Sustainability Appraisal 
process (AECOM, 2019) to ensure that the potential social, economic and environmental 
impacts including those on known heritage assets has been identified, and additionally to 
ensure that appropriate mitigation and/or enhancement measures will be applied in 
accordance with the sustainability Policy S1 and the three heritage Policies H1 to H3 of 
this Plan. 

4.194 The two sites identified are located within the Durham City Conservation Area and 
have the potential to adversely impact upon the Conservation Area itself, including its 
special qualities, distinctiveness and setting. Additionally, the location and visibility of Site 
D1.1 Main Street USA is likely to also be sensitive in relation to the Durham Cathedral and
Castle World Heritage Site. Accordingly, it is essential that the Conservation Area 
Appraisals and the World Heritage Site Management Plan are used in considering 
residential development proposals for these identified sites so as to provide an 
appropriate basis for the protection and enhancement of heritage assets. There are other 
possible sites and these should similarly be assessed against these policies and 
protections if housing development applications come forward. The number of housing 
units given below for each site is indicative and numbers can be greater or fewer 
depending on how proposals are designed to deal with topographical and landscape 
issues and requirements.

 D1.1: Main Street USA: (anticipated yield 5): existing space could provide for 5 
terraced houses, provided that trees and surrounding woodland are protected and 
that the right of way that residents and occupants of the Main Street USA offices 
have from Framwellgate Peth over the land now owned by a developer to get to 
their properties is retained. The site’s location and visibility make it very sensitive 
in relation to the paramount consideration of safeguarding the setting of the World 
Heritage Site when evaluating specific development proposals.

 D1.2: 24 a, b and c The Avenue: (anticipated yield 12): 12 apartments have been 
approved but not commenced.

4.195 To maximise the contribution that any site makes towards appropriate residential 
developments, high densities will be encouraged in areas that are characterised by 
existing higher densities, provided that adequate green and open space provision is 
included. Contributions from conversions of existing buildings into residential uses will 

© City of Durham Parish Council, 2021 98

Page 284



Durham City Neighbourhood Plan

also be supported in principle, including residential use of upper floors of retail and 
commercial premises.

4.196 In addition to housing sites identified in the Neighbourhood Plan, additional houses 
would become available from small windfall sites. Indeed, any new sites that come 
forward that have the potential for mixed residential development will be supported in 
principle subject as always to relevant NPPF, County Durham Local Plan and the 
Neighbourhood Plan policies. Although the possibility of redevelopment on the site of 
Durham Prison in New Elvet has been raised, the Home Office does not envisage closing 
the Prison in the lifetime of the Plan.

Student Accommodation

4.197 The County Durham Plan contains strategic policies for the development of the 
University (Policy 16.1), for Purpose Built Student Accommodation (PBSAs) (Policy 16.2) 
and for Houses in Multiple Occupation (HMOs) (Policy 16.3). 

4.198 Student accommodation in Durham City is one of the most frequently mentioned 
issues in the Neighbourhood Plan's consultations (Durham City Neighbourhood Planning 
Forum, 2015), and the subject of much debate over many years. Working in partnership 
with Durham University and residents' groups, the County Council adopted an Interim 
Policy (Durham County Council, 2016d) to deal with applications to develop houses in 
multiple occupation (HMOs) and purpose built student accommodation (PBSAs) and this 
has proved to be reasonably effective. The policies in the County Durham Plan are 
significant improvements in the light of experience. This is most welcome.

© City of Durham Parish Council, 2021 99

Page 285



Durham City Neighbourhood Plan

Policy D2: Housing for Older People and People with Disabilities

Housing for older people

In order to help meet the needs of the ageing population in Our Neighbourhood, 10% of 
private and intermediate housing on sites where 10 or more homes will be provided, or 
the site has an area of 0.5 hectares or more, should be of types and design appropriate 
for older people. Accommodation that would meet this requirement includes:

 level access flats;
 level access bungalows;
 sheltered housing;
 extra-care schemes;
 housing products that meet the specific needs of a multi-generational family.

Housing schemes that are solely for older people are encouraged and will be 
supported.

New provision for older people should either be located close to shops, healthcare 
services and other essentials, or provide access to such facilities by being near a public
transport route, as well as being served by appropriately designed and sited pavements
and footpaths. 

Housing for older people and for people of all ages with disabilities

Extensions to houses and flats, and other building works within the curtilage of a 
residential property, which are needed to enable a resident to continue to live there 
rather than go into a nursing or residential care home will be permitted providing they 
are in keeping with the building and its surroundings.

4.199 Provision of nursing homes and residential care homes is covered in community 
Policy C4.

4.200 Our Neighbourhood provides a topographical challenge in the provision of housing 
sites suitable for older people. Section 106 money could be used to provide suitable public
transport facilities, pavements and footpaths across Our Neighbourhood that are designed
for older people and for people of all ages with disabilities. 

Justification

4.201 The NPPF (para.61) states that: "the size, type and tenure of housing needed for 
different groups in the community should be assessed and reflected in planning policies 
(including, but not limited to, those who require affordable housing, families with children, 
older people, students". The NPPF Annexe 2 defines the housing needs of older people 
as: 

© City of Durham Parish Council, 2021 100

Page 286



Durham City Neighbourhood Plan

People over or approaching retirement age, including the active, newly-retired 
through to the very frail elderly; and whose housing needs can encompass 
accessible, adaptable general needs housing through to the full range of 
retirement and specialised housing for those with support or care needs.

4.202 The Government's Planning Practice Guidance notes that: "The need to provide 
housing for older people is critical. People are living longer lives and the proportion of 
older people in the population is increasing." (PPG 'Housing for older people and disabled 
people' para. 001).

4.203 The figures in Appendix C (para. C24, C25) show that 33% of the long-term (i.e. 
non-student) population are retired, and 11% are aged 75 or over. The increase in the 
numbers and proportion of the population that are in the older age groups is a challenge 
across many areas of national policy, not just housing. Locally, it has been highlighted in 
the Plan's consultations as a key issue for the Neighbourhood Plan (Durham City 
Neighbourhood Planning Forum, 2015). Accordingly, The Neighbourhood Plan sets out 
this policy to implement the expectations of the NPPF and of Parliamentary Committees 
and pressure groups.

4.204 Durham County Council's (2016c) strategic housing market assessment surveyed 
housing needs for older people:

... modern properties aimed at the elderly, dementia schemes, extra care 
schemes, ground floor apartments and 2 bed bungalows were highlighted as key 
areas. In terms of stock shortages amongst older people stakeholders recognised; 
energy efficient homes for life, extra care facilities, sheltered accommodation and 
affordable rent schemes as priorities. (para. 6.16 )

4.205 As well as providing for older people in new builds through the policy set out above, 
much of the existing housing stock in Our Neighbourhood could be suitable for older 
people either as it is or by adaptations and conversions. 

4.206 The 2011 Census gives a figure of 3% of the population of Durham City who are 
sick or with disabilities. As with older people, the aim of this policy is to enable 
independent living in a person's own home. One way is through adoption and use of the 
relevant building regulation standards. These optional building regulations include a 
standard for accessible and adaptable dwellings (M4(2) Category 2: UK Government, 
2016). This comprises the optional requirement of:

(1) Reasonable provision must be made for people to—
(a) gain access to; and
(b) use, the dwelling and its facilities.
(2) The provision made must be sufficient to—
(a) meet the needs of occupants with differing needs, including some older or 
disabled people; and

© City of Durham Parish Council, 2021 101

Page 287



Durham City Neighbourhood Plan

(b) to allow adaptation of the dwelling to meet the changing needs of occupants 
over time.

4.207 The Neighbourhood Plan would strongly encourage developers to implement this 
optional building regulation in building new houses or renovating existing houses. This is 
optional unless the requirement is implemented through the Local Plan. The developing 
County Durham Local Plan contains the requirement that housing for older people must 
be built to Building Regulations Requirement M4 (2) (accessible and adaptable dwellings).
It is good practice for new buildings to be checked by a qualified access consultant for 
accessibility.

4.208 Recognising both that people often wish to remain in their own homes for as long as
possible, and that in any case places may not be available in care homes, this policy 
facilitates extensions to allow people to continue living independently for as long as 
possible. Additionally, adaptations of existing buildings, which would not be covered by a 
Neighbourhood Plan, would be very suitable for this goal.

Policy D3: Affordable Housing

Any scheme for new residential development, or for conversions of existing sites, on 
sites where 10 or more homes will be provided, or the site has an area of 0.5 hectares 
or more, will be required to include 25% as affordable housing. 

Affordable housing should be located on the proposed site. Where it can be justified by 
the developer, or it is considered by the local planning authority that it is the most 
appropriate course of action, off-site contributions in lieu of on-site provision will be 
accepted for affordable housing located within or adjacent to Our Neighbourhood.

4.209 If the percentage of affordable units is not a whole number then round to the 
nearest whole number as follows: if the number is followed by .5, .6, .7, .8, or .9, round the
number up; if the number is followed by .0, .1, .2, .3, or .4, round the number down. 

4.210 A House of Commons Briefing Paper (Wilson and Barton, 2018, p.5) looked at 
affordable housing and noted that "There is no all-encompassing statutory definition of 
affordable housing in England". The NPPF defines affordable housing in Annex 2 covering
social housing for rent and intermediate housing for sale or rent. There are proposed 
amendments to NPPF guidance on this topic with the overall premise that affordable is at 
least 20% below market rent or market value. The emerging County Durham Local Plan 
proposes, on the basis of evidence, that in Durham City the percentage should be 25% 
affordable provision. 

4.211 Affordable housing in Our Neighbourhood is affected by a premium on the value of 
housing caused by three main factors: (i) the strength of the buy to rent market because of

© City of Durham Parish Council, 2021 102

Page 288



Durham City Neighbourhood Plan

the large number of students as a percentage of the population; 53% in the 2011 census, 
now over 60% (see para. C.3); (ii) the high level of provision of new executive housing, 
and (iii) the large number of residential properties that are listed buildings or non-
designated heritage assets. This means that 80% of market value is way beyond most 
people's income levels. To achieve more realistically affordable houses to revitalise Our 
Neighbourhood requires more creative mechanisms than dependence on the market. For 
example: Durham County Council owns property in Our Neighbourhood that could be 
developed for realistically-affordable housing; Durham University could support its 
expansion by providing realistically-affordable housing for young academics starting out in
the profession.

4.212 Affordable accommodation is also an issue for students. Durham Students’ Union 
(2018a,b) have been carrying out a campaign to address the cost of Durham University 
college accommodation. Though this does not include private PBSAs, many of these 
charge higher levels than the colleges. Durham University provides bursaries to assist 
qualifying students with their accommodation costs, but PBSAs do not provide any 
‘affordable’ (at 80% of market rent) accommodation.

Justification

4.213 The Plan priority
consultation (Durham City
Neighbourhood Planning
Forum, 2015) shows that family
housing and affordable
housing, for renting and for
buying, are a particular need in
Durham City and that
appropriate provision is needed
here for people starting out in
the housing market, for families
with children and for young professionals. The NPPF (para. 61) expects that such 
categories of need are recognised. Changes in law nationally tilt the provision from renting
to owning and do not protect the affordable price in perpetuity. The Neighbourhood Plan 
seeks to keep both renting and buying as options. Provision can be made by new build or 
by conversions of former Houses in Multiple Occupation.

© City of Durham Parish Council, 2021 103

Page 289



Durham City Neighbourhood Plan

Policy D4: Building Housing to the Highest Standards

All new housing, and extensions and other alterations to existing housing, should be of 
high quality design relating to:

a) the character and appearance of the local area; and
b) aesthetic qualities; and
c) external and internal form and layout; and
d) functionality; and
e) adaptability; and
f) resilience; and
g) the improvement of energy efficiency and the reduction of carbon dioxide 

emissions.

New residential development should meet the Building for Life 12 standards provided 
for in County Durham Building for Life Supplementary Planning Document (2019).

4.214 This policy should be used in conjunction with Policy S1, Policies H1 to H3, Policy 
G1, and Policies T1 to T3.

Justification

4.215 The NPPF (para. 124) sees good design as a key aspect of sustainable 
development, and states that:

Design policies should be developed with local communities so they reflect local 
aspirations, and are grounded in an understanding and evaluation of each area’s 
defining characteristics. Neighbourhood plans can play an important role in 
identifying the special qualities of each area and explaining how this should be 
reflected in development. (NPPF para. 125).

4.216 It was commented on in the results of the priority survey of local opinion that the 
City has been blighted by poor building design from the 1960s and 1970s (though some of
this is being addressed by new developments in progress to replace such buildings). 
There are also some examples of modern architecture that complement the historic 
character of the City such as the Calman Learning Centre on South Road and the 
café/meeting room in Wharton Park. Newer building developments in the outer areas of 
the City have tended to be of uninspiring, standard-product semi-detached and detached 
houses. But options for better design of new housing exist. 

4.217 Design of housing is a huge topic. Much of this is covered by building regulations 
(UK Government. Planning portal) and is outside the remit of the Neighbourhood Plan. 
The view taken in this Neighbourhood Plan is that there are a few key principles of 
importance to the local community. These comprise:

© City of Durham Parish Council, 2021 104

Page 290



Durham City Neighbourhood Plan

 sufficient space, with housing designed to achieve at a minimum the government's 
nationally described space standard (Department for Communities and Local 
Government, 2015). Durham County Council has adopted this optional standard in
the emerging Durham County Local Plan. 

 accessibility. The developing Durham County Council's Local Plan contains the 
requirement that housing for older people must be built to Building Regulations 
Requirement M4 (2) (accessible and adaptable dwellings). The Neighbourhood 
Plan would like to see, as a general aim, all housing to be built to this standard.

 energy efficiency. (See also Policy S1). 
 aesthetics, to achieve housing that is sympathetic to their area, but not a pastiche. 

Theme 2a policies address this aspect.

4.218 The RIBA (2009) discussion paper noted that “the design quality of many 
developments built before the credit crunch was inadequate, with only 18% of schemes 
rated as ‘good’ or ‘very good’”  and that “many buyers of new homes have concerns over 
a lack of space and an inconvenient layout.” (p.1) It concluded that “there is a huge 
potential for the market for new homes to be expanded by placing more emphasis on 
design quality and providing a more diverse product.” (p.1)  Concerns about lack of space 
were reiterated in RIBA (2011): consumers felt that new houses failed to provide adequate
inner and outer space. Over 90% of these houses did not meet minimum size standards 
set by the ‘Nationally Described Space Standard’ (Department for Communities and Local
Government, 2015) and were smaller than new houses in Western Europe. Ipsos MORI 
and RIBA (2012) surveyed the housing needs and expectations of consumers and the key
findings were (p.4-5): 

• Large windows for natural light, large rooms and high ceilings;

• Large main living area for eating and socialising;

• Layouts which take into account technology used within the home;

• Space for private time away from other members of the household;

• Private space outside, particularly for families, or access to green public space in 
urban locations;

• Long-term and short-term storage for functional items, and for personal 
possessions;

• Dedicated space for domestic utility tasks, such as, washing, drying and ironing 
clothes, as well as for storing vacuum cleaners, rubbish bins and recycling;

• Options for different layouts, with flexibility.

4.219 Access to high speed Internet and mobile access in the home for both leisure and 
home working is crucial. The provision of this technology infrastructure needs to keep 
pace with new technological developments, e.g. the need for electric car charging points.

4.220 'Locality' has produced guidance on design in neighbourhood planning (Design 
Council and Cabe, 2016). It states (p.5) that good design means "solutions that put people
first by addressing the way the building or space functions – thinking about what it is used 
for and how it is used; ensuring it is designed to last and valued by those who use it." It 
also states that good design should be functional, support a mix of uses and tenures, be 

© City of Durham Parish Council, 2021 105

Page 291



Durham City Neighbourhood Plan

adaptable and resilient and have a distinctive character. It also supports use of the 
Building For Life criteria.

4.221 The Building for Life criteria (Birkbeck and Kruczkowski, 2015) are a set of quality 
tests agreed nationally by The Design Council, the Housebuilders' Federation and Design 
for Homes to ensure that the design of new homes and the spaces that surrounds them 
are as attractive, functional and sustainable as possible. The scheme uses 12 questions 
that are scored using a traffic light system. The Design Council offers an accreditation 
scheme that developers can apply for related to proposals that have received planning 
approval.

4.222 The 12 Building for Life questions are: 

 Integrating into the neighbourhood (covering Connections, Facilities and services, 
Public transport, Meeting local housing requirements)

 Creating a place (covering Character, Working with the site and its context, 
Creating well defined streets and spaces, Easy to find your way around)

 Street & home (covering Streets for all, Car parking, Public and private spaces, 
External storage and amenity space)

4.223 Durham County Council have adopted an in-house review process to assess 
schemes against the Building for Life Standards. Their related Supplementary Planning 
Document formalises the review process and establishes the guidelines and standards for
its operation (Durham County Council, 2019a). The aim is to use this process to obtain 
improvements in the design of proposals submitted by developers. The Building for Life 
Standards are a requirement in the emerging County Durham Local Plan. Durham County
Council's Building for Life review process covers all major residential-led schemes of 50+ 
units (or 1.5 hectares+), as well as any smaller schemes in particularly sensitive locations 
at the discretion of Durham County Council. It would seem appropriate that all 
developments within Our Neighbourhood should be reviewed, because of the sensitivity of
the World Heritage Site and the Durham City Conservation Area. 

4.224 Many policies in this Neighbourhood Plan would contribute to the achievement of 
green traffic light scores to these Building for Life questions, e.g. Policies S1, H2, H3, G1, 
T1, T2, and T3.

© City of Durham Parish Council, 2021 106

Page 292



Durham City Neighbourhood Plan

4.5 THEME 5: A CITY WITH A MODERN AND SUSTAINABLE TRANSPORT 
INFRASTRUCTURE

Vision

4.225 Durham City will have sustainable transport access to economic, educational, 
training, cultural and social opportunities for all, thereby enabling a swifter transition to a 
healthier environment and a low-carbon future.

Objectives

4.226 The objectives of this theme are:

1. To ensure that Our Neighbourhood is well-served by sustainable transport;
2. To make travel healthier and safer for all;
3. To create pleasant and healthy streets, public places and areas of natural 

environment.

© City of Durham Parish Council, 2021 107

Page 293



Durham City Neighbourhood Plan

Context

4.227 Decisions on transport policy, proposals and investments are crucial in achieving a 
more sustainable future. Thus it is timely that the 'Durham City Sustainable Transport 
Delivery Plan' for the period 2019 to 2035 has been produced by Durham County Council 
(2018a) and, indeed, the issues and opportunities identified (p.9 to 14; Durham County 
Council, 2015b) are the starting point for our the Neighbourhood Plan, which emphasises 
the role of new development in helping to deliver sustainable modes of transport 
appropriate to the special character of Durham City.

4.228 The context provided by the Sustainable Transport Delivery Plan is summarised 
below and influences, but does not necessarily determine, the policies.

 Highways: the need to maintain the highway network remains of crucial 
importance for all forms of movement, but the need to keep motor traffic flowing 
freely must not continue to take precedence over the needs of other users. The 
A690 through the City is a barrier to pedestrians and cyclists, and vehicle 
emissions have an impact on the health of local people.

 Walking and cycling: in Durham City, where 36% of people walked to work (in 
2011), improvements to the pedestrian networks are a high priority. Addressing 
footway congestion on routes to the University, dealing with safety issues, 
including conflict with cyclists, wheelchair users and motor vehicles, and improving
crossings at major junctions are among the interventions which could help walking 
reach its full potential. Cycling accounts for a low percentage of travel currently. 
City Centre routes are complex and incoherent, there is little continuous cycling 
infrastructure, and no high quality routes to Durham University from the City 
Centre. Round the outskirts there are many busy junctions with no provision for 
cyclists. There is a significant opportunity for improvement. The Government’s 
commitment to a national Cycling and Walking Investment Strategy through the 
'Infrastructure Act 2015' (UK Parliament, 2015, section 21) presents a new 
determination to secure greater investment in the future.

 Public transport: the Sustainable Transport Delivery Plan identifies issues which 
prevent the City from realising its full potential including too many services 
terminating in the City Centre making many journeys inconvenient, the poor quality
of bus stops and bus station, and poor connectivity to Durham railway station. 
Congestion affects bus reliability and journey times. The Park and Ride service 
and some other bus services do not run late enough into the evening for some 
users, and the Park and Ride requires a subsidy despite its popularity. While 
national rail connections are very good, train services to local settlements are 
limited.

 Parking: the Sustainable Transport Delivery Plan highlights the extensive 
provision of free car parking at major employment sites across the City, which 
might discourage the uptake of sustainable transport modes. The Delivery Plan 

© City of Durham Parish Council, 2021 108

Page 294



Durham City Neighbourhood Plan

presents somewhat simplified conclusions on parking in comparison with the full 
Durham Sustainable Transport Plan Issues and Opportunities Report (Durham 
County Council, 2015b) which better reflected the diversity of opinion on this issue.
In particular there are concerns about the continued economic viability of City 
Centre retail which could be alleviated by better management of car parking.

4.229 A fuller treatment of the transport context and details of facilities is given in 
Appendix D (para. D2 to D12). (See also relevant initiatives in the companion document 
'Looking Forwards: Durham as a Creative and Sustainable City'.)

Justification

4.230 This justification refers to the Transport theme as a whole. Additional, specific 
justification for each transport policy is given with the policy itself.

4.231 There is a limit to what the Neighbourhood Plan can achieve with respect to 
transport, especially when so many people travel to, or through, Our Neighbourhood from 
other areas. The maintenance and upgrading of the road network is adequately covered 
by policies that apply across County Durham for assessing the transport impacts of 
developments. Thus the policies in the Neighbourhood Plan focus on where value can be 
added, particularly dealing with shorter journeys by walking and cycling, access to bus 
services, and the design of streets. Car and cycle parking is also covered, to promote 
effective use of housing land.

4.232 The main justification for prioritising sustainable modes of transport in the 
Neighbourhood Plan is the County Council’s recognition of the need to deal with 
competition for road space in its adoption in the Sustainable Transport Delivery Plan of 
the hierarchy set out in the Department for Transport (2007b) 'Manual for Streets'. This 
accords with the NPPF (para. 102 and 103) which has an objective that "opportunities to 
promote walking, cycling and public transport use are identified" and supported by the 
planning system actively managing patterns of growth. The Council's earlier 'Transport 
Strategy' (Durham County Council, 2011b) is also supportive of sustainability. This Local 
Transport Plan is for the period 2011 onwards and covers the whole of Durham County, 
with Durham City as a section within this. It is organised under 6 themes, including: 
Reduce our carbon footprint; Safer and healthier travel; Better accessibility to services; 
Improve quality of life and a healthy natural environment; Maintain the transport asset. 

4.233 The national 'Cycling and Walking Investment Strategy' (Department for Transport, 
2017) aims to make cycling and walking the natural choices for shorter journeys, or as 
part of a longer journey. Its 2020 objectives are to: increase cycling activity, increase 
walking activity, reduce the rate of cyclists killed or seriously injured on England’s roads, 
increase the percentage of children aged 5 to 10 that usually walk to school. It recognises 
that insufficient investment has been put into cycling and walking and notes that "walking 
and cycling should be seen as transport modes in their own right and an integral part of 
the transport network, rather than as niche interests or town-planning afterthoughts". (p.7)

© City of Durham Parish Council, 2021 109

Page 295



Durham City Neighbourhood Plan

4.234 Therefore, to meet expectations for a more sustainable City with a modern transport
infrastructure, investment in future transport needs will be according to this user hierarchy:

 Walking;
 Cycling;
 Public transport;
 Specialist services, e.g. emergency vehicles, waste collection;
 Other motor traffic.

4.235 The second justification can be found in the Forum's priority survey of the views of 
local people and study of the views of young people in the City (Durham City 
Neighbourhood Planning Forum, 2015, 2016a) which reveal a variety of opinions on the 
transport issues facing us. People appreciate the pedestrianised areas, the compact size 
of the City and the public transport links, but many raised the poor pedestrian 
environment, traffic congestion, and parking as issues. The Park and Ride service is 
valued, but could also be much improved. People would like traffic management and the 
road system improved, including the pedestrian environment and safe routes for cycling. 
The Sustainable Communities Strategy for County Durham 2014-2030 (County Durham 
Partnership, 2014) has the theme 'Altogether safer' including the aim of reducing road 
casualties.

4.236 There were views also on the need to address climate change, air quality, 
congestion, and active travel (walking and cycling) to bring health benefits. Active travel 
suggestions included proposals for network improvements that were needed including 
specific paths to be improved by better surfaces or lighting. Ideas to improve walking were
also gathered at the Eco-Festival held at St John's, Neville's Cross, in June 2016 and 
feedback on cycling needs was gathered via a meeting of local cyclists (Durham City 
Neighbourhood Planning Forum, 2016b) and these findings have been updated in the light
of responses to the public consultations.

4.237 A further justification for a sustainable transport approach is to be found in the 
'County Durham Climate Change Strategy' (County Durham Environment Partnership, 
2015b, p.17)

County Durham will aim to reduce CO2 emissions from transport, through the 
promotion of travel choices and alternatives to private car travel, ultra-low carbon 
vehicles, walking, cycling and more integrated travel planning.

4.238 As pointed out in the strategy, 23% of CO2 emissions come from the transport 
sector. Nationally over a third of journeys under two miles, and 55% of journeys under five
miles are made by car or van. If people are given more transport options, through 
improving public transport and the pedestrian and cycling environment, big reductions in 
emissions and congestion could be achieved. But it is also important to encourage the use
of electric vehicles and cleaner, fuel-efficient cars among those who still need to use cars 
for their daily travel, particularly as an Air Quality Management Area (AQMA) runs through
the centre of Our Neighbourhood. Developments which would normally fall below the 
threshold for requiring a Transport Statement or a Transport Assessment may be required

© City of Durham Parish Council, 2021 110

Page 296



Durham City Neighbourhood Plan

to provide this analysis if the site falls within or is close to the AQMA. This may also lead 
to transport improvements being required as mitigation. Air quality is covered in detail in 
Figure 1 of the Plan.

4.239 The Durham City Regeneration Masterplan (Durham County Council, 2014) and its 
update (Durham County Council, 2016c) have a number of implementation projects and 
actions relevant to transport in Our Neighbourhood (a subset of the Durham City area 
covered by the Masterplan). There are projects to improve the bus station, cycle and 
pedestrian routes, and junctions on the A690. The Masterplan update notes what has 
been delivered and outlines key future activities. Completed projects include the 
refurbishment of most of the road and pavements in North Road, cycle path provision to 
the railway station, and the installation of a SCOOT system at the traffic lights on the 
Gilesgate and Leazes Bowl roundabouts. However, the Plan can only address issues 
within Our Neighbourhood and consider ways to encourage cycling and walking and the 
use of public transport.

4.240 A number of saved policies of the City of Durham Local Plan (T4, T19, T21, Q1, Q2,
Q4, Q8) are relevant to the following transport policies.

Planning Policies and Proposals for Land Use

4.241 The policies related to this theme are:

 Policy T1: Sustainable Transport Accessibility and Design
 Policy T2: Residential Car Parking
 Policy T3: Residential Storage for Cycles and Mobility Aids

© City of Durham Parish Council, 2021 111

Page 297



Durham City Neighbourhood Plan

Policy T1: Sustainable Transport Accessibility and Design

Development proposals should be supported by evidence of how they contribute to 
sustainable transport accessibility and design where appropriate.

Accessibility
Approach routes to the site, and access within the development should be accessible to
all, giving the highest priority to walking, then cycling and public transport, and should 
meet the travel needs of people with mobility impairments.

Impact
Adverse transport impacts should be avoided where practicable. To mitigate adverse 
impacts, proposals should improve access by walking, cycling and public transport in 
the area around the development, and thereby contribute to modal shift towards 
sustainable transport.

Design
New access roads and residential streets, and alterations to existing ones, should 
include, where appropriate:

a) permeability for sustainable modes with safe, direct and continuous routes for 
walking, cycling and public transport users within the site, connecting with 
surrounding paths and highways; and

b) measures to minimise car traffic, exclude through-routes for motor vehicles, and 
to discourage vehicle speeds; and

c) a family-friendly environment in a high quality public realm, with opportunities for
play in residential streets, and a safe environment at day and night.

4.242 Among the adverse impacts of transport are:
 poor air quality, noise and congestion
 greenhouse gas emissions
 loss of habitat and severance of wildlife corridors
 increased danger to vulnerable road users, especially children, which is seen not 

just in casualties, but more significantly in loss of freedom compared with previous 
generations

 unattractive visual effect of highways and car parking
 opportunity cost of devoting land to enabling vehicle movements and storage
 damage to social cohesion through reduced social interactions
 inconvenience or severance effects for existing users
 impaired health from reduced physical activity

4.243 For many developments the impact will be small, but there is often scope to reduce 
these impacts. For example, careful design of vehicular entry to properties will protect the 
safety of pedestrians and safeguard their priority. Placing car parking at the rear of 

© City of Durham Parish Council, 2021 112

Page 298



Durham City Neighbourhood Plan

premises rather than in a forecourt prioritises sustainable access and reduces the visual 
impact of developments.

4.244 The Planning Authority will give pre-application advice on the level of assessment 
required, which might be a full Transport Assessment, a Transport Statement, or a 
statement of accessibility within a Design and Access Statement. Durham County 
Council's thresholds based on the scale of a development proposal are published in the 
'Planning Validation Requirements' (Durham County Council, 2017b) and are drawn from 
the national 'Guidance on Transport Assessment' (Department for Transport, 2007a). It 
should be noted that full Transport Assessments may be required for sites falling below 
the guideline thresholds if a development is proposed within or adjacent to the Air Quality 
Management Area or if local transport infrastructure is judged to be inadequate. The 
Guidance on Transport Assessment (Appendix B, p. 49) indicates that this should apply 
where there are substandard roads, poor pedestrian or cyclist facilities or inadequate 
public transport provisions. With respect to pedestrian and cyclist facilities, the context 
maps (see Maps 8 and 9 in Appendix D) and the detailed paper produced by the 
Neighbourhood Plan Working Party (Durham City Neighbourhood Plan Working Party, 
2019b) should be used to help identify inadequate facilities. Over time this information 
base may be revised by the City of Durham Parish Council or in the course of production 
of the Durham City Local Cycling and Walking Infrastructure Plan.

4.245 Paragraph 4.14 of the Guidance on Transport Assessment (Department for 
Transport, 2007a) stipulates that “an assessment should be made of the available 
capacity of the existing cycleway and footpath network in the area of the development” 
using “appropriate analytical tools and methodologies”. This assessment should inform 
the development of any Travel Plan, the assessment of modal split, and should indicate 
any enhancements to the local cycleway and footpath network that may be required. 
Objective 1 of the 'County Durham Strategic Cycling and Walking Delivery Plan 2019-
2029, Action Plan 2019-2024' (Durham County Council, 2019f) sets out a range of audit 
tools which are considered suitable, including Appendices B and C of the 'Design 
Guidance: Active Travel (Wales) Act 2013' (Welsh Government, 2014).

4.246 Transport Assessments and Transport Statements should illustrate the potential 
walking and cycling catchment areas for a development. The current conditions and 
deficiencies in the networks are material considerations which should also be included in 
the analysis.

4.247 Potential will often exist for development proposals to encourage accessibility by 
foot, cycle or public transport through the provision of off-site improvements. Funding to 
remedy deficiencies in the transport network, or to provide capacity enhancement, may be
sought via planning obligations by the Planning Authority. Improvements may include, but 
should not be limited to, the following measures:

 widening footways and improving road crossings;
 providing cycle infrastructure, and addressing conflict with pedestrians;

© City of Durham Parish Council, 2021 113

Page 299



Durham City Neighbourhood Plan

 improving accessibility for those using wheelchairs and mobility aids, for example 
by provision of at-grade crossings or dropped kerbs;

 improving the lighting, surface or drainage of footpaths;
 contributing towards construction of new public transport infrastructure;
 subsidising public transport services for a number of years until they are viable.

4.248 In all cases, solutions should respect the urban or rural context of the routes being 
adapted. Policy G1 covers footpaths.

4.249 Current best practice, in terms of design, can be found in 'Design Guidance: Active 
Travel' (Welsh Government, 2014), which is one of the design guides mandated by the 
County Durham Strategic Cycling and Walking Delivery Plan (Durham County Council, 
2019f). It is currently the most comprehensive and up to date walking and cycling design 
guide to have received approval through a UK legislative process, and is in accord with 
UK highways practices. It gathers in one document best practice from earlier publications 
such as the 'Manual for Streets' (Department for Transport, 2007b), 'Inclusive Mobility' 
(Department for Transport, 2005), and 'Cycle Infrastructure Design' (Department for 
Transport, 2008). Designing walking and cycling infrastructure in accordance with this, or 
similar, guidance will enable the fullest uptake of walking and cycling in Our 
Neighbourhood. The guidance should be applied to all types of roads and off-road routes 
so that a network of consistently high quality can be developed.

4.250 The 'Design Guidance: Active Travel' (Welsh Government, 2014) covers topics 
such as surfaces, lighting, the need for seating, for managing street clutter, and for good 
maintenance, along with advice on determining how pedestrian and cyclist priority at side 
roads should be handled, and facilities at bus stops. A full range of design elements is 
provided, which embody best practice, including minimum dimensions. Highly congested 
pavements are a particular problem in Durham. Objective techniques for assessing 
footway capacity are provided (para. 4.7.5, page 38) which will determine what level of 
enhancement is required.

4.251 An important consideration in Our Neighbourhood, which came through strongly 
during the public consultation, is the need to separate pedestrian and cycle facilities. This 
is in part prompted by the poor design of existing routes, which are noted on the context 
maps (see Maps 8 and 9 in Appendix D), exacerbated by the potential for high speeds 
obtained by cyclists travelling downhill. Section 6.11 (pages 117-120) of the 'Design 
Guidance: Active Travel (Wales) Act 2013' gives detailed advice on segregation of 
pedestrian and cycle routes, and lists factors that should be used to determine the best 
design solution. The gradient of the route is an important factor to consider within Our 
Neighbourhood.

4.252 As transport is a key issue in Durham City, travel plans and transport assessments 
accompanying development proposals should incorporate local detail, rather than being 
desk-based exercises. Developers and their consultants are encouraged to engage from 
the outset with local groups such as the Durham City Cycle Forum (a focus group 
convened by the County Council), Durham City Access for All Group, and other relevant 

© City of Durham Parish Council, 2021 114

Page 300



Durham City Neighbourhood Plan

bodies. The NPPF (para. 128) states that “applications that can demonstrate early, 
proactive and effective engagement with the community should be looked on more 
favourably than those that cannot”. Applications should include walking and cycling 
provision in the design brief at the inception of the design process, as recommended by 
the Chartered Institution of Highways and Transportation (2018, para. 4 to 10) in their 
response to the Cycling and Walking Investment Strategy Review.

4.253 In assessing the transport impacts of a development, a holistic view is required if 
the application forms part of a larger development zone, or part of a larger estate in the 
City. For example, car parking levels provided across the zone or estate should be 
compared to the prevailing car parking policy, and a commitment made to reduce any 
excess provision which is not justified.

Justification

4.254 As acknowledged in the 'Durham City Sustainable Transport Delivery Plan' 
(Durham County Council, 2018a, p.7), the relatively small, compact nature of the City suits
the promotion of sustainable modes of travel, and thus higher standards and a stronger 
emphasis on good design are required in Our Neighbourhood. Regarding land use 
planning, the Sustainable Transport Delivery Plan (p. 33) recommends the highest 
possible design standards should be applied to development sites and to access on foot, 
by cycle and by public transport. Chapter 12 of the NPPF sets out how to achieve well-
designed places, particularly emphasising that local and neighbourhood plans should set 
out a clear design vision, including recommending design guides. These provide clarity to 
developers at the earliest stage of the design process. To meet climate change 
commitments, and to build a healthier, more liveable environment, a sustained shift 
towards sustainable transport modes will be required, and new developments present an 
opportunity to increase the proportion of sustainable transport journeys over the average 
in the local area.

Policy T2: Residential Car Parking

Development proposals incorporating or having an impact on car parking will be 
supported if they comply with the following:

Design
a) Access to off-street car parking should be designed to minimise additional 

vehicle movements on residential streets; and
b) Any on-street parking in new streets should be provided in designated bays, or 

in small groups of spaces separated by planting, trees, seating or other features,
and designed to ensure the safety and convenience of pedestrians, cyclists and 
public transport users; and

c) The in-curtilage element of car parking for dwellings without garages may 
instead be provided within a communal off-street parking area to make more 

© City of Durham Parish Council, 2021 115

Page 301



Durham City Neighbourhood Plan

efficient use of land and improve the public realm; and
d) Where electric vehicle charging provision is required by the County Durham 

Parking and Accessibility Standards, the facilities should not hinder the 
movement of pedestrians or disabled people, and should respect the character 
of the area; and

Reducing car parking provision
e) Provision of car club spaces for residents and neighbouring users is 

encouraged; and

Additional parking controls

f) Where a proposed development will generate a significant increase in demand 
for on street parking that requires new or amended parking controls these can 
be funded through developer contributions.

4.255 The following questions will be considered when assessing the car parking 
associated with proposed development, including infill development:

 Does existing street character rule out on-site parking?
 Is the application sufficiently evidenced, for example, by parking surveys, highway 

safety audit, or public transport impact assessment?
 Is there likely to be an adverse impact on existing car parking users in the vicinity, 

and how can this be mitigated?
 Are key local services conveniently and safely accessible by walking, cycling and 

public transport?
 Have the needs of visitors and the needs of disabled people been considered?

4.256 The costs involved in extending the controlled parking zone (CPZ) would include, 
but are not limited to, the costs of consulting affected residents and businesses, of 
carrying out parking usage surveys, and the costs of installing signage and equipment 
such as parking ticket vending machines. It is essential, at the application stage, to 
perform an adequate assessment: it will not be acceptable for impacts to become 
apparent only after a development has been completed. An extension to the CPZ might 
be limited to the new development, or might need to encompass neighbouring streets.

© City of Durham Parish Council, 2021 116

Page 302



Durham City Neighbourhood Plan

Justification

4.257 In setting parking standards the NPPF (para. 105) recommends authorities 
consider:

a) the accessibility of the development;
b) the type, mix and use of development;
c) the availability of and opportunities for public transport;
d) local car ownership levels;
e) the need to ensure an adequate provision of spaces for charging plug-in and other 

ultra-low emission vehicles.

4.258 The location of the access to off-street car parking in new developments can affect 
the amenity of neighbours. Where there exist a number of design options, Policy T2(a) will
help to ensure that an access point is chosen that avoids unnecessary additional traffic 
along residential streets.

4.259 Reducing car parking provision within the curtilage of dwellings generally has a 
direct bearing on the potential for achieving higher densities, and for good quality amenity 
space such as landscaping, green space, and areas for children to play. By providing car 
parking instead in a nearby private parking area for the development, social interactions 
are encouraged and car dependency is likely to be reduced, but careful design will be 
required to ensure people do not park outside their houses regardless. The Transport for 
New Homes Project Summary and Recommendations (Foundation for Integrated 
Transport, July 2018, p. 26) recommends that towns and cities plan for higher densities, 
and to “curtail car parking to allow our planners to design more attractive places with more
space for greenery and better public realm”. The 'Manual for Streets' (Department for 
Transport, 2007b) covers design considerations for on-street parking (para. 8.3.12 to 
8.3.20) and how to avoid footway parking by design (para. 8.3.45 to 8.3.47). Further 
design guidance can be found in 'Manual for Streets 2' (Chartered Institution of Highways 
& Transportation, 2010, chapter 11). Manual for Streets (table 8.2) shows a hierarchy of 
parking provision in order of efficiency and flexibility. Developments should avoid locking 
in car-dependent land use, especially in locations with high levels of sustainable travel 
potential.

© City of Durham Parish Council, 2021 117

Page 303



Durham City Neighbourhood Plan

4.260 Owing to the historic nature of the streets within the Controlled Parking Zone, the 
supply of on-street parking space is limited in most areas, as is evidenced by the Council 
having ceased to provide resident or visitor permits for occupiers of new developments or 
conversions since 2000. Car parking space is increasingly coming under pressure with the
increase in the size of cars, ownership rates among permanent residents and students, 
and the increase in student numbers. It would not be possible to meet all the future 
demand while preserving the special character of Our Neighbourhood, and so the policy 
emphasis must be on better control and management of car parking, and reducing car 
dependency.

Policy T3: Residential Storage for Cycles and Mobility Aids

Residential development proposals for new build or change of use should provide 
storage facilities for cycles and, where appropriate, mobility aids as follows:

a) Cycle parking should be provided at the rates required by the County Durham 
Parking and Accessibility Standards. The space and access should, if possible, 
be adaptable for storing other mobility aids, such as powered wheelchairs, 
mobility scooters, children's buggies and prams. Electric power should be 
available to allow recharging of powered mobility aids and e-bikes; and

b) Where there is provision for communal storage for a number of dwellings and a 
travel plan is required then this should consider ongoing active management of 
communal storage spaces, including timely removal of abandoned equipment, 
and provision of additional capacity when needed; and

c) The design and location of storage should accord with the style and context of 
the development.

4.261 Current best practice guidance for cycle storage can be found in the Cycle Parking 
Guide for New Residential Developments (Transport Initiatives LLP and Cambridge City 
Council, 2010). Developers are strongly encouraged to use this guidance, adapted as 
necessary for the storage of other travel equipment covered by the policy.

4.262 Cycle and mobility aid storage may be catered for simply by providing sufficient 
garage space. In properties without garages a variety of design solutions are shown in the
Cycle Parking Guide for New Residential Developments, but particular attention will need 
to be paid to the storage of other mobility aids. Solutions such as porch extensions or 
additional hallway space would give greater flexibility than free-standing sheds or lockers, 
as the space could be used to store other belongings if the householder has no need to 
accommodate cycles or mobility aids.

4.263 Discretion may be exercised by the Planning Authority in cases of redevelopment 
and conversion of existing buildings and developments within the Conservation Areas. It is
imperative that cycle and mobility aid storage forms an integral part of any full or reserved 

© City of Durham Parish Council, 2021 118

Page 304



Durham City Neighbourhood Plan

matters planning application, rather than treating it as a secondary issue to be resolved by
condition. Full details of the location, type of fittings, spacing, numbers, method of 
installation and access to storage should be provided.

Justification

4.264 It is essential that residents have sufficient space to store the various types of travel
equipment they require. Convenience of use strongly influences transport choices, so if 
sustainable travel is to be encouraged it is essential that it is no harder to access a bicycle
(for example) than a car. The 'Manual for Streets' (Department for Transport, 2007b, 
section 8.2.1) states that “providing enough convenient and secure cycle parking at 
people's homes and other locations for both residents and visitors is critical to increasing 
the use of cycles”. It is clear that having no storage for mobility aids could lead to greater 
social isolation as a resident's mobility becomes impaired.

4.265 On page 33 of the Durham City Sustainable Transport Delivery Plan (Durham 
County Council, 2018a) it is stated that higher provision of high quality cycle parking within
developments is required, including in residential development within the City. The latest 
County Durham Parking and Accessibility Standards (Durham County Council, 2019d) 
has increased the level of provision required but does not provide sufficient clarity on 
design and does not cater for mobility aids.

4.266 The 'National Travel Survey' (Department for Transport, 2016, Table NTS0608) 
shows that for adult age bands around 40% of people own or have use of a bicycle, 
dropping to about 20% only for the 60+ age bracket. However, for the older age brackets 
use of other mobility aids would take the place of the need for cycle storage. 

4.267 Facilities for recharging for electric equipment are important for mobility aids, but 
also for e-bikes. The 2019 revision of the County Durham Parking and Accessibility 
Standards covers requirements for provision of electric vehicle charging points, and Policy
T3 extends this to other personal electric transport modes. The Department for 
Transport's recommended 'Propensity to Cycle Tool' predicts that, because of the hilly 
nature of the City, wider uptake of e-bikes would have the potential to almost double 
cycling trips in Our Neighbourhood.

4.268 This policy therefore seeks to ensure that lack of storage, or poor storage design, is
no obstacle to uptake of sustainable travel modes in Our Neighbourhood, and that resid-
ential properties are adaptable to the changing mobility needs of individuals and families 
at different stages in their lives.

© City of Durham Parish Council, 2021 119

Page 305



Durham City Neighbourhood Plan

THE REST OF THIS PAGE IS DELIBERATELY LEFT BLANK

© City of Durham Parish Council, 2021 120

Page 306



Durham City Neighbourhood Plan

THEME 6: A CITY WITH AN ENRICHED COMMUNITY LIFE

Vision

4.269 Durham City will have a proactively supported community life, including health and 
well-being, with an enriched artistic and cultural life for the benefit of residents and visitors
alike. Residents will be supported and encouraged to be active citizens with a keen 
interest in their neighbourhood and how it develops.

Objectives 

4.270 The objectives of this theme are:

1. To encourage and promote the provision of a range of the highest quality health, 
educational, artistic, cultural, social and general community facilities to meet the 
needs of the residents of Our Neighbourhood and visitors to it;

2. To retain and improve existing artistic, cultural, social and community facilities 
within Our Neighbourhood.

© City of Durham Parish Council, 2021 121

Page 307



Durham City Neighbourhood Plan

Context

4.271 Details of the social profile of Our Neighbourhood are available in Section C1 of 
Appendix C. Appendix D, Table D3, provides details of public and community services 
and facilities in Our Neighbourhood. 

Cultural activities and facilities

4.272 The City has a strong cultural identity. It is rich in cultural events and festivals 
including Durham Book Festival, Durham Brass Festival, Durham Jazz Festival, the 
Durham Miners' Gala, Durham Folk Weekend, and the biennial Lumiere light festival. 

4.273 Residents and visitors have access to Durham University facilities, including The 
Oriental Museum, Palace Green Library, with its Archaeology Museum, and other special 
collections. The Cathedral is used on a frequent basis throughout the year for musical 
events and exhibitions including those in the new Open Treasure Collections Gallery. 
Durham Heritage Centre and Museum is a small City museum run by volunteers

4.274 In terms of theatres the City has the Gala Theatre (with its Gala Theatre Stage 
School for young People), the small City Theatre in Fowler’s Yard, which is owned by 
Durham Dramatic Society, and the recently refurbished Assembly Rooms Theatre, owned 
by Durham University. The City has two cinemas (in the Gala and in The Riverwalk) and 
Durham Clayport Film Club, a community cinema, in Shakespeare Hall. There are plans 
for another cinema as a part of ongoing developments in the City. 

4.275 In terms of provision for children and young people, the County Durham Cultural 
Education Partnership (run by Culture Bridge NE) identifies needs and collaborative 
initiatives "to ensure all children and young people living in County Durham are able to 
access opportunities to engage with cultural activity." 

4.276 Within the community there was a strong sense of loss when the DLI Museum and 
Art Gallery closed down. Since that time some of the DLI collection has been moved to 
Palace Green Library and a smaller art gallery, the Gala Gallery, has opened next to the 
Gala Theatre. In addition, there are small commercial gallery spaces in different locations 
across the City, commercial arts and craft studios at Fowler’s Yard and a small number of 
arts and crafts courses and hireable event spaces in local community venues (Alington 
House and Shakespeare Hall). The Empty Shop, a non-profit arts organization, has 
provided a multi-disciplinary arts venue in the City since 2010, as well as utilising other 
venues and public spaces temporarily to provide accessible, temporary galleries and site 
specific events. This includes the TESTT Space, a temporary artist studio group and 
contemporary gallery, situated above the Durham Bus Station. 

4.277 There are many visual artists creating ceramics, drawing, painting, sculpture, 
printmaking, design, crafts, photography, video and filmmaking. Most work from home. 
Only a small number have studio space and most have no ongoing commercial outlet. 
More detailed gaps in provision are identified in the justification for Policy C1.

© City of Durham Parish Council, 2021 122

Page 308



Durham City Neighbourhood Plan

4.278 Although there are various websites, advertising events within the City, there is at 
the present time no central facility for the sharing of information relating to all events, 
courses and services for residents and visitors.

4.279 Potential future developments include the re-purposing of Redhills, the 
headquarters of the Durham Miners’ Association (DMA), as a centre of education, 
heritage, and culture. This is dependent on the successful raising of significant financial 
investment, and to this end the DMA has launched 'The Redhills Appeal'. In addition, 
Durham University (2017a, p.21) incudes within their Strategy for 2017- 2027 an approach
which "will secure the City’s heritage assets, enhance the community cultural offer and 
wherever possible open up our facilities for collective use".

Health and social care facilities

4.280 More detail about these services is available online at:
http://npf.durhamcity.org.uk/themes/community/health/ 

GP Practices:

4.281 There is currently only the Claypath Surgery in Our Neighbourhood available to 
permanent residents. Most of the students are registered with the University Health 
Service, which is part of the Claypath and University Medical Group and has separate 
premises in Green Lane. With Durham University planning to expand student numbers by 
5,700 over the next ten years it seems reasonable to infer that some expansion of the 
University Health Service will be necessary.

4.282 There is the possibility, outside Our Neighbourhood, of large housing developments
on what is now Green Belt land. Were this to happen then surgeries might alter their 
catchment areas to accommodate these new residents, and exclude Our Neighbourhood 
or parts of it. However, all surgeries in and around Durham City are accepting new 
patients (information rechecked 20 August 2019).

4.283 There is an urgent care centre (previously known as a GP out-of-hours centre) at 
the University Hospital of North Durham. This is close to the A&E department.

Dentists:

4.284 As opposed to GPs, most of the dentists in the wider Durham area are in Our 
Neighbourhood, so it is reasonable to infer that they draw their clients from further afield. 
While not all dentists accept NHS patients, and of those that do several do not take all 
classes of patient, there are practices in Our Neighbourhood that are accepting all classes
of NHS patients. Many dental surgeries are on upper floors and only accessible via stairs.

© City of Durham Parish Council, 2021 123

Page 309



Durham City Neighbourhood Plan

Hospitals:

4.285 The University Hospital of North Durham is an NHS hospital situated towards the 
north of the Our Neighbourhood. It was opened in 2001 as a replacement for Dryburn 
Hospital. There are no private hospitals in Durham City.

4.286 The University Hospital of North Durham handles emergency trauma surgery and 
other major surgery and hosts specialist services in dermatology and plastic surgery, as 
well as treating patients from Sunderland, South Tyneside and Gateshead. The hospital 
has an A&E department that is not large enough to meet current demand. There are 22 
wards (including maternity and neonatal), four outpatients, and a number of other 
services. However patients may be treated at other local hospitals if they specialise in 
their condition, and similarly patients may come to The University Hospital of North 
Durham for its specialist services.

4.287 The County Durham and Darlington NHS Foundation Trust also provides 
community-based services (some covering mental health) as well as the hospital services 
noted above. Mental health services are also provided by the Tees, Esk and Wear Valleys
NHS Trust whose main County Durham site is Lanchester Road Hospital just outside Our 
Neighbourhood. 

4.288 The NHS is producing Sustainability and Transformation Plans (STPs) which will 
result in a massive reorganisation and contraction of health services. North Durham, 
including Durham City, lies within the Northumberland, Tyne, Wear and North Durham 
STP Footprint. The effect this will have on health care services within Our Neighbourhood,
and accessibility to services outside Our Neighbourhood, is currently unclear. 
Commissioning of health care services is carried out by two clinical commissioning groups
(CCGs), one for North Durham (which includes Durham City) and one for Durham Dales, 
Easington and Sedgefield. These are going to be merged into one, the County Durham 
CCG.

Nursing homes and residential care homes:

4.289 Statistics obtained from the website of the Care Quality Commission show that 
there are three nursing homes in Our Neighbourhood with a combined capacity of 207 
people. There are no residential care homes, but in the nearby Newton Hall and 
Framwellgate Moor there are three care homes which can cater for 133 people.

Justification

4.290 This justification refers to the Community theme as a whole. Additional, specific 
justification for each community policy is given with the policy itself.

4.291 The Sustainable Communities Strategy for County Durham 2014-2030 (County 
Durham Partnership, 2014) has two aims for County Durham: (i) An altogether better 

© City of Durham Parish Council, 2021 124

Page 310



Durham City Neighbourhood Plan

place, (ii) Altogether better for people. There are five priority themes and high level 
objectives. The ones relevant to this theme are:

 Altogether wealthier – delivering the cultural and tourism ambitions for the City 
for the benefit of the whole County via e.g. the County Durham Cultural 
Programme

 Altogether better for children and young people - by realising and maximising 
their potential

 Altogether healthier - enabling people to make healthy choices, and reducing 
health inequalities and improving health and well-being

 Altogether safer - reducing anti-social behaviour, and protecting people from 
harm.

4.292 The Durham City Regeneration Masterplan (Durham County Council, 2014) has a 
number of implementation projects and actions for Our Neighbourhood (a subset of the 
Durham City area covered by the Masterplan). Ones relevant to this theme are: (i) 
ensuring services are in place including schools, health, and security, and (ii) setting up 
facilities and activities to deliver more visitors, staying longer and spending more.

Planning Policies and Proposals for Land Use

4.293 The policies related to this theme are:

 Policy C1: Provision for Arts and Culture 
 Policy C2: Provision of New Community Facilities
 Policy C3: Protection of an Existing Community Facility
 Policy C4: Health Care and Social Care Facilities

© City of Durham Parish Council, 2021 125

Page 311



Durham City Neighbourhood Plan

Policy C1: Provision for Arts and Culture 

Development proposals for public art and for new facilities for arts and culture, or 
extensions to existing facilities, will be supported where it is demonstrated that they: 

Public art

a) enhance the area where they are to be sited.

Facilities for arts and culture

b) improve the range of facilities in the City; and
c) do not harm the overall viability of facilities within Our Neighbourhood; and 
d) are not detrimental to the amenity of the area; and
e) are of a flexible design to meet the needs of diverse audiences, changing 

patterns of use and demands of different art forms; and
f) offer appropriate access for all people, including those with disabilities, both to 

and within the building; and
g) provide space for vehicles to unload / load equipment.

And for extensions and conversions in addition:

h) are of a scale and materials that complements the existing building; and  
i) retain any visual, architectural or historic interest intrinsic to the original building. 

4.294 Because of the importance of such facilities to community wellbeing it is particularly 
important that other relevant policies in the Neighbourhood Plan are adhered to, such as 
the use of design sympathetic to the character of the area, accessibility to users of all 
modes of travel including public transport, cycling and walking, and access to nearby car 
parking provision.

Justification

4.295 The City of Durham Local Plan (2004) has a saved policy, Q15 Art in Design, with a
justification that noted that the incorporation of artistic elements into the design of 
buildings, spaces and landscapes can help to enhance design, creating an impression of 
social and cultural identity. Similarly, public art can also be an integral part of 
refurbishment and regeneration. It can assist in creating a sense of distinctiveness in a 
development particularly when local people have been involved in the process of design 
and selection. It can also help support the development of a viable local artistic 
community. As a consequence public art has become a feature of Durham City in general,
including in Our Neighbourhood, and this has been well-received. This policy will provide 
continued support for public art when the City of Durham Local Plan is superseded by the 
County Durham Local Plan.

© City of Durham Parish Council, 2021 126

Page 312



Durham City Neighbourhood Plan

4.296 Gaps in provision for arts and culture in Our Neighbourhood were identified in the 
Priority Questionnaire and associated Town Hall open events (Durham City Planning 
Forum, 2015), an additional arts and cultural questionnaire and the pre-submission draft 
consultation held in 2017 (Durham City Neighbourhood Planning forum, 2017b,c).

4.297 The responses to the priority survey included the need for: 

 a cultural heart to the City -  an arts and cultural quarter
 a City Centre art gallery, 
 a larger theatre to attract larger companies
 a live music venue
 a City museum
 a central ‘information hub’ – (‘no-one knows what’s on’) 
 rooms for meetings, courses and workshops, including for arts and crafts 

workshops 
 opportunities for small independent shops and galleries – an issue relating to high 

rentals.
 support for local artists and start-up creative businesses to use empty shops
 good leisure facilities for young people 

4.298 Responses to the additional arts and culture questionnaire supported the above 
suggestions and also included the need for:

• an arts ‘hub,’ (or a network model) offering performance, as well as affordable 
exhibition spaces, a café, workshops, studio spaces as well as spaces for people 
to hold meetings, to attend courses, readings and generally socialise

• improvement to existing spaces such as Fowler’s Yard and Millennium Square

• existing public buildings to be used to the full, such as the Town Hall and the 
Library 

• opportunities for children to develop creative skills

• support for local artists, makers and creative businesses to set up start- up 
businesses and /or independent shops – to sell their products and build a 
consumer base. 

In a nutshell, there is a lot of potential in the City – we just need imagination and 
enthusiasm to help the arts grow (Durham City Neighbourhood Planning Forum, 
2017b, p.5)

4.299 Comments from the pre- submission consultation supported the above ideas, and 
additionally noted the need for:

 affordable and accessible arts facilities
 a modern museum for the County Regiment
 the development of a wide range of existing buildings for arts facilities
 the establishment of partnerships through which facilities could be identified and 

developed

© City of Durham Parish Council, 2021 127

Page 313



Durham City Neighbourhood Plan

 a more joined up, reciprocal and shared approach, acknowledging the contribution 
other organisations should be making

4.300 National and local policies and strategies also promote the importance of the 
cultural sector. The NPPF (para. 8) recognises the importance of the planning system in 
creating accessible local services that reflect the community’s needs and support its 
cultural well-being). 

4.301 The Culture White Paper (Department of Culture, Media and Sport, 2016, p.34) 
states: "Greater local and national partnerships are necessary to develop the role of 
culture in place-making. We will require national institutions to back local vision".

4.302 In 2014 the Arts Council England published ‘The Value of Arts and Culture to 
People and Society.’ The report outlined a range of benefits that can be observed at 
individual, communal and national levels, including enriching lives, boosting local 
economies, impacting positively on health and wellbeing, contributing to community 
cohesion and improving educational outcomes. 

4.303 The Town and Country Planning Association (2013, p.15) good practice guide 
states that planners should provide opportunities for local culture and sports planning to 
work with local stakeholders and the community, to secure community involvement and 
consultation, to make the case for culture, arts and sport provision and secure this 
provision, to obtain developer contributions, and to support the growth of local tourism and
cultural and creative businesses.

4.304 Durham County Council's Service Plan, Neighbourhood Services, 2016- 2019 
(Durham County Council, 2016f, p.18), itemises actions to achieve the ‘Thriving Durham 
City' objective for an 'Altogether Wealthier' Durham, including: "Identify new visual art 
space(s) within Durham City centre and the wider county". 

4.305 The Durham Miners’ Association has launched an ambitious fundraising drive to 
turn Redhills into a centre for education, practice and performance. The aspiration is for it 
to be the heart of a traditional and progressive cultural renaissance for the county. There 
are more details in 'The Redhills Appeal' Brochure.

4.306 Durham University’s masterplan makes the case for the provision of a significant 
venue for music and drama performance to raise the cultural profile of the University and 
City, allowing it to make a strong contribution to the arts nationwide. The facility would 
provide large scale performance and exhibitions spaces as well as facilities for music and 
drama practice and rehearsals.

© City of Durham Parish Council, 2021 128

Page 314



Durham City Neighbourhood Plan

Policy C2: Provision of New Community Facilities

Development proposals for the provision of new community facilities (both new build 
and conversions of existing buildings), or for extensions to existing facilities, will be 
supported where it is demonstrated that they:

a) are well related to residential areas or local facilities; and 
b) are of a flexible design which could serve more than one use; and 
c) would not adversely affect the amenity of occupiers of nearby or adjoining land 

or property; and 
d) provide practicable access for all people, including those with disabilities, both to

and within the building; and 
e) provide space for vehicles to unload / load equipment.

And for extensions and conversions in addition:
f) are of a scale and materials that complements the existing building; and  
g) retain any visual, architectural or historic interest intrinsic to the original building.

Policy C3: Protection of an Existing Community Facility

Development proposals which would result in the loss of a valued community facility for 
which there is demonstrable demand should make equivalent alternative provision 
within or adjacent to Our Neighbourhood.

© City of Durham Parish Council, 2021 129

Page 315



Durham City Neighbourhood Plan

4.307 Community facilities are facilities and uses generally available to and used by the 
local community at large, including children and young people, for the purposes of leisure,
social interaction, health and well-being or learning. This will include, but not be confined 
to, community centres, historic and community public houses, premises for indoor and 
outdoor sport, leisure and cultural centres, places of worship, doctor’s surgeries/ health 
centres, toilets, crèches, playgroups, youth clubs, libraries, schools, museums and art 
galleries, and other training and educational facilities. 

4.308 Toilets, especially those for people with a disability, are a community facility that 
need to be available through the evening and not just in the daytime. This is particularly 
true in the City Centre. They need to be well-signposted. Consequently proposals for 
better toilet provision and better signposting will be supported.

4.309 For Policy C2, because of the importance of such facilities to community wellbeing it
is particularly important that other relevant policies in the Neighbourhood Plan are 
adhered to, such as the use of design sympathetic to the character of the area, 
accessibility to users of all modes of travel including public transport, cycling and walking, 
and access to nearby car parking provision. Where an existing building is being converted
some compromises may be necessary, but imaginative and practicable solutions should 
be sought to minimise these.

4.310 For Policy C3, all routes to secure funding support / community takeover of the 
building should be explored before it is declared redundant. The availability of an 
equivalent nearby alternative facility is a relevant factor when assessing any proposals. 
Whether the alternative is suitable will depend on both its proximity to the building and the 
nature of the activity carried on there, and will depend on the facts of each case. (See also
relevant initiatives in the companion document 'Looking Forwards: Durham as a Creative 
and Sustainable City'.)

4.311 One example of a much needed community facility in Our Neighbourhood is a City 
Centre Hub. Initially perhaps integrated into an existing facility, it would be the focal point 
for the whole community, including permanent residents, students and visitors. Such a 
facility would include an information sharing function, signposting residents and visitors to 
what the City has to offer, including attractions, events, courses, independent shops, 
creative workshops and services from statutory bodies.

4.312 In addition the City Centre Hub would provide meeting rooms to help form new 
support networks and to provide a place where people "can come together and address 
the issues that matter most to them" (Locality, 2016, p.5). This is covered in more detail in 
the companion document 'Looking Forwards: Durham as a Creative and Sustainable City'.

4.313 The community engagement vision described in the companion document suggests
how partnership working between residents and local organisations could develop and 
improve the provision of community facilities and services through collaboration and 
innovation. The companion document lists a large number of initiatives that cover the 

© City of Durham Parish Council, 2021 130

Page 316



Durham City Neighbourhood Plan

issues identified by local residents as needing action, and lists the wide range of 
organisations and stakeholders that could implement such initiatives. 

Justification for Policies C2 and C3

4.314 The justification for the provision of sports facilities is given in Theme 2b: A 
Beautiful and Historic City - Green Infrastructure (para. 4.99, 4.100).

4.315 The NPPF (para. 92) recognises the importance of planning positively for the 
provision and use of shared spaces, community facilities and other local services.

4.316 As part on the information-gathering exercise the views of young people aged 5-18 
at four local schools were gathered. The resulting Young People’s Consultation Report 
(Durham City Neighbourhood Planning Forum, 2016a)shows a need for more facilities 
where young people can gather and enjoy themselves without needing to spend money.

4.317 Between 2014 and 2016 the Department for Communities and Local Government 
working together with 'Locality' and partners, funded a project named 'Our Place'. At the 
heart of the Project was the development of community hubs:

where different local partners in a neighbourhood can come together and address 
the issues that matter most to them. Community hubs can therefore support a 
neighbourhood focussed community-led approach. (Locality, 2016, p.5)

4.318 In the priority survey and associated Town Hall open events (Durham City Planning 
Forum, 2015) there was a huge response for the need for a central facility for sharing local
information and for the provision of meeting rooms. This suggestion also received much 
support in the 2017 Pre-Submission consultation. For example, the Durham Pointers 
committee wrote: 

The proposed central hub offers the potential to provide a much needed central 
information point which could hold and disseminate information on local county 
attractions and community events. We believe any such provision should embrace 
all modern media methods for the distribution of information but should also be a 
place for face-to-face encounters.

4.319 The Forum acknowledges the work of the Visit County Durham strategy and 
associated websites which cover events across County Durham, including festivals and 
events at the main tourist spots in the City. Durham University, the Cathedral, the Gala 
and other smaller organisations advertise events on websites. Information for residents 
and tourists is also scattered in physical locations around the City. The information 
sharing function in the City Centre Hub would not replicate the function of Visit Durham 
but complement it by providing a truly local service, where local organisers can contribute.
This will support the viability of small scale providers, as well as contribute to the local 
economy. 

© City of Durham Parish Council, 2021 131

Page 317



Durham City Neighbourhood Plan

Policy C4: Health Care and Social Care Facilities

Development proposals for the provision of Health Centres, Surgeries, Clinics, Nursing 
Homes and Residential Care Homes will be supported where it is demonstrated that 
they:

a) are well related to residential areas; and
b) are located close to public transport routes and are accessible by a choice of 

means of transport; and 
c) would not have a detrimental affect upon the amenity of occupiers of adjoining 

and nearby properties and businesses; and 
d) allow appropriate access for pedestrians, people with children and people with 

disabilities; and
e) provide car parking facilities at the premises.

And in the case of Nursing Homes and Residential Care Homes, in addition:

f) are well related to shops, community and social facilities; and
g) for both the location and the form of the development itself, provide good 

standards of amenity and open space for the residents, including avoiding sites 
where existing non-residential uses may be to the detriment of the residents.

Justification

4.320 With only one GP practice within Our Neighbourhood many residents are having to 
travel some distance to see their GP. This is a particular problem for older people who 
may not have access to a car and whose journey may involve a change of bus. We would 
therefore welcome a further GP practice within Our Neighbourhood, which would also 
meet the needs of a growing population. An obvious solution would be to bring St 
Margaret’s Health Centre back into use as a regular GP practice: Policy C3 will prevent 
this facility from being converted to another use unless an alternative in the same general 
area is provided in its place. Policy C4 will also support the extension of the University 
Health Centre or the building of a satellite health centre for students in a different location.

4.321 While there does not appear to be a shortage of dental surgeries, this policy will 
ensure that any new or relocated surgeries are appropriately situated with proper access. 

4.322 In the following text, 'care homes' means both nursing homes and residential care 
homes. Both are regulated by the Care Quality Commission and offer care and support 
throughout the day and night. In addition nursing homes have 24-hour medical care from 
a qualified nurse.

4.323 It seems reasonable, given the existing location of care homes, to consider the 
provision within Our Neighbourhood plus the electoral divisions of Belmont and 

© City of Durham Parish Council, 2021 132

Page 318



Durham City Neighbourhood Plan

Framwellgate and Newton Hall as a whole. At the 2011 census there were 3,180 people 
aged 75 and over living in this wider area, 1,020 of whom live in Our Neighbourhood. 
There are currently places for up to 340 people in the care homes in this wider area. As a 
rule of thumb, then, we can say that there is a requirement for provision of one place in a 
care home for every 10 people over the age of 75.

4.324 It is predicted (for reasoning see Appendix C, para. C24, C25) that there will be 
approximately 500 more people in Our Neighbourhood aged over 75 by the end of the 
Neighbourhood Plan period. This equates to a requirement of an extra 50 beds in care 
homes, just to cater for residents of Our Neighbourhood, with a possible further 100 for 
the wider area. To meet this need it will be necessary either to expand existing care 
homes or to build new ones.

4.325 Access to shops and community facilities is more important for people living in 
residential care homes rather than nursing homes, as it enables them to retain contact 
with the local community.  Satisfactory access to public transport for staff and visitors is 
essential.

4.326 Care homes must relate well in scale and appearance to adjacent development; 
careful design and generous amenity space will often be required to prevent large institu-
tional buildings from dominating their surroundings. Areas of amenity space are similarly 
essential for the well-being of residents, to provide private sitting out and walking areas as
well as pleasant surroundings. Care homes require satisfactory access and adequate 
parking in order that they do not impinge upon the neighbouring areas. Similarly, pro-
posed extensions should not result in the over-development of sites. Sites suffering from 
high levels of noise or pollution, from traffic or other sources, are not suitable for these 
uses.

© City of Durham Parish Council, 2021 133

Page 319



Durham City Neighbourhood Plan

THE REST OF THIS PAGE IS DELIBERATELY LEFT BLANK

© City of Durham Parish Council, 2021 134

Page 320



Durham City Neighbourhood Plan

CHAPTER 5: MONITORING THE PLAN

MONITORING PROCEDURES

5.1 In order to ensure that the policies of the City of Durham Neighbourhood Plan are 
achieving the desired outcomes as expressed by local people during consultations, it is 
important to specify the extent and regularity of monitoring to be carried out. National 
advice recommends monitoring of “the significant effects” of neighbourhood plans which 
indicates that it is not necessary for all policies to be regularly monitored and indeed, there
will be many policies for which data is not available or require disaggregation from a wider
data field. It is also recognised that most of the monitoring will be carried out by the local 
planning authority or made available at national level. The identification of indicators and 
targets is a task that has already been commenced. Creating effective indicators and 
targets for a full suite of policies is a continuing task in the plan-making process of both 
this Plan and the County Local Plan. The procedure will be best agreed when both plans 
are fully aligned toward the conclusion of the plan-making period.

5.2 National advice suggests that “some impacts might warrant local level monitoring”. In 
Our Neighbourhood this is certainly the case, and the Plan clearly sets out which issues 
are of greatest concern to local people. The level of expectation that the plan will be 
effective in achieving major improvements in the quality of future development, not only 
requires the application of the policies in full, but also the commitment to regular review of 
these outcomes. Action where these expectations are not achieved will be essential if 
public trust and support for the Plan and in future planning of Our Neighbourhood is to be 
maintained. 

5.3 As a minimum, there will be a regular monitoring statement of both quantitative (where
data is available) and qualitative indicators which seek to demonstrate the extent to which:

 restoration of the balance between development and conservation has been 
achieved and in particular that concerning the growth of Durham University

 the quality and quantity of public benefit has been delivered as an outcome of new 
development, and

 the sustainability principles within new development have been effectively applied. 

5.4 The means, however, by which the monitoring and subsequent reviews are 
progressed will be decided by the City of Durham Parish Council as part of its ongoing 
work on its Plan.

5.5 The general intention of monitoring will be to present regularly, and possibly annually, 
a clear qualitative and/or quantitative assessment of progress towards a more sustainable
City of Durham. This will be a simplified set of indicators based on the 14 elements of 
Policy S1 to show the extent to which Our Neighbourhood is becoming more or less 
sustainable as the Plan takes effect in relation to the amount and quality of development. 
The 14 indicators of change resulting from new development will be:

© City of Durham Parish Council, 2021 135

Page 321



Durham City Neighbourhood Plan

1. Continuing availability of satisfactory mix of sites to meet development needs
2. Promotion of economic vitality
3. Achievement of developments with harmonious relationships with surroundings
4. No loss of heritage assets  
5. No loss of natural environments
6. Efficient use of land, energy, water and building materials
7. Re-use of brownfield sites and existing building 
8. Installation of renewable energy generation
9. Avoidance of air, land and water pollution and waste production
10. Avoidance of flood risk
11. Increasing resilience to climate change
12. Improvements in the public realm 
13. Incorporation of measures to reduce crime, and respect privacy and visual impact 

on neighbouring properties
14. Achievement of high quality access by all modes of sustainable transport

© City of Durham Parish Council, 2021 136

Page 322



Durham City Neighbourhood Plan

APPENDIX A: DESCRIPTION OF THE CHARACTER AREAS IN THE
DURHAM CITY CONSERVATION AREA

A.1 The character areas in the Durham City Conservation Area comprise:
 Character Area 1: Peninsula
 Character Area 2: Framwellgate
 Character Area 3: Crossgate
 Character Area 4: Elvet
 Character Area 5: Gilesgate

A.2 Durham County Council (2016b) undertook a review of the area and a character 
appraisal in 2015/16. The character areas are summarised below.

THE PENINSULA CHARACTER AREA

A.3 The dramatic position of the Norman Cathedral and Castle on the raised plateau of 
the Durham Peninsula created a formidable citadel protected by encircling medieval 
defensive city walls incorporating fortified gateways and the natural defence afforded by 
the River Wear. The network of narrow streets radiating out from the Peninsula lead down 
Saddler Street, the site of a heavily fortified gateway, to the Market Place and out through 
the site of the Clayport Gate to Claypath and Gilesgate.  

A.4 The evolution of the Peninsula from a fortified citadel with Cathedral and Castle, 
dominating the Market Place and town at the lower northern end, to a romantic landscape 
with ornamental gardens combine to create a distinctive character and identity of 
exceptional significance. The survival of the medieval street layout with key pilgrimage 
routes has remained largely unaltered. The physical and visual experience of narrow 
medieval streets obscuring views of the Cathedral and Castle and then suddenly revealing
glimpses of the World Heritage Site add to the enjoyment of the environment. The variety, 
scale and character of the buildings, including a high percentage of Grade I, II & II* listed 
buildings and scheduled monuments, contribute to the quality of the multi-layered historic 
environment and its sense of place. 

THE FRAMWELLGATE CHARACTER AREA 

A.5 The Framwellgate Character Area forms the north-western part of the Durham City 
Conservation Area. It includes the medieval streets of Framwellgate, Sidegate and 
Claypath; the eastern boundary is partially defined by Tinklers Lane. The area stretches 
westward to Wharton Park and the southern end of the Aykley Heads Estate leading 
across the railway line to Diamond Terrace, Sidegate and Crook Hall. The gentle bend of 
the river from Milburngate Bridge to The Sands includes new development at Walkergate 
and Freemans Reach; above the terraced Walkergate scheme is the Gala Theatre in 
Millennium Place and Claypath. On the south side of Claypath stand a terrace of 
businesses with residential cul-de-sacs located at intervals backing onto Leazes Road.

© City of Durham Parish Council, 2021 137

Page 323



Durham City Neighbourhood Plan

A.6 The setting is reinforced by the dramatic topography dominated by the Cathedral  and 
Castle, below which lie the Market Place and St. Nicholas Church at the neck of the 
Peninsula, once protected by the Clayport Gate. The land falls dramatically to the 
riverbanks at Milburngate House and opposite at Walkergate. The land rises steeply to the
north with an extensive open area above Crook Hall and beyond including the southern 
end of Aykley Heads. 

A.7 The Framwellgate Character Area is of significant historical interest. The medieval 
town plan of the City, based on four ‘boroughs’, changed little over 600 years. The 
Bishop's Borough included Framwellgate and Sidegate; along the riverside at Walkergate 
stood the Bishops Mill. The Fram Well, an ancient monument located at the top of 
Sidegate, was used from medieval times to provide a piped water supply to the City pant 
in the Market Place, courtesy of the owner of Crook Hall, in the manor of Sidegate. The 
north of the city was in the ancient parish of St Margaret. In the nineteenth Century the 
new church of St Cuthbert's was built in North Road. A leper hospital and chapel of St 
Leonard's are believed to have stood on or near the present St Cuthbert’s graveyard. 
Claypath was the main route to the City leading through the Clayport Gate. Pilgrims 
stayed at Kepier Hospital and took the route along the river arriving at Walkergate, or by 
Clayport and the Clayport Gate.

THE CROSSGATE CHARACTER AREA 

A.8 The Crossgate Area occupies the western side of the River Wear and comprises two 
distinctive components. First the urban area which has developed around the main 
streets, roads and junctions running from Framwellgate Bridge (Crossgate, Allergate, 
South Street, North Road, Albert Street). The second part is formed by the green fringes 
such as Flass Vale in the north and Observatory Hill in the south. The northern boundary 
extends from Framwellgate Bridge following North Road as far as St. Leonard’s School 
and then travels along the edge of Flass Vale. To the west the boundary extends to 
Newcastle Road at the junction of Neville's Cross. To the south it reached the roundabout 
at Quarryheads Lane and to the east the incised river gorge of the River Wear.

A.9 The Crossgate Area, is one of the oldest sections of the City. Historically it constituted 
a separate borough containing the principle streets of Crossgate, Allergate and South 
Street. Its current primarily residential character is at least partly the result of 19th century 
residential expansion of this part of the City alongside the construction of North Road as a
principal shopping street. The area’s medieval origins and history, combined with multi-
layered development, creates a rich variety of buildings and diverse historic streetscapes, 
while the area’s rising topography creates magnificent views across the River Wear to the 
World Heritage Site. Also on the land rising away from the river is the green and wooded 
Flass Vale, while to the south of the area is the Observatory. These factors give rise to 
Crossgate’s local distinctiveness and character and make a significant contribution to the 
wider Durham City Conservation Area. 

© City of Durham Parish Council, 2021 138

Page 324



Durham City Neighbourhood Plan

THE ELVET CHARACTER AREA

A.10 The Elvet area comprises the historic boundaries of the two former medieval sub-
settlements of the City; these being the Borough of Elvet which includes Old Elvet and 
New Elvet;  the Barony of Elvet which was centred on St. Oswald’s Church and today 
includes Hallgarth Street, Church Street, Whinney Hill, and part of Quarryheads Lane. The
defining characteristic is the juxtaposition of the built form with the surrounding landscape.
The area’s western edge is formed by the gorge of the River Wear; to the east the flatter, 
open aspect around the racecourse and Green Lane, provides an important transition 
between open countryside and the urban environment. The character area has the 
impressive backdrop of the Cathedral and Castle with many outstanding views.

A.11 The area is significant for the surviving medieval street pattern, particularly in Old 
Elvet and Hallgarth Street, with historic buildings pressed tightly together directly onto the 
back of pavements, with evidence of medieval burgage plots at the rear; such house plans
were the common design within the City centre. Old Elvet, one of Durham’s most 
impressive streets, is noteworthy for its graceful Georgian facades along a medieval route.
Vennels or passageways connect the riverside to the urban landscape, a characteristic of 
the whole City, contributing to pedestrian permeability. 

THE GILESGATE CHARACTER AREA

A.12 The Gilesgate Area occupies the north-eastern part of the Durham City Conservation
Area. It is bounded to the north by the River Wear, just west of the medieval Kepier 
Hospital and its associated lands. It then wraps around the modern developments to the 
west of the Kepier site and meets the Framwellgate area at the eastern end of the Sands. 
At its eastern end the boundary runs tightly round the edge of the historic core of 
Gilesgate, along Young Street and down the eastern edge of Pelaw Woods and along the 
river until it meets the Elvet Area.

A.13 Gilesgate forms the north eastern boundary of the Durham City Conservation Area. 
Historically the area constituted one of the City’s four separate boroughs which were 
essentially single street settlements which expanded towards the Peninsula. The Borough
of St. Giles was a continuous street connection to Claypath, the borough boundary 
marked by Tinklers Lane, but was dissected in the 1960s by the construction of the A690. 
Notwithstanding this, the original street pattern is still distinguishable. The historic street-
scape formed around the evolved village green that is lined with buildings from the 17th 
and 19th centuries. It has a dramatic setting resulting from the steeply rising land from 
which the World Heritage Site monuments can be seen from numerous vantage points. 

© City of Durham Parish Council, 2021 139

Page 325



Durham City Neighbourhood Plan

Map 7: Durham in the late medieval period: its boroughs, churches and important 
buildings

Map and quote from ‘Durham – 1000 years of history’ by Martin Roberts with permission 
of the author. 

At the end of the twelfth century the fortified peninsula at Durham was a citadel – 
an exclusive concentration of religious and political power. Within its castle walls 
lay the bishop’s palace and his cathedral church. Between them were laid out 
around Palace Green the courts, exchequer and other great offices from which the 
bishop wielded his temporal power over much of Northumbria. Beyond the 
cathedral lay the Benedictine monastery, the successor of the Community of St. 
Cuthbert and custodian of his shrine ... This core of power, this command centre 
was  not self-supporting. Durham’s success as a political and religious capital lay 
as much in its ability to develop a community that serviced these two great 
institutions as the institutions themselves. The third element in the sustaining 
power of Durham was the medieval town.

(See http://npf.durhamcity.org.uk/the-plan/maps/)

© City of Durham Parish Council, 2021 140

Page 326



Durham City Neighbourhood Plan

APPENDIX B: HERITAGE ASSETS
LIST OF NOTABLE UNLISTED BUILDINGS, AND OF HERITAGE 
ASSETS AT RISK (BOTH DESIGNATED AND NON-DESIGNATED)

B.1 In Durham County Council's Durham City Conservation Area Character Areas 
Appraisal (Durham County Council, 2016b) there are lists of listed buildings, notable 
unlisted buildings (i.e. non-designated heritage assets) and heritage at risk (both listed 
and unlisted). Historic England's National Heritage List is the register of listed buildings, 
scheduled monuments, and registered parks and gardens, and battlefields. This provides 
details of such heritage assets in Our Neighbourhood. The notable unlisted buildings in 
Our Neighbourhood are shown in Table B1. Historic England (Historic England. Heritage 
at Risk Register) also lists heritage at risk. Heritage assets at risk in our Neighbourhood 
are given in Table B2. This information supports heritage Policy H4. This information is 
correct at the time of publishing, but designations and register entries can change, and 
further heritage at risk and non-designated heritage assets might be identified in the 
future. A comprehensive review of such resources is one of the initiatives suggested by 
residents and covered in the companion document ‘Looking Forwards - Durham as a 
Creative and Sustainable City' (Durham City Neighbourhood Plan Working Party, 2019). 

B.2 A summary of the heritage assets in Our Neighbourhood (including scheduled 
monuments, listed buildings, registered gardens and battlefields) is given in Appendix D, 
Table D2.

Table B1: List of Notable Unlisted Buildings in the Durham City Conservation Area

Information from Durham County Council (2016b) character area appraisal.

Character 
Assessment Area

Character 
Assessment Sub-area

Notable Unlisted Building

Area 1 Peninsula

Palace Green The Pace Building (extension to Palace Green 
library)
Former detached garage at Moyners Garth

No. 1 Dun Cow Lane

The Baileys No. 50 North Bailey

Hatfield College private chapel

Saddler Street 62, 66 Saddler Street

Market Place No: 8 to 10 Market Place

Silver Street / Fowlers 
Yard

Silver Street No: 9a, 9b, 10, 11, 13/15, 18, 24, 29

Area 2 Framwellgate

Aykley Heads Garden House public house

County Hall (plans to demolish the building)

© City of Durham Parish Council, 2021 141

Page 327



Durham City Neighbourhood Plan

DLI Museum (now closed, plans to demolish the 
building)
Amphitheatre and walls, Wharton Park

North Road WW1 War Memorial, St Godric’s

The Presbytery, Tenter Terrace

The school buildings, St. Godric’s and St. Anne’s 
Court, Castle Chare
The stone boundary walls to St. Godric’s and St. 
Anne’s Court
Railway walls leading to station approach

Tenter Cottage, No. 25 Tenter Terrace

Shakespeare Hall, 71, 72, 73 North Road

North Road No: 5 to 12, 65 (Weatherspoons, 
formerly Water Board), 64b
Reform Place, No: 74, 75, 76 North Road

The former Cinema, North Road

Milburngate No: 31, 32, 34, 35

Milburngate / Sidegate
/ Crookhall

Pennyferry Bridge

Crook Hall Farmhouse (south west of Crook Hall)
The Old Granary (west of Crook Hall)
The Old Coach House (north of Crook Hall)
Milburngate House (demolished 2017)

The Sands, Riverside Remnants of the Mill and Millrace (now demolished)
Former Durham County School (now Sixth Form 
Centre) Buildings
Former Durham County School (now Sixth Form 
Centre) walls
The Mortuary Chapel, St. Nicholas Cemetery
St. Nicholas Cemetery stone walls and gravestones

Claypath Area Claypath No: 18 (former Oldfields restaurant), 25, 26 
(former Palladium Cinema), 29 (all demolished 2017)
33 (former Post Office headquarters), 41, 43, 44, 48, 
55/54, 58, 59, 60, 60a, 60b, 60c, 65, 79, 80 
(restaurant), 81 (Blue Coat Cottage), 84a, 84b, 85, 
86, 87, 88, 88a, 89, 90, 92, 92a
No: 1 – 5 Blue Coat Buildings
St Anthony’s Vicarage
St Anthony’s Cottage
Quaker Burial Ground, Bellevue Court, Claypath
Kepier Court (former County Penitentiary), 
Bakehouse Lane

Area 3 Crossgate
Western Hill King’s Lodge

St. Leonard’s School main original building
St. Leonard’s School Gatehouse
St. Leonard’s School stone walls
St Cuthbert’s Vicarage, Western Hill
No. 36 Albert Street
Field Houses Back Western Hill/Fieldhouse Lane
Industrial buildings near bottom of Back Western Hill
Grey House
Milburn House

© City of Durham Parish Council, 2021 142

Page 328



Durham City Neighbourhood Plan

Durham Light Infantry Cottages
Viaduct County Hospital (now developed as student 

accommodation), North Road
County Hospital walls (North Road, Waddington 
Street, Sutton Street)
Railway walls leading to the Viaduct up Flass 
Street/Redhills
The Bridge Hotel, North Road, Sutton Street
Bees Cottage, Sutton Street
Flass Well, Flass Street
Miners’ Hall Villas (2) in Miners’ Hall grounds
Miners’ Hall walls, Flass Street/Redhills 
Miners’ Hall gatehouse, Redhills Lane
Redhills Villa, Flass Street
Flass House, Ainsley Street
United Reformed Church, Waddington Street
St Bede’s Cemetery walls and some gravestones

Crossgate / South 
Street

Crossgate No: 5, 6, 8, 12 and 13 (Elm Tree public 
house), 26-27, 28, 51, 52, 64, 65, 69-70
Fighting Cocks public house, Crossgate
Allergate No: 19, 20, 27-29
South Street No: 38, 22, 39, 40, 22 (East side), 21
St. Margaret’s Rectory, South Street and walls
Walls/railings, South Street
Walls/railings, Gravestones, Crossgate 
churchyard/Grape Lane
St. Margaret’s former C of E School, Margery Lane
St. Margaret’s former C of E School walls, Margery 
Lane
Former Crossgate Hospital Site, Crossgate Centre
Stone walls and railings of former Crossgate Hospital
facing A690
St. Margaret’s Garth
St. Margaret’s Chapel, corner of St. Margaret’s Mews
Neville Street No: 19-23

Hawthorn Terrace Byland Lodge, Laburnum Avenue
Harrison and Harrison former organ works, Hawthorn
Terrace
Rington’s Tea, former workshop/office HQ, John 
Street
Jubilee Cottage, May Street
Farnley Tower, The Avenue
The Tower, The Avenue
Tower Cottage, The Avenue
Codeslaw House, No: 24 The Avenue
Rosslyn House, The Avenue
Oak Lea, The Avenue
Dunster House, The Avenue
Avenue House, The Avenue
Neville’s Court and Coach House, The Avenue
Hillcrest, Farnley Hey Road
Farnley Hey/Lynhurst, Farnley Hey Road
Percy House, Percy Lane
Percy Lodge, Percy Lane

© City of Durham Parish Council, 2021 143

Page 329



Durham City Neighbourhood Plan

Sunnybrae, Percy Terrace
The Hermitage, Percy Terrace
Rokeby, Percy Terrace, No: 1 St Johns Road
Cross View Heights, No: 1a St Johns Road
Hilda House, St Johns Road
Baliol House, St Johns Road
St Johns Road No: 25 to 8
Rokeby Villa, Crossgate Peth
Cross House, Crossgate Peth
Cross View House, Crossgate Peth
Cross View Cottage, Crossgate Peth
Neville’s Cross Social Club, Crossgate Peth (now 
redeveloped as student accommodation)
Crossgate Peth No: 25 to 22, 11 to 20 (excludes 
Lodge)

Pimlico / Durham 
School

Observatory House, Potters Bank
Walls to the rear of the Observatory
Trinity Hall, Grove Street
The Caffinites, Grove Street
Poole House, Margery Lane
Pimlico numbers 4, 6
Walls to riverbanks in Pimlico
Grove Street No: 1, 2, 3
The Chapel, Durham School
Sanatorium, Durham School
Frontage building, Durham School
Swimming Pool Building, Durham School
Walls of Durham School
Walls to riverbanks in Pimlico
Nevilledale Terrace No: 9 to 25

Area 4 Elvet
New Elvet and Old 
Elvet

The Cathedrals (former police station), Court Lane
The Masonic Hall, Old Elvet
Elvet Methodist Church and Sunday School, Old 
Elvet
Old Elvet No: 2 to 3a
Dunelm House, New Elvet (plans to demolish 
building)
New Elvet No: 3 to 9 
Swan and Three Signets Public House, Old Elvet 
Bridge

Riverside Former Public Swimming Baths, Elvet Riverside
The original cricket pavilion
The original Bowling Club building
The brick railway bridge abutments associated with 
Elvet Railway
Mount Joy farmhouse and associated farm buildings

Green Lane / Whinney
Hill

Former Durham Johnston School, Whinney Hill 
(planning approval to demolish building)
Random rubble sandstone boundary wall to south of 
Green Lane associated with former Elvet railway
Victorian railway cottages at eastern end of Green 
Lane

© City of Durham Parish Council, 2021 144

Page 330



Durham City Neighbourhood Plan

Church Street / 
Hallgarth Street

Church Street No: 8,9
St Oswald’s Vicarage (No: 27 and 27a), Church 
Street
Hallgarth Street No: 60 to 62
Mount Joy Crescent
Bow School

Area 5 Gilesgate
Upper Gilesgate Gilesgate No: 98-99 (former Methodist Chapel, now 

funeral directors), 113 to 115, 137 to 139
Charles Stranks House
Grove House, Gilesgate
Gilesgate war memorial
Manor House
York House
Alma House 

College of St. Hild and
St. Bede / Riverside

Historic stone St. Hild College buildings, including 
former chapel
The former Hall (now gymnasium) to the south of the 
Chapel and the half brick half-timbered building 
tucked to the north of this Hall
Historic stone Bede College buildings including 
former Model School
Detached white rendered Edwardian dwelling (former
Principal’s house), Pelaw Leazes Lane
Former Victorian school building, St Hild’s Lane

Lower Gilesgate Ravensworth Terrace
Gilesgate No: 10 to 19, 57 to 66
Kepier House

Kepier / Riverside / St 
Mary Magdalene's

19th century brick kiln to north of Kepier Hospital

Table B2: List of Heritage at Risk in the Durham City Conservation Area

Information from Durham County Council (2016b) character area appraisal and from Historic England's 
Heritage at Risk Register. 

Character 
Assessment Area

Character 
Assessment Sub-area

Heritage at Risk
(listed buildings marked with *)

(in the national Heritage At Risk Register = ‡)

Area 1 Peninsula

Castle Walls*‡

Saddler Street 34, 35 and 35a Saddler Street*

Riverbanks Count's House*

Prebends Bridge*‡

Area 2 Framwellgate

North Road The Former Miners Hall, 15-17 North Road*

The former Cinema, North Road

The United Bus Company Canteen, North Road*

© City of Durham Parish Council, 2021 145

Page 331



Durham City Neighbourhood Plan

Railway walls leading to Station Approach

Milburngate / Sidegate
/ Crookhall

Milburngate House (demolished 2017)

The Sands, Riverside The Mortuary Chapel, St. Nicholas Cemetery
St. Nicholas Cemetery stone walls and graveyard

Claypath Area Claypath No: 18 (former Gas Board offices and 
latterly Oldfields restaurant), 25, 26 (former 
Palladium Cinema), 29 (all demolished 2017)
Quaker Burial Ground, Bellevue Court, Claypath

Area 3 Crossgate
Western Hill Industrial buildings near bottom of Back Western Hill
Viaduct County Hospital and its walls (North Road, 

Waddington Street, Sutton Street) (now developed as
student accommodation so no longer at risk)
Flass Well, Flass Street
The Bridge Hotel, North Road
St Bede’s Cemetery walls and some gravestones

Crossgate / South St Walls/railings/Gravestones Crossgate 
churchyard/Grape Lane

Pimlico/Durham 
School

Walls to the rear of the Observatory

Area 4 Elvet
New Elvet and Old 
Elvet

Dunelm House, New Elvet (plans for demolition)

Riverside Former Public Swimming Baths, Elvet Riverside to be
demolished to create a new University Business 
School
The brick railway bridge abutments associated with 
Elvet Railway
Mount Joy farmhouse and associated farm buildings

Green Lane/Whinney 
Hill

Former Durham Johnston School, Whinney Hill 
(planning permission given for demolition and 
replacement by housing)

Church 
Street/Hallgarth Street

Church Street No: 31, 32, 33*
The Tithe Barn Durham Prison Officers Club, 
Hallgarth Street*‡

Area 5 Gilesgate
Upper Gilesgate Vane Tempest Hall and Stable Blocks*

York House, St. Hild’s Lane
Lower Gilesgate Kepier House
Kepier / Riverside / St 
Mary Magdalene's

Chapel of St Mary Magdalene*
19th century brick kiln to north of Kepier Hospital

B.3 The Durham City Neighbourhood Forum, based on public feedback, has identified 
additional non-designated heritage assets in Our Neighbourhood inside and outside the 
Durham City Conservation Area:

 Passport Office and National Savings building (demolished)
 Riverbanks Gardens and Heritage walks

© City of Durham Parish Council, 2021 146

Page 332



Durham City Neighbourhood Plan

 Sheraton House, Merryoaks
 Neville House, Merryoaks (demolished)

B.4 And additional heritage at risk
 Dryburn House (Grade II listed), University Hospital of North Durham grounds 

(planning permission given for demolition and replacement by an extended A&E 
department)

 William Robson House, North Road (formerly Bailes Printing works) (plans for 
development)

© City of Durham Parish Council, 2021 147

Page 333



Durham City Neighbourhood Plan

THE REST OF THIS PAGE IS DELIBERATELY LEFT BLANK

© City of Durham Parish Council, 2021 148

Page 334



Durham City Neighbourhood Plan

APPENDIX C: POPULATION, HOUSEHOLDS, HOUSING AND 
SITES

POPULATION

C.1 The evidence for the social profile of Our Neighbourhood comes principally from the 
Super Output Areas of the April 2011 national census (Office for National Statistics, 2011), 
recording a total of 20,616 people living in Our Neighbourhood. 10,605 of these were boys
or men, and 10,011 girls or women. Most of this discrepancy is accounted for by 514 male
prisoners in Durham Jail. (The prison has a capacity of 1,017 but only 514 of them have 
been recorded in the census statistics.)

C.2 Over half (53%) of the residents were students, who numbered 10,916. Some of 
these are sixth-formers who had attained the age of 18, but the vast majority are at 
Durham University or New College. It should be noted that Durham University's own 
figures show 12,733 for the Census year, but this difference can be explained by the fact 
that not all students live within Our Neighbourhood. The area with the highest 
concentration of students (87%) is the South Road group of colleges. Here there are 
4,494 persons comprising 3,924 students and 570 long-term residents.

C.3 Since the 2011 Census the number of students in Our Neighbourhood has increased 
to an estimated over 16,000 out of a total of over 18,000 registered by the University in 
2018/19. The number of the long-term residents is probably unchanged. Thus the total 
population of Our Neighbourhood amounts to some 26,000 in 2018/19.

C.4 The long-term (i.e. non-student) population of 9,700 in 2011 had roughly the same 
age balance as for the rest of County Durham, except that 11% are aged 75 or over as 
opposed to 8% in the County as a whole. 33% of the long-term residents are retired (25% 
in the County), and only 3% are sick or with disabilities (7% in the County). These 
comparisons indicate that Our Neighbourhood will have a greater demand for elderly 
accommodation of varying degrees of shelter and care, for day centres and for domiciliary
care services but less proportionate need than in the County as a whole for provision for 
school places, playgrounds and so on. The nature of retailing and other leisure activities 
will also be affected by the greater proportion of elderly people. As to whether the lower 
proportion with sickness and disability will offset the health care needs for a more elderly 
population is not clear. Only 15.7% of the population is non-White British, but this is not 
typical of County Durham which has just 3.4% non White British.  The main minority ethnic
groups in Our Neighbourhood are Chinese (2.7%); Indian (1.3%); and Other Asian (1.2%),
reflecting the international nature of the University.

C.5 In terms of the level of economic activity of the residents of Our Neighbourhood, 
32.5% of residents (including students) are recorded in the 2011 Census as being 
economically active as against 57.3% in County Durham as a whole. This contrast can be 

© City of Durham Parish Council, 2021 149

Page 335



Durham City Neighbourhood Plan

explained on the basis of the presence of students, and to a lesser extent by the higher 
proportion of retired people.

Table C1: Economic activity of residents in Our Neighbourhood

Ward Total 
persons 16-
74 years 
old

Econ 
active full-
time
employee
s

Econ active
part-time 
employees

Econ 
active self 
employed

Total 
econ 
active

% econ 
active

Elvet & Gilesgate 9,586 681 200 134 1,015 10.6%
Neville's Cross 7,995 2,118 634 490 3,242 40.6%
Durham South* 4,908 633 2,108 312 3,053 62.2%
Our 
Neighbourhood*

22,489 3,432 2,942 936 7,310 32.5%

County Durham 383,796 50,595 143,922 25,309 219,826 57.3%
* Durham South Ward extends to Shincliffe Village outside the area of Our Neighbourhood

C.6 The dominant occupations of the residents in Our Neighbourhood who are in 
employment are education (25.6%); health and social services (11.12%); and retail and 
wholesale (10.7%). These figures demonstrate the role of Durham City as a major centre 
for the whole County through being the location of County Hall, the University Hospital of 
North Durham and Durham University, though of course most of the people who work at 
these locations live outside Our Neighbourhood and indeed outside Durham City.

Table C2: Occupations of residents in Our Neighbourhood

Ward Total 
residents in 
employment

Retail 
and 
wholesal
e

Accom'n
and food
services

Professiona
l and 
scientific 
services

Educatio
n 
services

Human 
health and 
social 
services

Elvet & Gilesgate 2,175 228 447 134 656 151
Neville's Cross 3,873 338 303 335 1,179 474
Durham South* 3,158 423 188 200 524 402
Our 
Neighbourhood*

9,206 989 938 669 2,359 10,27

Percentages 100.0% 10.7% 10.2% 7.3% 25.6% 11.2%
County Durham 227,894 33,261 12,257 8,789 23,836 31,923
Percentages 100.0% 14.6% 5.3% 3.9% 10.4% 14.0%

* Durham South Ward extends to Shincliffe Village outside the area of Our Neighbourhood

C.7 The residents of Our Neighbourhood also notably hold more qualifications than is the 
case across the County: some 37% hold Level 3 ('A' level equivalent) qualifications 
compared with 14% in County Durham.

Table C3: Qualifications of residents in Our Neighbourhood

Ward Total persons over 16 
years old

Number with Level 
3

% with Level 3

Elvet & Gilesgate 9,958 5,645 59%
Neville's Cross 8,629 2,751 32%

© City of Durham Parish Council, 2021 150

Page 336



Durham City Neighbourhood Plan

Durham South* 5,543 598 11%
Our Neighbourhood* 24,130 8,994 37%
County Durham 425,258 57,957 14%

* Durham South Ward extends to Shincliffe Village outside the area of Our Neighbourhood

C.8 Townsend (2017) provides a summary of employment data for Our Neighbourhood, 
based on the 2011 Census and 2016 employment data. The data used in this summary 
was obtained via Durham University’s 'Nomis' system. 

C.9 The health of the residents of Our Neighbourhood is above average: about 89% are in
good or very good health, somewhat better than the figure of 76% for County Durham 
which reflects the long-standing damage to health and well-being caused in the traditional 
industries of County Durham beyond Durham City: coal-mining, railway engineering, ship-
building and heavy engineering.

Table C4: Health of residents in Our Neighbourhood

Ward % with good or very good health
Elvet & Gilesgate 91%
Neville's Cross 90%
Durham South* 79%
Our Neighbourhood* 89%
County Durham 76%

* Durham South Ward extends to Shincliffe Village outside the area of Our Neighbourhood

C.10 The Index of Multiple Deprivation 2015 (Department for Communities and Local 
Government. OpenDataCommunities) reveals the legacy from those former industries: 
many communities of the County are amongst the 10% most deprived neighbourhoods in 
England. In contrast, Our Neighbourhood is in the 30% least deprived; indeed Neville's 
Cross is in the 10% least deprived. Put another way, out of a score of 100 for the least 
deprived places in England, Neville's Cross stands at 96.

Table C5: Deprivation in Our Neighbourhood

Area Deprivation rank 
(out of 32844, where 1 is
the most deprived in 
England)

In decile cluster of 
least deprived 
neighbourhoods in 
England

Ranking out of 100

Claypath/The Sands 23,986 30% 73
Elvet East 11,502 40% 35
Elvet West 24,697 30% 75
Crossgate North 21,968 40% 66
Crossgate South 32,457 10% 99
North End 29,553 20% 90
Neville's Cross North 31,767 10% 97
Neville's Cross South 31,421 10% 96
Our Neighbourhood* 
(approximately)

26,000 30% 79

* Durham South Ward extends to Shincliffe Village outside the area of Our Neighbourhood.

© City of Durham Parish Council, 2021 151

Page 337



Durham City Neighbourhood Plan

HOUSEHOLDS

C.11 At the time of the 2011 Census there were 20,616 people in 5,410 households in Our
Neighbourhood, representing a crude overall household size in 2011 of 3.811. This 
displays the severely distorting effects of student households. The number of non-student 
households is estimated on the basis of the County average household size to be about 
4,200.

C.12 The University's figures show that there were 12,733 students in the academic year 
2011/12 and there are now 18,707 as at December 2018. These figures show that 11,882 
of this number live outside of Colleges, nearly all in rented accommodation - either 
Purpose Built Student Accommodation (PBSAs) or in Houses in Multiple Occupation 
(HMOs). 

C.13 The area at the time of the 2011 Census with the highest concentration of students 
(87%) is 030G - the Hill colleges and Houghall. Here there were 4,494 persons comprising
3,924 students and 570 long-term residents. 

C.14 Owner-occupation is 53% (as compared with 66% for County Durham as a whole); 
8% is social housing (20% in County Durham); and private rental is 36% whereas for 
County Durham it is just 12%. These comparisons indicate that housing tenure in Our 
Neighbourhood is distinctly shaped by student rentals. 

C.15 If we aspire to a stable long-term population in Our Neighbourhood of 9,700 right 
through our Neighbourhood Plan period then, at national rates of household size decline, 
there would be about 4,400 households in 2035. This calculated increase of about 200 
households therefore requires at least 200 more dwellings over the period in order for the 
resident population of Our Neighbourhood to be able to stay at 9,700.

STUDENT ACCOMMODATION

C.16 The base-line figures for the numbers of University of Durham students – 
undergraduates and postgraduates, full-time and part-time – are for 2018/19:

Table C6: Accommodation type and student numbers 2018/19

Accommodation type At home Rented College Other Total

Undergraduate 657 7,400 5,582 521 14,160

Postgraduate / distance 1,410 1,892 1,243 2 4,547

Total 2,067 9,292 6,825* 523 18,707

Note 1: 417 students in the School of Medicine, Pharmacy and Health transferred from the Stockton 
campus to Newcastle University at the end of the 2016/17 academic year, and the Stockton campus 
closed at the end of the 2017/18 academic year with all remaining students transferring to Durham.

© City of Durham Parish Council, 2021 152

Page 338



Durham City Neighbourhood Plan

* Note 2: in addition, two PBSAs are currently occupied as Colleges and together have a capacity of 577 
students, which increases the total in “Colleges” to 7,402 and the percentage ‘living-in’ to 40% -see 
paragraph C18.

Source: Durham University, Student Registry, Online Statistics, College Statistics, Accommodation 
(numbers surveyed in December 2018: Table 1.9 Term time accommodation)
https://www.dur.ac.uk/student.registry/statistics/summary/1.9ttaccom/

C.17 Durham University (2016, 2017a) has published its Strategy and Estate Masterplan 
for the development of the University over the decade 2016/17 to 2026/27. The key points
are to base the majority of the 2,500 students from the Stockton Queen’s Campus in 
Durham City, joining the 15,500 students already in the City in 2016/17, and to increase 
the student population to 21,500 by 2027. The Masterplan states that the University will 
have an additional 4,000 students, maximum, by 2026/27. It follows that the number to be 
accommodated in Durham City is planned to increase by about 6,000 between 2016/17 
and 2026/27. This is an approximately 40% increase.

C.18 Expansion of student numbers has seen reduction in the percentage of students 
housed in university accommodation with consequent loss of family homes to HMOs. 
Durham University has a special appeal for being, amongst many qualities, a ‘Collegiate’ 
University. The University aims to increase the proportion of students living in University 
accommodation from 40% at present (see footnote to Table C6) to between 50% and 55%
in 2026/27. On that basis, there would need to be an increase in University 
accommodation from the present (2018/19) level of 7,402 beds to up to 11,825 (55% of 
21,500) beds in University accommodation in 2026/27 i.e. about +4,400 beds.

C.19 The University is currently constructing a new 1,000-bed College at Mount Oswald. It
is therefore necessary to identify sites for up to a further 3,400 beds in University 
accommodation somewhere in Durham City. There were, as of the base date of 2019, 
under construction, approved or proposed PBSAs (purpose built student accommodation) 
in Our Neighbourhood for over 2,500 extra bed-spaces (Durham City Neighbourhood 
Planning Forum, Large student residences 2019). The six additional PBSA sites (Map 6) 
proposed by the University could perhaps provide in total a further 2,000 bed-spaces. 
Thus some 4,500 additional PBSA bed-spaces can be expected, not including speculative
PBSA schemes elsewhere in Our Neighbourhood and beyond. Thus, it would seem that 
there is just about sufficient PBSA/College accommodation built or in the pipeline to meet 
the growth plans of the University up to the year 2026/27.

C.20 However, under current interpretations, privately-built PBSAs do not count as 'living-
in' University accommodation and thereby fail to contribute to the University's aim of up to 
55% living-in. To address this, the University is entering into partnership arrangements 
and some PBSAs have been classified as College-affiliated and thereby 'living-in'. Current
examples are Rushford Court being occupied as John Snow College, and New Kepier 
Court being part of University College (Castle). 

C.21 It must be noted that some of the PBSAs are unsatisfactory in design and/or location
to be adopted by the University, and some are not 100% occupied. It is therefore essential

© City of Durham Parish Council, 2021 153

Page 339



Durham City Neighbourhood Plan

that some of the six additional PBSA sites proposed by the University are approved, built 
and successful and are adopted by the University to qualify as ‘living-in’ accommodation in
order to meet the ‘living-in’ shortfall and also to provide choice and competition.

Table C7: Purpose built student accommodation: construction status

Name / location Status: Up and running as at
August 2019

Numbers

St Margarets Flats Built by St John’s College in 1994, 
sold on to Empiric Student Property 
and refurbished in 2017

109 bedrooms, in 22 flats in 5
blocks

Elvet Studios (Green Lane) Opened September 2013 112 apartments

City Block (formerly The Village @ 
The Viaduct) (Ainsley Street)

Opened October 2014 223 beds

Ward Court (formerly Neville’s Cross 
Club)

Opened autumn 2015 36 apartments

Chapel Heights (A690, Gilesgate) Opened September 2016 198 beds

St Giles Studios (110 Gilesgate) Opened September 2016 109 beds

New Kepier Court Opened September 2017 214 rooms, a mixture of 
“cluster apartments and 
studios”

Ernest Place (Renny’s Lane) Opened August 2017
NB This site is outside Our 
Neighbourhood

345 beds

Neville House / Sheraton House 
(Neville's Cross)

Ustinov College relocated to here. 
Opened 2017

418 beds

Duresme House (formerly Berendsen 
Laundry) (Neville's Cross)

Opened Autumn 2018 A 277 room student 'eco 
village'

Dunholm House (The Riverwalk) Opened Autumn 2018 253 beds

Rushford Court (formerly County 
Hospital)

Opened Autumn 2018

John Snow College for the Academic
Year 2019/20

363 beds

Houghall Court (East Durham 
College, Houghall campus)

Opened Autumn 2018, managed by 
Unite Students

222 beds

TOTAL UP AND RUNNING 2019 2,879 beds

Name / location Status: Under construction,
expected to open in the Academic

year 2019/20

Numbers

Student Castle (Lower Claypath) Construction nearing completion.  
Planning application approved to 
increase number of beds from 445 to 
473; 47 of these will be available on 
an aparthotel basis when not 
occupied by students. Opening 
September 2019

473 beds

Former Post Office (Silver Street) Conversion to provide 17 self-
contained apartments, approved 
December 2017 and construction 
nearing completion

17 apartments

© City of Durham Parish Council, 2021 154

Page 340



Durham City Neighbourhood Plan

Name / location Status: In the pipeline, expected to
open in the Academic year 2020/21

or later

Numbers

Mount Oswald (Durham University) New John Snow College and another
new college, currently under 
construction, to be completed in 
Summer 2020

1,000 beds

Name / location Status: Approved but not started Numbers

Back Silver Street 13 flats and 5 studio apartments, to 
be managed by Q Student, approved 
16 November 2016 but construction 
has not started

56 beds

Mount Oswald (Banks) Outline planning application approved
in January 2018 for land adjacent to 
the University’s site

850 beds

The Three Tuns (New Elvet) Former hotel, planning application to 
increase the capacity from 50 to 168 
beds approved June 2019

168 beds

TOTAL IN THE PIPELINE AT 2019 2,4564

Proposed allocations for PBSAs Six sites in Map 6 Unspecified but could amount
to 2,000 additional beds

TOTAL PLANNED ADDITIONAL 
PROVISION

Perhaps 4,500

http://npf.durhamcity.org.uk/themes/housing/large-student-residences/

C.22 The corollary of the University's aspiration for between 50% and 55% of its students 
to 'live in' is that up to 50% would 'live out'. In 2026/27 this would amount to 10,750 
students 'living out'. At present a total of 11,882 live out, a significant increase from 
previous years as a result of the rapid emergence of large privately-built PBSAs. Thus the 
University's plans would imply some 1,100 fewer bed spaces outside of University and 
University-affiliated accommodation will be needed. This would be a very welcome return 
of some HMOs back to year-long residents. It also shows no numerical need for more 
student HMOs in Durham City. 

C.23 There is, however, an important issue on what students themselves prefer by way of 
accommodation. First year students are encouraged to 'live in'. Thereafter, they can 
choose, and the indications from the Geography Department survey (Durham University, 
Geography Department, 2015) of students' accommodation preferences were that most 
preferred to 'live-out'. It follows that there may well be a demand for additional HMOs in 
Durham City which, if met, would further reduce the number of year-long residents and 
worsen the community imbalance.  To avoid this retrograde scenario would require a 
reduction in te scale and pace of growth envisaged by Durham University, or for the 
University to require more students to live in College and University-affiliated 
accommodation.

© City of Durham Parish Council, 2021 155

Page 341



Durham City Neighbourhood Plan

OLDER PEOPLE ACCOMMODATION

C.24 Within the long-term resident population in Census year 2011 of 9,700 11% were 
aged 75 or over as opposed to 8% in the County as a whole. Households with people 
aged 75 and over are projected to increase by 82% from 2014 to 2039 (Office for National
Statistics, 2016a) (with the same percentage in the 2016 household projections (Office for 
National Statistics, 2018a)).

C.25 The implications for residential accommodation are profound:
 Downsizing, whether voluntary or compulsory (the 'bedroom tax'), creates a 

demand for more smaller dwellings of various kinds - for example, bungalows, 
apartments, and re-occupation of terraced housing. This in turn releases larger 
properties which, in Durham City, can be family homes.

 The increase in independent older people is creating a demand for good quality 
accommodation located conveniently for services.

 As independence declines, whether through physical or mental decline, more 
specialised accommodation is required. This can range from merely the presence 
on-site of a warden through to full nursing support.   

 From Forum consultations with developers it is clear that there is a market 
opportunity in Durham City for good quality independent living accommodation.

ACCOMMODATION FOR YOUNG PROFESSIONALS, SINGLETONS, 
COUPLES STARTING OUT

C.26 Although the Forum's public consultation (Durham City Neighbourhood Planning 
Forum, 2015) expressed a particular need for accommodation for these groups, there is a 
lack of evidence to substantiate the provision that should be made. It may be that some of
the high specification PBSAs (purpose built student accommodation) will prove to be 
attractive to these groups, especially for those who wish to rent so as to remain mobile.

C.27 However, couples starting out are being priced out of the owner-occupier market and
this has led to a pre-occupation with providing so-called 'starter homes' (defined as 
costing no more than 80% of prevailing local prices). In Durham City subsidised prices 
can only be achieved by either setting a percentage requirement within planning policies 
or by the use of land currently held in the public sector. Both remedies are used nationally.

HOUSING SITES

C.28 The following analysis is drawn from Durham County Council's SHLAA (Strategic 
Housing Land Availability Assessment 2018 (Durham County Council, 2018e,f). This 
provided the basis for the County Council’s estimate of the overall numbers of dwelling 
units required in Our Neighbourhood (paragraph 4.182), namely that a minimum of 1,297 
new dwellings are required, comprising 639 on sites now under construction, 120 with 
planning permission but not yet under construction, 488 with planning permission and 

© City of Durham Parish Council, 2021 156

Page 342



Durham City Neighbourhood Plan

included in the emerging County Durham Local Plan, and 50 on a proposed new site. 
When a more up-to-date estimate by the County Council becomes available we will revise
these details. It is noteworthy that, throughout Our Neighbourhood, there are student 
accommodation developments on land that would otherwise have been suitable for 
'normal' residential units e.g. County Hospital, Chapel Heights, Kepier Court, Berendsen's 
laundry.

Table C8: Housing sites in Durham County Council SHLAA 2018d

Durham County Council’s 
Deliverable SHLAA 2018 sites

Housing 
capacity In 
SHLAA 2018

Completed 
as at 01-04-2018

Remaining 
commitment 
as at 01-04-2018

Sites under construction

4/DU/79 Mount Oswald 291 108 183

4/DU/128 Former Bus Depot, 
Waddington Street

19 14 5

4/DU/40 Potters Bank 22 20 2

4/DU/25 Former Johnston School 
Whinney Hill site

75 0 75

4/DU/19 Police Headquarters, Aykley
Heads

217 62 155

Small sites total 15 4 11

Sub-Total 639 208 431

Sites approved but not yet 
started

24 The Avenue 12 0 12

Land at Kepier House, Gilesgate 35 0 35

Adj Providence House, Providence 
Row

6 0 6

Companions Club, Ainsley Street 9 0 9

Garages rear of Pimlico 4 0 4

Land at St Cuthberts House and 
Diamond Terrace

5 0 5

Magdalene Heights 10 0 10

Milburngate House 441 0 441

Mount Oswald 5 0 5

Sheraton House, Merryoaks 47 0 47

© City of Durham Parish Council, 2021 157

Page 343



Durham City Neighbourhood Plan

Small sites total 0 0 0

Sub-Total 608 0 608

TOTAL APPROVED SITES 1,247 208 608

Proposed  new allocation in 
Preferred Options: Former Skid Pan, 
Aykley Heads

50 0 0

GRAND TOTAL 1,297 208 608

Note: Some of these developments have now (September 2019) been completed

C.29 There will, in addition, be windfall sites. It is estimated that an additional 100 houses 
would become available from small windfall sites over the period of the Plan. This figure is
drawn from the emerging County Durham Local Plan.

C.30 If further houses become available for the long-term residents of Our Neighbourhood
through the release of houses currently occupied by groups of students, this could amount
to perhaps 500 over the Plan period.

THE NPPF REVISED METHODOLOGY FOR ASSESSING HOUSING 
REQUIREMENTS 

C.31 The Government published a consultative Housing White Paper ‘Fixing Our Broken 
Housing Market’ (Department for Communities and Local Government, 2017) in February 
2017 setting out ideas for increasing the production of new housing. One of the initiatives 
in the White Paper was to introduce a standardised approach to assessing housing 
requirements. This has subsequently been incorporated into the revised NPPF of 
February 2019. A total of 25,992 additional dwellings would be required in County Durham
under the Government’s standardised methodology which requires use of 2014-based 
official projections rather than the latest (2016-based) official projections. Durham County 
Council has accepted this figure at the time of writing (September 2019).

C.32 Specific recognition is given in the 2019 revised NPPF (para. 14, 65) to the needs of 
neighbourhood plan preparation. Normally the local planning authority would provide a 
figure, derived from the relevant development plan. However, many development plans 
are out-of-date and of course do not use the proposed standardised methodology. The 
NPPF and Guidance suggests that a simple pro-rata approach should be used: the 
population in the neighbourhood plan area as a proportion of the population of the whole 
local planning authority area, and this proportion applied to the total housing requirement. 
Our Neighbourhood’s population is 4% of the County Durham total, so 4% of 25,992 i.e. 
1,040 new dwellings would be required. However, this approach would seem to produce 
an over-estimate given that half the population in Our Neighbourhood are University 
students whose accommodation is in Colleges, PBSAs (purpose built student 
accommodation) and HMOs (houses in multiple occupancy). The 9,700 non-student 
population is 2% of the County Durham total, and this proportion represents a need for 

© City of Durham Parish Council, 2021 158

Page 344



Durham City Neighbourhood Plan

520 new dwellings by the year 2035. Accordingly, while accepting the County Council’s 
estimate, other ways of calculating requirement indicate a lower figure for which the 
existing approved sites are significantly already more than sufficient.

© City of Durham Parish Council, 2021 159

Page 345



Durham City Neighbourhood Plan

THE REST OF THIS PAGE IS DELIBERATELY LEFT BLANK

© City of Durham Parish Council, 2021 160

Page 346



Durham City Neighbourhood Plan

APPENDIX D: ASSETS IN OUR NEIGHBOURHOOD

Table D1: Landscape and Natural Environment Sites in Our Neighbourhood

This list describes the context as known at the time of compiling the data (September 
2019). It identifies key resources, however it cannot be used as a comprehensive list. A 
comprehensive review of such resources is one of the initiatives suggested by residents 
and covered in the companion document ‘Looking Forward - Durham as a Creative and 
Sustainable City' (Durham City Neighbourhood Plan Working Party, 2019a). Details of 
open and green spaces can be seen in the assessment of open spaces in Our 
Neighbourhood (Durham City Neighbourhood Planning Forum, 2018).

Green Belt area within Our
Neighbourhood

Aykley Heads, Sidegate, Franklands Lane

Maiden Castle

Land south of the A177

Land west of the A167

Agricultural Land Arbour House Farm

Baxter Wood Farm

Elvet Moor Farm

Farewellhall Farms

Frankland Farm (part in Our Neighbourhood)

Houghall Farm at East Durham College’s Houghall Campus 

Fields: Merryoaks, Mountjoy, Potters Bank, Whinney Hill

Allotments and 
Community Gardens

Crossgate Community Garden, Laburnum Avenue

Green Lane allotments

May Street allotments

North End allotments

St Margaret's allotments, Margery Lane

Wharton Park Community Garden

Cemeteries Bow Cemetery, Potters Bank

Durham Cemetery and Crematorium, South Road

Quaker Burial Ground, Bellevue Court, Claypath (disused)

Redhills Roman Catholic Cemetery, Redhills Lane

St Cuthbert's Anglican Church Cemetery, Framwellgate Peth

St Giles Cemetery, Gilesgate

St Margaret’s Cemetery, Margery Lane

St Nicholas’ Cemetery, Providence Row

St Oswald’s Cemetery, Church Street

Stockton Road Cemetery

© City of Durham Parish Council, 2021 161

Page 347



Durham City Neighbourhood Plan

Green Assets

European protected sites 
(Habitats Regulations)

None

Sites of Special Scientific 
Interest (SSSI)

None

Local Nature Reserves 
(LNR)

Aykley Wood

Flass Vale

Local Wildlife Sites (LWS) Baxter Wood

Blaid's Wood

Flass Vale

Hopper's Wood

Houghall, Maiden Castle and Little High Woods

Moorhouse Wood

North Wood

Pelaw Wood

Saltwell Gill Wood

Ancient Semi-Natural 
Woodland (ASNW)

Blaid's Wood

Borehole Wood

Farewell Hall Wood

Great High Wood

Hollinside Wood

Hoppers Wood

Maiden Castle Wood

Moorhouse Wood

North Wood

Pelaw Wood

Saltwell Gill Wood

Protected habitats/species

Habitats: Ancient and/or species-rich hedgerows

Ancient semi-natural woodland

Veteran trees

Ponds

Rivers and streams

Road verges of conservation importance

Species: Amphibians (frogs, toads and newts), particularly the Great crested newt

Badgers

Barn owls

© City of Durham Parish Council, 2021 162

Page 348



Durham City Neighbourhood Plan

Bats (all species)

Hedgehogs

House sparrows

Otters

Salmon

Sea trout

Wild birds, their nests and eggs

County Geological Site River Wear Gorge at Durham City

Footpaths Public Rights of Way, other footpaths

Trees Trees with preservation orders

Parks, Gardens and 
Woods

Botanic Gardens, Durham University, South Road

The Houghall Arboretum and Pinetum, East Durham College, Houghall 
Campus

Crook Hall Gardens

Linear Park, Mount Oswald (proposed)

Low Burnhall, Woodland Trust wood

Peninsular Woodlands

Riverbanks Gardens 

Heritage Walks in the peninsular area: Castle walks (Motte and moat walk, 
North Terrace walk, Bishops walk), Prebends Walk, Hatfield Walk, Principals 
Walk, The 18thC landscaping of the Prebends Bridge approaches and quarry 
walks on the outer banks

Wharton Park

Open Green Spaces Aykley Heads

Bowling Green (now unused), Elvet Waterside

Gilesgate Green

Hollow Drift (field adjacent to Durham City Rugby Club ground)

Observatory Hill

Peskies Park

The College

The riverbanks (the parts of the riverbanks that are not just pavements)

Roundabouts, e.g. Gilesgate Roundabout

The Sands

Urban Open Spaces Fowler's Yard

High Street

Market Place

Millennium Place

Palace Green (with some characteristics of an open green space)

© City of Durham Parish Council, 2021 163

Page 349



Durham City Neighbourhood Plan

The riverbanks in the City centre (the parts of the riverbanks that are just 
pavements)

Table D2: Summary of Heritage Assets in Our Neighbourhood

World Heritage Site Durham Cathedral and Castle

Registered battlefield Battle of Neville's Cross 1346

Registered park and 
garden

Burn Hall

Scheduled monuments Prebends Bridge

Chapel of St Mary Magdalene, A690

The Watergate, South Bailey

Framwellgate Bridge

Elvet Bridge

Kepier Hospital, by the River Wear down from the A690

Maiden's Bower round cairn, Flass Vale

Maiden Castle promontory fort

Neville's Cross, Crossgate Peth

Listed 
buildings/structures

458; 47 Grade I; 28 Grade II*, 383 Grade II
(Note: these are not named here as there are so many)

Conservation areas Durham City
Burn Hall
Shincliffe (adjacent to Our Neighbourhood)
Sunderland Bridge (adjacent to Our Neighbourhood)

Non-designated heritage 
assets

308 (see Appendix B, Table B1 for details)

Note: Registered and listed sites obtained from Historic England's official database. Non-designated heritage 
assets as listed in the Durham City Conservation Area Appraisal report (Durham County Council, 2016b) This 
information is correct at the time of publishing, but designations and register entries can change, and further 
assets might be identified / listed in the future.

Table D3: Public and Community Services and Facilities in Our Neighbourhood

Health and Social Care 
Establishments

Child and adolescent mental health services (CAMHS), North End House, 
North End 

Claypath and University Medical Group, Gilesgate and Green Lane

Claypath Dental Practice, Claypath

Durham City Smiles, Crossgate (dental practice)

Durham City Centre Youth Project, North Road

Elvet Dental Practice, Old Elvet

Food Bank, Framwellgate Peth

Hallgarth Care home, Hallgarth Street

Kingsgate Dental, Church Street

© City of Durham Parish Council, 2021 164

Page 350



Durham City Neighbourhood Plan

mydentist, Framwellgate Bridge

Neville Court (care home), Darlington Road, Nevilles Cross

St Cuthbert's Hospice, Merryoaks

St Margaret's Care Home, Crossgate

St. Margaret’s Health Centre, Crossgate (specialist NHS clinics)

St. Margaret’s Centre, Margery Lane (mental health)

University Hospital of North Durham

Waddington Street Day Centre, Waddington Street (mental health)

Public Services Council offices, Millennium Place

Central Library, Millennium Place

Durham City Police Station, New Elvet

Durham Constabulary Headquarters, Aykley Heads

Durham County Council, County Hall, Aykley Heads

Durham County Court and Family Court Hearing Centre, Green Lane

Durham Crown Court, Old Elvet

HM Prison Durham

National Savings and Investments, Durham Office

Passport Office Durham

Post Office, WH Smith, Marketplace

Public Toilets: Cathedral, Clayport Library, Durham Bus Station, Durham 
Indoor Market, Gala Theatre, Palace Green, Prince Bishops multistorey car 
park, Railway Station, Wharton Park

Community Facilities Allington House Community Association, North Bailey

Antioch House, Crossgate

Community Centre, Merryoaks (proposed), Park House Road

Durham City Workmen's Club and Institute, Crossgate (redeveloped as 
student accommodation)

Durham Miners Hall, Redhills

Elvet Methodist Church Hall, Old Elvet

Masonic Hall, Old Elvet

North Road Methodist Church, North Road

Nelson Hall Scout Hut, behind St. John’s Church, Nevilles Cross

Redwood Lodge Community Centre, behind St. Oswald’s School between 
Church Street and Stockton Road

Shakespeare Hall, North Road

St. John’s Church Centre, Nevilles Cross

St. Oswald’s Institute, Church Street

Wharton Park Heritage Centre, Wharton Park

Cultural Facilities Assembly Rooms Theatre, North Bailey (Durham Student Theatre)

© City of Durham Parish Council, 2021 165

Page 351



Durham City Neighbourhood Plan

Crook Hall, Frankland Lane

Crushed Chilli Gallery, South Street

Culture Durham (the County Durham Cultural Partnership)

Durham Cathedral (Cathedral, Library, Open Treasure)

Durham City Theatre, Fowler's Yard

Durham Miners Hall, Redhills (plan to preserve the building and make it a 
place where people can celebrate, practice and display the living heritage and 
culture of the North East) 

Durham Museum and Heritage Centre, North Bailey

Durham Student Theatre, North Bailey

Durham University (Durham Castle Museum and Castle tours; events, 
exhibitions and lectures open to the public; Durham University Library (number
of sites; public access for reference purposes); Museum of Archaeology 
collections display; Musicon (concert series), Oriental Museum (galleries, 
exhibitions, tours, events, school visits); Palace Green Library (Wolfson 
Gallery)

Empty Shop, North Road

Events and festivals: Book Festival, Brass Festival, Celebrate Science (annual
children's festival run by Durham University), Christmas Market, Durham City 
Run, Fire and Ice, Folk weekend, Lumiere (biennial), Miners’ Gala, New Year’s
Eve Lantern Parade, Regatta, Seasonal Markets

Fowler's Yard Creative Workspaces

Gala Theatre and Cinema (plus two more cinemas approved)

TESTT Space, North Road 

Visit County Durham (tourism management agency for County Durham)

Wharton Park open air stage 

World Heritage Site Visitor Centre, Owengate

Religious Establishments Christchurch Durham, Claypath

Durham Cathedral

Durham City Spiritualist Church, John Street

Durham Islamic Society Mosque, Old Elvet

Durham Presbyterian Church, Laburnum Avenue

Elvet Methodist Church, Old Elvet

King's Church Durham, DSU, Kingsgate House, New Elvet

North Road Methodist Church, North Road

Sanctuary 21, Salvation Army, North Bailey

St Cuthbert's Anglican Church, Framwellgate Peth

St Cuthbert's Catholic Church, Old Elvet

St Giles Church, Gilesgate

St Godric's Church, Castle Chare

St John's Church, Neville's Cross

© City of Durham Parish Council, 2021 166

Page 352



Durham City Neighbourhood Plan

St Margaret's Church, Crossgate

St Oswald's Church, Church Street

St Nicholas Church, Marketplace

Society of Friends, North Bailey

Waddington Street United Reformed Church, Waddington Street

Sports Fields and 
Facilities

Banks Sports Field, Sheraton Park

Bow School

The Chorister School

Durham Archery Lawn Tennis Club

Durham City Cricket Club, Green Lane

Durham City Rugby Football Club, Hollow Drift

Durham High School for Girls

Durham Johnston Comprehensive School

Durham School

Durham University, Graham Sports Centre, Maiden Castle (public access to 
facilities)

Durham University, individual College provision (e.g. Grey College. 
Collingwood College, St Mary's Field (developed for teaching accommodation 
2018/9))

Freeman's Quay Leisure Centre, Walkergate

Lowes Barn Park, Nevilles Cross

Nevilles Cross School

The Racecourse

St Cuthbert's / Merryoaks bowling club and sports field, Parkhouse Road

St Leonard’s Catholic School

St. Margaret’s Primary School 

Children's Playgrounds Allergate

Bakehouse Lane

Church Street

Merryoaks, Park House Road

Mount Oswald (proposed)

Wharton Park

© City of Durham Parish Council, 2021 167

Page 353



Durham City Neighbourhood Plan

Table D4: Employers and Educational Establishments in Our Neighbourhood

Employers Durham Constabulary

Durham County Council

Durham University

HM Prison Durham

National Savings and Investments, Durham Office

NHS (See Table 8 for further details)

Passport Office Durham

Schools (state and private) (See below)

A1 Shops (indoor market, food shops, clothing shops, and other types of shops 
including hairdressers, travel and ticket agencies, post office, sandwich bars, dry
cleaners)

A2 Financial and professional services (e.g. banks, building societies, solicitors, 
accountants, estate agents, dentists, pharmacies)

A3 Restaurants and cafés

A4 Drinking establishments

A5 Hot food takeaways

B1 Business - Offices

C1 Hotels (Garden House Inn, Framwellgate Peth; Hotel Indigo, New Elvet; 
Premier Inn, Freemans Place; Kingslodge Inn, Waddington Street; Bridge Inn, 
North Road; Radisson Blu Hotel, Frankland Lane; Royal County Hotel, Old 
Elvet; Travelodge Durham, Station Lane)

C2 Residential institutions (including residential care homes, nursing homes) 
(See Table 8 for further details)

D1 Non-residential institutions (including places of worship, law courts) (See 
Table 8 for further details)

D2 Assembly and leisure

Sui Generis (including betting offices/shops, nightclubs)

Educational 
Establishments

Bow School, Quarryheads Lane (private, primary; Prep provision of Durham 
School)

The Chorister School, The College (private, primary and secondary)

Durham High School for Girls, South Road (private, primary and secondary)

Durham Johnston Comprehensive School, Newcastle Road (secondary)

Durham School, Quarryheads Lane (Private, secondary)

Durham Sixth Form Centre, Providence Row

Durham Trinity School and Sports College (part inside Our Neighbourhood) 
(special school, primary, secondary)

Durham University

East Durham College, Houghall Campus

Kids First, Old Dryburn Way (Nursery)

© City of Durham Parish Council, 2021 168

Page 354



Durham City Neighbourhood Plan

Nevilles Cross Primary School, Relly Path

St Leonard’s Catholic School, North End (secondary)

St Margaret's Church of England Primary School, The Peth

St. Oswald’s Church of England Primary and Nursery School, Church Street

Stepping Stones Nursery, St. Margaret’s Garth, Crossgate

Yellow Wellies, North Road (pre-school)

D.1 Online maps are available covering some of the assets in the above tables, e.g. 

Environment Agency. Flood map for planning. https://flood-map-for-
planning.service.gov.uk/

Historic England. National Heritage List for England. Map search. 
https://historicengland.org.uk/listing/the-list/map-search

Historic sites in Durham from MAgic. http://bit.ly/2uTEq7X 

Natural England. MAgic. http://www.natureonthemap.naturalengland.org.uk/

Ordnance Survey. https://osmaps.ordnancesurvey.co.uk/ 

Durham County Council. Maps. http://www.durham.gov.uk/maps; relevant maps given 
below

 Durham County Council. Allotments. http://www.durham.gov.uk/allotments

 Durham County Council. Cemeteries. 
http://www.durham.gov.uk/article/2229/Cemeteries

 Durham County Council. Conservation areas. 
http://www.durham.gov.uk/conservationareas

 Durham County Council. Definitive Public Rights of Way map. 
http://www.durham.gov.uk/definitivemap

 Durham County Council. Schools. (see individual school pages for maps) 
http://www.durham.gov.uk/schools

 Durham County Council. Street Lights 
https://maps.durham.gov.uk/OLBasic2/Index.aspx?appid=64

 Durham County Council. Tree Preservation Orders map. 
http://www.durham.gov.uk/article/3914/Protected-trees

© City of Durham Parish Council, 2021 169

Page 355



Durham City Neighbourhood Plan

Durham Landscape. Maps. http://www.durhamlandscape.info/article/10014/Maps 
Relevant maps given below

 Durham Landscape. County Character Areas map. 
http://www.durhamlandscape.info/article/10431?Layer=1

 Durham Landscape. Wear Lowlands Local Landscape Types Map. 
http://www.durhamlandscape.info/article/10431?Layer=52

 Durham Landscape. Areas of High Landscape Value Map. 
http://www.durhamlandscape.info/article/10431?Layer=13

 Durham Landscape. Conservation Areas Map. 
http://www.durhamlandscape.info/article/10431?Layer=14

 Durham Landscape. World Heritage Site Map. 
http://www.durhamlandscape.info/article/10431?Layer=12

 Durham Landscape. Conservation and Improvement Priority Areas Map. 
http://www.durhamlandscape.info/article/10431?Layer=6

 Durham Landscape. Spatial Strategy Map. 
http://www.durhamlandscape.info/article/10431?Layer=5 

 Durham Landscape. Woodland Strategy Priority Map. 
http://www.durhamlandscape.info/article/10431?Layer=7

 Durham Landscape. Native Woodland Zone Map. 
http://www.durhamlandscape.info/article/10431?Layer=9
Native woodland types, classified using the National Vegetation Classification 
System (NVC), found in Our Neighbourhood comprise: Lowland Oak Woodland 
(W10); Lowland Oak Birch Woodland (W16); Alder Carr Woodland (W5); Valley 
Fen Alder Woodland (W6);  Alder Ash Woodland (W7)

 Durham Landscape. Woodland Sensitivity Map. 
http://www.durhamlandscape.info/article/10431?Layer=8

County Durham Plan Submission Policies Map. 
http://maps.durham.gov.uk/localplan/default.aspx

Transport Context and Facilities

D.2 Many of the transport characteristics of Our Neighbourhood stem from the constraints 
posed by the River Wear as it cuts through the landscape, and by the hilly terrain which 
has necessitated various engineering solutions to ease transport by road and rail. While 
modern footbridges such as Pennyferry Bridge, Kingsgate Bridge, Baths Bridge and 

© City of Durham Parish Council, 2021 170

Page 356



Durham City Neighbourhood Plan

Maiden Castle Bridge help to connect neighbourhoods, the transport network is largely 
limited and defined by the flood-plains and bridges of the River Wear, and the historic 
approaches to the City. The A167 bypasses Durham City centre on the west (though this 
road now passes through built up areas) and the A1(M) passes Durham beyond the 
eastern boundary of Our Neighbourhood. The east-west route through the City is the 
A690. Some routes, such as those to the west and south-east via Crossgate Peth and 
Shincliffe Peth are still constrained to an extent by the cuttings created to ease the 
passage of vehicles over the hills of the outer bowl in which the City is set.

D.3 The Durham City Traffic Survey 2015 (JACOBS, 2016) found that around 33% of 
vehicular traffic trips passed through Durham City and 47,000 vehicles cross Milburngate 
bridge every day; only 5% of vehicular trips were made wholly within the City centre. Most 
of the traffic is to and from locations within County Durham but there were also journeys to
and from Sunderland, Newcastle and Gateshead. Using 2011 Census travel to work data 
(Office for National Statistics, 2011; collated via DataShine Commute) we can total 
commuting journeys originating in the area and those starting outside with the work 
destination being in the area to get a picture of travel patterns. The majority of journeys 
are by car (77%), with 11% on foot, 10% by bus, 1% by bicycle and 1% by train. If we look
just at journeys to work which both start and end in the area, 60% are on foot, 32% by car,
4% by bus and 4% by bicycle.

                                                                       

D.5 Data from the University annual travel surveys (Durham University, 2013a,b, 2014) 
provide a useful picture of trends, as well as information on the potential for changing 
travel mode and the barriers to doing so. From the latest figures we were given for the 
Durham campus, staff travel to the University in 2014 was 76% by car, 9% on foot, 9% by 
bus, 4% by bicycle and 2% by train. Student travel in 2013 was 82% on foot, 5% by car, 
6% by bus, 5% by bicycle, 2% by train. The Review of Durham University's Sustainable 
Travel Plan Targets 2008-2016 (Durham University, 2017b) shows small fluctuations in 
modal share over the period but no discernible long-term shift.

© City of Durham Parish Council, 2021 171

D.4 The chart is coloured to show 
work journeys to the area, within, and 
starting from the area, and 
demonstrates the importance of the 
area for employment, as far more 
people travel into Our Neighbourhood
to work than live here and travel 
elsewhere. The chart also shows the 
modal share, as summarised above in
paragraph D.3.

Page 357



Durham City Neighbourhood Plan

D.6 Our Neighbourhood is quite compact, which makes it a walkable environment. Most of
the built-up area can be reached in 30 minutes from the market place, and there is an 
extensive network of footpaths sometimes providing short-cuts by comparison with 
footways alongside roads. On the other hand, the steeper routes and steps can be difficult
to negotiate for those with mobility issues, and there are many deficiencies such as 
narrow, badly-lit or poorly maintained routes, making walking less attractive. Some 
pavements are heavily congested during the University terms. Severance of pedestrian 
routes by the A690 and other major roads is also an issue, but walking is very much 
encouraged in the historic core of the City, with pedestrian areas on Silver Street and 
Elvet Bridge, and the congestion charge limiting vehicular access to Saddler Street and 
the rest of the peninsula.

D.7 Most of the built-up area of Our Neighbourhood can be reached from the Market 
Place by bicycle in 15 to 20 minutes. There is little dedicated provision for cycling aside 
from a few routes sharing pedestrian footways. The Durham City Sustainable Transport 
Delivery Plan (Durham County Council, 2018b, p.22) notes that cycling levels in Durham 
City are low for a compact university town. Durham University (2013a) 2013 staff travel 
survey asked respondents what would encourage them to cycle to work: 54% said nothing
would encourage them to cycle, but 22% could be encouraged with cycleway 
improvements or traffic-free routes.

D.8 As part of the preparation of the Neighbourhood Plan, the concerns of local people 
regarding the walking and cycling environments were gathered through two consultation 
events. The findings were used as the basis for two maps, which were included in the 
Consultation Draft. These have been refined following the Regulation 14 consultation and 
are included here as Maps 8 and 9. The maps represent a snapshot of the situation at the 
time of publication. Full background information is available in the Walking and Cycling 
Evidence Paper (Durham City Neighbourhood Plan Working Party, 2019b). See paragraph
4.249 for how the evidence is to be used in support of Policy T1.

© City of Durham Parish Council, 2021 172

Page 358



Durham City Neighbourhood Plan

Map 8: Pedestrian Issues 

© City of Durham Parish Council, 2021 173

Page 359



Durham City Neighbourhood Plan

Map 9: Cycling Issues 

© City of Durham Parish Council, 2021 174

Page 360



Durham City Neighbourhood Plan

D.9 Bus routes from Durham reach all the main towns in the county and adjoining centres 
although many are infrequent and limited to daytime only. Although there are some 
express services, most call at a number of villages on the way and so commuting to or 
from places such as Sunderland and Middlesbrough is generally much faster by car. 
Buses from central Durham serve most of the employment and education sites around the
City, but the lack of through services means that commuting by bus is less attractive, and 
the timekeeping can be affected by peak time traffic congestion as there are few bus 
priority measures. There are two main bus companies but no interoperability of tickets. 

D.10 Durham railway station had over 2.5 million entries and exits in 2015/16 (Office of 
Rail and Road, 2016) and a 2012 study found that 45% of journeys were between Durham
and Newcastle (Durham County Council, 2015b, p.52). Journeys by train can be made 
throughout the UK, but locally only Newcastle and Darlington are well-served owing to the 
closure of most railway lines in the county. Other major destinations such as Sunderland, 
Stockton and Middlesbrough are much easier to reach by road than by rail, as is the 
airport at Durham/Tees Valley. Newcastle Airport is readily accessible from central Durham
by using the train and Metro. Reopening the Leamside line is an aspiration which would 
increase the local journey opportunities.

D.11 The Durham Sustainable Transport Plan Issues and Opportunities Report (Durham 
County Council, 2015b) found that the cost of car parking in Our Neighbourhood is 
comparatively cheaper than other small historic cities in England. There were 1,700 off-
street spaces, 70% of which are privately owned: Prince Bishops with 400 spaces, the 
Gates with 204 spaces, Walkergate 500 spaces and the railway station 358 spaces. The 
council controlled off-street provision amounts to 262 spaces (Durham County Council. 
Durham City car parks), and in addition there is controlled parking on many residential 
streets. Car parking is also found at the large employers in the City: County Hall has 900 
free spaces; University Hospital has 245 spaces which are charged; New College has 850
free spaces (outside Our Neighbourhood); the Arnison retail centre (outside Our 
Neighbourhood) has 1,400 free spaces; Durham University has 2,600 spaces which are 
free but require a permit; Aykley Heads has 280 spaces and charges £2.00 per day and 
the Riverside centre has 170 free spaces. The recently developed Passport Office and 
National Savings Office deliberately have no spaces for employees.

D.12 Park and Ride facilities have been developed on the northern, western and southern 
approaches to the City centre and operate Monday to Saturday from 7.00 am to 7.00 pm, 
but currently require subsidy from the County Council. In 2015 they catered for 1.1 million 
passengers with 1157 spaces (Durham County Council, 2015b, p.50). There is no 
provision for coach parking in Durham City following the recent development of the Sands 
for the new County Hall offices. Coaches now park adjacent to the Belmont Park and Ride
car park which is out of Our Neighbourhood. There are 5 taxi ranks (in North Road, the 
Railway station, Claypath slip road to Leazes Road, and slip road by Prince Bishops car 
park) and 2 car clubs.

© City of Durham Parish Council, 2021 175

Page 361



Durham City Neighbourhood Plan

THE REST OF THIS PAGE IS DELIBERATELY LEFT BLANK

© City of Durham Parish Council, 2021 176

Page 362



Durham City. Neighbourhood Plan

REFERENCES TO EVIDENCE BASE 

All sites accessed September 2019, except for a few amended in accordance with the 
Examiner's modifications

References Cited

AECOM (2016) Durham County Council air quality action plan for Durham City. 
http://www.durham.gov.uk/media/10257/Air-Quality-Action-Plan-for-Durham-City/pdf/
Air_Quality_Action_Plan_for_Durham_City.pdf

AECOM (2018) Durham County Council. Level 1 Strategic Flood Risk Assessment. Final 
Report. 2018. http://durhamcc-consult.limehouse.co.uk/file/4958652

AECOM (2019) Sustainability Appraisal (SA) for the Durham City Neighbourhood Plan. SA
Report to accompany the Submission version of the Neighbourhood Plan. City of Durham 
Parish Council. October 2019. http://npf.durhamcity.org.uk/the-plan/sustainability-
appraisal

Arts Council England (2014) The value of arts and culture to people and society. an 
evidence review. 2nd edn. Arts Council England. 
http://www.artscouncil.org.uk/sites/default/files/download-file/Value_arts_culture_evidence
_review.pdf

Arts Council England (2015) Blog post. Feeling good. Posted by Richard Russell on 06 
November 2015. https://www.artscouncil.org.uk/blog/feeling-good-0

Birkbeck, D. and Kruczkowski, S. (2015) Building for life 12. The sign of a good place to 
live. 3rd edition. Nottingham Trent University: CADBE for the Building for Life Partnership  
http://www.designcouncil.org.uk/sites/default/files/asset/document/Building%20for%20Life
%2012_0.pdf

Blue Sail Consulting Ltd (2017) Durham Riverbanks development & management 
strategy. Report for Durham County Council. August 2017

BRE https://www.bre.co.uk/

Burton, T. (2020) Durham City Neighbourhood Plan 2020-2035. Report to Durham County
Council of the Independent Examination. July 2020. http://npf.durhamcity.org.uk/wp-
content/uploads/2020/08/Durham-Neighbourhood-Plan-Examiners-Report.pdf [Accessed 
September 2020]

CABE Space (2007). It’s our space. A guide for community groups working to improve 
public space. https://www.designcouncil.org.uk/sites/default/files/asset/document/its-our-
space.pdf

© City of Durham Parish Council, 2021 177

Page 363



Durham City. Neighbourhood Plan

Care Quality Commission. http://www.cqc.org.uk/

CBRE (2018) Retail and town centre study. Durham County Council. http://durhamcc-
consult.limehouse.co.uk/file/4957347

Charter for Trees, Woods and People. https://treecharter.uk/

Chartered Institution of Highways & Transportation (2010) Manual for Streets 2. 
https://www.google.com/url?
sa=t&rct=j&q=&esrc=s&source=web&cd=1&cad=rja&uact=8&ved=2ahUKEwjiy8uA7uvkAh
VIdcAKHVZPAGsQFjAAegQIARAC&url=https%3A%2F%2Ftsrgd.co.uk%2Fpdf%2Fmfs
%2Fmfs2.pdf&usg=AOvVaw0CHeUyBvlpf1u5tVX70-De

Chartered Institution of Highways & Transportation (2018) Response to the Cycling and 
Walking Investment Strategy Review. 
https://www.ciht.org.uk/media/4819/2018_06_01_ciht_response_to_cwis_safety_review_1
2.pdf

City of Durham Council (2004) City of Durham local plan. Durham: City of Durham 
Council. 
http://www.durham.gov.uk/media/9160/Durham-City-local-plan/pdf/DurhamCityLocalPlan.p
df and https://www.durham.gov.uk/article/7215/Durham-City-Local-Plan and maps 
https://www.durham.gov.uk/media/8838/Durham-City-local-plan-map-2/pdf/
Durham_CityMap2.pdf?m=636736392122500000 and 
https://www.durham.gov.uk/media/8839/Durham-City-local-plan-map-3/pdf/
Durham_CityMap3.pdf?m=636736392128270000

City of Durham Parish Council (2019a) Durham City Neighbourhood Plan. Basic 
Conditions Statement. September 2019. http://npf.durhamcity.org.uk/the-plan/statements/

City of Durham Parish Council (2019b) Durham City Neighbourhood Plan. Consultation 
Statement. September 2019. http://npf.durhamcity.org.uk/the-plan/statements/

City of Durham Parish Council (2019c) Results of the Durham City Neighbourhood Plan 
Pre-submission Draft consultation May to July 2019. http://npf.durhamcity.org.uk/your-
views/2019-consultation/ 

City of Durham Parish Council (2020) Evidence Base note on the process through which 
Durham City Neighbourhood Plan’s housing sites were identified. 
http://npf.durhamcity.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2020/09/Evidence-Base-Note-Housing-
Site-Selections.pdf [Accessed September 2020]

County Durham Cultural Education Partnership. 
http://culturedurham.org.uk/about-us/county-durham-cultural-education-partnership/

County Durham Partnership. http://www.countydurhampartnership.co.uk/

© City of Durham Parish Council, 2021 178

Page 364



Durham City. Neighbourhood Plan

County Durham Partnership (2014). Altogether better. The Sustainable Community 
Strategy for County Durham 2014-2030. 
http://www.countydurhampartnership.co.uk/media/12760/Sustainable-Community-
Strategy-2014---2030/pdf/SCS2014.pdf

County Durham Environment Partnership (2015a) County Durham Climate Change 
Delivery Plan. July 2015. 
http://www.countydurhampartnership.co.uk/media/12894/Climate-Change-Delivery-Plan/
pdf/DurhamClimateChangeDeliveryPlan.pdf

County Durham Environment Partnership (2015b) County Durham Climate Change 
Strategy. July 2015. https://democracy.durham.gov.uk/documents/s52773/15%20Climate
%20Change%20Strategy.pdf

DataShine Commute. http://commute.datashine.org.uk

Department for Communities and Local Government. 
1 National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) February 2019 edition 
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/national-planning-policy-framework--2 
2 Planning Practice Guidance (PPG) current at time of writing (October 2019) this 
Neighbourhood Plan https://www.gov.uk/government/collections/planning-practice-
guidance 

Department for Communities and Local Government (nd) Planning Policy Guidance 17: 
Planning for open space, sport and recreation. 
Note: This guidance has been withdrawn with the production of NPPF and not yet 
replaced. However The NPPF PPG does make reference to the principles and ideology 
covered in PPG17. It is therefore still used by Councils undertaking open needs space 
assessments.

Department for Communities and Local Government. OpenDataCommunities. Indices of 
deprivation 2015 explorer. http://dclgapps.communities.gov.uk/imd/idmap.html

Department for Communities and Local Government (2015) Technical housing standards 
– nationally described space standard. 
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/
524531/160519_Nationally_Described_Space_Standard____Final_Web_version.pdf

Department for Communities and Local Government (2017) Fixing our broken housing 
market. Cm 9352. February 2017. 
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/590464/
Fixing_our_broken_housing_market_-_print_ready_version.pdf

© City of Durham Parish Council, 2021 179

Page 365



Durham City. Neighbourhood Plan

Department for Culture, Media and Sport (2007) Heritage Protection for the 21st Century, 
Cm 7057. https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/
78116/hrp_whitepaper_doc1.pdf

Department for Culture, Media and Sport (2016) The Culture White Paper. Cm 9218. 
March 20176. 
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/culture-white-paper

Department for Environment, Food and Rural Affairs (2011) Biodiversity 2020: A strategy 
for England’s wildlife and ecosystem services. 
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/69446/
pb13583-biodiversity-strategy-2020-111111.pdf

Department for Environment, Food and Rural Affairs and Department for Transport 
(2017a). Clean Air Zone Framework. Principles for setting up Clean Air Zones in England. 
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/air-quality-clean-air-zone-framework-for-
england 

Department for Environment, Food and Rural Affairs and Department for Transport 
(2017b). Improving air quality in the UK: tackling nitrogen dioxide in our towns and cities. 
Draft UK Air Quality Plan for tackling nitrogen dioxide. May 2017. 
https://consult.defra.gov.uk/airquality/air-quality-plan-for-tackling-nitrogen-dioxide/
supporting_documents/Draft%20Revised%20AQ%20Plan.pdf

Department for Transport (2005) Inclusive mobility. Guidance. 15 December 2005. 
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/3695/
inclusive-mobility.pdf

Department for Transport (2007a) Guidance on Transport Assessment. 
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/
attachment_data/file/263054/guidance-transport-assessment.pdf

Department for Transport (2007b) Manual for streets. 
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/341513/
pdfmanforstreets.pdf

Department for Transport (2008) Cycle infrastructure design. Local Transport Note 2/08. 
October 2008. https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/
file/329150/ltn-2-08_Cycle_infrastructure_design.pdf

Department for Transport (2016) National Travel Survey Statistics. 8 September 2016. 
https://www.gov.uk/government/collections/national-travel-survey-statistics

Department for Transport (2017) Cycling and Walking Investment Strategy. 
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/603527/
cycling-walking-investment-strategy.pdf

© City of Durham Parish Council, 2021 180

Page 366



Durham City. Neighbourhood Plan

Department for Transport (2018) Walking and cycling statistics. 30 August 2018. CW0302:
Proportion of adults that cycle, by frequency, purpose and local authority. Downloaded 
from https://www.gov.uk/government/statistical-data-sets/walking-and-cycling-statistics-cw

Design Council and Cabe (2016) Design in neighbourhood planning. Written on behalf of 
Locality. https://neighbourhoodplanning.org/wp-content/uploads/Design-in-
Neighbourhood-Planning_FINAL220216-1.pdf

Durham City Neighbourhood Plan Working Party (2019a) Looking Forwards - Durham as 
a Creative and Sustainable City. http://npf.durhamcity.org.uk/the-plan/looking-forwards

Durham City Neighbourhood Plan Working Party (2019b) Walking and cycling evidence 
paper. 31 March 2019. http://npf.durhamcity.org.uk/your-views/priorities/

Durham City Neighbourhood Planning Forum, Large student residences. 
http://npf.durhamcity.org.uk/themes/housing/large-student-residences/

Durham City Neighbourhood Planning Forum (2015) The public’s views. Results of survey
of priorities. 
http://npf.durhamcity.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2017/01/PrioritySurveyResults.pdf

Durham City Neighbourhood Planning Forum (2016a) What you think of Durham City 
Centre - now and in the future? Young people’s views on Durham City. 
http://npf.durhamcity.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2016/09/NPF-Young-Peoples-
consultation-report-2016-PDF.pdf

Durham City Neighbourhood Planning Forum (2016b) Survey of Businesses in Durham 
City. 
http://npf.durhamcity.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2017/02/EconomicSurveyResponses.pdf

Durham City Neighbourhood Planning Forum (2016c) Consultation on improvements to 
the walking environment. 
http://npf.durhamcity.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2016/11/PedestrianConsultation.pdf

Durham City Neighbourhood Planning Forum (2017a) Durham City Neighbourhood Plan 
Scoping Report for the Sustainability Appraisal/Strategic Environmental Assessment, 
October 2017. Ratified by the City of Durham Parish Council, October 2018. 
http://npf.durhamcity.org.uk/the-plan/sustainability-appraisal/

Durham City Neighbourhood Planning Forum (2017b) Results of public consultations on 
art and culture in Our Neighbourhood. 
http://npf.durhamcity.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2017/01/ArtSurveysResponses.pdf

© City of Durham Parish Council, 2021 181

Page 367



Durham City. Neighbourhood Plan

Durham City Neighbourhood Planning Forum (2017c) Results of the Durham City 
Neighbourhood Plan Pre-submission Draft consultation November to December 2017. 
http://npf.durhamcity.org.uk/your-views/2017consultation/ 

Durham City Neighbourhood Planning Forum (2017d) Strategic Environmental 
Assessment and Habitat Regulations Assessment Screening Report, April 2017. Ratified 
by the City of Durham Parish Council, October 2018. http://npf.durhamcity.org.uk/the-
plan/sustainability-appraisal/

Durham City Neighbourhood Planning Forum (2018) Assessment of open spaces in Our 
Neighbourhood. http://npf.durhamcity.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2020/09/Open-Spaces-
Assessment-Final.pdf [Accessed September 2020]

Durham County Council. Air quality. http://www.durham.gov.uk/airquality

Durham County Council. Air Quality Management Area (Durham City) (No.2) Order 2014. 
http://www.durham.gov.uk/media/5629/Durham-City-Air-Quality-Management-Area-
AQMA-2014-Order/pdf/DurhamCityAirQualityManagemen_Area2014Order.pdf

Durham County Council. Arts and culture. https://www.durham.gov.uk/article/1936/Arts-
and-culture

Durham County Council. Cycling. http://www.durham.gov.uk/cycling

Durham County Council. Definitive Public Rights of Way map. 
http://www.durham.gov.uk/definitivemap

Durham County Council. Durham City car parks. 
http://www.durham.gov.uk/article/3486/Durham-City-car-parks

Durham County Council. Historic Environment Record. 
https://www.durham.gov.uk/article/2012/Historic-Environment-Record

Durham County Council. Managing the county's flood risk. 
http://www.durham.gov.uk/article/1951/Managing-the-countys-flood-risk

Durham County Council. Maps. http://www.durham.gov.uk/maps

Durham County Council. Street Lights https://maps.durham.gov.uk/OLBasic2/Index.aspx?
appid=64 [Accessed September 2020]

Durham County Council. The Durham Record. http://www.durham.gov.uk/durhamrecord

Durham County Council. Tree Preservation Orders map. 
http://www.durham.gov.uk/article/3914/Protected-trees

© City of Durham Parish Council, 2021 182

Page 368



Durham City. Neighbourhood Plan

Durham County Council (2008a). The County Durham Landscape character assessment. 
http://www.durhamlandscape.info/article/10009/County-Durham-Landscape-Character

Durham County Council (2008b). County Durham Landscape Strategy. 
http://www.durhamlandscape.info/article/10010/County-Durham-Landscape-Strategy

Durham County Council (2009a) County Durham Core Evidence Base. Technical Paper 
No. 12. Biodiversity & Geodiversity. http://www.durham.gov.uk/media/3360/Technical-
paper-No12---Biodiversity-and-geodiversity/pdf/Te

Durham County Council (2011a) A Five Year Playing Pitch Strategy for County Durham. 
Final Report December 2011. http://durhamcc-consult.limehouse.co.uk/file/2896810

Durham County Council (2011b) Local Transport Plan 3: Transport Strategy. 
http://www.durham.gov.uk/media/3031/LTP3---Transport-Strategy/pdf/
LTP3TransportStrategy.pdf 

Durham County Council (2012ab) County Durham Playing Pitch Strategy. Durham City 
Area Action Partnership Profile. Draft 5 January 2012. http://durhamcc-
consult.limehouse.co.uk/file/2896805

Durham County Council (2014) Durham City Regeneration Masterplan. “World class on 
every level: A regeneration masterplan for Durham City”. March 2014 
https://democracy.durham.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=154&MId=6807&Ver=4

Durham County Council (2015a) City of Durham Local Plan. Consistency assessment of 
saved policies with national planning policy framework and guidance. 

Durham County Council (2015b) Durham Sustainable Transport Plan. Issues and 
opportunities report. Final Report. 04/11/2015. 
http://durhamcc-consult.limehouse.co.uk/file/4008741

Durham County Council (2015c) Report of the Director of Public Health County Durham 
2015. http://www.durham.gov.uk/media/10077/Obesity-an-issue-too-big-to-ignore-or-too-
big-to-mention---Report-of-the-Director-of-Public-Health-County-Durham-2015/pdf/
PublicHealthAnnualReport2015.pdf

Durham County Council (2015d) Rights of way improvement plan for County Durham 
2015-2018. Durham: Durham County Council. 
http://www.durham.gov.uk/media/8367/Rights-of-Way-Improvement-Plan/pdf/
RightsOfWayImprovementPlan.pdf

Durham County Council (2016a) Article 4 Direction
http://democracy.durham.gov.uk/documents/s52768/FiNAL%20Consideration%20of
%20an%20Article%204%20Direction.pdf

© City of Durham Parish Council, 2021 183

Page 369



Durham City. Neighbourhood Plan

Durham County Council (2016b) Durham City Conservation Area Appraisal. 
http://www.durham.gov.uk/DurhamCityCA

Durham County Council (2016c) Durham City Masterplan update. October 2016. 

Durham County Council (2016d) Interim student accommodation policy. 
https://www.durham.gov.uk/media/10613/Interim-Policy-on-Student-Accommodation/pdf/
Interim_Policy_on_Student_Accommodation.pdf?m=636634548948500000

Durham County Council (2016e) Preliminary Flood Risk Assessment (PFRA) Report. 4 
May 2016. https://www.durham.gov.uk/media/9944/Preliminary-Flood-Risk-Assessment-
2016/pdf/PreliminaryFloodRisk_AssessmentReport2016.pdf  

Durham County Council (2016f) Service plan. Neighbourhood services. 2016-2019. 
http://www.durham.gov.uk/media/1089/Neighbourhood-Services-service-plan-2016-2019/
pdf/NeighbourhoodsPlan2016-2019.pdf

Durham County Council (2017) Planning Validation Requirements. 
https://www.durham.gov.uk/media/3760/Planning-Application-Validation-Checklist/pdf/
PlanningApplicationValidationChecklist.pdf

Durham County Council (2018a) Durham City Sustainable Transport Delivery Plan 2019-
2035. https://www.durham.gov.uk/media/26914/Durham-Sustainable-Transport-Delivery-
Plan-2019-2035/pdf/DurhamSustainableTransportDeliveryPlan20192035.pdf

The Durham County Council (2018b) Durham Strategic Green Infrastructure Framework. 
https://durhamcounty.maps.arcgis.com/apps/MapSeries/index.html?
appid=ae716b02c54a46b0a0113448721caa64

Durham County Council (2018c). Open Space Needs Assessment 2018. Part 1 of 2: Main 
Report. http://durhamcc-consult.limehouse.co.uk/file/4957343

Durham County Council (2018d) SHLAA 2018. Strategic Housing Land Availability 
Assessment Report. http://durhamcc-consult.limehouse.co.uk/file/4957367

Durham County Council (2018e) Strategic Housing Land Availability Assessment. 
Individual Sites Assessments. http://durhamcc-consult.limehouse.co.uk/file/4979182

Durham County Council (2019a). County Durham Plan. County Durham Building for Life 
Supplementary Planning Document. 2019 (Adopted Version). http://durhamcc-
consult.limehouse.co.uk/file/5424695 [Accessed September 2020]

Durham County Council County (2019b) County Durham Plan. County Durham 
Landscape Value Assessment 2019 http://durhamcc-consult.limehouse.co.uk/file/5244971

© City of Durham Parish Council, 2021 184

Page 370



Durham City. Neighbourhood Plan

Durham County Council (2019c) County Durham Plan. Local Landscape Designations 
Review 2019. http://durhamcc-consult.limehouse.co.uk/file/5244158

Durham County Council (2019d) County Durham Parking and Accessibility Standards 
2019. https://www.durham.gov.uk/media/26916/County-Durham-Parking-and-Accessibility-
Standards-2019/pdf/CountyDurhamParkingAndAccessibilityStandards2019.pdf?
m=636839346853430000

Durham County Council (2019e) County Durham Strategic Housing Market Assessment 
2018. Report of Findings. January 2019

Durham County Council (2019f) Strategic Cycling and Walking Delivery Plan 2019-2029. 
Action Plan 2019 - 2024. 
https://www.durham.gov.uk/media/27052/Action-Plan/pdf/SCWDP-ActionPlan.pdf?
m=636869552466000000

Durham County Council, Neighbourhood Services (2014) Street lighting installations for 
lighting on new residential roads and industrial estates. Street lighting Specification. 
https://www.durham.gov.uk/streetlights

Durham County Council, Planning Services Regeneration and Economic Development 
(2016) Assessing Development Proposals in County Durham: Revised - March 2016. 
Council Policy Position Statement. 
https://democracy.durham.gov.uk/documents/s60831/Item%204%20a.pdf

Durham County Council, Regeneration and Local Services (2016) Street Lighting Policy. 
https://www.durham.gov.uk/streetlights

Durham County Council, Regeneration and Local Services, Technical Services (2016) 
Local Flood Risk Management Strategy 2016-2020. 
http://www.durham.gov.uk/media/20637/Local-Flood-Risk-Management-Strategy/pdf/
LocalFloodRiskManagementStrategy.pdf

Durham Landscape. Maps. http://www.durhamlandscape.info/article/10014/Maps

Durham Miners Association. https://redhillsdurham.org/

Durham Miners Association. The Redhills Appeal. https://redhillsdurham.org/REDHILLS-
brochure.pdf

Durham Student's Union (2018a) Accommodation Fees. Student Proposal for Freeze. 
https://www.durhamsu.com/resources/accommodation-fees-june-2018/download_attachm
ent 

© City of Durham Parish Council, 2021 185

Page 371



Durham City. Neighbourhood Plan

Durham Student's Union (2018b) Letter to prospective Durham University students and 
their parents, from the President of Durham Students’ Union and concerned student 
leaders. http://bit.ly/DUcollegecosts

Durham University. Biodiversity Policy. 
https://www.dur.ac.uk/greenspace/policies/biodiversitypolicy/

Durham University, Student Registry, Online Statistics, Student Statistics. 
https://www.dur.ac.uk/student.registry/statistics/

Durham University (2013a) Green Travel Plan Survey 2013. Staff Report. July 2013.

Durham University (2013b) Student Green Travel Plan Survey Report. July 2013.

Durham University (2014) Results from the Staff Mode of Travel Survey 2014.

Durham University (2016) Estate Masterplan 2017-2027. Executive summary. 
https://www.dur.ac.uk/about/strategy/masterplan/

Durham University (2017a) Durham University Strategy 2017-2027. 
https://www.dur.ac.uk/resources/strategy2027/DurhamUniversityStrategy2017-
2027Summary.pdf

Durham University (2017b) Review of Durham University's Sustainable Travel Plan 
Targets 2008 - 2016. Updated 11th May 2017.

Durham University, Geography Department (2015) Durham University Undergraduate 
Accommodation - A participatory report to the Durham University Residents Forum to 
explore the criteria used by Durham University Undergraduate students when choosing 
their preferred accommodation, December 2015. (unpublished)

Durham World Heritage Site (2017) Durham Castle and Cathedral World Heritage Site 
Management Plan 2017 - 2023. https://www.durhamworldheritagesite.com/files/Durham
%20WHS%20Management%20Plan%202017.pdf 

Environment Agency. Flood map for planning. https://flood-map-for-
planning.service.gov.uk/

Environment Agency (2016) Water for life and livelihoods. Part 1: Northumbria river basin 
district. River basin management plan. Updated: December 2015. And associated 
documents. https://www.gov.uk/government/collections/river-basin-management-plans-
2015#northumbria-river-basin-district-rbmp:-2015

European Union (2001) Directive 2001/42/EC of the European Parliament and of the 
Council of 27 June 2001 on the assessment of the effects of certain plans and 
programmes on the environment. http://data.europa.eu/eli/dir/2001/42/oj 

© City of Durham Parish Council, 2021 186

Page 372



Durham City. Neighbourhood Plan

Foundation for Integrated Transport (2018) Transport for New Homes Project Summary 
and Recommendations. July 2018. 
http://www.transportfornewhomes.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2018/07/transport-for-new-
homes-summary-web.pdf

Friends of Durham Green Belt. http://www.durhamgreenbelt.org.uk/

Friends of Flass Vale. http://fofv.org.uk/

Friends of Pelaw Wood http://www.pelaw-wood.org.uk/ 

Grimsey B et al (2018) The Grimsey Review 2. (2018) 
http://www.vanishinghighstreet.com/wp-content/uploads/2018/07/GrimseyReview2.pdf

Highways England (2016) Interim advice note 195/16. Cycle traffic and the strategic road 
network. http://www.standardsforhighways.co.uk/ha/standards/ians/pdfs/ian195.pdf  

Historic England. https://www.historicengland.org.uk/

Historic England. Conservation principles, policies and guidance. 
https://historicengland.org.uk/advice/constructive-conservation/conservation-principles/

Historic England. Heritage at Risk Register. https://historicengland.org.uk/advice/heritage-
at-risk/search-register/

Historic England, Identification and Designation of Heritage Assets. 
https://historicengland.org.uk/advice/hpg/has/

Historic England. National Heritage List for England. 
https://historicengland.org.uk/listing/the-list/

Historic England (2008). Conservation principles, policies and guidance for the 
sustainable management of the historic environment. 
https://content.historicengland.org.uk/images-books/publications/conservation-principles-
sustainable-management-historic-environment/
conservationprinciplespoliciesguidanceapr08web.pdf/

Horti, S (2016) RESI: Government considers penalising developers for landbanking. 
Property Week, 16 September 2016. http://www.propertyweek.com/news/resi-
government-considers-penalising-developers-for-landbanking/5085115.article

Ipsos MORI and RIBA (2012) The way we live now: What people need and expect from 
their homes. https://www.ipsos.com/sites/default/files/publication/1970-01/sri-riba-the-way-
we-live-now-may-2012.pdf

© City of Durham Parish Council, 2021 187

Page 373



Durham City. Neighbourhood Plan

JACOBS (2016) Durham City Model Rebase. Durham County Council. Review of 2015 
Traffic Data & Key Trends Analysis. 

Keys to the Past. http://www.keystothepast.info/article/8749/KeysToThePast-Home-Page

Locality (2016) Community Hubs. How to set up, run and sustain a community hub to 
transform local service provision. Presentation. 
https://mycommunity.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2016/10/Community-Hubs-FINAL.pdf

Natural Capital Committee (2018) Annual Report 2018. 
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/677873/ncc-
annual-report-2018.pdf

Natural England. MAgic. http://www.natureonthemap.naturalengland.org.uk/

Natural England (2009) Green Infrastructure Guidance. NE176. 
http://publications.naturalengland.org.uk/file/94026

North-East Cultural Partnership: Case for Culture. http://www.case4culture.org.uk/

North East Local Enterprise Partnership (2014). More and Better Jobs. A Strategic 
Economic Plan for the North East. 
http://www.nelep.co.uk/wp-content/uploads/2014/11/North-East-Strategic-Economic-Plan-
More-and-Better-Jobs.pdf

Office for National Statistics (2011). 2011 census. 
https://www.ons.gov.uk/census/2011census

Office for National Statistics (2016a) Live tables on household projections. 2014 based. 
https://www.gov.uk/government/statistical-data-sets/live-tables-on-household-
projections#based-live-tables-1

Office for National Statistics (2016b) Population projections for local authorities: Table 2. 
2014 based. 
https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/populationandmigration/
populationprojections/datasets/localauthoritiesinenglandtable2

Office for National Statistics (2018a) Household projections for England: 2016-based. 
https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/populationandmigration/
populationprojections/datasets/householdprojectionsforengland

Office for National Statistics (2018b) Population projections for local authorities: Table 2. 
2016 based. 
https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/populationandmigration/
populationprojections/datasets/localauthoritiesinenglandtable2

© City of Durham Parish Council, 2021 188

Page 374



Durham City. Neighbourhood Plan

Office of Rail and Road (2016) Estimates of station usage 2015-16. 
http://www.orr.gov.uk/statistics/published-stats/station-usage-estimates

Ordnance Survey. OS Open Greenspace. https://www.ordnancesurvey.co.uk/business-
government/products/open-map-greenspace

Propensity to Cycle Tool. http://www.pct.bike/

RIBA (2009) Improving Housing Quality: Unlocking the Market. 

RIBA (2011) The Case for Space: the size of England’s new homes. 

Town and Country Planning Association (2013) Improving culture, arts and sporting 
opportunities through planning. A good practice guide. 
http://www.cloa.org.uk/images/stories/2013-06-18_TCPA_GUIDE_FINAL_DRAFT.pdf

Townsend A (2017) New employment data for the Durham Neighbourhood Plan area 
(npa). With comparison with Durham City as a whole (that is, the City of Durham 
Constituency/former District Council area). With supporting data tables. 
http://npf.durhamcity.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2017/12/AlanTownsendPreSubConsultati
onResponse.pdf
 Durham LFS residents. Annual population survey 
http://npf.durhamcity.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2018/01/AlanTownsendDURHAM-LFS-
RESIDENTS.xls
 Durham LFS residents. Annual population survey - workplace analysis. 
http://npf.durhamcity.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2018/01/AlanTownsendDURHAM-LFS-
BY-WORKPLACE.xlsx
 Annual Business Inquiry employee analysis. Cities totals. 
http://npf.durhamcity.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2018/01/AlanTownsend2CITIESTOTALSp
art-time.xlsx
 Cities sectors. 
http://npf.durhamcity.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2018/01/AlanTownsend2CITIESSECTOR
S.xlsx

Transport Initiatives LLP and Cambridge City Council (2010) Cycle Parking Guide for New
Residential Developments. https://www.cambridge.gov.uk/media/6771/cycle-parking-
guide-for-new-residential-developments.pdf

UK Battlefields Resource Centre (nd) Battle of Neville's Cross 17th October 1346. 
http://www.battlefieldstrust.com/resource-centre/medieval/battleview.asp?BattleFieldId=28

UK Government. Planning portal. 
https://www.planningportal.co.uk/info/200128/building_control

© City of Durham Parish Council, 2021 189

Page 375



Durham City. Neighbourhood Plan

UK Government (2011) The Natural Choice: securing the value of nature. CM 8082. 
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/
228842/8082.pdf

UK Government (2015) Town and Country Planning (Development Management 
Procedure) (England) Order 2015. 
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2015/595/contents/made

UK Government (2016) The Building Regulations 2010. Access to and use of buildings. 
Approved document M. Volume 1: Dwellings. 2015 edition incorporating 2016 
amendments – for use in England. 
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/access-to-and-use-of-buildings-approved-
document-m

UK Government (2017) Building our industrial strategy. Green Paper January 2017. 
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/611705/
building-our-industrial-strategy-green-paper.pdf

UK Parliament (1979) Ancient Monuments and Archaeological Areas Act 1979. 
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1979/46

UK Parliament (1990) Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990. 
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1990/9/contents

UK Parliament (2004) Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004. 
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2004/5/contents

UK Parliament (2011) Localism Act 2011. Schedule 4B. Process for making of 
neighbourhood development orders. 
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2011/20/schedule/10/enacted

UK Parliament (2015) Infrastructure Act 2015. 
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2015/7/pdfs/ukpga_20150007_en.pdf

UK Parliament (2018) House of Commons Communities and Local Government 
Committee. Housing for older people. Second Report of Session 2017–19. HC 370. 
https://publications.parliament.uk/pa/cm201719/cmselect/cmcomloc/370/370.pdf

UNESCO (1972) Convention Concerning The Protection Of The World Cultural  And 
Natural Heritage. Adopted by the General Conference at its seventeenth session 
Paris, 16 November 1972. http://whc.unesco.org/archive/convention-en.pdf

UNESCO (2008) Operational Guidelines for the Implementation of the World Heritage 
Convention. http://whc.unesco.org/archive/opguide08-en.pdf  

© City of Durham Parish Council, 2021 190

Page 376



Durham City. Neighbourhood Plan

Visit County Durham (2016). Durham Tourism Management Plan 2016 -2020. 
http://www.visitcountydurham.org/images/uploads/files/Durham%20Tourism
%20Management%20Plan%202016-2020.pdf

Welsh Government (2014) Design Guidance. Active Travel (Wales) Act 2013. December 
2014. http://gov.wales/docs/det/publications/141209-active-travel-design-guidance-en.pdf

Wilson, W. and Barton, C. (2018). What is affordable housing? Briefing Paper Number 
07747, 19 March 2018. House of Commons Library. 
http://researchbriefings.parliament.uk/ResearchBriefing/Summary/CBP-7747

Sources Consulted But Not Cited

AECOM (2019) Sustainability Appraisal (SA) for the Durham City Neighbourhood Plan. SA
Report to accompany Regulation 14 consultation. City of Durham Parish Council. April 
2019. 

BREEAM (Building Research Establishment Environmental Assessment Methodology)
http://www.breeam.com

Croft Consultants. Street seating. 
http://carmarthenshire-disabled-access-group.org.uk/factsheets/Street-Seating-r1.pdf

Department for Communities and Local Government. National Planning Policy Framework
(NPPF) 202 and 2018 editions. https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/national-
planning-policy-framework--2 

Department for Communities and Local Government (2012) Community Right to Bid: Non-
statutory advice note for local authorities. Part 5 Chapter 3 of the Localism Act 2011 and 
the Assets of Community Regulations 2012. London : Department for Communities and 
Local Government. 
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/14880/
Community_Right_to_Bid_-_Non-statutory_advice_note_for_local_authorities.pdf

Department for Communities and Local government (2013) Housing Standards Review. 
Illustrative Technical Standards Developed by the Working Groups. August 2013
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/230251/2_-
_Housing_Standards_Review_-_Technical_Standards_Document.pdf

Department for Communities and Local Government (2017) Planning for the right homes 
in the right places: consultation proposals. September 2017. 
https://www.gov.uk/government/consultations/planning-for-the-right-homes-in-the-right-
places-consultation-proposals

Durham Biodiversity Action Plan. http://www.durhambiodiversity.org.uk/

© City of Durham Parish Council, 2021 191

Page 377



Durham City. Neighbourhood Plan

Durham County Council. County Durham Plan Evidence Library, http://durhamcc-
consult.limehouse.co.uk/portal/planning/cdpev/, and Evidence Base Archive 
http://durhamcc-consult.limehouse.co.uk/portal/planning/archive/

Durham County Council. Future Affordable Housing Delivery In Durham 2011-15. 
http://democracy.durham.gov.uk/documents/s2408/040411-EE-CT-Item9-Appx4.pdf

Durham County Council (2009) Retail and Town Uses study. http://durhamcc-
consult.limehouse.co.uk/portal/planning/archive/

Durham County Council (2009) Sustainable Design, Supplementary planning document, 
Issues Paper. http://www.durham.gov.uk/media/4712/CDP-Sustainable-Design-
Supplementary-Planning-Document/pdf/
SustainableDesignSupplementaryPlanningDocument.pdf

Durham County Council (2010) Altogether Better Durham. The Sustainable Community 
Strategy for County Durham 2010-2030. 
http://www.countydurhampartnership.co.uk/media/12761/Sustainable-Community-
Strategy/pdf/SCS.pdf

Durham County Council (2010) County Durham Open Space, Sport and Recreation 
Needs Assessment. Part 1: Main Report. Final Report January 2010. http://durhamcc-
consult.limehouse.co.uk/file/2896748

Durham County Council (2010) County Durham Open Space, Sport and Recreation 
Needs Assessment. Area Profile: Durham City Area Action Partnership. http://durhamcc-
consult.limehouse.co.uk/file/2896783

Durham County Council (2010) Older Persons Accommodation and Support Services 
Strategy.

Durham County Council (2012) County Durham Cycling Strategy and Action Plan, 2012–
2015. 

Durham County Council (2012) County Durham Green Infrastructure Strategy. 
http://durhamcc-consult.limehouse.co.uk/file/2904310

Durham County Council (2013) County Durham Plan Strategic Housing Land Availability 
Assessment, October 2013. durhamcc-consult.limehouse.co.uk/file/2910250

Durham County Council (2014) County Durham Plan Strategic Housing Land Availability 
Assessment, updated 2014 for the Examination in Public of the Local Plan.

© City of Durham Parish Council, 2021 192

Page 378



Durham City. Neighbourhood Plan

Durham County Council (2014) County Durham Parking and Accessibility Standards. 20 
August 2014. http://www.durham.gov.uk/media/5886/County-Durham-Parking-and-
Accessibility-Standards/pdf/CountyDurhamParkingAndAccessibilityStandards.pdf

Durham County Council (2014) Highways Design Guide For Residential Development. 
November 2014. http://www.durham.gov.uk/media/5887/Highways-design-guide-for-
residential-development/pdf/ResidentialDesignGuide.pdf

Durham County Council (2016) County Durham Issues and Options Stage. Strategic 
Housing Market Assessment. Final Report June 2016

Durham County Council (2016) County Durham open space, sport and recreation needs 
assessment. Durham: Durham County Council.

Durham County Council (2016) County Durham Plan Issues and Options consultation 
document. http://durhamcc-consult.limehouse.co.uk/portal/planning/issuesandoptions

Durham County Council (2016) Durham City Sustainable Transport Strategy 2016-2033. 
Strategy report. 09/05/2016. https://democracy.durham.gov.uk/documents/s62683/Durham
%20City%20SustainableTransportStrategy.pdf

Durham County Council (2017) County Durham town centre surveys. 
https://durhamcounty.maps.arcgis.com/apps/Cascade/index.html?
appid=46a72ad369ea43f3b44dfb5bebeb9882

Durham County Council (2018) County Durham Parking and Accessibility Standards. 
https://www.durham.gov.uk/media/25119/Parking-and-Accessibility-Standards-2018/pdf/
ParkingAndAccessibilityStandards2018.pdf

Durham County Council (2018) County Durham Plan Preferred Options 2018. Draft for 
consultation. http://durhamcc-consult.limehouse.co.uk/file/4976262

Durham County Council (2018) Strategic Cycling and Walking Delivery Plan 2018-2028: 
Action Plan 2018-2023. 
https://www.durham.gov.uk/media/25438/SCWDP-Action-Plan/pdf/SCWDP2018-
ActionPlan.pdf

Durham County Council and AECOM (2015) 2015 Updating and screening assessment 
for Durham County Council. In fulfilment of Part IV of the Environment Act 1995. Local Air 
Quality Management. http://www.durham.gov.uk/media/9732/Updating-and-Screening-
Assessment-Durham-County-Council-2015/pdf/
UpdatingAndScreeningAssessmentDurhamCountyCouncil2015.pdf

Durham University (2006) University of Durham development framework and master plan.
https://www.dur.ac.uk/resources/estates/masterplan/masterplan.pdf

© City of Durham Parish Council, 2021 193

Page 379



Durham City. Neighbourhood Plan

Durham World Heritage Site (2016) Durham Castle and Cathedral World Heritage Site 
Management Plan 2016-2021. Consultation draft. 

Golder Associates (2010) Durham County (Level 1). Strategic Flood Risk Assessment 
(SFRA) – Level 1. Report Number: P9514100112 -A02. http://durhamcc-
consult.limehouse.co.uk/file/2896526

Historic England: Knowing Your Place. https://content.historicengland.org.uk/images-
books/publications/knowing-your-place/knowing-your-place12.pdf/

Historic England (2018) Neighbourhood Planning and the Historic Environment. Historic 
England Advice Note 11. 
https://historicengland.org.uk/images-books/publications/neighbourhood-planning-and-
the-historic-environment/neighbourhood-planning-and-the-historic-environment-historic-
england-advice-note-11/

Holden, J. (2012) Public Art, Cultural Well-Being and the National Planning Policy 
Framework (NPPF). Presentation Notes by John Holden, October/November 2012. 
Birmingham: ixia. http://ixia-info.com/wp-content/uploads/2012/09/JH-Public-Art-Cultural-
Well-being-and-the-NPPF-ixia-events-notes3.pdf

Lifetime Homes Standard
http://www.lifetimehomes.org.uk/
http://www.lifetimehomes.org.uk/pages/revised-design-criteria.html

Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local Government (2018) Government response to
the housing White Paper consultation: Fixing our broken housing market. A summary of 
consultation responses and the Government’s view on the way forward. 
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/
attachment_data/file/685297/
Government_response_to_the_housing_White_Paper_consultation.pdf

My Community. Neighbourhood Planning Glossary. 
http://mycommunity.org.uk/resources/neighbourhood-planning-glossary/

Office for National Statistics. Population projections. 
https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/populationandmigration/
populationprojections

Office for National Statistics. Dataset:Population Estimates for UK, England and Wales, 
Scotland and Northern Ireland. 
https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/populationandmigration/
populationestimates/datasets/
populationestimatesforukenglandandwalesscotlandandnorthernireland

© City of Durham Parish Council, 2021 194

Page 380



Durham City. Neighbourhood Plan

Office of the Deputy Prime Minister (2005) A Practical Guide to the Strategic 
Environmental Assessment Directive. Practical guidance on applying European Directive 
2001/42/EC “on the assessment of the effects of certain plans and programmes on the 
environment”. September 2005. 
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/7657/
practicalguidesea.pdf

PAS - PAS Neighbourhood Planning Advice Note. Housing Needs Assessment for 
Neighbourhood Plans
http://www.pas.gov.uk/documents/332612/0/PASNP/5cd2a9da-dc5e-4c5c-a982-
e2f4a23d3fcc

Planning Portal. Use classes. 
https://www.planningportal.co.uk/info/200130/common_projects/9/change_of_use

Policy Research Group, St Chad’s College, Durham University (2015) Lumiere 2015 
Evaluation. https://democracy.durham.gov.uk/documents/s62697/LumiereDurham
%202015%20Evaluation%202.pdf 

Secured by design. http://www.securedbydesign.com/

Speirs and Major Associates (2007) Light and Darkness Strategy Durham

Therivel, R et al (2011) 'DIY SA': Sustainability appraisal (including strategic 
environmental assessment) of neighbourhood plans. Oxford: Levett-Therivel. 
https://levetttherivel.files.wordpress.com/2015/09/diysa.pdf

Town & Country Planning Association and The Wildlife Trusts (2012). Planning for a 
healthy environment – Good practice guidance for green infrastructure and biodiversity. 
Town and Country Planning Association and The Wildlife Trusts. 
https://www.wildlifetrusts.org/sites/default/files/Green-Infrastructure-Guide-TCPA-
TheWildlifeTrusts.pdf

UK Government. Planning and development. Protected sites and species. 
https://www.gov.uk/topic/planning-development/protected-sites-species

UK Parliament (1987) The Town and Country Planning (Uses Classes) Order 1987. 
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/1987/764/contents/made

UK Parliament (2012) The Assets of Community Value (England) Regulations 2012. 
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2012/2421/contents/made

Wilson, D. (2016) In: Department for Culture, Media & Sport. Press release 23 March 
2016. Culture at the heart of our communities. 
https://www.gov.uk/government/news/culture-at-the-heart-of-our-communities

© City of Durham Parish Council, 2021 195

Page 381



Durham City. Neighbourhood Plan

Woodland Trust. Low Burnhall. http://www.woodlandtrust.org.uk/mediafile/100047958/low-
burnhall-site-leaflet.pdf

© City of Durham Parish Council, 2021 196

Page 382



Lanchester Neighbourhood Plan
2019 – 2034

Referendum Draft

 

As Lanchester Parish moves through the
21st century, the challenge will be to

conserve the story and character of the Parish,
and those who lived, farmed, and worked there,

for future generations, whilst maintaining
a thriving community and a living landscape

for today’s residents.



Page 383



Page 384



Explanatory note post examination, in March 2021. 
Following the examination of the Submission Draft of the Lanchester 

Neighbourhood Plan a number of modifications were required to make the 
plan accord with the basic conditions.  All of these modifications have been 

implemented here in this document now being put forward for referendum in May 
2021. At the time of submission, the County Durham Plan was also in preparation. 

It was formally Adopted in October 2020 and, accordingly, all references in 
the following text to the stage of preparation of the County Durham Plan are 
superseded; it is now the principal statutory development plan for all parts of 

County Durham, replacing the former Derwentside Local Plan.

Page 385



1

There has been a change in National Planning legislation which now states that local people may wish to 
influence development in their area through the preparation of a Neighbourhood Plan (Localism Act 2012). 

The Lanchester Neighbourhood Plan provides the local community with a powerful tool to guide the long 
term future of Lanchester Parish for the period 2019 to 2034. The Plan contains a vision for the future and 
sets out clear planning policies to realise this vision.    

The Vision and Objectives for the Lanchester Neighbourhood Plan were developed following community 
consultation in 2015 and subsequently endorsed in a second Parish wide consultation in 2016.

The adopted Vision and Objectives for the Lanchester Neighbourhood Plan are as follows:

Vision

‘Lanchester will be a place with the facilities and amenities to serve and maintain a strong and 
cohesive community. The Neighbourhood Plan will protect and enhance its essential village 
character, its wealth of diverse wildlife habitats and heritage assets, its attractive rural setting and 
the economic, social and leisure opportunities they provide to the benefit of all who live, work in 
and visit the area’. 

All policies developed in the following chapters are designed to achieve this overall vision through the 
subordinate objectives as set out below.

Objectives

Objective 2  DESIGN OF NEW DEVELOPMENT
‘To ensure that any new development in the Parish, whether it is new-build housing, conversion of existing 
buildings or other built development is carefully designed to protect the essential qualities and attributes 
of the area’

Objective 3 HISTORIC ENVIRONMENT
‘To ensure that the diverse heritage assets of the Parish are identified, protected and enhanced, and their 
significance is understood, recognising the positive role they can have in learning for present and future 
generations and the economic, social and leisure value they provide to those who live, work in and visit 
the area’

Objective 4 GREEN SPACES & THE RURAL ENVIRONMENT
‘To protect and enhance the attractive rural setting of Lanchester, the open green spaces within it and the 
quality of the wider countryside’

Lanchester Neighbourhood Plan
Executive Summary

Page 386



2

Policies

From these objectives policies covering the following areas were developed

Policy LNP1        The Boundary and Setting of Lanchester Village   PAGE 20
Policy LNP2 Design of New Development     PAGE 23
Policy LNP3 Historic Environment       PAGE 28
Policy LNP4 
   Green Spaces and the Rural Environment   PAGE 32
   LNP4A Green Infrastructure      PAGE 32
   LNP4B Lanchester Parish Landscape of High Value  PAGE 33
   LNP4C Landscape Features      PAGE 34
   
   LNP4D Biodiversity and Geodiversity    PAGE 35 
   
   LNP4E Local Views        PAGE 36
Detailed explanation and supporting evidence for all policies is presented in the Lanchester 
Neighbourhood Plan and accompanying documents.

Page 387



3

Acknowledgements

Lanchester Parish Council Neighbourhood Plan Working Group
Lanchester Parish Council
The Lanchester Partnership
Campaign to Protect Rural Lanchester
Durham County Council Officers
Shaun Hanson – Planning Advice Plus
North of England Civic Trust
Volunteers — Lanchester Conservation Area Appraisal 2016
Volunteers — Lanchester Community Heritage Audit 2017

Page 388



4

Contents
           

Executive Summary            1

Acknowledgements            3

Contents              4

Introduction             5
        
Plan Preparation             7

Parish Information            8   
 o Lanchester Today - Key Statistics       12

Community Consultation and Evidence Base       15

Strategic Context           17

Vision and Objectives          18

Policies           19
 o LNP1 Boundary and Setting of Lanchester Village     20
 o LNP2 Design of New Development       23
 o LNP3 Historic Environment        28
 o LNP4 Green Spaces and the Rural Environment     32

Statements            38
 o Business and Employment        38
 o Transport and Travel         39

Community Aspiration          40

Monitoring and Review          41

Policy Maps            42
 
Appendices           43

Evidence Documents           44

Glossary           45

Page 389



5

Introduction

Lanchester Parish Council, often in collaboration with The Lanchester Partnership, has published the 
following major reports relating to aspects of life in the Parish: 

1998 Lanchester Parish Appraisal
2004 Lanchester Village Design Statement
2005 Lanchester Parish Plan
2009 Lanchester Locality Map
2011 Lanchester Wildlife
2012 Lanchester Heritage Walks
2016 Lanchester Conservation Area Appraisal
2017 Lanchester Community Heritage Audit

These have all been made possible because of the significant involvement of Parish residents through 
questionnaires, photographic work or sustained participation in working groups who have drafted text 
and refined the overall work prior to publication. All of them have been used by the Parish Council, The 
Lanchester Partnership and individual residents in preparing responses to development proposals. The 
Village Design Statement has carried powerful weight in those submissions since it was a document 
recognised by Derwentside District Council and the County Council as formal Supplementary Planning 
Guidance. The remaining publications have also been regularly referred to as all of them included 
important comments on the Parish.

Page 390



6

There has been a change in National Planning legislation which now states that local people may wish 
to influence development in their area by comments and representations through the preparation of a 
Neighbourhood Plan (Localism Act 2012).

The benefits of preparing a Neighbourhood Plan include:

The Lanchester Neighbourhood Plan must have been shared, approved and voted on by the community 
and it is only valid if a majority of those voting approve it. 

The Parish Council felt this gave the community an important opportunity to update and revise some 
of these documents.  Several include recommendations about aspects of development which have not 
been embodied as planning requirements. A Neighbourhood Plan provides an opportunity to do this. 
The preparation of this Plan has also provided an opportunity to develop new areas of work such as the 
Lanchester Community Heritage Audit 2017 which has captured in print and photographs important 
information which has been previously known, but not fully recorded.

There is a benefit to residents in that, not only does a Neighbourhood Plan provide a basis to influence 
and manage future development, but also in creating it, a detailed picture of Lanchester Parish has been 
produced as it is in the early years of the 21st century.  

Once passed at a local referendum, the Lanchester Neighbourhood Plan will be adopted by Durham 
County Council as the plan which must be used in law to determine planning applications in the Parish. 

The Lanchester Neighbourhood Plan therefore provides the local community with a powerful tool to guide 
the long term future of Lanchester and its surrounding countryside for the period 2019 to 2034. The Plan 
contains a vision for the future of Lanchester Parish and sets out clear planning policies to realise
this vision.  

 • Putting the community in the driving seat to develop a shared vision  
  and aims for the neighbourhood
 • Measures to shape development, conservation and improvement of  
  the local area
 • Providing a mechanism for managing aspects of development and  
  land use not covered in the County Durham Plan
 • Ensuring future planning decisions better meet the needs and   
  aspirations of the community

Page 391



7

Plan Preparation

The Lanchester Neighbourhood Plan covers all of Lanchester Parish. As the village shares the same name 
as the Parish, it should be made clear at the outset that this Neighbourhood Plan covers the whole Parish 
of Lanchester, not just the village.  Within the Plan, it should be clear from the written context of any 
reference to ‘Lanchester’ whether it is referring to the village or to the wider Parish. However, the Plan has 
sought to make this clear where there may be any ambiguity. 

In preparing the Plan there has been correspondence with the adjoining Parish Councils and Durham 
County Council.  An application for neighbourhood plan designation was approved by Durham County 
Council on 24 July 2014. 

Throughout the process of developing the Lanchester Neighbourhood Plan professional advice, support 
and guidance was sought from Durham County Council and an independent professional consultant.

The Lanchester Neighbourhood Plan covers the period 2019 – 2034.  This provides a lifetime for the plan 
which is considered to be reasonable and appropriate. 

In preparing policy content a Strategic Environmental Impact Assessment (SEIA) and Habitats Regulations 
Assessment (HRA) were undertaken.  A screening of the draft plan indicated that a full SEIA and HRA 
would not be required. 

Neighbourhood Plan Area / Parish Boundary

Crown Copyright and database rights 2014. Ordnance Survey LA 100049055W

Page 392



8

Parish Information

A comprehensive document outlining Parish information can be seen as Appendix1

Further information on the Parish can be found in the Lanchester Community Heritage Audit report at 
Evidence Document 3.

Geographical size and location  

Lanchester Parish is located in County Durham, 8 miles to the west of the city of Durham and 5 miles 
south east of Consett. The parish covers 4,052,093 hectares and includes a village and several small 
hamlets.

The parish is centred on OS Grid Reference NZ165475. The valley bottom lies 115m above sea level, with 
ground rising to 200m towards Burnhope in the North and Hollinside in the south.

Smallhope Burn and Alderdene Burn, tributaries of the River Browney, flow through the village. 

History and Heritage
There is limited evidence of prehistoric activity in Lanchester Parish prior to the arrival of Roman rule.  
With the arrival of Roman rule in Britain, Lanchester saw the establishment of a fort known as Longovicium 
and a substantial associated civil settlement and cemetery.  

The fort was initially constructed during the mid-2nd century AD and was occupied through the 2nd and 
3rd centuries AD.  

Dere Street, the main Roman road linking York and Hadrian’s Wall, ran through the landscape 

Longovicium is a scheduled ancient monument as are parts of the aqueduct serving it.  

The later medieval period, from the 11th to the 15th centuries, left more traces in archival material, on the 
landscape and in a small number of surviving buildings.  Woodland was cleared for agriculture, All Saints 
Parish Church was constructed in stone, and the present village was established around the church. 

In 1284, a deanery and college of canons was created, reflecting the important role of Lanchester 
as an ecclesiastical centre, with a much larger parish than today. The college survives only as buried 
archaeological remains.  Some medieval houses survive in the village, notably Peth Cottage and Deanery 
Cottages which contain evidence of their medieval origins.  Other medieval villages in the current parish 
include Newbiggin and Colepike.

In the 16th century, Lanchester had a small population farming the land, grazing stock on the hilltops and 
fells to the west of the parish, and coppicing hazel for the coal industry. 

By the mid -18th century, new houses were being built in Lanchester itself, around the village green and 
on Front Street, with surrounding hamlets, farms and steadings scattered across the parish. The Enclosure 
of the Parish in 1773 led to the creation of the landscape seen today. Miles of stone walls and fences were 
constructed with new roads and lanes criss-crossing what was once common land. Large houses were 
built in the village and further afield, such as the 18th century Woodlands Hall. Ornsby Hill was built for 
workers in the nearby large quarry which provided stone for many houses built in the 18th century.

Major changes in industry from the 18th century through to the early 20th century impacted on the 
landscape and the communities living there. The extraction of coal in the east of the Parish, quarrying, 
the construction of railways, brick, iron and coke works were all significant in this. Malton, Hurbuck and 
Hollinside were home to mining communities.

Within the village itself, the 19th century brought a wealth of new building, both to provide accommodation 
and to house trade, but also in the civic sphere. The large Lanchester workhouse consisted of several 
buildings in the heart of the village, including the Board meeting rooms which now house the library. 

Petty sessions were held in Lanchester which was a judicial centre for West Durham.  Chapels and a 
parochial school were built. The population was growing, as was prosperity, aided in part by the new 
transport routes such as the Witton Gilbert to Shotley Bridge road, and the Durham to Consett railway, 
both of which ran through the village. 

Page 393



9

The 20th century left its mark on Lanchester, with a decline of industrial activities in the Parish followed 
by a flurry of opencast and strip mining in the middle of the century. Coal was extracted and land 
reinstatement followed, causing a loss of historic landscape. Other reminders of the last century can 
be seen on a number of memorials to those who served in the two world wars and other conflicts, and 
in abandoned military structures and prisoner of war camps. Within the village itself sections of the 
Smallhope and Alderdene Burns were culverted, new housing constructed, and the population grew 
significantly before dipping slightly. The railway closed and the bypass was constructed in 1970. 

Wildlife Habitats
Lanchester Parish includes a number of diverse habitats: farmland, heathland, grassland, woodland 
and brownfield land. A wide variety of species of plants, birds, mammals, fish, reptiles, amphibians and 
invertebrates populate the area. Many of these thrive at sites conserved by Durham Wildlife Trust at 
Malton and Longburn Ford, and Woodland Trust sites at Black Plantation and Dora’s Wood. However, 
habitat continues to be reduced through agricultural modification of areas such as heathland in the upper 
Browney Valley.

There is little remaining ancient woodland apart from Deanery Wood, Loves Wood and tracts at Malton. 
Smaller pockets can be found but these are not recorded. A significant contribution to wildlife habitat is 
provided along the wide verges of roads in the west of the parish which were created during the enclosure 
acts. Brownfield sites also present good habitat opportunities and the nature reserve at Malton on old 
colliery land is particularly attractive to many species. Natural heritage is constantly evolving and requires 
adequate consideration and resources if this asset is to withstand further erosion.

Landscape and Views
The views in, across and around Lanchester constitute a vital part of the heritage of the Parish, valued and 
enjoyed by residents for the positive impact they have on day to day life and appreciated on a daily basis 
by those living, working, walking and driving in the vicinity.

These panoramas and vistas collectively create, demonstrate and tell the story of Lanchester’s 
development through the centuries, forming a key element of the ‘sense of place’ within the community.  

Conservation Area and Article 4 Area
The Core of the Village is a designated Conservation Area that includes an Article 4 Direction. This 
direction relates to defined areas within the Conservation Area to encourage the retention of high quality or 
distinctive features such as windows or chimneys, building materials or boundary walls.

The conservation area boundary encompasses the historic core of the village, including the village green 
and Front Street. It was reviewed and the boundary extended in 2017.  It includes the Victorian and 
Edwardian developments which radiate out from the village centre and the important routeways into the 
village, namely Durham Road, Peth Bank, Newbiggen Lane, Cadger Bank and Maiden Law Bank.  There 
are also important open spaces, including the Lanchester Valley Walk, Deanery Wood and the area of 
rolling hillside to the east of the A691 which includes the area known locally as Paste Egg Bank.

Flooding
Historically the village has been prone to flooding, particularly within the Conservation Area.  Since 2000 it 
has become more prevalent, with several significant incidents.

Substantial flood alleviation works have been undertaken in recent years including works to the culvert 
and drainage system.

Housing
Within the Conservation Area

The essential character of Front Street and the main core of the village is set by the simple two storey, 
gabled local sand-stone buildings dating from the 19th Century and earlier. 

The north-eastern side of the street, consists of an almost continuous facade of two storey gabled 
buildings 
Page 394



10

This strong ‘backbone’ is complemented across Front Street by a more varied facade set back across 
walled garden or walled forecourt frontages. The majority of the buildings are of stone construction with 
the exception of the modern shops.

Several are of distinctive individual design adding great interest and charm to the character of their 
surroundings. The Library, and the Methodist Church with its annex are of note.

The meandering building frontages provide constantly changing views along the street culminating, at its 
southern end, in a splendid view of the church across the Green.

At either end of Front Street, Church View and Croft View provide strong lines of buildings overlooking 
important open areas: the Village Green and the Lanchester Endowed Parochial school grounds with the 
open hillside beyond.

The attractive Grade 1 Listed Parish Church is of mellow local sandstone, as are the other buildings 
around the Green with its mature trees. Together with The Deanery, Deanery Farm, Brook Villa (all listed 
buildings) and the King’s Head they form the undoubted centre piece of the village.

The Conservation Area Appraisal and Lanchester Community Heritage Audit both note key buildings within 
the village. See Evidence Documents 2 and 3.

Estate Development

Estate development since the late 1940s, consisting of detached and semi-detached houses and 
bungalows, mainly of uniform appearance, breaks with traditional village design. Most estate development 
is hidden behind traditional frontages and is not highly visible from within the village framework.

Buildings in the Countryside

Lanchester is a rural Parish and there are many traditional farmsteads scattered throughout. They are 
mostly built of stone with slate roofs in simple shapes and make a pleasing contribution to the landscape. 
Among them are many good barn conversions.

There are also several historic country houses which include Burnhopeside Hall, Newfield Hall (formerly 
Greenwell Ford), Hollinside Hall, Colepike Hall and Woodlands Hall. Some have been subdivided and other 
estate buildings adapted for residential use.

Hamlets

Within the parish of Lanchester are a number of outlying hamlets. Each has its own distinctive character 
and architectural unity. They sit well in the surrounding landscape. 

Getting Around
Roads

The principal through route is the A691 linking Consett and the surrounding area to Durham and the A1 
motorway. The A6076 provides an important link from Newcastle to Lanchester whilst the B6296 and 
B6301 connect the village to the A68 Darlington to Edinburgh trunk road.

The main roads into the village are well wooded and attractively frame the views approaching the village.

The A691 was re-routed in 1970 to by-pass the village centre and reduce the volume of traffic along the 
historic Front Street, protecting the old village from through traffic.

Within the wider parish there are minor roads, often former drove roads providing quieter routes for 
cyclists. Peth Bank, Cadger Bank, Newbiggen Lane and Ford Road are identified as historic key routes 
into the village.

Page 395



11

Footpaths and Cycle Routes

There are many link paths and ginnels that allow safe and convenient pedestrian movement around the 
village and into the centre. 
The Lanchester Valley Walk which uses the route of the disused Durham to Consett Railway passes 
through the village and is a wonderful amenity for walkers, cyclists and riders. It provides the outlying 
settlements of Malton and Hurbuck with a safe off-road route into Lanchester village. It is part of the 
National Cycle Route and brings trade into the village. 

There is also an extensive well-used network of footpaths around Lanchester allowing access into the 
wider countryside.    

Local Economy
Whilst there are many registered enterprises in the Parish, most people work in Newcastle, Sunderland, 
Durham and elsewhere. 

The range of shops and businesses meets most daily requirements of residents and the services provided 
are well used.   

Whilst farming is still the main activity in the surrounding countryside, diversification into other businesses 
is taking place.  

Community and Leisure Facilities
The heart of the village is the village green overlooked by the Church, together with Front Street, its 
churches, schools, shops, restaurants and services including doctors, dentist, hairdressers, library, post 
office, pharmacy, veterinary practice and community centre. There are over 70 well supported community 
organisations providing activities ranging from play group, keep fit, brownies, bridge, choral society, 
art clubs, film club, young farmers to Vintage Tractor Club. The three Churches are active in the Parish. 
A community newspaper, The Village Voice, delivered free to houses in the village regularly publicises 
activities and services in the community. The Lanchester Partnership is a well-supported charitable 
organisation developing and delivering community projects which enhance community life.

There are outdoor and indoor sports and play facilities and a well used community centre and social club.

This all contributes to the sense of community as well as offering a support framework for residents’ 
needs, both spiritual and social.

Page 396



12

Lanchester Today – Key Statistics
The 2011 census data from the Office for National Statistics tells us that, in 2011, the Parish of Lanchester 
had a resident population of 4054 (down from 4133 in 2001), which was made up of 1891 households (up 
from 1776 in 2001).

The 2011 census data shows that Lanchester Parish had more residents over 65 than the average in 
County Durham or England and a contrastingly smaller proportion in the working age and 0-15 age 
brackets.
   
Trends in the age profile of residents also point to an increasing proportion of older people in the Parish.  
Between the 2001 and 2011 census, there was a 7% drop in the working age population and 13% drop in 
the 0-15 age bracket, but a marked 20% increase in the 65+ age group. 

The total dwelling stock of the Parish in 2011 consisted of 1951 dwellings (up from 1823 in 2001, a rise of 
128 dwellings, or 7% in the ten year period).   
The vast majority of dwellings (and households) are within the village of Lanchester. 

In terms of dwelling size, there is a predominance of family homes, with approximately 71% of all 
houses having 3 bedrooms or more.  Census data provides further evidence of the type of homes in the 
Parish.  28% are detached, 49% semi-detached, 20% terraced and 3% classed as flats, maisonettes or 
apartments.

Page 397



13

Lanchester 
Parish

County 
Durham

Variance 
Parish v 
County

England Variance 
Parish v 
England

People with no 
qualifications

19.3% 27.5% -8.2% 22.5% -3.2%

People with degree 
level 4 
qualifications or 
higher

38.8% 21.5% +17.3% 27.4% +11.4%

82% of houses in the Parish are owner-occupied, with 10% available for social rent, 7% private rent and 
1% occupied rent-free.
 
The 2013 ACRE Publication ‘Rural Community Profile for Lanchester (Parish) shows that within Lanchester 
Parish there are 1972 economically active residents (i.e. those either working or unemployed), representing 
65.8% of people aged 17-64 which is lower than the England average of 69.9%.

Economically inactive residents include students, home-makers, and retired people resident in the Parish. 
There are 1027 economically inactive residents, 34.2% of people aged 17-64. This is higher than the 
England average of 30.1%.

Skills levels in the local population can be an important driver of community sustainability.
There is little published data on local ‘skills’, but one commonly-used proxy is ‘qualifications’ (although 
of course many people with low or no qualifications may be highly-skilled). The information in the table 
shows the number and proportion of people with and without qualifications in the Parish compared to 
county and national averages. 

Levels of car ownership by households within the Parish consistently exceeds the levels for the county as 
a whole and England overall. 
Several factors are likely to be contributing to these figures, some of which may include:
 • The Parish’s rural location
 • For those working, the need to travel outside of the Parish to their places of employment
 • Limited public transport and the need to rely more upon private transport to get about
 • Age profile and family status of the Parish population
 • A higher proportion of people able to afford their own cars

Page 398



14

Car Ownership / % of (1891) 
households

Parish County 
Durham

England Var. 
Parish 
v 
County

Variance 
Parish v 
County (%)

4+ cars (45 households) 2.4 1.5 1.9 +0.9 +60.0%

3 cars (125) 6.6 4.8 5.5 +1.8 +37.5%

2 cars (560) 29.6 23.6 24.7 +6.0 +25.4%

1 car (830) 44.0 42.9 42.2 +1.1 +2.5%

No cars (330) 17.3 27.2 25.8 -9.9 -36.4%

As Lanchester Parish moves through the 
21st century, the challenge will be to 

conserve the story and character of the Parish, 
and those who lived, farmed, and worked there, 

for future generations, whilst maintaining 
a thriving community and a living landscape 

for today’s residents.

Page 399



15

Community Consultation and Evidence Base

The decision to commence the preparation of the Lanchester Neighbourhood Plan was made at a Parish 
Council meeting in March 2014.  This was followed by the first meeting of the Neighbourhood Plan 
Working Group in May 2014. 

The Working Group understood that the preparation and adoption of a Lanchester Neighbourhood Plan 
would only be possible with the support and involvement of the community.  

An early engagement questionnaire (Evidence Document 5) was compiled during 2014 and distributed 
in January 2015.  This questionnaire aimed to identify key themes and issues that could be further 
investigated to develop the Lanchester Neighbourhood Plan. The questionnaire was distributed to 
approximately 80 local groups and organisations, hand delivered to hamlets, posted to rural dwellings and 
available to pick up and return to key community locations.

205 completed questionnaires were returned representing 448 individuals and detailed analysis was 
undertaken.  The results of the early engagement questionnaire can be found at Evidence Document 6.  
Feedback on the results of the questionnaire were provided to the community through displays sited in 
seven community venues.  In addition two staffed sessions were held in community venues.

Building on the information received through the early engagement questionnaire the working group 
developed a topic based questionnaire representing more detailed community consultation.  The topic 
based questionnaire (Evidence Document 7) included a draft vision and objectives and a number of 
questions on key areas.  The questionnaire was compiled during 2015 and distributed in February 2016.  
Questionnaires were delivered to all households and businesses in the village and hamlets, posted to 
rural dwellings and businesses and available to pick up and return to key community locations.  The 
questionnaire could also be completed on-line through Survey Monkey.  In addition a staffed open day 
event was held in a community venue to provide information on the questionnaire and the Neighbourhood 
Plan process.

307 completed questionnaires were returned either on-line or in hard copy.  These were analysed through 
Survey Monkey.  The results of the topic based questionnaire can be found at Evidence Document 8.  
Feedback on the results of the questionnaire were provided to the community through newsletter and 
press articles, the Parish Council website and through displays sited in community locations.

The responses of the topic based questionnaire provided evidence of support for the Vision and 
Objectives for the Lanchester Neighbourhood Plan, which can be seen on page 18. The results of the 
topic based questionnaire along with other sources of evidence enabled the Working Group to develop 
work streams and finally policies for the Lanchester Neighbourhood Plan. The list of polices can be seen 
on page 2.

To supplement the information gathered through the questionnaires the working group gathered further 
evidence from County and National statistics.  In addition the Neighbourhood Plan Working Group were 
actively involved in producing and updating a number of community documents these being:

 • Lanchester Conservation Area Appraisal 2016
 • Lanchester Community Heritage Audit 2017
 • Lanchester Parish Landscape of High Value Report 2018
 • Lanchester Design Statement 2019

In 2015 the Neighbourhood Plan Working Group approached the County Council to review the Lanchester 
Conservation Area and Article 4 Area of 1994.  It was felt that an updated appraisal would provide robust 
evidence for the Lanchester Neighbourhood Plan.  A group of 30 members of the community assisted 
the County Council in assessing the Conservation Area and Article 4 area in a number of site meetings 
which took place in October 2015.  The document was compiled, public consultation took place and 
the Conservation Area Appraisal was adopted by Durham County Council in May 2016, see Evidence 
Document 2.

Page 400



16

The Lanchester Community Heritage Audit, found at Evidence Document 3 was commissioned by 
Lanchester Parish Council late in 2015 to complement the production of the Lanchester Neighbourhood 
Plan, to provide evidence of the important heritage assets in the Parish.  The North of England Civic 
Trust were appointed to assist the Parish Council and the community in producing an Audit for the 
Parish.  60 local residents attended a mapping session in January 2016 and over 200 ‘Heritage Assets’ 
were identified.  Assets identified included significant buildings, archaeological sites, industrial remains, 
key views and evidence of military activity over the years.  Following review 170 assets were confirmed.  
A group of 20 community volunteers were trained in field recording, basic assessment of condition, 
principles of heritage conservation and understanding the concept of significance.  The 20 volunteers 
worked over a 6 month period to record, describe and evaluate all the confirmed assets.  The result of the 
work has been the production of a Lanchester Community Heritage Audit report, a gazetteer providing 
information on all the identified assets and a catalogue of photographs, providing evidence of Lanchester’s 
rich heritage.

In 2018 Durham County Council worked with residents to consider locally valued landscapes.  The issue 
of landscape value in the neighbourhood plan area was explored, the factors contributing to landscape 
value were reviewed and consideration was given to whether this would support the identification of a 
local landscape designation in the Lanchester Neighbourhood Plan.  Local knowledge was considered 
alongside county and national information.  The landscape was assessed using ten recognised criteria.  A 
map was drawn up to represent the landscape value for each criteria.  Drawing on the information across 
the ten criteria, a map was agreed to reflect the locally valued landscape known as Lanchester Parish 
Landscape of High Value (LPLHV) seen at Policy Map 5.  The LPLHV report can be seen at Evidence 
Document 4.

In 2004 the Lanchester Village Design Statement (Evidence Document 15) was published and approved by 
Derwentside District Council and latterly by Durham County Council as supplementary planning guidance.  
This document has been updated and renamed The Lanchester Design Statement 2019 which can be 
seen as Evidence Document 1.

Throughout the preparation of the Lanchester Neighbourhood Plan the community and interested bodies 
have been kept informed of progress through a variety of avenues including: Parish Council quarterly 
newsletters, Village Voice (monthly newspaper delivered free to houses in the village), articles on the Parish 
Council notice board, Parish Council website, community consultation and feedback events, displays of 
information in community locations and Parish Council annual reports.  A sample of this information can 
be seen at Evidence Document 9.

Page 401



17

Strategic Context

Once passed at a local referendum, the Lanchester Neighbourhood Plan will be formally made by Durham 
County Council and form part of the development plan for Lanchester Parish alongside the strategic 
policies set down in the local plan.

The current adopted local plan for the area is the Derwentside Local Plan (1997). The County Durham Plan 
is currently under examination. It will replace the Derwentside Local Plan when it is formally adopted in 
2020. The County Durham Plan does not allocate any housing, business or transport development within 
the Parish. Any proposals will be limited to windfall development.

The Lanchester Neighbourhood Plan therefore provides the local community with a powerful tool to 
guide the long-term future of Lanchester and its surrounding countryside for the period to 2034. The Plan 
contains a vision for the future of Lanchester Parish and sets out clear planning policies to realise this 
vision.

Page 402



18

Vision and Objectives

The Vision and Objectives for the Lanchester Neighbourhood Plan were developed following community 
consultation in 2015 and subsequently endorsed in a second Parish wide consultation in 2016.

The adopted Vision and Objectives for the Lanchester Neighbourhood Plan are as follows:

Vision

‘Lanchester will be a place with the facilities and amenities to serve and 
maintain a strong and cohesive community. The Neighbourhood Plan will 
protect and enhance its essential village character, its wealth of diverse 
wildlife habitats and heritage assets, its attractive rural setting and the 
economic, social and leisure opportunities they provide to the benefit of all 
who live, work in and visit the area’. 

All policies developed in the following chapters are designed to achieve this overall vision through the 
subordinate objectives as set out below.

Objectives

Objective 2 — DESIGN OF NEW DEVELOPMENT
‘To ensure that any new development in the Parish, whether it is new-build housing, conversion of existing 
buildings or other built development is carefully designed to protect the essential qualities and attributes 
of the area’

Objective 3 — HISTORIC ENVIRONMENT
‘To ensure that the diverse heritage assets of the Parish are identified, protected and enhanced, and their 
significance is understood, recognising the positive role they can have in learning for present and future 
generations and the economic, social and leisure value they provide to those who live, work in and visit 
the area’

Objective 4 — GREEN SPACES & THE RURAL ENVIRONMENT
‘To protect and enhance the attractive rural setting of Lanchester, the open green spaces within it and the 
quality of the wider countryside’

During the preparation of the LNP the community identified the importance of the following matters:

Housing: To meet the housing needs of the Parish in order to contribute to a strong and flourishing 
community, whilst protecting the essential qualities and attributes of the area.

Business and Employment: To support local employment opportunities within Lanchester and the 
provision of shops and services to meet the needs of those who live, work in and visit the area. To support 
a strong and diverse rural economy, including farming, tourism and other land based rural businesses 
which respect the special qualities and character of the countryside.

Transport & Travel: To reduce the detrimental effects of traffic and parking pressures, whilst seeking to 
cater for a range of modes of transport and travel to better meet the needs of those living, working in and 
visiting the Parish.

Community Assets: To identify and protect community assets in the Parish in order to sustain and 
promote a strong and flourishing community.

There are no specific policies on housing, business and employment, transport and travel and community 
assets in the LNP and it is not appropriate to set out these matters as objectives of the Plan. Development 
proposals relating to these topics will be considered using national planning policy and the policies 
of the adopted Derwentside Local Plan, the emerging County Durham Plan and the policies in this 
Neighbourhood Plan. Statements on Business & Employment and Transport & Travel can be found on 
pages 38 and 39 of this plan.

Page 403



19

Policies

Pages 20 - 37 provide detail on the Neighbourhood Plan policies.

Page 404



20

Policy LNP1 - The Boundary and Setting of 
Lanchester Village

The purpose of this chapter is to define the built-up area of Lanchester village by means of a settlement 
boundary and set out its planning role in an accompanying policy, LNP1. In doing so, the chapter is also 
the natural place to describe the important relationship between the village and its countryside setting, 
since the settlement boundary serves as the defining interface between the two.

In simple terms, the settlement boundary marks the outer extent of the village and therefore provides 
certainty as to where the built-up area ends and the countryside begins. It is a well-established and 
accepted planning tool because the policy framework for managing development specifically differentiates 
between land which is within the settlement (the built-up area) and land which is outside it (the 
countryside). Generally, there is a presumption in favour of development within the settlement boundary, 
whereas the circumstances where development is acceptable in the countryside are deliberately more 
limited. 

In the former Derwentside District Council’s Local Plan (1997), Lanchester was provided with a settlement 
boundary (referred to as a ‘Development Limit’ in that Plan). Whilst the replacement County Durham 
Plan is no longer pursuing the settlement boundary approach, it does enable them to be defined through 
Neighbourhood Plans. Its policies are consequently drafted in such a way as to give legitimacy and 
context to their continued role as a planning tool.

In feedback during preparation of the Lanchester Neighbourhood Plan, it was clear that the settlement 
boundary concept was very much supported by the local community. Almost 90% of respondents agreed 
that one should be defined for the village in the Lanchester Neighbourhood Plan in order to manage 
the location of new housing development. The most popular option amongst respondents was for the 
settlement boundary to be drawn around the village following its current built extent. 

An important adjunct to this is that a resounding 99% of respondents agreed that the attractive rural 
setting of Lanchester was a valued attribute which needed to be protected and enhanced. This underpins 
and gives validity not just to the settlement boundary policy LNP1, but to other policies in this Plan and in 
the County Durham Plan which seek to define and safeguard the key aspects of this valued rural setting. 
These include – 

     Policy LNP2: Design of New Development 
(supported by the Lanchester Design Statement). Among other things, this seeks to ensure that 
development carefully integrates into its setting and there is sensitive treatment of the interface between 
the built environment and the open countryside. 

     Policy LNP3: Historic Environment
Heritage assets, both designated and non-designated, feature prominently in the immediate rural setting 
of Lanchester. This is evidenced in a number of ways – 

 • By the Conservation Area extending beyond the settlement boundary into the countryside.  
  The largest area is on the eastern side of the village, where the Conservation Area takes in  
  Paste Egg Bank and Peth Bank. There are also smaller extensions of the Conservation Area  
  beyond the south and western edges of the settlement boundary (see Policy Map 1   
  - ‘Settlement Boundary’);

 • In the proximity of Longovicium scheduled ancient monument directly to the south west of  
  the village (Appendix 5 Map - Designated Heritage Assets – Village’);

 • In the historic Parks and Gardens of Local Interest which adjoin the edge of the village   
  (see Policy Map 3);

 • By several LVHA’s which either adjoin, or are in close proximity to the edge of the village  
  (see Policy Map 3).

 

Page 405



21

     Policies under LNP4: Green Spaces and the Rural Environment.
Essential to the character of the village are the qualities and attributes of its countryside setting. These are 
manifest in several ways – by its intrinsic landscape values, by its recreational interest and biodiversity and 
in the attractive views which allow people to observe and connect with the environment and setting of the 
village. Details include -   

 • Landscape - the countryside surrounding the village has been assessed and identified as a  
  Landscape of High Value (see Policy LNP4B and Policy Map 5 - ‘Valued Landscapes’);

 • Footpaths and bridleways – a network of paths and routes provide links through the village  
  and from the village out into the wider countryside. These provide an invaluable recreation  
  resource as well as being corridors for wildlife (see Policy LNP4A);

 • Trees, woodland and hedgerows – these also feature prominently in the immediate setting  
  of the village, including Deanery Wood (a designated Ancient Woodland) adjoining the   
   eastern edge and Dora’s Wood to the south. These are valued for their aesthetic,   
  biodiversity and heritage roles (see Policy LNP4C);

 • Local Views – the valley floor setting of Lanchester affords many views up and down
  the valley, but there are also views from the edges of the village out into the countryside  
  and panoramas across the landscape from higher vantage points. They provide much   
  valued opportunities to understand and appreciate the setting and character of the village  
  and the close relationship it has with the surrounding countryside. The most significant of  
  these have been identified and protected in the Lanchester Neighbourhood Plan (see Policy  
  LNP4E and Policy Map 7 - ‘Local Views’)

Collectively, these policies serve to implement the overall Vision of the Plan, particularly in terms of 
preserving Lanchester’s ‘essential village character, its wealth of diverse wildlife habitats and heritage 
assets, its attractive rural setting and the economic, social and leisure opportunities they provide to the 
benefit of all who live, work in and visit the area’.

The rationale for the settlement boundary
The settlement boundary of Lanchester follows the built extent of the village. This is the same line  
as defined in the Derwentside Local Plan (DLP), but it has been updated to correct minor anomalies and 
to include land south of ‘The Paddock’, which received planning permission for residential development, 
granted on appeal in 2017. 

The DLP stated at p.50 that the settlement boundary (development limit) of Lanchester ‘protects and 
maintains the attractive setting of the village, in particular the slopes to the north east and south west and 
the character of the historic centre which would suffer from increased traffic and congestion’. 

This rationale remains as valid today as it was when the DLP was prepared, notwithstanding that its 
housing strategy is out of date. Moreover, the legitimacy of the settlement boundary and its associated 
Policy LNP1 is reinforced in the following ways –

 • The community’s feedback during preparation of the Neighbourhood Plan clearly supported a  
   settlement boundary following its current built extent. This also implements the overwhelming   
   mandate of the community to safeguard the rural setting of the village;
    
 • The line followed by the settlement boundary is consistent with the County Durham Plan’s   
   glossary definition of ‘built-up area’ and Policy LNP1 is also consistent with that Plans policies for  
   development in built up areas (Policy 6) and development in the countryside (Policy 10).

 • Housing needs have been fully met at the County level in the County Durham Plan, with   
   Paragraph 1.19 confirming that ‘as the Plan allocated sufficient sites to meet housing needs for      
              the county it does not set out housing requirements for designated neighbourhood areas’;
  
 • Also at the County level, the Council’s 2019 Strategic Housing Land Availability Assessment   
              (SHLAA) includes eleven sites at the edge, or very close to the edge of the built-up area of
    Lanchester (ie – outside the settlement boundary). In the assessment however, all are rejected as  
   unsuitable for development. A recurring issue with each are the significant landscape and visual  
   impacts that would occur to the rural setting of the village;

Page 406



22

 • Part of the essential history and character of Lanchester is that it developed as a valley floor   
     settlement. The Lanchester Conservation Area Appraisal 2016 confirms that ‘The built-up area
              of the village is well contained within the surrounding landscape, nestling in the narrow throat
   of the valley’ (p.13). Significance is particularly attached to the ‘hillsides of open scenic landscape  
   quality surrounding the historic core of the village… these hillsides frame the village, give it a rural  
   character and appearance and are of vital importance to the setting of the conservation
   area’ (p.10); 

These factors, coupled with the framework and focus of other policies in the Lanchester    
Neighbourhood Plan point unequivocally to Lanchester’s highly valued rural setting, justifying the   
settlement boundary as defined and the provisions of Policy LNP1.

It is recognised that provisions exist in national planning policy for exceptions to the usual policy of 
development restraint in the countryside. These are set out in the NPPF, and also in the County Durham 
Plan. They include provision for limited residential development in rural areas, subject to meeting criteria 
as to its scale and location, to meeting an identified local need for affordable housing and to being 
restricted to those in, or with close connections to the local community. This is referred to in the NPPF as 
‘rural exceptions housing’ (paragraphs 77 and 78) and is covered in Policy 11 of the County Durham Plan.

The Lanchester Neighbourhood Plan cannot and does not override these provisions, but it has put 
forward a robust policy framework to ensure that a) the rural setting and wider countryside of Lanchester 
is safeguarded from the encroachment of unacceptable development, and, b) that development which is 
otherwise provided for in planning policy does not compromise the attributes which characterise its rural 
setting. 

POLICY LNP1: The Boundary and Setting of Lanchester Village
The settlement boundary as shown on Policy Map 1 defines the extent of the 
built-up area of Lanchester. Development proposals within the settlement 
boundary will be supported where they accord with the policies of the 
Development Plan*. 

Land outside the settlement boundary will be treated as open countryside and 
development proposals will not be supported unless they are specifically allowed 
for in the NPPF and they accord with the policies of the Development Plan*.

* The term ‘Development Plan’ encompasses the Lanchester Neighbourhood 
Plan, the Derwentside Local Plan 1997 and the County Durham Plan.

Policy Explanation and Guidance 
Policy LNP1 confirms the role of the settlement boundary in defining the outer edge of the built-up area 
of Lanchester, beyond which is classed as open countryside for the purposes of planning control. This 
means that planning policies relating to development in rural areas will apply outside the boundary, whilst 
planning policies relating to development in built-up areas will apply inside the boundary. 

The policy will help to safeguard the sensitive and valued rural setting of Lanchester from the 
encroachment of development, whilst having regard to the exceptions which are provided for in national 
and Local Plan policies.  

Whether development is proposed inside or outside the settlement boundary, it must in any event also 
accord with all other policies of the Development Plan. 

1 Oxforddictionaries.com defines setting as ‘the place or type of surroundings where something is positioned or where an event takes place’
2 Ref Derwentside Local Plan Policy HO7
3 Ref County Durham Plan Pre-Submission Draft 2019 - paragraph 4.111 and glossary definition for ‘built-up area’
4 Policies dealing with this are contained in the County Durham Plan 
5 Being ‘land contained within the main body of existing built development of a settlement’
6 Available to download at http://durhamcc-consult.limehouse.co.uk/portal/planning/cdpev/ 

Page 407



23

Policy LNP2 - Design of New Development

Introduction
The Neighbourhood Plan takes design very seriously and this policy applies to any new development in 
the Lanchester Neighbourhood Plan area.

What is the purpose of this chapter?
The intent of this chapter is to ensure that any new development within the Lanchester Neighbourhood 
Plan area shall meet high standards of design and demonstrate how it fulfils the expectations of the design 
guidance.

How does the chapter relate to the rest of the Neighbourhood Plan?
The policy set out in this chapter is intended to operate alongside and in conjunction with policies and 
provisions elsewhere in this plan, particularly heritage, valued landscapes, views and green spaces. It also 
operates alongside the existing framework of policies at a national and county level.

The Plan’s Design Objective
The issues, aims and aspirations of the community in respect of design of new development were fully 
explored through the consultation process and feedback gathered as part of the preparation of the 
Lanchester Neighbourhood Plan. The key findings were brought together to arrive at a specific objective 
for design of new development 

Design of New Development Objective
‘To ensure that any new development in the Parish, whether it is new-build housing, conversion of existing 
buildings or other built development is carefully designed to protect the essential qualities and attributes of the 
area’

96% of the respondents to the Neighbourhood Plan Questionnaire strongly agreed or agreed with this 
Design of New Development objective.

Context
This Lanchester Neighbourhood Plan supports the NPPF’s objective to achieve excellence in design, 
especially design that will help establish a “strong sense of place” and “create attractive and comfortable 
places to live, work and visit” (NPPF para 58).

There is the need for a locally-sensitive Neighbourhood Plan policy, setting out clear parameters, to guide 
the design of new development to ensure it aligns with the community’s aspirations.

92% of the respondents to the Neighbourhood Plan questionnaire strongly agreed or agreed when 
answering the question: “Do you think that the Lanchester Neighbourhood Plan should draw upon 
the Village Design Statement to include up-to-date policies and guidance for the design of new 
development?” That Village Design Statement has been amended and brought up to date and is now 
called The Lanchester Design Statement.  The Guide to Significant Aspects of Local Character found on 
pages 25-27 provide an overview of the Lanchester Design Statement.  

This policy will ensure that new development will deliver a high quality of design that will sit comfortably 
within the existing built and natural environments. 

Page 408



24

Policy Explanation and Guidance
Policy LNP2 requires designers to draw upon local character for inspiration. The policy contributes to the 
overall vision to protect and enhance the essential village character of Lanchester and the rural landscape 
of the Parish.  The design of any proposed development will be in accordance with the requirements for 
‘good design’ given in the booklet ‘Design’ published by the Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local 
Government.

Design, Layout and Appearance: Lanchester has a distinctive character based on its history and its 
agricultural roots in the countryside. The attributes of the village have been recognized by the designation 
of a conservation area.  The Parish beyond is a rural one, which extends west to the North Pennines Area 
of Outstanding Natural Beauty.  These recognized qualities should be reinforced by new development, 
which should be sensitively designed and inspired by local character. 

Scale and Density: Lanchester village is of a size and character that make it a place that people enjoy and 
feel comfortable in and it is an important objective of the Lanchester Neighbourhood Plan that Lanchester 
retains its village identity.  New development should not be of a scale that overwhelms or unbalances 
existing settlements. The Neighbourhood Plan questionnaire asked residents what they thought would 
be an appropriate number of new houses to be built in the Parish over the next 10-15 years and 70% of 
their replies was for less than 10 a year. Small- scale modest growth is considered to be the appropriate 
way for Lanchester village and the Parish to accommodate its future housing needs and maintain the rural 
character and ‘feel’.

Integration into the Built or Natural Setting: Lanchester village and the small hamlets and farm groups 
scattered throughout the Parish are well integrated into their rural setting making little visual impact in 
the overall landscape. Development is contained within the landscape, rather than sprawling, and this is 
regarded as an essential requirement of future growth. Within settlements there is a clear structure created 
by the buildings, roads and footpaths, open spaces and community facilities. New development should 
integrate with this structure to become part of the settlement and not incidental to it.

Accommodate Demographic Change: The age structure within Lanchester has been changing with 
a reduction in the number of people of working age and an increase in those people aged 65 and over. 
In order to maintain a balanced community and also to cater for the elderly, new development should 
provide a variety of housing types and tenures, including a percentage of bungalows or level-access flats, 
sheltered housing and homes that can be adaptable to all stages and styles of life. 

Guidance: The following illustrated section on pages 25-27 gives a flavour of local character and offers 
some design guidance. It is a summary of key points made in the Lanchester Design Statement which 
provides a more in depth analysis of the design features appropriate to all types of development within 
the parish. Reference should also be made to The Lanchester Design Statement (2019), the Lanchester 
Conservation Area Appraisal (2016) and the North Pennines Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty Building 
Design Guide. These documents provide evidence in support of the Lanchester Neighbourhood Plan.

    
POLICY LNP2 - Design of New Development
Proposal for built development should demonstrate that the following criteria have been 
taken into account:  
 a) Design, Layout and Appearance. Positively responds to the local   
  vernacular, materials and landscape features including green spaces and
  trees;
 b) Scale and Density. It is of a scale and density that reflect the rural   
  character and setting of the development; 
 c) Integration into the Built or Natural Setting. It delivers accessible   
  and well-connected environments that meet the needs of users. Layouts  
  should reflect existing settlement patterns and make linkages with   
  footpaths and cycle ways. It should integrate into the rural setting of  
  the Parish and respect wildlife;
 d) Accommodate Demographic Change. It provides a mix of housing   
  types to provide flexibility for diverse family structures and styles of   
  living and an ageing population, in accordance with the policies in the
  County Durham Plan; and
 e) Guidance. Developers should demonstrate how they have had regard  
  to local design guidance:
  • The Guide to Significant Aspects of Local Character (pages 25-27)
  • The Lanchester Design Statement
  • The Lanchester Conservation Area Appraisal 2016
  • North Pennines Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty Building   
   Design Guide

Page 409



25

GUIDE TO SIGNIFICANT ASPECTS OF LOCAL CHARACTER 
The following section identifies important qualities to be reflected in new development

 A Rural Parish
 • In the eastern foothills of the North Pennines AONB
 • 95% of land greenspace
 • Mainly pasture with some arable land
 • Trees and woodland interspersed throughout
 • Hillsides and valleys
 • Many view points

 Countryside Setting
 • Settlements making little visual impact on the landscape
 • Buildings and spaces working with the topography
 • Beneath hillside ridge lines
 • Contained not sprawling 
 • Natural features as boundaries 
 • Mature trees and hedgerows retained
 • Wildlife habitats respected

 Lanchester Village Framework  
 • An historic core designated as a conservation area
 • Commercial and community buildings & village green at  
  the village centre  
 • Residential areas radiating from the centre
 • A network of footpaths connecting residential areas to 
  the centre
 • Mature trees and open space incorporated into layouts

 Vernacular Buildings
 • Simple shapes, generally rectangular
 • Modest scale, predominantly two storey
 • Windows vertically proportioned
 • Rooflights not dormers
 • Windows and doors recessed
 • Chimneys
 • Materials predominantly coursed stone and slate with  
  some render

 Commercial Shops and Buildings
 • Shop fronts designed to fit the whole building
 • Windows vertically proportioned
 • Overlarge panes of glass avoided
 • Windows and doors recessed
 • Respectful, small scale signage
 • Signs not internally illuminated
 • No solid security shutters
 • Natural materials
 • Paint in keeping with the colour harmony of the   
  surroundings

 

40 
 

Front Street / Church View 

 

GUIDE TO SIGNIFICANT ASPECTS OF LOCAL CHARACTER  

The following section identifies important qualities to be reflected in new development 

 

A Rural Parish 

 

Countryside Setting 

 

 

Lanchester Village Framework   

Newbiggen Lane 
 

 Settlements making little visual impact on the 
landscape 

 Buildings and spaces working with the 
topography 

 Beneath hillside ridge lines 
 Contained not sprawling  
 Natural features as boundaries  
 Mature trees and hedgerows retained 
 Wildlife habitats respected 

 

 An historic core designated as a 
conservation area 

 Commercial and community buildings & 
village green at the village centre   

 Residential areas radiating from the 
centre 

 A network of footpaths connecting 
residential  areas to the centre 

 Mature trees and open space 
incorporated into layouts 

 

 In the eastern foothills of the North 
Pennines AONB 

 95% of land greenspace 
 Mainly pasture with some arable land 
 Trees and woodland interspersed 

throughout 
 Hillsides and valleys 
 Many view points 

 

40 
 

Front Street / Church View 

 

GUIDE TO SIGNIFICANT ASPECTS OF LOCAL CHARACTER  

The following section identifies important qualities to be reflected in new development 

 

A Rural Parish 

 

Countryside Setting 

 

 

Lanchester Village Framework   

Newbiggen Lane 
 

 Settlements making little visual impact on the 
landscape 

 Buildings and spaces working with the 
topography 

 Beneath hillside ridge lines 
 Contained not sprawling  
 Natural features as boundaries  
 Mature trees and hedgerows retained 
 Wildlife habitats respected 

 

 An historic core designated as a 
conservation area 

 Commercial and community buildings & 
village green at the village centre   

 Residential areas radiating from the 
centre 

 A network of footpaths connecting 
residential  areas to the centre 

 Mature trees and open space 
incorporated into layouts 

 

 In the eastern foothills of the North 
Pennines AONB 

 95% of land greenspace 
 Mainly pasture with some arable land 
 Trees and woodland interspersed 

throughout 
 Hillsides and valleys 
 Many view points 

 

40 
 

Front Street / Church View 

 

GUIDE TO SIGNIFICANT ASPECTS OF LOCAL CHARACTER  

The following section identifies important qualities to be reflected in new development 

 

A Rural Parish 

 

Countryside Setting 

 

 

Lanchester Village Framework   

Newbiggen Lane 
 

 Settlements making little visual impact on the 
landscape 

 Buildings and spaces working with the 
topography 

 Beneath hillside ridge lines 
 Contained not sprawling  
 Natural features as boundaries  
 Mature trees and hedgerows retained 
 Wildlife habitats respected 

 

 An historic core designated as a 
conservation area 

 Commercial and community buildings & 
village green at the village centre   

 Residential areas radiating from the 
centre 

 A network of footpaths connecting 
residential  areas to the centre 

 Mature trees and open space 
incorporated into layouts 

 

 In the eastern foothills of the North 
Pennines AONB 

 95% of land greenspace 
 Mainly pasture with some arable land 
 Trees and woodland interspersed 

throughout 
 Hillsides and valleys 
 Many view points 

 

41 
 

Station Road 

Village Centre 

Church View 

Vernacular Buildings 

 

 

Commercial Shops and Buildings  Picture to be changed 

 

 

Boundary Features  

 

 

 

 Simple shapes, generally rectangular 
 Modest scale, predominantly 2 storey 
 Windows vertically proportioned 
 Rooflights not dormers 
 Windows and doors recessed 
 Chimneys 
 Materials predominantly coursed stone 

and slate with some render 

 

 Shop fronts designed to fit the whole 
building 

 Windows vertically proportioned 
 Overlarge panes of glass avoided 
 Windows and doors recessed 
 Respectful, small scale signage 
 Signs not internally illuminated 
 No solid security shutters 
 Natural materials 
 Paint in keeping with the colour harmony of 

the surroundings 

 

 Within settlements they link buildings 
and streets together 

 Help to create a cohesive character 
 Comprise low stone or brick walls often 

with railings 
 Timber fences to rear of plots only 
 Within the countryside hedges, trees, 

watercourses and shelter belts create 
natural and softer boundaries 

Newbiggen Lane

Front Street/Church View

Station Road

Village Centre
Page 410



26

 Boundary Features
 • Within settlements they link buildings and streets   
  together
 • Help to create a cohesive character
 • Comprise low stone or brick walls often with railings
 • Timber fences to rear of plots only
 • Within the countryside hedges, trees, watercourses  
  and shelter belts create natural and softer boundaries

 
 Pedestrian Connectivity
 • Good pedestrian connections to the village centre via  
  a network of footpaths
 • Community facilities located at the centre  
 • Access to the countryside via public footpaths and the  
  Lanchester Valley Walk
 • The Lanchester Valley Walk connects directly to the  
  national coast to coast cycle route

 
 Accommodating the Car
 • Well integrated and sufficient car parking spaces   
  required to relieve pressure on roadside parking
 • Pedestrian and vehicle space to be clearly defined
  and safe
 • Pedestrian and vehicle conflict at the village centre
  to be managed to provide a safe and attractive   
  environment
 • Parking for disabled people incorporated

 Settlement Boundary
  
 • Absorbed into the landscape
 • Beneath hillside ridge lines 
 • Natural features as boundaries at any new edge with  
  the countryside
 • Mature trees and hedgerows retained
 • Modest height of buildings, no more than 2 storey
 • Well connected by footpaths to the centre
 • Contained, not sprawling
 • In harmony with the existing edge

 New Build
 • Well-structured layout
 • Exploiting advantages of the site
 • Making connections with the rest of the village
 • Building designs sensitive to local character especially  
  scale
 • Internal spaces allow for adaptation
 • Well integrated and sufficient car parking
 • Creating places that are attractive, distinctive and of  
  good quality

 

41 
 

Station Road 

Village Centre 

Church View 

Vernacular Buildings 

 

 

Commercial Shops and Buildings  Picture to be changed 

 

 

Boundary Features  

 

 

 

 Simple shapes, generally rectangular 
 Modest scale, predominantly 2 storey 
 Windows vertically proportioned 
 Rooflights not dormers 
 Windows and doors recessed 
 Chimneys 
 Materials predominantly coursed stone 

and slate with some render 

 

 Shop fronts designed to fit the whole 
building 

 Windows vertically proportioned 
 Overlarge panes of glass avoided 
 Windows and doors recessed 
 Respectful, small scale signage 
 Signs not internally illuminated 
 No solid security shutters 
 Natural materials 
 Paint in keeping with the colour harmony of 

the surroundings 

 

 Within settlements they link buildings 
and streets together 

 Help to create a cohesive character 
 Comprise low stone or brick walls often 

with railings 
 Timber fences to rear of plots only 
 Within the countryside hedges, trees, 

watercourses and shelter belts create 
natural and softer boundaries 

 

42 
 

From Deanery View 

Ridgeway 

Woodlands  

From Deanery View 

Pedestrian Connectivity 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Accommodating the Car 

 

 

Settlement Boundary 

 

 

 

 

 Good pedestrian  connections to the village 
centre via a network of footpaths 

 Community facilities located at the centre   
 Access to the countryside via public 

footpaths and the Lanchester Valley Walk. 
 The Lanchester Valley Walk connects  

directly to the national coast to coast cycle 
route 

 

 Well integrated and sufficient car 
parking spaces required to relieve 
pressure on roadside parking 

 Pedestrian and vehicle space to be 
clearly defined and safe 

 Pedestrian and vehicle conflict at the 
village centre to be managed to provide 
a safe and attractive environment.  

 Parking for disabled people 
incorporated  

 Absorbed into the landscape 
 Beneath hillside ridge lines  
 Natural features as boundaries at any new 

edge with the countryside 
 Mature trees and hedgerows retained 
 Modest height of buildings, no more than 2 

storey 
 Well connected by footpaths to the centre 
 Contained, not sprawling 
 In harmony with the existing edge 

 

43 
 

Lee Hill Court 

Humberhill Lane 

Newbiggen 

New Build 

 

 

 

Agricultural Buildings same area – more up to date photo 

 

 

Conversions and Extensions 

 

 

 Well-structured layout 
 Exploiting advantages of the site 
 Making connections with the rest of the 

village 
 Building designs sensitive to local character 

especially scale 
 Internal spaces allow for adaptation 
 Well integrated and sufficient car parking 
 Creating places that are attractive, 

distinctive and of good quality 

 

 Sited unobtrusively in the countryside 
 Buildings grouped together 
 Materials blend in composition and 

colour with the rural landscape 
 Screening by earth moulding and tree 

planting 

 

 Respectful of existing buildings in terms of 
scale, appearance and proximity 

 Contributing to the overall image and 
distinctiveness of the Parish 

 Traditional barns retaining their original 
character and appearance 

 

42 
 

From Deanery View 

Ridgeway 

Woodlands  

From Deanery View 

Pedestrian Connectivity 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Accommodating the Car 

 

 

Settlement Boundary 

 

 

 

 

 Good pedestrian  connections to the village 
centre via a network of footpaths 

 Community facilities located at the centre   
 Access to the countryside via public 

footpaths and the Lanchester Valley Walk. 
 The Lanchester Valley Walk connects  

directly to the national coast to coast cycle 
route 

 

 Well integrated and sufficient car 
parking spaces required to relieve 
pressure on roadside parking 

 Pedestrian and vehicle space to be 
clearly defined and safe 

 Pedestrian and vehicle conflict at the 
village centre to be managed to provide 
a safe and attractive environment.  

 Parking for disabled people 
incorporated  

 Absorbed into the landscape 
 Beneath hillside ridge lines  
 Natural features as boundaries at any new 

edge with the countryside 
 Mature trees and hedgerows retained 
 Modest height of buildings, no more than 2 

storey 
 Well connected by footpaths to the centre 
 Contained, not sprawling 
 In harmony with the existing edge 

Church View

From Deanery View

Woodlands

Ridgeway

Lee Hill Court

Page 411



27

 Agricultural Buildings
 • Sited unobtrusively in the countryside
 • Buildings grouped together
 • Materials blend in composition and colour with the   
  rural landscape
 • Screening by earth moulding and tree planting

 Conversions and Extensions
 • Respectful of existing buildings in terms of scale,   
  appearance and proximity
 • Contributing to the overall image and distinctiveness  
  of the Parish
 • Traditional barns retaining their original character and  
  appearance

 

43 
 

Lee Hill Court 

Humberhill Lane 

Newbiggen 

New Build 

 

 

 

Agricultural Buildings same area – more up to date photo 

 

 

Conversions and Extensions 

 

 

 Well-structured layout 
 Exploiting advantages of the site 
 Making connections with the rest of the 

village 
 Building designs sensitive to local character 

especially scale 
 Internal spaces allow for adaptation 
 Well integrated and sufficient car parking 
 Creating places that are attractive, 

distinctive and of good quality 

 

 Sited unobtrusively in the countryside 
 Buildings grouped together 
 Materials blend in composition and 

colour with the rural landscape 
 Screening by earth moulding and tree 

planting 

 

 Respectful of existing buildings in terms of 
scale, appearance and proximity 

 Contributing to the overall image and 
distinctiveness of the Parish 

 Traditional barns retaining their original 
character and appearance 

Humberhill Lane

Newbiggen

Page 412



28

  Policy LNP3 - Historic Environment

Introduction
What is the purpose of this chapter?
With a history dating back to before Roman times, one of the key identifying features of the Parish is the 
wealth of assets which make up its historic environment. Many of these assets are formally designated 
and subject to existing statutory protection. However, this chapter sets out a mechanism by which the 
non-designated, locally valued assets of the Parish can be identified, understood, safeguarded and 
enhanced if they are affected by development proposals.

What is ‘The Historic Environment’? 
The term ‘Historic Environment’ encompasses both the designated and non-designated heritage assets 
which exist in the Parish. They can include a building, monument, site, area or landscape identified as 
having a degree of significance meriting consideration in planning decisions, because of its heritage 
interest. The designated assets have been identified at a national and local authority level and include 
Listed Buildings, Scheduled Monuments and Conservation Areas. As these are already the subject of 
statutory protection, it is unnecessary for the Lanchester Neighbourhood Plan to repeat or duplicate 
this. However, to assist users of the Plan, the boundaries of the Lanchester Conservation Area and the 
Scheduled Monument of Longovicium have been identified on Appendix 4 - Map - Designated Heritage 
Assets - Parish and Appendix 5 - Map - Designated Heritage Assets -Village.

The heritage assets of the Parish were identified by a combination of consultation feedback from the 
local community and by a comprehensive heritage audit undertaken as part of the development of the 
Lanchester Neighbourhood Plan. 

Locally Valued Heritage Assets (LVHA)
This ‘heritage audit’ work was undertaken by a group of community volunteers with support from heritage 
professionals from the North of England Civic Trust (NECT).  The work resulted in the identification of 
almost 200 heritage assets within the Parish.  170 of these assets were subsequently detailed in the 
Lanchester Community Heritage Audit report and gazetteer  (Evidence Document 3 and can be seen on 
maps in Appendix 3).

NECT provided a recognised process to evaluate and assess the complete list which resulted in a short 
list ‘Locally Valued Heritage Assets’ (LVHA).  The list of  LVHA’s are presented in a Table 1 at the end of this 
chapter and their locations are shown in Appendix 3 - Locally Valued Heritage Asset Report and Policy 
Maps 2 and 3.

All of the identified LVHA’s were listed and grouped under various categories or ‘themes’ (10 in total).  It 
should be noted that, in the interests of logical topic separations, the LVHA theme of ‘Views’ has been 
subsumed into ‘The Green Spaces and the Rural (Natural) Environment’ LNP4.  

The complete list of heritage assets can be viewed in the Lanchester Community Heritage Audit Report 
and Gazetteer at Evidence Document 3 and on maps in Appendix 3.

Durham County Council do not operate a formal procedure for designating local lists of non-designated 
heritage assets. The non designated assets are identified within the Lanchester Neighbourhood Plan 
which includes specific policies in line with national guidance. Policy Maps 2 and 3 show Parks, Gardens 
and Designed Landscapes of Local Interests. Durham County Council have approved this list which 
includes five sites wholly within the plan area and that at Greencroft which has a small area within the 
Parish but is mainly outside the plan area.

How does the chapter relate to the rest of the Neighbourhood Plan?
The policy set out in this chapter is intended to operate alongside and in conjunction with policies and 
provisions elsewhere in this Plan, particularly those pertaining to protection of green spaces, valued 
landscapes and views and pertaining to the design and appearance of new development.  It is also 
intended to operate alongside the existing framework of legislation and policy at a national and County 
level which deals with the historic environment. 

Page 413



29

Historic Environment Objective
The views of the community in respect of the historic environment were fully explored through the 
consultation process and feedback gathered as part of the preparation of the Lanchester Neighbourhood 
Plan.  It was noteworthy that over 95% of respondents supported the Plan including measures to identify 
and protect locally valued heritage assets. The views expressed by the community were brought together 
to arrive at a specific objective for the historic environment as set out below -

Historic Environment Objective:
“To ensure that the diverse heritage assets of the Parish are identified, protected and enhanced and their 
significance is understood, recognising the positive role that can have in learning for present and future 
generations and the social, economic and leisure value they provide to those who live, work in and visit the 
area” 

Over 99.5% of respondents supported this objective for the historic environment. This chapter sets   
out the policy approach which will help give effect to this vision and objective.

The existing Policy Framework for the Historic Environment
The long history of Lanchester has given rise to a diverse resource of heritage assets, as evidenced in the 
designated Lanchester Conservation Area, numerous Listed Buildings, a Scheduled Ancient Monument 
(Longovicium Roman Fort and aqueduct) detailed below and forthcoming Local List. 

Conservation Area and Article 4 Area
The Lanchester Conservation Area was first designated in May 1972 and amended in March 1994 and 
2016.

When assessing applications for development, the Local Planning Authority must pay special regard to 
the desirability of preserving or enhancing the character or appearance of the Conservation Area under 
Section 72(1) of the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990.

An Article 4 Direction was made for certain parts of the Lanchester Conservation Area.  The Article   
4 area was updated in 2017.  The appraisal of the designated conservation area identified the continued 
need for Article 4 Direction to protect its character, appearance and special significance and prevent any 
further degradation of this important heritage asset. 

Additional controls are also placed over trees within the area, meaning that an owner must submit a formal 
notification of works to Durham County Council 6 weeks before starting any works to prune or fell a tree in 
a Conservation Area. This is in addition to numerous trees which are independently protected through Tree 
Preservation Orders.

At the national level, specific guidance relating to development within conservation areas can be found 
within the Government’s National Planning Policy Framework and its accompanying practice guide. 
Section 12 of the NPPF relates to the historic environment and paragraphs 137 and 138 relate specifically 
to conservation areas.
 
In addition, a Conservation Area Appraisal was approved for Lanchester in May 2016. This seeks to 
raise awareness and appreciation of Lanchester’s special character, whilst also providing a consistent 
and evidential basis on which to determine planning applications affecting the Conservation Area. The 
Appraisal is available online on Durham County Council’s website. 

Listed Buildings
There are 15 Listed structures within the Conservation Area. These include the Grade I 12th century All 
Saints Church, and 14 Grade II buildings, such as Lanchester House, the former  Lanchester Post Office 
and the former Queens Head Hotel (all 18th century) and 19th century buildings such as Brook Villa, The 
Lodge and 39 Front Street. In addition, numerous Listed Buildings are also to be found in other parts of 
the Neighbourhood Plan Area.  

At the national level, specific guidance relating to development affecting listed buildings can be found in 
the Government’s NPPF (section 12) and its accompanying practice guide.
 
Scheduled Ancient Monument
The Roman Fort of Longovicium, its surroundings, its settings and parts of the aqueduct form a Scheduled 
Ancient Monument. This reflects its status as a nationally important archaeological site. Scheduled 
Monuments are statutorily protected under the Ancient Monuments and Archaeological Areas Act 1979.  
Appendix 4 - Map - Designated Heritage Assets - Parish shows the extent of the Scheduled Monument.
Page 414



30

The approach of the Neighbourhood Plan
Although protection is already in place for the statutorily designated heritage assets, there remains a 
significant additional resource of undesignated heritage assets within the Parish which are also valuable 
and which merit protection. A major focus in the development of the Lanchester  Neighbourhood Plan was 
therefore to identify, map and assess these assets. 

By identifying and mapping the most significant LVHA’s, their values can be properly understood and 
assessed when development proposals are made which impact upon them. The aim of the policy LNP3 
is therefore to ensure that developers, landowners, other interested parties and planning decision-makers 
are aware in advance of the significance and setting of non-designated heritage assets (including LVHA) 
and can seek to protect and, where possible, enhance them if development is proposed.  

Table 1 identifies the LVHA’s. Site location maps and further details of each LVHA are set out in the Locally 
Valued Heritage Asset Report at appendix 3. Full details of all the sites included in the audit can be found 
in the Lanchester Community Heritage Audit Report and Gazetteer at evidence document 3. Where a 
development proposal may affect a non-designated heritage asset, the provisions of Policy LNP3 will be 
applied in addition to the requirements of the Heritage Policy in the CDP.

  

POLICY LNP3 – Historic Environment
Proposals for development which will impact upon the significance and setting of 
a non-designated heritage asset (including a Locally Valued Heritage Asset) will be 
assessed in relation to the net positive or negative effects that would occur to the 
asset in terms of sustaining and enhancing its significance. All proposals should 
seek to ensure the long-term conservation of the asset and avoid or minimise any 
conflict between its significance and any aspect of the proposal. 

Where harm is identified a full justification will be provided to allow an appropriate 
balanced judgement.

The properties and sites in Table 1 are identified as Locally Valued Heritage Assets.

Policy Explanation and Guidance 
Appendix 3 - Locally Valued Heritage Asset Report identifies the most significant assets that the 
community wishes to protect, whilst Table 1 lists the heritage assets. Policy LNP3 in turn provides a locally 
specific policy mechanism to assess and manage any development proposals which will impact upon an 
identified non-designated heritage asset.

There is a high probability of below-ground archaeological remains for assets associated with 
Longovicium, and historical development pattern for assets associated with the village.

Development proposals will need to be accompanied by an assessment of the significance of the  
heritage asset (including its setting) and should show how they have satisfied the policy requirement to 
conserve and, where possible, enhance the asset and avoid or minimise harm to its significance.

Page 415



31

Map 
Code

LCHA* 
Number Asset

Industry Engineering Trade and Commerce

1 88 Route and open space from Newbiggen Lane to Brook View

2 121 Station House

3 13 Colepike Mill

4 77 Stretch of Roman Aquaduct

5 78 Stretch of Roman Aquaduct

6 81 High Dam for Roman Aquaduct

Monuments and Religious Places

1 199 Catholic All Saints Church

2 209 WW1 Memorial plaque

3 218 Methodist Church

4 119 Wesleyan Church

5 211 WW1 Remembrance Plaque

5 212 WW2 Book of Remembrance

5 213 WWI Memorial gates and plaque, All Saints Church 

6 210 WW2 and Falklands War Remembrance Plaques

7 214 WW1 Memorial at Malton

8 202 War Memorial (Village Green)

Natural Heritage

1 76 Village Green

2 106 Oak trees

3 79 Dora's Wood

Paths Routes and Landscape

1 51 Peth Bank

2 5 Dere Street

3 70 Route along Newbiggen Lane

4 1 Old Railway Line

5 19 Woodlands Hall grounds

Society, Civic Life and Housing

1 93 Bypass Walk

2 200 Catholic All Saints School

3 99 Croft View Methodist Church Hall

4 219 The Black Bull

Map 
Code

LCHA* 
Number Asset

Industry Engineering Trade and Commerce

1 88 Route and open space from Newbiggen Lane to Brook View

2 121 Station House

3 13 Colepike Mill

4 77 Stretch of Roman Aquaduct

5 78 Stretch of Roman Aquaduct

6 81 High Dam for Roman Aquaduct

Monuments and Religious Places

1 199 Catholic All Saints Church

2 209 WW1 Memorial plaque

3 218 Methodist Church

4 119 Wesleyan Church

5 211 WW1 Remembrance Plaque

5 212 WW2 Book of Remembrance

5 213 WWI Memorial gates and plaque, All Saints Church 

6 210 WW2 and Falklands War Remembrance Plaques

7 214 WW1 Memorial at Malton

8 202 War Memorial (Village Green)

Natural Heritage

1 76 Village Green

2 106 Oak trees

3 79 Dora's Wood

Paths Routes and Landscape

1 51 Peth Bank

2 5 Dere Street

3 70 Route along Newbiggen Lane

4 1 Old Railway Line

5 19 Woodlands Hall grounds

Society, Civic Life and Housing

1 93 Bypass Walk

2 200 Catholic All Saints School

3 99 Croft View Methodist Church Hall

4 219 The Black Bull

Map 
Code

LCHA* 
Number Asset

Industry Engineering Trade and Commerce

1 88 Route and open space from Newbiggen Lane to Brook View

2 121 Station House

3 13 Colepike Mill

4 77 Stretch of Roman Aquaduct

5 78 Stretch of Roman Aquaduct

6 81 High Dam for Roman Aquaduct

Monuments and Religious Places

1 199 Catholic All Saints Church

2 209 WW1 Memorial plaque

3 218 Methodist Church

4 119 Wesleyan Church

5 211 WW1 Remembrance Plaque

5 212 WW2 Book of Remembrance

5 213 WWI Memorial gates and plaque, All Saints Church 

6 210 WW2 and Falklands War Remembrance Plaques

7 214 WW1 Memorial at Malton

8 202 War Memorial (Village Green)

Natural Heritage

1 76 Village Green

2 106 Oak trees

3 79 Dora's Wood

Paths Routes and Landscape

1 51 Peth Bank

2 5 Dere Street

3 70 Route along Newbiggen Lane

4 1 Old Railway Line

5 19 Woodlands Hall grounds

Society, Civic Life and Housing

1 93 Bypass Walk

2 200 Catholic All Saints School

3 99 Croft View Methodist Church Hall

4 219 The Black Bull

Map 
Code

LCHA* 
Number Asset

Industry Engineering Trade and Commerce

1 88 Route and open space from Newbiggen Lane to Brook View

2 121 Station House

3 13 Colepike Mill

4 77 Stretch of Roman Aquaduct

5 78 Stretch of Roman Aquaduct

6 81 High Dam for Roman Aquaduct

Monuments and Religious Places

1 199 Catholic All Saints Church

2 209 WW1 Memorial plaque

3 218 Methodist Church

4 119 Wesleyan Church

5 211 WW1 Remembrance Plaque

5 212 WW2 Book of Remembrance

5 213 WWI Memorial gates and plaque, All Saints Church 

6 210 WW2 and Falklands War Remembrance Plaques

7 214 WW1 Memorial at Malton

8 202 War Memorial (Village Green)

Natural Heritage

1 76 Village Green

2 106 Oak trees

3 79 Dora's Wood

Paths Routes and Landscape

1 51 Peth Bank

2 5 Dere Street

3 70 Route along Newbiggen Lane

4 1 Old Railway Line

5 19 Woodlands Hall grounds

Society, Civic Life and Housing

1 93 Bypass Walk

2 200 Catholic All Saints School

3 99 Croft View Methodist Church Hall

4 219 The Black Bull

Table 1 - Locally Valued Heritage Assets

5 47 Workhouse Boardroom

6 91 King's Head

7 201 Lanchester Secondary Modern School

8 109 Tennis Club

9 73 Vicus /civil settlement of Longovicium (Cadger Bank)

10 9 Hollinside Old Hall 

*LCHA - Lanchester Community Heritage Asset

 Aqueduct

 Aqueduct

 Aqueduct

Page 416



32

Policy LNP4 - Green Spaces and the Rural Environment

Introduction
What is the purpose of this chapter?
This chapter sets out policies to manage development which may impact on the green infrastructure, the 
wider landscape and valued views within the parish. 

How does the chapter relate to the rest of the Neighbourhood Plan?
The policies set out in this chapter are intended to operate alongside and in conjunction with the other 
policies and provisions in this plan and alongside the existing framework of policies at national and county 
level which deal with development which impacts on green spaces and the wider landscape.

Green Spaces and the Rural Environment Objective
‘To protect and enhance the attractive rural setting of Lanchester, the open green spaces within it and the 
quality of the wider countryside’

99% of the respondents to the Neighbourhood Plan Questionnaire strongly agreed or agreed with this 
Green Spaces and the Rural Environment objective.

Green Infrastructure
Green Infrastructure is a network of multi-functional green spaces which helps to provide a natural 
life support system for people and wildlife. It includes parks, open spaces, playing fields, woodlands, 
trees, allotments, private gardens, wildlife corridors, streams, ponds, walls etc. It provides an ecological 
framework for the social, economic and environmental health of the surroundings. 

Lanchester residents and visitors benefit enormously from an extensive green infrastructure within the 
built environment and the wider countryside. It includes a number of open spaces which are recognised 
as essential features of all communities such as sports fields, allotments etc. The importance of these 
facilities as areas which can make an important contribution to the health and wellbeing of communities 
is referred to in the NPPF (paras 58,73,74)  and the local spaces have been mapped by DCC in the 2018 
Open Space Needs Assessment (OSNA) study. The open spaces in Lanchester can be seen on Policy 
map 4.

Page 417



33

The Lanchester Valley Walk is an important green corridor and public bridleway which crosses the parish 
passing through the village on the way.  There is also an extensive network of other paths and routes, 
within the village and the wider countryside. The river and stream valleys and the wooded roadside verges 
all add to the network of green corridors which support wildlife and emphasise the rural nature of the 
Parish.

Most of the housing estates were designed to include open green spaces such as those on the Humberhill 
and Broadoak Drive estates.  They provide a place for children to play, a home for wildlife, often contain 
mature trees and act as a link for wildlife passing through from the countryside. 

All these open green spaces were seen as very important by 99% of people responding to the 2016 
community engagement questionnaire and particular importance is attached to their retention, 
improvement and extension. 

  

Policy LNP4A - Green Infrastructure
~ Safeguarding and Enhancement of Green Infrastructure – the open spaces 
shown on policy map 4 shall be safeguarded and enhanced in accordance 
with national and strategic policies. Development proposals that would result 
in their loss or harm will only be supported where they satisfy the policies of 
the development plan.

~ Footpath and bridleway network – proposals should seek to extend the 
routes for walkers, cyclists and horse riders to access the village and 
countryside network and accommodate people of all ages including those 
with push-chairs and wheel-chairs.

Lanchester Parish Landscape of High Value 
Lanchester is predominantly a rural parish which varies in character from the pastoral east to the upland, 
heathland and plantations of the west.  Whilst much of the western parish landscape results from the late 
C18th enclosure of Lanchester Common (1773 -81) the eastern parish around the village is a result of 
older piecemeal enclosure of the village’s open fields and some early individual farms beyond them. The 
parish is fortunate that the effects of these early enclosures still contribute much to what makes the east of 
the parish and the village setting so attractive today with its system of small fields, woodlands, hedgerows, 
hedgerow trees, drystone walls and winding lanes.  The parish contains several historic parks including 
Woodlands Hall, Greenwell Ford, Burnhopeside Hall, Colepike Hall & The Lodge. These too are recognised 
for the contribution they make to the visual richness of the landscape. Small areas of the parish have 
suffered the ill effects of opencast mining, these areas provide opportunity for landscape enhancement.  
Low intensity land management across the parish results in the picturesque rural land form continuing to 
provide a unique sense of place for both residents and visitors.   

Such a varied landscape provides the parish with a diverse and rich variety of habitats and the wildlife 
which depends upon them.  Heathlands, woodlands, hedgerows, trees and walls which contribute 
to the visual beauty of the parish also provide home for a rich variety of birds, mammals and insects 
some of which are rare and declining, being dependent on continuing, sensitive habitat management.  
Many of the abandoned industrial areas, railway lines, quarries and mines have developed their own 
attractive character and now support some of the best habitats and rarer species as well as being 
popular recreational facilities for residents and visitors.  The parish is well served with water, with the 
River Browney and tributaries running through the parish and a diversity of ponds.  River and stream 
sides are tree lined and wildlife friendly, ponds are species rich. Rarer individual species which the parish 
supports include the small pearl bordered fritillary butterfly, almost the whole of the county’s population 
lies within the parish and plants such as frog and butterfly orchid both can still be found within a kilometre 
of Lanchester village centre.   Less easy to quantify but just as important is the wildlife abundance which 
the parish landscape supports, which depend upon continuing sympathetic management of the rural 
landscape.

Page 418



34

The landscape of the parish provides the context and setting to Lanchester village and the parish hamlets, 
with desirable countryside features permeating into the settlements.  Attractive avenues of trees and 
hedgerows line roads and lanes complementing the urban trees within the settlements, particularly within 
the village of Lanchester itself.  Lanchester Parish is fortunate in that much of its rural character survives 
along with its historical features and a diversity of wildlife.  

Public consultation shows just how much the people value the rural character and nature of the parish 
and the effect it has on the sense of place and setting it provides for the village and hamlets. Equally well 
supported was the desire to retain the character of Lanchester as a village.  Policies for landscape and 
biodiversity are designed to support what the public considers makes Lanchester unique as a parish and 
village, to retain its rural character and to preserve the sense of place for the future.

In 2018 residents worked with Durham County Council using a set of ten nationally recognised landscape 
criteria to explore the issue of landscape value in the Neighbourhood Plan area.  This reviewed the 
evidence base on factors contributing to landscape value and considered whether this would support the 
identification of a local landscape designation in the Lanchester Neighbourhood Plan.  Local knowledge 
alongside county and national information resulted in a local designation termed the Lanchester Parish 
Landscape of High Value (LPLHV)

The LPLHV is shown on Policy Map 5. The landscape assessment is set out in the Lanchester Parish 
Landscape of High Value report at evidence document 4. Policy Map 5 shows national, county and local 
landscape designations. It must be noted that some national and county landscape designations extend 
beyond the Parish boundary.

Landscape features
Many trees, woods, hedges and stone walls proliferate across the open fields and along field boundaries 
They all make a significant contribution to the landscape and biodiversity of the parish and they are the 
key features which determine much of the settlement boundary.  Many of the stone walls were built using 
stone from the Roman Fort whilst others were built when the field boundaries were reinstated following 
open cast mining. 

  

  

Policy LNP4B - Lanchester Parish Landscape of High Value 

The Lanchester Parish Landscape of High Value is designated as an area of higher 
landscape value and identified on Policy Map 5.

Development proposals that may impact on the Lanchester Parish Landscape of High 
Value should demonstrate that they have taken account of the Lanchester Parish 
Landscape of High Value assessment and will not have an unacceptable adverse 
impact on the landscape character. Proposals will be considered against the relevant 
policies of the CDP.

Policy LNP4C - Landscape Features
~ Retention – development proposals should seek to safeguard and enhance 
existing valued landscape features for their aesthetic, biodiversity and heritage 
values. Proposals affecting trees, woodland and hedgerows should be 
considered against the relevant policy of the CDP. Stone boundary walls shall be 
retained as far as possible on their current alignment. Any new boundary walls 
constructed as part of the development proposals shall be constructed of stone 
similar to that used locally and shall be of a similar walling design and bonding.

~ Mitigation - where landscape features are lost, suitable mitigation will be 
required.

Page 419



35

  

Policy LNP4D - Biodiversity and Geodiversity
Proposals for development will be expected to meet the following criteria:

 ~ Habitat conservation - to recognise and conserve the biodiversity and 
geodiversity resource of the area including any specialist habitats and previously 
developed land which has achieved a high biodiversity value through natural 
succession.

~ Species conservation - to allow species to maintain their current distribution 
or status and should be designed to create new supporting habitats to enable 
species to increase. Priority and protected species within the development and 
the surrounding area must be identified and afforded appropriate protection.

~ Protected sites conservation - to identify and enhance locally protected sites 
in and around the development, by not isolating such sites and supporting the 
creation of appropriate new adjacent, linking or buffering habitats. Development 
should not result in unsustainable increases in recreational use. 

~ Improved water quality in local watercourses - To contribute towards ensuring 
the watercourses within the Parish meet the water quality objectives proposed in 
the Water Framework Directive (WFD).

~ Net gain – all developments should provide net gains for biodiversity.  Such 
net gains should be delivered on site.  Where this is not possible then off site 
compensation will be required to ensure net gain and contribute to resilient and 
coherent local ecological networks.

Biodiversity and Geodiversity
The biodiversity/geodiversity of the different habitats across the parish must be considered when 
development proposals are brought forward.

Within the parish there are six local wildlife sites – Hurbuck Triangle, Greenwell Ford Meadow, Stuartfield 
Moor, Loves Wood and Malton Nature Reserve, Black Plantation near Partridge Close and Burnhill 
Junction and Longburn Ford. There are also a number of sites of semi-natural ancient woodland, a 
woodland site (Dora’s Wood planted in 2001) and some historic parkland. The Smallhope Burn, River 
Browney and Alderdene Burn are within the Parish and provide important habitat for a number of fish and 
riparian species as well as providing an excellent corridor for wildlife through the village and beyond into 
the wider countryside. See Policy Map 6.

The Lanchester Wildlife Audit (2011) report (Evidence Document 10) provided an in depth summary of the 
wide range of habitats and wildlife to be found in the parish. The various chapters list 16 tree and 87 plant 
varieties, 122 species of birds, 27 mammals, 8 species of fish, 3 reptiles, 5 amphibians, and 677 species 
of invertebrates found in the parish. Although many are common, some are rare and declining and need 
help if they are to survive here.

With regard to the policy section “Protected site conservation” a suitable buffer distance around local 
biodiversity sites shall be agreed depending on the particular characteristics of the site, the nature of 
the development and national guidance. Development proposals should avoid creating adverse impacts 
on local wildlife sites from an increased number of visitors to the site and should not create new access 
points, car parking or walking routes onto such sites.

Page 420



36

  

Policy LNP4E - Local Views
The viewpoints shown on policy map 7 and listed in table 2 are particularly 
sensitive and developers are required to demonstrate that the proposal 
will not have a significant adverse impact on these publicly accessible 
views. 

Local Views
Nestling in the valley floor of the River Browney, Lanchester village affords many views stretching up, 
down and along the valley from a variety of view points, as well as panoramas sweeping across the 
landscape from higher vantage points around the parish.  The views have characteristics that contribute to 
Lanchester’s attractive village atmosphere, including historical routeways and tracks still visible and usable 
today; mature tree lined access routes and canopied approaches to the village with associated hedgerows 
and stonewalling; established woodland and enclosed open fields within the countryside beyond, all 
demonstrating that farming and agriculture is still important to us and our community. Over the centuries, 
the built environment has been incorporated into the setting of the natural environment in a sympathetic 
way, creating a visual impression of a distinct village in a rural landscape.

These views show the characterful setting and rural nature of Lanchester and the clear linkages and 
connectivity the village has developed over the centuries with its rural landscape, agriculture, and the 
surrounding countryside.  Explicit landmarks and references still exist today within these views that 
reinforce this relationship established over many centuries and forged since Roman times (see Policy 
Map 8).  They enable residents to fully appreciate the natural environment in which Lanchester is 
situated; providing opportunities to observe and connect with the past and reflect on its significance and 
importance.  In addition to being significant as an element of Lanchester’s heritage, the views of the Parish 
also form a vital component in community life today, feeding in to recreation, leisure, and social activities.

The Lanchester Community Heritage Audit (2017) identified 17 views assessed as “Exceptional or 
considerable”. These 17 views are listed in table 2 and a summary of the locations and main features is 
set out in the Local Views Report at appendix 2. The Local Views Report contains full details of the view 
points with location maps and photographs.

Page 421



37

Map 
Code

LCHA* 
Number View

1 103 Views from country road

2 75 View East and West at Knitsley Viaduct

3 42 View  East and West along old railway line

4 130 Views either side of Newbiggen Lane up to Humberhill Lane showing several 
plantation tree strips between fields

5 128 Newbiggen Lane. Panoramic views from a point midway between Margery Flatts 
and Ridgeway 

6 122 Views from Margery Flatts across open countryside to the west, across the 
village to the east, and across and along the valley. 

7 197 View and landscape from Ridgeway

8 100 View over open land including Alderdene Burn off Broadoak Drive with steps 
leading to Briardene

9 127
View South West looking from the direction of Colepike Road, away from the 
village and up the hillside towards Cadger Bank and the Roman Fort. See also 
LHA 126 and LHA 128.

10 46 View South East from Lanchester House along Front Street

11 86 View of Front Street - the streetscape and views along

12 68 View from Front Street looking north-east towards Black Woods. 

13 126 View West from Deneside across the village

14 115 View North East across by-pass from riverside footpath

15 49 View from Paste Egg Bank over village

16 71 View south and west over village from high ground

17 52 View West across village from Peth Bank

*LCHA - Lanchester Community Heritage Asset

Map 
Code

LCHA* 
Number View

1 103 Views from country road

2 75 View East and West at Knitsley Viaduct

3 42 View  East and West along old railway line

4 130 Views either side of Newbiggen Lane up to Humberhill Lane showing several 
plantation tree strips between fields

5 128 Newbiggen Lane. Panoramic views from a point midway between Margery Flatts 
and Ridgeway 

6 122 Views from Margery Flatts across open countryside to the west, across the 
village to the east, and across and along the valley. 

7 197 View and landscape from Ridgeway

8 100 View over open land including Alderdene Burn off Broadoak Drive with steps 
leading to Briardene

9 127
View South West looking from the direction of Colepike Road, away from the 
village and up the hillside towards Cadger Bank and the Roman Fort. See also 
LHA 126 and LHA 128.

10 46 View South East from Lanchester House along Front Street

11 86 View of Front Street - the streetscape and views along

12 68 View from Front Street looking north-east towards Black Woods. 

13 126 View West from Deneside across the village

14 115 View North East across by-pass from riverside footpath

15 49 View from Paste Egg Bank over village

16 71 View south and west over village from high ground

17 52 View West across village from Peth Bank

*LCHA - Lanchester Community Heritage Asset

Table 2 - Table of Views

Page 422



38

Statements

Introduction
Business and Employment and Transport and Travel were two topic areas which were considered as part 
of the preparation of the Neighbourhood Plan.

Members of the Lanchester Neighbourhood Plan Working Group assigned to develop local policies 
in these areas considered the County Durham Plan Preferred Options 2018 document, alongside the 
Neighbourhood Plan draft policies already developed.

It was noted that both documents were broadly in alignment on both subject areas. There did not appear 
to be any areas of potential conflict and both documents largely complemented each other in these topic 
areas.

Feedback on the Lanchester Neighbourhood Plan policies was received from the whole working group, 
Durham County Council Liaison Officer and a Planning Consultant. Other neighbourhood plans and other 
supporting evidence at local, regional and national levels was also reviewed.

It was concluded that policies within the County Durham Plan are appropriate and relevant to be 
referenced within the Lanchester Neighbourhood Plan and that specific policies within the Lanchester 
Neighbourhood Plan would no longer be required. This recommendation was subsequently endorsed by 
the working group.

Business and Employment
Policy areas from the County Durham Plan of particular note for our local Business & Employment 
Objective are summarised below:

Policy Area 

General Development Principles

Visitor Attractions

Visitor Accommodation

Retail Hierarchy and Town Centre Development

Development in the Countryside

Equestrian Development

Delivering Sustainable Transport

Allocating and Safeguarding Transport Routes and Facilities

Utilities, Telecommunications and Other Broadcast 
Infrastructure

Hot Food Takeaways

Landscape Character

Historic Environment

Page 423



39

In addition, we highlight the following points explicitly relevant to our Parish and community:
 • As a local centre, the focal point and focus for all day to day purchasing activities by the  
  community within the Parish, is centred upon Lanchester Village, which is able to support  
  and offer most retail and other services, mainly from independent operators.
 • The important contribution made by the Retail, Visitor and Rural economies to our   
  continued and ongoing future success and prosperity throughout our parish
 • The interdependence of our economies with sustainable transport (including walking,   
  cycling and horse riding) and comprehensive ICT infrastructures.
 • The need to increase the provision and access to telecommunications and other broadcast  
  infrastructure, including improved rural connectivity, in order to offer ever higher standards  
  of reliable and high speed broadband to support rural businesses and communities, the self  
  employed, and those working from home. 
 • The importance of our distinctive landscape character and considerable historic    
  environment which contribute significantly to our local economy resulting from their positive  
  impact upon both resident and visitor experiences, lifestyle and overall quality of life.

Transport and Travel
Policy areas from the County Durham Plan of note are summarised below:

Policy Area

General Development Principles

Delivering Sustainable Transport

Durham City Sustainable Transport

Allocating and Safeguarding Transport Routes and Facilities

Provision of Transport Infrastructure

Utilities, Telecommunications and Other Broadcast 
Infrastructure

Page 424



40

Community Aspiration

The Parish Council will work with Durham County Council Highways with a view to reviewing the parking 
standards for residential development in the parish to a level of one parking space per bedroom to be 
provided in curtilage. 

The following points are relevant to our Parish and community concerning our aspirations for Transport & 
Travel characteristics within proposed development within the Parish:

 • Given that certain estate roads within Lanchester village associated with previous   
  developments have historically suffered from either having no or severely limited   
  on-site parking facilities, the subsequent and resulting on-road parking has created   
  extremely difficult and adverse access issues for cars, pedestrians, and service and   
  emergency vehicles alike. In the future, proposed development should take account of this  
  local issue and incorporate where possible all parking required for each dwelling and   
  locating it within the curtilage of each dwelling.
 • Lanchester Parish has a higher car ownership % than the county (and national) levels   
  for all households by some considerable margin - by as much as +37.5% and +60% for 3  
  and 4+ car households respectively and +25.4% for 2 car households (at a county level).  
  Our aspiration as a community is that car parking arrangements within developments   
  should take account of these higher levels of car ownership and that such levels should be  
  considered and incorporated accordingly into future development when determining   
  the number of car spaces per dwelling (within the curtilage) in relation to the number   
  of bedrooms to be provided for each dwelling.
 • Self employed numbers for the Parish are slightly higher as a percentage than the England  
  average and people working from home as a percentage is again slightly  higher for   
  Lanchester Parish than the England average. One reason for this may be the rural   
  nature, setting and associated characteristics of the Parish. The trend towards more   
  self employment, working from home with increased broadband connectivity, and   
  more people having multiple jobs, is likely to result in further increases to these    
  levels. As a result, there is likely to be a greater dependence upon car ownership and other  
  company vehicles (including vans) related to such business activities. Therefore, future   
  developments should take account of this by looking to increase the number of parking   
  spaces within the curtilage to be in excess of the Parking and Accessibility Standards   
  currently indicated by Durham County Council. An aspiration for our community and   
  target is for at least one car parking space to be provided per bedroom on-site within the  
  curtilage of each dwelling. 
 • There is a trend locally and nationally for adjoining garages to be used in different   
  ways, sometimes converted to additional residential space as part of the main dwelling, or  
  used comprehensively year round as additional storage areas for household items thereby  
  removing their ability to be used for car parking and resulting in the loss of at    
  least one garage parking space.

Page 425



41

Monitoring and Review

Local authorities are required to produce an annual monitoring report (AMR) to ensure that their 
development plan policies are being implemented as intended. Neighbourhood plans also need to be 
monitored and reviewed as part of the overall process.  The Lanchester Neighbourhood Plan area is 
relatively small so AMRs will not be required.  

Policies in the Plan will be monitored to determine their performance and relevance and to review whether 
or not objectives are being met. The results of the monitoring process will determine where policy review 
and change are needed. 

The Lanchester Neighbourhood Plan will be monitored and assessed as follows:

 • Review progress on a regular basis
 • Assess the extent to which policies are being implemented 
 • Determine why policies are not being implemented and set out steps to be taken to ensure  
  policies are implemented as intended or whether any need to be amended or replaced 
 • Identify whether policies need changing to reflect changes in national and local planning  
  policy

Page 426



42

Policy Maps

Policy Map 1  Settlement Boundary

Policy Map 2   Non-designated Heritage Assets - Parish 

Policy Map 3   Non-designated Heritage Assets - Village

Policy Map 4  Open Spaces

Policy Map 5   Valued Landscapes

Policy Map 6  Nature Conservation 

Policy Map 7   Local Views

Policy Map 8   Zone of Theoretical Visibility from Longovicium

Page 427



¯

Map produced by Landscape  Section, Regeneration and Economic Development, Durham County Council, County Hall, DH1 5UQ. © Crown Copyright and database rights 2018. Ordnance Survey LA 100049055

Lanchester Neighbourhood Plan
Policy Map 1

Settlement Boundary

Scale 1:6,000 at A3
Lanchester Settlement Boundary

P
age 428



!3 !1
!4

!2 !9 !8

!10 !7
!4

!5
!6

!3

!5!4 !7
!6

!3!2!1
!8!5!5!6!5

!2 !4!3
!1
!2!1

¯

Map produced by Landscape  Section, Neighbourhoods and Climate Change, Durham County Council, County Hall, DH1 5UQ. © Crown Copyright and database rights 2021. Ordnance Survey LA 100049055

Lanchester Neighbourhood Plan
Policy Map 2

Non-designated Heritage 
Assets: Parish

Scale 1:50,000 at A3

Parish Boundary
Lanchester Settlement Boundary

Paths, Routes & Landscape

   Monuments & Religious Places

Society, Civic Life & Housing

ID SITE
1 Route and open space from New biggen Lane to Brook View
2 Station House
3 Colepike Mill
4 Stretch of Roman Aqueduct
5 Stretch of Roman Aqueduct
6 High Dam for Roman Aqueduct

ID SITE
1 All Saints Roman Catholic Church
2 WW1 Memorial plaque
3 Methodist Church
4 Wesleyan Church
5 WW1 Remembrance Plaque
5 WW2 Book of Remembrance
5 WWI Memorial gates and plaque, All Saints Church
6 WW2 and Falklands War Remembrance Plaques
7 WW1 Memorial at Malton
8 War Memorial - Village Green

ID SITE
1 Peth Bank
2 Dere Street
3 Route along New biggen Lane
4 Old Railw ay Line

ID SITE
1 Bypass Walk
2 All Saints Roman Catholic School
3 Croft View  Methodist Church Hall
4 The Black Bull
5 Workhouse Boardroom
6 King's Head
7 Lanchester Secondary Modern School
8 Tennis Club
9 Vicus /civil settlement of Longovicium (Cadger Bank)

10 Hollinside Old Hall

Industry, Engineering, Trade & Commerce1

2

345

6

Parks, Gardens and Designed Landscapes of Local Interest
ID NAME

1 Greencroft (part in Parish)
2 The Lodge Lanchester
3 Burnhopeside Hall
4 Greenw ell Ford
5 Colepike Hall
6 Woodlands Park

Lanchester Community Heritage Audit
Locally Valued Heritage Assets (LVHA)

P
age 429



!3 !1

!4

!2

!5

!9

!4

!8

!7

!6

!3
!2

!1

!8

!6

!2
!4!3

!1

!2
!1

!5!5!5

¯

Map produced by Landscape Section, Neighbourhoods and Climate Change, Durham County Council, County Hall, DH1 5UQ. © Crown Copyright and database rights 2021. Ordnance Survey LA 100049055

Lanchester Neighbourhood Plan
Policy Map 3

Non-Designated Heritage
Assets: Village

Scale 1:8,000 at A3

Industry, Engineering, Trade & Commerce

Paths, Routes & Landscape

Monuments & Religious Places

Society, Civic Life & Housing

ID SITE
1 Peth Bank
2 Dere Street
3 Route along New biggen Lane
4 Old Railw ay Line

Lanchester Settlement Boundary

Parks, Gardens & Designed Landscapes of Local Interest

4

2

1

Lanchester Community Heritage Audit
Locally Valued Heritage Assets (LVHA)

ID NAME
1 Greencroft (part in Parish)
2 The Lodge Lanchester
4 Greenw ell Ford

ID SITE
1 Route and open space from New biggin Lane to Brook View
2 Station House

SITE

SITE

SITE

SITE

NAME

ID SITE
1 Bypass Walk
2 All Saints Roman Catholic School
3 Croft View  Methodist Church Hall
4 The Black Bull
5 Workhouse Boardroom
6 King's Head
7 Lanchester Secondary Modern School
8 Tennis Club
9 Vicus /civil settlement of Longovicium (Cadger Bank)

ID SITE
1 All Saints Roman Catholic Church
2 WW1 Memorial plaque
3 Methodist Church
4 Wesleyan Church
5 WW1 Remembrance Plaque
5 WW2 Book of Remembrance
5 WWI Memorial gates and plaque, All Saints Church
6 WW2 and Falklands War Remembrance Plaques
8 War Memorial - Village Green

P
age 430



¯

Map produced by Landscape  Section, Neighbourhoods and Climate Change, Durham County Council, County Hall, DH1 5UQ. © Crown Copyright and database rights 2021. Ordnance Survey LA 100049055

Lanchester Neighbourhood Plan
Policy Map 4 
Open Spaces

Scale 1:7,000 at A3

Parish Boundary
Lanchester Settlement Boundary

Typology
Accessible Natural Green Space
Allotments
Amenity Green Space
Churchyards and Cemeteries
Education
Outdoor Sport (Pitches)
Park and Recreation Ground
Play Space (Children & Youth)P

age 431



¯

Map produced by Landscape  Section, Regeneration and Economic Development, Durham County Council, County Hall, DH1 5UQ. © Crown Copyright and database rights 2018. Ordnance Survey LA 100049055

Lanchester Neighbourhood Plan
Policy Map 5

Valued Landscapes

Scale 1:50,000 at A3

Parish Boundary
Lanchester Parish Landscape of High Value

Lanchester Parish Landscape of High Value

DCC Area of Higher Landscape Value (AHLV)
Middle Browney Valley

Smallhope Burn Valley

Upper Browney & Pan Burn Valleys

Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty
North Pennines

P
age 432



¯

Map produced by Landscape  Section, Regeneration and Economic Development, Durham County Council, County Hall, DH1 5UQ. © Crown Copyright and database rights 2018. Ordnance Survey LA 100049055

Lanchester Neighbourhood Plan
Policy Map 6

Nature Conservation

Scale 1:50,000 at A3

Parish Boundary
Ancient_Woodland
Dora's_Wood
River Browney
Smallhope Burn
Alderdene Burn
Historic Parkland
Local Wildlife Sites

OBJECTID SITE_NAME
1 Hurbuck Triangle
2 Greenw ell Ford Meadow
3 Stuartf ield Moor
4 LovesWood & Malton Nature Reserve
5 Black Plantation near Partridge Close
6 Burnhill junction & Longburn Ford

1

43

2

5

6

P
age 433



!

!

!

!

!

!

!!

!
!

!

!

!!

!

!

!!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!
!

!

!

!2
!3

!1

!8
!4 !5

!9

!7
!6

!2
!3

!13

!17!11!10
!14 !15

!12

!16

¯

Map produced by Landscape  Section, Regeneration and Economic Development, Durham County Council, County Hall, DH1 5UQ. © Crown Copyright and database rights 2018. Ordnance Survey LA 100049055

Lanchester Neighbourhood Plan
Policy Map 7
Local Views

Scale 1:20,000 at A3

Parish Boundary
Lanchester Settlement Boundary

! Views

1    View from country road.
2    View East and West at Knitsley 
      Viaduct.
3    View East and West along 
      old railway line.
4    Views either side of Newbiggen Lane up to 
      Humberhill Lane showing several plantation 
      trees strips between fields.
5    Newbiggen Lane. Panoramic views from 
      a point midway between Margery Flatts and 
      Ridgeway.
6    Views from Margery Flatts across open
      countryside to the West, across the village
      to the East and across and along the valley.
7    View and landscape from Ridgeway.
8    View over open land including Alderdene 
      Burn off Broadoak Drive with steps leading 
      to Briardene.
9    View South-West looking from the direction
      of Colepike Road away from the village and
      up the hillside towards Cadger Bank and 
      the Roman Fort.
10  View South-East from Lanchester House 
      along Front Street.
11  View of Front Street - the streetscape
      and  views along.
12  View from Front Street looking North-East 
       towards Black Woods
13  View West from Deneside across the
      village.
14  View North-East across by-pass from
      riverside footpath.
15  View from Paste Egg Bank over
      Village.
16  View South and West over village from
      high ground.
17  View West across village from 
      Peth Bank.

P
age 434



¯

Map produced by Landscape  Section, Regeneration and Economic Development, Durham County Council, County Hall, DH1 5UQ. © Crown Copyright and database rights 2018. Ordnance Survey LA 100049055

Lanchester Neighbourhood Plan
Policy Map 8

Zone of Theoretical 
Visibility from Longovicium

Scale 1:50,000 at A3

Parish Boundary
Lanchester Settlement Boundary
Longovicium

Zone of Theoretical Visibility
Ground Level

2m above ground Level

4m above ground Level

P
age 435



43

Appendices

Appendix 1   Parish Information (separate document)

Appendix 2  Local Views Reports (separate document)

Appendix 3  Locally Valued Heritage Asset Report (separate document)

Appendix 4  Map - Designated Heritage Assets - Parish

Appendix 5  Map -  Designated Heritage Assets - Village

Appendix 6  Map - Roman Remains

Page 436



!1
!9

!40

!36

!32

!41

!22

!35

!39

!24

!23

!3!2!4!8!
6!7!5!14

!33

!25
!21

!37 !11

!30

!26

!38
!15!13!10

!34
!31

!28
!19

!17
!18

!20!29
!27

!12!16

1

1

2

2

2

¯

Map produced by Landscape  Section, Regeneration and Economic Development, Durham County Council, County Hall, DH1 5UQ. © Crown Copyright and database rights 2018. Ordnance Survey LA 100049055

Lanchester Neighbourhood Plan
Appendix 4

Designated Heritage Assets: Parish

Scale 1:50,000 at A3

! Listed Buildings 

No Name Grade
1 WAR MEMORIAL - ALL SAINTS ROMAN CATHOLIC CHURCH II
2 39, FRONT STREET II
3 LANCHESTER HOUSE WITH WALLS IN FRONT II
4 LANCHESTER POST OFFICE II
5 QUEENS HEAD PUBLIC HOUSE II
6 THE LODGE II
7 LODGE WELL CIRCA 100 METRES TO SOUTH OF THE LODGE II
8 BROOKVILLA II
9 PROSPECT HOUSE II

10 DEANERY FARMHOUSE AND COTTAGE WITH ATTACHED BARN II
11 WALLS AND PIERS IN FRONT OF THE DEANERY II
12 THE DEANERY II
13 CHURCH OF ALL SAINTS I
14 WALLS STEPS PIERS RAILINGS AND GATES TO SOUTH AND EAST OF CHURCH II
15 PATRICK TOMB CIRCA 13 METRES EAST OF CHURCH OF ALL SAINTS II
16 WHITE TOMB CIRCA 40 METRES NORTH EAST OF CHURCH OF ALL SAINTS II
17 PIERS AND WALLS SOUTH EAST OF FENHALL LODGE II
18 FENHALL LODGE II
19 ICEHOUSE CIRCA 100 METRES NORTH EAST OF BURNHOPESIDE HALL II
20 BURNHOPESIDE HALL FARMHOUSE AND FARM BUILDINGS II*
21 BURNHOPESIDE HALL II*

Parish Boundary
Lanchester Settlement Boundary
Conservation Area
Scheduled Monuments

No Name
1 Lanchester Roman fort (Longovicium)
2 Remains of Roman aqueduct

No Name Grade
22 BIGGIN FARM COTTAGE II
23 HAMSTEELS HALL FARMHOUSE II*
24 NEW FIELD HOUSE II
25 HOLLINSIDE TERRACE II
26 MILESTONE OPPOSITE SOUTH END OF HOLLINSIDE TERRACE II
27 WALLS AND PIERS IN FRONT OF GARDEN OF COLEPIKE HALL II
28 TERRACE WALL AND PIERS IN FRONT OF COLEPIKE HALL II
29 COLEPIKE HALL AND ATTACHED WALL II
30 MILESTONE SOUTH WEST OF BROADWOOD COTTAGES II
31 SMITH OPPOSITE BROADWOOD COTTAGES II
32 PUMPING HOUSE CIRCA 100 METRES SOUTH OF BROADWOOD FARM II
33 EAST BARN AT BROADWOOD HOME FARM II
34 WEST BARN AT BROADWOOD HOME FARM II
35 HUMBER HOUSE FARMHOUSE II
36 HURBUCK FARMHOUSE II
37 GARDEN WALL NORTH EAST OF WOODLANDS HALL II
38 WOODLANDS HALL II
39 MILESTONE CIRCA 50 METRES NORTH OF JUNCTION WITH ELIZA LANE II
40 BOUNDARY STONE CIRCA 220 METRES WEST OF STUARTFIELD LODGE II
41 BOUNDARY STONE AT WEST SIDE OF FORMER RAILWAY LINE II

P
age 437



!(

!(
!(

!(

!(

!(

!( !(

!(

!(

!(

!(

!(

!(

!(

!(

!4

!6

!10
!16

!1

!3!2

!8

!9

!7

!5

!14
!11 !15!13

!12

1

1

¯

Map produced by Landscape  Section, Regeneration and Economic Development, Durham County Council, County Hall, DH1 5UQ. © Crown Copyright and database rights 2018. Ordnance Survey LA 100049055

Lanchester Neighbourhood Plan
Appendix 5

Designated Heritage Assets: Village

Scale 1:6,000 at A3

OBJ Name Grade
1 WAR MEMORIAL - ALL SAINTS ROMAN CATHOLIC CHURCH II
2 39, FRONT STREET II
3 LANCHESTER HOUSE WITH WALLS IN FRONT II
4 LANCHESTER POST OFFICE II
5 QUEENS HEAD PUBLIC HOUSE II
6 THE LODGE II
7 LODGE WELL CIRCA 100 METRES TO SOUTH OF THE LODGE II
8 BROOKVILLA II
9 PROSPECT HOUSE II

10 DEANERY FARMHOUSE AND COTTAGE WITH ATTACHED BARN II
11 WALLS AND PIERS IN FRONT OF THE DEANERY II
12 THE DEANERY II
13 CHURCH OF ALL SAINTS I
14 WALLS STEPS PIERS RAILINGS AND GATES TO SOUTH AND EAST OF CHURCH II
15 PATRICK TOMB CIRCA 13 METRES EAST OF CHURCH OF ALL SAINTS II
16 WHITE TOMB CIRCA 40 METRES NORTH EAST OF CHURCH OF ALL SAINTS II

Lanchester Settlement Boundary
Article 4 Direction
Conservation Area
Scheduled Monuments

!( Listed Buildings

No Name
1 Lanchester Roman fort (Longovicium)

P
age 438



¯

Map produced by Landscape  Section, Regeneration and Economic Development, Durham County Council, County Hall, DH1 5UQ. © Crown Copyright and database rights 2018. Ordnance Survey LA 100049055

Lanchester Neighbourhood Plan
Appendix 6

Known Roman period
remains and findspots

Scale 1:50,000 at A3

Parish Boundary
#* Roman Finds

Roman Roads and Aqueducts
Scheduled Monument
Lanchester Settlement Boundary

#*

#*

#*

P
age 439



44

Evidence Documents

1 Lanchester Design Statement 2019
 http://lanchesterparishcouncil.co.uk/wp-content/uploads/2019/06/Lanchester-Design-Statement-full-  
 document-June-2019.pdf

2 Lanchester Conservation Area Appraisal 2016 
 http://lanchesterparishcouncil.co.uk/wp-content/uploads/2017/05/Lanchester-Conservation-Area-Appraisal- 
 final-document.pdf

3 Lanchester Community Heritage Audit 2017
 http://lanchesterparishcouncil.co.uk/wp-content/uploads/2017/05/MK-Heritage-Audit-Report.pdf
 http://lanchesterparishcouncil.co.uk/wp-content/uploads/2017/05/MK-Heritage-Audit-gazetteer.pdf
 http://lanchesterparishcouncil.co.uk/wp-content/uploads/2017/05/MK-Heritage-Audit-photos.pdf

4 Lanchester Parish Landscape of High Value Report 2018
 http://lanchesterparishcouncil.co.uk/wp-content/uploads/2019/06/REPORT-OF-LANDSCAPE-VALUE-  
 WORKSHOP.pdf

5 Early Engagement Questionnaire 2015
 http://lanchesterparishcouncil.co.uk/wp-content/uploads/2015/10/early_engagement_questionnaire_final.pdf

6 Results of Early Engagement Questionnaire
 http://lanchesterparishcouncil.co.uk/wp-content/uploads/2015/10/display-panels-early-engagement-  
 questionnaire.pdf

7 Topic Based Questionnaire 2016
 http://lanchesterparishcouncil.co.uk/wp-content/uploads/2017/07/Lanchester-Questionnaire-with-revisions- 
 from-29.09.15-amended-15-Dec-15.pdf

8 Results of Topic Based Questionnaire
 http://lanchesterparishcouncil.co.uk/wp-content/uploads/2017/07/Questionnaire-Analysis-Nov-2016.pdf

9 Sample of Publicity
 http://lanchesterparishcouncil.co.uk/wp-content/uploads/2019/06/Sample-of-Publicity-May-2019.pdf

10 Lanchester Wildlife Audit 2011
 http://www.lanchesterparishcouncil.co.uk/wp-content/uploads/2015/08/lanchester_wildlife.pdf

11 Lanchester Parish Plan 2005

12 Lanchester Locality Map 2009
 https://issuu.com/localitymap/docs/locality_map

13 Lanchester Heritage Walks 2012
 http://lanchesterparishcouncil.co.uk/heritage-walks-leaflets/

14 Directory of Information about Lanchester – DIAL 2015 (currently under review)
 http://lanchesterparishcouncil.co.uk/wp-content/uploads/2019/06/DIAL-document.pdf

15 Lanchester Village Design Statement - 2004
 http://lanchesterparishcouncil.co.uk/wp-content/uploads/2017/05/village-design-statement.pdf

Page 440



45

Glossary

Action with Communities in Rural England (ACRE):  Action with Communities in Rural England (ACRE) 
is the national body for 38 charitable local development agencies that make up the ACRE Network.

Affordable housing: housing for sale or rent, for those whose needs are not met by the market (including 
housing that provides a subsidised route to home ownership and/or is for essential local workers

Ancient Woodland: An area that has been wooded continuously since at least 1600 AD. It includes 
ancient semi-natural woodland and plantations on ancient woodland sites (PAWS).

Amenity: A broad concept that refers to the pleasant or satisfactory aspects of a place which 
add positively to its overall character and to the enjoyment of residents or visitors. For example, it 
encompasses human health, quality design, provision and protection of local services, local economy 
and the protection of the countryside, historic environment, environmental character and visual, air and 
noise quality. Amenity also encompasses leisure and sporting areas, such as playing fields and other open 
spaces used for sport.

Archaeological Interest: There will be archaeological interest in a heritage asset if it holds, or potentially 
may hold, evidence of past human activity worthy of expert investigation at some point. Heritage assets 
with archaeological interest are the primary source of evidence about the substance and evolution of 
places, and of the people and cultures that made them.

Area of High Landscape Value (AHLV): Outside of the North Pennines Area of Outstanding Natural 
Beauty there are a number of areas which are designated in the County Durham Structure Plan and Local 
Plans as Areas of High Landscape Value (AHLV). 

Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty (AONB): An area with statutory national landscape designation, the 
primary purpose of which is to conserve and enhance natural beauty. Together with National Parks, they 
represent the finest landscapes.

Article 4 Direction: A Direction made under the Town and Country Planning Act to remove some or all 
permitted development rights in an area or on a site.

Biodiversity: The whole variety of life encompassing all genetics, species and ecosystem variations, 
including plants and animals.

Brownfield Land and Sites: See ‘Previously-Developed Land’.

Built up area: The built up area is land contained within the main body of existing built development of a 
settlement or is within a settlement boundary defined in a Neighbourhood Plan. Areas falling outside this 
definition will be regarded as countryside.

Campaign to Protect Rural Lanchester: The Campaign to Protect Rural Lanchester is a local community 
group which acts to lobby on behalf of the community in order to protect the rural way of life within 
Lanchester village.

Community Assets:  Community facilities provided for the health and wellbeing, social, education, 
spiritual, recreational, leisure and cultural needs of the community.

Conservation (for heritage policy): The process of maintaining and managing change to a heritage asset 
in a way that sustains and, where appropriate, enhances its significance.

Conservation Area: Areas of special architectural or historic interest, the character, appearance or setting 
of which it is desirable to preserve or enhance.

Countryside:  See built up area.

Curtilage: The area of land, usually enclosed, immediately surrounding a home.  

Dere Street: The main Roman road linking York and Hadrian’s Wall which runs through the landscape and 
infrastructure at Lanchester

Derwentside District Local Plan: The Derwentside District Local Plan (Adopted 1997) set out the 
development strategy for the former district and the land use policies and allocations required to deliver its 
strategy. 

Page 441



46

Designated Heritage Asset: A World Heritage Site, Scheduled Monument, Listed Building, Protected 
Wreck Site, Registered Park and Garden, Registered Battlefield or Conservation Area designated under 
the relevant legislation.

Development: Development means the carrying out of building, engineering, mining or other operations 
in, on, over or under land, or the making of any material change in the use of any buildings or other land.

Development Management: The process whereby a local planning authority manages, shapes, and 
considers the merits of a planning application and whether it should be given permission with regard to 
the development plan.

Development Plan: Is defined in section 38 of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004, 
and includes adopted local plans, neighbourhood plans that have been made and published spatial 
development strategies.

Dora’s Wood: Community woodland site planted in 2001 and managed by The Woodland Trust

Durham Wildlife Trust: Durham Wildlife Trust is an independent charity and limited company that was 
established in 1971.  Durham Wildlife Trust is part of the federation of 47 organisations that together form 
the Wildlife Trusts. 

Environment Agency: Government body with responsibility for issues relating to flood risk; pollution and 
contamination; and waste licensing.

Environmental Impact Assessment: A procedure to be followed for certain types of project to ensure 
that decisions are made in full knowledge of any likely significant effects on the environment

Evidence Base: The researched, documented, analysed and verified basis for preparing the Lanchester 
Neighbourhood Plan  

Examination in Public: The process by which an Independent Planning Inspector publicly examines a 
submitted development plan, together with any public representations, before issuing a report.

Geodiversity: the range of rocks, minerals, fossils, soils and landforms.

Great North Forest: One of 12 Community Forests in England. An initiative to regenerate and revitalise 
urban fringe countryside across South Tyne and Wear and North Durham

Green Corridors / Wildlife Corridors: Green spaces that provide avenues for wildlife movement, often 
along hedgerows, streams, rivers or other natural features.  

Green Infrastructure: A network of multi-functional green space, urban and rural, which is capable of 
delivering a wide range of environmental and quality of life benefits for local communities.

Habitats Regulation Assessment: An assessment of the Plan’s likely impact on wildlife habitats of 
European importance.  Also known as an ‘Appropriate Assessment’.

Heritage asset: A building, monument, site, place, area or landscape identified as having a degree of 
significance meriting consideration in planning decisions, because of its heritage interest. It includes 
designated heritage assets and assets identified by the local planning authority (including local listing).

Historic England: Government body with responsibility for all aspects of protecting and promoting the 
historic environment.

Historic Environment: All aspects of the environment resulting from the interaction between people and 
places through time, including all surviving physical remains of past human activity, whether visible, buried 
or submerged, and landscaped and planted or managed flora 

Lanchester Community Heritage Audit 2017: Commissioned by Lanchester Parish Council in 2015 
to provide evidence of the important heritage assets in the Parish. The North of England Civic Trust 
were appointed to assist the Parish Council and the community in producing an audit of the Parish. A 
Lanchester Community Heritage Audit report, comprehensive gazetteer of information about assets, and a 
catalogue of photographs were produced.

Lanchester Conservation Area: The area was first designated in May 1972 and amended in March 1994 
and 2016. 

Lanchester Conservation Area Appraisal 2016: This updated appraisal reviewed the earlier documents 
from 1994. It was completed, compiled and adopted by Durham County Council in May 2016.

Page 442



47

Lanchester Design Statement 2019: The updated version of the Lanchester Village Design Statement of 
2004.

Lanchester Heritage Walks 2012: The Lanchester Heritage Walks Leaflets and pack were produced by 
Lanchester Parish Council. They are a series of self-guided walks within the Parish each detailed with 
relevant maps.

Lanchester Locality Map 2009: The Lanchester Locality Map was produced by Lanchester Parish 
Council. It includes information about the landscape, natural heritage and biodiversity of the Parish , and 
sections dealing with its historical assets and access, recreation and tourism. The Lanchester Locality 
Map was developed from the Parish Plan in July 2005, which recognised a need to provide a framework 
for actions to safeguard farming, the environment and wildlife. 

Lanchester Parish: Lanchester is a civil parish in County Durham, England.  Lanchester village is the main 
centre within the Parish.

Lanchester Parish Council: Lanchester Parish Council is the parish authority for the Lanchester Parish. 
The Parish Council provides some services for the Lanchester Parish community. It also publishes a 
newsletter, has its own website and a noticeboard on the Village Green. 

Lanchester Parish Council Neighbourhood Plan Working Group: This group was set up following 
a meeting of the Parish Council in March 2014 and a decision to start and prepare a Lanchester 
Neighbourhood Plan. It comprises members of the Parish Council, representatives from local organisations 
and business and local residents. 

Lanchester Parish Landscape of High Value Report 2018:  The working group and local residents 
worked with Durham County Council to considered locally valued landscapes. Landscape was assessed 
using 10 recognised criteria. Maps were drawn to represent the landscape value for each criteria. A further 
map was agreed to reflect the locally valued landscape known as Lanchester Parish Landscape of High 
Value (LPLHV)

Lanchester Parish Plan 2005: The Lanchester Parish Plan was produced by Lanchester Parish Council 
and The Lanchester Partnership. It describes the Parish and details the characteristics and aspects of 
Parish Life that influence and impact upon the community.

Lanchester Valley Walk: Also known as the Lanchester Valley Way. This is an important green corridor 
and public bridleway which crosses the parish passing through Lanchester village.  It is part of the 
National Cycle Route.

Lanchester Village Design Statement 2004: Document published and approved by Derwentside District 
Council and by Durham County Council as supplementary planning guidance

Lanchester Wildlife Audit 2011: Report published in 2011 providing an in depth summary of the wide 
range of habitats and wildlife found in the Parish, detailing common and some rare and declining species

Landscape character: The distinct and recognisable pattern of elements that occur consistently in a 
particular type of landscape. It reflects particular combinations of geology, landform, soils, vegetation, land 
use and human settlement.

Listed Building: A building of special architectural or historic interest. Graded I (highest quality), II* 
or II. Listing includes the interior as well as the exterior of the building, and includes any buildings or 
permanent structures within its curtilage which have formed part of the land since before 1 July 1948. 
Historic England is responsible for designating buildings for listing in England.

Local Housing Need: The number of homes identified as being needed through the application of the 
standard method set out in National Planning Guidance, or a justified alternative approach

Local List: Local listing is a concept that is designed to ensure that the historic and architectural interests 
that are of local importance but do not meet the criteria for being nationally listed are taken into account of 
during the planning process.

Longovicium Roman Fort: The Roman Fort of Longovicium, its surroundings, its settings and parts of the 
aqueduct form a Scheduled Ancient Monument. Fort and civilian settlement, Vicus

Material Consideration: A material consideration is a matter which the decision maker must take into 
account when assessing a planning application.

Page 443



48

National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF): The National Planning Policy Framework was published 
by the Government in March 2012.  It sets out the Government’s planning policies, in general terms, for 
England and how these are expected to be applied.   

Natural England: Government advisors on nature conservation, biodiversity and landscape in England.

Neighbourhood Plans: A plan prepared by a Parish or Town Council or Neighbourhood Forum for a 
designated neighbourhood area.

Non-Designated Heritage Assets: Buildings, monuments, sites, places, areas or landscapes identified 
as having a degree of significance meriting consideration in planning decisions but which are not 
formally designated heritage assets.

North of England Civic Trust (NECT): The recognised professional heritage organisation who was 
appointed and supported community volunteers to undertake ‘heritage audit’ work. 

Older people: People over or approaching retirement age, including the active, newly-retired through to 
the very frail elderly, whose housing needs can encompass accessible, adaptable general needs housing 
through to the full range of retirement and specialised housing for those with support or care needs.

Open Space: All open space of public value, including not just land, but also areas of water (such as 
rivers, canals, lakes and reservoirs) which offer important opportunities for sport and recreation and can 
act as a visual amenity.

Planning Advice Plus: Planning Advice Plus is a town-planning consultancy in the North of England, 
which provided professional planning expertise to the Neighbourhood Plan Working Group. 

Planning Practice Guidance (PPG): The Government’s guidance on planning issues.

Previously Developed Land: Land which is or was occupied by a permanent structure, including the 
curtilage of the developed land (although it should not be assumed that the whole of the curtilage should 
be developed) and any associated fixed surface infrastructure. This excludes: land that is or has been 
occupied by agricultural or forestry buildings; land that has been developed for minerals extraction or 
waste disposal by landfill where provision for restoration has been made through development control 
procedures; land in built-up areas such as residential gardens, parks, recreation grounds and allotments; 
and land that was previously-developed but where the remains of the permanent structure or fixed surface 
structure have blended into the landscape.

Registered Providers: Social rented housing is owned by registered providers.

Rural Community Profile for Lanchester (Parish) 2013:  A research report looking at the community 
profile of the Lanchester Parish undertaken in 2013. 

Rural Exceptions Site: Small sites used for affordable housing in perpetuity where sites would not 
normally be used for housing 

Scheduled Ancient Monument:  Scheduled Monuments are statutorily protected under the Ancient 
Monuments and Archaeological Areas Act 1979. 

Setting of a heritage asset: The surroundings in which a heritage asset is experienced. Its extent is 
not fixed and may change as the asset and its surroundings evolve. Elements of a setting may make a 
positive or negative contribution to the significance of an asset, may affect the ability to appreciate that 
significance or may be neutral.

Significance (for heritage policy): The value of a heritage asset to this and future generations because 
of its heritage interest. The interest may be archaeological, architectural, artistic or historic. Significance 
derives not only from a heritage asset’s physical presence, but also from its setting. For World Heritage 
Sites, the cultural value described within each site’s Statement of Outstanding Universal Value forms part 
of its significance.

Strategic Environmental Assessment (SEA): A procedure (set out in the Environmental Assessment of 
Plans and Programmes Regulations 2004) which requires the formal environmental assessment of certain 
plans and programmes which are likely to have significant effects on the environment including those in 
the field of planning and land use, which complies with the EU Directive 2001/42/EC.

Survey Monkey: Online software used to present information and capture and present responses to 
engagement questionnaires as part of the Lanchester Neighbourhood Plan process.

Page 444



49

Sustainable Transport Modes: Any efficient, safe and accessible means of transport with overall low 
impact on the environment, including walking and cycling, low and ultra-low emission vehicles, car sharing 
and public transport. Often meaning walking, cycling and public transport (and in some circumstances 
“car sharing”), which is considered to be less damaging to the environment and which contributes less to 
traffic congestion than one-person car journeys.

Sustainability Appraisal (including Environmental Appraisal): The process of weighing and assessing 
all the policies in a development plan document for its global, national and local implications. (See also 
Strategic Environmental Assessment).

The Lanchester Partnership: The Lanchester Partnership is a non-profit-making organisation, consisting 
of over 200 volunteers dedicated to the welfare of the parish. It develops, manages and delivers 
community projects within Lanchester

The Woodland Trust: The Woodland Trust is the country’s largest woodland conservation charity with 
over 500,000 members and supporters and more than 1,000 sites, covering over 26,000 hectares, all over 
the UK.

Windfall Sites: Sites not specifically identified in the local plan.

Zone of Theoretical Visibility: A computer generated tool to identify the likely extent of the visibility of an 
object.

Page 445



Page 446



!  

Photo 14  Butterfly Orchid  
  Small Pearl Bordered Fritillary Butterfly (Stuart Priestley) 

!  

Photo 15 Malton Nature Reserve 

 

Photo 17 Smithy at 5 lane ends 

!  

Photo 18 Doras Wood 

 

Photos 19  
Views above the village (suggest use 2,3 and 4) 

!       

    !  

Photo 30 Lanchester Valley Walk 

!  

Photo 31 Siris factory 

!  

Photo 32 Lanchester dairies  

!  

Photo 21 Front Street housing 

 

 

Photo 22 Bluebell Court 

Need photo 

Photo 23 Hillside to north of EP School 

!  

Photo 18 Doras Wood 

 

Photos 19  
Views above the village (suggest use 2,3 and 4) 

!       

Photo 5 Village 

!  

Photo 6 Aerial view of fort and LIDAR image (Light Imaging Detection And Ranging) 

       

Photo 7 Map – Examples of roman remains 

!  

Photo 5 Village 

!  

Photo 6 Aerial view of fort and LIDAR image (Light Imaging Detection And Ranging) 

       

Photo 7 Map – Examples of roman remains 

!  

!  

Photo 33 Community event 

!  

Photo 34 Community event 

!  

!  

Photo 18 Doras Wood 

 

Photos 19  
Views above the village (suggest use 2,3 and 4) 

!       

Photo 11 Aerial view of workhouse 

!  

Photo 12 Station House and train 
 

!  

Photo 13 Before and after the by pass 

      !  

Photo 24 Parish Church and Village 

!  

Photo 25 Deanery View estate 

!  

Photo 26  Burnhopeside Hall 
Colepike Hall 

Photo 36 Poppy Project 

!  

Photo 37 Lynwood House – Lanchester Community Heritage Audit Launch Event 

!  

Photo 8 Map of Dere Street 

!  

Photo 9 All Saints Parish Church 

!  

Photo 10 Old houses in centre of village 

!  

Photo 36 Poppy Project 

!  

Photo 37 Lynwood House – Lanchester Community Heritage Audit Launch Event 

!  

!  

Photo 33 Community event 

!  

Photo 34 Community event 

!  

!  

Photo 27 Hollinside 

!   Needs to be lightened 

Photo 28 a,b  Approach roads  Newbiggen Lane 
     Peth Bank 

!  

Photo 29 By pass with open countryside to left 

!  

Photo 27 Hollinside 

!   Needs to be lightened 

Photo 28 a,b  Approach roads  Newbiggen Lane 
     Peth Bank 

!  

Photo 29 By pass with open countryside to left 

!  

Photo 14  Butterfly Orchid  
  Small Pearl Bordered Fritillary Butterfly (Stuart Priestley) 

!  

Photo 15 Malton Nature Reserve 

 

Photo 17 Smithy at 5 lane ends 

!  

Photo 27 Hollinside 

!   Needs to be lightened 

Photo 28 a,b  Approach roads  Newbiggen Lane 
     Peth Bank 

!  

Photo 29 By pass with open countryside to left 

 !  

Photo 20 Front Street 

!  

Photo 20a Flooding  

!  

Photo 33 Community event 

!  

Photo 34 Community event 

!  

!  

Photo 18 Doras Wood 

 

Photos 19  
Views above the village (suggest use 2,3 and 4) 

!       

!  

Photo 21 Front Street housing 

 

 

Photo 22 Bluebell Court 

Need photo 

Photo 23 Hillside to north of EP School 

    !  

Photo 30 Lanchester Valley Walk 

!  

Photo 31 Siris factory 

!  

Photo 32 Lanchester dairies  

!  

Photo 27 Hollinside 

!   Needs to be lightened 

Photo 28 a,b  Approach roads  Newbiggen Lane 
     Peth Bank 

!  

Photo 29 By pass with open countryside to left 

Photo 11 Aerial view of workhouse 

!  

Photo 12 Station House and train 
 

!  

Photo 13 Before and after the by pass 

      !  

Photo 24 Parish Church and Village 

!  

Photo 25 Deanery View estate 

!  

Photo 26  Burnhopeside Hall 
Colepike Hall 

!  

Photo 33 Community event 

!  

Photo 34 Community event 

!  

Photo 8 Map of Dere Street 

!  

Photo 9 All Saints Parish Church 

!  

Photo 10 Old houses in centre of village 

!  

Photos 

Photo 1 Peth Bank over Lanchester  LHA 71a or 126a 

!  

Photo 2 Collage of front covers 
Michael Knowles to compile 

Photo 3 Neighbourhood Plan Area / Parish Boundary 

!  

Photo 4 View towards Burnhope 
 

!  

Photo 18 Doras Wood 

 

Photos 19  
Views above the village (suggest use 2,3 and 4) 

!       

    !  

Photo 30 Lanchester Valley Walk 

!  

Photo 31 Siris factory 

!  

Photo 32 Lanchester dairies  

!  

Photo 14  Butterfly Orchid  
  Small Pearl Bordered Fritillary Butterfly (Stuart Priestley) 

!  

Photo 15 Malton Nature Reserve 

 

Photo 17 Smithy at 5 lane ends 

!  

Photo 27 Hollinside 

!   Needs to be lightened 

Photo 28 a,b  Approach roads  Newbiggen Lane 
     Peth Bank 

!  

Photo 29 By pass with open countryside to left 

Photo 5 Village 

!  

Photo 6 Aerial view of fort and LIDAR image (Light Imaging Detection And Ranging) 

       

Photo 7 Map – Examples of roman remains 

!  

!  

Photo 14  Butterfly Orchid  
  Small Pearl Bordered Fritillary Butterfly (Stuart Priestley) 

!  

Photo 15 Malton Nature Reserve 

 

Photo 17 Smithy at 5 lane ends 

      !  

Photo 24 Parish Church and Village 

!  

Photo 25 Deanery View estate 

!  

Photo 26  Burnhopeside Hall 
Colepike Hall 

Photo 8 Map of Dere Street 

!  

Photo 9 All Saints Parish Church 

!  

Photo 10 Old houses in centre of village 

!  

Photo 5 Village 

!  

Photo 6 Aerial view of fort and LIDAR image (Light Imaging Detection And Ranging) 

       

Photo 7 Map – Examples of roman remains 

!  

Photos 

Photo 1 Peth Bank over Lanchester  LHA 71a or 126a 

!  

Photo 2 Collage of front covers 
Michael Knowles to compile 

Photo 3 Neighbourhood Plan Area / Parish Boundary 

!  

Photo 4 View towards Burnhope 
 

!  

Photo 14  Butterfly Orchid  
  Small Pearl Bordered Fritillary Butterfly (Stuart Priestley) 

!  

Photo 15 Malton Nature Reserve 

 

Photo 17 Smithy at 5 lane ends 

    !  

Photo 30 Lanchester Valley Walk 

!  

Photo 31 Siris factory 

!  

Photo 32 Lanchester dairies  

 !  

Photo 20 Front Street 

!  

Photo 20a Flooding  

Photo 5 Village 

!  

Photo 6 Aerial view of fort and LIDAR image (Light Imaging Detection And Ranging) 

       

Photo 7 Map – Examples of roman remains 

!  

Photo 11 Aerial view of workhouse 

!  

Photo 12 Station House and train 
 

!  

Photo 13 Before and after the by pass 

Page 447



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

 

NEIGHBOURHOOD PLAN 
2020 to 2035 

 
March 2021 

 

 

Page 449



2 
 

Table of Contents 
1.0 Introduction ................................................................................................................................ 5 

1.1 Forward by Oakenshaw Neighbourhood Plan Steering Group ............................................... 5 

1.2 How the Neighbourhood Plan Was Prepared ......................................................................... 5 

1.2.1 Steering Group ................................................................................................................ 5 

1.2.2 Consultation .................................................................................................................... 6 

1.3 Designation of the Neighbourhood Plan area ........................................................................ 7 

1.4 Background information about the village ................................................................................... 8 

1.4.1  Brief Village history ........................................................................................................ 8 

1.4.2 Population Growth and Change in Age Demographic .................................................. 10 

1.4.3 Indices of Multiple Deprivation..................................................................................... 10 

1.4.4 Amenities ...................................................................................................................... 10 

1.4.5  Flood Risk and Flood Protection ................................................................................... 11 

1.4.6 Oakenshaw Community ................................................................................................ 12 

1.5 Policy Context and its relationship to the ONP ..................................................................... 13 

1.5.1 Statutory requirements for the ONP outlined in the Localism Act 2011 ...................... 13 

1.5.2 The roles of the ONP outlined in The National Planning Policy Framework 2019 ....... 13 

1.5.3  The relationship between the ONP and local planning policy context ......................... 14 

1.6 What the Neighbourhood Plan Hopes to Achieve ................................................................ 14 

1.6.1 Vision ............................................................................................................................. 14 

1.7 The Structure of the Neighbourhood Plan in relation to the policy context ........................ 15 

2.0 Village Environment .................................................................................................................. 16 

2.1  Policy approach to safeguarding the village environment ................................................... 16 

2.1.1  The Settlement Boundary ............................................................................................. 16 

2.1.2  Environmentally Sensitive Green Area ........................................................................ 16 

2.1.3 Local Green Spaces ....................................................................................................... 18 

2.1.4  Agricultural land ............................................................................................................ 21 

2.2 Key Issues .............................................................................................................................. 22 

2.3 Overall Vision – Village Environment .................................................................................... 22 

2.4 Village Environment Objectives ............................................................................................ 23 

2.5    Environment Development Policies ...................................................................................... 23 

3.0 Housing ........................................................................................................................................... 26 

3.1 Introduction .......................................................................................................................... 26 

3.2  Key issues .............................................................................................................................. 27 

3.3 Overall Vision – Housing ....................................................................................................... 27 

3.4 Housing Development Objectives ......................................................................................... 28 

Page 450



3 
 

3.5 Housing Development Policies.............................................................................................. 29 

4.0 Village Community .................................................................................................................... 34 

4.1 Introduction .......................................................................................................................... 34 

4.2  Key issues .............................................................................................................................. 34 

4.3 Overall Vision – Village Community ...................................................................................... 35 

4.4 Village Community Objectives .............................................................................................. 35 

4.5 Community Development Policies ........................................................................................ 36 

5.0 Village Economy ........................................................................................................................ 38 

5.1 Introduction .......................................................................................................................... 38 

5.2 Key issues .............................................................................................................................. 38 

5.3 Overall Vision – Village Economy .......................................................................................... 39 

5.4 Village Economy Objectives .................................................................................................. 39 

5.5 Economic Development Policies ........................................................................................... 39 

Appendix 1 Community Action Projects ............................................................................................... 43 

App 1.1 Environment ........................................................................................................................ 43 

App 1.2 Community .......................................................................................................................... 43 

App 1.3 Economy .............................................................................................................................. 44 

App 1.4 Green energy and conservation .......................................................................................... 44 

App 1.5 Transport and getting around ............................................................................................. 45 

 

Figures 
Figure 1: Oakenshaw Neighbourhood Plan Area…………………………….……………..…………………………………..8 
Figure 2: Map of Flood Risk………………………………………………….………………….……………………………..……….11 
Figure 3: Plan of Flood Risk Mitigation Strategy.………………………………….……………………………………..……12 
Figure 4: Oakenshaw Neighbourhood Plan Proposals Map……………..…………………….……...………………..17 
Figure 5: Map of Local Green Space 1 (LGS 1) ……………………………………………………………….…….........….19 
Figure 6: Map of Local Green Space 2 (LGS 2) ….…………………..……………………………………...….…………....20 
Figure 7: Map of Local Green Space 3 (LGS 3) …………………………………………..………………….…………....….21 
 

Tables 
Table Appendix 1.2 Potential Activities in the Community Hub……………………………………………...…….…43 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 451



4 
 

Explanatory note post examination, in March 2021. Following the examination of the Submission 
Draft of the Oakenshaw Neighbourhood Plan a number of modifications were required to make the 
plan accord with the basic conditions. All of these modifications have been implemented here in this 
document now being put forward for referendum in May 2021. At the time of submission, the 
County Durham Plan was also in preparation. It was formally Adopted in October 2020 and, 
accordingly, all references in the following text to the stage of preparation of the County Durham 
Plan are superseded; it is now the principal statutory development plan for all parts of County 
Durham. Similarly, all references to the Wear Valley Local Plan are now redundant as it has ceased to 
have any status.  

Page 452



5 
 

1.0 Introduction 
 

1.1 Forward by Oakenshaw Neighbourhood Plan Steering Group 
 

The Oakenshaw Neighbourhood Plan (ONP) sets out the future development strategy for 
Oakenshaw for the period 2020 to 2035.  Under the auspices of Greater Willington Town 
Council as the qualifying body, the plan has been developed by the community of the village, so 
that their voice is heard in the determination of planning applications, which directly impact on 
their lives. 

Oakenshaw has a rich heritage and a strong community.  While this has in many ways shaped 
the development of the village, Oakenshaw is transformed from the days of coal mining.  The 
setting of the village in open countryside and its proximity to Durham City provide opportunities 
and challenges for the development of the village that this Neighbourhood Plan seeks to 
address.  

Community engagement has been central to the development of this Neighbourhood Plan.  The 
views of the entire community have been sought and incorporated into its preparation.  The 
plan has been over 5 years in preparation.   

We pay tribute to the late Kate McNulty, member of the Steering Group and without whom the 
Neighbourhood Plan may never have got off the ground.  Her drive and enthusiasm were 
infectious and are sadly missed.   

On behalf of the Neighbourhood Plan Steering Group, we would like to take this opportunity to 
thank all those who have contributed into the plan making process.   

Sally Corbett      Cllr Fraser Tinsley 

Chair, Oakenshaw NP Steering Group   Town Mayor, Greater Willington  

 

1.2 How the Neighbourhood Plan Was Prepared 
 

 1.2.1 Steering Group 
Oakenshaw has a very active and well organised community association (OCA) that 
is keen to support the development of the ONP. Two OCA committee members and 
a representative of Greater Willington Town Council (GWTC) formed a steering 
group under the auspices of GWTC. The group met regularly to project manage the 
development of a plan. It was agreed that the OCA members of the steering group 
should act independently of the OCA as not all village residents belonged to the 
association at that time. The OCA provided practical support such as delivering 
flyers, offering information and advice, providing an established infrastructure to 
disseminate information and to report progress in various ways, at meetings and 
social events, in the newsletter, on the village noticeboards, via Facebook and a 
website. Other residents were co-opted into the steering group to help with tasks 

Page 453



6 
 

such as defining the perimeter of the neighbourhood area, hosting focus groups and 
providing IT support. 

Two successful grants enabled us to commission expert advice and guidance from a 
planning consultant who ran workshops, developed one topic area to provide a 
template for preparing the evidence for other topics, reviewed topic papers written 
by the steering group, advised and carried out a health check to ensure consistency 
during the development of the final policies. 

The steering group produced and continually revised a Project plan and GANTT chart 
to time-manage the project and tasks, according to each stage of the process.  

1.2.2 Consultation 
The steering group decided not to survey residents to elicit ideas for the ONP, as a 
survey with an 86% return rate had recently been carried out by the OCA to 
determine spending priorities. Instead the consultation strategy used an iterative 
process of gathering opinions and ideas at any event where residents met, such as 
the OCA AGM, and social events. Residents were asked to write ideas on post-it 
notes, and these were transcribed and copied into a master document for analysis. 
Following the initial round of consultations, the cumulative ideas were fedback to 
residents using presentations at meetings and at an ONP open day held on 
December 3rd, 2016.   

In addition to informal information gathering, a systematic consultation was 
conducted using nine focus groups hosted by residents in their homes in different 
parts of the village. For each focus group invitations were issued to all residents 
living in the same area, thus all villagers were invited to a focus group at some stage. 
Those attending were asked what they would like to preserve, improve, or develop 
in the village. They generated and discussed ideas often reaching consensus within 
each group. Ideas were noted down on post-it notes which were transcribed and a 
summary of these ideas was delivered to all those originally invited, whether they 
had attended the focus group or not. Contact details of the steering group were 
provided so that other comments could be emailed or left on an answer machine. 
These ideas were added to a master document for analysis. Every resident in the 
village had been invited to attend a focus group and informed of the outcomes of 
the group they had been invited to attend, excepting two landowners, and three 
local small business owners who were all seen separately. One caveat is that 
summating the comments provides only an approximate indication of the level of 
endorsement as not everyone wrote down their ideas, especially where another 
group member had already recorded the same idea. If anything, summation 
underestimates those endorsing an idea, but the data is better used qualitatively to 
capture the range and content of the ideas.  

All ideas that had been transcribed and recorded on the master document were 
analysed and grouped by subject matter. Transcribed comments were organised to 
show the level of support or opposition to the ideas expressed and categorised 
according to its suitability for planning policy, or a non-planning issue, or a 

Page 454



7 
 

community action project. Key issues were identified for each subject area and 
objectives were formulated. Topic papers were prepared for each subject and are 
available in evidence files. The organised issue tables are shown in the appendices 
for each topic paper. In addition to specific topics broad aims and outcomes were 
discussed and distilled into an overall vision for the future. 

Progress on the ONP was reported in newsletters and at all public meetings. A draft 
plan was put onto the GWTC website: 

http://www.gwtc.co.uk/assets/180725-onp-consultation-draft.pdf 

and residents provided with the link. Flyers were delivered to every household to 
invite residents to a neighbourhood plan open day held on 28th July 2018 which, in 
addition to a poster board display about the plan, included musical entertainment 
and refreshments.  

The plan was amended following feedback received from this first consultation. The 
amended version was accepted on the 8th October 2019 by Greater Willington Town 
Council to be displayed and circulated for public consultation from 0ctober 9th until 
November 22nd 2019.All residents within the ONP area were notified of the public 
consultation using the Newsletter delivered to every household and by Facebook. 
Over 75 organisations and residents bordering the Neighbourhood Plan Area were 
notified of the public consultation by email or letter posted or delivered by hand. 
The consultation strategy, feedback and further amendments have been detailed in 
the Public Consultation electronic folder submitted with this plan. 

1.3 Designation of the Neighbourhood Plan area 
 

 Oakenshaw is a small village in County Durham, situated a mile and a half from 
Willington to the south, and Brancepeth to the east. Its unique industrial 
archaeology has shaped the main settlement area, the surrounding landscape and 
economic activity to the present day. The main settlement is separated from Park 
View to the south by agricultural land. Residents of Park Street, further down the hill 
towards Willington are required to vote in Oakenshaw. Local farmers outside the 
main settlement had been very active in previous iterations of the Oakenshaw 
Community Association (OCA) and residents in outlying cottages are now members 
of the OCA.  
 
To determine the outer perimeter of Oakenshaw for the Neighbourhood Plan, five 
residents including two from the steering group walked around the areas that might 
prove to be contentious. Residents of the surrounding farms and cottages were 
asked if they perceived themselves to be part of the village and if not, whether they 
would have any objection to their property being included in the neighbourhood 
plan. Following this consultation, a red line was drawn on a map to designate the 
area included in the neighbourhood plan (Figure 1). The area within the red line 
drawn on the map can be fully justified (See Appendix 1.4 of the Introduction topic 
file) using notes taken from consultations with residents about the perimeter of the 
ONP. The Neighbourhood Plan area was approved by Greater Willington Town 

Page 455

http://www.gwtc.co.uk/assets/180725-onp-consultation-draft.pdf


8 
 

Council subject to consultation with Brancepeth Parish Council and approval from 
Durham County Council. 

Brancepeth Parish Council was consulted to ensure there was no similar 
neighbourhood plan or potential overlap of particular areas. The map on the website 
(http://www.visionofbritain.org.uk/unit/10144309/boundary#) shows the parish 
boundary. There is some overlap between the boundaries of Brancepeth church 
parish boundary and that of the ONP towards Stockley Beck. Advice was sought from 
Durham County Council Planning Department about the feasibility of the ONP area 
for planning purposes. Their view was that Stockley is included in the same parish as 
Oakenshaw (i.e. both within Willington). Stockley is only in Brancepeth in respect of 
the church parish, which is not coterminous with the local government area and this 
would not be regarded as a problem. 

Durham County Council granted approval for the application to designate a 
Neighbourhood Area in accordance with the boundaries specified on the submitted 
plan on 26th November 2015. 

 The Neighbourhood Plan Area is identified in Figure 1. 

Figure 1: Oakenshaw Neighbourhood Plan Area 

 

1.4 Background information about the village 
 

1.4.1  Brief Village history 
The Oakenshaw area was famous before the introduction of coal mining as an area 
of forest. Oaks have been grown and felled in this area for centuries and more 
recently trees were planted to supply pit props. Oaks still exist in the woods today. 
 

Page 456

http://www.visionofbritain.org.uk/unit/10144309/boundary


9 
 

The village retains features from its industrial past such as the pit entrance situated 
at the junction of Reed Avenue with Stockley Lane now converted into a private 
home. It also retains, to this day, what may be the longest continuous row of pit 
cottages remaining in County Durham. The long gardens of New Row were originally 
bounded by a solid wall, the other side of which the waggonway ran, taking coal and 
slag to Willington. This was later replaced by a road and an aerial flight for the 
wagons which ran parallel to the east of the road. Today gates in the wall allow 
access to the main road to Willington (Marked as Reed Avenue on ONS explorer map 
305).  

Whilst the colliery was operating the village enjoyed many amenities including the 
miner’s institute, chapels, a shop, a school, a garage, the working men’s club, a 
cricket pitch, and small home enterprises operating out of back doors including two 
sweet shops. Designated for no further development after the pit closed 
approximately fifty years ago (Category D), several rows of houses were demolished, 
the remainder sold off to private ownership. The village lost all local amenities when 
finally, the working men’s club fell into disrepair and was burnt down in an arson 
attack in 2002. Oakenshaw Community Association (OCA) meetings are now held in 
Willington as there is no community meeting place in the village. 

During the post Second World War years the Coal Board and private companies 
carried out extensive open cast mining between Tow Law and Brancepeth. Open cast 
coal extraction occurred on three sides of the main Oakenshaw settlement, some 
areas being reopened twice. In the 1980’s the ‘bleak wasteland’ (Report prepared to 
object to further opencast development) created by the cumulative impact of 
continuous mining, slowly recovered. Restoration of the Nackshivan open cast to 
agricultural land, the closure of the pit and conversion of pit head buildings, 
reclamation of the waste heap, the removal of the aerial flight and landscaping of 
the land following its course down the hill to Willington, created an open rural 
environment. The field opposite New Row (grid ref NZ 20119 37352) was restored 
and protected by covenant for agricultural use only as recompense for the long-term 
impact of open casting on the quality of life of residents. It has now been divided 
into small grazing plots and remains a valued green space despite recent plans to 
build a residence on one of the plots. 

In 1991 open cast mining recommenced to the north of Park House Farm despite 
considerable opposition by residents concerned about the resumption of extraction 
causing noise, dust, and the repeated decimation of the countryside. After this was 
discontinued in 1993, a nature reserve (grid reference 20594 37023) was created by 
Banks Group, with three small lakes surrounded by commercial woodland. The 
nature reserve was officially opened by Tony Blair MP in 1996 and has since 
increased in biodiversity of flora, fauna and fungi. This is a highly valued local green 
space giving Oakenshaw a unique amenity. It is used by residents and visitors 
interested in its diverse wildlife, for walking and is popular with dog owners. 

A report completed in the early nineties for H.J.Banks & Co Ltd by the Agricultural 
Development and Advisory Service – Ecological assessment identified the likelihood 

Page 457



10 
 

of an area of Ancient Woodland along the Eastern boundary of the reserve because 
of ditch and bank features found there. The Southern section of broadleaved 
woodland adjoining the South Eastern corner is also identified as ancient woodland 
where bluebells and wood sorrel grow and these sites could have had a continuous 
history of tree cover since at least 1600. Ancient woodland is known to be of high 
value to wildlife and can contain species not normally found elsewhere.  Policies to 
protect ancient woodland of this type are found in the Wear Valley District Local 
Plan 1997 (ENV15), and the emergent County Durham Plan (Policy 41). 

Included in the wider Neighbourhood Plan area is Nackshivan Farm, built in the late 
18th Century and used as a base by the artist J.M.W. Turner during his visit to the 
North East in 1817. This non-designated heritage asset is a working farm and 
development on this site would be subject to Policy BE1 of the Wear Valley District 
Local Plan and Policy 25 of the County Durham Plan.  

 
1.4.2 Population Growth and Change in Age Demographic 

Despite its category D status following the closure of the pit, the population of 
Oakenshaw has grown. The Wear Valley District Local Plan (1997) cites the 
population of Oakenshaw as 264, based on the 1991 census. Wikipedia 
(https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Oakenshaw, County Durham) cites the 2001 census 
data, showing the population had grown to 470. As the area became more desirable, 
incomers to the village, mainly moving to new housing areas built at the southern 
end of the main settlement, led to a further population increase. Using the census 
output area which includes a few dwellings not within the ONP boundary, the 
2011census shows a further rise in the population to 565. Whilst these figures are 
based in slightly different output areas, census data indicates a steady rise in 
population. Not only has the population grown, but the composition of it has 
altered. The age profile of the village population has changed as follows: 

• A decrease in the proportion of children aged 0 to 15 years from 21% to 15% 
• An increase in the proportion of older people over 65 from 11% to 19% 
• A slight decrease in the proportion of people of working age (16 to 64 years) 

from 68% to 66% 

1.4.3 Indices of Multiple Deprivation 
Current indices of multiple deprivation (IMD) indicate that Oakenshaw post codes 
DL15 0TE and DL15 OTB are on the 4th decile overall, scoring lower for health and 
wellbeing (3rd decile) and barriers to housing (2nd decile). These lower scores may be 
explained in terms of the age of the population, and the age of some of the housing 
stock in these post code areas. Levels of education tend to be higher (6th decile), 
reflecting the number of professionals and retired academics resident in the village 
who may have skewed the results.  

1.4.4 Amenities 
Despite the steady rise in population, indoor public amenities, previously lost, have 
not been restored or developed in response to demographic change. 

Page 458



11 
 

New outdoor amenities have been developed. In 1993, following the cessation of 
open cast mining to the east of the village, a Wildlife Nature Reserve was created on 
restored land consisting of woodland and pond areas. The reserve is surrounded by 
woodland which also supports wildlife habitat. The village also has a large, public, 
open field (referred to as ‘the green’ although it has not been designated as a village 
green) which runs parallel to the west of New Row with a small football pitch, 
multiple use games area and children’s play area.  West of this field are allotments, 
one of which has been designated a community orchard garden with sheltered 
seating areas, providing residents with the opportunity to engage in communal 
gardening. The IMD index for the living environment is rated above average at the 
7th decile. 

Public transport is limited necessitating high levels of car ownership and provision of 
parking. The village is served by an hourly bus to Bishop Auckland which does not 
run after 5.15 in the evening or on Sundays. To get to Durham or Crook, it is 
necessary to change buses in Willington; buses running every 20 minutes through 
Willington. 

1.4.5  Flood Risk and Flood Protection 
The Green has a clay base with topsoil. Following prolonged dry weather, the ground 
is hard and the trees become distressed. After heavy rain the ground becomes 
extremely soft and difficult even to walk across, limiting its use as a public amenity. 
There is considerable rain-water run-off (see Figure 2) especially after a dry spell 
when rain falls on hard ground. In recent years run-off across the green and down 
Reed Avenue has overwhelmed the drainage into the culvert at the bottom of 
Institute Street resulting in flooding up to a depth of three feet in the bottom five 
houses. 

 

Figure 2: Map of Flood Risk 

Page 459



12 
 

In 2014, to reduce flood risk, drainage pipes and ditches were installed (Figure 3) 
parallel to the access road to the allotments (shown in green and yellow) and across 
the lower part of the green into a drainage ditch to reduce the speed of water run-
off. Any strategy for the development of the green to improve its use as a public 
amenity will need to take account of the ground conditions, rain-water run-off and 
the location of drainage pipes and ditches designed to reduce flood risk. 

 

Figure 3: Plan of Food Risk Mitigation Strategy 

1.4.6 Oakenshaw Community 
There is a strong community, underpinned by the work of the Oakenshaw 
Community Association (OCA). In recent years residents have organised bulb 
planting, planters throughout the village, litter picks and open-air events to bring the 
community together.  They have taken pride in the appearance of the village.  The 
OCA has raised over £200,000 both within the village from the residents and through 
external grants. With this money new local amenities have been created such as a 
Play area, Multiple Use Games Area (MUGA), tree planting and a community 
orchard. The Association has recently negotiated income for the next twenty years, 
to use for community benefit, from a new wind turbine development. Residents 
have been asked how they would like to spend this money using a survey and at 
regular meetings. The key areas identified for expenditure through the community 
consultation were considered when developing the ONP. Some of these projects 

Page 460



13 
 

have already been completed. The remaining projects will be incorporated into a 
broader plan for the village.  

The residents feel proud of their achievements and can see direct benefits. These 
efforts have made Oakenshaw a desirable village to live in, have attracted new 
residents and the development of new built homes. 

 
 

1.5 Policy Context and its relationship to the ONP 
 

Statutory requirements, the National Planning Policy Framework, and Local Planning 
Policies have been used to identify the conditions, sustainable elements and 
structure of the ONP. This neighbourhood plan meets statutory requirements and 
forms part of the development plan used for determining planning applications.  

1.5.1 Statutory requirements for the ONP outlined in the Localism Act 2011 
The right for communities to prepare Neighbourhood Plans was established by the 
Localism Act 2011, which was accompanied by the Neighbourhood Planning 
Regulations 2012. As a result, Neighbourhood Plans are required to meet a number 
of basic conditions which are detailed within paragraph 8, schedule 4B of the 1990 
Town and Country Planning Act, as inserted by the provision of Schedule 10 of The 
Localism Act. The basic conditions require that the Oakenshaw Neighbourhood Plan 
(ONP):  

• is prepared having regard to national policies and advice issued by the 
Secretary of State.  

• contributes to the achievement of sustainable development.  
• is in general conformity with the strategic policies contained in the 

development plan for the area.  
• does not breach, and is otherwise compatible with, EU obligations 

1.5.2 The roles of the ONP outlined in The National Planning Policy Framework 
2019 
The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF 2019 part 2) notes that there are 
three elements to sustainable development; economic, social and environmental 
and as such the planning system (of which the ONP will form part) needs to perform 
three roles:  

a) an economic objective – to help build a strong, responsive and competitive 
economy, by ensuring that sufficient land of the right type is available in the right 
places and at the right time to support growth, innovation and improved 
productivity; and by identifying and coordinating the provision of infrastructure;  

b) a social objective – to support strong, vibrant and healthy communities, by 
ensuring that a sufficient number and range of homes can be provided to meet the 
needs of present and future generations; and by fostering a well-designed and safe 

Page 461



14 
 

built environment, with accessible services and open spaces that reflect current and 
future needs and support communities’ health, social and cultural well-being; and  

c) an environmental objective – to contribute to protecting and enhancing our 
natural, built and historic environment; including making effective use of land, 
helping to improve biodiversity, using natural resources prudently, minimising waste 
and pollution, and mitigating and adapting to climate change, including moving to a 
low carbon economy.  

Pursuing sustainable development involves seeking positive improvement in the 
quality of the built, natural and historic environment, as well as in people’s quality of 
life, including but not limited to:  

• Making it easier for jobs to be created; 
• Moving from a net loss of bio-diversity to achieving net gains for the future; 
• Replacing poor design with better design; 
• Improving the conditions in which people live, work, travel and take leisure; 
• Widening the choice of high-quality homes. 

1.5.3  The relationship between the ONP and local planning policy context 
This Neighbourhood Plan has been conceived to directly address the policy context 
provided by The localism Act (2011), the NPPF19, the extant Wear Valley District 
Local Plan (1997) and the emergent County Durham Plan 2019 which has yet to be 
finalised and ratified. This includes a presumption in favour of sustainable 
development. In addition to these, the ONP aims to address the specific local issues 
raised by the residents of Oakenshaw. The ONP should be considered as a whole and 
read in conjunction with national and local planning policies. 

 

1.6 What the Neighbourhood Plan Hopes to Achieve 
 

Amongst other things, the Neighbourhood Plan, which has emerged through local 
activity, aims to protect and improve green space and identify new areas for 
development. We seek to build on the current strengths and interests of the village, 
and the work of the community association to maintain and enhance the 
appearance of the village, restore amenities and create a vibrant future within a 
pleasant rural environment. 

1.6.1 Vision 
Following extensive consultation with residents, their aims and desired outcomes for 
the village were used to formulate the following overall vision for the Oakenshaw 
Neighbourhood Plan: 

‘That Oakenshaw retains and reinforces its character as an environmentally 
friendly village in a distinctly open rural setting. The green spaces and 
environmental assets of the Neighbourhood Area will be protected and 

Page 462



15 
 

enhanced, and support given to providing housing, facilities, amenities and 
opportunities that help promote a flourishing community and economy.’ 
 

This overall vision seeks to build on the village’s key attributes (rural character and 
setting, open spaces, historic sense of community and embracing of sustainable 
energy) with an understanding that these are positive characteristics to be sustained 
and developed. 

 

1.7 The Structure of the Neighbourhood Plan in relation to the policy context 
 

The structure of the Neighbourhood Plan directly addresses the three elements of 
sustainable development (economic, social and environmental) identified in part 2, 
paragraph 8 of the NPPF19.  The Neighbourhood Plan also addresses the issue of 
housing which is a focus for national planning policy and a key issue in the future 
development of Oakenshaw. The village environment is described first and the 
related policies in order to provide information about the topography, settlement 
areas and sensitive areas that provide a setting for all other policies. 

The Neighbourhood Plan is structured as follows: 

Chapter 2.0  Village Environment  

Chapter 3.0  Housing  

Chapter 4.0  Village Community 

Chapter 5.0  Village Economy 

Each chapter defines the vision for a specific topic that emerged during consultation 
with the community, evidence from a variety of sources, key issues identified by 
residents, objectives based on evidence and key issues, and the consequential 
policies for that topic. 

Page 463



16 
 

2.0 Village Environment 
 

Policy in this chapter relates to the village environment, valued landscapes, local green 
spaces and largely reclaimed agricultural land. These are shown on the ONP Proposals Map 
(Figure 4) and are described below. 

2.1  Policy approach to safeguarding the village environment 
 

2.1.1  The Settlement Boundary 
Within the neighbourhood plan area the Oakenshaw settlement was built from the 1850’s as 
a colliery village for workers at the pit owned by Messrs. Straker & Love. The settlement is 
divided by agricultural land which separates Park View to the south from the main 
settlement.  On the ONP Proposals Map (Figure 4) a black line has been drawn that joins the 
two main settlement areas in the village and includes a small area of agricultural land. This 
provides a clearly defined and coherent settlement boundary that incorporates Park View to 
the South and maintains the linear form of the village which contributes to the village’s 
distinctly open rural setting and shows separation from surrounding settlements. 

2.1.2  Environmentally Sensitive Green Area 
The agricultural land on three sides of the settlement boundary shaded light green on the ONP 
proposals map (Figure 4) is a sensitive green area which has an important role in defining the 
linear form of Oakenshaw, maintaining the village’s distinctly open rural setting and creates 
an area of separation from nearby settlements.   
 

Page 464



17 
 

 
Figure4: Oakenshaw Neighbourhood Plan Proposals Map 

  

Page 465



18 
 

2.1.3 Local Green Spaces 
Within the settlement boundary and to the east of the settlement are three locations 
shaded dark green on the ONP Proposals Map (Figure 4). These areas, recognised during 
consultations as most important to residents of Oakenshaw, are now designated as Local 
Green Spaces (LGS) in accordance with NPPF 19 (Section 8: paragraphs 99, 100, 101).  

The numbers of these local Green Spaces (LGS) correspond to the areas numbered LGS1 to 
LGS3 on the Oakenshaw Proposals Map (Figure 4) and shown are in more detail in Figures 5, 
6 and 7.  

LGS 1 The small wooded area adjacent to Stockley Lane (Figure 5: Grid Ref. NZ 19908 37441)  

LGS 2 The village green (Grid Ref. NZ 19959 37379 to 20058 37050) and a small copse on the 
south western edge of the green by the MUGA (Figure 6: Grid Ref. NZ 20043 36971).  

LGS 3 The nature reserve (including three small lakes) (Figure 7: Grid Ref. NZ 20596 37033).  

LGS1 shields the village from noise and particulate pollution from Stockley Lane and provides 
habitat for hedgehogs, birds and bats. The village green (LGS2) is a valued recreational 
amenity, preserving open green space and the rural character of the village. The nature 
reserve (LGS3) supports diverse wildlife with its woodland habitat and ancient woodland. 
These sites are of significant value to residents and visitors as an environmental resource 
and well used amenities.  

 

Page 466



19 
 

 

Figure 5: Local Green Space 1(LGS 1) 

Page 467



20 
 

Figure 6: Local Green Space 2 (LGS 2) 

 

Page 468



21 
 

Figure 7: Local Green Space 3 (LGS 3) 

2.1.4  Agricultural land 
The remaining agricultural land in the neighbourhood plan area, beyond the sensitive areas, 
is partly shown on the proposals map and left white. This is largely reclaimed land after 
open cast mining.  

  

Page 469



22 
 

2.2 Key Issues 
 

The settlement boundary and surrounding sensitive area affording valued views have an 
important role in defining the character of Oakenshaw as a distinct linear village in open 
countryside and providing wildlife corridors. The Local Green Spaces (LGS) are amenity areas, 
providing screening and wildlife habitat. These areas are of critical importance to the quality 
of life in Oakenshaw and the rural character of the village. This view was heavily endorsed 
during focus group consultations and many people said it was a reason for choosing to live in 
the area. Issues raised in the consultation were grouped by subject in the ‘organised issues 
table – village environment’ and can be found in the evidence folder.  
 
The following key issues emerged during consultations and were used to inform the aims, 
objectives and policies. 

 

1. Preserve the peace and quiet of the village (15 comments) 

2. Preserve the open rural views around the village (31 comments) 

3. Protect and improve the field known locally as the ‘green’ west of New Row to 
become more of a local amenity by improving drainage, lighting and play areas (32 
comments)    

4. Protect the wooded area adjacent to Stockley Lane to the north of the village (4 
comments) 

5. Preserve and protect local wildlife habitats (the woodland and nature reserve) and 
improve access (21 comments) 

6. Preserve and protect the field east of New Row adjacent to the woodland and nature 
reserve for small scale agricultural use only (7 comments in favour with one against) 

7. Preserve and protect the agricultural land south of Park View to separate it from 
Willington (3 comments) and west of Country View (1 comment) 

8. Retain and protect existing wildlife corridors and encourage biodiversity by planting 
trees and enhancing the green infrastructure (12 comments). 

2.3 Overall Vision – Village Environment 
 

The overall vision for the environment in Oakenshaw is defined as follows: 
 
Protection and enhancement of the valued green spaces, environmental assets of the 
village and the wider neighbourhood area for the important roles they fulfil. They 
provide an amenity for residents, maintain separation between Oakenshaw and 
Willington, and define the unique character of Oakenshaw as a linear village set in 
open countryside with strong demarcation between built fabric and the open 
countryside. 

Page 470



23 
 

2.4 Village Environment Objectives 
 

Key issues informed the following objectives which have been identified to realise and 
specifically address the overall vision for village environment in Oakenshaw.  They also seek to 
manage the environment of the village to retain its character as a distinct linear settlement 
where the open rural context and strong settlement boundaries are integral to its form. 

 
1. To retain the distinct identity of Oakenshaw by designating green areas 

surrounding the village that are integral to maintaining its rural character and 
linear form set in open countryside with strong demarcation between built 
fabric and open countryside. (Key issue 1,2, 5,6,7) 

2. To retain, maintain and improve the valued green spaces identified by residents 
within the settlement area, and the nature reserve (key issues 3, 4, 5). 

3. Protect the nature reserve and surrounding woodland to enable wildlife to 
flourish and enhance this valued amenity for all who use it (key issue 5). 

4. To increase tree planting to reduce noise and pollution from the main roads, to 
create a wildlife corridor and habitat, and to sustain the green and leafy 
character of the ONP area (key issue 8). 

 

2.5    Environment Development Policies 
The following policies are created to achieve the objectives above which were developed 
from the key issues identified in the consultation exercise. They are intended to inform and 
guide proposals for any new development in the village and surrounding area and their 
subsequent determination in the development management process. 

High regard is given to the value of local green spaces as an amenity for residents in terms of 
recreation and views from the village to the surrounding open countryside, this being a key 
characteristic of the village. 
 
ONP ENV 1- Maintaining the Open Rural Character and Areas of Separation  
New development will be focused within the Oakenshaw Settlement Boundary as defined 
on the ONP Proposals Map (Figure4). Sustainable development proposals within the 
settlement boundary will be supported. Development must respect the character and 
appearance of the Sensitive Areas shaded in light green on the Proposals Map and retain 
Oakenshaw’s qualities as a distinct linear settlement surrounded by open countryside.   
The enhancement of the Neighbourhood Area’s biodiversity, green corridors and 
environmental quality will be supported.  

 
Justification for ONP ENV 1 
This policy seeks to direct development to suitable locations within the neighbourhood plan 
area by focusing new development within the main Oakenshaw settlement. This approach 

Page 471



24 
 

provides for sustainable growth in Oakenshaw, for which there is no current housing 
allocation.  

Landscape setting, trees and green open spaces were cited as one of the many positive 
aspects of the unique character of the village and surrounding area and are therefore of vital 
importance to residents. Protecting and enhancing our environment and improving its 
biodiversity and green infrastructure was mentioned frequently during the consultation 
process. This includes retaining areas of woodland which act to screen noise and particulate 
pollution from the surrounding road network.    

The land east of the village is considered to be particularly important as a sensitive edge, 
maintaining the open rural character of the village, defining the village boundary and 
preserving the amenity of open space and tranquillity. 

The Sensitive Areas around the settlement include areas rich in biodiversity. Sensitive Areas 
are locally valued for, amongst other things, supporting wildlife, providing green corridors, 
reducing noise and pollution, encouraging recreation and contributing to the settlements 
distinctive and separate identity. Strong settlement edges and green boundaries provide 
clarity and certainty as to where the village ends and the open countryside begins. 

Meets Objectives 1 and 4  
 
ONP ENV 2 - Local Green Spaces  
The areas shown on Figure 4 (Proposals Map) and Figures 5, 6, and 7 (Local Green Space) 
are designated for protection as Local Green Space. Within the Local Green Spaces, the 
management of development will be consistent with that for development within Green 
Belts. 

 
Justification for ONP ENV 2 
This policy accords with the NPPF 19 (Section 8: paragraph 99) which states that ‘The 
designation of land as Local Green Space through local and neighbourhood plans allows 
communities to identify and protect green areas of particular importance to them.’ This 
affords protection from development other than in very special circumstances.   

The NPPF19 (section 8 paragraph 100), also states: 

The Local Green Space designation should only be used where the green space is:  

a) in reasonably close proximity to the community it serves; 

b) demonstrably special to a local community and holds a particular local 
significance, for example because of its beauty, historic significance, recreational 
value (including as a playing field), tranquillity or richness of its wildlife; and  

c) local in character and is not an extensive tract of land.  

These three conditions are met. Residents have identified three clearly defined areas they 
wish to designate as Local Green Spaces because of their beauty, tranquillity and recreational 
value to all. The copse (LGS 1: Figure 5) and village green (LGS 2: Figure 6) both lie within the 
settlement boundary (ONP proposals map Figure 4) and the nature reserve to the east of the 

Page 472



25 
 

village (LGS 3: Figure 7) is in close proximity to the village. All are important and valued by 
residents of all ages who wish to conserve the unique and special character of the village and 
surrounding area.  

Since its inception in 2007 Oakenshaw Community Association has been tasked by the 
residents of the village to conserve and enhance the green infrastructure by planting more 
trees, flowers and shrubs and caring for the local green spaces. Improvements include bird 
boxes and wildlife habitats in the copse, seating and pathways in the nature reserve, and 
provision of recreational facilities on the green. Improvement and enhancement are locally 
supported and ongoing. 

Meets Objectives 2 & 3 
 

ONP ENV 3 – Green Infrastructure and Natural Landscape 
Development must respect the Neighbourhood Area’s distinctive landscape character (as 
described in the County Durham Landscape Character Assessment, 2008) and should not 
result in loss of, or damage to, hedgerows, trees, or other forms of biodiversity value. 
Should the removal of a tree or group of trees be demonstrated to be necessary, such 
trees should be replaced with a similar number of trees in an appropriate nearby location, 
using native disease resistant species. The planting and/or enhancement of trees and 
hedgerows and net gains in biodiversity will be supported. 

 
Justification for ONP ENV 3 
This policy recognises that new development may on occasion impact upon vegetation and 
sets out appropriate mitigation in such circumstances and is in accord with WVDLP 1997 
(Policies for protection of trees and conservation of nature; ENV11, ENV12, ENV15, ENV16), 
and NPPF 19 (Section 5).  ONP ENV 3 specifically aims to protect the green infrastructure in 
the wider ONP area (Figure 1). The policy aims to protect existing trees and hedgerows and 
encourage the planting of more trees and hedgerows to create and enhance wildlife 
corridors. However, should it be necessary to remove trees then the impact could be 
mitigated by replanting appropriate species in a nearby location, although this is not ideal as 
habitat that is destroyed can take a long time to re-establish.  

Oakenshaw residents value the existing high ridge and valley farmland, copses, lowland 
woods, and open pastures surrounding the village and in the wider Neighbourhood Plan 
area. See Durham Landscape Character Assessment, 2008; West Durham Coalfield Local 
Landscape Types map. 

Residents wished to protect the valued views and open rural setting surrounding the village. 
A number of their comments related more specifically to preventing building on open 
agricultural fields close to the village.  

Meets Objectives 1, 4. 

Page 473



26 
 

3.0 Housing 
 

3.1 Introduction 
 

The population of Oakenshaw was estimated to be 565 in 20151.  This is more than 
double the 1991 population of 264.  Much of this population increase has resulted 
from inward migration to the village that has been accommodated to a large extent 
in new residential development.  This has typically been in the form of individual 
dwellings or small clusters of new houses. Noticeable trends in population change in 
the Oakenshaw Neighbourhood Area since 2001 have been – 

• a steady decrease in the proportion of children (0-15 years) from 21% to 15% 
• a steady increase in the proportion of older people (65+) from 11% to 19% 
• a marginal decrease in the proportion of working age (16-64) people from 68% 

to 66% 

In simple terms, the trends in the age profile of residents show that the proportion 
of families with young children has declined, whilst the proportion of older people 
has increased.  This has implications for the type of housing required in the village 
which should be more suited to older people. However, the availability of low cost 
housing may reverse the decline in families with young children. 

 
A count of the type of housing was carried out by the steering group (see the topic 
paper for housing). The resident population of Oakenshaw is accommodated in 223 
dwellings.  This equates to 2.5 persons per dwelling, which is slightly higher than the 
national average of 2.3 persons per dwelling.  There are 127 ‘older’ houses and 96 
‘new build’ houses in Oakenshaw.  Older houses are generally terraced houses with 
slate roofs, while new build houses are detached, semi-detached or bungalows, with 
an eclectic mix of exterior designs; brick built, stone clad or rendered with slate or 
pantiles on roofs. 

 
Information from Durham County Council’s planning records show that, over the 
period 2005-2012, planning permission was granted for a total of 12 new dwellings 
(of which 3 were from a conversion scheme). All 12 of the approved dwellings have 
since been built. 

 
The SHLAA is a study to identify sites within County Durham which have the 
potential for housing development (NB – this does not automatically mean that they 
will come forward for development). Reference to the mapping part of the SHLAA 
2019 and the CDP 2019 (p 50) shows that there are no identified sites within the 
Neighbourhood Plan Area of Oakenshaw.  
 
Policies in the ONP will, as part of the development plan, help to provide the basis 
for considering windfall proposals in the Neighbourhood Area. The Neighbourhood 

Page 474



27 
 

Plan seeks to encourage opportunities to respond positively to the demographic 
changes and rate of build described above as well as issues arising from the public 
consultation (see key issues below).  
 

3.2  Key issues 
 
Residents invited to attend one of nine focus group discussions identified issues they 
felt were important which they recorded on post-it notes. These were amalgamated 
with data gathered during public meetings and social events. These issues were 
grouped by subject matter and organised in a table into planning or non-planning 
issues, and community action projects. The organised issues table for housing is 
available in the evidence folder. Ten planning issues were identified as follows: 

1. New housing should take account of the rate of build over the last 10 years 
(approximately 15 to 20 houses) and be proportionate to the scale of the 
settlement. 

2. Confine new housing development to small scale/infill sites well integrated into 
the village (not large satellite estates) (6 comments) and maintain the rural feel 
and open spaces surrounding the village (13 comments and see policy ONP 
ENV1) 

3. Keep Oakenshaw a separate entity, not an extension of Willington (3 comments) 
4. Newly built houses should blend with the rural character of the village and be of 

appropriate type, style and size. 
5. New houses should incorporate sustainable green energy solutions and high 

levels of insulation (3 comments, but 15 more comments recorded in the green 
energy organised issues table in the evidence folder) 

6. There is a need for sheltered level access social housing for older or disabled 
residents (21 comments) 

7. There is a need to attract younger families to the village with affordable and 
starter homes to reverse the demographic trend (4 comments in favour, 1 
against) 

8. More executive and high-end housing to attract commuters or people working 
from home to the village (3 comments in favour and 1 against) 

9. Concerns were expressed about flooding, utilities (old water pipes) and pressure 
on amenities and services, such as schools (6 comments). 

10. Overall, there was a desire to ensure easy access to all parts of the village 
requiring well maintained footpaths with ramps, roads (9 comments in 
organised issues table concerning getting around) and parking space (8 
comments in organised issues table concerning getting around). 

3.3 Overall Vision – Housing 
 

The overall vision for the development of housing in Oakenshaw identified by 
demographic evidence, rate of build and the key issues that emerged from public 
consultation listed above is: 

Page 475



28 
 

‘Energy efficient housing development reflecting the historic rate of build, of an 
appropriate scale, type and location which aims to meet the identified needs of the 
community, whilst respecting the essential character and distinctly open rural setting 
of the village.’ 

3.4 Housing Development Objectives 
 

While it is not anticipated that the community will double in size as it has since the 
1990s, there is potential for a substantial increase. The historic build rate since the 
1980’s has been approximately 15-20 new houses every 10 years.  This past 
development has been driven significantly by newcomers to the village and this is 
likely in the future. This rate of growth is considered reasonable by residents and in 
accordance with maintaining the character of the village through ‘organic’ growth. 
We also need to identify the housing needs of existing residents including older 
people (key issue 6) and those requiring low cost housing (key issue 7) in accordance 
with demographic census information described in the introduction to this chapter.  
The plan does not promote specific sites for development. 

 
New housing proposals should consider development constraints associated with 
the existing wind turbine, previously experienced flooding issues and inadequate 
infrastructure. It should also take into account the location of historic coal mines 
some of which remain unmapped.  

 
The key issues identified for housing development have been grouped into five 
objectives for Oakenshaw and are defined as follows: 

1. To prevent urban sprawl and provide clear definition to the village and 
separation from Willington (meets key issues 1, 2 and 3) 

2. To build new homes that blend with the rural character of the village, and be of 
appropriate type, style and size and provide adequate parking space, 
sympathetic planting and green spaces (meets key issues2, 4 and 10). 

3. To build new homes that incorporate green energy solutions and high grade 
insulation (meets key issue 5).  

4. To provide housing that meets both the identified needs of the community and 
offers homes to redress the demographic trend towards older residents. This 
includes provision of sheltered level access housing for older or disabled 
residents, high end development for home working and commuters, and 
affordable homes to attract younger families (Meets key issues 6, 7, and 8) 

5. As the village has no indoor amenities, limited outdoor amenities, old water 
supply pipes, overhead electricity cables susceptible to adverse weather 
conditions and a need to improve roads and pathways to improve accessibility, 
consideration should be given to obtaining section 106 funding to improve 
infrastructure to support the increased village population. (Key issues 9 and 10) 
 

Page 476



29 
 

3.5 Housing Development Policies 
 
ONP H1 –Small Scale Housing Development  
 
Infilling and small-scale (less than 30 dwellings) residential development within the 
settlement boundary will be supported where it:  
 
1. is of high quality design; 
2. respects local character, including the linear form of the settlement and its rural 

character and setting; 
3. respects residential amenity 
4. is not in an area of flood risk 

 
New homes should be energy efficient and the incorporation of renewable energy 
measures, including solar panels will be supported, as will the development of 
homes with zero carbon emissions. 

 
Justification for Policy ONP H1 
There is no housing allocation for Oakenshaw in the County Durham Plan (Policy 4) 
and so this policy does not undermine the strategic policies in the wider plan. In 
addition to strategic housing policies in the WVLDP (GD1 General Development 
Criteria BE14 Open Spaces within Built-up Areas H3 Distribution of Development) 
and the NPPF 19 (Section 5: Identifying land for homes: para 38 subsections a and c 
Rural Homes, paragraphs 77,78,79), specific local issues raised by residents 
concerning location and containment of housing development, type of housing, 
energy efficiency and a proportionate improvement in community infrastructure 
needed to support increased housing provision, are addressed in this policy.  
 
The approach adopted to housing development is defined by the built-up area of 
Oakenshaw within the ‘Settlement Boundary’. This boundary links the two historic 
settlements at each end of the village currently separated by a tract of farmland, 
giving the village a linear form. The boundary is identified as a black line on the ONP 
Proposals Map (Figure 4).  The settlement boundary includes areas of undeveloped 
land. Whilst the plan does not allocate sites for development, it seeks to facilitate 
infill in suitable locations for greater sustainability within the settlement boundary 
should they become available. Development within the boundary will prevent urban 
sprawl and provide an area of separation between Oakenshaw and Willington, thus 
preserving the distinct identity of the village. This accords with NPPF paragraphs 13, 
28 and 29. 
 
Since the design of houses varies throughout the village from the brick built terraces 
and slate roofs of old pit cottages (In New Row, Institute Street, School Row and 
Park View) to newly built rendered or stone clad houses with either slate or pan tiled 
roofs to the north and south of the main settlement, it is not possible to identify a 
typical local style.  However, new proposals for housing development need to be 

Page 477



30 
 

compatible with the design of existing houses in the immediate surroundings in 
order to blend in with the built environment.  
 
The village has supported green energy with the erection of a wind turbine. Having 
energy efficient homes was important to the residents; as well as lowering energy 
bills.  This accords with NPPF19 (section 14 paragraph 150) which specifies that new 
development ‘can help to reduce greenhouse gas emissions, such as through its 
location, orientation and design’. In paragraph 151 it recommends that plans should 
help to ‘increase the use and supply of renewable and low carbon energy and heat’ 
and that ‘even small-scale projects provide a valuable contribution to cutting 
greenhouse gas emissions’ (NPPF19: Paragraph 154) . 
 
Meets Objectives 1, 2, 3, 4 and 5. 
 

ONP H2 - Large Scale Housing Development Requirements  
 
Large scale proposals for 30 dwellings within the settlement boundary will be 
supported where: 

1. Proposals are in keeping with the rural character and linear form of the 
settlement area.  

2. Housing development including external structures and walls should respond 
positively to local character and materials. 

3. Houses are grouped around small landscaped green areas to create a low 
density feel and provide community space. 

4. Landscaping using sympathetic planting of native trees, fruit trees, and shrubs 
is used to ensure that housing development is in keeping with surrounding 
rural areas marked in light green on the ONP proposals map (Figure 4) and 
maintains wildlife corridors.  

5. Any development proposals which are implemented in phases must make 
adequate provision to provide small landscaped green open spaces and 
sympathetic planting of shrubs and trees throughout all phases.   

6. All housing development will be required to provide affordable housing in 
accordance with development plan policy. 

 
Justification for ONP H2 
Policy ONP H1 deals with sites for less than 30 dwellings. Large scale development of 
30 houses or more was contraindicated during the consultation with residents, 
especially if such development was not integrated into the linear form of the village. 
Building on sites within the settlement boundary will more than satisfy the 
expectation of 15 to 20 new houses being built over the next 10 to 20 years and 
there is no housing allocation for Oakenshaw in the CDP (Policy 4). However, there is 
the potential for larger scale development contained within the settlement 
boundary whilst maintaining the linear form of the village. This policy is needed to 
define acceptable development for 30 or more dwellings (of the total number of 
dwellings to be provided even if the development is to be built in phases).  

Page 478



31 
 

The ONP aims to ensure that any new development in Oakenshaw is of high quality 
design and contained within the existing settlement boundary. Dwellings built 
around landscaped areas with attractive planting of native species of trees and 
shrubs would be in keeping with the rural character of the village in accordance with 
NPPF 19 (Paragraph 72c), help to maintain wildlife corridors and create a low density 
feel to the housing area. The rural character of the village was an important 
consideration for residents choosing to move to and live in the village.  
 
In four focus group consultation events, affordable homes (and a definition of what 
is affordable), were identified as a need with only one objection. The specific 
concern expressed by residents of Oakenshaw is that the proportion of young 
families living in the village is declining. One reason given in the consultation 
exercise is the lack of affordable or rented housing in the village. Policy H2 aims to 
reverse this trend by attracting young families in order to maintain a mix of age 
groups to enhance the long-term sustainability of the village.  

 
The Strategic Housing Market Assessment 2016 evidences there is an overall net 
shortfall of 968 affordable dwellings across County Durham each year.  There is a 
vital need for housing to support the provision of a mix of affordable housing which 
meets a proven local need, one that is of a scale that accords with the existing 
communities.  A local need would be ascertained using evidence, informed by a local 
housing need assessment, conducted using the standard method in national 
planning guidance in accordance with NPPF 19 (paragraph 60 and 61).  
 
Residents stated that they did not want ad hoc large satellite estates being built 
around the sensitive green edges of the settlement. Instead they would support 
contained development that conformed to the current form of the village and, 
indeed, there may be some advantage to supporting development which would 
provide opportunities and resources to enhance sustainable development of the 
village.  There has been a significant reduction in amenities and lack of investment in 
infrastructure needed to sustain the community since its former designated 
category D status, despite the growth of the local population. Oakenshaw residents 
have commented on the need to attract investment to improve roads and pathways 
for safe and suitable access for all people, improve water supply to houses in New 
Row and drainage to prevent surface flooding and risk of flooding from culverts, 
accessibility to services and develop and improve community infrastructure such as 
a community centre, parks, and play areas. They expressed concern about the 
pressures new development would place on the existing inadequate infrastructure.  
 
Meets objectives 1, 2, 3, 4 and 5. 

 
ONP H3- Community led housing provision for older or disabled people 
 
The development of level access community-led housing designed to meet the 
social housing needs of older and/or disabled people will be supported.  

Page 479



32 
 

 
Justification for policy ONP H3 

This ONP Policy refers toa specific need in Oakenshaw. The census data indicates 
there is an increasing proportion of ageing residents, some living in older pit 
cottages bought at low cost when the pit closed that are now unsuitable for their 
needs. These houses have steep staircases, some with no upstairs toilet or 
bathroom, and require expensive adaptation.  As there is no alternative affordable 
or rented level access accommodation in the village, many older people have had no 
choice but to relocate to level access accommodation in Willington where they lose 
their social support networks and lifelong connection with the village. This is a 
pressing issue for residents and has been raised 21 times in focus group discussions 
and public consultations. In addition to policy ONP H3, the OCA has an aspiration to 
build centrally located homes that would enable older and less able residents to 
participate in village life and maintain their friendships and social support networks. 
The OCA’s aims in this regard are set out below. 
 

Community Action – New Community Homes 
 

This Community Action is not a Neighbourhood Plan Policy but sets out an important 
local aspiration to deliver new community homes, to be led by the OCA.  
 

A community led development of four or more level access homes for rent will share 
a small landscaped garden and be oriented to enjoy an attractive view of the village. 
This type of development will provide suitable and adaptable affordable homes 
within easy access of public transport to enhance independent living for older or 
disabled residents, enabling them to get around and participate in community 
activities.  There is flexibility about the location of this housing and this will be 
subject to a feasibility study rather than a specific allocation in this plan. 
 

The housing units will be designed with a multi-use room that enables visitors and 
carers to talk to residents while preparing food and drinks, and a bedroom with an 
en suite wet room to facilitate residents washing, dressing or preparing for bed with 
or without the help of carers. This design has few internal doorways to negotiate 
and these would be wide enough to provide ‘Effective Clear Opening Widths’ 
(≥800mm) for access using a wheelchair as specified by the most recent British 
Standard 8300, and Doc M. BS8300 also provides guidelines for other features to 
improve housing for disabled people including: entrances, door fittings, steps, stairs 
and ramps, corridors and passageways, surface finishes, visual signs, lighting, 
storage facilities, and provision of seating. We will seek funding through future 
initiatives and commuted sums. 
 
Meets objective 4. 

  

Page 480



33 
 

 
ONP H4 – Car Parking and Provision for Electric Vehicles and Cycles  

New residential development must provide off-road parking, taking into account 
the type and mix of the development and the need to prevent increases in on -
road parking to the detriment of highway safety. All new dwellings must provide 
electric vehicle plug-in points and provision for cycle parking or storage. 

 
Justification for Policy ONP H4 
As a result of inadequate public transport into Durham or Crook, car ownership in 
the village is high. Parking problems were frequently mentioned in the focus group 
discussions with residents (it was raised as a problem eight times) as there is limited 
off road parking provision for older properties in New Row, Institute Street and Park 
View. Fifty-seven cars were parked in bays on the green and on the road in New Row 
over two weekends and on road parking has been raised by residents of Park View 
as a safety issue. On-road parking impairs sight lines and constitutes a safety hazard.  
To ensure that these parking problems do not occur in future, new developments 
should provide for off-road parking commensurate with the scale and type of 
housing provided. Cycling and electric vehicles provide for sustainable forms of 
transport and the Policy seeks to encourage more sustainable patterns of movement 
by ensuring that new housing provides for these. 
 
New developments should contribute toward a pleasant, uncluttered environment; 
it is essential to maintain the free flow of traffic especially for public service and 
emergency vehicles. 
 
Meets objective 2. 
 

Page 481



34 
 

4.0 Village Community 
 

4.1 Introduction 
 
Oakenshaw is a former colliery village which has experienced significant change over the 
past 40 years.  The population of Oakenshaw was estimated to be 565 in 2015.  This is more 
than double the 1991 population of 264.   Much of this population increase has resulted 
from inward migration to the village rather than growth from within the existing population.  
Today the community is characterised by families who have historic ties to the village that 
go back many decades and newcomers to the village, largely older people, attracted by the 
rural setting and location of Oakenshaw, close to Durham City. Despite these demographic 
changes the community retains a strong community spirit, building on its industrial heritage. 
The Oakenshaw Community Association has sought to integrate newcomers with long 
standing residents through community social and environmental improvement activities.  
 
The residents of Oakenshaw strongly articulated (24 written comments) an ethos where the 
community would provide residents with mutual support for activities of daily living and 
improved local amenities that provide opportunities for social engagement. These 
aspirations are supported in the NPPF 19 (Section 8: ‘Promoting healthy and safe 
communities’). 
 
Not all activities need a building and outdoor facilities can also be improved to meet needs, 
however, they would be assisted by a community hub, good access, and integration 
between developments. These initiatives would address the poor Indices of Multiple 
Deprivation rating Oakenshaw has for health and well-being (in the lowest 30% for some 
post code areas) by reducing social isolation and improving integration of newcomers into 
the village. The ONP supports community cohesion, a strong helping community spirit, 
interaction to reduce social isolation, and facilitates organisation of community cultural and 
learning activities.  
 

4.2  Key issues 
 

Comments written on post it notes during focus group consultation were amalgamated with 
data gathered during public meetings and social events and put into the ‘Organised Issues 
Table for Village Community and environment’ which can be seen in the evidence folder and 
seven key issues were identified. 
 
1. Provide village hall/hub/community centre for multiple uses (23 comments) for 

meetings, large and small social gatherings, including fitness activities, sport and cultural 
activities (over 60 functions listed). 

2. Provide a village shop (14 comments) 
3. Provide a village pub (5 in favour and one objector who would agree to restricted 

drinking for events) 
4. Improve and upgrade existing outdoor facilities on the field locally known as the village 

green (28 comments in environment table) 

Page 482



35 
 

5. Increase opportunities for community activities and interaction to integrate all 
newcomers and across age groups including centrally located housing for older people 
(12 comments) 

6. Improve communications within the village community 
7. Provide specific services based in the community (8 comments) such as linking with local 

government for health care/nursing services 
 

4.3 Overall Vision – Village Community 
 
The overall vision for the development of community in Oakenshaw is defined as follows: 

 
‘That Oakenshaw retains its village character and support is given to 
providing the facilities, amenities and opportunities that help promote a 
flourishing community.’ 
 

4.4 Village Community Objectives 
 

From the key issues that emerged in the consultation and the Overall Vision for the 
community, objectives have been defined that specifically focus on supporting 
facilities and amenities that promote a strong community in Oakenshaw.  While 
these refer to the development of facilities and amenities as a specific means of 
enhancing a sense of community, it is also recognised that sustaining and developing 
the other key elements of the plan expressed in the Overall Vision (rural setting, 
open spaces and environmental sustainability) are important in sustaining the 
community of the village. A key challenge for the development of Village Community 
is integrating newcomers with existing residents and across age groups into the 
social fabric of the village. 

 
The Village Community Objectives are defined as follows:  
1. Provide a Village Hub that can act as a focus for community events that 

enhance health and wellbeing and interaction within the village.  (key issues 
1, 2,3, 5, 6 and 7) 

2. Develop amenities in the village including small scale retail facilities and 
other services (such as a community café / bar) that will foster community 
engagement and interaction.  (key issues 2, 3, 5and 6) 

3. Improve and upgrade the space on the field known locally as the village 
green including drainage, the play areas and small woodland area to the 
south of the green (Key issue 4, and 5) 

4. Develop accessible housing, facilities and amenities that encourage less able 
residents to be involved with community activities (Key issues 5 and 6). 

5. To provide amenities and facilities that enable services to be delivered 
locally, that promote community cohesion and integrate all areas of the 
village into a single settlement (Key issues 1,2,3,4,5,6, and 7) 

Page 483



36 
 

4.5 Community Development Policies 
 

The Policies for the development of Village Community in Oakenshaw are intended 
to enhance community cohesion and health and wellbeing by addressing the five 
main objectives listed above.  

 
ONP VC.1 - Community Hub 
The development of a Community Hub in Oakenshaw will be supported. The 
Community Hub should be located in an easily accessible location within the 
settlement boundary, with safe and convenient access for all users and it should 
be designed to respect local character, residential amenity and highway safety. 

 
Justification for ONP VC.1 
As the population of Oakenshaw has increased there has been a concomitant loss of 
amenities. Since the 1980s the village has lost a number of key indoor facilities 
which acted to support community cohesion.  This included the chapel, village 
primary school, the Working Men’s Club, public house, village shop / post office and 
cricket club.  There is currently no retail outlet in the village, or place to gather for 
worship, or socially in the evenings. There is no space to provide outreach health 
services. 
 
The Oakenshaw Community Association has a programme of meetings and social 
activities throughout the year which must currently be delivered in the open air and 
are dependent on the weather, or indoors in premises outside the village in 
Willington. These events are vital to enable communication with and amongst 
residents to promote community cohesion. There is a need for a multi-purpose 
indoor facility which acts as a focus for the village and neighbourhood plan area.     
 
The building of a community hub was strongly endorsed by residents with 23 
comments in support and over 60 potential uses were identified and are described 
in the topic guide for community in the evidence folder. This policy accords with 
NPPF19 (Section 8:Promoting healthy and safe communities, paragraphs 91 and 
92)which states that ‘planning policies and decisions should aim to achieve healthy, 
inclusive and safe places which: promote social interaction, including opportunities 
for meetings between people who might not otherwise come into contact with each 
other, and provides the social, recreational and cultural facilities and services the 
community needs. The NPPF19 (Paragraph 91b) also specifies that such facilities 
should be safe and accessible, so that crime and disorder, and the fear of crime, do 
not undermine the quality of life or community cohesion – for example through the 
use of clear and legible pedestrian routes, and high quality public space, which 
encourage the active and continual use of public areas. 
 
The Town Council and Community Association will seek to identify an appropriate 
location for a Community Hub further to detailed feasibility work. 
 

Page 484



37 
 

Meets Objectives 1, 2 and 5. 
 

ONP VC.2 - Community use of LGS2, ‘The Green’. 
 
The development of community facilities and services at LGS2 (known as ‘the 
green’) will be supported, including, where very special circumstances can be 
demonstrated, the development of a new Community Hub. 

 
Justification for ONP VC.2 
 
Currently the field west of New Row (LGS 2: Figure 6) is mown grass, with limited 
facilities to encourage children to play outside safely or for parents and carers to sit 
and socialise together whilst watching over their children. Use of the field is limited 
as it is often waterlogged, and the appearance is often spoiled by vehicles driving 
over the wet ground and on occasion getting stuck in the mud (see section 1.4.5).   
 
This Policy recognises that the appearance and use of ‘the green’ would be 
improved by landscaping, improving drainage, enhancing the wildlife habitat and 
fencing the field to prevent vehicles driving over it and to protect the space which is 
used for community events, extending and upgrading the existing play area and 
providing an attractive seating area for informal social interactions and picnics. In 
addition, the Policy also recognises that the Oakenshaw community would benefit 
significantly from the provision of a multi-use hub building, providing indoor space 
linked to outdoor play and seating areas.   
 
The Policy is therefore supportive of the development of a Community Hub at LGS2 
subject to meeting the national planning policy requirement in respect of 
demonstrating very special circumstances for new development in a Local Green 
Space. 
 
In addition to NPPF19 (Paragraph 91 and 92), which endorses the development of 
centres and spaces to provide opportunities for people to meet, paragraph 96 also 
supports improving access to a network of high quality open spaces and 
opportunities for sport and physical activity which is important for the health and 
well-being of communities. 

 
Meets key objectives 1, 2, 3, 4 and 5. 

 

Page 485



38 
 

5.0 Village Economy 
 

5.1 Introduction 
 
Oakenshaw was a pit village with residents employed in the local colliery.  The pit 
closed approximately 50 years ago and residents now generally seek employment 
outside the village, occasionally working from home.  
 
There are a small number of self-employed people running their businesses from 
home including two landscape gardeners, builders, beauty therapy, distribution of 
chemicals for quality control testing, antique restoration, and a cattery. In addition, 
the Oakenshaw Community Association has taken advantage of government 
subsidies to erect a wind turbine, in collaboration with a local landowner, gaining an 
annual income stream for the benefit of the community for the next twenty years. 

 

5.2 Key issues 
 
Seven key issues emerged from the focus groups and public consultation:  

1. Residents did not want Oakenshaw to be a dormitory village for commuters alone, 
but instead wanted to encourage small scale business and improved digital 
connectivity (11 comments).  

2. They wanted to promote visitor and local leisure activities by enhancing walking and 
cycling routes; improving links between the old railway to the east, public rights of 
way and the Nature Reserve, and paving part of Stockley Lane which would create a 
system of trails for walkers and cyclists that also could be used for educational 
purposes. (5 comments) 
Because of our central location between Durham City, Bishop Auckland and the 
Dales and Pennines AONB there is an opportunity to promote tourism. There are 
already existing barn conversions used for holiday lets in our area. 

3. There is a need to establish and promote small business employment and training 
opportunities for young people in the ONP area (3 comments).  
Six Community Action Projects were suggested to offer employment and training 
opportunities. Employment opportunities could be supported by developing a local 
trade and skills directory to promote sharing/bartering skills within the village (5 
comments).  

4. With the income from the turbine being time limited there is a need to generate 
income for the future through small community enterprises (6 comments). 

5. A village shop and café were suggested which would also encourage walkers and 
cyclists to the village (14 comments). 

6. Residents wanted to avoid larger industrial units and business set-ups as the scale 
would not be commensurate with maintaining the rural character of the village and 
space for industrial units is available less than a mile from the village in Willington (2 
comments). 

  

Page 486



39 
 

 

5.3 Overall Vision – Village Economy 
 
The overall vision for the Village Economy in Oakenshaw is defined as follows: 
 

‘To support the village economy by facilitating home working, self-
employment and small-scale business opportunities including tourism, that 
are appropriate to their setting and the nature of neighbouring uses. To 
improve electronic and wireless connectivity beyond the village and to 
maintain an income stream for the use and benefit of the community.’ 

 

5.4 Village Economy Objectives 
 

A number of Objectives have been identified from the key issues to realise the 
overall vision for the Village Economy.  These are: 

1. To support home working, micro business and the development of 
community enterprises with the potential to offer skills training. (key issue 1 
and 3) 

2. To improve digital connectivity (Meets Key Issue 1).  
3. To enhance opportunities to engage in the leisure and tourist economy (Key 

Issue 2). 
4. To enhance local employment opportunities (Key issue 3) 
5. To seek and implement opportunities for income generation for the benefit 

of the community (key issue 4) 
6. To discourage the development of large scale industrial buildings. (key issue 

5) 
 

5.5 Economic Development Policies 
 
To ensure a thriving future economy for residents within the ONP area, the following 
policies support small local businesses and job creation opportunities, improved 
telecommunications and transport connections and seek ways of generating income 
for the benefit of the area beyond the income stream from the turbine without 
changing the tranquil rural character of the village. 
 

ONP Econ 1 -Home-based working and rural diversification 
The diversification of agricultural and other land based rural businesses and small-
scale development to accommodate home working and businesses run from the 
home will be supported, subject to it being demonstrated that development 
would respect local character, residential amenity and highway safety. 

 
 
 
 

Page 487



40 
 

Justification for ONP Econ 1 
Some types of extensions, garden offices and workshops within the settlement 
boundary are already permitted subject to technical guidance. 1,2 1Building materials 
throughout the village vary from brick with slate roofs, to newly built houses using 
rendered or stone cladding with either slate or pan tiled roofs to the north and 
south of the main settlement. The Policy seeks to ensure that new development is 
compatible with the design of existing houses in the immediate surroundings in 
order to blend in with the built environment. Other factors to be taken into account 
will include highway safety matters, such as safe access and car parking and 
respecting the residential amenity of neighbours. This could include paying attention 
to the positive benefits of tranquillity and preventing undue noise and disturbance. 
 
Meets Objectives 1, 3, 4 and 6. 

 

ONP Econ 2 - Improving Digital Connectivity 
 
The digital economy is important to Oakenshaw and the provision of 
sympathetically designed telecommunications infrastructure that respects local 
character and residential amenity will be supported. 
 
New telecommunications masts or antennae should be located outside the 
settlement boundary. 

 
Justification for ONP Econ 2 
Residents found that a considerable limitation to home working is the lack of mobile 
signal as a result of the topography of Oakenshaw and poor provision of fibre 
broadband connections. Subject to the requirements of Policy ONP Econ 2, there is 
general support for the erection of a new mast or base station, or erection of 
antennae on an existing building or other structure and a statement that self-
certifies that, when operational, International Commission guidelines will be met. 
This includes next generation mobile technology (such as 5G) and full fibre 
broadband connections compliant with criteria specified in NPPF 19 (Section 10).  

 
Meets objective 2.  

 
1Permitted development rights for householders: Technical Guidance, April 2017 
Department for Communities and Local Government 

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attac
hment_data/file/606669/170405_Householder_Technical_Guidance__-
April_2017_FINAL.pdf 

2https://ecab.planningportal.co.uk/uploads/miniguides/outbuildings/Outbuildings.p
df 

 

Page 488

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/606669/170405_Householder_Technical_Guidance__-April_2017_FINAL.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/606669/170405_Householder_Technical_Guidance__-April_2017_FINAL.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/606669/170405_Householder_Technical_Guidance__-April_2017_FINAL.pdf


41 
 

ONP Econ 3 -Tourism Development 
 
Small scale tourism development, including dedicated holiday accommodation, a 
café, improvements to public pathways and provision of nature trails, will be 
supported. 
The conversions of barns into holiday accommodation will be supported where 
development respects local character, residential amenity and highway safety.   

 
The development of new and/or improved public rights of way, including the 
provision of interpretation boards, improved surfacing, signage and access for all 
users will be supported in the following locations: 
 
1. Between the old railway to the east and historic public rights of way 

continuous with Park View; 
2. On Stockley Lane between the nature reserve and the old railway line to the 

east; 
3. Between Oakenshaw and Willington. 

 
Justification for ONP Econ 3 Tourism Development 
An emergent theme in focus groups was that the area offered opportunities to 
engage in the tourist economy. Oakenshaw is located between Durham City and 
Bishop Auckland, both rich in places of historical interest.  In addition, the village is 
close to the Durham Dales which are designated as an area of outstanding natural 
beauty (ANOB), and a UNESCO Global Geopark due to its outstanding geology. 
Oakenshaw is well placed to provide tourist accommodation and there are already 
existing barn conversions at Stockley Farm that provide holiday cottages and more of 
a similar type would provide local employment opportunities.  
 
The area is also rich in industrial archaeology, Roman roads, and provides scenic 
opportunities for walking and cycling. Residents had noted the number of cyclists 
passing through the village and the potential to improve links between the old 
railway to the east, with historic public rights of way continuous with Park View and 
the Nature Reserve. Safer access is needed along Stockley Lane to connect the nature 
reserve to the old railway line to the east. Improving paths and cycle access from 
Oakenshaw to Willington would also provide pedestrians and children with a safe 
alternative to public transport (9 comments) especially for children getting to school. 
Currently, there is no amenity such as a café, to encourage cyclists or walkers to stop 
for refreshment or arrange to meet to realise an economic benefit for the village.  
 
The number of visitors and time spent in the region and visitor expenditure is 
increasing year on year by 2%. This is providing up to 2%additional direct and indirect 
employment from which the village has the potential to benefit. 
 
Meets objective 1, 3, 4 & 5. 

  

Page 489



42 
 

 
ONP Econ 4- Community Renewable Energy and Enterprise Projects 
 
Development of renewable community energy development; district heating 
systems, solar farm, new or replacement wind turbines and new green energy 
technologies will be supported where they: 
 
1. Demonstrate community support; and 
2. Generate income for the benefit of the community; and 
3. Respect local character and residential amenity, also taking into account, 

where appropriate, cumulative landscape and visual impacts. 
 
The development of new community facilities will be supported. 

 
Justification for ONP Econ 4Community Income Generation 
The village has a record for championing green energy generation, planning and 
gaining agreement for the erection of a wind turbine that provides a regular income 
for community benefit. This income is being used for the maintenance, 
improvement and future development of village amenities.  
Opinion on the erection of more turbines is split equally for and against with 
opinions strongly held. However, the income from the existing turbine has 
demonstrated the advantages of green energy to income generation for the benefit 
of the village. Other sources of income generation (such as biomass heating – 2 
comments, and solar panels - 8 comments) to enable the village to continue to 
benefit from a steady income stream are supported (3 comments). The aim of this 
policy is to extend green energy generation beyond the lifetime of the existing wind 
turbine. It also aims to broaden the scope for green energy generation. 

 
The village has benefitted from income generation from the turbine and will support 
other community enterprises that generate income and offer employment. The 
consultation identified five comments on community projects which might be 
enthusiastically supported, such as community led housing, small enterprises to 
upcycle waste, a market gardening co-operative, rural skills in the nature reserve, 
and social enterprise projects to benefit local people. These projects might generate 
income for the village, low cost homes for disabled or older residents and offer 
young people employment and training opportunities.  
 
Meets objectives 4 and 5.  

Page 490



43 
 

Appendix 1 Community Action Projects 
During the consultation with residents a number of community action projects were identified which 
could be facilitated by policies in the ONP. Whilst they do not constitute planning issues, they 
provide context for the policies and, as views were strongly held, it is important to show that they 
have informed the ONP. Some of these projects have already been actioned. 

App 1.1 Environment 
Residents discussed ways of managing and improving the appearance of community spaces within 
the village settlement and the nature reserve. 

1.1.1 The entrance of the village should be enhanced with signage. This has now been done but 
more work is needed to landscape this area. 

1.1.2 Within the village planters needed to be improved and cared for, hedges and grassed areas 
need better maintenance and more trees and bulbs should be planted. The existing copses should 
be managed to enhance wildlife habitat  

1.1.3 Reduce littering and fly tipping. Litter picks should be held regularly. 

1.1.4 Public use of the nature reserve as a recreational and learning resource should be enhanced 
through improvement and maintenance of paths and seating in collaboration between Banks Group, 
GWTC and Oakenshaw Community Association. A hide could be introduced for wildlife enthusiasts 
and for educational purposes. There is a need for expert input to ensure the preservation of wild 
plants, fungi and habitat for animals. 

1.1.5 The letting and maintenance of allotments should be improved. An allotment association 
should be set up.  

App 1.2 Community 
Whilst a community hub was included in the plan, its use will depend on community action. 
Over 60 potential activities were suggested in focus groups. Similar activities have been 
grouped together and condensed into the table below. 

Table Appendix 1.2 Potential Activities in the Community Hub 

Meeting place to bring village together & for OCA meetings. Provide opportunities to socialize (especially for older 
residents) 

Parties/dances/private functions 

Classes and groups (meditation, yoga, pilates exercises, Weight Watchers, creative writing, local history, Ecology,  

Coffee mornings/Teas 

Nursery/Creche/ mothers and toddlers group 

Lunch club for the elderly/supper parties 

Travelling cinema 

Scouts, cubs, girl guides 

Internet café with Wi-Fi access. Using community computer to order shopping on line (especially for vulnerable 
elderly) 

Youth club 

Harvest festival, religious gatherings, Sunday school 

Page 491



44 
 

Sports  

School education trips 

Young farmers 

Children’s events 

Leek or Flower shows 

Village library 

Co-working offices 

Homework club 

Part-time hot desking for local government services eg community care staff for downloading info back to councils 

Renting rooms for activities 

Health and wellbeing health checks (eg Blood pressure checks, weight advice) 

Bar, darts team, pool team 

Somewhere to have a night out/ a meal 

Open for special nights for events or week ends 

Provide garage services 

Licensed to sell alcohol for certain events 

Community garage sales 

Mobile hairdresser 

Oakenshaw Carnival 

A local shop  

Sale of produce from allotments 

 

Improved communications were also discussed. It was suggested that we have a 
communications group who would manage Facebook, the OCA Newsletter, Noticeboards and 
flyers for important information 

App 1.3 Economy 
A key issue for the local economy was the need to find ways of generating income for the benefit of 
the village once the income from the turbine ended. There were also community action suggestions 
for non-profit activities to offer local training and employment. 

1.3.1 Promote sharing and bartering of skills within the village and establish a trade directory 

1.3.2 Establish a recycling or ‘upcycling’ centre 

1.3.3 Teach rural skills (re forestry in the nature reserve) 

1.3.4 Establish a market gardening cooperative 

App 1.4 Green energy and conservation 
Green energy was a recurring theme in the focus groups and has been incorporated into housing and 
village economy policies. Other Green energy and conservation issues that could be addressed 
through community actions were: 

Page 492



45 
 

1.4.1 Recycling of rainwater 

1.4.2 Installation of solar powered street lamps 

1.4.3 Biomass heat pumps to heat homes 

1.4.4 Energy conservation through insulation and use of cladding 

1.4.5 Provision of fast charge electric car points 

App 1.5 Transport and getting around 
Focus groups were very exercised about inadequate public transport to Durham and Crook (18 
written comments), necessitating high levels of car ownership to access jobs, services, education and 
training. Lack of public transport into Durham and Crook is a major limitation to accessing services, 
work and training outside the village.  
 
The village is served by an hourly bus to Bishop Auckland which does not run after 5.15 in the 
evening or on Sundays. To get to Durham or Crook, it is necessary to change buses in Willington; 
buses running every 20 minutes from Willington. Children going to school need to catch the 8.15 bus 
which gets them to Willington by 8.25, 45 minutes before school starts and when leaving school at 
3.10pm they need to wait 50 minutes before the next available bus from Willington to Oakenshaw. 
Transport to hospital appointments, especially to James Cook in Middlesbrough, is extremely 
difficult using public transport, taking as long as three hours. The poor bus service is a deterrent to 
young families moving into the village who cannot afford a car. There is a clear local need which 
gives people options to choose more sustainable forms of transport 

1.5.1 With more than double the population since 1990, local public transport providers need to 
improve services and transport infrastructure in accordance with NPPF 19 (Section 10) and CDP 2019 
(Policies 22 and 25). Local representation is needed to transport providers to improve direct links to 
Durham and Crook. 

1.5.2 Innovative schemes were suggested to alleviate the transport problem. Unwell, elderly or 
disabled & people who can’t drive could use a community transport service (village cab or minibus or 
car share) with designated drivers to attend hospital and access service. This may require a charging 
point and space to park (12 comments). 
 
1.5.3 Provide electric car charging points for community transport 

 
Focus groups also highlighted the need to improve road safety and access around the village. 
Projects would include measures: 
1.5.4 to restrict heavy vehicles passing through the village 
1.5.5 to control speed 
1.5.6 to improve existing roads and footpaths within the village and down to Willington 
1.5.7 to improve parking provision especially along the green and at Park View 

Page 493



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	1 To confirm the minutes of the meeting held on 26 May 2021
	7 Report from the Cabinet
	8 Safe Durham Partnership Plan 2021-2025 - Report of Corporate Director of Neighbourhoods and Climate Change
	Appendix 2 - SDPP 2021_2025
	Appendix 3 - SDPP 2021_2025
	Appendix 4 - SDPP 2021_2025

	9 Adoption of Durham City, Lanchester and Oakenshaw Neighbourhood Plans - Report of Corporate Director of Regeneration, Economy and Growth
	Appendix 2 - Durham City Neighbourhood Plan
	Appendix 3 - Lanchester Neighbourhood Plan
	Appendix 4 - Oakenshaw Neighbourhood Plan
	1.0 Introduction
	1.1 Forward by Oakenshaw Neighbourhood Plan Steering Group
	1.2 How the Neighbourhood Plan Was Prepared
	1.2.1 Steering Group
	1.2.2 Consultation

	1.3 Designation of the Neighbourhood Plan area
	1.4 Background information about the village
	1.4.1  Brief Village history
	1.4.2 Population Growth and Change in Age Demographic
	1.4.3 Indices of Multiple Deprivation
	1.4.4 Amenities
	1.4.5  Flood Risk and Flood Protection
	1.4.6 Oakenshaw Community

	1.5 Policy Context and its relationship to the ONP
	1.5.1 Statutory requirements for the ONP outlined in the Localism Act 2011
	1.5.2 The roles of the ONP outlined in The National Planning Policy Framework 2019
	1.5.3  The relationship between the ONP and local planning policy context

	1.6 What the Neighbourhood Plan Hopes to Achieve
	1.6.1 Vision

	1.7 The Structure of the Neighbourhood Plan in relation to the policy context

	2.0 Village Environment
	2.1  Policy approach to safeguarding the village environment
	2.1.1  The Settlement Boundary
	2.1.2  Environmentally Sensitive Green Area
	2.1.3 Local Green Spaces
	2.1.4  Agricultural land

	2.2 Key Issues
	2.3 Overall Vision – Village Environment
	2.4 Village Environment Objectives
	2.5    Environment Development Policies

	3.0 Housing
	3.1 Introduction
	3.2  Key issues
	3.3 Overall Vision – Housing
	3.4 Housing Development Objectives
	3.5 Housing Development Policies

	4.0 Village Community
	4.1 Introduction
	4.2  Key issues
	4.3 Overall Vision – Village Community
	4.4 Village Community Objectives
	4.5 Community Development Policies

	5.0 Village Economy
	5.1 Introduction
	5.2 Key issues
	5.3 Overall Vision – Village Economy
	5.4 Village Economy Objectives
	5.5 Economic Development Policies

	Appendix 1 Community Action Projects
	App 1.1 Environment
	App 1.2 Community
	App 1.3 Economy
	App 1.4 Green energy and conservation
	App 1.5 Transport and getting around






